
Council
Town Hall
Wallasey

4 October 2019 

Dear Councillor

You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Council to 
be held at 6.00 p.m. on Monday, 14 October 2019 in the Council 
Chamber, within the Town Hall, Wallasey, to take into 
consideration and determine upon the following subjects : - 

This meeting will be webcast at
https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home

Contact Officer: Mike Jones
Tel: 0151 691 8363
e-mail: Michaeljones1@wirral.gov.uk
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Council are asked to consider whether they have any 
disclosable pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest, in 
connection with any matter to be debated or determined at this 
meeting and, if so, to declare it and state the nature of such interest.

2. CIVIC MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive the Civic Mayor's announcements and any apologies for 
absence.

3. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 48)

To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the extraordinary meeting 
of the Council held on 15 July 2019 and the ordinary meeting of 
Council held on 15 July 2019, attached.

Public Document Pack

https://wirral.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


4. PETITIONS 

To receive petitions submitted in accordance with Standing Order 21.

5. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

To deal with questions from members of the public, in accordance with 
Appendix 1 to Standing Orders – up to 30 minutes.

6. LEADER'S, EXECUTIVE MEMBERS' AND CHAIRS REPORTS 

To receive the written reports of the Executive and Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee Chairs, and to receive questions and answers on 
any of those reports in accordance with Standing Orders 10(2)(a) and 
11.

A. Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chairs' Reports (Pages 
49 - 56)

B. Cabinet Members reports (Pages 57 - 82)

7. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

To consider Members’ general questions to the Civic Mayor, Executive 
or Committee Chair in accordance with Standing Orders 10 (2)(b) and 
11.

8. VACANCIES 

To receive nominations, in accordance with Standing Order 25(6), in 
respect of any proposed changes in the membership of committees, 
and to approve nominations for appointments to outside organisations.

STATUTORY AND ADVISORY COMMITTEES

Wirral Climate Change Group
Councillor Tom Anderson to replace Councillor Chris Blakeley.

COMMITTEES

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Councillor Lesley Rennie to replace Councillor David Burgess-Joyce.

Licensing, Health & Safety and General Purposes Committee
Councillor Ian Lewis to replace Councillor David Burgess-Joyce.

Licensing Act 2003 Committee
Councillor Ian Lewis to replace Councillor David Burgess-Joyce.



OUTSIDE BODIES

Merseyside Police and Crime Panel
A Conservative nomination to replace Councillor David Burgess-Joyce.

Wirral University Teaching Hospital Foundation Trust – 
Governors
Councillors Mike Collins (to be reappointed – term expires on 17 
October)
Councillor Irene Williams (to be reappointed – term expires on 17 
October)

Chrysalis Board
Councillor Pat Hackett to replace Councillor Anita Leech

9. MATTERS REQUIRING APPROVAL OR CONSIDERATION BY THE 
COUNCIL 

To consider recommendations of the Executive or Council Committees 
which require the approval or consideration of the Council.

A. STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2018/19 FOR WIRRAL 
COUNCIL AND MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND (Pages 83 - 
386)

A referral from Audit and Risk Management Committee, 23 
September 2019 (Minute 11 refers).

It be recommended to Council that:

1) The Audit Findings Report presented by the External 
Auditor, and the actions taken regarding the 
amendments to the Statement of Accounts for the 
Council and Mersey Pension Fund Accounts, be 
agreed;

2) The Statement of Accounts for 2018/19 as presenting a 
true and fair view of the Council’s income and 
expenditure for the year and its overall financial 
position, be approved; and 

3) The Chair and Director of Finance and Investment 
(S151) to sign and date the Letter of Representation.

B. REVENUE AND CAPITAL COMBINED MONITORING 2019-
20 QUARTER 1 (Pages 387 - 402)

A referral from the Cabinet, 2 September 2019 (Minute 26 
refers). 

The Council is recommended to approve: That, 



Revenue 

(1) the Year-end forecast position at Quarter 1 of £4.327 
million Adverse, be noted;

 
(2) the level of achievement of savings proposed for 2019-

20, be noted;

(3) the revisions to the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS) 2020-2025, be noted;

Capital 

(4) the expenditure at Quarter 1 of £2.9 million, be noted;
 
(5) Cabinet recommends to Council the approval of 

additional funding for the schemes referred to in 
paragraph 3.7 of the report, i.e. Eureka Project, 
Seacombe (£200,000) and Eastham Youth Hub 
(£442,000);

 
(6) Cabinet recommends to Council the approval of the 

revised Capital Programme of £88.7 million (Table 2 of 
the report) for 2019-20.

C. Wirral Council Plan 2025 (Pages 403 - 434)

With reference to the Cabinet, 30 September 2019 (Minute 30 
refers). The Council be recommended to agree to the 
following:

That the Wirral Council Plan be referred to the Council for 
consideration at its ordinary meeting scheduled for 14 
October 2019. 

D. Public Health Annual Report 2019 – Creative 
Communities (Pages 435 - 466)

With reference to the Cabinet, 30 September 2019 (Minute 31 
refers). The Council be recommended to agree to the 
following:

That the recommendations of the Public Health Annual Report 
2019 be endorsed and its publication be supported. 

E. Approval of Revised Local Development Scheme for 
Wirral – July 2019 (Pages 467 - 500)

With reference to the meeting of Cabinet, 30 September 2019, 
Minute 33 refers, Council is recommended to:

(1) approve the adoption of the revised Local Development 
Scheme attached to the report; and 



(2) subject to the approval of (1) above, agree that the 
revised Local Development Scheme comes into effect on 
the day following the date that the Council resolution is 
passed. 

F. NORTHERN LGPS OPERATING AGREEMENT (Pages 501 
- 546)

With reference to the Standards and Constitutional Oversight 
Committee, 26 September 2019 (Minute 12 refers). The 
Council be recommended to agree to the following:

That

(1) the proposed principles of governance contained in the 
draft Operating Agreement approved by the Pensions 
Committee at its meeting on 16 July 2019 and in particular 
the establishment of a Joint Committee with Tameside 
and Bradford Councils to oversee the required 
arrangements for the pooling of investments by all three 
Pension Funds;

(2) the Chair and Vice Chair of the Pensions Committee (or 
as otherwise determined by Pensions Committee) be the 
Council’s elected representatives on the Joint Committee; 
and

(3) the Director of Pensions in consultation with the Director: 
Governance and Assurance be given delegated authority 
to negotiate and agree with Tameside and Bradford 
Councils the details of the final draft of the Operating 
Agreement within the parameters of the principles of 
governance approved by the Pensions Committee and the 
Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee.

G. Review of Scrutiny Arrangements (Pages 547 - 648)

With reference to the Standards and Constitutional Oversight 
Committee, 26 September 2019 (Minute 13 refers). The 
Council be recommended to agree to the following:

That

(1) the Business Overview and Scrutiny Committee be 
thanked for its very detailed report;

(2) the Council be recommended to approve the 
recommendations of the review of its scrutiny 
arrangements as follows:

(a) the findings of this review of scrutiny arrangements 
be taken into account as part any new governance 
model, with the six key principles of effective scrutiny 
formally included within the new model of decision-



making;

(b) the effectiveness of the Overview & Scrutiny 
arrangements of the new governance model at 
Wirral be reviewed after 12 months to ensure the 
good practice currently in operation is continued; and

(c) the new governance model should ensure full 
consideration of Wirral’s involvement in the Liverpool 
City Region Combined Authority Overview & 
Scrutiny function.

H. Governance Review (Pages 649 - 674)

With reference to the Standards and Constitutional Oversight 
Committee, 26 September 2019 (Minute 14 refers). The 
Council be recommended to agree to the following:

Having considered: 

(a) the materials presented to the Governance Review 
Working Group; and

(b) the discussions held at the Working Group’s meetings 
and subsequent Member sessions.

This Committee is of the view that Wirral’s residents will now 
be better served by the introduction of a more accountable 
and transparent way of conducting the Council’s business, 
policy formulation and decision-making.  

It is the opinion of this Committee that the Council should now 
move to a Committee based structure to be designed, 
finalised and in place for the next Municipal Year.

The Committee notes that a range of costs have been put 
forward that apply to the revised arrangements.  It is 
recognised however, that revisions to the existing Constitution 
have been under discussion for some time and that costs 
would have been incurred in that process.  

The Committee considers that the operational costs of the 
new system of governance should be the subject of regular 
reports and that in practice these costs should be minimised.

The Committee:

(1) recommends to the Council: That

(a) there be a move from Leader and Cabinet Executive 
arrangements to a Committee System form of 
governance arrangements to take effect from the 
Annual Council Meeting in 2020; and



(b) the Standards and Constitutional Oversight 
Committee accordingly prepare a draft revised 
Constitution to propose to the Council meeting of 16 
March 2020.

10. NOTICES OF MOTION (Pages 675 - 686)

Notices of motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7(1), 
are attached. They are listed in accordance with Standing Order 7(2), 
and the full text of each motion is attached. The Mayor, having 
considered each motion, in accordance with Standing Order 7(4) has 
decided that they will be dealt with as follows:

1.        Delayed Domestic Violence Bill

2.        Children in Care

3.        Prioritising Safety Around Schools

4.        Boosting Funds for Green Transport

5.        Wirral Council to Commit to Keep It Local Campaign

6.        Better Provision for Stray, Abandoned, and Neglected Dogs

7.        Appraisal of Parking Restrictions in Wirral

8.        Borough of Culture Achievements

9.        Every Child Matters

10.      Delivering a New Deal for Transport

11.      The Placement Market is not working for Children or for the 
Public Purse

12.      Biosolar Roofing on all Suitable Flat Roofs

13.      Safer Roads

14.      Keeping Alleyways Clear

15.      Blue Flag Beaches

Director: Governance and Assurance



Audio/Visual Recording of Meetings

Everyone is welcome to record meetings of the Council and its Committees 
using non-disruptive methods. For particular meetings we may identify a 
‘designated area’ for you to record from. If you have any questions about this 
please contact Committee and Civic Services (members of the press please 
contact the Press Office). Please note that the Chair of the meeting has the 
discretion to halt any recording for a number of reasons, including disruption 
caused by the filming or the nature of the business being conducted.

Persons making recordings are requested not to put undue restrictions on the 
material produced so that it can be reused and edited by all local people and 
organisations on a non-commercial basis.



COUNCIL
Monday, 15 July 2019

Present: The Civic Mayor (Councillor Tony Smith) in the Chair
Deputy Civic Mayor (Councillor George Davies)

Councillors T Anderson
B Berry
J Bird
C Blakeley
A Brame
D Burgess-Joyce
H Cameron
K Cannon
C Carubia
P Cleary
W Clements
M Collins
C Cooke
A Corkhill
T Cox
WJ Davies
S Foulkes
S Frost
A Gardner
P Gilchrist

K Greaney
JE Green
EA Grey
P Hackett
P Hayes
S Hayes
A Hodson
K Hodson
J Johnson
AER Jones
C Jones
S Jones
T Jones
M Jordan
S Kelly
B Kenny
A Leech
I Lewis
M McLaughlin
J McManus

D Mitchell
C Muspratt
Y Nolan
T Norbury
J Robinson
L Rowlands
C Spriggs
S Spoor
P Stuart
M Sullivan
T Usher
J Walsh
G Watt
S Whittingham
I Williams
KJ Williams
S Williams
J Williamson
G Wood
A Wright

19 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

The Members of the Council were invited to consider whether they had any 
disclosable pecuniary and/or any other relevant interest in connection with 
any matters to be determined at this meeting and, if so, to declare it and state 
the nature of such interest.

No such declarations were made.

20 CIVIC MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Civic Mayor noted that apologies had been received from Councillors 
Tony Cottier, Cherry Povall, Lesley Rennie and Jean Stapleton.

The Civic Mayor informed Council of a number of activities he and the Lady 
Mayoress had attended in recent months, these included:

 The Great Get Together in Birkenhead, meeting diverse communities, 
sharing their experiences and also to celebrate the life of Jo Cox, MP.

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 The Arc Light Project, run by the Reverend Nelson and his colleagues, 
acknowledging the work of volunteers in support of the night shelter 
programme, providing accommodation for the homeless in the cold 
months of January to March 2019.

 Bookstart Week at West Kirby Library, a wonderful opportunity to see 
young babies and toddlers begin their reading journey, supported by 
parents, librarians, workers, and volunteers. 

21 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE EMERGENCY 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item on the Environment and Climate 
Emergency for which one motion and two amendments had been submitted. 

MOTION 

Councillor Elizabeth Grey moved and Councillor Tony Norbury seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 - 

“Wirral Council declares an Environment and Climate Emergency.

Further, following pressure from this and other Councils, Wirral welcomes 
Parliament’s UK Climate Emergency Declaration of May 1st. 

Council also welcomes the UN Climate Action Summit planned for September 
this year following the IPCC and IPBES reports (Note 1) and recognises 
overwhelming scientific consensus that to avoid more than a 1.5°C rise in 
global warming, global emissions would need to fall by around 45% from 2010 
levels by 2030, reaching net zero by around 2050.
 
Council notes with alarm that, conducted at the highest international scientific 
level, these reports warn that during the lifetime of our children catastrophic 
ecological disaster will unfold with the extinction of circa one million life-forms, 
many of which are essential to human species survival - unless OUR 
generation reverses it.

Council believes much can also be achieved not only through reduced 
emissions but also through greater Central and Local Government support for 
reforestation, sustainable agriculture, waste reduction, re-cycling, less use of 
non-recyclables and finite resources and greater awareness of healthier life-
style choices.

Council celebrates the fact that six of the nine winners of the 2019 Echo 
Environment Awards were from Wirral.  Wirral Council also notes and 
welcomes the City Region’s announced aims:  

Page 2



 To produce more low carbon energy
 Greater energy efficiency and lower energy poverty 
 Improved air quality 
 Rapid transition to low carbon transport/industry/housing

Further, Wirral Council calls on Cabinet to:

 Support and increase efforts to meet Climate Change targets to 
achieve net zero emissions before 2050 by supporting and setting 
ambitious, short-term targets for the roll-out of renewables and low 
carbon energy and transport, and to move swiftly to capture economic 
opportunities and green jobs in a low carbon economy;

 protect Wirral’s natural environment and develop a circular, zero waste 
economy;

 manage risks for workers currently reliant on carbon intensive sectors;
 explain to the public what this Climate Emergency declaration means 

and promote understanding and action;   
 request regular updates from the Council Leadership on progress 

being made to act on this declaration; and
 call on Westminster to provide the powers and the funding to make this 

locally possible.

Note 1.   IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) and IPBES’ (Intergovernmental 
Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services) Global Assessment of 
Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.”

AMENDMENT 1

Councillor Allan Brame moved and Councillor Andy Corkhill seconded an 
amendment to the Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 12 
such that - 

After the existing motion, add the following:

“Council recognises the need to support the Climate Emergency Declaration 
with practical local action.  Over the coming years, this will involve a wide 
range of measures but, at this meeting, Council supports these initiatives:

1) In order to progress a meaningful response to reforestation and to the 
development of sustainable agriculture, Cabinet is requested to ask 
that the Government, as part of the forthcoming Spending Review, 
provides additional funding for schemes that will bring this about.

2) Council therefore requests that, as a significant practical step to slow 
the build-up of CO2 in the atmosphere, Cabinet is requested to ask 
officers to initiate a major tree-planting initiative, ensuring that they...

o discuss the opportunities for additional tree planting in Wirral 
with the major landowners

Page 3



o identify land for tree planting to create a range of sites and 
wildlife corridors to tackle climate change and

o add to the biodiversity of Wirral and involve local schools.

3) Further, Council requests that officers work with local landowners, 
agents and the farming community to increase the scope for the 
Environmental Land Management contracts suggested by the Rt Hon 
Michael Gove MP to the Oxford Farming Conference in January 2019.

4) Council supports a drive to localise food production and asks Cabinet 
to support the uptake and maintenance of allotments, offering advice 
and support to residents who lack the confidence or expertise to take 
on an allotment.

5) Recognising the need to progress the switch to electric powered cars, 
Council urges Cabinet to work with large employers, the Chamber of 
Commerce and other organisations to promote and secure the 
provision of more charging points for electric vehicles in the Borough.

6) Council recalls that at its meeting on 18 March 2019, members voted 
unanimously to ask Cabinet to explore the possibility of building its own 
solar farm, either in the Borough or elsewhere.  In reaffirming support 
for this proposal, Council asks for an update on progress to be given at 
its next meeting.”

AMENDMENT 2

Councillor Pat Cleary moved and Councillor Chris Cooke seconded a second 
amendment to the Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 12 
such that - 

“After the existing motion, add the following:

Specifically, Council requests the Cabinet to:

Set senior leadership responsibilities across all departments reflecting that the 
climate emergency relates to all aspects of the council's activities.

Prioritise the climate emergency as part of a wider partnership ensuring the 
Cool Wirral initiative has clear reporting links with other strategic partners.

Implement a long-term climate emergency communication programme 
including a dedicated web site and a dedicated mailing list to build a network 
of interest groups.

Adopt appropriate decision making tools supported by a staff and member 
training programme. This to include:

Page 4



 the reintroduction of environmental impacts in committee report 
templates 

 the reinstatement of carbon budget reports
 robust carbon/sustainability appraisals for all significant plans and 

strategies 

Establish a cross - department task group to draw up a council climate 
emergency action plan.”

Following a debate, the amendment to the Motion was accepted by Councillor 
Elizabeth Grey as mover of the Motion with the agreement of Council being 
given by general assent.

The substantive Motion, moved by Councillor Elizabeth Grey, was put to the 
vote and carried (61:0) (One abstention).

It was therefore -

Resolved (61:0) (One abstention) – That

Wirral Council declares an Environment and Climate Emergency.

Further, following pressure from this and other Councils, Wirral 
welcomes Parliament’s UK Climate Emergency Declaration of May 1st. 

Council also welcomes the UN Climate Action Summit planned for 
September this year following the IPCC and IPBES reports (Note 1) and 
recognises overwhelming scientific consensus that to avoid more than a 
1.5°C rise in global warming, global emissions would need to fall by 
around 45% from 2010 levels by 2030, reaching net zero by around 2050.
 
Council notes with alarm that, conducted at the highest international 
scientific level, these reports warn that during the lifetime of our 
children catastrophic ecological disaster will unfold with the extinction 
of circa one million life-forms, many of which are essential to human 
species survival - unless OUR generation reverses it.

Council believes much can also be achieved not only through reduced 
emissions but also through greater Central and Local Government 
support for reforestation, sustainable agriculture, waste reduction, re-
cycling, less use of non-recyclables and finite resources and greater 
awareness of healthier life-style choices.

Council celebrates the fact that six of the nine winners of the 2019 Echo 
Environment Awards were from Wirral.  Wirral Council also notes and 
welcomes the City Region’s announced aims:  

 To produce more low carbon energy

Page 5



 Greater energy efficiency and lower energy poverty 
 Improved air quality 
 Rapid transition to low carbon transport/industry/housing

Further, Wirral Council calls on Cabinet to:

 Support and increase efforts to meet Climate Change targets to 
achieve net zero emissions before 2050 by supporting and setting 
ambitious, short-term targets for the roll-out of renewables and 
low carbon energy and transport, and to move swiftly to capture 
economic opportunities and green jobs in a low carbon economy;

 protect Wirral’s natural environment and develop a circular, zero 
waste economy;

 manage risks for workers currently reliant on carbon intensive 
sectors;

 explain to the public what this Climate Emergency declaration 
means and promote understanding and action;   

 request regular updates from the Council Leadership on progress 
being made to act on this declaration; and

 call on Westminster to provide the powers and the funding to 
make this locally possible.

Council recognises the need to support the Climate Emergency 
Declaration with practical local action.  Over the coming years, this will 
involve a wide range of measures but, at this meeting, Council supports 
these initiatives:

1) In order to progress a meaningful response to reforestation and to 
the development of sustainable agriculture, Cabinet is requested 
to ask that the Government, as part of the forthcoming Spending 
Review, provides additional funding for schemes that will bring 
this about.

2) Council therefore requests that, as a significant practical step to 
slow the build-up of CO2 in the atmosphere, Cabinet is requested 
to ask officers to initiate a major tree-planting initiative, ensuring 
that they...

o discuss the opportunities for additional tree planting in 
Wirral with the major landowners

o identify land for tree planting to create a range of sites and 
wildlife corridors to tackle climate change and

o add to the biodiversity of Wirral and involve local schools.

3) Further, Council requests that officers work with local 
landowners, agents and the farming community to increase the 
scope for the Environmental Land Management contracts 

Page 6



suggested by the Rt Hon Michael Gove MP to the Oxford Farming 
Conference in January 2019.

4) Council supports a drive to localise food production and asks 
Cabinet to support the uptake and maintenance of allotments, 
offering advice and support to residents who lack the confidence 
or expertise to take on an allotment.

5) Recognising the need to progress the switch to electric powered 
cars, Council urges Cabinet to work with large employers, the 
Chamber of Commerce and other organisations to promote and 
secure the provision of more charging points for electric vehicles 
in the Borough.

6) Council recalls that at its meeting on 18 March 2019, members 
voted unanimously to ask Cabinet to explore the possibility of 
building its own solar farm, either in the Borough or elsewhere.  In 
reaffirming support for this proposal, Council asks for an update 
on progress to be given at its next meeting.”

Specifically, Council requests the Cabinet to:

Set senior leadership responsibilities across all departments reflecting 
that the climate emergency relates to all aspects of the council's 
activities.

Prioritise the climate emergency as part of a wider partnership ensuring 
the Cool Wirral initiative has clear reporting links with other strategic 
partners.

Implement a long-term climate emergency communication programme 
including a dedicated web site and a dedicated mailing list to build a 
network of interest groups.

Adopt appropriate decision making tools supported by a staff and 
member training programme. This to include:

 the reintroduction of environmental impacts in committee report 
templates 

 the reinstatement of carbon budget reports
 robust carbon/sustainability appraisals for all significant plans 

and strategies 

Establish a cross - department task group to draw up a council climate 
emergency action plan.

Note 1.   IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) and IPBES’ (Intergovernmental 
Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services) Global Assessment of 
Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.

Page 7



22 THE FUTURE OF CELTIC MANOR 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item on The Future of Celtic Manor for which 
two motions (no amendments) had been submitted. 

MOTION 1 

Councillor Geoffrey Watt moved and Councillor Tony Cox seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 - 

“Council notes the change in the numbers of seats held by the respective 
parties since May 2nd and the not unconnected Cabinet decision not to invest 
up to £26 million in the Celtic Manor resort (previously branded as the 
‘Hoylake Golf Resort’).

Council thanks those who have raised their concerns over this agreement for 
their views and the hard work of Phil Simpson and colleagues to ensure that 
£26 million of public money will be put to better use.

Council now seeks clarity, transparency and openness on the next intended 
steps by the Cabinet and asks that the relevant Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee is kept fully up to date.”

MOTION 2

Councillor Allan Brame moved and Councillor Andy Corkhill seconded an 
amendment to the Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 12 
such that - 

“This Council believes that...

(i) the special meeting of the Business Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
held on 27 June 2019, along with the briefing session held prior to that, 
gave elected Members beyond the Cabinet their first complete 
overview of this project;

(ii) the information recently made available to Members has added 
considerably to their knowledge and the findings of the Call-In held on 
7 December 2016, published Cabinet reports of 7 November 2016 and 
18 December 2017;

(iii) the decision of the Council made on 25 February 2019 which resolved 
by 32:29 with two abstentions that...’Council believes it would be 
inappropriate to make a decision on this scheme before we have the 
full facts’ ...was based on the information available to Members at that 
time.

Page 8



 
Having regard to the issues raised above, Council recognises the ongoing 
Development Agreement but welcomes the decision of Cabinet made on 8 
July 2019 concerning finance.  Given the history of this project, Council 
expects Members, beyond Cabinet, to be kept fully informed of any further 
discussions with the developer about their intentions.”

Following the debate, the Mayor then moved to the voting on each Motion in 
turn.

The Motion (1), moved by Councillor Geoffrey Watt, was put to the vote.

In accordance with Standing Order 12, a number of Members rose to request 
a ‘card vote’.

A recorded vote was then taken on the Motion (1) and the Council divided as 
follows:

For the motion (32): T Anderson, B Berry, C Blakeley, A Brame, D Burgess-
Joyce, H Cameron, C Carubia, P Cleary, W Clements, M Collins, C Cooke, A 
Corkhill, T Cox, B Davies, A Gardner, P Gilchrist, J Green, P Hayes, S Hayes, 
A Hodson, K Hodson, J Johnson, M Jordan, S Kelly, I Lewis, M McLaughlin, D 
Mitchell, L Rowlands, M Sullivan, G Watt, S Williams, A Wright.    

Against the motion (29): J Bird, K Cannon, G Davies, S Foulkes, S Frost, K 
Greaney, E Grey, P Hackett, AER Jones, C Jones, S Jones, T Jones, B 
Kenny, A Leech, J McManus, C Muspratt, Y Nolan, T Norbury, J Robinson, C 
Spriggs, S Spoor, P Stuart, T Usher, J Walsh, S Whittingham, I Williams, J 
Williams, J Williamson, G Wood.    

Abstentions (1): Councillor T Smith (Civic Mayor).

It was therefore -

Resolved (32:29) (One abstention) – That

Council notes the change in the numbers of seats held by the respective 
parties since May 2nd and the not unconnected Cabinet decision not to 
invest up to £26 million in the Celtic Manor resort (previously branded as 
the ‘Hoylake Golf Resort’).

Council thanks those who have raised their concerns over this 
agreement for their views and the hard work of Phil Simpson and 
colleagues to ensure that £26 million of public money will be put to 
better use.

Council now seeks clarity, transparency and openness on the next 
intended steps by the Cabinet and asks that the relevant Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee is kept fully up to date.

Page 9



The Motion (2), moved by Councillor Allan Brame, was put to the vote and 
carried (61:0) (One abstention).

It was also therefore -

Resolved (61:0) (One abstention) – That

This Council believes that...

(i) the special meeting of the Business Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee held on 27 June 2019, along with the briefing session 
held prior to that, gave elected Members beyond the Cabinet their 
first complete overview of this project;

(ii) the information recently made available to Members has added 
considerably to their knowledge and the findings of the Call-In 
held on 7 December 2016, published Cabinet reports of 7 
November 2016 and 18 December 2017;

(iii) the decision of the Council made on 25 February 2019 which 
resolved by 32:29 with two abstentions that...’Council believes it 
would be inappropriate to make a decision on this scheme before 
we have the full facts’ ...was based on the information available to 
Members at that time.

 
Having regard to the issues raised above, Council recognises the 
ongoing Development Agreement but welcomes the decision of Cabinet 
made on 8 July 2019 concerning finance.  Given the history of this 
project, Council expects Members, beyond Cabinet, to be kept fully 
informed of any further discussions with the developer about their 
intentions.

Page 10



COUNCIL
Monday, 15 July 2019

Present: The Civic Mayor (Councillor Tony Smith) in the Chair
Deputy Civic Mayor (Councillor George Davies)

Councillors T Anderson
B Berry
J Bird
C Blakeley
A Brame
D Burgess-Joyce
H Cameron
K Cannon
C Carubia
P Cleary
W Clements
M Collins
C Cooke
A Corkhill
T Cox
WJ Davies
S Foulkes
S Frost
A Gardner
P Gilchrist

K Greaney
JE Green
EA Grey
P Hackett
P Hayes
S Hayes
A Hodson
K Hodson
J Johnson
AER Jones
C Jones
S Jones
T Jones
M Jordan
S Kelly
B Kenny
A Leech
I Lewis
M McLaughlin
J McManus

D Mitchell
C Muspratt
Y Nolan
T Norbury
J Robinson
L Rowlands
C Spriggs
S Spoor
P Stuart
M Sullivan
T Usher
J Walsh
G Watt
S Whittingham
I Williams
KJ Williams
S Williams
J Williamson
G Wood
A Wright

26 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

The Members of the Council were invited to consider whether they had any 
disclosable pecuniary and/or any other relevant interest in connection with 
any matters to be determined at this meeting and, if so, to declare it and state 
the nature of such interest.

The following declarations were made:

Councillor
Steve Foulkes

Item No. 11 – Motion - The Tories’ national housing 
shortage, poverty incomes, unemployment and private-
sector overcrowding (Minute No. 50 refers). Personal and 
prejudicial – By virtue of him being a member of Magenta 
Living Board.

Councillor
Jeff Green

Item No. 11 – Motion - The Tories’ national housing 
shortage, poverty incomes, unemployment and private-
sector overcrowding (Minute No. 50 refers). Personal and 
prejudicial – By virtue of him being a member of Magenta 
Living Board.

Public Document Pack

Page 11



Councillor 
Elizabeth Grey

Item 11 – Motion – Relationships Education, 
Relationships and Sex Education and Health Education. 
Personal – By virtue of her employment as a teacher.

Councillor Moira 
McLaughlin

Item 10(a) – Recommendations of Independent Panel on 
Members Remuneration. Personal – By virtue of having 
made representations to the Panel. 

Councillor 
Pat Cleary

Item 10(a) – Recommendations of Independent Panel on 
Members Remuneration. Personal – By virtue of having 
made representations to the Panel.

Councillor 
Brian Kenny

Item No. 11 – Motion – Merseyside Fire and Rescue 
Service (MFRS) (Minute No. 56 refers). Personal – By 
virtue of his membership of the Merseyside Fire and 
Rescue Authority.

Councillor Bruce 
Berry

Item No. 11 – Motion – Merseyside Fire and Rescue 
Service (MFRS) (Minute No. 56 refers). Personal – By 
virtue of his membership of the Merseyside Fire and 
Rescue Authority.

27 CIVIC MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

The Civic Mayor noted that apologies had been received from Councillors 
Tony Cottier, Cherry Povall, Lesley Rennie and Jean Stapleton.

28 MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 13 and 14 May 2019 
(Annual Council), and 24 June 2019 (extraordinary meeting) had been 
circulated to Members. On a motion by the Civic Mayor, seconded by 
Councillor Pat Hackett, it was –

Resolved (unanimously) – That the minutes of the meetings held on 13 
and 14 May 2019 (Annual Council), and 24 June 2019 (extraordinary 
meeting) be approved and adopted as a correct record.

29 PETITIONS 

In accordance with Standing Order 21, the Mayor received four petitions 
submitted by –

Councillor Chris Blakeley on behalf of 246 residents of Moreton and Saughall 
Massie calling on the Council to tackle the sky high costs of directors and 
consultants.

Councillor Mary Jordan on behalf of 444 residents of Spital calling on the 
Council to provide a Children’s Play Area in Spital.

Councillor Ian Lewis on behalf of 64 residents of Mosslands Drive and 
adjacent roads calling on the Council to resurface Mosslands Drive.

Page 12



Councillor Paul Stuart on behalf of 458 residents (hardcopy) and 120 online 
signatures calling on Merseytravel (a consortium of Merseyside local 
authorities) to reinstate the 403 service from Seacombe Ferry to Arrowe Park 
Hospital.

Resolved – That the petitions be noted and referred to the appropriate 
Chief Officers in accordance with Standing Order 34.

30 PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

Mr Christopher Power, having given the appropriate notice in accordance with 
Standing Order 10, submitted a question to the Leader of the Council on the 
subject of why Strategic Gold Command did not meet to co-ordinate better 
response and recovery away from emergency operations at the scene of the 
New Ferry Explosion.

Councillor Pat Hackett, Leader of the Council, responded accordingly.

Ms Chloe Stenhouse, Chairperson, Friends of Poulton Lancelyn, having given 
the appropriate notice in accordance with Standing Order 10, submitted a 
question to the Leader of the Council asking what assistance could the 
Council give The Friends of Poulton Lancelyn to set up a children’s play area 
in Spital, a facility that some residents had been asking for, for the past 30 
years.

Councillor Pat Hackett, Leader of the Council, responded accordingly.

Ms Chloe Stenhouse asked a supplementary question in accordance with 
Standing Order 10, on whether the Council had progressed a bid to access 
£9.7 million of new Government funding announced earlier in the year for day-
to-day maintenance costs, essential playground repairs and creation of new 
green spaces, to enable local leaders and communities resources to better 
maintain, protect and increase their recreational spaces. Councillor Hackett 
responded accordingly.

31 CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY ANNUAL REPORT 

Having been moved by Councillor Pat Hackett, Leader and seconded by 
Councillor Anita Leech, Deputy Leader, the Civic Mayor introduced the 
Cabinet Portfolio Summary Annual Report (Agenda Item 6A).

An amendment was moved in respect of the Cabinet Portfolio Summary 
Annual Report as follows:
 
Proposed by Councillor Phil Gilchrist
Seconded by Councillor Chris Carubia
 
“Council notes that the Annual Report again refers to the 'honest appraisals' 
of Wirral's progress.

The report states ...

Page 13



'We made a commitment when we first agreed this Plan to report back to 
Wirral residents – to keep residents informed, and give open, honest 
appraisals of our progress so we can be held to account on the promises we 
made.'  (Foreword)

Last year's report stated, "We’re also continuing to get the basics right'. That 
theme is not reflected in the new report. Council believes that Cabinet 
members must not overlook the everyday experiences of Wirral residents.

 The Annual Report for 2016/17 (page 25) promised that in 2017/18...
 "...we will redouble our efforts to improve the public realm..." 
The Annual Report for 2017/18 again stated...
"we will redouble our efforts to improve the public realm..." (page 35)

It is regrettable that there is no emphasis on the 'public realm' in the Report, 
though it does say that ... 'Living in a safe, clean, well looked after community 
leads to a better quality of life' (page 15).

With regard to this, Council has to point out that residents still do remain 
concerned about the unkempt state of the Borough, where unsightly weeds 
remain, streetlights await repair for long periods and where the roads continue 
to suffer from potholes.

Council, in this era of where the climate emergency is now being recognised, 
does welcome the statement that...

'This year, we will redouble our efforts to tackle climate change, through 
investing in green energies and introducing measures designed to reduce our 
energy consumption, such as sustainable transport policies and electric car 
charging points.' (page 12) and looks forward to seeing significant and 
measurable progress with these issues during the next year.'

Council welcomes the commitment to change the nature and style of Portfolio 
Holders' reports in response to the concerns of Members.”

Following a speech by Councillor Gilchrist, the amendment and original 
motion having been formally seconded, and Councillor Pat Hackett having 
replied, the amendment was put and carried (32:29) (One abstention).

The substantive motion (Cabinet Portfolio Summary Annual Report as 
amended) was put and carried (61:0) (One abstention).

32 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2018/19 

The Mayor introduced the Overview and Scrutiny Annual report (Agenda Item 
6B). 

The Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report was then considered by the 
Council and it was moved by former Scrutiny Chair Councillor Julie McManus, 
seconded by Councillor Tom Usher and –
 

Page 14



Resolved (61:0) (One abstention) – That the Overview and Scrutiny 
Annual Report be noted.

33 MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 

In addition to pre-notified questions to the Executive or Committee Chairs in 
accordance with Standing Orders 10 (2)(b) and 11, the Civic Mayor also 
invited questions to Cabinet Members with regard to the content of Cabinet 
Portfolio Summary Annual Report (Agenda Item 6A).

Questions on the content of the Portfolio Summary Annual Report 

Councillor Steve Hayes asked a question of Councillor Tony Jones, Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration and Growth, on the public consultation regarding 
Birkenhead, when will the results be known, and will councillors be given 
access to the public consultation.

Councillor Jones responded that the consultation on Birkenhead was 
launched on an online portal on the 29th of the May and closed on the 30th of 
June, a resale unit on St Johns pavement was opened on four separate 
occasions; morning, noon, evenings and weekends. Many people had taken 
up the offer to go in and make their views known, and the information from 
this consultation was being collated and would be made available and 
distributed when this had been completed. 

Councillor Chris Blakeley asked a question of Councillor Elizabeth Grey, 
Cabinet Member Environment and Climate Change stating that the annual 
report made no reference to the problem of dog fouling and no mention of the 
proposals for the Public Space Protection Order (PSPO), why was that?

Councillor Grey responded that she was surprised to be asked this question 
as Councillor Blakeley had been involved in the discussions regarding the 
creation of the new PSPO which was currently under review and being 
developed right now.

Councillor Steve Foulkes asked a question of Councillor Christine Spriggs, 
Cabinet Member Culture and Tourism. He congratulated the Cabinet Member 
on the first six months of the Wirral Borough of Culture and asked if she 
agreed that all Members should join together tonight to celebrate the fantastic 
work done so far?

Councillor Spriggs thanked Councillor Foulkes for his question. She informed 
that throughout the year the Council’s programme was celebrating the themes 
of exploration and discovery and some of Wirral’s amazing spaces and 
outdoor locations. She added that she wanted to put on record her thanks to 
every member of staff for the tremendous effort and work they had put in to 
make it the undoubted success it was today. The Borough of Culture 
programme had now reached its midway point and had attracted around 
100,000 visitors to the Wirral. There were still major events of scale to come 
and it was envisioned that up to 1 million visitors would be attracted by the 
end of the year. Some events to highlight were; The Future Yard Indie 
Festival coming to Hamilton square on August 23rd to 24th. The Wirral Food 

Page 15



and Drinks Festival coming in September to Birkenhead Park. The Liverpool 
Philharmonic would be performing on the Saturday night and the conductor of 
the Liverpool Philharmonic was very excited about this. The current economic 
impact of the events has not been determined. However, every pound that the 
council invests in culture was bringing forward £25 into the local economy, it 
was important to make sure that every pound of that £25 stayed in the 
economy. Councillor Spriggs informed that there had been great satisfaction 
levels on all the events so far, 90% of visitors rating their experience as good 
or very good. The programme also had the support of over 100 volunteers 
giving what equated to 300 volunteering hours, and the social value and pride 
this brought about in the Borough was fantastic. A press release came out 
today which revealed new figures for the Wirral Visitor Economy, and that it 
had grown for the 6th consecutive year, with tourism in the borough now 
estimated at £460 million pounds. That survey had been undertaken by the 
Visitor Economy Team at Liverpool City Region. 

Councillor Les Rowlands asked a question of Councillor Anita Leech, Cabinet 
Member for The Local Plan (Deputy Leader) remarking that the continued 
failure to have a local plan was one of the most pressing issues facing the 
Council and was putting much of Wirral’s Green Belt at risk. Why was there 
no update or reference to the local plan in the annual report? 

Councillor Leech responded that obviously there wasn’t a cabinet position for 
the Local Plan last year. As a result of this, and with this being such an 
important matter, a separate cabinet portfolio role had been established for 
the Local Plan.

Councillor Ian Lewis asked a question of Councillor Pat Hackett, Leader of the 
Council that in his report 4000 jobs had been created in Wirral this year, and 
that it boasted that Wirral now had its highest ever record of employment, a 
situation which was being mirrored across most of the rest of the country. Yet 
on a motion later this evening, two of his colleagues stated that many of these 
new jobs were low paid part time posts. If this was true, why didn’t he mention 
it in his report?

Councillor Hackett responded that the Council wanted to create more jobs to 
bring prosperity and investment to this borough. The Council was nearing its 
original target, set in 2015 at 5000 jobs. It was important that there were well 
paid jobs in this borough regardless of the type of job. With Members from all 
political groups help, the Council was looking to generate even more jobs. 

Councillor Tony Norbury asked a question of Councillor Elizabeth Grey, 
Cabinet Member Environment and Climate Change on how was Council going 
to get its message across regarding the climate changes that were needed?

Councillor Grey responded that a number of methods were being used to get 
this message across e.g. a fantastic eco schools team, one of the most 
successful in the country, which had been very successful in encouraging 
behaviour changes. She added that it was vital to get this message across as 
its urgency should be understood. People needed to know what the Council 
was doing about it i.e. utilising social media and Wirral View, both the online 
version and the paper version to get this vital message across. 

Page 16



Councillor Moira McLaughlin asked a question of Councillor Julie McManus, 
Cabinet Member Community Services stating that in March the Cabinet 
Member for Highways and Transportation was asked a number of questions 
about street lighting in the borough and in particularly Rock Ferry. This 
included a question on how many street lights were awaiting repair and how 
many of these were in Rock Ferry, what was the average time it took for a 
repair to be carried out, and when would the current CRM system actual show 
progress on repairs so constituents could check. A written response was 
received to part of the question but not the whole question, and she was still 
awaiting an answer to the CRM question and the length of time people had to 
wait. 

Councillor McManus responded that she was not the Cabinet Member 
portfolio holder in March but appreciated that was some time to wait. 
Councillor McManus stated that she would endeavour to get all of those 
answers in writing. She added that on average around 340 reports were 
received each month and around 85% of these streetlights were fixed first 
time. Council was on target for phase two of the LED streetlights to begin on 
the 1st of September, but Council must improve how it communicated with 
residents. Work was being undertaken on the CRM to improve that. 

Councillor Paul Stuart asked a question of Councillor Tom Usher, Cabinet 
Member Children, Families and Education on the subject of foster care 
recruitment, key to Council’s looked after children, and the authority was 
crying out for foster carers. Could an update be provided on how the 
campaign to recruit more foster carers was progressing?

Councillor Usher responded that he had spoken to some foster carers 
because ultimately they were the best people to tell us what they needed in 
terms of support. What he had gathered from these foster carers and reports 
in the national press was that the foster carers wanted to be valued more. 
Council was about to launch a new training and support package for the foster 
carers of Wirral, and he had asked the Corporate Parenting Board on how the 
Council could value foster carers more to be included as an item on the 
agenda for this year. Last year Council approved 18 new foster families, and 
this year had approved over 30.

Councillor Michael Collins asked a question of Councillor Elizabeth Grey, 
Cabinet Member Environment and Climate Change whether the Cabinet 
Member could confirm that Wirral Council had applied for a share of the 
government’s £10million fund to plant 130,000 urban trees? And did the 
council contribute to consultation on proposed measures to give greater 
protection to the trees?

Councillor Grey responded that Council had bid for that money, and was also 
looking for others ways to fund its environmental measures and the planting of 
trees for its new tree strategy. 

Councillor Bruce Berry asked a question of Councillor Christine Jones, 
Cabinet Member Adult Care Health and Wellbeing indicating that the annual 
report stated that more public resources were being spent on the frontline 

Page 17



since the Council had combined resources with the NHS. He asked if the 
Cabinet Member supported that decision, and could she inform Council how 
much extra cash had been ‘released’. 

Councillor Jones thanked Councillor Berry for his question and informed that a 
written response to his question would be supplied.

Councillor Tom Anderson asked a question of Councillor Julie McManus, 
Cabinet Member Community Services that in the annual report it was stated 
that high standards of street cleanliness had been maintained, did she 
seriously believe that this had been the case?

Councillor McManus responded that Members were aware that funding had 
been cut, and that did have an impact on street cleansing. Council had 
embarked on a new project called Neat Streets, this looked at more deprived 
communities where fly tipping was common, and this had been really 
successful. One street in particular which had problematic weeds had now 
worked with the department for some time and was now entering North West 
in Bloom as a result of taking ownership of their own street. The department 
planned to continue with such projects to encourage people to take pride and 
‘love where they live’. 

Councillor Gill Wood asked a question of Councillor Elizabeth Grey, Cabinet 
Member Environment and Climate Change seeking assurance on the number 
of trees being planted.

Councillor Grey responded that the Council was developing a tree strategy 
right now, and officers were looking into the funding for planting of many more 
trees. Her ambition was to eventually double the tree cover. She added that 
her department took the matter of trees seriously and always sought a second 
opinion before any tree felling - for the safety of residents and visitors.

Councillor Jeff Green asked a question of Councillor Julie McManus, Cabinet 
Member Community Services stating that three years ago Constituency 
Committees were allocated schemes for money and for growth. Funding had 
still not been implemented, including items such as drop curb safety barriers. 
Could the Cabinet Member please look into this and advise all Members 
where each of the approved schemes were up to and hopefully when they 
would be completed?

Councillor McManus responded that she did not have that information at hand 
but once she had reviewed the budgets and where the money was being 
spent (or not spent) she would arrange a report to all Members.

Councillor Stuart Kelly asked a question of Councillor Pat Hackett, Leader of 
the Council that in his covering report the Leader stated that the nature and 
the style of portfolio holders reports was being changed. Did this mean an end 
to the ‘click here and read all about it in the Wirral Globe’ style of report? And 
did it also mean a potential end to rosey eyed reports based on departmental 
defence, with a move to a more warts and all style of report? Was the nature 
and style of the reports changing for the better?

Page 18



Councillor Hackett responded that things were changing in a number of ways, 
one was actions speak louder than words. He added that Council now had a 
Cabinet Member for the Local Plan which was very important and with 
Members help on the Local Plan Advisory Committee, Council would be able 
to roll out the Local Plan in the next year or so, possibly even earlier. He also 
reported that Council also had a Cabinet Member for Climate Change which 
had not existed previously. This would see a change in stance on all 
environmental issues. The Council aimed to continue how they had started 
this year, whipping away the cynicism to make sure that in the future it was 
more consensual. 

Councillor Chris Cooke asked a question of Councillor Elizabeth Grey, 
Cabinet Member Environment and Climate Change if she could explain how 
the authority was to ensure that Wirral reached its recycling target of 50% 
when over the past few years its recycling rate had actually declined. 

Councillor Grey responded that the issue of recycling was under review, and 
the Council was working with the Liverpool City Region and the Waste 
Authority on ways of moving forward in the best possible way. She added that 
recycling rates had declined across the whole country and was a behavioural 
issue. Plans were in progress to increase Wirral’s recycling rates as quickly as 
practicable.    

Councillor Geoffrey Watt asked a question of Councillor Stuart Whittingham, 
Cabinet Member Housing and Planning if the Cabinet Member was satisfied 
that the planning department was sufficiently resourced to inform 
development control in Wirral, and if not, what did he propose to do about it, 
and by when?

Councillor Whittingham responded that there were some issues to tackle in 
the Council’s planning function, and assistance from the Local Government 
Association had been requested to take steps to invest the right level and 
quality of support and quickly deal with the capacity issues currently faced. 

Councillor David Burgess-Joyce asked a question of Councillor Christine 
Spriggs, Cabinet Member Culture and Tourism regarding places like Hay on 
Wye where a regular book fair festival brought in £18million a year. He 
questioned if the Cabinet Member had any plans to do something that was a 
bit more ‘annual’ as opposed to some of the excellent work which had been 
done that tended to be more ‘one off’ events.

Councillor Spriggs responded that she hoped that the current food and drink 
festival would become an annual event, based on food and music, but also 
other areas of the arts as well. She explained that work was being planned 
with local libraries on this and similar ideas.

Councillor Julie McManus, Cabinet Member Community Services added that 
with regards to the library service it was important not to think one size fits all. 
Members needed to look at what different communities wanted from different 
libraries. Other ideas included the encouraging the use of parks for drama 
events. 

Page 19



Councillor Paul Stuart asked a question of Councillor Janette Williamson, 
Cabinet Member Finance & Resources on when the council tax reduction for 
9000 households announced last year was going to come into effect, and how 
could people apply for it? 

Councillor Williamson responded that this had come about as a result of 
continued welfare reform from this Conservative government which had left a 
large section of the population on Wirral in poverty. The Council was currently 
out to consultation on the matter and feedback had been really positive. She 
was hoping to implement the reduction, and come April 2020, 9000 household 
would benefit as a result. She added that she and her department were really 
proud of this scheme. 

Councillor Les Rowlands asked a question of Councillor Pat Hackett, Leader 
of the Council on what had been the Leader’s greatest achievement in his 73 
days since election? 

Councillor Hackett responded ‘getting in office and staying elected’. He also 
added that cross party work and parties working together to deliver what the 
residents had asked at the election last May was his key aim. 

Councillor Chris Blakeley asked a question of Councillor Christine Spriggs, 
Cabinet Member Culture and Tourism whether she believed that news 
releases sent out on her behalf should have a misleading headline. For 
instance, that day’s news release stating “The one o’clock gun will be fired”, 
however the body of the story explained that a field gun was to be used to 
replicate the firing of the one o’clock gun. Did she agree that the Council 
Media Department was misleading the public of Wirral?

Councillor Spriggs responded that she would provide a written response. 

Councillor Geoffrey Watt asked a question of Councillor Christine Spriggs, 
Cabinet Member Culture and Tourism whether she believed it was 
appropriate to conduct an event which could be perceived as celebrating 
witchcraft and the occult, and was she party to that decision?

Councillor Spriggs responded that she hadn’t been in post when the decision 
to progress that specific project was taken. She understood that some people 
might have found the name of the event possibly upsetting, but that group 
were a minority and they were spoken to by the culture project team at the 
time. Over 7000 people attended the event, 90-95% of whom said it was 
wonderful. It wasn’t a piece about witchcraft, it was a wonderful piece, a 
participatory piece of art of world class quality, open performance, by 
Absolute Culture which came from the Hull 2017 Festival of Culture. It was a 
superb piece, one of the biggest parts of which was about celebrating people 
and having the right to go into parks.     

Councillor Julie McManus, Cabinet Member Community Services added that 
there had been some concerns from St Oswald’s Church in Duke Street, and 
they had met with the Council’s  culture team and were able to talk through 
their concerns, one of the positives was that they spoke directly with people 

Page 20



involved with the event who then went along to Christ the King where they 
had their own prayer meeting. 

Questions notified in advance 

Councillor Mike Collins asked a question of the Cabinet Member for the Local 
Plan requesting confirmation that she agreed that the sites in Pensby 
highlighted for development, and to which the then Cabinet in November 2018 
agreed should not be developed, and also whether she could confirm the 
status of the list of sites that the same Cabinet endorsed.

Councillor Anita Leech responded, stating that no decisions had been taken 
on any of the sites. The Council was currently preparing the local plan which 
would set out the vision for strategic priority, the options and the preferred 
options. This would be considered by cabinet on the 25th of November and 
Council on the 9th of December, consultation would commence in January 
2020. At this point the council would formally respond to limitation comments 
for regeneration. Although she could not pre-judge the content of the Local 
Plan, she was able to state that it would be open and collaborative and would 
include the views of Wirral Green Space Alliance and other such groups who 
bring a helpful voice to this process and would be invited to play a role in the 
Local Plan.

Councillor Phil Gilchrist asked a question of the Cabinet Member for 
Community Services in relation to faulty street lighting, citing an example of a 
ward constituent and her neighbour who had, whilst following up a request, 
uncovered difficulties with the transfer of data and requests from one Council 
system to another. He asked what steps were being taken to improve the 
systems and end the frustrations faced by the public. 

Councillor Julie McManus responded accordingly and agreed that a written 
response would be circulated.

34 MINUTES OF CONSTITUENCY COMMITTEES 

Following the disbanding of the Constituency Committees, the minutes of the 
final meetings were submitted for final sign-off, namely:

Birkenhead Constituency Committee – 28 February 2019;
Wirral South Constituency Committee – 6 March 2019;
Wallasey Constituency Committee – 12 March 2019; and
Wirral West Constituency Committee – 14 March 2019

On a motion moved by Councillor Pat Hackett, seconded by Councillor Anita 
Leech, it was –

Resolved (61:0) (One abstention) – That the minutes of the Birkenhead 
Constituency Committee (28 February 2019); Wirral South Constituency 
Committee (6 March 2019); Wallasey Constituency Committee (12 March 
2019); and Wirral West Constituency Committee (14 March 2019), be 
approved and adopted as a correct record.

Page 21



35 VACANCIES 

In accordance with Standing Order 25(6) the Council was requested to deal 
with the following matters in respect of the membership of committees and 
appointments to outside organisations.

Cheshire and Wirral NHS Partnership Trust.
It was moved by Councillor Gilchrist, seconded by Councillor Mitchell that 
Councillor Andy Corkhill be appointed the Council’s nominee as Cheshire and 
Wirral NHS Partnership Trust: Appointed Governor, replacing Councillor Phil 
Gilchrist, when his term of office expires on 17 October 2019.

Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee
It was moved by Councillor Lewis, seconded by Councillor Blakeley that 
Councillor Tom Anderson be appointed as Chair of the Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee, replacing Councillor Chris Blakeley with immediate 
effect.

Resolved – That the above appointments and nominations be approved.

36 MATTERS REQUIRING APPROVAL OR CONSIDERATION BY THE 
COUNCIL 

In accordance with Standing Order 5(2) a number of matters had been 
submitted for approval or consideration by the Council (see Minutes 37 to 39 
post).

37 RECOMMENDATION OF THE INDEPENDENT PANEL ON MEMBERS 
ALLOWANCES 

The first matter requiring consideration by Council was in relation to a 
recommendation within minute 3 of the Panel on Members Allowances (4 
June 2019) -  

That:

(1) a Special Responsibility Allowance of £1,146 (5% of the SRA paid to the 
Leader of the Council) be paid to the Leaders of Minority Groups, i.e. 
Groups having fewer Members than the second largest Opposition 
Group, comprising of at least three Members; 

(2) no Special Responsibility Allowances be paid to the Deputy Leaders of 
Minority Groups; and

(3) the Panel be requested to give further consideration to Special 
Responsibility Allowances for the Leaders and Deputy Leaders, as part 
of its periodic review of Members’ Allowances, when it meets again on 
25 September 2019.

On a motion by Councillor Pat Hackett, seconded by Councillor Anita Leech, it 
was –

Page 22



Resolved (60:0) (One abstention) – That the recommendations contained 
within Minute 3 of the Panel on Members Allowances (4 June 2019), be 
approved. 

38 RECOMMENDATION OF THE EMPLOYMENT AND APPOINTMENTS 
COMMITTEE 

The second matter requiring consideration by Council was in relation to the 
appointment of an Interim Chief Executive (Head of Paid Service), as 
recommended by the Employment and Appointments Committee, 12 June 
2019 (Minute 3(2) refers).

That: 

Mr Paul Satoor be appointed to the post of Chief Executive (Head of Paid 
Service), to include the appointment as Returning Officer and Electoral 
Registration Officer, for a period of twelve months or until such time as a 
permanent appointment is made.

On a motion by Councillor Pat Hackett, seconded by Councillor Anita Leech, it 
was –

Resolved (60:0) (One abstention) – That the recommendation contained 
within Minute 3(2) of the Employment and Appointments Committee (12 
June 2019), be approved. 

39 RECOMMENDATION OF CABINET - EXECUTIVE DECISION MAKING 
PROCESS 

The final matter requiring consideration by Council was a recommendation to 
note the amended Leader’s Scheme of Delegation and Procedure as agreed 
at the meeting of Cabinet, 24 June 2019 (Minute 7(2) refers).    

Resolved – That the recommendations contained within Minute 7(2) of 
the Cabinet meeting held on 24 June 2019, be noted.

40 NOTICES OF MOTION 

The following Notices of Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 
7(1) were reported to Council and determined as detailed in Minutes 42 to 56 
(post).

 A better offer for Care Leavers;
 Relationships education, relationships and sex education and health 

education;
 Investing to change our urban scene;
 Glyphosate-free Wirral;
 Verges and Pollinators;
 Keep free TV licences for over 75s;
 TV Licences;
 Inconsiderate parking around schools;

Page 23



 The Tories’ national housing shortage, poverty incomes, 
unemployment and private sector overcrowding;

 Tyred;
 Cutting pollution in the interests of all;
 Borough of Culture;
 Wirral View;
 Protecting Wirral’s heritage sites of archaeological importance; and
 Merseyside Fire & Rescue Services (MFRS)

41 PROCEDURAL MATTER 

It was moved by Councillor Chris Blakeley and seconded by Councillor Adrian 
Jones that Standing Order 9(1) be suspended and Motions 1 and 2 at agenda 
item 11 be debated with the guillotine coming into effect after that.

Upon being put to the vote, it was -

Resolved (54:4) (One abstention) –

That Standing Order 9(1) be suspended and Motions 1 and 2 at agenda 
item 11 be debated with the guillotine coming into effect after that.

42 MOTION - A BETTER OFFER FOR CARE LEAVERS 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘A Better Offer for Care Leavers’ for 
which one motion and two amendments had been submitted. 

MOTION

Councillor Tom Usher moved and Councillor Kate Cannon seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 –

“Council notes that the new Offer for Care Leavers reflects a commitment to 
do the right thing by the young people in our care. Those involved, both from 
the Council and our partner organisations should be thanked for their work 
and determination, especially those young people at the Care Leaver’s 
Council and beyond who helped shape this new offer.

Council also makes the assurance that it will continue to listen to children and 
young people in its efforts to improve the offer. We are resolute that one of the 
most important responsibilities of any government, local or national is to 
ensure children and young people get the best possible start to their life.  
Council supports the decision to exempt care leavers from Council Tax and to 
write off any arrears owed.

The Council supports the £20m investment made in 2018/19 and is committed 
to continued investment in Children’s services.  However, our commitment 
and aspirations for our young people are made more difficult by the 
government’s refusal to act on the crisis in social care funding. If austerity is 
truly over, Council calls on the government to set children as their number one 
priority, provide adequate funding for local councils, and reverse some of the 

Page 24



harmful cuts in services that have led to a record number of children in care.  
In the sixth richest country in the world we should not have more than one in 
four children living in poverty in the UK.  This statistic shames us all.”

AMENDMENT 1

Proposed by Councillor Tom Anderson
Seconded by Councillor Wendy Clements

In paragraph 3 delete all from: ‘However, our commitment……’ to ‘truly over,’ 

In paragraph 3 delete all from ‘and reverse…….’ to ‘us all.’

Insert ‘and’ between ‘priority’ and ‘provide’

Insert new paragraphs:

Council welcomes the Government’s Care Leavers Strategy and is fully 
committed to ensuring that this guidance is implemented within the local 
authority. Council requests that a report goes to the Children and Families 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee detailing the progress in implementing this 
strategy.’ 

Council recognises the beneficial effect of employment on life chances. To 
give our care leavers the best start possible, Council requests Cabinet to 
ensure Officers continue their work to prioritise apprentice vacancies within 
the authority and working with our partners, for care leavers. Thereby 
ensuring they have a better start in life.

Therefore, the final three paragraphs read:

The Council supports the £20m investment made in 2018/19 and is committed 
to continued investment in Children’s services. Council calls on the 
government to set children as their number one priority and provide adequate 
funding for local councils.

Council welcomes the Government’s Care Leavers Strategy and is fully 
committed to ensuring that this guidance is implemented within the local 
authority. Council requests that a report goes to the Children and Families 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee detailing the progress in implementing this 
strategy. 

Council recognises the beneficial effect of employment on life chances. To 
give our care leavers the best start possible, Council requests Cabinet 
ensures Officers continue their work to prioritise apprentice vacancies within 
the authority and working with our partners, for care leavers. Thereby 
ensuring they have a better start in life.

AMENDMENT 2

Proposed by Councillor Phil Gilchrist
Seconded by Councillor Andy Corkhill

Page 25



Insert after para 3...

Council also believes that the Government needs to take steps to intervene in 
the operation of the private sector providing residential placements for 
children. In particular, the findings of the National Audit Office ‘Pressures on 
children’s social care’ (18 January 2019) highlighted the spiralling cost of care 
in that sector (paras 1.26 and 1.27).

The Government also needs to review the operation of the ‘market’ in care 
homes where the shortage of suitable places in some localities leads to 
increased charges. It should be noted that, at the end of August 2017, 43 
private companies ran 41 per cent of all children's homes in England, with the 
five largest companies accounting for about 17 per cent of all homes.

However, only 14 per cent of privately-owned homes were judged to be 
"outstanding" overall by Ofsted in 2016/17, compared with 25 per cent of 
homes run by local authorities and 19 per cent of homes run by voluntary 
organisations. (source: Children and Young People Now, 17 July 2018)

www.cypnow.co.uk/cyp/news/2005543/call-for-councils-to-monitor-profits-of-
private-childrens-home

Following the Council having debated the matter, the amendment (1) moved 
by Councillor Anderson was put and lost (19:41) (One abstention).

Councillor Usher as mover of the motion, and duly supported by Councillor 
Cannon as seconder, indicated acceptance of the amendment (2) moved by 
Cllr Gilchrist.  

The substantive motion was therefore put and carried.

Resolved (60:0) (One abstention) – That

Council notes that the new Offer for Care Leavers reflects a commitment 
to do the right thing by the young people in our care. Those involved, 
both from the Council and our partner organisations should be thanked 
for their work and determination, especially those young people at the 
Care Leaver’s Council and beyond who helped shape this new offer.

Council also makes the assurance that it will continue to listen to 
children and young people in its efforts to improve the offer. We are 
resolute that one of the most important responsibilities of any 
government, local or national is to ensure children and young people get 
the best possible start to their life.  Council supports the decision to 
exempt care leavers from Council Tax and to write off any arrears owed.

The Council supports the £20m investment made in 2018/19 and is 
committed to continued investment in Children’s services.  However, 
our commitment and aspirations for our young people are made more 
difficult by the government’s refusal to act on the crisis in social care 
funding. If austerity is truly over, Council calls on the government to set 

Page 26

http://www.cypnow.co.uk/cyp/news/2005543/call-for-councils-to-monitor-profits-of-private-childrens-home
http://www.cypnow.co.uk/cyp/news/2005543/call-for-councils-to-monitor-profits-of-private-childrens-home


children as their number one priority, provide adequate funding for local 
councils, and reverse some of the harmful cuts in services that have led 
to a record number of children in care.  In the sixth richest country in the 
world we should not have more than one in four children living in 
poverty in the UK.  This statistic shames us all.

Council also believes that the Government needs to take steps to 
intervene in the operation of the private sector providing residential 
placements for children. In particular, the findings of the National Audit 
Office ‘Pressures on children’s social care’ (18 January 2019) 
highlighted the spiralling cost of care in that sector (paras 1.26 and 
1.27).

The Government also needs to review the operation of the ‘market’ in 
care homes where the shortage of suitable places in some localities 
leads to increased charges. It should be noted that, at the end of August 
2017, 43 private companies ran 41 per cent of all children's homes in 
England, with the five largest companies accounting for about 17 per 
cent of all homes.

However, only 14 per cent of privately-owned homes were judged to be 
"outstanding" overall by Ofsted in 2016/17, compared with 25 per cent of 
homes run by local authorities and 19 per cent of homes run by 
voluntary organisations. (source: Children and Young People Now, 17 
July 2018).

43 MOTION - RELATIONSHIPS EDUCATION, RELATIONSHIPS AND SEX 
EDUCATION AND HEALTH EDUCATION 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘Relationships education, relationships 
and sex education and health education’ for which one motion (no 
amendments) had been submitted. 

MOTION

Councillor Ian Lewis moved and Councillor Tom Anderson seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 -

“Council believes that at the heart of preparing children for life in modern 
Britain is making sure that they understand the world they are growing up in.
 
Council welcomes the publication of guidance for schools on relationships, 
sex and health education by the Department for Education and agrees with 
the statement by Stonewall that it marks a ‘real, positive step forward for 
LGBT inclusion in England’s schools’ to help ensure all children have the 
knowledge they need to grow up healthy, happy and safe.

Council urges all schools in Wirral to take steps now to ensure compliance 
with the guidance ahead of the introduction of compulsory relationships 
education for primary-age pupils and compulsory relationships and sex 
education for secondary-age pupils, and compulsory health education for all 
pupils in state-funded schools from September 2020.

Page 27



Council also looks forward to the work by the expert group convened by the 
Secretary of State to support the effective implementation of these new 
subjects in schools, which includes teaching unions such as the NAHT, sector 
experts, representatives of faith groups, parents and young people.”

Resolved: (57:0) (Two abstentions) – That the motion be approved.

44 MOTION - INVESTING TO CHANGE OUR URBAN SCENE 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘Investing to change our Urban Scene’ 
for which one motion and one amendment had been submitted. 

MOTION

Councillor Phil Gilchrist moved and Councillor Dave Mitchell seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 -

“Council believes that there is a need for a step change or programme of 
improvements to the quality of the urban scene in Wirral.  The footways 
leading to local shopping centres and the areas of dropped kerbs and 
crossings need upgrading in some areas to provide safe, convenient and 
attractive routes for pedestrians and the users of electric buggies.

 
Council notes that there has been a measurable decline in the condition of 
Wirral’s roads and that the recently announced maintenance programme is 
constrained by the financial pressures facing the Borough.  Some local 
shopping centres have areas of damaged footways and need investment to 
ensure these are not only safe but are even and attractive environments.

Council considers that the use of prudential borrowing may provide a way of 
investing in road surfaces, footways and cycling facilities.  The opportunity 
could be taken to look at modifications to improve safety, reduce speeds and 
improve facilities for parking, pedestrians and cyclists.  This might enable the 
creation of a more pleasant environment, especially in congested areas and 
around schools.

Council recommends that Cabinet invites Ward Members to submit reports on 
the areas that they believe need to be upgraded.  This would be over and 
above minor maintenance but should be a series of suggestions for turning 
the decline around.  A target date for submissions should be offered so that a 
planned programme of improvement can be drawn up.

Council also requests that Cabinet reports back on how long it would take to 
address the backlog of highway repairs at current spending levels and how 
the deterioration might be reversed and resourced through prudential 
borrowing.”

AMENDMENT

Proposed by Councillor Liz Grey
Seconded by Councillor Janette Williamson

Page 28



Delete all after; “Council recommends that Cabinet invites Ward Members to 
submit reports on the areas that they believe need upgraded.” 

Replace with: 

“This would be over and above minor maintenance but should be a series of 
suggestions for improving the environment and road safety. A target date for 
submissions should be offered so that a planned programme of improvement 
can be drawn up.

Council also requests that Cabinet reports back on how long it would take to 
improve the situation along our roads and pavements at current spending 
levels and if the deterioration might be reversed and resourced through 
prudential borrowing or capital investment”.

Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.

Councillor Gilchrist as mover of the motion, and duly supported by Councillor 
Mitchell as seconder, indicated acceptance of the amendment moved by Cllr 
Grey.  

The substantive motion was therefore put and carried.

Resolved (60:0) (One abstention) – That

Council believes that there is a need for a step change or programme of 
improvements to the quality of the urban scene in Wirral. The footways 
leading to local shopping centres and the areas of dropped kerbs and 
crossings need upgrading in some areas to provide safe, convenient 
and attractive routes for pedestrians and the users of electric buggies.

 
Council notes that there has been a measurable decline in the condition 
of Wirral’s roads and that the recently announced maintenance 
programme is constrained by the financial pressures facing the 
Borough. Some local shopping centres have areas of damaged footways 
and need investment to ensure these are not only safe but are even and 
attractive environments.

Council considers that the use of prudential borrowing may provide a 
way of investing in road surfaces, footways and cycling facilities. The 
opportunity could be taken to look at modifications to improve safety, 
reduce speeds and improve facilities for parking, pedestrians and 
cyclists.  This might enable the creation of a more pleasant environment, 
especially in congested areas and around schools.

Council recommends that Cabinet invites Ward Members to submit 
reports on the areas that they believe need to be upgraded. This would 
be over and above minor maintenance but should be a series of 
suggestions for improving the environment and road safety. A target 
date for submissions should be offered so that a planned programme of 
improvement can be drawn up.

Page 29



Council also requests that Cabinet reports back on how long it would 
take to improve the situation along our roads and pavements at current 
spending levels and if the deterioration might be reversed and 
resourced through prudential borrowing or capital investment.

45 MOTION - GLYPHOSATE-FREE WIRRAL 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘Glyphosate-free Wirral’ for which one 
motion and three amendments had been submitted. 

MOTION

Councillor Steve Hayes moved and Councillor Chris Cooke seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 -

“Council notes:

The use of pesticides such as glyphosate in the UK has increased by 60% in 
real terms since 1990 [1]. Italy, Portugal and the Canadian city of Vancouver 
have all banned the use of glyphosate [or glyphosate based weed killers] and 
France is working towards this. Mosanto and German owner Bayer face 9,000 
lawsuits in the USA from those that believe their illnesses are caused by their 
products, the first plaintiff won unanimously with many more to follow [2]. 
Recent studies published in ScienceDirect show a 41% increased risk of Non-
Hodgkin Lymphoma caused by exposure from glyphosate-based weed killers 
and products [3].

Council believes:

 There is compelling evidence that glyphosate and a wide range of 
other herbicides and pesticides may be harmful to human health

 The use of pesticides and weed killers reduces biodiversity, impacting 
negatively on insects, birds and bees, in a time when the world is 
losing 2.5% of its insect population per-year [4].

 Harmful weed killer residues can creep into the food chain.

 Pets and children should not be playing in parks, in our streets or any 
area treated with such chemicals.

Council recommends that cabinet resolves to:

 Phase out the use of all pesticides and weed killers on council land.

 Cut out all use of glyphosate based treatments in all council-owned 
parks within one year and across all council-owned land within two 
years.

Page 30



 Trial pesticide-free alternatives during this period. Particularly those 
adopted by the likes of Hammersmith and Fulham and Lewes Councils 
who use biodegradable foam or hot steam treatments on weeds.

 Grant an exception to the above ban regarding the control of Japanese 
knotweed, or other invasive species, where there are currently no 
effective mechanical techniques available. However, in this case 
chemicals such as glyphosate will only be stem-injected, rather than 
sprayed, to reduce its spread in the environment.

 Grant an exception on sprays only in relation to Giant Hogweed where 
it’s not safe to be dug out or safely removed by other means and then 
cordon off the surrounding area.

 Write to the prime minister to inform the government of this Council’s 
opposition to glyphosate-based pesticides and to call for a UK-wide 
programme to phase out their use.

1. http://www.pan-uk.org/pesticides-agriculture-uk/ Link to external page/site
2. https://www.theguardian.com/science/2018/oct/07/monsanto-trial-cancer-
appeal-glyphosate-chemical Link to external page/site
3. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1383574218300887 Link 
to external page/site
4. https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/feb/10/plummeting-insect-
numbers-threaten-collapse-of-nature- Link to external page/site”

AMENDMENT 1

Councillor Liz Grey moved and Councillor Julie McManus seconded the 
following amendment submitted in accordance with Standing Order 12(9) 
such that the Motion be approved subject to –

Delete all after: “Pets and children should not be playing in parks, in our 
streets or any area treated with such chemicals.”

Replace with “Council recognises that WBC does not use glyphosate in Green 
Flag areas.

Council welcomes the fact that WBC is trialling the use of alternatives to 
glyphosate, such as hot foam, for use in our other areas, with the intention of 
phasing out the use of glyphosate as soon as possible.

Council requests Cabinet /or recommends that cabinet resolves to: 

 Grant an exception to the above ban regarding the control of Japanese 
knotweed, Hogweed or other invasive species. In such cases, all means 
possible will be used to minimise the spread of the chemicals into the 
surrounding area.

Page 31

http://www.pan-uk.org/pesticides-agriculture-uk/
https://www.theguardian.com/science/2018/oct/07/monsanto-trial-cancer-appeal-glyphosate-chemical
https://www.theguardian.com/science/2018/oct/07/monsanto-trial-cancer-appeal-glyphosate-chemical
https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1383574218300887
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/feb/10/plummeting-insect-numbers-threaten-collapse-of-nature
https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/feb/10/plummeting-insect-numbers-threaten-collapse-of-nature


 Write to the prime minister to inform the government of this Council’s 
opposition to glyphosate-based herbicides and to call for a UK-wide 
programme to phase out their use.

1.http://www.pan-uk.org/pesticides-agriculture-uk/ Link to external page/site
2.https://www.theguardian.com/science/2018/oct/07/monsanto-trial-cancer-
appeal-glyphosatechemical Link to external page/site 
3.https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1383574218300887 Link 
to external page/site
4.https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/feb/10/plummeting-insect-
numbers-threatencollapse-of-nature- Link to external page/site”

Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.

The amendment moved by Councillor Elizabeth Grey was put and carried 
(54:6) (One abstention).

AMENDMENT 2

Following advice from the Director: Governance and Assurance regarding the 
amendment as notified by Councillor Andrew Gardner and Councillor Tony 
Cox in the agenda papers, Council was apprised that having given its support 
to Amendment 1 above, Amendment 2 therefore automatically ‘falls’.

AMENDMENT 3

Councillor Phil Gilchrist moved and Councillor Dave Mitchell seconded the 
following amendment submitted in accordance with Standing Order 12(9) 
such that the Motion be approved subject to –

Line 1, insert after "Council notes...'

...the research reported within the Notice of Motion as set out here.

Insert additional bullet point immediately after ‘Council recommends that 
Cabinet resolves to:'

 Request that officers establish how the Wirral can move from a 
borough where there is clearly a problem with the prevalence of long 
established and persistent weeds on footways, roadsides and traffic 
islands  to a borough where the alternative controls and courses of 
action suggested can be introduced as set out.

Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.

The amendment moved by Councillor Phil Gilchrist was put and carried 
(41:18) (One abstention).

The substantive motion as amended was put and carried (41:19) (One 
abstention).

Resolved (41:19) (One abstention) – 
Page 32



That Council notes the research reported within the Notice of Motion as 
set out here:

The use of pesticides such as glyphosate in the UK has increased by 
60% in real terms since 1990 [1]. Italy, Portugal and the Canadian city of 
Vancouver have all banned the use of glyphosate [or glyphosate based 
weed killers] and France is working towards this. Mosanto and German 
owner Bayer face 9,000 lawsuits in the USA from those that believe their 
illnesses are caused by their products, the first plaintiff won 
unanimously with many more to follow [2]. Recent studies published in 
ScienceDirect show a 41% increased risk of Non-Hodgkin Lymphoma 
caused by exposure from glyphosate-based weed killers and products 
[3].

Council believes:

 There is compelling evidence that glyphosate and a wide range of 
other herbicides and pesticides may be harmful to human health

 The use of pesticides and weed killers reduces biodiversity, 
impacting negatively on insects, birds and bees, in a time when 
the world is losing 2.5% of its insect population per-year [4].

 Harmful weed killer residues can creep into the food chain.

 Pets and children should not be playing in parks, in our streets or 
any area treated with such chemicals.

Council recognises that WBC does not use glyphosate in Green Flag 
areas.

Council welcomes the fact that WBC is trialling the use of alternatives to 
glyphosate, such as hot foam, for use in our other areas, with the 
intention of phasing out the use of glyphosate as soon as possible.

Council requests Cabinet or recommends that cabinet resolves to: 

 Request that officers establish how the Wirral can move from a 
borough where there is clearly a problem with the prevalence of 
long established and persistent weeds on footways, roadsides 
and traffic islands  to a borough where the alternative controls 
and courses of action suggested can be introduced as set out.

 Grant an exception to the above ban regarding the control of 
Japanese knotweed, Hogweed or other invasive species. In such 
cases, all means possible will be used to minimise the spread of 
the chemicals into the surrounding area.

Page 33



 Write to the prime minister to inform the government of this 
Council’s opposition to glyphosate-based herbicides and to call 
for a UK-wide programme to phase out their use.

1.http://www.pan-uk.org/pesticides-agriculture-uk/ Link to external page/site
2.https://www.theguardian.com/science/2018/oct/07/monsanto-trial-cancer-
appeal-glyphosatechemical Link to external page/site 
3.https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1383574218300887 Link 
to external page/site
4.https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/feb/10/plummeting-insect-
numbers-threatencollapse-of-nature- Link to external page/site

46 MOTION - VERGES AND POLLINATORS 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘Verges and Pollinators’ for which one 
motion and one amendment had been submitted. 

MOTION

Councillor Stuart Kelly moved and Councillor Chris Blakeley seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 -

“Council notes the public interest in, and appreciation of, the scheme in 
Rotherham where the main Ring road has, for some years, had areas planted 
with native wildflowers.

As these have created an attractive visual environment and encouraged 
pollinators Council requests Cabinet to instruct officers to: 

a) report in detail on such a scheme, the cost of introduction and potential 
maintenance

b) offer advice on suitable areas for similar planting in Wirral
c) consider an area for an initial trial scheme in Wirral
d) draw up proposals for consultation regarding further areas where this 

could be introduced; and 

present this report for consideration by the Environment Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee with a timetable that might enable a trial scheme to commence in 
2020.”

AMENDMENT

Proposed by Councillor Pat Cleary
Seconded by Councillor Steve Hayes

Add a new final paragraph:

“In the meantime, Council requests Cabinet to ensure that officers work 
proactively with residents who wish to create wildflower meadows on council-
owned land in appropriate locations”.

Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.
Page 34



Councillor Kelly as mover of the motion, and duly supported Councillor 
Blakeley as seconder, indicated acceptance of the amendment moved by Cllr 
Cleary.  

The substantive motion was therefore put and carried.

Resolved (60:0) (One abstention) – That

Council notes the public interest in, and appreciation of, the scheme in 
Rotherham where the main Ring road has, for some years, had areas 
planted with native wildflowers.

As these have created an attractive visual environment and encouraged 
pollinators Council requests Cabinet to instruct officers to: 

a) report in detail on such a scheme, the cost of introduction and 
potential maintenance

b) offer advice on suitable areas for similar planting in Wirral
c) consider an area for an initial trial scheme in Wirral
d) draw up proposals for consultation regarding further areas where 

this could be introduced; and 

present this report for consideration by the Environment Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee with a timetable that might enable a trial scheme to 
commence in 2020.

In the meantime, Council requests Cabinet to ensure that officers work 
proactively with residents who wish to create wildflower meadows on 
council-owned land in appropriate locations.

47 MOTION - KEEP FREE TV LICENCES FOR OVER 75S 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘Keep Free TV Licences for Over 75s’ for 
which one motion (no amendments) had been submitted. 

MOTION

Councillor Chris Jones moved and Councillor Sharon Jones seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 -

“Introduced by a Labour Government in 2000 the introduction of free TV 
licences helped alleviate hardship for many people over the age of 75, a high 
proportion of whom are in the lowest three income deciles. 
 
However, the present government has outsourced to the BBC new ‘means 
testing’ whereby only older people who receive Pension Credit benefit will 
receive free TV licenses.  They are amongst the poorest in our society. Yet 
two fifths of those entitled to the benefit aren’t getting it.  Some simply don’t 
know they can claim; many may struggle even to discover how to claim, and 
many are embarrassed about needing help.  Many older people have 
struggled through their working lives to accumulate a little extra for retirement.  

Page 35



But that small ‘rainy day’ pot means they are excluded from means-tested 
benefits.  Many of that age are coping with the costs of diminished health or 
disability.  Many have outlived their life partners and are alone and lonely. 
Taking away their TV license is a cruel blow.

Council calls on this ‘Austerity Government’ to reverse a mean, means-testing 
measure, foisted by proxy onto the BBC, that contrasts so vividly with the wish 
of some politicians to give even greater tax reductions to the super-rich.”  

Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.

The motion moved by Councillor Chris Jones was put and carried.

Resolved (42:18) (One abstention) – That the motion be approved.

48 MOTION - TV LICENCES 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘TV Licences’ for which one motion and 
one amendment had been submitted. 

MOTION

Councillor Chris Blakeley moved and Councillor Mary Jordan seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 -

“Council notes and condemns the decision made by the BBC to remove free 
TV licenses from over 75s except for those on pension credit.

Council believes that this decision could have a negative effect on the 
wellbeing of some of the most vulnerable people in our society.

Therefore, Council requests the Chief Executive to write to the Director 
General of the BBC to relay the Council’s views and opposition and calls on 
the BBC to think again and reinstate unconditionally free TV licenses for over 
75s.”

AMENDMENT

Proposed by Councillor Janette Williamson
Seconded by Councillor Christine Spriggs

Delete paragraph 1, ‘Council notes and condemns…’

Replace with:

Council notes that in 2015 the Conservative government announced that the 
BBC would take over the cost of providing free licences for over 75s by 2020, 
at the cost of £745m, a fifth of their budget.

Council notes the decision made by the BBC to remove free TV licences from 
over 75s except for those on pension credit.
 

Page 36



Delete paragraph 3, ‘Therefore…’

Replace with:

Therefore, Council requests the Chief Executive to write to the government to 
properly fund the BBC in order that it can reinstate unconditionally free TV 
licences for over 75s.

Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.

The amendment moved by Councillor Williamson was put and carried (41:19) 
(One abstention).

The substantive motion was then put and carried.

Resolved (41:19) (One abstention) – That 

Council notes that in 2015 the Conservative government announced that 
the BBC would take over the cost of providing free licences for over 75s 
by 2020, at the cost of £745m, a fifth of their budget.

Council notes the decision made by the BBC to remove free TV licences 
from over 75s except for those on pension credit.

Council believes that this decision could have a negative effect on the 
wellbeing of some of the most vulnerable people in our society.

Therefore, Council requests the Chief Executive to write to the 
government to properly fund the BBC in order that it can reinstate 
unconditionally free TV licences for over 75s.

49 MOTION - INCONSIDERATE PARKING AROUND SCHOOLS 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘Inconsiderate parking around schools’ 
for which one motion and two amendments had been submitted. 

MOTION

Councillor Stuart Kelly moved and Councillor Allan Brame seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 -

“Council notes that inconsiderate parking around schools has a detrimental 
impact on the local environment and has safety implications for children using 
the local road network to walk or cycle to school.

Council is aware that this is an issue that affects schools in Wirral and 
elsewhere in the country.  Council notes that initiatives have been introduced 
in other parts of the country to tackle the problem, notably...

in Solihull
http://www.solihull.gov.uk/Resident/Parking-travel-roads/road-safety/Solihull-
School-Streets-Pilot/How-will-it-work)

Page 37

http://www.solihull.gov.uk/Resident/Parking-travel-roads/road-safety/Solihull-School-Streets-Pilot/How-will-it-work
http://www.solihull.gov.uk/Resident/Parking-travel-roads/road-safety/Solihull-School-Streets-Pilot/How-will-it-work


in Edinburgh
http://www.streetsaheadedinburgh.org.uk/streetsahead/info/35/school_travel/8
7/school_streets

in Hackney
https://www.hackney.gov.uk/school-streets

...who have each explored introducing Controlled Parking Zones around their 
worst effected schools.  Council believes that it is time that such schemes 
were introduced around targeted Wirral schools, especially primary schools.

Council recommends that Cabinet should introduce Controlled Parking Zones 
schemes at selected schools, with the residential areas around Townfield 
Primary School and Raeburn Primary School selected as suitable pilot areas.”

AMENDMENT 1

Proposed by Councillor Liz Grey
Seconded by Councillor Tom Usher

This amendment was withdrawn.

AMENDMENT 2

Proposed by Councillor Pat Cleary
Seconded by Councillor Chris Cooke

In final paragraph, delete all after "at selected schools" and replace with:

“with pilot schools to be determined following cross-party discussions and 
incorporating advice from relevant council officers with specific reference to 
schools adjacent to main roads where controlled parking is likely to have the 
most impact on air quality concerns”.

Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.

Councillor Kelly as mover of the motion, and duly supported by Councillor 
Brame as seconder, indicated acceptance of the amendment moved by Cllr 
Cleary.  

The substantive motion was therefore put and carried.

Resolved (60:0) (One abstention) – That

Council notes that inconsiderate parking around schools has a 
detrimental impact on the local environment and has safety implications 
for children using the local road network to walk or cycle to school.

Council is aware that this is an issue that affects schools in Wirral and 
elsewhere in the country.  Council notes that initiatives have been 
introduced in other parts of the country to tackle the problem, notably...

Page 38

http://www.streetsaheadedinburgh.org.uk/streetsahead/info/35/school_travel/87/school_streets
http://www.streetsaheadedinburgh.org.uk/streetsahead/info/35/school_travel/87/school_streets
https://www.hackney.gov.uk/school-streets


in Solihull
http://www.solihull.gov.uk/Resident/Parking-travel-roads/road-safety/Solihull-
School-Streets-Pilot/How-will-it-work)

in Edinburgh
http://www.streetsaheadedinburgh.org.uk/streetsahead/info/35/school_travel/8
7/school_streets

in Hackney
https://www.hackney.gov.uk/school-streets

...who have each explored introducing Controlled Parking Zones around 
their worst effected schools.  Council believes that it is time that such 
schemes were introduced around targeted Wirral schools, especially 
primary schools.

Council recommends that Cabinet should introduce Controlled Parking 
Zones schemes at selected schools, with pilot schools to be determined 
following cross-party discussions and incorporating advice from 
relevant council officers with specific reference to schools adjacent to 
main roads where controlled parking is likely to have the most impact on 
air quality concerns.

50 MOTION - THE TORIES’ NATIONAL HOUSING SHORTAGE, POVERTY 
INCOMES, UNEMPLOYMENT AND PRIVATE-SECTOR OVERCROWDING 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘The Tories’ national housing shortage, 
poverty incomes, unemployment and private-sector overcrowding’ for which 
one motion and one amendment had been submitted. 

Councillors Steve Foulkes and Jeff Green, having previously declared a 
personal prejudicial interest in this item left the Chamber whilst the matter was 
decided upon. 

MOTION

Councillor Adrian Jones moved and Councillor Paul Stuart seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 -

“Council notes government announcements claiming the highest statistical 
rates of employment in decades, implying that serious UK unemployment is 
virtually a thing of the past. 

Council further notes that to effect a favourable presentation of this claim 
millions of adults are shown in government publicity as ‘employed’ who are in 
fact under-employed working only part-time in low paid jobs. 
 
TUC research shows that accurately weighted accounting would add a further 
1.3 million to the real unemployment total – demonstrating that analysis 
exposing the extent of austerity driven poverty-wages and uncovering 
statistically masked unemployment shows the true situation in a bleaker light.

Page 39

http://www.solihull.gov.uk/Resident/Parking-travel-roads/road-safety/Solihull-School-Streets-Pilot/How-will-it-work
http://www.solihull.gov.uk/Resident/Parking-travel-roads/road-safety/Solihull-School-Streets-Pilot/How-will-it-work
http://www.streetsaheadedinburgh.org.uk/streetsahead/info/35/school_travel/87/school_streets
http://www.streetsaheadedinburgh.org.uk/streetsahead/info/35/school_travel/87/school_streets
https://www.hackney.gov.uk/school-streets


Council further notes that: “More people are being pushed to the hard edge of 
the housing crisis by crippling private rents, frozen benefits and endless 
waiting lists for social homes that don’t exist.” (Liverpool Echo report, May 31st 
2019.) 
 
Simultaneous analysis from the Office for National Statistics (ONS) reveals: 
“A poverty cloud is hanging over 42% of workers in the North West with 
almost a million earning below £20,000 a year.” (Liverpool Echo report, 8th 
June 2019.)

Council further notes that the government’s continuing  ‘austerity’ policy of 
wage depression, underscoring its low-wage, post-industrial poverty-
economy, combined with the greatest dearth of house building since the 
decades after the First World War, encourages increasing conversion of 
former Wirral family homes and shops into multi occupancy dwellings which, 
through over-crowding and high rents, risks today’s creation of tomorrow’s 
slums.

Council believes everybody should have access to decent housing as a 
fundamental right and applauds Wirral’s Housing Standards Team, and 
Selective Licensing scheme, for significantly influencing the quality of Wirral’s 
private sector housing stock but believes the tendency to over-crowding can 
only practicably be reversed by large scale development of high-quality 
council housing at genuinely affordable rents.  

Council therefore calls upon the Cabinet Member for Housing and Planning 
to:

 Work closely with Homes England and other partners to tackle viability 
issues and maximise development on brown field land in Wirral;

 examine options to increase the supply of genuinely affordable quality 
homes to meet housing need; and

 develop a Policy approach via the planning system to respond to 
potential over-crowding by the creation of further Houses in Multiple 
Occupation 

Council would therefore welcome measures by central government to 
alleviate the risk of multi-millions of pounds of HRE (Housing Revenue 
Account) clawback from previous stock transfers and notes that a Labour 
Government would remove that anomaly.  

Finally, Council recalls with immense pleasure the Wirral Conservative 
Leader’s recent declaration in favour of large-scale Wirral council housing, 
proposals that accord uncharacteristically with our Wirral Labour 
administration’s – and Jeremy Corbyn’s.”

AMENDMENT

Proposed by Councillor Ian Lewis
Seconded by Councillor Mike Collins

Page 40



Insert after Paragraph 1:

Council notes Labour’s failure to produce a Local Plan; to introduce a policy to 
regulate Houses in Multiple Occupation and to tackle a housing waiting list of 
8,797 households.

Council also notes that, nationally, more council houses were built under the 
Conservative-Liberal Democrat Coalition (2010-15) than under the entire 
period of the previous New Labour Government.

Delete paragraphs 2, 3, 4, 5, 6

Paragraph 10: delete all after ‘Wirral council housing’

Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.

The amendment moved by Councillor Lewis was put and lost (24:34) (One 
abstention).

The original motion moved by Councillor Adrian Jones was then put and 
carried.

Resolved (37:18) (Four abstentions) That the motion be approved.

51 MOTION - TYRED 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘Tyred’ for which one motion and one 
amendment had been submitted. 

MOTION

Councillor Ian Lewis moved and Councillor Chris Blakeley seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 –

“Council welcomes, finally, the decision by the Department for Transport to 
implement a limit on the age of tyres that can be used on buses, coaches, 
lorries and minibuses and thanks Frances Molloy and the team at Tyred for 
the relentless pursuit of a long overdue change in the law to improve road 
safety.”

AMENDMENT

Proposed by Councillor Janette Williamson
Seconded by Councillor Brian Kenny

Add additional sentence:

Council thanks Maria Eagle MP, Steve Rotheram Metro Mayor and our trade 
unions for their ongoing political support for the Tyred campaign, and for 
putting pressure on the Conservative Government to implement the new 
legislation. 

Page 41



Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.

Councillor Lewis as mover of the motion, and duly supported by Councillor 
Blakeley as seconder, indicated acceptance of the amendment moved by Cllr 
Williamson.  

The substantive motion was therefore put and carried.

Resolved (59:1) (One abstention) – That

Council welcomes, finally, the decision by the Department for Transport 
to implement a limit on the age of tyres that can be used on buses, 
coaches, lorries and minibuses and thanks Frances Molloy and the team 
at Tyred for the relentless pursuit of a long overdue change in the law to 
improve road safety.

Council thanks Maria Eagle MP, Steve Rotheram Metro Mayor and our 
trade unions for their ongoing political support for the Tyred campaign, 
and for putting pressure on the Conservative Government to implement 
the new legislation. 

52 MOTION - CUTTING POLLUTION IN THE INTERESTS OF ALL 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘Cutting pollution in the interests of all’ for 
which one motion (no amendments) had been submitted. 

MOTION

Councillor Phil Gilchrist moved and Councillor Dave Mitchell seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 -
 “Council recognises that in January 2019, the Rt Hon Matt Hancock MP 
launched the Clean Air Strategy 2019, describing air pollution as a ‘health 
emergency’:
https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/air-pollution-is-a-health-emergency

Council also notes that in March 2019, Public Health England published a 
substantial report on the relationship between air pollution and heath:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-outdoor-air-quality-
and-health-review-of-interventions

In addition to this, the National Planning Policy Framework published in July 
2018 states that:

102. Transport issues should be considered from the earliest stages of plan-
making and development proposals so that:
d) the environmental impacts of traffic and transport infrastructure 
can be identified, assessed and taken into account - including 
appropriate opportunities for avoiding and mitigating any adverse 
effects, and for net environmental gains....

Page 42

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/air-pollution-is-a-health-emergency
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-outdoor-air-quality-and-health-review-of-interventions
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/improving-outdoor-air-quality-and-health-review-of-interventions


Council also appreciates that the Air Quality Annual Status Report brings 
together findings relating to air pollution in Wirral and compares the findings at 
various monitoring sites through time:
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/environmental%20problems/Pol
lution/Wirral%20ASR%202018.pdf

Council also welcomes all the publicity given in the build-up to, and following, 
Clean Air Day on 20 June 2019, involving local schools.

Council considers that:

a) all these interventions and approaches need to be strengthened and 
coordinated;

b) there is a need to reduce congestion and air pollution around our 
schools and build on wider public support for tackling environmental 
issues;

c) the development of the Local Plan needs to take account of the latest 
initiatives on tackling pollution and environmental concerns.

To this end, Council requests that the Health and Wellbeing Board, at its 
meeting on 13 November 2019, should review these issues to ensure that 
these various projects and initiatives are considered, together with the aim of 
coordinating, building upon and extending them.

Council requests that this review and the outcome of the discussion on policy 
should be referred to the Cabinet so that the issues can be progressed.”

Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.

The motion moved by Councillor Gilchrist was put and carried.

Resolved (60:0) (One abstention) – That the motion be approved.

53 MOTION - BOROUGH OF CULTURE 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘Borough of Culture’ for which one 
motion (no amendments) had been submitted. 

MOTION

Councillor Christine Spriggs moved and Councillor Janette Williamson 
seconded the following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 
–

“Council welcomes the Wirral-led partnership that has made the ‘Borough of 
Culture’ year so far such an overwhelming success. As part of our Wirral Plan 
we pledged to encourage more Wirral people to enjoy the wide range of 
culture and arts opportunities on offer across our Borough and so far, in the 
first half of the programme; an estimated 100,000 visitors have attended 
Borough of Culture events and it is anticipated some 500,000 residents and 
visitors will do so over the course of the year. Amazing high-quality events 
that have taken place so far include the spectacular Animated Square event, 

Page 43

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/environmental%20problems/Pollution/Wirral%20ASR%202018.pdf
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/environmental%20problems/Pollution/Wirral%20ASR%202018.pdf


the Witching Hour event taking place in our wonderful and historic 
Birkenhead Park, the OVO Energy Tour Series and now a season of Art 
Outdoors happening across the Borough.

Council notes that over £140k has already been secured through grant, 
sponsorship and commercial opportunities, including the largest ever 
successful grant of £130k secured from Arts Council England; that over 100 
local Wirral residents have been trained to act as volunteers  and have 
supported the delivery of the Borough of Culture programme, equating to over 
300 volunteering hours; that over 90% of visitors have rated the quality of all 
events so far this year, as either ‘good’, or ‘very good’ and welcomes the 
news that an anticipated overall economic impact of £7m over the course of 
the year will be achieved. 

Council also agrees with Arts Council England that from providing jobs to 
making places better to live, arts and culture make a huge contribution to the 
economy.

Council therefore congratulates the Culture and Tourism team and the wider 
council staff teams and our partners who have worked so hard on every 
aspect of the programme and welcomes the second half of our highly 
successful Wirral Borough of Culture year.”

Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.

The motion moved by Councillor Spriggs was put and carried.

Resolved (59:0) (Two abstentions) – That the motion be approved.

54 MOTION - WIRRAL VIEW 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘Wirral View’ for which one motion and 
one amendment had been submitted. 

MOTION

Councillor Tony Cox moved and Councillor Steve Williams seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 -

“Council notes that Wirral View newspaper has, to date, cost £402,000 of 
taxpayers’ money but continues to fail to reach all parts of the Borough.

Council further notes that the Authority has, itself, chosen to advertise in the 
independent, free local media rather than its own publication.

Council therefore asks Cabinet to end its support for this publication.”

AMENDMENT

Proposed by Councillor Pat Hackett
Seconded by Councillor Janette Williamson

Page 44



Delete all after: ‘free local media rather than its own publication.’ 

Replace with:
 
Council does however recognise the value community organisations, charities 
and other groups place on their ability to promote their work through Wirral 
View. 
 
Council therefore requests officers to review how the publication is delivered, 
and present options back to the relevant scrutiny committee by the end of the 
calendar year in order for Members to fully debate the future direction of the 
publication. 

Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.

The amendment moved by Councillor Hackett was put and lost (29:31) (One 
abstention).

The original motion moved by Councillor Cox was then put and carried.

Resolved (31:29) (One abstention) That the motion be approved.

55 MOTION - PROTECTING WIRRAL’S HERITAGE SITES OF 
ARCHAEOLOGICAL IMPORTANCE 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘Protecting Wirral’s heritage sites of 
archaeological importance’ for which one motion (no amendments) had been 
submitted. 

MOTION

Councillor Chris Carubia moved and Councillor Stuart Kelly seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 –

“Council welcomes the work being undertaken by Wirral Archaeology to 
explore and publicise Wirral’s valuable Viking heritage.

Council looks forward to receiving information on their past, current and future 
findings that will enable Wirral to add to the understanding and appreciation of 
this heritage.
 
Council notes that the Unitary Development Plan has a detailed policy and 
justification relating to non-scheduled remains in Section CH25 which states 
that…

"Where archaeological remains are of significant importance and can only be 
appropriately preserved in-situ, the Local Planning Authority will assess the 
impact of the proposals, in terms of the potential disturbance to be caused to 
those remains and their setting.  Where those remains cannot be 
accommodated within the layout of a revised development scheme or where it 
is not appropriate to do so, planning permission will be refused."

Page 45



In addition, Council notes that the National Planning Policy Framework places 
emphasis on sites of archaeological interest and such heritage assets (see 
section 16 Conserving and enhancing the historic environment) and states at 
paragraph 189 that….

“In determining applications, local planning authorities should require an 
applicant to describe the significance of any heritage assets affected, 
including any contribution made by their setting. The level of detail should be 
proportionate to the assets’ importance and no more than is sufficient to 
understand the potential impact of the proposal on their significance. As a 
minimum the relevant historic environment record should have been 
consulted and the heritage assets assessed using appropriate expertise 
where necessary. Where a site on which development is proposed includes, 
or has the potential to include, heritage assets with archaeological interest, 
local planning authorities should require developers to submit an appropriate 
desk-based assessment and, where necessary, a field evaluation.”

Council believes that these policies offer important protection to various sites 
throughout Wirral and asks Cabinet to report on how, as part of the current 
work on the Local Plan, sites of potential archaeological importance can be 
properly protected and recognised.”

Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.

The motion moved by Councillor Carubia was put and carried.

Resolved (60:0) (One abstention) That the motion be approved.

56 MOTION - MERSEYSIDE FIRE & RESCUE SERVICES (MFRS) 

The Civic Mayor introduced the item ‘Merseyside Fire & Rescue Services 
(MFRS)’ for which one motion (no amendments) had been submitted.
 
Prior to moving the motion, Councillor Brian Kenny declared a personal non-
prejudicial interest, by virtue of his Council appointment to the MFRS, 
Councillor Bruce Berry similarly declared.

MOTION

Councillor Brain Kenny moved and Councillor Adrian Jones seconded the 
following Motion submitted in accordance with Standing Order 7 -

“This Wirral Council:

1. Recognises and applauds Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service (MFRS) 
for enhancing the reputation of Merseyside following its very strong 
performance in the recent Inspection carried out by Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS). 

The Inspectorate deemed Merseyside Fire and Rescue Authority as 
GOOD when considering.

Page 46



 How effective they are in keeping people safe from fire and other 
risks

 How efficient they are in keeping people safe from fire and other 
risks

 How well they look after their people

but notably, OUTSTANDING in the areas of preventing fires and national 
resilience – the only Service in the Country to receive 2 Outstanding’s for 
its work.

2.     Notes that this is the highest ‘performance’ in the Country, from the first 
two rounds of inspection.

3.     Congratulates the Chief Fire Officer for his leadership and his team for 
their hard work and tenacity, notably his Fire Fighters; Fire Prevention 
teams; Protection Officers; Support Services and the representative 
bodies, who along with the members of the MFRA have achieved this 
recognition.

4.     Agrees that the political decision to - support an operational model which 
only utilises professional full time firefighters, to partner with the Home 
Office as lead authority for national resilience, to maintain a 10 minute 
response standard (5 min 40 sec average attendance time), to resource 
to demand,  to increase the number of fire engines, to improve the 
diversity of the workforce, to invest in up to date fit for purpose 
Community Fire and Rescue Stations, whilst giving home fire prevention 
very high priority;  has contributed to the result and findings of the 
inspectorate.

5. Notes that the proposed changes to the Integrated Risk Management 
Plan will help to maintain night time cover at Wallasey Fire Station and 
for the Wirral in General, as part of a plan to improve staff availability, 
increase the numbers of fire engines and update the general staffing 
system within the Authority, further contributing to the safety of 
Merseyside.

6.    Believes that the results would have been even better if the Government 
had maintained the proper level of  funding for MFRA, who have suffered 
some of the largest cuts to Government grant in the country, but have 
tenaciously hung on to full time firefighters whilst maintaining an 
emphasis on community fire prevention, in order to help keep 
Merseyside safe.” 

Having applied the guillotine, the Council did not debate this matter.

The motion moved by Councillor Kenny was put and carried.

Resolved (60:0) (One abstention) That the motion be approved.

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 48



1

COUNCIL
14 OCTOBER 2019

REPORT TITLE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE CHAIRS’ 
REPORTS 

REPORT OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
CHAIRS

REPORT SUMMARY

This report provides Members of the Council with an update on the work carried out by 
each of the Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committees. The report includes 
contributions from each of the Committee Chairs covering the period since the previous 
report presented to council on 18 March 2019.  Members of Council are requested to note 
the contents of the report set out in ‘Section 3’ below.

RECOMMENDATION/S

Members are requested to consider the contents of this report and whether they have any 
questions for the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees.

Page 49

Agenda Item 6a



2

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To update Council Members on the work of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
and to provide an opportunity for Council Members to ask questions on the activities 
undertaken.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 Not Applicable

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

         ADULT CARE AND HEALTH OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY CHAIR’S REPORT

3.1 It has been a busy start to the municipal year for the Adult Care and Health Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee, with the Committee continuing to focus on upholding it’s duty 
to carry out the statutory health scrutiny function of the Council. Collaborative cross-
party working has also been a focus, with a work planning session held in July 2019 
in order for myself and the Party Spokespersons to prioritise key areas of the health 
and care agenda, and to ensure that the work programme for 2019/20 is 
comprehensive yet flexible.

3.2   Wirral CCG’s Urgent Care Transformation programme has been an important priority 
for the Committee during the first part of this municipal year, with a special meeting 
held in July 2019, alongside two meetings of the Wirral Council and Cheshire West & 
Chester Council Joint Health Scrutiny Committee over the summer. The Committee 
was pleased to see that changes were made to proposals as a result of public 
consultation and Council scrutiny but will continue to monitor the implementation of 
these proposals – particularly in order to evaluate the impact of the changes in 
provision on areas such as Rock Ferry and Moreton. The Committee has also sought 
to ensure that there has been an efficient roll out of the NHS 111 service in Wirral, 
with optimum patient experience and outcomes; a report was received on these 
service developments in June.

3.3 Following Members disappointment with the ‘Requires Improvement’ rating awarded 
by the CQC earlier in the year, there was wider discussion around acute care 
services with in-depth scrutiny of the current accident and emergency provision by 
Wirral University Teaching Hospital NHS Foundation Trust. At the Committee 
meeting in June, the Trust were invited to address Members on their concerns; 
including staffing levels and leadership issues, alongside continued use of ‘corridor 
care’ and reports of unsatisfactory patient care. The Trust’s CQC action plan, along 
with its contract with Four Seasons to provide sub-acute care at Clatterbridge 

Page 50



3

Hospital, is something that the Committee will continue to monitor over the coming 
months.

3.4  As Chair of the Committee, I was keen to re-establish the former Health and Care 
Performance Panel as a working group at the start of this year; in order to undertake 
detailed examination, evaluation and monitoring of health and care performance 
across Wirral. The first meeting of the working group discussed quality improvement 
practices in care homes, particularly those that are consistently failing, and allowed 
for Members to engage with commissioners to ensure that safeguarding and care of 
residents is prioritised. The group have also been apprised of quarterly performance 
data across the health economy, as well as inviting a Wirral resident living with 
Chronic Fatigue Syndrome (CFS) to address Members in order to raise awareness of 
hidden disabilities.

3.5 The September meeting of the Committee included an update on Domestic Abuse 
performance, in advance of a proposed restructuring of the service. As an area that 
impacts a high number of Wirral residents, and seeks to protect those in need, 
Members were keen to scrutinise key performance data and to add developments 
within the service to the work programme for 2019/20. In addition, an overview of the 
All Age Disability service was provided to Members, with potential for a detailed piece 
of scrutiny work to be considered by Members in the near future.

3.6  Future items due for consideration by Committee include updates on Clatterbridge 
Cancer Centre NHS Trust’s new specialist hospital and a detailed report on winter 
pressure arrangements across the health and social care system in order for 
Members to assure themselves that Wirral’s most vulnerable residents will be 
protected over the coming months. A workshop is also scheduled for October 2019 
for Members to review the pooled fund arrangements and integrated care services 
for 2020-2021. 

Councillor Moira McLaughlin

         BUSINESS OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY CHAIR’S REPORT
    
3.7   As part of the committee’s work programme for the year, all opportunities for 

undertaking pre-decision scrutiny of Council strategies and policies will be explored. 
In September, a dedicated scrutiny workshop was convened for Members to gain 
further updates on the key Birkenhead regeneration projects, Wirral Waters and 
Birkenhead Town Centre. This will be the start of further engagement with 
developers over the next Municipal year which will include further workshops and 
drop in sessions. The success of Wirral Waters is vital for Wirral and ensuring that 
there is effective scrutiny plays an important role to ensure this happens.

Page 51



4

3.8     A Task & Finish scrutiny review to consider issues relating to camper vans in Wirral 
is ongoing. This is following a report presented to Committee in 2018 which 
highlighted some of the concerns from Members and residents, particularly in New 
Brighton and Wallasey. It is pleasing that this is progressing and Committee will 
ensure that the impact of this will be reviewed as part of the ongoing work 
programme.

3.9     A report on the New Ferry disaster was presented to Committee in September 2019 
where members agreed to a Task & Finish scrutiny review which aims to ensure 
that all necessary steps have been taken to address those residents, traders and 
other people affected by the incident. The review will also consider what 
improvements can be made by the council and partner organisation in their 
response to future disasters.

3.10  The Business Overview & Scrutiny Committee is receiving regular updates on the 
latest developments of the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority which are vital 
for Members because of the impact this has on Wirral. Any areas of significance at 
a local level can be addressed by Members as part of the ongoing work 
programme. Updates are also provided on the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

                                                                                                       Councillor Dave Mitchell 

          CHILDREN AND FAMILIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY CHAIR’S REPORT

3.11  The Children & Families Overview & Scrutiny Committee has met twice, since the 
Overview and Scrutiny Annual Report. The most notable development this 
Municipal Year has been the much-anticipated Ofsted inspection of children’s 
services in June 2019. Members were pleased to receive news of the outcome of 
the inspection which noted improvement in all areas since 2016 and was now 
considered Good in the impact of leaders on social work practice with children and 
families. Four other categories, the experiences and progress of children who need 
help and protection, the experiences and progress of children in care and care 
leavers and overall effectiveness now ‘require improvement to be good’.

3.12   The committee has continued receiving the Improvement Journey and data book as 
a standing item, presented by the Corporate Director for Children’s Services, Paul 
Boyce. In September this included an overview of the Ofsted inspection with 5 key 
areas for improvement and next steps plan. Members of the Committee are looking 
forward to working with Children’s services as this plan is implemented.

Page 52



5

3.13   The Scrutiny Review into statutory care plans came to Committee in July. Members 
approved the recommendations and the report went to Cabinet in late September 
with all 19 recommendations being accepted. It is pleasing to note that many of the 
recommendations have now progressed as part of the improvement journey and 
members of the Committee look forward to monitoring the recommendations. 

3.14 Members have continued their programme of reality check visits and reports on 
Member visits to Merseyside Police and the Early Help ‘Family Matters’ teams were 
presented to Committee in July and September, with all recommendations being 
approved. 

3.15    Summary of Standards and Provisional Outcomes for Early Years, Key Stage 1 and 
Key Stage 2 came to Committee in September and provided a summary with 
detailed analysis for the pupil outcomes at the age of 5 and 7 (Key Stage 1 SATs) 
and at the age of 11 (Key Stage 2 SATs). Members also received a presentation on 
domestic abuse statistics, which was also presented at Adult Care and Health 
Overview and Scrutiny. In addition to this, ongoing concerns have been raised by 
Members in relation to CAMHS waiting times, as such, Members requested a report 
which was also presented at Committee in September. 

3.16 The Wirral Safeguarding Children Board has now disbanded and has been replaced 
with The Wirral Safeguarding Children Partnership, which operates under a new 
framework. Members attended a workshop last year to look at the new partnership 
arrangement and agreed to re-write the working protocol between Scrutiny and the 
partnership. Members agreed this new working protocol at Committee in September 
and look forward to furthering their involvement with the partnership and receiving 
updates at Committee.

                                                                                                 Councillor Wendy Clements

 ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY CHAIR’S REPORT
 

3.17 In July, a ‘call-in’ meeting of the Committee was held regarding the future provision 
of municipal golf courses in Wirral. As a result of this meeting, Members called for 
further discussion to take place – with a ‘fact-finding’ visit to all four municipal 
courses and a specially convened workshop held to achieve this. These activities 
were a valuable opportunity to meet with those who would be impacted by any 
change in provision; notably stakeholders, course users and trade unions. Following 
this consultation, the Committee made a number of recommendations to the 
Cabinet Member for Community Services based on the information gathered, 
ensuring that the views of Wirral residents were properly taken into account.

3.18 Following a highly publicised incident at Hilbre Island over the summer, the 
September meeting of the Committee welcomed officers to address Members on 

Page 53



6

the steps leading to the event itself and subsequent actions and investigation. 
Members were anxious to hear about the context of the incident and to receive 
assurances that lessons had been learned and were thoroughly apprised by the 
responsible senior officers. Committee resolved that it supported continued working 
between the Council, it’s partners and relevant local groups, as well as 
consideration of further remedial options, to ensure the safe and long-term future of 
such a treasured area of significant environmental and historical heritage.

3.19 September’s Committee meeting also saw an update on the Council’s recently 
declared climate emergency. Although Members were encouraged by the action 
plan that has been compiled, in order for the authority’s commitment for Wirral to 
become carbon neutral by 2050 to be achieved, there were a number of 
suggestions made by Members to highlight areas; in particular, the need for further 
scope to develop allotments across the Borough, and for alternative transport 
provision to be improved. Committee look forward to receiving further progress 
updates to future meetings.

3.20 Task & Finish reviews have always been a useful way for the Committee to 
undertake in-depth scrutiny into key areas requiring examination. Not only have the 
Committee recently completed a scrutiny review into recycling in the Borough – with 
the outcomes and recommendations agreed by Committee and awaiting Cabinet 
referral - but a working group has also been established to examine the Council’s 
draft Tree Policy and review the programme of maintenance. Scrutiny Members 
from across the four Committees will be invited to contribute to this working group, 
with developments and outcomes reported back to the Environment O&S 
Committee.

 
3.21 As the Council reaches the final stages of developing its Local Plan, Committee 

remains dedicated to ensuring updates are received on this issue at each ordinary 
meeting, with Members keen to keep sight of developments as they progress. Prior 
to public consultation on the draft Local Plan later this year, I have requested that 
consultation options are reported to Committee in November 2019 so that effectual 
input and comment from Members can be captured. 

        
 3.22 On behalf of the Committee, I would also like to take this opportunity to extend my 

thanks to Councillor Chris Blakeley, who I succeed as Chair.

                                                                                                       Councillor Tom Anderson

Page 54



7

4.0      FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1     There are none arising from this report.

5.0      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1  There are none arising from this report.

6.0     RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1     There are none arising from this report.

7.0     RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1    There are none arising from this report.

8.0     ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1     Not Applicable.

9.0     EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 This report is for information to Members and there are no direct equality     
implications.

10.0   ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1   There are none arising from this report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Report compiled by:
                                      Carl Gurnell – Business Intelligence Manager
                                      0151 691 8008
                                      carlgurnell@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair’s 
Report to Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair’s 
Report to Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair’s 
Report to Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair’s 
Report to Council

18 March 2019

10 December 2018

15 October 2018

19 March 2018

Page 55



8

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair’s 
Report to Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair’s 
Report to Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair’s 
Report to Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair’s 
Report to Council
Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair’s 
Report to Council

11 December 2017

16 October 2017

20 March 2017

19 December 2016

17 October 2016

Page 56



COUNCIL
14 OCTOBER 2019

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Pat Hackett

CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Leader of the Council

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This report is an update from the Leader of the Council to Members of the Council on 
matters relevant to the portfolio. 

1 WIRRAL: LIVERPOOL CITY REGION BOROUGH OF CULTURE
Wirral has well and truly been placed on the national – and international – map this year 
after a fantastically successful Borough of Culture, and there is still more to come. 

Since the last Council meeting in July we have had the Future Yard Festival, the OVO Energy 
Tour of Britain returned for a full day stage (including the astonishing artwork by Saype at 
New Brighton), Wirral Food and Drink Festival was a huge success in Birkenhead Park where 
we also saw fantastic outdoor concerts, and most recently the high profile RRS Sir David 
Attenborough launch. This all followed on from earlier in the year when we had major 
events such as Animated Square, Radio Local, The Witching Hour, River Festival, plus major 
exhibitions at the Williamson gallery and Birkenhead Priory.

Still to come is the Museum of the Moon which will be in Birkenhead Town Hall from Friday 
October 25 and the River of Light on November 3. My thanks to the organisers of all these 
events and especially those who volunteered their time to ensure they took place so 
successfully. All of these events have shown what a remarkable place Wirral is and what can 
be achieved when we work together.

2 NEW FERRY
The £200,000 hardship fund for those residents and businesses who were most affected by 
the explosion on March 25, 2017 has now been distributed. This is in addition to more than 
£400,000 which was spent by the Council in the immediate aftermath.

There is room for optimism for the future of the town as we continue to press on with the 
wider, long-term regeneration plan for New Ferry. This is being supported by the 
government, through Homes England, for new residential developments and through an 
investment from the council of £1.3m to undertake an acquisition exercise, buying up a 
number of the privately-owned properties to speed up the process of regeneration. New 
Ferry is also on the shortlist for the government’s Future High Streets fund, there has also 
been funding earmarked from the Liverpool City Region.

We will continue to work closely with the local community to help the town in its ongoing 
recovery from the effects of this terrible disaster.

Page 57

Agenda Item 6b

https://www.imaginewirral.com/
https://www.liverpoolecho.co.uk/whats-on/whats-on-news/brand-new-birkenhead-festival-future-16131655
https://www.itv.com/news/granada/2019-09-11/tour-of-britain-cyclists-head-to-the-wirral/
https://www.itv.com/news/granada/2019-09-11/tour-of-britain-cyclists-head-to-the-wirral/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=wAqU9xGl4pc
https://www.theguideliverpool.com/wirral-food-and-drink-festival-2019-watch-all-the-action-from-sunday-at-birkenhead-park/
https://www.theguideliverpool.com/the-royal-liverpool-philharmonic-orchestras-only-outdoor-performance-this-year-is-happening-in-birkenhead/
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/science-environment-49829315
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/science-environment-49829315


3 WIRRAL COUNCIL PLAN
The Wirral Council Plan to 2025 sets out what we will deliver over the next five years. These 
are the things the people of Wirral have told us matter to them. The Plan outlines exactly 
what we will focus on for Wirral residents in the coming years, how we will do it and what 
we will achieve. Our ambition is for: 
 A prosperous, inclusive economy where local people can get good jobs and achieve their 
aspirations 
 A cleaner, greener borough which celebrates, protects and improves our environment and 
urgently tackles the environmental emergency 
 Brighter futures for our young people and families – regardless of their background or 
where they live 
 Safe, vibrant communities where people want to live and raise their families 
 Services which help people live happy, healthy, independent and active lives, with public 
services there to support them when they need it 
If we continue to work collectively, focussing on what unites us rather than divides, then we 
can achieve our aims for the people of Wirral.

Page 58



COUNCIL
14 OCTOBER 2019

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Tom Usher
CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Children, Families and Education

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children, Families and Education 
to Members of the Council on matters relevant to the portfolio.

My Portfolio is wide and varied, but at the heart of what we do is the safety of every resident 
and the necessity to ensure that every child gets the best start in life. 

In 2016 Wirral Children’s Services was rated inadequate and subsequently was found to be 
improving too slowly. I am more than proud as Cabinet Member in this area to report that the 
latest assessment by inspectors, in June this year, brings Wirral’s Children’s Services out of 
Government intervention. 

This latest judgement marks an increasing effort to improve services for children and families in 
Wirral since the last inspection, and particularly since the appointment of the new senior 
leadership team and the prioritisation of Children’s Services improvement by the council. I 
congratulate staff at all levels of the council, and its partners, who have contributed to this 
outcome. You can read more about the inspection, and the full report on Wirral View.

With the aim of ensuring our most vulnerable residents are safe and protected, we are 
currently working with Involve North West to deliver a series of training events to Wirral’s 
hairdressers, beauticians and other small businesses to help them spot the signs of domestic 
abuse. The training is a great opportunity for raising awareness of the support that is available 
for people who are experiencing domestic abuse or worrying about someone who might be.
The fact that it is being embraced by the community and the individuals who are signing up is 
testament to the support that’s out there in our Borough – and the people who are willing to 
reach out and help others.

Under this same pledge for Domestic Abuse, and focussing on the issue from a different 
perspective, two members of staff within the Youth Offending Service have recently 
undertaken specialist training in delivering therapeutic intervention. They are now putting this 
training into practice and working with families who are high risk were a young person is violent 
towards their parents and have had Police contact. We are hoping to roll this out on a wider 
basis in the coming months, continuing to support our most vulnerable.

In terms of ‘feet on the street’, Wirral Community Patrol have recently launched their new 
website, promoting their services to schools and businesses. The website is supports the 
modernisation and expansion of the service in its aims to secure new business. As well as 
school security, the service will now offer alarm and incident response, key holding and a lone 
worker protection for employees working on site alone. Members can find out more about the 
offer by visiting their new website. 

Page 59

https://wirralview.com/news/wirral-childrens-services-improved-all-areas
https://www.wirralcommunitypatrol.co.uk/


Working with partners and across all agencies under the Safer Wirral Service is key to ensuring 
our residents stay safe. Recent work of the Anti-Social Behaviour Team, in partnership with 
Merseyside Police and Regenda Homes, recently saw a Closure Order issued on a house in 
Wallasey related to alleged drug dealing.

This decisive action is so effective due to these close working relationships, that being both 
partners and residents. I hope that residents will see this further action taken and be reassured 
that their concerns are always taken seriously and acted upon by the authorities.

I’d like to end with an update to the Modern Slavery strategy. To date, training has been delivered 
to over 120 front line staff across Wirral Council and partners agencies. Wirral Councillors are 
working closely with City Hearts, a national charity for Modern Slavery victims, to ensure support 
is coordinated and correctly targeted.

Page 60



COUNCIL
14 OCTOBER 2019

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Julie McManus
CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Community Services

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Community Services to Members of 
the Council on matters relevant to the portfolio. 

HIGHWAYS
Street Lighting 
Work has started on the second phase of the LED streetlight replacement programme. Within this 
two-year programme there are plans to see a further 26,000 streetlights upgraded and this work will 
be carried out by SSE Enterprise Contracting. This is the largest scheme that has been undertaken by 
the Council and will dramatically improve Wirral’s street lighting by improving safety and future-
proofing the network whilst also reducing energy use and helping to cut our carbon emissions. 

Streetlights are an important asset for the Council and are vitally important to our residents.  
Throughout the summer our teams have doubled the number of daily repairs with Mega Electrical 
working with us to assist with our maintenance programme. Work began last month to replace 
damaged street lighting columns. Cable and electrical faults can often mean multiple lights are out in 
one area and we will be seeking specialists to assist with repairs on this, to begin in the coming 
months.  

Resurfacing programme 
Significant investment was made into our road’s maintenance programme for this year. Our major 
road maintenance programme began this summer with close to £5 million being spent on repairs to 
our roads and work is still underway. By receiving additional funding from Liverpool City Region 
Combined Authority for works on the Key Route Network, our programme has been able to 
undertake further substantial works to repair and improve the borough's roads and footways. 

The funding has enabled Hot Rolled Asphalt, surface dressing and micro asphalt treatments to take 
place on our roads and a programme to improve and treat approximately 100 footways across 
Wirral to improve the pedestrian network.

The roads selected for repair were identified following independent condition surveys in addition to 
reports from highways inspectors, councillors and members of the public.

A41 Key Route Network 
The New Ferry and Rock Ferry bypass, along the route to the Birkenhead Tunnel entrance, is 
undergoing improvement works over the coming months. This is part of the in the A41 Corridor 
Improvement Programme. The scheme, in which £3.4 million will be invested is jointly funded by the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority and Wirral Council.

The work includes the resurfacing of 9.4km of road, improvements to 198 streetlights, the upgrading 
of 4.3km of safety fencing, 7km of cabling works and improvements made to bridge deck 
waterproofing and jointing, forming part of the investment into maintaining our highways.

Page 61



PARKS
Green Flag awards for Parks 
27 Wirral parks and green spaces were nationally recognised in the annual Green Flag Awards 
coordinated by Keep Britain Tidy. This figure is up from 26 last year – and once again Wirral has 
more Green Flags than any other local authority in the whole of the North West region. The Green 
Flag Awards are given to the country’s best run and maintained parks and green spaces and provide 
confirmation that Wirral’s green spaces boast the highest possible environmental standards, are 
beautifully maintained and have excellent visitor facilities.

This is a great achievement and testament to the hard work and dedication of the staff and 
members of the public who volunteer their time to maintain these green spaces to an exceptional 
standard.

Full list of green flag winners on Wirral View: https://wirralview.com/news/wirrals-parks-best-north-
west-again

Fields of Trust awards
Birkenhead Park was one of 11 parks in the North West to be awarded ‘Much Loved’ status by Fields 
of Trust. These nominations are championed and voted for by park users, communities, Friends of 
groups, landowners and elected representatives as part of the public vote.

Birkenhead Park centre of major events
Testament to how fantastic our parks are, Birkenhead Park provided the perfect environment to 
host an unforgettable weekend of food, drink and music, welcoming tens of thousands of visitors as 
part of a programme of major events for Wirral’s year as Borough of Culture. Events included the 
Wirral stage of the OVO Energy Tour of Britain which started and finished in the Park, the all-new 
Wirral Food and Drink Festival and outdoor evening performances by the Royal Liverpool 
Philharmonic Orchestra, Lightning Seeds, The Christians and China Crisis. 

LEISURE 
External Funding Secured
Leisure has secured a £74,500 Sport England grant to run a targeted place-based programme to 
support people with long term health conditions become physically active. We are one of 10 local 
authorities who were awarded funding as part of the National #WeAreUndefeatable campaign. The 
project will see the service develop a project with ambassadors across the Borough.

Invigor8
 In a very competitive fitness market in Wirral, the Invigor8 Membership reached a 20-month 

high at 16.7k members in July, with an average of 30 members joining each day. 
 Targeted summer teen Invigor8 campaign saw 1,100 new teens and students take up a 

membership with us. There was a year on year increase of 35% 
 New state of the art functional gym kit added to Leasowe, Guinea Gap and West Kirby 

resulting in a fitness offer now appropriate to the customer base and localised latent 
demand.

 Gym kit upgrade programme with the introduction of new wifi connected and interactive 
consoles on cardio kit, allowing customers to track workouts on their smart devises, check 
their Facebook profile or watch Netflix (via their own account) all while exercising. 

Macmillan Notes

Page 62

https://wirralview.com/news/wirrals-parks-best-north-west-again
https://wirralview.com/news/wirrals-parks-best-north-west-again


Funded two-year programme which is one of six across the Merseyside region and is hosted in 
partnership with leisure services. Over 11,000 people living with and beyond cancer on the Wirral 
with around 1,500 diagnosed every year. 

When the project went live in April 2018 the two-year target was to undertake 550 holistic needs 
assessments. To date the team have undertaken 870 within 18 months. 

The results have been outstanding with participant feedback indicating that 80% have reduced their 
GP visits and 65% have reduced their medication levels. More than 700 participants have increased 
their activity levels via the pathway and partnership with leisure services

The project has been short listed for a National Macmillan award in November and is up against 
many of the ‘big hitters’ in terms of cancer that include St. Thomas and Guys hospitals in London

LIBRARIES
The Summer Reading Challenge 
Wirral Libraries have taken part in the Summer Reading Challenge since 1999. The scheme is the 
largest national reading project in the UK and is aimed at promoting reading for pleasure, primarily 
to school age children between the ages of four and 11. 

With the help of teenage volunteers, the library staff supports the children throughout the summer, 
helping them to explore a wide range of books and to discover new authors, and collecting 
incentives along the way.

Children’s reading motivation and attainment can “dip” during the summer holidays. The aim of the 
challenge is to encourage regular access to books and promote the idea of reading for pleasure. This 
helps the children to maintain their reading skills and confidence, ready for their return to school in 
September. A total of 4,062 children in Wirral took part, with 2,659 completing the challenge. 

Summer Activities
A full programme of activities and entertainment was put on in libraries through the summer. Craft 
activity sessions were based on the theme of space and sessions also included a story time. 
Approximately 112 events were held with more than 3,000 children and their parents/carers 
attending.

Health and wellbeing
Libraries are key to the reduction of social isolation and hold a number of activities and events which 
support health and wellbeing including monthly dementia friendly afternoons. We hosted a 
memories afternoon in September at Birkenhead library and more than 30 people attended. We are 
in discussion with a pre-school about having a joint event with some of our customers who have 
dementia. 

Digital
Key area of library work is the promotion, support and delivery of digital options and the Friends of 
Wirral Libraries help us with this as they do in all our areas which the service greatly appreciates. As 
an example, Friends of Irby Library are purchasing tablets for us to support customers in accessing 
online services. We will be out in shopping centres promoting the library offer of e-books, e-audio 
books and e-magazines. Code Clubs are increasingly popular in libraries, delivered by volunteers.

Page 63



Regional 
Customers are now able to use their Wirral library card to borrow books, access library computers 
and printers from other libraries across the Liverpool City Region (Halton, Knowsley, Liverpool, St 
Helens, Sefton and Wirral). 

Food for Fines (7-13 October) 
During this week customers will be able to clear unpaid fines and return long overdue books by 
donating food and toiletries for Wirral foodbank. This will also encourage customers back into libraries 
by removing the barrier of unpaid fine.

Supporting Cultural events
Libraries that had the Tour of Britain passing by or nearby decorated their windows with cycles. 
Moreton Library staff decorated a bike provide by the Culture Team. This is to be gifted to a local 
school. 

Wirral Libraries also ran a colouring competition for a “Team Library” cycling jersey. This proved 
extremely popular with more than 120 entries, with two winning book tokens. 

Birkenhead Library hosted in partnership with ‘Get it Loud in Libraries’ a successful Sunday 
afternoon matinee gig by artist Hannah Cohen with more than 100 people attending – these are 
proving to be very popular and promote the view that libraries are cultural hubs and far more than 
“just books”. 

Floral Pavilion

The Floral Pavilion hosted the box office services for the Birkenhead Park food and drink festival 
working closely with the Culture team in delivering the event. This being an exemplary example of 
the Council using its skills and expertise to deliver a great service and create income for the council 
instead of using external agencies.

The theatre launched the 19/20 autumn – winter brochure illustrating our programme of shows 
which is full of the best music, theatre, comedy and family fun events.

Hosting their annual AGM, the Floral Pavilion welcomed the Provincial Grand Lodge of Cheshire 
Freemason who hired the venue for a full day for 800 delegates and VIP guests. A great event that 
welcomed people from all over the North West to New Brighton.

As well as seeing sell out events from artists such as Lulu, September also saw the start of our new 
parents and toddler session based every weekday morning in the plaza area of the venue, providing 
a community space to enjoy classes that engage pre-school toddlers whilst providing a supportive 
environment for new parents. During this time our café offers free baby food to encourage parents 
to relax and meet other likeminded parents.

Page 64



COUNCIL
14 OCTOBER 2019

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Chris Spriggs
CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Culture and Tourism 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Culture and Tourism to Members of 
the Council on matters relevant to the portfolio. 

LCR Borough of Culture 2019
We have had a fantastically successful Borough of Culture year to date with a range of events since 
March, including Animated Square, Radio Local, The Witching Hour, River Festival, major new 
exhibitions at the Williamson and Priory, Future Yard Festival, Tour of Britain (series and stage), 
Wirral Food and Drink Festival and outdoor concerts - attracting over 30,000 visitors to historic 
Birkenhead Park across one weekend, as well as the high profile RRS Sir David Attenborough launch.

The programme has already delivered significant outcomes in terms of economic impact, audience 
development and transforming people’s perception of Wirral as a place;

As we enter the last part of the programme, the theme of Constellations will provide the backdrop 
for a number of events which will continue to inspire audiences – the Museum of the Moon at 
Birkenhead Town Hall, an audio visual installation at West Kirby Marine Lake, a schools and 
community festival at Wirral Country Park and River of Light in New Brighton.

Just as importantly, we are focused on delivering a sustainable legacy for Borough of Culture 
through putting in place an events programme which builds on the success of this year and taking 
forward culture and creativity as part of the Wirral Plan and other strategic initiatives such as 
Wirral’s Public Health Annual Report.

A key strand of our legacy work is ensuring that we continue to develop a thriving creative and 
digital sector.  We are looking forward to the outcomes of a demand study which will help us 
understand the needs and ambitions of the sector and align these with our plans for growth and 
regeneration.

We are also developing our destination marketing plans, to ensure Wirral’s visitor numbers continue 
to grow and impact positively on the local economy. The marketing strategy will include local 
businesses and cultural attractions and benefits from an overall steer from the Wirral Visitor 
Economy Board. 

We are working in partnership with the LEP and other colleagues on a project to develop business 
conferencing and meetings across the city region. The first stage of this project includes in-depth 
research into capacity and will analyse the market potential and recommended next steps, for 
increasing this aspect of the visitor economy in Wirral.

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL
14 OCTOBER 2019

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Janette Williamson
CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Finance and Resources

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Finance and Resources to Members of 
the Council on matters relevant to the portfolio.

Recent months have seen the Council taking bold steps to ensure the least well off and most 
vulnerable are given greater opportunities and protections, while at the same time ensuring council 
tax-payers can receive the best possible value for money.

1 COMMUNITY BANK
It is estimated that there are almost 6,000 households in Wirral without a bank account who 
face paying a “poverty premium” because they cannot access lower prices, for example for 
energy and utilities through direct debits from a bank account rather than expensive pre-
payment meters.
In addition, Wirral’s economy is dominated by the SME sector – of the 8,550 enterprises in 
the borough, only 20 have 250 or more employees – many of which struggle to obtain credit 
from big banks.
Last month the cabinet agreed to an initial investment in a new community bank.
The aim is to allow residents who have difficulty obtaining a current account to access the full 
range of banking services, as well as helping Wirral’s many small and medium sized businesses 
who need to access credit. At the same time, it will bring banks back to the borough’s high 
streets and place cash machines where people most need them – at a time when free to use 
ATMs are being removed from the least affluent areas.
The bank is being set up in partnership between Wirral, Preston and Liverpool and will operate 
across the north west of England.  The bank will form an integral part of our wider Community 
Wealth Building strategy which aims to build up the local economy from the grassroots.

2 DYING TO WORK
Wirral Council has signed up to a charter aimed at helping employees who become terminally ill at 
work. 
The Dying to Work Voluntary Charter is part of the TUC’s wider Dying to Work campaign which is 
seeking greater security for terminally ill workers where they cannot be dismissed as a result of their 
condition.
Signing up to the charter will provide our employees with the security of work, peace of mind and the 
right to choose the best course of action for themselves and their families and maintain their dignity 
and without undue financial loss. It will also mean they have employment protection and have their 
benefits protected for the loved ones they leave behind.

3 NEW FERRY
I am happy to report that the hardship fund of £200,000 for those affected by the New Ferry explosion 
in 2017 has been paid to all applicants, with one appeal pending.

Page 67

https://www.dyingtowork.co.uk/


It followed discussions with elected members and members of the New Ferry and Port Sunlight 
communities to ensure the funds set aside by Cabinet in February this year is allocated efficiently and 
fairly.
83 people were identified as being made homeless for more than a week after the explosion on March 
25th, 2017, while businesses were also affected as a result of being situated within the emergency 
police cordon in the days following the incident.
Some will also be used as a community fund to be allocated as grants to social sector organisations in 
the area under a bidding process.
The council has also invested over £1m in capital funding to buy up properties along Bebington Road, 
as part of a long-term strategy to regenerate New Ferry.

4 INTERNATIONAL WOMEN’S DAY
The official International Women’s Day (IWD) organisation recognised Wirral Council’s 2019 IWD 
celebration as an example of best practice worldwide.
Chosen from over 300 entrants, Wirral was selected as one of four successful case studies in the public 
sector category, for ‘Forging Leadership and Progress’ – sharing its title with NHS Digital, the British 
Army, and High Commissioner of Canada to Guyana & Suriname.
The council event took place at Wallasey Town Hall and celebrated International Women’s Day while 
reflecting on the first year of the Council’s Women into Leadership Programme.
This consolidates the vital role women have as leaders in Wirral Council, and is reflected at Cabinet 
and Leadership level with 60% female Cabinet members and two female Deputy Leaders 

5 NO P.O. NO PAY
The council introduced the ‘No PO, No Pay’ policy earlier this year to continue to improve value for 
money.
All invoices received for the council to pay should have an official purchase order number on. If there 
isn’t a valid purchase order on the invoice, it won’t be paid, and it will be sent back to the supplier.
This includes all goods, services and works commissioned from suppliers and providers.
 
6 APSE AWARD
This award won by Wirral Council was presented by APSE (Association for Public Service Excellence) in 
their annual National Service Awards. Wirral were shortlisted in two categories – “Best Health & 
Wellbeing Initiative” and “Best Innovation and Demand Initiative”, winning the award for the latter 
category. 
This recognition is the highlight of what has been an incredibly successful year for this programme – 
finalists in The Social Value Awards, Go Procurement Awards and LGC Awards – demonstrating the 
invaluable contribution it has made to the lives of young people.
The award recognised this pioneering programme, which has enormous long-term financial benefits, 
and sees Wirral working with its direct supply chain providing opportunities to disadvantaged young 
people through full time work and apprenticeships. It enables young people to feel valued, supported, 
optimistic about their future and recognise the benefits and of full-time employment whilst being less 
reliant on the local authority. Our Social Value policy underpins our wider Community Wealth Building 
strategy 

7 MYWIRRAL ACCOUNTS
Wirral residents can now request more council services via a new online portal – making it easier to 
track the progress of applications via their computer or smartphone.
By registering for a MyWirral account, residents can access services including bins and recycling, 
council tax, benefits, business rates, parking, housing and much more.
Signing up for a MyWirral account means that customer details are saved, so residents are no longer 
required to enter the same personal information with each new request.

Page 68



The newest service to be added to the portal is the system for garden waste collection. Residents can 
use MyWirral to subscribe to garden waste collection, change their address for garden waste, and 
request a refund. 
Environmental problems can also be reported via MyWirral, such as dog fouling, litter and graffiti. 
Residents can access support on planning and housing, plus roads and travel – making it easier to give 
feedback on proposed traffic schemes.

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL
14 OCTOBER 2019

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Chris Jones
CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Adult Care, Health and Wellbeing

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult Care, Health and Wellbeing 
to Members of the Council on matters relevant to the portfolio. 

We want all our residents to have a good quality of life however, we know some of our 
communities face multiple challenges.

It is our responsibility to lead the way and develop key relationships that will allow us, together 
with our partners, to work closely with local people to support them to take control over their 
health and wellbeing, and build environments in which healthy choices are the easy choices.

We have made great strides so far this year I’d just like to highlight some of the work that has 
taken place and a snapshot of the differences that work has made.  

Back in May we partnered with the British Heart Foundation to take part in a national campaign 
around the awareness of high blood pressure. There are a possible 34,350 people in Wirral 
living with undiagnosed high blood pressure, and we wanted many as possible to be aware of 
the dangers around this largely preventable disease. Our fantastic Public Health nurses took to 
the streets and set up pop-in events throughout Wirral, measuring over 500 blood pressures. 
Shockingly over half of those residents required a referral to their GP. We are now working 
closely with our CCG and NHS partners to make blood pressure testing more available, including 
automated machines in GP practices, free testing in pharmacies and BP machines in all local 
Council gyms.

Since the HPV vaccine was introduced back in 2008, 10 million doses of the vaccine have been 
given to young women in this country, meaning over 80% of women aged 15 to 24 have 
received the vaccine.  Building on this success I’m thrilled to see the HPV vaccine being offered 
to young people – male and female across the board, in Wirral as well as nationally. Offering 
the vaccine to boys will not only protect them but will also prevent more cases of HPV-related 
cancers in girls - reducing the overall burden of these cancers in the future for all. Members can 
read more in Wirral Globe

Sadly, we are hearing far too often of people taking their own lives. It is our duty to play our 
part and look at how we can help to intervene at the earliest stage. There is a lot of work 
ongoing in this area, including the introduction of life-saving training that will benefit so many. 
Known as ‘Gatekeeper’ training, the programme aims to develop individuals' knowledge, 
understanding and attitudes about mental health. The training also enables individuals to 
better identify those who may be at risk of suicide and make referrals to support services when 
necessary. 

Page 71

https://wbcnet.wirral.gov.uk/phone/default.asp?IDSurname=fovex&IDFirstname=ste
https://wbcnet.wirral.gov.uk/phone/default.asp?IDSurname=fovex&IDFirstname=ste


Coordinated by Wirral Public Health, to date, 364 health professionals, care workers and 
community volunteers from 49 organisations across the borough have received the training. 
The fact that residents can go to a library or a one stop shop and know that the staff or 
volunteers there have chosen to equip themselves to better support each other and the 
community in relation to suicide and mental health is something to be proud of.

Ahead of the Stoptober campaign this month, Public Health England announced the fastest 
drop in smoking rates in more than a decade. Wirral can hold its head high with their 
contribution to this statistic as the borough has seen its smoking population dropping by more 
than a third, well below the north west and national average. Our partners, ABL (Stop Smoking 
Service) are way above the national and regional averages for supporting smokers to 
successfully quit after four weeks. Last year the service supported more than 3000 residents to 
ditch their cigarettes. The service hopes to surpass this once again this year. Members can find 
out more about ABL, as well as local and national statistics on Wirral View

Finally, I would like to thank everyone that has played a part in producing and bringing together 
this year’s annual report. As an authority we must continue to demonstrate our commitment to 
encouraging healthier lives. One way of doing this is the production of a Public Health Annual 
Report.  This year’s report focusses on the role of culture as a means of improving health and 
wellbeing. Produced in collaboration with partners from a range of organisations and disciplines 
and with the engagement of over 1000 local residents, it is a blueprint aimed at influencing how 
residents, organisations and commissioners could use culture as a means to improving health.

Page 72

https://wbcnet.wirral.gov.uk/phone/default.asp?IDSurname=fovex&IDFirstname=stehttps://wirralview.com/news/smoking-population-wirral-drops-more-third


COUNCIL
14 OCTOBER 2019

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Stuart Whittingham
CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Housing and Planning

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Housing and Planning to Members of 
the Council on matters relevant to the portfolio. 

Tackling empty properties
At a time when Wirral, in common with many places, is looking to increase the availability of good 
quality housing, having perfectly good properties around the borough sat empty and unoccupied is 
not a good look. Bringing these empty properties back into use for the benefit of those who need 
accommodation is therefore a big priority and we have been empowering the Housing Renewal 
Team to take action to address the issue. In the first quarter of 2019, this is paying dividends with 
the number of ‘completions’ on empty homes exceeding the target – 1,249 against a target of 1,186. 
This means a significant increase in the supply of much needed housing, a reduction in the level of 
homelessness in the borough and a contributory factor in regenerating neighbourhoods.

Home adaptations
We continue to make excellent progress on carrying out works on properties that allow people to 
remain in their own home – and retain their independence – when they become frailer and in need 
of more assistance. The number of home adaptations that were carried out in Wirral in 2018-19 was 
2,732, far in excess of the target, and in the first quarter of this year the adaptations team have 
started strong again, with 702 people helped against the target number of 638. Home adaptations 
can range from minor pieces of work such as installing grab rails or shower seating, to more major 
works like installing stairlifts and ramps and widening doorways.

Homelessness
The Liverpool City Region Housing First pilot scheme began this summer and despite still being the 
‘test and learn’ phase 46 clients have already engaged with the initiative, with nine people being 
found accommodation - two of which have been in Wirral, with two more having been made 
suitable offers.

At the same time, we are currently carrying out a homelessness review which will help us put 
together a new homelessness strategy. At the same time, a review of the city region Common 
Allocations Policy, which is used to ensure social housing is allocated fairly and objectively to those 
in most housing need, is taking place. The Homelessness and Rough Sleeper Review and Strategy will 
be going for final sign off to Cabinet in February 2020.

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL

14 OCTOBER 2019

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Anita Leech

CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Local Plan and Deputy Leader of the 
Council 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This report is an update from the Deputy Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder for 
Local Plan to Members of the Council on matters relevant to the portfolio. 

Wirral’s Local Plan will set out the vision for future development in the borough up to 2035. Every 
area in England and Wales should have an up-to-date Local Plan in place and should review it at least 
every five years.

The Council is currently making excellent progress in preparing the new Local Plan for Wirral which 
will set out how the Borough should be developed over the next 15 years, in line with National policy 
and legislation.

Local Plans are used to help decide on planning applications and other planning related decisions, 
helping to guide what can be built where, shaping infrastructure investments and determining the 
future pattern of development in the borough.

This is even more important now than ever before as we move ahead with development at Wirral 
Waters, push forward the regeneration of Birkenhead’s town centre and continue to work to attract 
investment into the borough. The most important element of the local Plan is that it works for the 
people of Wirral now and into the future, and it will play a key role in meeting the authority’s 
pledges relating to people, business and the environment. The Local Plan presents an opportunity 
for regeneration in the borough, tackling inequality and in doing so improving the health and 
lifestyle of the residents of the borough as well as encouraging inward investment and boosting 
employment opportunities.

Last month the Cabinet approved the Local Development Scheme which sets out the Council’s 
programme for producing key planning documents which underpin Wirral’s Local Plan.

We are now close to the stage where we will be looking at asking the Council to approve 
consultation on our preferred option. This will be a “first draft” of the plan and follow on from the 
work carried out last year and the extensive consultation done then.

If agreed by Council, we intend to start formal consultation as soon as possible and are preparing a 
number of events to be held across the borough early in the new year.

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL
14 OCTOBER 2019

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Tony Jones
CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Regeneration and Growth

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY:
Delivery of the Growth Plan continues to progress well with a full schedule of planned activities to 
support growth.  Highlights in the first quarter of this financial year include a continued strong 
employment rate following last year’s continuous improvement trend, with Wirral outperforming 
the North West average by 2.4 percentage points, and, for the first time, the England average by 0.6 
percentage points. 

Key activity highlights include:                                                                                          
                                                                                                                                                                                     
EMPLOYMENT: 
The European funded Wirral Ways to Work Programme continues to perform ahead of target and 
has supported 5,875 participants since it started in April 2016.  Two key employment support 
projects have been re-tendered this quarter namely the Worklessness Support Project and the 
Community Connectors Project, which will support continuation of these successful services beyond 
2020.

WORKFORCE SKILLS: 
Wirral Council has successfully secured Pre-Development Funding from the Combined Authority to 
resource a 3-month commission for specialist expertise to inform the design of a commercial ‘port 
city accelerator programme’ model for the region to be co-located within the proposed Maritime 
Knowledge Hub/Port City Innovation Hub facility. The aim of the accelerator will be to maximise the 
benefits of co-locating new and high growth businesses in the port cluster with skills and research 
expertise on site, increasing the pace of innovation and the opportunity for ‘experimentation’ in the 
application of new technology in the maritime sector.

INVESTMENT: 
A number of schemes are now coming forward at Wirral Waters which together are driving the 
regeneration of this area and creating a new community supported by employment and education 
opportunities.  Wirral Council has secured £6m Housing Infrastructure Funding from Homes England 
to unlock residential development on brownfield land at Wirral Waters.  Wirral Waters One will 
provide 500 apartments with 20% of them being designated affordable homes and this scheme is 
being taken forward by Peel Holdings and Wirral Council.  The Belong development will provide high 
quality dementia care and accommodation within an extra care facility.  Urban Splash, the 
innovative and renowned regeneration company, and Peel have submitted a planning application for 
the first phase of their waterfront development which will see some 350 houses being built.  In 
addition, an office development at Tower Road South, Wirral Waters, has received planning 
permission and will provide much needed Grade A office in the area.  These developments are 
supported by infrastructure schemes such as improved pedestrian walkways and cycle paths which 
will increase the accessibility of the area and strengthen links to Birkenhead Town Centre. 

BUSINESS: 
Following submission of Expressions of Interest to the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local 
Government's Future High Streets Fund, New Ferry and Birkenhead bids have both been successfully 

Page 77



shortlisted for progression to the next detailed business planning phase. This represents a significant 
result, with Government receiving over 300 applications and shortlisting just 40 town centre areas, 
in this first round, for approval to progress. In addition, Government has recently announced that 
Birkenhead will receive funding from the national Town Fund which, together with the proposals 
being taken forward by the Wirral Growth Company, will enable a range of improvements to be 
made to Birkenhead Town Centre.  Liscard and New Ferry have also been awarded funding from the 
LCR Metro Mayor Town Centre Fund and action plans are now being developed.

Page 78



COUNCIL
14 OCTOBER 2019

CABINET PORTFOLIO SUMMARY REPORT

REPORT OF Councillor Elizabeth Grey
CABINET PORTFOLIO FOR Environment and Climate Change

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
This report is an update from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Environment and Climate Change 
to Members of the Council on matters relevant to the portfolio. 

ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE EMERGENCY 
Climate emergency action plan
Since declaring an Environment and Climate Emergency in July 2019, Wirral Council has committed 
to develop a Climate Emergency Action Plan. The action plan is made up of a variety of new 
strategies, policy changes and goals to be completed or commenced over the next few months.
Some key elements and policies for reducing our impact on climate change and promoting 
biodiversity include: 

 A new policy for encouraging the growth of wildflowers and planting for much endangered 
pollinators on public and private land including along hedges and verges.

 A new Tree Strategy which will see far more robust protection of our existing trees and a 
massive programme of afforestation across the borough.

 New proposals for developing electric vehicle charging provision across the borough.
 A shift in all future transport planning to encourage greater levels of active, sustainable  

travel.
 Plans to establish a network of Environment and Climate Emergency Champions in the 

Council’s workforce and climate training for all council officers and elected members. 
Cabinet and SLT have had the first stage of this already. The Cabinet Member, Liz Grey, is 
training on Climate Change with the UN.

 A review and update of the Council’s procurement policy, reflecting the climate emergency, 
for example a shift away from meat in catering and a ban on all SUP.

Decision making
Since announcing the climate emergency all key Council decisions now require officers to consider 
their impact on the environment and climate change, across all services. 

Cool 2
Residents were invited to have their say on Cool Wirral Partnership's new strategy, named ‘Cool 2’ to 
ensure Wirral plays its part in the global effort to tackle climate change. (Closes 7 Oct 2019) 

Developed via the Cool Wirral Partnership, the strategy was created in reaction to the latest 
scientific evidence as part of wider efforts to tackle climate change, globally, nationally and locally, 
and calls on all with an interest to develop an action plan in support.  

Clean Air campaign
Wirral’s Clean Air campaign is calling on residents and businesses to pledge their support and 
#Bethekey in tackling air pollution, by making small changes to make the air healthier for everyone.

Page 79



Launched on Clean Air Day (20 June), the campaign is working alongside schools, taxi drivers and 
community groups to spread the word about how we can all make a difference to air quality in 
Wirral. Eight schools requested resources provided by the Council to run their own campaigns. 

Pupils from St George’s Primary school’s Mini Police Team and eco team dedicated some time to 
patrol the playground and street around their school in support of Wirral’s Clean Air campaign. 
Accompanied by teachers, pupils from the school in Wallasey spoke to parents waiting in cars and 
those on the playground about what they can do to help tackle air pollution in Wirral handing out 
advice on things residents can do to help.

LED light program 
The LED programme will help to cut carbon emissions by 1,346.34 tCO2 per year and dramatically 
reducing energy use by 4,414,240 kWh per year.  

BEACHES
Portfolio for beaches has moved to Cabinet member for Environment and Climate Change. 
Hilbre Island
A Hilbre Island Incident Report was presented to the Environment Overview and Scrutiny in 
September. The Committee asks the Cabinet Member to allow a full options appraisal
to be undertaken for a range of actions to be considered based on previous reports and new 
inspections being conducted. 

Glyphosates 
The Council recently voted to phase out the spraying of glyphosate in the borough, immediately 
after we have identified a suitable effective alternative. We are currently investigating and trialling 
alternatives as we move towards ending the use of spraying. Spraying has already stopped on 
beaches.

RECYCLE RIGHT
To support National Recycle Week 2019, residents were encouraged to ‘recycle right’ as part of a 
Merseyside campaign in partnership with Merseyside Recycling and Waste Authority. To support the 
campaign a website has been developed to help encourage more recycling and reduce confusion for 
households. Members can find out more about what should and shouldn't be recycled and why 
through the Recycle Right website.  In addition to the campaign, materials are being developed to 
remind residents what can be recycled in their grey bin. These will be distributed shortly.

LWYL FUND
Love Where You Live funding is available for groups in Wirral to improve their local high streets, 
parks and open spaces and community assets. The fund will be available to community groups, 
voluntary organisations, charities or social enterprises. Funding up to £1000 is available for projects 
that will improve the local environment for the benefit of the wider community. Those successful 
will have up to the end of March 2020 to spend the grant.

SUSTAINABLE TRAVEL
Summer of Cycling
To celebrate two large-scale cycling events riding through Wirral, Wirral Council and partners 
promoted all cycling offers as a Summer of Cycling, encouraging everyone from enthusiasts and 
beginners alike to take to two wheels. 

The treelined paths at Brimstage Hall & Courtyard were opened to the public for the first time at the 
end of September as part of the Leverhulme Summer Cycle. Hundreds of cyclists, ranging from 

Page 80

https://www.recycleright.org.uk/


young children to grandparents, got on their bikes to explore the 4 miles of tracks. Others chose to 
walk the paths which extend from Brimstage to neighbouring Thornton Hough. The event was 
organised by Pedalare, which promotes cycling, and Rethink Now CIC, which works with 
communities to help them consider what changes they can make to improve air quality and their 
quality of life. Rethink Now CIC are an active member of our Transport Steering group. 

ROAD SAFETY
Diagonal pedestrian crossing
A state-of-the-art pedestrian crossing has been installed to improve road safety at the junction at 
Moreton Road/Old Greasby Road/Ford Road/Arrowe Park Road. Traffic lights at this site are over 30 
years-old. This is a significant refurbishment to promote the safety of residents, pedestrians and 
road users alike.

Young driver ‘Engage’ scheme
A new website was launched this month for ‘Engage driving’. This is a council-backed scheme 
operating across Cheshire & Merseyside which equips young drivers with the skills and knowledge to 
be smarter drivers. The project works with local ‘engage’ approved driving instructors and provides 
learner drivers with additional special learning modules, as part of their normal driving lessons, to fill 
the gaps in the current driving test about issues such as fatigue, peer pressure, basic maintenance, 
drink and drug driving, speed and distraction. The project was featured last month on ITV’s Granada 
Reports. 

Mind Your Business
The Road Safety team continue to work with local businesses who require staff to drive as part of 
their work duties. The team are delivering free road safety training and advice as part of the ‘Driving 
for Work’ seminar, which saw speakers from the health and safety industry, road safety specialists 
and police and collisions investigation experts.

Page 81

http://roadsafetygb.org.uk/news/scheme-engages-learners-parents-and-instructors/
http://roadsafetygb.org.uk/news/scheme-engages-learners-parents-and-instructors/


This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTE EXTRACT
AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
23 SEPTEMBER 2019

14 STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2018/19 FOR WIRRAL COUNCIL AND 
MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND 

Mr Dan Kirwan, Assistant Director Finance and Investment introduced the report of 
the Director of Finance and Investment (S151) that informed that the draft Statement 
of Accounts for 2018/19 was initially published on 31 May 2019, followed by an 
updated version on 31 July 2019, which included:

 Additional pension fund liabilities, following a recent court ruling on the McCloud 
& Sargeant case;

 Changes to the accounting treatment of the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP); and

 Additional disclosures to reflect the impact of IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers’ and IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’.

The report also provided further details changes included in the Accounts Publication 
Notice (Appendix 1 to the report). This document was published with the draft 
Statement of Accounts on 31 July 2019, to meet the Council’s statutory obligation to 
disclose the reasons for the external Auditors - Grant Thornton LLP - being unable to 
complete their audit by this date.

The Assistant Director Finance and Investment apprised Members that recent 
statistics published by the Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) confirmed 
that 40% of Local Authority audits had not concluded by the target date of 31 July. He 
added that the latest Accounts of Wirral Council had now been subject to audit and 
the External Auditors - Grant Thornton LLP - were in attendance to present their Audit 
Findings Report (AFR), together with any additional update, to the Committee. 

In presenting the report the Assistant Director Finance and Investment informed that 
once agreed by the Audit and Risk Management Committee, Council would be in a 
position to comply with its statutory obligation to publish the Statement of Accounts - 
which includes the Annual Governance Statement, Narrative Statement and Audit 
Opinion – as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt of the Audit Findings Report.   

Members noted that the Statement of Accounts included the Merseyside Pension 
Fund (MPF) Accounts (Wirral Council is the Administering Authority for MPF). As the 
MPF received a separate Audit Findings Report (Appendix 5 to the report), this also 
had to be considered by the Pensions Committee (Appendices 6 & 7 to the report) and 
the Audit and Risk Management Committee as part of approving the Accounts. The 
Council’s Constitution allocates responsibility for the approval of the Statement of 
Accounts to the Audit & Risk Management Committee. 

The External Auditor presented a verbal report informing Members on the detail of 
specific content, namely:
 

Page 83

Agenda Item 9a



 The Audit Findings 
 The requirement to report
 Key points relating to their audit opinion i.e. a challenging audit relating to 

changes to accounting procedures.
 Amendments arising from the ‘McCloud judgement’, pension scheme 

transitional arrangements.

There also followed discussion on how these various factors will affect the Local 
Authority pension scheme, with a best estimate of £16m, material consideration.

Members were apprised that there had been discussion between the Council and the 
External Audit regarding the Auditors recommended adjustment to the accounts over 
a period of 10 years, which subject to Council approval, will produce a £2.6m benefit 
to Council each year.

The Chair identified that regarding items in the accounts, the Chief Executive salary 
had been quoted, but not the name (this had been corrected). Recommendation in 
accounts as a result. Members were also apprised that in respect of a recent Coroners 
Court Judgement, External Auditors had been kept informed and although these were 
to be treated as post balance sheet events it was the Auditors view that these were 
‘not material’, it was suggested that a post balance sheet event statement be 
produced.

The Chair thanked the External Auditor and reiterated that it was this Committees role 
to manage compliance and provide assurance of process regarding all aspects of the 
accounts.

The External Auditor then provided Members with information on their opinion 
regarding ‘Value for Money’ arrangements and progress against past 
recommendations (improvements to Children’s Services). Intention and their intention 
to offer an unqualified VFM conclusion.

The External Auditor also provided an update on the LOBO objection – stating that 
they had responded to objector and expected to offer a final decision in due course.

The External Auditor concluded his report, requesting Committee to note that audit 
was now complete, and asked that Members note the disclosure, conclusions, and 
improvements.

A short period of question and answers followed, with Members seeking clarification 
on a number of points, that included:

 Minimum Revenue Provision 
 Debt reprofiling reserve
 Summary of amendments – arising from complexity of double entry accounting.

Councillor Phil Gilchrist requested that it the Committee also take note of specific 
reference to paragraph 3.6 of the report referring to the changes in the reporting that 
he believed did not fully highlight the changes in the reporting of the Minimum Revenue 

Page 84



Provision (MRP) and that this section of the report and appendix one should clearly 
refer to substantial sums involved.

Members concurred, and the Chair instructed that an update on progress relating to 
the MRP be provided to the Committee at a future meeting.

Resolved – It be recommended to Council that:

1) The Audit Findings Report presented by the External Auditor, and the 
actions taken regarding the amendments to the Statement of Accounts 
for the Council and Mersey Pension Fund Accounts, be agreed;

2) The Statement of Accounts for 2018/19 as presenting a true and fair view 
of the Council’s income and expenditure for the year and its overall 
financial position, be approved; and 

3) The Chair and Director of Finance and Investment (S151) to sign and date 
the Letter of Representation.

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Audit and Risk Management Committee
Monday, 23 September 2019

REPORT TITLE: STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2018/19 FOR 
WIRRAL COUNCIL AND MERSEYSIDE 
PENSION FUND

REPORT OF: Director of Finance & Investment (S151)

REPORT SUMMARY

The Council’s Constitution allocates responsibility for the approval of the Statement of 
Accounts to the Audit & Risk Management Committee. 

The draft Statement of Accounts for 2018/19 was initially published on 31 May 2019, followed 
by an updated version on 31 July 2019, which includes:

• Additional pension fund liabilities, following a recent court ruling on the McCloud 
& Sargeant case;

• Changes to the accounting treatment of the Minimum Revenue Provision 
(MRP); and

• Additional disclosures to reflect the impact of IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers’ and IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’.

Further details of these changes are included in the Accounts Publication Notice (Appendix 
1).  This document was published with the draft Statement of Accounts on 31 July 2019, to 
meet the Council’s statutory obligation to disclose the reasons for the external Auditors - 
Grant Thornton LLP - being unable to complete their audit by this date.

Recent statistics published by the Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) confirm 
that 40% of Local Authority audits had not concluded by the target date of 31 July.

The latest Accounts of Wirral Council have however now been subject to audit and Grant 
Thornton LLP will present their Audit Findings Report (AFR), together with any additional 
update, to this meeting. 

The Committee is asked to:

• Consider the audit findings of Grant Thornton (Appendix 2) and agree any 
actions for 2019/20;

• Approve the Statement of Accounts for 2018/19 (Appendix 3); and
• Agree the Letter of Representation (Appendix 4). 

This will enable the Council to comply with its statutory obligation to publish the Statement of 
Accounts - which includes the Annual Governance Statement, Narrative Statement and Audit 
Opinion – as soon as reasonably practicable after receipt of the Audit Findings Report.   

Page 87



The Statement of Accounts includes the Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF) Accounts, as 
Wirral Council is the Administering Authority for MPF.  As the MPF receives a separate Audit 
Findings Report (Appendix 5), this has to be considered by the Pensions Committee 
(Appendix 6 & 7) and also this Committee as part of approving the Accounts.

RECOMMENDATION/S

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is requested to:

i. Consider the Audit Findings Report presented by Grant Thornton, agreeing the actions 
taken over the amendments to the Statement of Accounts referenced in Section 3.

ii. Consider and approve the Statement of Accounts for 2018/19 as presenting a true and 
fair view of the Council’s income and expenditure for the year and its overall financial 
position; and 

iii. Agree for the Chair and Director of Finance and Investment (S151) to sign and date 
the Letter of Representation.

Page 88



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.0 The Audit & Risk Management Committee has responsibility for approving the 
Statement of Accounts on behalf of the Council, which is a requirement under the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015. 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The Statement of Accounts has to be produced in accordance with statutory guidance. 
The Statement is subject to review by the appointed Auditor and must be published by 
31 July each year.   If the audit has not concluded by 31 July – as was the case this 
year - the Council is required to publish the reasons for this under Section 10.2a of the 
Regulations.  (See Appendix 1).

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

3.1 The purpose of the Statement of Accounts is to present the overall financial position of 
the Council at 31 March 2019 in accordance with prescribed guidance – the Code of 
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code). This Code is 
updated annually and specifies the accounting principles and practices required to 
prepare a Statement of Accounts which present a true and fair view of the financial 
position. 

3.2 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 require that the Council produces a 
Statement of Accounts for each year which meets set requirements. The Regulations 
2015 state that the Accounts must be approved by an appropriate Committee by 31 
July - subject to the external audit being completed by that date.  Where the audit has 
not concluded, the Council is required to publish the reasons for this and to publish the 
Accounts as soon as reasonably practicable after the issue of the Audit Findings 
Report.  

3.3 The Director of Finance and Investment, as Section 151 Officer, certified the initial 
draft Accounts by 31 May 2019, in line with the statutory deadline, and certified the 
updated version issued on 31 July, following the changes highlighted in Appendix 1.  
On both of these dates, the latest draft Statement of Accounts was made publicly 
available to meet statutory deadlines.   

3.4 The Accounts published at 31 July 2019 have been subject to audit. Under National 
Audit Commission audit arrangements for Local Government, Grant Thornton UK LLP 
(as the Council’s appointed external auditor,) report on the financial statements and 
also on the Value for Money conclusion, as documented within the Audit Findings 
Report.

Page 89



3.5 The Director of Finance and Investment is required to re-certify the presentation of the 
Statement of Accounts. The Regulations require the Accounts to be considered and 
approved by Members prior to final publication. For Wirral Council, this role is for this 
Committee.  The Accounts must also be signed and dated by the Chair of this 
Committee prior to their publication on the Council website, with any certificate, 
opinion, or report issued, by Grant Thornton LLP.

3.6 AMENDMENTS TO THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 

3.6.1 Amendments to the financial statements requested by Grant Thornton are detailed in 
the Audit Findings Report.  The Committee is asked to consider whether or not they 
agree to the amendments which have been agreed by officers.  All changes (including 
presentational changes post initial publication) are set out in Appendix 8.  

3.6.2 The Statement of Accounts 2018/19 is included in Appendix 3 and reflects the 
comments made by the Auditors up to Thursday 5 September 2019 and includes the 
MPF Accounts, as considered by Pensions Committee on 16 July 2019 (Appendix 6).   
At the time of circulating this report no further changes are expected to be required.

3.6.3 The Committee will be updated at the meeting of any further audit work, findings and 
alterations to the Statement of Accounts as the audit process continues until issue of 
the Audit Opinion. 

3.7 AUDITOR’S REPORT AND OPINION 

3.7.1 The Audit Opinion will be issued following the Committee’s consideration of the Audit 
Findings Report (Appendix 2), approval of any amendments to the Statement of 
Accounts (Appendix 3) and agreement of the Letter of Representation (Appendix 4). 

3.7.2 The Auditor’s Opinion will be incorporated within the final version of the Statement of 
Accounts for publication as soon as reasonably practicable after this meeting.  An 
unqualified opinion on the Accounts for 2018/19 is anticipated.  There are no 
anticipated changes to the financial position as reported to the Cabinet on 16 July 
2019.

3.7.3 The Closure of Accounts is a key part of the Council’s financial management 
processes and requires the input of substantial resources across the Council. This is 
necessary to deliver a smooth final Accounts process and to allow Grant Thornton to 
carry out its audit within agreed timescales. 

3.7.4 Grant Thornton received the Statements and supporting working papers in accordance 
with the required deadlines.  However competing pressures within the Finance and 
Investment Division remain, as capacity is limited.   The absence of key team 
members due to sick leave, coupled with a number of vacancies within the team, 
contributed to the close down activity being a major challenge this year for an already 
under-resourced team.  The planned restructure of the Finance team is however 
expected to address this issue going forward.

Page 90



3.7.5 Grant Thornton have also experienced significant resourcing issues this year which 
have contributed to a delay in completing the audit.  Recent statistics published by the 
Public Sector Audit Appointments Limited (PSAA) confirm that 40% of Local Authority 
audits had not concluded by the target date of 31 July. 

3.7.6 The deadlines for the Statement of Accounts for 2018/19 have remained in line with 
2017/18, when the timescales for completing the audit were significantly reduced.  The 
S151 Officer must ordinarily certify and issue the Accounts by 31 May (brought forward 
from 30 June), with the Accounts approved and published following audit by 31 July 
(brought forward from 30 September). However, the unprecedented level of issues 
experienced this year - as outlined in Appendix 1 – resulted in significant late changes 
to the Accounts, for which the reduced timetable makes no allowance.  

3.8 LETTER OF REPRESENTATION 

3.8.1 The Letter of Representation is presented for agreement by this Committee, with a 
draft letter included as Appendix 4 to this report. 

3.9 ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (AGS) 

3.9.1 The Annual Governance Statement has, as in previous years been prepared in 
accordance with the CIPFA/SOLACE Delivering Good Governance in Local 
Government 2016 Framework and Guidance and is evidenced from the following 
sources:

 Review of the key governance processes in place; 
 Collation and review of Chief Officers and Managers Assurance Statements; 

and
 Review of reports by external review agencies. 

3.9.2 The Annual Governance Statement 2018/19 covers the period from 1 April 2018 to 31 
March 2019 and therefore any significant governance issues identified are those which 
have occurred during this period. 

3.9.3 Significant progress has been made by the Council this year in the management of 
remedial actions to address the Ofsted Improvement Notice issue, as included in the 
2017/18 Annual Governance Statement.  Following an inspection by Ofsted of 
Children’s Services in 2016, an Improvement Notice was issued by the Secretary of 
State for Education on the 30th September 2016. In July 2019, Ofsted conducted a 
further inspection, the outcome of which has been positive, and the service is no 
longer judged to be inadequate.  The inspectors have confirmed that the Council is 
now out of intervention and the next steps to achieve a status of ‘good’ have been 
outlined.

Page 91



3.9.4 The Council’s Audit and Risk Management Committee and Corporate Governance 
Group will continue to receive regular reports during 2019/20 on progress being made 
to address the governance issues included in this year’s report.  These include 
ongoing activity in relation to Ofsted, financial resilience, development and 
regeneration plans, Local Plan delivery and tree maintenance.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The amendments to the Statement of Accounts 2018/19 have not changed the level of 
General Fund balance or reserves and provisions at 31 March 2019 which remain as 
reported to the Cabinet on 16 July 2019.  

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 It is a legal requirement to publish the Statement of Accounts.  This would ordinarily be 
completed by 31 July each year, subject to completion of the audit.  If the audit has not 
concluded by 31 July, as is the case this year, the Council is required to publish the 
reasons for this under Section 10.2a of the Regulations (Appendix 1) and to issue the 
audited Statement of Accounts as soon as reasonably practicable after the issue of the 
Audit Opinion.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS

6.1 There are none arising directly from this report.  Constraints within the current Finance 
team are however being addressed as part of the planned Finance Restructure.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS

7.1 If any concerns identified by Grant Thornton are not addressed by the Council then 
there are risks that the Council will not be able to meet its statutory requirements in 
respect of the Statement of Accounts as well as impacting upon Value for Money and 
Financial Resilience of the Council.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

8.1 There has been no specific consultation in respect of this report. 

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

10.0 ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS

10.1 There are none arising directly from this report.

Page 92



REPORT AUTHOR: Shaer Halewood 
 Director of Finance and Investment (S151) 

telephone:  0151 691 8688 
email: shaerhalewood@wirral.gov.uk 

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX 1 - Accounts Publication Notice 2018/19

APPENDIX 2 - Grant Thornton Audit Findings Report (AFR) for Wirral Council

APPENDIX 3 – Wirral Council Statement of Accounts 2018/19

APPENDIX 4 - Wirral Council Letter of Representation 2018/19 

APPENDIX 5 - Merseyside Pension Fund:  Audit Findings Report (AFR) 2018/19

APPENDIX 6 - Merseyside Pension Fund:  Pensions Committee Meeting Minutes 

APPENDIX 7 - Merseyside Pension Fund:  Letter of Representation 2018/19 

APPENDIX 8 - Post publication changes to the Statement of Accounts 2018/19

BACKGROUND PAPERS

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)

Council Meeting Date
Audit & Risk Management Committee 23 July 2018
- Wirral Council Statement of Accounts 2017/18
- Grant Thornton Audit Findings Report - Wirral Council 2017/18
- Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts 2017/18
- Grant Thornton Audit Findings Report - Merseyside Pension Fund 2017/18

Audit & Risk Management Committee 22 July 2019
- Notification of external audit delay & agreement to defer the Accounts to 23 

September meeting
Pension Committee 16 July 2019
- Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts 2018/19
- Grant Thornton Audit Findings Report - Merseyside Pension Fund 2018/19

Pension Committee 16 July 2018
- Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts 2017/18
- Grant Thornton Audit Findings Report - Merseyside Pension Fund 2017/18

Page 93

mailto:shaerhalewood@wirral.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1
ACCOUNTS AND AUDIT (ENGLAND & WALES) REGULATIONS 2015 NOTICE

Publication of accounts 

Under section 10 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Council is required to 
publish its annual Statement of Accounts by 31 July each year.  

The Statement of Accounts includes the Council’s Annual Governance Statement and 
Narrative Statement and any audit opinion given by the external auditors at this date.  

If the audit has not concluded by 31 July, the Council is required to publish the reasons for 
this under Section 10.2a of the Regulations.

18/19 Statement of Accounts

Due to circumstances beyond the control of both the Council and external auditors, Grant 
Thornton, the audit of the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2019 has not concluded in 
time to meet the 31 July publication date.

The key reasons for this are as follows:   

 A recent court ruling on pension liabilities (McCloud)

In December 2018, the Court of Appeal ruled that there was age discrimination in the 
Firefighter unfunded pension schemes and the Judicial pension arrangements – 
following two linked cases (McCloud and Sargeant, often referred to as the McCloud 
case).  

The Court held that the transitional protections granted to older members, when the 
reformed schemes were introduced in 2015, constituted unlawful age discrimination 
– a decision which could have implications for other public sector schemes, including 
the Local Government Pension Scheme operated for Wirral Council by the 
Merseyside Pension Fund.

The Government applied to the Supreme Court for permission to appeal but this 
appeal was rejected on 27 June 2019.

Following this decision, the Council had to request revised actuarial calculations and 
adjust its accounts to reflect the impact of the court ruling.  These adjustments 
remain subject to audit by Grant Thornton.   

 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) accounting

All Local Authorities are required to set aside a prudent provision (a Minimum 
Revenue Provision) each year for in respect of their Capital Financing Requirement.  

Independent advice received by the Council – based on changes in legislation - 
indicates a potential overprovision in previous years, which the Council is in 
agreement with.  

Page 95



However, following discussions with the external auditors, the accounting treatment 
of this overprovision in the 18/19 Statement of Accounts is no longer considered 
appropriate.  Adjustments made in the accounts – which included creation of a Debt 
Reprofiling Reserve for the overprovision – have been removed from the latest draft 
accounts.  These changes remain subject to audit by Grant Thornton.  

 Accounting standard changes

Changes in accounting standards this year - IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers’ and IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ - have impacted on the Statement of 
Accounts to a greater extent than technical changes experienced in previous years.  
The combined impact of this and the points raised above has placed greater demand 
on limited resources in both the Council and Grant Thornton.  

 

Summary

As at 31 July 2019, the Council’s external auditor, Grant Thornton, has not yet concluded 
the audit. The Council is continuing to work closely with the audit team as they complete 
their work. 

In line with the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, the Council has published a set of 
draft accounts. The Council will publish the final Statement of Accounts as soon as the audit 
is concluded, and the Audit Report issued.

Page 96



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT
This version of the 
report is a draft. Its 
contents and subject 
matter remain under 
review and its contents 
may change and be 
expanded as part of the 
finalisation of the report.
This draft has been 
created from the 
template dated
DD MMM YYYY

The Audit Findings
for Wirral Council

12 September 2019

Year ended 31 March 2019

P
age 97



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

2

Contents

Section Page

1. Headlines 3

2. Financial statements 5

3. Value for money 17

4. Other statutory powers and duties 21

5. Independence and ethics 22

Appendices

A. Action plan

B. Follow up of prior year recommendations

C. Audit adjustments

D. Fees

E. Audit Opinion

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed for the purpose of expressing 
our opinion on the financial statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify 
control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose all defalcations or other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements 
in internal control that a more extensive special examination might identify. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our 
prior written consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report 
was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members is 
available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 
Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 
of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

Your key Grant Thornton 
team members are:

Robin Baker

Key Audit Partner

T:  0161 214 6399

E: robin.j.baker@uk.gt.com

Naomi Povey

Audit Manager

T: 0161 953 6940

E: Naomi.J.Povey@uk.gt.com

P
age 98



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

3

Headlines
This table summarises the key findings and other matters arising from the statutory audit of Wirral Council (‘the Council’) and the preparation of the Council's financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2019 for those charged with governance.

Financial
Statements

Under International Standards of Audit (UK) (ISAs) and the National
Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we are
required to report whether, in our opinion, the Council's financial
statements:
• give  a true and fair view of the financial position of the Council 

and its income and expenditure for the year; and
• have been properly prepared in accordance with the 

CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting 
and prepared in accordance with the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014.

We are also required to report whether other information published 
together with the audited financial statements (including the Annual 
Governance Statement (AGS), Narrative Report),  is materially
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

Our final accounts audit work was completed on site during June, July and August 2019 
and is now substantially complete. Our findings are summarised on pages 5 to 16.

The initial draft accounts were published at the end of May 2019 in line with statutory 
timetable. A number of adjustments and amendments have been agreed to the original 
draft financial statements which result in an increase in expenditure of £11.096m in the 
Council’s Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. In addition the Council 
has reversed an incorrect entry to its Minimum Revenue Provision calculation which has 
the effect of reducing the level of available revenue reserves by approximately £25.98m 
from that disclosed in the initial draft accounts. The agreed adjustments are summarised 
in Appendix C and further details are included within the Council’s covering report.

There is scope to improve the Council’s arrangements for preparing its financial 
statements going forward. We have raised recommendations for management as a 
result of our audit work in Appendix A. Our follow up of recommendations from the prior 
year’s audit are detailed in Appendix B.

Our work is substantially complete and there are no matters of which we are aware that 
would require modification of our audit opinion (Appendix E) or material changes to the 
financial statements, subject to the resolution of the following outstanding matters:

- receipt of management representation letter

- updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the opinion, and

- review of the final set of financial statements.

We have concluded that the other information to be published with the financial 
statements is consistent with our knowledge of your organisation and the financial 
statements we have audited.

Merseyside Pension Fund

We also anticipate providing an unqualified opinion on Merseyside Pension Fund’s 
financial statements. The findings from the Pension Fund audit are set out in a separate 
report which has also been presented to the Pensions Committee.

P
age 99



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

4

Headlines
This table summarises the key findings and other matters arising from the statutory audit of Wirral Council (‘the Council’) and the preparation of the Council's financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2019 for those charged with governance.

Value for Money 
arrangements

Under the National Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the
Code'), we are required to report if, in our opinion, the Council has
made proper arrangements to secure economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of resources ('the value for money (VFM)
conclusion’).

We have completed our risk based review of the Council’s value for money 
arrangements. The Council continues to face a challenging financial position however it 
has made progress in addressing the challenges faced. Detailed savings proposals by 
portfolio were agreed to achieve savings of £45m in 2019/20 and there is a significantly 
reduced reliance on one-offs including the planned use of reserves. 

Since OFSTED rated the Council’s Children’s services as inadequate in 2016, the 
Council has demonstrated a steady improvement in the service provided as indicated in 
the OFSTED monitoring reports for 2018/19. The September 2018 report stated ‘The 
quality of social work practice in each case was effective and making a difference’. 

OFSTED carried out a full re-inspection of the Council’s Children’s Services in June 
2019 which has resulted in a rating of ‘Requires Improvement’. The report confirms that 
improvements have been made and a better service for children is being delivered. Not 
all areas have improved at the same pace but the report acknowledges that the Council 
has clear plans to address these areas.

We have concluded that Wirral Council has proper arrangements to secure economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

We therefore anticipate issuing an unqualified value for money conclusion, as detailed in 
Appendix E. Our findings are summarised on pages 17 to 20.

Statutory duties The Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 (‘the Act’) also
requires us to:
• report to you if we have applied any of the additional powers

and duties ascribed to us under the Act; and
• to certify the closure of the audit.

We do not expect to be able to certify the conclusion of the audit as we are yet to 
complete our consideration of an objection we received in relation to the Council’s 
Lender Option Borrowing Option borrowing. We have also received a new objection 
relating the Council’s 2018/19 accounts and  there have been questions received at 
audit.

Acknowledgements
We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

P
age 100



DRAFT

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 5

Summary

Overview of the scope of our audit

This Audit Findings Report presents the observations arising from the audit that are 
significant to the responsibility of those charged with governance to oversee the financial 
reporting process, as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK) 260 and the 
Code of Audit Practice (‘the Code’). Its contents have been discussed with management.

As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) and the Code, which is directed towards forming and 
expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by 
management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of the 
financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of 
their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements.

Audit approach

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Council's business and 
is risk based, and included:

• an evaluation of the Council's internal controls environment, including its IT systems 
and controls; and

• substantive testing on significant transactions and material account balances, including 
the procedures outlined in this report in relation to the key audit risks.

We have not had to alter or change our audit plan, as communicated to you on 11 March 
2019. 

The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) is responsible for reviewing and assessing the 
quality of local public audit work undertaken by Grant Thornton and the other audit firms. In 
response to the latest feedback from the FRC on local public audit work we have updated 
and refined our approach to the audit of PPE and Pensions Liabilities, which has resulted 
in additional audit procedures being undertaken. We have included fee adjustments to 
cover these additional procedures which are set out at page 28 of this report.

Conclusion

We have substantially completed our audit of your financial statements and subject to 
outstanding queries being resolved, we anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion 
following the Audit and Risk Management Committee meeting on 23 September 2019, as 
detailed in Appendix E. These outstanding items include:

- updating our post-balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the opinion

- final Engagement Lead and Review Partner review of the audit working papers.

- receipt of management representation letter; and

- review of the final set of financial statements.

Financial statements 

P
age 101



DRAFT

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 6

Summary

Financial statements 

Materiality calculations remain the same as reported in our audit plan. We detail in 
the table below our determination of materiality for Wirral Council.

Our approach to materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements and 
the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to disclosure 
requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and applicable law. 

Council Amount (£) Qualitative factors considered 

Materiality for the financial statements £12.986m • Considered to be the level above which users of the accounts would wish to be aware of 
misstatements in the context of overall expenditure.

Performance materiality £9.740m • Assessed as 75% of Financial Statement materiality.

Trivial matters £0.649m • ISA 260 (UK) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly inconsequential, whether taken 
individually or in aggregate and whether judged by any quantitative or qualitative criteria.

Materiality for specific transactions, balances or 
disclosures

£20k

1.8%

• Senior Officer Remuneration disclosures given the potential public interest in these figures.

• Related Party Transactions due to potential public interest. We will review any unusual 
transactions.

P
age 102



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

7

Significant findings – audit risks
Risks identified in our Audit Plan Commentary

 The revenue cycle includes fraudulent 
transactions (rebutted)

Under ISA 240 (UK) there is a presumed risk that 
revenue may be misstated due to the improper 
recognition of revenue. This presumption can be 
rebutted if the auditor concludes that there is no risk 
of material misstatement due to fraud relating to 
revenue recognition.

Auditor commentary

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA 240 and the nature of the revenue streams at the Council, we have 
determined that the risk that the revenue cycle includes fraudulent transactions can be rebutted because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited because there is a high degree of predictability in the 
main revenue streams

• the culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including Wirral Council, mean that all forms of fraud are seen 
as unacceptable. 

This determination remains the same as reported in our Audit Plan and therefore we do not consider this to be a 
significant risk for Wirral Council.

 Management override of controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-rebuttable 
presumed risk that the risk of management override 
of controls is present in all entities. The Council faces 
external scrutiny of its spending and this could 
potentially place management under undue pressure 
in terms of how they report performance.

We therefore identified management override of 
controls, in particular journals, management 
estimates and transactions outside the course of 
business as a significant risk, which was one of the 
most significant assessed risks of material 
misstatement.

We have:

• evaluated the design effectiveness of management controls over journals

• analysed the journals listing and determined the criteria for selecting high risk unusual journals

• tested unusual journals recorded during the year and as part of the closedown process for appropriateness and 
corroboration

• gained an understanding of the accounting estimates, judgements applied and decisions made by management and 
considered their reasonableness.

• evaluated the rationale for any changes in accounting policies, estimates or significant unusual transactions.

Our audit work completed has not identified any evidence of management override of controls.

Financial Statements 

P
age 103



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

8

Significant findings – audit risks
Risks identified in our Audit Plan Commentary

 Valuation of land and buildings

The Council revalues its land and buildings on 
a rolling five-year basis. The valuation 
represents a significant estimate by 
management in the financial statements due to 
the size of the numbers involved (£608m) and 
the sensitivity of this estimate to changes in key 
assumptions.  

Additionally, management will need to ensure 
the carrying value in the Council’s financial 
statements is not materially different from the 
current value or the fair value (for surplus 
assets) at the financial statements date, where 
a rolling programme is used.

We therefore identified valuation of land and 
buildings, particularly revaluations and 
impairments, as a significant risk which was 
one of the most significant assessed risks of 
material misstatement, and a key audit matter.

Auditor commentary

We have carried out the following work:

• evaluated management’s processes and assumptions for the calculation of the estimate, instructions issued to valuation 
experts and the scope of their work

• evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the valuation expert

• written to the valuer to confirm the basis on which the valuation was carried out

• challenged the information and assumptions used by the valuer to assess completeness and consistency with our 
understanding

• tested, on a sample basis, revaluations made during the year to see if they had been input correctly into the Council’s 
asset register, and

• evaluated the assumptions made by management for those assets not revalued during the year and how management 
satisfied themselves that these are not materially different to current value at year end.

The Council’s land and buildings assets have been valued this year by the Council’s in-house valuation team. Our work has 
assessed them as having a good knowledge of the Council’s portfolio and they have used the information from the Asset 
Register and the Council’s estates systems in carrying out their valuation of the assets. The assumptions used are reasonable
and we are satisfied that they had access to appropriate levels of information to complete reliable valuations.

The Council has revalued approximately 84% of its Land and buildings assets this year, leaving a relatively small amount 
(£75m) that has not been formally valued during the year. For those assets not formally valued in the year, management has 
liaised with the valuation team to assess the potential difference between the carrying value and the fair value. We have 
reviewed and challenged this methodology and are satisfied that the best estimate of the level of uncertainty is below 
materiality.

The Council revalued 100% of its Investment property portfolio in line with its accounting policies. Sample testing of the 
revaluations provided assurance that these assets were correctly classified as Investment Properties and the movements in 
the valuations had been correctly recognised in the accounts.

For the sample of revaluations tested, it was identified that the assets were input on to the Council’s asset register as at 31 
December 2018 with depreciation subsequently charged on the assets for the remainder of the year. The approach is 
consistent with previous years and the Council's valuers believe it is appropriate. However it arguable that it leads to an 
uncertainty in the accounts. The impact of the accounting treatment is a potential understatement of the net book value of the 
assets by £3.737m and over statement of depreciation by the same amount. For the total population revalued the results are a 
potential understatement of £4.557m which is clearly not material  Whilst the matter is not material we suggest that the 
Council clarifies the approach going forward with its valuer. 

Our audit work has not identified any further issues in respect of valuation of land and buildings.

Financial statements

P
age 104



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

9

Significant findings – audit risks
Risks identified in our Audit Plan Commentary

 Valuation of pension fund net liability

The Council’s pension fund liability, as reflected 
in its balance sheet as the net defined benefit 
liability represents a significant estimate in the 
financial statements.

The pension fund net liability is considered a 
significant estimate due to the size of the 
numbers involved (£539m in the Council’s 
balance sheet as at 31 March 2019) and the 
sensitivity of the estimate to the changes in the 
key assumptions.

We therefore identified valuation of the Council’s 
pension fund net liability as a significant risk, 
which was one of the most significant assessed 
risks of material misstatement, and a key audit 
matter.

Auditor commentary

We have carried out the following work:

• updated our understanding of the processes and controls put in place by management to ensure that the Council’s 
pension fund liability is not materially misstated and evaluated the design of the associated controls

• evaluated the instructions issued by management expert (an actuary) for this estimate and the scope of the actuary’s 
work

• assessed the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the actuary who carried out the Council’s pension fund 
valuation

• assessed the accuracy and completeness of the information provided by the Council to the actuary to estimate the 
liability

• tested the consistency of the pension fund asset and liability and disclosures in the notes to the core financial 
statements with the actuarial report from the actuary

• undertook procedures to confirm the reasonableness of the actuarial assumptions made by reviewing the report of 
the consulting actuary (as auditor’s expert)

• agreed the advance payment previously made to the pension fund to the expected accounting treatment and relevant 
financial disclosures

• obtained assurances from the auditor of the Merseyside Pension Fund as to the controls surrounding the validity and 
accuracy of membership data, contributions data and benefits data sent to the actuary by the pension fund and the 
fund assets valuation in the pension fund financial statements.

We draw your attention to page 10 where a national issue relevant to all local authorities requires them to consider and 
assess their circumstances and impact upon the valuation of the pension fund net liability and the pension reserve.

Financial statements

P
age 105



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

10

Significant findings - other issues
Financial statements

This section provides commentary on new issues and risks which were identified during the course of the audit that were not previously communicated in the Audit Plan and a 
summary of any significant control deficiencies identified during the year. 

Issue Commentary

 Net Pension Liability – McCloud judgement

The Court of Appeal has ruled that there was age discrimination in the 
judges and firefighters pension scheme where transitional protections were 
given to scheme members. The Government recently applied to the 
Supreme Court for permission to appeal this ruling, but the permission to 
appeal was unsuccessful. We understand the case will now be remitted 
back to employment tribunal for remedy.

The legal ruling around age discrimination (McCloud-Court of Appeal) has 
implications not just for the directly affected pension funds, but also for other 
public sector pension schemes where they have implemented transitional 
arrangements on charging benefits, including the local government pension 
scheme.

Discussion have been ongoing through the year in the sector regarding the 
impact of the ruling on the financial statements of local government bodies. 
Many Councils had initially included the impact of the McCloud judgement 
as a contingent liability in their 2018/19 accounts. However as the picture 
has now become clearer there is now a general acceptance that the 
increased liability, where material, should be reflected in the IAS 19 figures 
in the balance sheet.

• The Council has reviewed their judgement and accounting treatment for the 
McCloud ruling, as the draft financial statements did not factor in the impact of 
the case in the pension liability figures provided by the Actuary.

• The Council requested the Actuary to perform a review of the impact of the 
McCloud case. The revised report from the actuary estimated the impact on the 
Council’s net pension liability to be an increase of £16.7m which is above our 
materiality figure.

• We  have obtained assurance from our internal actuaries over the assumptions 
and methods employed by Mercers in compiling the McCloud liability estimates.

• The Council has amended its financial statements for the impact of the McCloud 
judgement disclosing the increase in the net pension liability of £16.7m.

P
age 106



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

11

Significant findings - other issues
Financial statements

This section provides commentary on new issues and risks which were identified during the course of the audit that were not previously communicated in the Audit Plan and a 
summary of any significant control deficiencies identified during the year. 

Issue Commentary

 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) accounting

The Council is required to set aside a prudent provision (Minimum Revenue 
Provision) each year for in respect of its Capital Financing Requirement.. 

Independent advice received by the Council  – based on changes in 
legislation – indicated a potential over provision in previous years due to 
deferred charges and long term debtors being excluded from the original 
calculation in 2004.

In the initial draft financial statements the Council adjusted MRP by £26.36m 
and created a Debt re-profiling reserve. In our the Council’s initial 
accounting treatment was not appropriate and the MRP charge in any year 
cannot be negative. 

We have carried out the following work:

• Reviewed the independent advice received by the Council

• Reviewed the calculations for the assessment of the over provision

• Discussed the initial accounting treatment with management

• The Council has amended the financial statements to remove the debt re-
profiling reserve which has the effect of reducing usable reserves by £25.98m.

• Looking ahead the Council is continuing to consider the advice that it has 
received and is exploring options for recovering any MRP overpayment, whilst 
ensuring that it complies with the statutory guidance.

 Investments held at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income 
(FVOCI)

The Council has long term investments in pooled investment vehicles with a 
value of £0.942m. It has designated these investments as at Fair Value 
through Other Comprehensive Income.

 Our view is that these pooled investments do not meet the definition of equity for 
the issuers and so the designation is inappropriate. 

 We consider the Council’s treatment, which is based on external independent 
advice, to be departure from the Code, although these assets and related gains 
and losses are not material at the reporting date.

P
age 107



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

12

Significant findings – key judgements and estimates
Financial statements

Summary of management’s policy Audit Comments Assessment

Land and Buildings –
Other - £464.8m

Investment Property -
£27.4m

Other land and buildings comprises of 
specialised assets such as schools and libraries, 
which are required to be valued at depreciated 
replacement cost (DRC) at year end, reflecting 
the cost of a modern equivalent asset necessary 
to deliver the same service provision. The 
remainder of other land and buildings are not 
specialised in nature and are required to be 
valued at existing use value (EUV) at year end. 
The Council has engaged its in house valuers to 
complete the valuation of properties as at 31 
March 2019 on a five yearly cyclical basis and 
annually for significant assets. 84% of total 
assets were revalued during 2018/19. The 
valuation of properties valued by the valuer has 
resulted in a net increase of £42.73m.

Management have considered the year end 
value of non-valued assets, and the potential 
valuation change in the assets revalued at 31 
March 2019. This involved a review of the 
potential impact of indices on the asset value to 
determine whether there has been a material 
change in the total value of these assets. 
Management’s assessment of assets not 
revalued has identified no material change to the 
assets’ value. 

Investment property and surplus assets are 
required to be valued annually and at fair value.

We reviewed the detail of your assessment of the estimates, considering;

• the assessment of management’s expert, your internal valuer;

• The completeness and accuracy of the underlying information used to 
determine the estimates;

• The reasonableness of the overall increase in the estimates; and 

• The adequacy of the disclosure of the estimates in the financial statements.

We have reviewed and challenged management’s assessment of the potential 
impact of those assets not formally revalued this year. We have reviewed the 
Council’s methodology and assumptions used during this review and found 
them to be reasonable.



Assessment
 We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated
 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic
 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious  
 We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

P
age 108



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

13

Significant findings – key judgements and estimates
Financial statements

Summary of management’s policy Audit Comments Assessment

Net 
pension 
liability –
£539.4m

The Council’s net pension liability at 31 
March 2019 is £539m (PY £457m) 
comprising the Local Government Pension 
Scheme and unfunded defined benefit 
pension scheme obligations.

The Council uses Mercers to provide 
actuarial valuations of the Council’s assets 
and liabilities derived from these schemes. 
A full actuarial valuation is required every 
three years. The latest full actuarial 
valuation was completed in 2016. A roll 
forward approach is used in intervening 
periods, which utilises key assumptions 
such as life expectancy, discount rates, 
salary growth and investment returns. 
Given the significant value of the net 
pension fund liability, small changes in 
assumptions can result in significant 
valuation movements. There has been a 
£47.956m net actuarial loss during 
2018/19.

• We reviewed the detail your assessment of the estimate, considering;

• assessment of management’s expert, Mercers;

• the completeness and accuracy of the underlying information used to determine the estimate;

• the reasonableness of the Council’s share of the LGPS assets;

• the reasonableness of the overall increase in the estimate; and

• the adequacy of the disclosure of the estimate in the financial statements.

External auditors are provided with assurance in the form of an auditors expert report from PWC to 
assess the assumptions made by the Actuary. The table below sets out the key assumptions

• Other than the issue already noted on page 9 regarding the McCloud judgement, there are no 
further issues to note from the work carried out.



Assessment
 We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated
 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic
 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious  
 We consider management’s process is appropriate and key assumptions are neither optimistic or cautious

Actuary 
Value

Within PwC Report 
ranges

Assessment

Discount rate 2.4% Yes 

Pension increase rate 2.3% Yes 

Salary growth 3.7% Yes 

Life expectancy – Males currently aged 45 / 65 22.2 current
25.2 future

Yes 

Life expectancy – Females currently aged 45 / 
65

25.0 current
27.9 future

Yes 

P
age 109



DRAFT

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 14

Significant findings - Going concern

Financial statements

Our responsibility
As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the preparation and 
presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is a material uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern” (ISA (UK) 570). 

Going concern commentary

Management's assessment process

The Council has reviewed their going concern position and 
has concluded that it is appropriate to produce their 
accounts on a going concern basis and no material 
uncertainties exists.

Auditor commentary 

• The Council’s use of going concern basis of accounting is appropriate.

• The Council has provided us with its judgements for its assessment of going concern.

• The disclosure of the going concern basis within the financial statements in satisfactory.

Work performed 

We have considered the financial standing of the Council 
and reviewed management’s assessment of going concern 
and the assumptions and supporting information.

Auditor commentary

• No material uncertainty identified.

• As we note in our commentary on the Council’s financial standing, there was a £0.6m underspend in 2018/19 and 
whilst the General Fund balances have reduced during the year, the closing balances were in line with the target 
level for the year of £10m. The Council has set a balanced budget for 2019/20 and updated its Medium Term 
Financial Strategy to 2022/23. This strategy demonstrates that the Council should have sufficient resources to meet 
its obligations in the medium term.

Concluding comments

The Council’s use of going concern basis of accounting is 
appropriate

Auditor commentary

• Our opinion is expected to be unmodified in respect of the going concern conclusion.

P
age 110



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

15

Other communication requirements
Financial Statements

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

Issue Commentary

 Matters in relation to fraud  We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with Management, Internal Audit the Audit and Risk Management Committee. We have 
not been made aware of any other incidents in the period and no other issues have been identified during the course of our audit
procedures.

 Matters in relation to related 
parties

• We are not aware of any related parties or related party transactions which have not been disclosed. We noted that a number of 
Councillors did not return their declarations of interests in a timely manner and  Council Officers have had to spend considerable time 
following this up. 

 Matters in relation to laws and 
regulations

 You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we have not 
identified any incidences from our audit work. 

 Written representations  A letter of representation has been requested from the Council.

 Confirmation requests from 
third parties  

 We requested from management permission to send confirmation requests to  banks and other institutions in relation to borrowings
and investments. This permission was granted and the requests were sent. The requests were returned with positive confirmation, 

 Disclosures  The Chief Executive’s name was omitted from the draft financial statements Note 33 Officer’s Remuneration table for 2018/19. The
Accounts and Audit Regulations require all officers paid more than £150k to be named in the disclosure note. The omission was
identified at an early stage and has now been corrected, however it is something that should have been identified before the draft 
financial statements were published. 

 We have included a recommendation to ensure this matter is addressed going forward.

 Audit evidence and 
explanations/significant 
difficulties

• Our initial review of the Council’s draft financial statements this year identified a range of issues in terms of unexpected entries, non-
inclusion of expected disclosures and omissions. We also experienced delays in obtaining explanations and working papers for key
entries. A number of revised versions of the financial statement have been produced which has increased the amount of audit testing 
that has been required to agree all of the amendments. 

• Local government financial reporting requirements are complex and demanding. A significant number of amendments have had to be 
made to the Council’s initial draft financial statements this year and it was not initially clear how the requirements of new reporting 
standards introduced had been considered. Looking ahead the financial reporting requirements will continue to be demanding, both in 
terms of known new reporting standards and the nature of the Council’s partnership working including the new Growth Company. 
Looking ahead it is important the Council reviews its financial reporting arrangements to ensure that they continue to be fit for purpose 
and that sufficient and appropriate capacity is in place to produce materially accurate financial statement by the required dates. 
Management has already started to review the position and produced an initial report for consideration by members.

P
age 111



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

16

Other responsibilities under the Code
Financial statements

Issue Commentary

 Other information  We are required to give an opinion on whether the other information published together with the audited financial statements 
(including the Annual Governance Statement, Narrative Report and Pension Fund Financial Statements), is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

No inconsistencies have been identified. We plan to issue an unmodified opinion in this respect – refer to appendix E

 Matters on which we report by 
exception

We are required to report on a number of matters by exception including:

 If the Annual Governance Statement does not meet the disclosure requirements set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE guidance or is 
misleading or inconsistent with the other information of which we are aware from our audit

 If we have applied any of our statutory powers or duties.

We have nothing to report on these matters

 Specified procedures for 
Whole of Government 
Accounts 

We are required to carry out specified procedures (on behalf of the NAO) on the Whole of Government Accounts (WGA) consolidation
pack under WGA group audit instructions. 

As the Council exceeds the specified group reporting threshold of £500m we examine and report on the consistency of the WGA 
consolidation pack with the Council's audited financial statements.

• Note that work is planned to be carried out during September 2019 on the Council’s WGA consolidation.

 Certification of the closure of 
the audit

We are unable to certify the closure of the 2018/19 audit of Wirral Council because our work on the Whole of Government Accounts is not 
yet complete and there are outstanding public challenge issues.

P
age 112



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

17

Value for Money

Risk assessment 
We carried out an initial risk assessment in February 2019 and identified a number of 
significant risks in respect of specific areas of proper arrangements using the 
guidance contained in AGN03. We communicated these risks to you in our Audit Plan 
dated February 2019.

We have continued our review of relevant documents up to the date of giving our 
report, and have not identified any further significant risks where we need to perform 
further work.

We carried out further work only in respect of the significant risks we identified from 
our initial and ongoing risk assessment. Where our consideration of the significant 
risks determined that arrangements were not operating effectively, we have used the 
examples of proper arrangements from AGN 03 to explain the gaps in proper 
arrangements that we have reported in our VFM conclusion.

Value for Money
Background to our VFM approach
We are required to satisfy ourselves that the Council has made proper arrangements for 
securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. This is known as 
the Value for Money (VFM) conclusion. 

We are required to carry out sufficient work to satisfy ourselves that proper arrangements 
are in place at the Council. In carrying out this work, we are required to follow the NAO's 
Auditor Guidance Note 3 (AGN 03) issued in November 2017. AGN 03 identifies one single 
criterion for auditors to evaluate: 

“In all significant respects, the audited body takes properly informed decisions and deploys
resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers and local people.”

This is supported by three sub-criteria, as set out below:

Informed 
decision 
making

Value for 
Money 

arrangements 
criteria

Sustainable 
resource 

deployment

Working 
with partners 
& other third 

parties

P
age 113



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

18

Our work
AGN 03 requires us to disclose our views on significant qualitative aspects of the Council's 
arrangements for delivering economy, efficiency and effectiveness.

We have focused our work on the significant risks that we identified in the Council's 
arrangements. In arriving at our conclusion, our main considerations were:

• The Council’s arrangements for updating, agreeing and monitoring its financial plans, 
including the arrangements in place to monitor the identification, pace, delivery and 
reporting of savings.

• The progress of improvement in the Council’s Children’s Services following the  Ofsted 
Inspection report in September 2016 which rates the service as ‘inadequate’.

We have set out more detail on the risks we identified, the results of the work we 
performed, and the conclusions we drew from this work on pages 18 to 19.

Overall conclusion
Based on the work we performed to address the significant risks, we are satisfied that the 
Council had proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its 
use of resources. 

The text of our report, which confirms this can be found at Appendix E.

Recommendations for improvement
Progress has been made in putting the Council on a firm financial footing 
although significant challenges remain. In setting the budget for 2019/20 the 
Council has significantly reduced the reliance on one-off use of reserves (now 
just £9m). However there has been a significant reduction in available revenue 
reserves over the last few years and there remains a significant budget gap 
going forward. The Director of Finance has introduced a new medium-term 
financial strategy and engaged with members on the challenges faced. Going 
forward it is important that the Council continues to take steps to reduce the 
budget gaps and ensure that available reserves remain appropriate.

Significant difficulties in undertaking our work
We were not able to conclude our audit until we had an opportunity to consider the 
full Ofsted report on the Council’s children's services. The report was published on 
29 July 2019.

Significant matters discussed with management
There were no matters where no other evidence was available or matters of such 
significance to our conclusion or that we required written representation from 
management or those charged with governance. 

Value for Money

Value for Money

P
age 114



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

19

Key findings
We set out below our key findings against the significant risks we identified through our initial risk assessment and further risks identified through our ongoing review of documents. 

Value for Money

Significant risk Findings Conclusion

 Financial Planning and 
sustainability

The Council continues to face an 
increasingly difficult financial 
position. The Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 2017-2021 set 
out a £132m budget gap and in 
July 2018 Cabinet agreed the 
updated Medium Term Financial 
Strategy with a budget gap of 
£45m for 2019/20 and £22m to be 
identified for 2020/21 to 2022/23.

The Council recognises that the 
balanced position in 2017/18 and 
2018/19 have been achieved , in 
part, through the use of “one-off” 
options including the use of 
balances and reserves.

We reviewed the arrangements that are in place for updating, agreeing and monitoring 
the Council’s financial plans including the assumptions within them. We identified that 
that Budget Monitoring Reports are produced and presented to Cabinet on a quarterly 
basis. These reports include updates on revenue and capital budgets and spend.

The reports provide a useful breakdown of each individual earmarked reserve as well as 
the overall forecasted general reserves position as at 31 March 2019. The year end 
outturn report provides an assessment of the adequacy of reserves which considers 
future demands as well as highlighting future risks and opportunities.

The Council agreed a net budget of £300.5m for 2018/19 in March 2018/19 which was 
subsequently amended to £301.9m in Quarter 2, largely due to the increased expenditure 
for the Children’s Services transformation programme of £1.1m. The year end 2018/19 
position shows an underspend for the Council of £0.6m compared to the revised budget. 
This budget included the use of over £26m one-off measures to support the provision of 
services of which £14.3m related to the use of capital receipts.

The general fund balance at March 2019 is £10.7m which is a decrease of £14.2m from 
the closing balance at  March 2018. The Council has set a minimum general fund 
balance of £10m going forward which it considers to be a reasonable level in case of 
unforeseen financial difficulties. Overall available revenue reserves has fallen from 
£106m in March 2015 to £70m at March 2019.

Looking forward, the revised MTFS shows an accumulative budget gap of £67m over the 
four years with expected savings of £45m to be achieved in 2019/20 to balance the 
budget. The Council will no longer be looking to rely on one off funding to meet the 
provision of services. It is however, anticipating income to be generated through the 
Growth Company, with £5m expected to be received in 2019/20.

Auditor view

• We have established that there are 
appropriate arrangements in place for the 
in year reporting and monitoring the 
financial position of both the revenue and 
capital budgets. 

• Whilst the financial challenges facing the 
Council exist, it is clear that there is a five 
year financial plan which aims to tackle 
such challenges.

Management response

• The Council has made significant progress 
in terms of the development of its Medium 
Term Financial Strategy, with further 
improvements planned through a new 
Financial Sustainability Programme.

P
age 115



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

20

Key findings
We set out below our key findings against the significant risks we identified through our initial risk assessment and further risks identified through our ongoing review of documents. 

Value for Money

Significant risk Findings Conclusion

 Ofsted Inspection of Children’s Services

Ofsted issued a report on the Council's children's 
services in September 2016 which rated the service 
as 'inadequate‘. Subsequently, the Council has 
undertaken a range of actions, significantly 
increased funding to the service and worked toward 
securing the required service improvement. Until 
such time as Ofsted has confirmed that adequate 
arrangements are in place this remains a significant 
risk to the Council's arrangements.

We have reviewed the Ofsted monitoring reports received 
during 2018/19 which indicate that there has been a 
steady improvement since the 2016 inadequate rating. 
For example in September 2018 the report disclosed 
“The quality of social work practice in each case was 
effective and making a difference”. The December 2018 
monitoring report stated ‘There has been significant work 
to improve the service offered to all care leavers since 
the inspection in 2016.’

Ofsted have now issued their reinspection/follow up 
report (July 2019). The service is now rated as ‘Requires 
improvement to be good’. The report confirms that 
improvements have been made and a better service for 
children is being delivered. Whilst not all areas have 
improved at the same pace, Ofsted acknowledge that the 
Council has clear plans in place to address this.

Auditor view

• The improvement in Children’s Services  throughout 
2018/19 is clearly demonstrated through the monitoring 
reports and reinspection report.

• We are satisfied that actions are appropriately monitored 
and reported on.

• That there were adequate arrangements in place during 
2018/19.P

age 116



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

21

Other statutory powers and duties

Other statutory powers and duties

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by the Act and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

Issue Commentary

 Objections and Questions at 
audit

 We received an objection to the Council’s 2015/16 accounts in relation to the Council’s Lender Option Borrower Option Borrowing. The 
objector requested that we prepare a public interest report and apply to the courts for a declaration that Wirral Council’s Lender 
Option, Borrower Option borrowing is unlawful. We issued our Provisional views to the objector in May 2019 and have now received a 
response from the objector. We are currently considering the objector’s response before issuing our final decision.

 We have received an objection to the Council’s 2018/19 accounts and also formal questions at audit. We are currently dealing with this 
formal correspondence.

P
age 117



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

22

Independence and ethics
We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 
Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and confirm that we, as a firm, and each covered person, are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 
statements 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered 
person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.

Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2017 which sets out supplementary guidance on ethical 
requirements for auditors of local public bodies.

Details of fees charged are detailed in Appendix D.

Independence and ethics

Audit and Non-audit services
For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Council. No non-audit services were identified which were 
charged from the beginning of the financial year to  23 September 2019, as well as the threats to our independence and safeguards that have been applied to mitigate these threats.

Fees £ Threats identified Safeguards

Audit related

Certification of Housing 
benefits claim

Certification of Teachers’ 
Pension return

17,500 + 
£870 for any 

additional 40+ 
workbook

4,200

Self-Interest (because 
this is a recurring fee)

Self-interest (because 
this is a recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  
for this work is £17,500 in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £123,095 and in particular relative to Grant 
Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These 
factors all mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  
for this work is £4,200 in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £123,095 and in particular relative to Grant 
Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. These 
factors all mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

Non-audit related

CFO Insight 12,500 Self-Interest (because 
this is a recurring fee)

The fee is a subscription. However the fee for this work is small in comparison to the total fee for the audit and 
in particular for Grant Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent 
element to it. These factors all mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level

P
age 118



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

23

Action plan

We have identified two recommendations for the Council as a result of issues identified during the course of our audit this year. We have agreed our recommendations with management 
and we will report on progress on these recommendations during the 2019/20 audit. The matters reported here are limited to those deficiencies that we have identified during the course 
of our audit and that we have concluded are of sufficient importance to merit being reported to you in accordance with auditing standards.

Controls
 High – Significant effect on control system
 Medium – Effect on control system
 Low – Best practice

Appendix A

Assessment Issue and risk Recommendations

  • The  Council’s draft financial statements published on its 
website at the end of May 2019 did not disclose the name of 
the Chief Executive in Note 33 Officers’ Remuneration. The 
Accounts and Audit Regulations require that all senior officers 
who receive remuneration in excess of £150k should be 
named in the disclosure note. The disclosure has now been 
amended.

• The Council should ensure that its quality control arrangements are enhanced to 
ensure that the draft financial statements are compliant with the statutory disclosure 
requirements before they are published as a draft.

Management response

• Quality control over the Statement of Accounts will form part of the Council’s wider 
review of Closedown Processes.

  • As has already identified there is scope to improve the 
Council’s accounts closedown process. The Council should 
complete its review of the closedown arrangements and 
ensure that it has sufficient and appropriately qualified 
resources in place to deliver the draft financial statements that 
require minimal amendment and review. 

• The Council should ensure that it enhances its arrangements for production and 
review of the draft financial statements.

Management response

• Arrangements for the production and review of the Statement of Accounts will form 
part of the Council’s wider review of Closedown Processes.

P
age 119



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

24

Follow up of prior year recommendations

We identified the following issues in the audit of Wirral  Council’s 2017/18 financial statements, which resulted in 2 recommendations being reported in our 2017/18 Audit Findings report.

Appendix B

Assessment Issue and risk previously communicated Update on actions taken to address the issue

  • The Council continues to face a challenging financial position. 
Whilst progress has been made in establishing a new Growth 
Company a significant proportion of the £61m budget gap in 
2018/19 is being met through one-off uses of reserves and 
expected asset sales. This approach cannot continue and 
more needs to be done to put the Council on a firm financial 
footing going forward. It is now critical that action is taken to 
deliver a sustainable and robust financial plan on which the 
Council can operate over the longer term. It is important that 
officers and members work together effectively to make this 
happen.

• Progress has been made in putting the Council on a firm financial footing although 
significant challenges remain. The budget was monitored and reported on a monthly 
basis to maintain an approach of robust financial management throughout the year. 
In setting the budget for 2019/20 the Council has significantly reduced the reliance 
on one-off use of reserves (now just £9m) however there has been a significant 
reduction in available revenue reserves over the last few years and there remains a 
significant budget gap going forward. The Director of Finance has introduced a new 
medium-term financial strategy and engaged with members on the challenges 
faced. Going forward it is important that the Council continues to take steps to 
reduce the budget gaps and ensure that available reserves remain appropriate.

  • The Council’s draft financial statements published on its 
website at the end of May 2018 did not include a draft Annual 
Governance Statement as is required under the Regulations. 
It is important that the Council accelerates its process for 
preparing the Annual Governance Statement going forward to 
ensure a draft is available to be published by the end of May.

• The draft Annual Governance Statement was included in the Council’s draft financial 
statements which were published on its website at the end of May 2019.

Assessment
 Action completed
X Not yet addressed

P
age 120



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

25

Audit Adjustments

We are required to report all non trivial misstatements to those charged with governance, whether or not the accounts have been adjusted by management. 

Impact of adjusted misstatements
All adjusted misstatements are set out in detail below along with the impact on the key statements and the reported net expenditure for the year ending 31 March 2019.  

Detail
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement £‘000

Statement of Financial 
Position £’ 000

Impact on total net 
expenditure £’000

1 Pensions adjustment for the impact of the McCloud ruling
Re-measurement of the net pension liability

Cost of Services11,093

Remeasurement of the Net Pension liability 
5,610

Pension liability (16,703)

Pension reserve 16,703

16,703

2 Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) accounting reversal
The capital adjustment account has been increased by 
£25,981 reversing the impact of the re-assessment of the past 
provision of the MRP charge. 

Useable reserves (25,981)

Unusable reserves 25,981

Overall impact £16,703 £16,703 £16,703

Appendix C

P
age 121



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

26

Audit Adjustments

We are required to report all non trivial misstatements to those charged with governance, whether or not the accounts have been adjusted by management. 

Disclosure omission Detail Auditor recommendations Adjusted?

Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure 
Statement

• Additional narrative disclosed to explain the restatement of the 
2017/18 figures. This is due to re-presenting the statement to 
align with the Directorate format adopted by the Council for 
monitoring financial performance during 2018/19.

• A note to accompany the restatement has been added to the 
Notes to the financial statements (Note 49)

• Where statements have been restated, explanations should 
be disclosed.

Yes

Movement in Reserves 
Statement

 A total general fund balance column has been added

 The statement has been adjusted for the MPR reversal and 
pensions adjustments following the McCloud ruling

 This enables the reader to understand the total general fund 
balance at the year end.

 Material adjustments amended

Yes

Balance Sheet  Long term liabilities have been increased by £16.7m for the 
pension adjustments following the McCloud ruling.

 Useable reserves have been reduced by £26m and Unusable 
reserves increased by £9.3m which is the net impact of the MRP 
reversal and increase in pension liability.

 Material adjustments amended Yes

Cash Flow Statement  The movement of £11.1m between the net surplus/deficit on the 
provision of services and non – cash movements  for the pension 
adjustments.

 Material adjustments amended Yes

Accounting Policies  Additional disclosures included to explain the implications of 
IFRS 9 and 15

 Disclosures as required by the Code Yes

Misclassification and disclosure changes
The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements. 

Appendix C

P
age 122



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

27

Audit Adjustments

Disclosure omission Detail Auditor recommendations Adjusted?

Accounting Policies –
PFI

• Additional information added to explain the Wirral Schools’ PFI 
scheme

• Disclosures as required by the Code Yes

Material Items of 
Income and Expense

 Additional disclosures to include the impact of the McCloud ruling 
on the pension liabilities and the sale of Acre Land Professional 
Excellence Centre

 To bring to attention to the reader significant items of income 
and expenditure

Yes

Note 8 Adjustments 
between accounting 
basis and funding basis 
under regulations

 The note has been adjusted for the reversal of the MRP re-
profiling reserve and the narrative removed for the explanation 
for the inclusion of the reserve

 The correction of the MRP over-provision for the prior 
periods.

Yes

Note 9 Expenditure and 
Funding Analysis

 Adjustments made for MRP reversal and pensions adjustments 
following the McCloud ruiing.

 Material adjustments amended Yes

Note 10 Transfers 
to/(from) Earmarked 
General Fund Reserves

 Removal of the Debt reprofiling reserve following the reversal of 
the MRP accounting treatment

 Material adjustment amended Yes

Note 33 Officer 
remuneration

 The inclusion of the name of the Chief Executive, Eric Robinson 
within the remuneration table.

 Statutory requirement to name the Chief Executive Yes

Note 34 External Audit 
Costs

 The addition of the fees incurred for non audit services provided 
(CFO Insights subscription)

 Disclosures as required by the Code Yes

Appendix C

P
age 123



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

28

Fees

Proposed fee Final fee 2017/18 fee

Council Audit £123,095 £123,095 £159,863

Additional audit fees to be agreed with the Director of Finance 
and Investment and approval of PSAA
• McCloud issues

• Additional audit work involved in auditing the pensions 
disclosures

• Additional audit work involved in auditing the Council’s 
assets revaluations

• Additional unplanned audit work due to amendments to the 
draft financial statements

£3,000

£3,000

£3,000

£7,000

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) £123,095 £139,095 £159,863

Non Audit Fees

Fees for other services
Fees 
£‘000

Audit related services:

Certification of claims and returns 29

Non-audit services

CFO Insights 13

42

Appendix D

We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit

Audit Fees

The additional fees are subject to approval by Public Sector Audit Appointments Ltd

P
age 124



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

29

Audit opinion

We anticipate we will provide the Council with an unmodified audit report

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Wirral Council

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Wirral Council (the ‘Authority’) for the year ended 31 

March 2019 which comprise the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, Movement 

in Reserves Statement the Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement, and all notes to the 

financial statements, including the significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 

framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC 

code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

 give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Authority as at 31 March 2019 and 

of its expenditure and income and the Authority’s expenditure and income for the year 

then ended; 

 have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on 

local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 

and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are 

independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 

audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have 

fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 

the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 

opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) 

require us to report to you where:

 the Director of Finance and Investment’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 

in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or

 the Director of Finance and Investment has not disclosed in the financial statements 

any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the  

Authority’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a 

period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 

authorised for issue.

Other information

The Director of Finance and Investment is responsible for the other information. The other 

information comprises the information included in the Statement of Accounts, the Narrative 

Report and the Annual Governance Statement other than the financial statements and, our 

auditor’s report thereon and our auditor’s report on the pension fund statements.  Our opinion 

on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent 

otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 

thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 

information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the financial statements or our knowledge of the Authority obtained in the audit or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or 

apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 

misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, 

based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of 

this other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Appendix E

P
age 125



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

30

Other information we are required to report on by exception under the Code of Audit Practice

Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller 

and Auditor General (the Code of Audit Practice) we are required to consider whether the Annual 

Governance Statement does not comply with the ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government:  

Framework (2016)’ published by CIPFA and SOLACE or is misleading or inconsistent with the 

information of which we are aware from our audit. We are not required to consider whether the Annual 

Governance Statement addresses all risks and controls or that risks are satisfactorily addressed by 

internal controls. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matter required by the Code of Audit Practice

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the financial statements and 

our knowledge of the Authority gained through our work in relation to the Authority’s arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources, the other information published 

together with the financial statements in the Statement of Accounts, the Narrative Report and the 

Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is 

consistent with the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:

 we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 

2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

 we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

 we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law 

under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the 

conclusion of the audit; or; 

 we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in 

the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability 

Act 2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

Responsibilities of the Authority, the Director of Finance and Investment and Those 

Charged with Governance for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities set out on page 20, the Authority is 

required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to 

secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  In 

this authority, that officer is the Director of Finance and Investment. The Director of Finance 

and Investment is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of Accounts, which includes 

the financial statements, in accordance with proper practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC 

code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19, for being 

satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as Director of Finance 

and Investment determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Director of Finance and Investment is responsible for 

assessing the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless there 

is an intention by government that the services provided by the Authority will no longer be 

provided.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those 

charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Authority’s financial reporting 

process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 

but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect 

a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on 
the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report

Appendix E

Audit opinion

P
age 126



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

DRAFT

31

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - Conclusion on the 
Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources

Conclusion 

On the basis of our work, having regard to the guidance on the specified criterion issued by the 

Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2017, we are satisfied that the Authority put in place proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 

ended 31 March 2019.

Responsibilities of the Authority 

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources, to ensure proper stewardship and governance, and to review 

regularly the adequacy and effectiveness of these arrangements.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the review of the Authority’s arrangements for securing economy, 

efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources

We are required under Section 20(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that 

the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use 

of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the 

Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are 

operating effectively.

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard to the 
guidance on the specified criterion issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in November 2017, as 
to whether in all significant respects the Authority had proper arrangements to ensure it took properly 
informed decisions and deployed resources to achieve planned and sustainable outcomes for taxpayers 
and local people. The Comptroller and Auditor General determined this criterion as that necessary for us to 
consider under the Code of Audit Practice in satisfying ourselves whether the Authority put in place proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year 
ended 31 March 2019.

We planned our work in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice. Based on our risk assessment, we 

undertook such work as we considered necessary to be satisfied that the Authority has put in place proper 

arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - Delay in 
certification of completion of the audit

We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate in accordance with the 

requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice 

until we have completed the work necessary to issue our Whole of Government Accounts 

(WGA) Component Assurance statement for the Authority for the year ended 31 March 2019. 

We are satisfied that this work does not have a material effect on the financial statements or on 

our conclusion on the Authority’s arrangement for securing economy, efficiency and 

effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2019.

We cannot formally conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for the Authority for the 

year ended 31 March 2019 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 

Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice until we have completed our 

consideration of objections brought to our attention by local authority electors.   We are 

satisfied that this matter does not have a material effect on the financial statements or on our 

conclusion on the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness 

in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 2019.

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 

5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of the 

Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit 

Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 

Authority’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and 

for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 

responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our 

audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

To be signed

Robin Baker, Key Audit Partner

for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor

Liverpool

To be dated 

Appendix E

Audit opinion

P
age 127



DRAFT

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Wirral Council  |  2018/19 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 128



Wirral Council 

Statement of Accounts 

2018/19

31 July 2019

P
age 129



Contents

1. NARRATIVE 

REPORT 

Narrative Report from 

the Director of 

Finance and 

Investment 

Pages 5 - 19

Statement of 

Responsibilities for 

the Statement of 

Accounts

Page 20  

Independent Auditors 

Report 

Page 21

Annual Governance 

Statement 2018/19

Pages 22 - 41

2. CORE FINACIAL 

STATEMENTS 

Comprehensive 

Income and 

Expenditure 

Statement 

Page 43

Movement in 

Reserves Statement 

Page 44

Balance Sheet

Pages 45 - 46

Cash Flow Statement 

Page 47

3. NOTES TO THE 

CORE FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

Notes to the Core 

Financial Statements

Pages 48 – 161

Notes Index

Page 3

4. ADDITIONAL 

FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

Collection Fund 

Pages 162 - 164

Notes to the 

Collection Fund 

Pages 165 - 172

5. GLOSSARY 

Glossary of Terms 

Pages 217 - 221

5. MERSEYSIDE 

PENSION FUND 

ACCOUNTS

Merseyside Pension 

Fund Accounts 

Pages 173 - 176

Notes to the 

Merseyside Pension 

Fund Accounts 

Pages 177 - 210

Statement by the 

Consulting Actuary 

Pages 211 - 216

P
age 130



Contents
NOTES INDEX

Note title Number Page Note title Number Page

Accounting Policies Note 1 49-64 Cash Flow Statement - Operating Activities Note 26 111

Accounting Standards Issued But Not Yet Adopted Note 2 65 Cash Flow Statement - Investing Activities Note 27 112

Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies Note 3 66 Cash Flow Statement - Financing Activities Note 28 113

Assumptions Made about the Future and Other Major 

Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

Note 4 67 Expenditure and Income analysed by Nature Note 29 114

Material Items of Income and Expense Note 5 68 Trading Account Note 30 116

Exceptional Items Note 6 68 Pooled Budgets Note 31 117

Events After the Balance Sheet Date Note 7 68 Members’ Allowances Note 32 118

Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding 

Basis under Regulations

Note 8 69-70 Officers’ Remuneration Note 33 119-122

Expenditure and Funding Analysis Note 9 71-73 External Audit Costs Note 34 123

Transfers to/from Earmarked General Fund Reserves Note 10 74-79 Dedicated Schools Grant Note 35 124-125

Other Operating Expenditure Note 11 80 Grant Income Note 36 126-128

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure Note 12 81 Related Party Transactions Note 37 129-130

Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income Note 13 82 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing Note 38 131

Property, Plant and Equipment Note 14 83-85 Leases Note 39 132-133

Heritage Assets Note 15 86-88 Private Finance Initiative and Similar Contracts Note 40 134-137

Investment Properties Note 16 89-90 Long Term Debtors Note 41 138

Intangible Assets Note 17 91 Other Long Term Liabilities Note 42 139

Financial Instruments Note 18 92-98 Pension Schemes Accounted for as Defined 

Contribution Schemes

Note 43 140

Debtors Note 19 99 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes Note 44 140-152

Cash and Cash Equivalents Note 20 100 Trust Funds Note 45 153

Assets Held for Sale Note 21 101 Contingent Assets and Liabilities Note 46 154

Creditors Note 22 102 Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from 

Financial Instruments

Note 47 155-159

Provisions Note 23 103-104 Involvement with Companies Note 48 160

Useable Reserves Note 24 105 Restatement of 2017/18 Cost of Services Note 49 161

Unusable Reserves Note 25 106-110

P
age 131



1
Narrative 

Report

P
age 132



1. WIRRAL

Wirral is a unique place, a combination of
beautiful, rural countryside alongside cutting
edge technology and advanced
manufacturing industries, it has a long and
storied history of entrepreneurialism and
culture. In a compact peninsula of 60 square
miles, the borough has a wealth of parks
and countryside and over 20 miles of
coastline.

Home to 321,238, Wirral has a relatively
high older population and a relatively low
proportion of people in their twenties and
thirties compared to England and Wales as
a whole. The older population (aged 65
years and above) are expected to increase
at a faster rate than any other age group
over the next decade.

This report provides a short summary of the
Council’s overall financial and non financial
achievements for the year. Whilst plain
language has been used wherever possible,
technical language is required in some
areas. To assist with understanding of the
accounts a glossary of financial terms has
been included at the end of the Statement of
Accounts.

The Statement of Accounts sets out the
financial performance of the Council for the
2018/19 financial year and shows the year-
end financial position at 31 March 2019.

The Narrative Report, whilst emphasising
2018/19, also covers the ability of the
Council to provide sustainable services to
meet the needs of local residents and sets
out how Wirral works with its local partners
to improve the prosperity of the area.

2. WIRRAL PLAN: A 2020 VISION REVIEW
OF THE YEAR

In July 2015, Wirral Council unanimously
agreed a new plan for the Council (The
Wirral Plan), containing ’20 Pledges for
2020’. This Plan was subsequently adopted
by all partners, who committed for the first
time to working together towards a shared
set of outcomes and goals. The Wirral Plan
is structured around three core themes:
People, Environment and Business. The
Wirral Plan can be found on our website:
www.wirral.gov.uk/wirralplan. This has been
further developed by a suite of underpinning
strategies which guide and drive the delivery
of the Wirral Plan.

These strategies are all developed and
agreed at a partnership level, with their
focus and goals shared by all appropriate
agencies in the public, private and third
sectors.

The emphasis of the Statement of Accounts
which follows this narrative report is upon
the financial performance of the Council.
This needs to be considered in conjunction
with the provision by the Council of a range
of services which are in line with both the
needs of the local area and our statutory
obligations.

Performance this year has been positive,
with major progress being made in many
areas. Challenges remain, in such areas as
children’s services in particular, but it is clear
that the 20 Pledges are making a positive
impact on the lives of Wirral residents.

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and 
Investment

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 5

P
age 133

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/wirralplan


Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 6

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

The Wirral Plan priorities in 2018/19 have been:

People Business Environment

Wirral is a place where the vulnerable are safe 

and protected, every child gets a good start in 

life and older residents are respected and 

valued.

Wirral is a place where employers want to 

invest and businesses thrive.

Wirral has an attractive and sustainable 

environment, where good health and an 

excellent quality of life is enjoyed by 

everyone who lives here.

1. Older people live well

2. Children are ready for work and adulthood

3. Children are ready for School 

4. Vulnerable children reach their full potential

5. Reduce child and family poverty

6. People with disabilities live independently.

7. Zero tolerance to domestic violence.

8. Greater job opportunities in Wirral

9. Workforce skills match business need

10. Increase inward investment

11.Thriving small businesses

12.Transport and technology infrastructure fit 

for the future

13.Transport and buildings are fit for 

purpose

14.Assets and buildings are fit for purpose

15.Leisure and cultural opportunities for 

all

16.Wirral residents live healthier lives

17.Community services are joined up and 

accessible

18.Good quality housing that meets the 

needs of residents

19.Wirral’s neighborhoods are safe

20.Attractive local environments for Wirral 

residents

P
age 134



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 7

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

The Wirral Plan achievements in 2018/19 have been:

People Business Environment

• The Employment rate for those aged 16-64 

with a Work Limiting Disability increased in 

2018 to its highest level since the Wirral Plan 

began (49%), up 11.5 percentage points.

• 70.5% of Foundation stage children achieved 

a good level of development (GLD) which has 

surpassed a milestone (70%) that has been 

worked towards for the last 3 years. The 

progress in this area received favourable 

comment during the recent OfSted visit.

• The Plan to establish a pre-birth Liaison 

meeting has been successfully delivered, to 

provide more effective early intervention and 

support for parents and children.

• The promise to deliver a Sufficiency Strategy 

has been delivered and approved at cabinet. 

This will ensure a good supply of high quality 

accommodation and excellent aspirational 

care in the borough for children and young 

people who are looked after.

• £45k worth of funding has been secured to 

reduce Parental Conflict by engaging 

partners and strategic leads and providing 

training to practitioners. This aims to reduce 

the negative impact of parental conflict on 

children.

• Since the start of the Wirral Plan 4,045 jobs 

have been created and safeguarded: 81% of 

2020 target of 5,000 has been achieved

• Employment rate continues on an upward 

trajectory with all-time high of 74.5% compared 

to 66.7% at the start of the Wirral Plan.

• Wirral hotel occupancy increase from 77.75% 

to 80.6% in 2017

• 3,889sqm more Commercial Asset Space has 

become available for release since the start of 

the Wirral Plan. 39,600sqm is now available, 

compared to 5,711sqm in 2015-16

• Corporate emissions of Carbon Dioxide due to 

commercial use have reduced by 5,536 tonnes 

since Wirral Plan start, down to 26,463 tonnes 

from 31,999 tonnes in 2015/16

• £5.6m of capital receipts have been generated 

by 2018/19, compared to £1.28m at plan start

• The number of people killed or seriously injured 

in road traffic collisions has improved by 29% 

since the start of the plan in 2014-15 and by 

22% compared to last year

• Wirral received the Best Performer 

Award for Parks, Open Spaces and 

Horticulture at the 2018 National APSE

• 2018 Imagine Wirral programme 

estimated economic impact of over 

£4million with over 600 volunteers during 

2018.

• 226 people helped to lose weight

• The community connectors continue to 

thrive with numbers entering 

volunteering, education and employment 

increasing month by month.

• A cumulative total of 370 affordable 

homes, which includes 209 Help to Buy 

units were completed by the end of 

quarter 4

• 30% reduction in reports of anti-social 

behaviour

• Love Where You Live campaign has 

become fully established and well 

supported with a range of volunteer 

groups and individuals fully engaged.

P
age 135



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 8

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

Over the four years since the Wirral Plan was

agreed the Council has changed significantly

and work continues to progress the priorities

it contains through the implementation of the

20 pledges. The Wirral partnership is now

embedded with integration projects such as

the provision of integrated health and social

care helping older residents live healthy and

independent lives and the commissioning of

services with the Wirral NHS Clinical

Commissioning Group.

The Council has continued during 2018/19 to

work to increase investment in the area

through the Wirral Growth Company, working

in partnership with the urban regeneration

company Muse. Further work will occur in

2019/20 on the advancement of a number of

sites that will, it is planned, result in new

commercial and residential developments.

Children’s Services has recently been re-

inspected by Ofsted. The outcome has been

positive and the service is no longer judged to

be inadequate. The full report is available to

view on the Ofsted website:

https://files.api.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50096454

The Council is a member of the Liverpool City

Region Combined Authority. The Authority’s

purpose is to bring about closer partnership

working to lead large-scale City-regional

strategies on transport, housing, economic

development and skills.

Political Structure

Wirral Council is made up of 66 locally

elected Councillors across 22 electoral wards.

The political composition of the Council at the

end of 2018/19 was:

Labour – 34 seats

Conservative – 21 seats

Liberal Democrats – 5 seats

Independent - 5

The Green Party – 1 seat

Council Structures and Operating Model

The Council employs over 3,000 people in full

time and part time posts. The Council’s

workforce generally reflects the population of

the residents within Wirral. Led by The Chief

Executive and Senior Leadership Team, the

Council had the following operational

structure during the year:

• Strategy and Partnerships: The Strategic

Hub works to deliver outcomes, with

overall accountability for the leadership,

direction and effective delivery of the Wirral

plan and related delivery strategies. This

area includes intelligence, Wirral Together,

Communication, Strategy and Public

Health.

• Business Management: Enables the

effective and efficient functioning of the

Council and the services it commissions as

well as supporting and leading

organisational change. Business

Management includes Change and

Organisational Design, Governance and

Assurance, Commercial Management,

Merseyside Pension Fund, Finance and

Investment, Customer Services and Digital.

• Delivery Services: provides high quality,

affordable services within budget – using

the most appropriate model. Delivery

services include Community Services,

Place Services, Safer Wirral Hub,

Highways, Associated Services and

Assets.

• Economic and Housing Growth: this

area includes Regeneration and Inward

Investment, Culture and Visitor Economy,

Major Growth Projects and Housing

Delivery.

• Adult Care and Health: The care and

health function has responsibility for

development of integrated services with

health and other partners. It is also

responsible for commissioning and contract

management of those services. This

includes Integrated Commissioning

Programme and Health and Care

Outcomes.

P
age 136

https://files.api.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50096454


Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 9

• Children’s Services: Delivers a wide
range of specialist and targeted services
for children in relation to social care,
safeguarding, early help and
prevention. During 2018/19, the
following schools converted to
Academies: Town Lane Infants, Portland
Primary, Woodslee Primary, St Joseph's
(Birkenhead) Catholic Primary,
Christchurch CE Primary (Moreton) and
Church Drive Primary.

All Council functions work together to
forward the themes and pledges set out in
Wirral Plan. Further details of the Council’s
operating model can be found on the
Council website:

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-
council/contact-us/departments-wirral-
council

3. REVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR

Revenue Expenditure and Income

Revenue expenditure and income generally
relates to those items that are used within
the year on the provision of services to the
people of Wirral. Before the start of the
financial year, the Council prepares its

annual Budget, which sets out the income
and expenditure required during the year to
provide services. In March 2018 the Council
agreed a net budget of £300.5 million for
2018/19. It included a package of financial
proposals including the use of over £26
million one off funding to support the budget
for the provision of services. The Budget
was regularly reviewed and was revised
upwards by £1.4 million during the year.
The revised budget for 2018/19 was £301.9
million.

The net spend of the Council is met from a
combination of Government Grants, the
local taxpayer through Council Tax and
other income. In 2018/19, the budget was
supported by the Council Tax which for
2018/19 was increased by 5.99%, 3% of
this being allocated to fund an increase in
Adult Social Care, with the band D Council
Tax charge increasing to £1,733.70.

Comparison of the Budget with the Out-
turn

Throughout the year spend against the
approved Budget was monitored and
reported on a monthly basis to maintain an
approach of robust financial management
to ensure the maintenance of services.
Since setting the budget in early 2018 the
financial outlook remained challenging. In
year action was taken in response to the
ongoing financial pressures facing the
Council as reported during the year via
regular monitoring. Where a projected
overspend was identified in year, the
specific Directorate was required to develop
mitigating actions and interventions to
manage the pressure on their areas budget.
At the end of 2018/19 the Revenue Out-
turn showed an underspend of £0.6 million.

During the year the following major issues
impacted upon the out-turn (information is
shown on the following page):

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

5.99% Increase 

in Council Tax

P
age 137

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-council/contact-us/departments-wirral-council


Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 10

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

Overview of 2018/19 Financial 
Performance by Directorate 

Directorate Reasons for variances from budget 2018/19 Budget

£’000

2018/19 

Outturn

£’000

Variance 

£’000

Economic & 

Housing Growth 

Local Plan and Wirral Growth Company pressures developed in year. 

Funded from the use of one-off funding and reserves. 

25,557 25,557 -

Delivery 

Services 

Overspend reflected the non-achievement of savings. 65,833 67,080 (1,247)

Strategy & 

Partnerships -

A number of variances have been managed within the directorate budget. 18,236 18,236 -

Adult Care & 

Health

Pressures on Adult Social Care have been contained through actions to 

managed demand related costs. 

91,871 91,871 -

Children’s 

Services 

Pressures in Social Care have been managed through the phasing of 

staffing changes. Additional costs in relation to schools have been 

reserve funded. 

89,571 89,571 -

Business 

Management 

Significant savings on Treasury Management activities. 10,797 8,950 1,847

Overall Underspend 301,865 301,265 600

P
age 138



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 11

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

The financial proposals contained in the 2018/19 budget, delivered

by the Council during the year, tracked through financial monitoring,

have partly offset the impact of continued reduction in government

funding. At the end of the year the General Fund balances were

slightly above the target level for the year of £10 million. The

balances were supplemented in the year by the addition of

earmarked reserves and collection fund surplus.

As part of setting the budget for 2019/20 specific pressures have

been recognised and further funding has been allocated to mitigate

them. There remain on-going budget pressures and where these

have been identified, and will be closely monitored where

appropriate.

The actual net cost of services links to the net expenditure

chargeable against the General Fund and is shown in the

Expenditure and Funding Analysis (note 9). It provides a link

between the funding basis that is reported for management decision

making and the statutory accounting basis as reported in the

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE AND INCOME

Capital expenditure is different from revenue expenditure on day- to-

day running cost of services. It is investment in services and the

area (such as buildings, roads and land) that will provide benefits

over more than one year. The capital programme, due to take place

over several years to 2022 is over £125 million.

During the year the Capital Programme was subject to regular

monitoring and review. This saw several schemes being re-profiled

into 2018/19 and future years as a result of a review of the original

project timescales, which needed to be replaced with revised ones

as the projects progressed. In 2018/19 £48.5 million was spent on

capital projects (2017/18 £46.8 million). The spending and how that

spending was funded are shown in the tables:

Spend by Wirral Plan Theme

Actual Spend Share

£million %

Adult Care and Health 0.8 2

Business Management 8.2 17

Children's Services 16.3 34
Delivery Services 12.9 26
Economic and Housing Growth 10.3 21
Total 48.5 100

Funding by Source Actual Funding Share

£ million %

Borrowing 19.4 40

Grants 14.8 30

Capital Receipts 14.3 30

Total 48.5 100

P
age 139



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 12

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

During the year there was expenditure on

programmes for highways improvements

(£6.4 million) and schools (£5.5 million).

This was in addition to major investment

on:

• The Strategic Asset Programme

purchase of Birkenhead Market and the

Vue Cinema.

• Housing improvements such as aids,

adaptions and disabled facilities grants.

• IT improvements such as upgrading data

storage systems and hardware.

• Council buildings refurbishments to

ensure better occupancy and enable

building release for sale.

• Improvements to school buildings

including the provision of new primary

places.

• Transformation of Children’s social care

through the use of the flexible use of

capital receipts.

£6.4million on Highways 

Improvements 

P
age 140



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 13

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

Summary of the Balance Sheet

The Balance Sheet at 31 March 2019 shows

a net liability position of £91.3 million

(2017/18 a net liability position of £34.2

million). The net worth of the Council,

excluding the Pensions Liability is £448.1

million (2017/18 £423.1 million). The

movement for 2018/19 is due to the increase

in the Council’s liability to pay future

pensions. The negative net worth does not

impact on the going concern basis upon

which the accounts are prepared. This is

because the liability for pensions will be

deferred over a number of years. The

Council has reviewed the Council’s financial

performance for 2018/19 and Budget for

2019/20 and considers that the Council may

be viewed as a going concern.

The most significant item in the Balance

Sheet is the requirement for the Council to

recognise its estimated Pension Liability. This

is valued using an actuarial valuation and

can fluctuate dependent upon external

factors. The 2018/19 Pension Liability is

£539.4 million (2017/18 £457.3 million). This

includes additional pension costs of £16.7m

in 2018/19, reflecting the expected

implications of a recent court ruling on age

discrimination (see note 3). Details of the

Pensions Liability can be found in note 44

and in the section on Retirement Benefits

below.

March 2019 

Non - Current 

Assets

Property, plant & 

equipment, 

heritage assets, 

investment 

property & 

intangibles 

£686.7m

Long term 

investments 

£1.6m

Long term 

debtors 

£35.3m

Current Assets

Debtors & Cash

£95.6m

Current 

Liabilities

Short Term 

Creditors, 

Borrowing & 

Provisions

£163.7m

Non – Current 

Liabilities

Borrowing 

£164.5m

Other long term 

liabilities 

£578.9m

Provisions &

capital grants 

£3.2m

Net Liability Position

£91.3million 

Non - Current 

Assets

Property, plant & 

equipment, 

heritage assets, 

investment 

property & 

intangibles 

£644.4m

Long term 

investments £1.3m

Long term debtors 

£38m

Current Assets

Debtors, Assets 

held for sale, & 

cash

£126.3m

Current 

Liabilities

Short Term 

Creditors, 

Borrowing & 

Provisions

£170.3m

Non – Current 

Liabilities

Borrowing 

£171.5m

Other long term 

liabilities 

£499.7m

Provisions &

capital grants 

£2.6m

Net Liability Position

£34.2million 

March 2018 

P
age 141



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 14

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

Property and Other Assets

The revaluation of property, plant and

equipment now takes place with sufficient

regularity to ensure that the carrying

amount does not differ materially from fair

value at the end of the financial year. In

total the Council had an asset portfolio

valued at £686.7 million at 31 March 2019

(2017/18 £644.4 million). A breakdown of

the value of the asset portfolio is provided in

notes 14 to 17 to the accounts and note 21

to the accounts.

Investments

Total investments, including cash and cash

equivalents at 31 March 2019 were £12.5

million (2017/18 £27.7 million). This is made

up of long term investments of £1.6 million

and short term investments of £11.0 million.

Throughout 2018/19, as in previous years,

the over-riding approach was one of

security and liquidity with reduced

investment returns being the acceptable

consequence of this approach. Further

details are contained in note 18.

Debtors

Debtors are classified as long-term or short-

term debtors and the balance at 31 March

2019 was £93.0 million (2017/18 £101.9

million). The long-term debt includes £26.8

million in respect of the former Merseyside

County Council, which is managed by

Wirral Council (2017/18 £31.3 million). A

breakdown of the debtor balances can be

found in notes 19 and 41 to the accounts.

Creditors

Creditors at 31 March 2019 were £57.1

million (2017/18 £62.6 million). A breakdown

can be found in note 22 to the accounts.

Borrowing

In managing borrowing levels the aims are

to reduce the overall exposure to interest

rate movements, to lower long-term interest

charges paid and smooth the maturity

profile without compromising longer-term

stability. In addition to funding the capital

programme borrowing also takes place to

manage and resource the Council’s day to

day cash requirements. These can arise

from a number of sources from paying

suppliers to the repayment of long term

loans. The Council’s Treasury Management

policy, addresses both short term cash flow

requirements and longer term borrowing for

capital purposes. The policy seeks to

minimise borrowing costs by taking account

of available interest rates and the maturity

profile.

The major sources of funding for Council

borrowing have traditionally been private

sector institutions (banks and building

societies) and the Public Works Loans

Board (PWLB). As part of effective treasury

management, opportunities presented by

the market to generate interest savings are

pursued and this pro-active management is

undertaken in line with approved

Government and statutory guidance

contained within The Code of Practice for

Treasury Management in Public Services.

At 31 March 2019 short-term borrowing

totalled £94.2 million (2017/18 £95.3

million). The demand for borrowing has in

part come from the capital programme as

spend has been incurred in 2018/19. The

Council has delayed new long term

borrowing to minimise interest payments.

As a result of this temporary borrowing has

been utilised. At 31 March 2019 long-term

borrowing totalled £164.5 million (2017/18

£171.5 million). This debt was with financial

institutions and the Public Works Loans

Board with repayments being spread over a

range of maturity dates. This also includes

the debt of the former Merseyside County

Council which Wirral manages on behalf of

the other local authorities and agencies

within the former Merseyside County

Council area.

P
age 142



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 15

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

Retirement Benefits

All Councils fully adopt the accounting

policies contained within International

Accounting Standard 19 “Employee

Benefits”. The principle behind IAS19 is that

an organisation should account for

retirement benefits when it is committed to

pay them, even if the actual payment will be

many years in the future.

The majority of non-teaching staff who work

for the Council are members of the

Merseyside Pension Fund. This Fund is

administered by Wirral Council on behalf of

the Merseyside Councils as well as over

170 other employing organisations. The

figures included in the Statement of

Accounts are based on the latest full

valuation of the scheme as at 31 March

2014 and the IAS 19 actuarial report as at

31 March 2019, presented by Mercers, the

independent firm of actuaries who value the

Fund.

The actuaries have estimated the Council’s

underlying long-term commitment to pay

retirement benefits to be £539.4 million at

31 March 2019 (2017/18 £457.3 million),

which is an increase of £82.1 million. This

change has primarily resulted from a

change in actuarial assumptions on the

Consumer Price Index (CPI) and pay

inflation, but also includes £16.7m in

relation to the recent court ruling on age

discrimination (see note 3). This is

expanded upon in the Merseyside Pension

Fund Accounts contained within this

Statement and the Merseyside Pension

Fund Annual Report.

The recognition of this Pension Liability in

the Council accounts has a substantial

effect on the net worth of the Council and it

is important to note that this change reflects

the actuarial valuations and is not an

immediate demand upon the Council’s

resources. The statutory arrangements for

funding the deficit will see the deficit made

good by increased contributions over the

remaining life of working employees as

assessed by the scheme actuary. The

contributions are reviewed every three

years as part of the triennial revaluation of

the Pension Fund and an investment

strategy is then determined, which aims to

recover the deficit over a stated period

(presently 25 years). Funding from the

Council is only required to cover

discretionary benefits when the pensions

are actually paid.

Balances and Reserves

The Council uses a localised approach to

determining an appropriate level of

balances. This approach takes account of

the strategic, operational and financial risks

being faced by the Council with particular

risks relating to legislative changes, inflation

and the delivery of the budget savings.

The Council held Useable Reserves of

£87.4 million at 31 March 2019 (2017/18

£95.8 million), consisting of Earmarked

Reserves of £59.6 million (2017/18 £54.9

million), General Fund Balances of £10.7

million (2017/18 £24.9million), Capital

Receipts of £0.9 million (2017/18 £1.7

million) and unapplied Capital Grants of

£16.3 million (2017/18 £14.4 million). A

breakdown of the Useable Reserves can be

found in the Movement in Reserves

Statement and note 24, with more details

on the Earmarked Reserves found in note

10 to the accounts.

The Council also held a net credit balance

in Unusable Reserves of £178.7 million at

31 March 2019 (2017/18 credit £130.0

million). These are kept to manage statutory

accounting processes and do not provide

any useable resources to the Council.

Further information on the Unusable

Reserves can be found in note 25 to the

accounts.

P
age 143



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 16

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

Net Assets

The Net Assets of the Council are held in

the Useable or Unusable Reserve balances

within the Balance Sheet. Useable

Reserves can be applied, subject to any

statutory limitations on their use, to fund

revenue or capital spending. Unusable

reserves are not available to fund services

and include the Pensions Reserve, which

reflects the changes to the net defined

benefit liability and the Capital Adjustment

Account, which includes both the value of

assets written-off on disposal or sale and

the value of school assets transferring to

Academies.

The Useable Reserves are regularly

reviewed to assess whether they are

adequate for the purpose intended and

whether the sums involved are still required.

At 31 March 2019 the major Useable

reserves were in respect of the Business

Rates Equalisation £8.7 million (2017/18

£10.3 million), School balances £8.9 million

(2017/18 £10.2 million), which are ring-

fenced for use by schools, the Insurance

Fund £8.6 million (2016/17 £7.6 million).

5. CASH FLOW STATEMENT

The Statement shows the changes in cash

and cash equivalents of the Council during

the financial year.

6. COLLECTION FUND

This Fund is maintained separately from the

Council’s General Fund to specifically

record income and expenditure associated

with Council Tax and National Non Domestic

Rates (Business Rates). The Council during

2018/19 was part of the Liverpool City

Region 100% Business Rates Retention

Pilot. This is an arrangement approved by

the Ministry of Housing, Communities and

Local Government (MHCLG) in 2017 and

agreed by all Merseyside Councils in

addition to Halton Council. Under the

arrangement the Council has retained the

Government’s share of business rates, with

certain grant payments such as Revenue

Support Grant ceasing but being

compensated for via the higher percentage

of business rates retention. The aim of the

pilot is to allow the retention of business rate

growth and shadow the operation of the full

retention scheme. Under the pilot rates

income is collected and apportioned

between Wirral Council (99%) and

Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service (1%).

The Collection Fund had an in year surplus

of £2.4 million for 2018/19 (£6.9 million

deficit 2017/18). The accumulated year-end

balance at 31 March 2019 was a surplus of

£1 million (£1.4 million deficit 2017/18).

More detail is contained in the Additional

Statement - Collection Fund Income and

Expenditure Account. A breakdown of the

surplus is shown below:

7. MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND

The Fund is administered by Wirral Council

and reported and audited separately but

forms part of the Council’s Statement of

Accounts. Further information can be found

within the Merseyside Pension Fund section

of the Statement of Accounts, and also in

the Merseyside Pension Fund Report and

Accounts 2018/19.

2018/19 2017/18

£’000 £’000

Council Tax 

(Surplus)

(1.370) (1,725)

NNDR

(Surplus)/Deficit

321 3,101

Total (1,049) 1,376

P
age 144



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 17

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

8. ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF

ACCOUNTS

The Statement of Accounts brings together

the financial performance for the Council for

the year and its financial standing as at the

31 March 2019. They contain both revenue

and capital transactions across all services.

The Council is required to produce an

annual Statement of Accounts by the

Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 in

accordance with proper accounting

practices, comprising of the Code of

Practice on Local Authority Accounting in

the United Kingdom 2018/19 (the Code)

supported by International Financial

Reporting Standards (IFRS). There are no

new accounting policies adopted in 2018/19

but accounting policies have been updated

for two new accounting standards IFRS 9

(Financial Instruments) and IFRS 15

(Revenue from Contracts with Customers).

The Council reviews annually any interests

in companies and other entities for any

financial arrangements that may require the

production of Group Accounts. In 2018/19

there were no material transactions that

require this.

The following provides brief descriptions of

the purpose of the various statements:

• Narrative Report provides an

overview of the Council’s financial and

non-financial position for 2018/19.

• Statement of Responsibilities for

the Statement of Accounts details

the responsibilities of the Council and

of the Director of Finance and

Investment (S151).

• Independent Auditor’s Report, is the

Council external Auditor’s report to

Members of Wirral Council including

the conclusion of arrangements for

securing Value for Money. This will be

added post audit Statement of

Accounts.

The Core Financial Statements comprise

four key statements:-

1. Comprehensive Income and

Expenditure Statement, which shows

all income and expenditure for the

Council;

2. Movement in Reserves Statement,

which shows the movement on the

different reserves that the Council

holds;

3. Balance Sheet, which shows the

financial standing of the Council at 31

March 2019, detailing all assets and

liabilities;

4. Cash Flow Statement, which shows

the inflows and outflows of cash

arising from transactions with other

parties.

The Notes to the Core Financial

Statements. This section provides further

detail and explanation of the items

contained within the four Core Financial

Statements.

Additional Financial Statements are

included for –

• The Collection Fund (and notes),

which covers Council Tax and Non-

Domestic Rates collected and the

amounts paid to precepting authorities

and to Government.

The Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts,

covering the financial position of the

Merseyside Pension Fund, administered by

Wirral Council, are also included in Section

5.

The Annual Governance Statement,

which does not form part of the formal

Statement of Accounts but has been

included, as it:-

• Gives public assurance that the

Council has proper arrangements in

place to manage its affairs. The

Statement summarises the Council’s

responsibilities and shows the

effectiveness of the arrangements in

place to manage its affairs;

• Shows the actions agreed by the

Leader and Chief Executive to address

those matters identified as requiring

action to further enhance the

governance arrangements.

P
age 145



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 18

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

9 FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The Statement of Accounts provides

information about the Council’s expenditure

and income for the year and the overall

financial position at the end of the financial

year. It is a key element in reporting how

finances have been administered. The

Council managed its performance and

finances during 2018/19 with the

progression of the Wirral Plan, the delivery

of a number of savings and the budget.

The Council agreed its Budget for 2019/20

in March 2019. This has seen an increase

in Council Tax levels from 1 April 2019 and

includes a package of financial proposals

including the use of one-off funding to

support the budget for services. To address

future financial challenges the Council

agreed a Medium Term Financial and

Resilience Strategy for the period up to

2023. The financial proposals in this

Strategy aims to keep Wirral balancing it

budget across the next four years and

successfully planning for a financial

resilience future. Its strategy is to focus the

available funds on priority areas and

balance budgets by 2022/23.

The strategy focuses on the improvement

of Wirral residents’ lives by investing in key

public services. It also recognises the need

to do three things across the period:

• Boosting economic growth and

diversification, essential for creating

the jobs and income we need to pay

for services.

• Creating Wealth for the many

• Being More Efficient

Since austerity started in 2010, through the

Medium Term Financial and Resilience

Strategy (MTFRS), successive budgets and

service reform and reconfiguration - millions

has been taken out of directorate budgets.

Every department is doing its bit by

reprioritising, finding efficiencies, making

sure the Council is working as well as it can

for the areas long term future. As part of the

reform programme lean techniques are

being used to streamline services. The

Council is also turning around the long-term

underinvestment in our services to the

vulnerable and we have transformed an

outdated practices in Children’s Services.

We have developed a budget which is

balanced, sustainable and legal:

✓ We are making no compulsory

redundancies

✓ We have absorbed huge cuts to our

funding without closing services

✓ We have secured major investment in

services for vulnerable children and

families

✓ We challenge every pound which we

spend, to make sure it’s delivering the

best value.

There remains a funding gap between

planned spend and funding for future years.

The Council continues to face financial

constraints and pressures. The medium

term financial planning period to 2023 will

see continued grant funding reductions and

increasing financial pressures. As part of a

current pilot scheme, the Council has full

responsibility for the raising and collection

of income generated locally and used to

fund the services accessed by Wirral

residents. Going forward the expectation is

that this will continue. The Council is

continuing work commenced in 2018/19 to

establish a sustainable and robust financial

position for the period 2019/20 to 2022/23.

Work is on-going to look at changing needs

such as demands for services and rising

costs, new ways to working, the latest

financial projections and external funding

announcements to ensure that the

forecasts remain robust and sustainable

over the longer term.

P
age 146



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 19

Narrative Report from the Director of Finance and Investment (continued)

Alongside the development of longer term, strategic financial

planning, financial business partnering will be further improved to

provide support to services and assist with transforming services.

The development in the Finance and Investment Division of this

approach will support services and embedded strong and robust

financial management in all parts of the Council. It will also involve

staff being involved in the development and implementation of

future financial proposals as well as concentrating on the delivery of

in year financial performance.

The Medium Term Financial Resilience Strategy (MTFRS)

recognises that risk is an inherent part of all the Councils

operations.

Risks come from both the external environment in which Wirral

operates and internally from the changes that are necessary to

implement the Wirral plan and the MTFRS.

The management of risks is part of the overall governance

framework that ensures that risk is managed in a consistent and

clear way. The Council has in place a Corporate Risk Register that

holds in one location all the major risks that must be addressed so

that the Council can successfully implement the themes and

pledges. A key risk that the register details is Financial Resilience.

It provides details of the existing and additional controls in place to

mitigate this risk. The register is subject to review on a regular

basis by the Senior Leadership Team to ensure that there is

awareness of risks as well as the identification of mitigating actions

following assessment.

There is within the Council an understanding of the on-going

challenges that Wirral faces. The plan is to continue the work to

ensure that progress continues in 2019/20 and future years, in a

continually challenging financial world for local government. As a

Council, through the Wirral Plan and the MTFRS further actions are

planned to meet the demands and requirements of local residents

and our partners.

Shaer Halewood

Director of Finance & Investment (S151)

31 July 2019

P
age 147



Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 20

The Council's Responsibilities

The Council is required to:-

• Make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial
affairs and to ensure that one of its officers has the responsibility
for the administration of those affairs. The responsible officer is
designated as the Chief Financial Officer, or equivalent. In this
Council, that officer is the Director of Finance and Investment
(S151);

• Manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use
of resources and safeguard its assets; and

• Approve the Statement of Accounts

The Director of Finance and Investment (S151) 
Responsibilities

The Chief Financial Officer (in Wirral Council this is the Director of
Finance and Investment (S151)) is responsible for the preparation
of the Council's Statement of Accounts in accordance with proper
practice as set out in the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).

In preparing this Statement of Accounts the Chief Financial Officer
has:

• Selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them
consistently;

• Made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and
prudent; and

• Complied with the Code of Practice.

The Chief Financial Officer has also:

• Kept proper accounting records which were up to date; and

• Taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of
fraud and other irregularities.

Certification of the Accounts

I certify that the Statement of Accounts presents a true and fair view
of the financial position of Wirral Council at 31 March 2019 and its
income and expenditure for the year then ended.

Shaer Halewood

Director of Finance &

Investment (S151)

31 July 2019

Approval of the Accounts

The accounts remain subject to formal external audit and may be
amended as part of that process. The Statement of Accounts are to
be considered by the Audit and Risk Management Committee on 23
September 2019 and will be published following approval by the
Committee.

P
age 148



Independent Auditor’s Report 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 21

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO
THE MEMBERS OF WIRRAL COUNCIL

These statements are presented prior to
completion of the audit of the accounts.
The auditor’s report on the 2018/19
Statement of Accounts will be included in
the final Statement of Accounts to be
published following the Audit & Risk
Management Committee meeting on 23
September 2019, once formally approved
by the Committee.P

age 149



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 22

P
age 150



Annual Governance Statement 2018/19

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 23

INTRODUCTION

Local authorities are required by statute to
review their governance arrangements at
least once per year.

Throughout the last year, Wirral Borough
Council has continued with its strategy to
improve upon the manner in which it
discharges its governance responsibilities.

This statement explains how the Council has
complied with its Code of Corporate
Governance and continues to build upon the
work of previous years, constantly improving,
as a Council, that is learning, maturing and
delivering for its constituents.

Scope of Responsibility

The Council is responsible for ensuring that
its business is conducted in accordance with
the law and proper standards and that public
money is safeguarded, properly accounted
for and used economically, efficiently and
effectively.

The Council also retains a best value duty
under the Local Government Act 1999, to
make arrangements to secure continuous
improvement in the way in which its functions
are exercised, having regard to a
combination of economy, efficiency and
effectiveness.

By discharging this responsibility (including
as accountable body for the Merseyside

Pension Fund), the Council is responsible for
putting in place proper arrangements for the
governance of its affairs, facilitating the
effective exercise of its functions which
includes arrangements for the management
of risk.

Wirral Council is the administering authority
for the Merseyside Pension Fund which
publishes its own statement of accounts on
an annual basis and includes a “Governance
Compliance Statement”. The statement
outlines compliance to industry specific
governance principles.

The Council has approved and adopted the
Code of Corporate Governance, which is
consistent with the principles of the CIPFSA /
SOLACE Framework for Delivering Good
Governance in Local Government 2016. A
copy of the Code is available on our website:
www. wirral.gov.uk.

This statement explains how the Council has
complied with the Code and also meets the
requirements of Regulation 6 (1) (b) of the
Accounts and Audit (England & Wales)
Regulations 2015, which requires all relevant
bodies to prepare an Annual Governance
Statement.

The Council also fulfils a governance role in
relation to the businesses that it wholly or
jointly owns:

• Edsential - a Community Interest Company

jointly owned by Cheshire West and
Chester Council and Wirral Council to
provide services to the Education sector:
https://edsential.com/. The Council owns
50% of the shares in the company and
provides governance oversight via a joint
shareholder board with Cheshire West and
Cheshire Council.

• Wirral Evolutions Ltd - a Council owned
company, which delivers adult social care
services: http://www.wirralevolutions.org/.
The company shareholder board provides
governance oversight. The board
membership includes a Council Cabinet
member to make strategic decisions on the
behalf of the Council. Operational
decisions are taken by the company
board of directors.

• Wirral Growth Company - a limited liability
partnership between the Council and Muse
Developments Limited. The Council and
Muse Developments Limited are equal
partners in this venture and are jointly
responsible for making all decisions. The
partnership was created to promote the
economic regeneration of the Borough.

P
age 151



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 24

What is Corporate Governance?

Corporate Governance generally refers to
the processes by which organisations are
directed, controlled, led and held to
account.

The Council’s governance framework aims
to ensure that in conducting business it:

• Operates in a lawful, open, inclusive and
honest manner

• Ensures that public money is
safeguarded, properly accounted for
and used economically, efficiently and
effectively

• Has effective arrangements for the
management of risk

• Secures continuous improvements in the
manner in which it operates.

The purpose of the Governance 
Framework

The governance framework comprises the
culture, values, systems and processes by
which the Council is directed and
controlled. The framework brings together
an underlying set of legislative
requirements, good practice principles and
management processes.

Adhering to this framework enables the
Council to monitor the success of its
strategic objectives and to consider whether
these objectives have led to the delivery of
appropriate / cost effective services.

Both risk management and internal control
measurements are a significant part of the
Council’s corporate governance framework
and are designed to manage risk to a
reasonable level.

These safeguarding processes cannot
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve the
goals set by the Council’s policies, aims
and strategic objectives and can therefore
only provide reasonable, rather than
absolute assurances of their effectiveness.

The system of risk management and
internal control is based upon an ongoing
process, designed to identify and prioritise
the risk to the achievement of the Councils’
policies, aims and strategic objectives, to
evaluate the likelihood and potential impact
of those risks being realised and to manage
them efficiently, effectively and
economically.

This statement builds upon those of
previous years. Many of the key
governance mechanisms remain in place
and are referred to in previous

statements, as well as in the Council’s
Code of Corporate Governance. These are
available on the Council’s website:
www.wirral.gov.uk . This statement
therefore describes the key changes and
developments within the Council’s
governance framework during 2018-19 and
up to the date of the approval of the annual
statement of accounts .

The progress that has been made in

dealing with the significant governance
issue included in last year’s statement and
those governance issues that have been
identified from this year’s governance
review are highlighted in this statement.

P
age 152



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 25

Council Cabinet Audit &Risk 

Management 

Committee

Overview and 

Scrutiny 

Committees

Corporate 

Governance 

Risk Management Audit

• Approve    

Constitution    

including Codes   

of Conduct 

• Approve the    

Wirral Plan  

Approve budget   

and policy    

framework  

“Holds cabinet    

to account” 

• Hold decision    

making 

meetings in   

public

• Set priorities in 

line   with the 

Council’s   

vision and    

recommend 

budget   

proposals to    

underpin 

delivery 

• Deliver financial   

performance 

within   the 

budget and   

policy 

framework set   

by Council.

• Hold decision 

making   

meetings in 

public

• Scrutinise and    

approve 

Financial   

Statements on 

behalf   of the 

Council

• Review 

Contract &   

Procurement    

Procedure 

Rules 

• Review and    

scrutinise    

governance    

arrangements,   

including 

internal and 

external audit   

updates / 

reports,   and 

the    

management    

of risk

• Holds meetings 

in   public 

• Provide a critical 

friend to 

challenge Cabinet 

as well as 

external 

authorities and 

agencies 

• Reflect the voice 

and   concerns of 

the   public and 

its    communities

• Holds meetings in 

public 

• Review performance 

management and 

projects against 

milestones, resource 

allocation, risks and 

performance. 

• The Corporate 

Governance Group 

has responsibility for 

overseeing the annual 

review of the 

governance 

framework and the 

preparation of the 

annual governance 

statement

• Corporate oversight   

by Council’s    

additional    

governance boards;   

including Investment   

& Change Board 

• The Corporate    

management team   

including the role of   

its three statutory   

officers: the Head of   

Paid Service (Chief   

Executive), the    

Monitoring Officer   

and the Chief    

Financial Officer

• Review risk 

registers   for 

corporate,    

operational and   

project risks 

• Corporate risks   

reviewed by the   

Senior Leadership   

Team and Audit &   

Risk Management   

Committee

• Set the internal 

audit   strategy to 

meet the   

Council’s overall   

strategic direction   

and provide    

assurance on risk   

management,    

governance and   

internal control   

arrangements

• Undertake annual   

programme of    

internal audits,   

present progress   

reports including   

recommendations   

for improvement in   

systems and 

control 

• External Audit 

review   and report 

on the   Council’s 

financial   

statements and 

vfm conclusion on 

the   Council’s    

arrangements for   

securing economy,   

efficiency and    

effectiveness in 

the   use of 

resources

P
age 153



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 26

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS

Wirral Council has a responsibility for
conducting, a review of the
effectiveness of its governance
framework including the system of
internal control.

The review of effectiveness is informed
by the work of the Chief Officers and
senior managers within the Council who
have responsibility for the development
and maintenance of the governance
environment. Their feedback and
comments provided in Governance
Assurance returns and meetings are an
essential part of this review. It is also
informed by the work of Internal Audit,
the Chief Internal Auditor’s Annual
Report, together with findings and
reports issued by the external auditor
and other review agencies and
inspectorates.

The Council aims to achieve good
standards of governance by adhering to
the seven core principles below, which
form the basis of the Council’s Code of
Corporate Governance.

Reproduced from ‘Delivering Good Governance in Local Government 

Framework 2014’ published by CIPFA/IFAC

P
age 154



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 27

Principle Assessment of the effectiveness of the key elements of the Council’s Governance processes 

during 2018-19

A. Behaving with integrity, 

demonstrating strong commitment 

to ethical values and respecting the 

rule of law.

Key elements of the Council’s governance arrangements, as detailed in the Council’s Code of 

Corporate Governance, include:

• The Wirral Plan sets out the Council’s key priorities;

• The Constitution details how the Council operates, how decisions are made, and the procedures that 

are to  be  followed to ensure that arrangements are efficient, transparent and are available for 

constituent scrutiny as required; 

• Codes of Conduct define the standards of behaviour for Members and officers;

• Arrangements to apply the set of standards (the Nolan principles) of conduct and behaviours 

expected of Members with constitutional oversight;

• Relevant policies in operation include declarations of conflict of interest, declaration of gifts and 

hospitality, Dignity at Work and  Whistleblowing; 

• An Anti-Fraud and Corruption policy and strategy, Anti-Bribery policy, Anti-Money Laundering policy 

and Fraud response plan demonstrate the Council’s stance against fraud;

• Monitoring Officer provisions, including the review of reports by Legal qualified officers and the 

record of legal advice provided, ensure the lawfulness of decisions taken by the Cabinet, Council 

and officers.

Improvements in the year included completion rates for performance appraisals; with a focus in 2019-

20 to strengthen arrangements for improving the quality of appraisals and helping to embed 

organisational priorities and values.

There is a recognition that there are instances where there is a need to formalise governance 

arrangements with some ‘Friends/ Voluntary’ organisations.

The results of the annual review of the effectiveness of the key elements of the Council’s governance processes during 2018-19 are set out in 

the table below, demonstrating how the Council has complied with the seven principles set out in the CIPFA/SOLACE Framework during 

2018-19.

P
age 155



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 28

Principle Assessment of the effectiveness of the key elements of the Council’s Governance processes 

during 2018-19

B. Ensuring openness and 

comprehensive stakeholder 

engagement.

Key Elements of the Council’s Governance Arrangements include: 

• All Committee meetings are held in public, unless prevented by legislation. From September 2018 all 

Council Committee meetings have been webcast. Minutes, reports and webcast recordings are 

available on the Council’s website;

• The Wirral Plan, pledge strategies, pledge action plans (updated May 18), and quarterly 

performance and update reports are available on the Council’s website;

• The Wirral Partnership Delivery Group is chaired by the Council’s Chief Executive and includes the 

Chief Executives of key partners, including the Clinical Commissioning Group, Provider Trusts and 

the Chamber of Commerce, and 3rd sector representatives. This group, together with the 

Partnership Summit and Partnership Framework ensure ongoing engagement and commitment of 

relevant partners;

• All pledge steering groups are partnership based;

• An innovative approach to neighbourhood working designed around Wirral’s four constituency 

areas; Birkenhead, Wallasey, Wirral South, Wirral West; 

• Utilising the Wirral View publication and associated websites to communicate and share information 

with constituents and stakeholders;

• Budget papers, in-year financial monitoring reports and the Council’s Medium Term Financial 

Strategy are published on the Council’s website. Additional arrangements to support setting the 

2019-20 budget included a public consultation exercise to provide constituents with  an opportunity 

to engage in budget proposals and influence decision making;

• Public consultation exercises; those conducted during 2018/19 included an on-line survey seeking 

comments on the planned 2030 vision for the Wirral Partnership and consultation upon the 

development of the Local Plan;

• Equality Impact Assessments are undertaken and embedded in all Council decision making;  

• Relevant Council policies and strategies include an Engagement & Stakeholder Relations Strategy, a 

Corporate Equality and Cohesion strategy and Freedom of Information compliance publication. 

P
age 156



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 29

Principle Assessment of the effectiveness of the key elements of the Council’s Governance processes 

during 2018-19

C. Defining outcomes in terms of 

sustainable economic, social and 

environmental benefits.

Key Elements of the Council’s Governance Arrangements include: 

• The Wirral Plan, pledge strategies  action plans, and quarterly performance reports outline the 

Council’s vision, priorities and performance against planned outcomes; thus providing an effective 

framework for close working with partners and stakeholders           (Wirral Plan performance).  

• An established corporate performance management framework. This has been further developed 

and from 19/20 all departments and major teams are developing business / service plans;

• Regular revenue and capital monitoring reports, and effective medium term financial planning ensure 

that  the Council retains its commitment to stability, utilising available resources, whilst monitoring 

savings and income plans;

• Council reports to support major decisions outline key implications, including economic, social, 

environmental, (where applicable);

• Continued commitment to developing commercial opportunities.

• Improvements in year have included the above Council-wide approach to service and business 

planning, which incorporates a range of performance measures.

P
age 157



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 30

Principle Assessment of the effectiveness of the key elements of the Council’s Governance processes 

during 2018-19

D. Determining the interventions 

necessary to optimize the 

achievement of the intended 

outcomes.

Key Elements of the Council’s Governance Arrangements include: 

• The arrangements for joint strategic needs assessment across services, including factors such as 

economy, skills and business, help ensure the right insight and evidence is available to make 

evidence-based decisions and set strategic priorities;

• The partnership approach to needs assessment, led by the over-arching Wirral Partnership Delivery 

Group, includes listening to the local voice of residents, service users and Members through various 

forms of consultation and communication;

• All significant change programmes have evidence-based business cases to support the delivery of 

programmed work;

• Council reports and underlying business cases outline options considered, risk assessments, and 

financial, legal, resource and equality implications;   

• Robust arrangements exist for reporting, monitoring and review of programme, pledge and service 

performance to support the delivery of impact and outcomes;

• Optimising partnership approaches including integration to derive best value. A recent example 

includes work with the Centre for Local Economic Strategies (CLES) to engage with local people and 

businesses to help support the development of the economy priority deal and promote wealth 

creation within the Borough;

• An ambitious programme for service review and change helps ensures effective use of 

transformational and programme management expertise and capacity;

• Effective budget planning processes underpinned by the Medium Term Financial strategy

P
age 158



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 31

Principle Assessment of the effectiveness of the key elements of the Council’s Governance processes 

during 2018-19

D. Determining the interventions 

necessary to optimize the 

achievement of the intended 

outcomes.

Improvements in the year have included :

• Progress with taking forward ambitious plans for regeneration and economic growth in Wirral, 

including entering into a Joint Venture with Muse (the Wirral Growth Company) and advancing plans 

for some of the major developments that comprise the Wirral Waters One joint venture with Peel 

Holdings; 

• A Governance Review undertaken in 2018 has led to an improved governance structure for scrutiny, 

corporate oversight and corporate decision-making. Improvements have included the introduction of 

an Investment & Change Board, Call-Over Board, Corporate Savings Governance Board and 

Commercial Board.  This has led to improved accountability management, greater transparency, 

including earlier sight of key issues at chief officer level, clear visibility of decision making and an 

improved framework for decision making with improved pre-scrutiny processes for new business 

proposals. Other improvements have included improved levels of Member engagement (including 

pre-Committee briefings and pre-Cabinet cross party dialogue), examples of member-led processes 

(including MTFS), and examples of cross-party scrutiny (including during the Wirral Growth 

Company project.); 

• The establishment of the Joint Strategic Commissioning Board as a formal committee of the Council, 

with formalised governance arrangements for joint commissioning with Health.

Current initiatives include work to finalise the Council’s ICT strategy, and a project to implement a new 

Enterprise Resource Planning system (ERP). It is recognised that implementation of the new ERP 

system is key corporate project that will help support wider organisational change.

P
age 159



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 32

Principle Assessment of the effectiveness of the key elements of the Council’s Governance processes 

during 2018-19

E. Developing the entity’s capacity 

including the capability of its 

leadership and the individuals within 

it.

Key Elements of the Council’s Governance arrangements include:

• Regular and transparent oversight of delivery and performance, through insightful reports including a 

quarterly performance and update report for Wirral Plan Pledges and regular Corporate Operational 

Health report to SLT; 

• Closer working relationships with business partners and stakeholders to improve delivery of key 

Council strategies;

• The constitution clearly sets out roles and responsibilities of Members and Officers, including 

executive and non-executive functions and the scrutiny function;

• A comprehensive Member development programme;

• An ongoing senior leadership development programme, including SLT away-days;

• The provision of appropriate training and personal development opportunities for staff linked to the 

Council’s corporate performance appraisal process;

• The Council’s graduate and apprentice recruitment programmes.

• Improvements in year have included:

• A new SLT model, bringing improved levels of commercial acumen, communication, teamwork and 

leadership;

• Acknowledgement that the Council has needed to change its approach to adapt to its continually 

changing environment by promoting a “learning culture” throughout the organisation;

• The launch of a new People Strategy which will guide how the Council develops and supports 

employees, with the five key strands of attracting and retaining talent, strong and visible leadership, 

values behaviours and performance, embracing change, and workplace wellbeing, and a central 

theme of getting the basics right. 

• There is a recognition that the changing political environment requires an additional focus to ensure 

effective working relationships between members and officers, including the need for further 

development initiatives for members and officers to better understand the processes and procedures 

that underpin the organisation.

P
age 160



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 33

Principle Assessment of the effectiveness of the key elements of the Council’s Governance processes 

during 2018-19

F. Managing risk and performance 

through robust internal control and 

strong public financial management. 

Key Elements of the Council’s Governance arrangements include:

• An effective ARMC in place, as confirmed by the Committee’s self-assessment. The ARMC receives, 

approves and monitors the delivery of Audit Plans and monitors the effectiveness of risk 

management arrangements, including regular updates of the corporate risk register. The Chair 

produces an Annual Report that demonstrates the  value added by Committee over the year;

• Regular review of activity and performance as part of the Performance Management Framework;

• Rigorous and transparent decision-making processes in place, with the publication of agendas 

,minutes and the webcasting of meetings;

• Financial management is a key element of the structure and processes that comprise the Council’s 

governance arrangements; with key aspects including financial regulations, budget and policy 

framework procedure rules, monthly revenue and capital monitoring, quarterly reporting to Members, 

and periodic updates to the medium term financial strategy;

• Effective scrutiny arrangements;

• An Internal Audit function that complies with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards for Local 

Government with an audit programme that reflects  corporate risks, plan and update reports to 

ARMC, bi-monthly activity reports to SLT and ARMC Members and the annual report and opinion 

prepared by the Chief Internal Auditor;  

• An annual programme of proactive and reactive internal audit work.

P
age 161



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 34

Principle Assessment of the effectiveness of the key elements of the Council’s Governance processes during 2018-19

F. Managing risk 

and performance 

through robust 

internal control and 

strong public 

financial 

management.

Improvements in the year have included :

• The Council is strengthening the governance around managing change, an increasingly key element of the 

organisation’s current strategy.  Improvements have included ensuring all key projects are now managed within the 

Programme Management Office (PMO) framework; with all projects to report to one of five programme boards which 

each report to the Investment & Change Board, in its overall ‘gatekeeper’ role. The Council is also undertaking a 

programme of service reviews, which are helping to bring together all aspects of change in the Council;

• Improved arrangements for risk management included establishing a Task and Finish group, whose role was to 

identify and oversee the implementation of improvements, and a network of officers across the organisation charged 

with supporting the embedding of the Council’s revised risk management arrangements. Initiatives included training 

in risk management principles and good practice for SLT, departmental leads and members. Outcomes included an 

updated corporate risk register and good progress with embedding effective risk management arrangements at 

departmental, PMO and at programme / project level;

• Achievements in Information Governance during 18/19 included obtaining approval for  DSPT improvement plan 

which allows data sharing with the NHS (with work to complete providing outstanding mandatory evidence 

requirements in progress), applying for and being awarded funding for cyber security training and ensuring success 

rates for FOI completion statistics remain high despite increasing requests; 

• A review is underway to introduce an improved control process for managing the programme for policy reviews.

• Ongoing initiatives to further strengthen corporate governance arrangements include:

• Further work planned to embed the development of the corporate risk management processes, including the monthly 

review of Corporate Risk Register at SLT. It is recognised there is scope to enhance the formal and routine use of 

risk management to inform strategic planning and manage services and delivery. There is also work planned for later 

in 19/20 to define the Council’s current appetite and capacity for key risks;

• A range of measures planned to further develop the Council’s Information Governance arrangements, including 

strengthening the support given for the Council’s information asset owners, with comprehensive training currently 

being arranged for all information asset owners / administrators and plans for the SIRO to receive a quarterly security 

report, and plans to develop an Information Governance risk register; 

• Scope to further develop performance data including using such data to assist early identification of key issues and 

risks and utilising Central Government monitoring and KPIs to drive performance data.

P
age 162



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 35

Principle Assessment of the effectiveness of the key elements of the Council’s Governance processes 

during 2018-19

G. Implementing good practices in 

transparency, reporting and audit to 

deliver effective accountability

Key Elements of the Council’s Governance arrangements include:

• Public access to meetings and minutes and webcasting of Council meetings;

• Adhering to all access to information statutory requirements and being committed to meeting the 

standards set out in the Transparency Code;

• Publicising a robust complaints process and responding effectively to complaints, e.g. in statutory 

areas;

• Accurate and reliable public reporting on performance (Wirral Plan), stewardship of resources 

(Statement of Accounts, in-year financial reporting and the Medium Term Financial Strategy), and 

compliance with the Governance Framework (AGS), 

• Internal Audit arrangements that comply with Public Sector Internal Audit Standards, including 

regular reporting of progress with the plan to ARMC.

Improvements in year have included the commencement of webcasting of meetings. 

P
age 163



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 36

Key area for 

improvement 

Action taken to address the issue

Action required to 

address issues raised 

in the Improvement 

Notice issued by the 

Secretary of State for 

Education (30th 

September 2016)

The Wirral Improvement Board has continued to have oversight of the Improvement Plan for Children’s Services. Activity to 

address the issues raised in the Ofsted Improvement Notice has been centred around a number of key work-streams. A 

summary of some of the activity carried out within each work-stream is highlighted below:

Practice Improvement: 

The roll out of the Supporting Families, Enhancing Futures model has ensured that the daily lived experience of children and 

young people is fully captured in practice and used to inform decision-making. Service improvements, investment in training and 

development and consistent and regular audit by  Children’s Services have all been significant developments in this area. 

Workforce Stability: 

Activity to reduce the number of agency staff has been successful with a significant reduction in agency workers and an 

increase in permanent workers who are committed to work at Wirral Council. 

Delivery model: 

The establishment of the Regional Adoption Agency has brought about a more co-ordinated and joined up approach to 

adoption. 

Enablers of change: 

Accommodation enhancements and the implementation of mobile working as well as equipping staff with right technology has 

enabled frontline staff to work more effectively with children and greatly improved management oversight and communication. 

Quarterly monitoring visits have continued to assess progress with findings reported. Their findings can be summarised as: 

March 2018 

Monitoring visit found that improvements had been made in access to services for those children needing support and 

protection; including the new integrated front-door as a point of entry for all contacts to children’s social care. 

May 2018 

Report noted that progress had been made in improving services for children and young people who needed to be looked after, 

including those at risk of exploitation and those on the edge of care. 

September 2018  

Inspectors found evidence of progress in relation to the local authority’s response to children who need protection through a

child protection plan. Children tracked had received timely assessments of need and were in receipt of appropriate services and 

thresholds were appropriate. 

December 2018   

The Monitoring visit found that the local Council was making progress in improving social work support and services for children 

in care and care leavers.

In addition to this, service and thematic audits, performance management information and DfE reports all evidence progress in

improvements in specific areas as outlined in the 2016 Inspection report.

P
age 164



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 37

SIGNIFICANT GOVERNANCE ISSUES

• In preparing this statement, the criteria used
for ‘significant governance’ are issues which:

• Significantly undermine or threaten the
achievement of a core organisational
objective.

• Represent a significant failure to meet the
principles (and sub-principles) of good
governance (as detailed in the Code of
Corporate Governance).

• Have resulted in significant public interest or
have seriously damaged reputation.

• Are of significant concern to an inspector,
external audit or regulator.

• Have been recommended by the head of
internal audit or one of the statutory officers
to be included.

• Require significant organisational and
corporate cooperation to address it.

P
age 165



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 38

The review of the effectiveness of the Council’s governance framework has identified the following significant issues that will need to be addressed 

or continue to be addressed during 2019/20:

Issue Action proposed during 2019/20 Lead Officer

Ofsted - Action required to 

address issues raised in the 

Improvement Notice issued 

by the Secretary of State 

for Education (30th 

September 2016) 

(Corporate Risk 9) (SGI 

Criteria 1,3,4,6)

The Improvement Board meets monthly to monitor progress and developments in children’s social care. The 

Children and Families Scrutiny Committee will also continue to play a role in providing challenge and monitoring 

improvement activity. The work-streams outlined in the Improvement Plan will continue to guide and direct actions 

to continue to address the issues raised. 

For 2019/20, this will include: 

Practice Improvement: 

Delivering a robust contextual safeguarding model will broaden the parameters of safeguarding and address the 

wider influences that can protect families, children and young people. 

Workforce Stability: 

A continued focus on the ‘grow your own’ approach to shape social workers and practitioners in providing quality 

support for children and retaining staff on Wirral. 

Delivery model: 

Opportunities for strengthening and re-shaping services around the needs of children will continue to be explored. 

Enablers of change: 

A commitment to and culture of continuous reflection, evaluation and improvement will be embedded.  

Paul Boyce, 

Corporate 

Director for 

Children 

Services

The Council continues to 

face significant financial 

challenges. Uncertainty 

over the level of future 

funding and increased 

demand pressures mean 

the Council’s ability to 

deliver future essential 

services depends on 

effective delivery of key 

actions to ensure financial 

resilience; including 

delivery of savings plans 

and planned actions to 

increase income. 

(Corporate Risk 1) (SGI 

Criteria 1,4,6)

The Medium-Term Financial Strategy agreed at Full Council on 4 March 2019 presented a balanced four-year 

financial plan and included proposals to address the £45m budget gap in 2019/20. This plan will be subject to 

change for a number of reasons e.g. changes to government funding, new growth items, unavoidable or 

unforeseen pressures etc.  

Setting the annual budget is now an ongoing process with proposals for growth, savings, income etc, being 

addressed in-year rather than at a specified budget setting period.  This will enable ongoing scrutiny and 

challenge of the MTFS which will be reported to Cabinet every quarter with the in-year budget monitoring from 

2019/20.  The Financial Resilience Plan reported to ARMC on an annual basis details an action plan to ensure 

financial sustainability.  

The financial situation is assessed on a monthly basis to ensure that any mitigating actions can be assessed and 

recommended to the Cabinet to address unforeseen pressures early so as to minimise the impact on service 

delivery.

Shaer 

Halewood, 

Director of 

Finance & 

Investment

P
age 166



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 39

Issue Action proposed during 2019/20 Lead Officer

The Council, through the  Wirral 

Growth Company, has 

ambitious plans for 

development and regeneration. 

If the WGC were to fail to 

deliver anticipated benefits, it 

would undermine the Council 

budgetary position, economic 

growth aspirations and public 

and investor confidence in the 

Authority. (Corporate Risk 10) 

(SGI Criteria 1,6)

The Partnership Agreement (PA) for the Joint Venture (JV) with Muse was signed in March 2019. 

The JV PA is underpinned by a suite of robust corporate legal documentation.

The first JV Board meeting took place in April 2019 and will take place on a quarterly basis.

The Council and Muse are in the process of developing a Partnership Business Plan (PBP).  A 

first draft PBP will be presented to the JV Board in September 2019.  The PBP will be 

underpinned by draft indicative Site Development Plans (SDPs) for the priority areas which will be 

included in the first Y1-3 Business Plan.

The PBP will be updated annually and agreed at both the JV and Shareholder board(s).

Paul Satoor,

Corporate Director for 

Business Management

The Secretary of State has 

issued a Direction for the 

Council to produce an Action 

Plan for the Delivery of the 

Local Plan. If the Council fails to 

deliver agreed requirements for 

the consultation, publication 

and implementation of the Local 

Plan it could result in 

intervention, a loss of control 

over future development and 

missed opportunities to promote 

economic growth.

The Secretary of State has also 

threatened intervention in 

respect of the Council not 

meeting statutory timescales for 

planning decisions. (Corporate 

Risk 5) (SGI Criteria 3,4)

The action plan was completed and submitted to MHCLG on 5th April 2019 to meet the deadline 

of 8th April 2019. Positive dialogue has taken place directly with MHCLG officials and such 

dialogue will continue a monthly basis. 

A revised date of submission to November 2020 from January 2020 was presented. The Council 

has yet to receive formal clarification as to whether the timeline has been accepted by the 

Secretary of State . 

The Council must continue to deliver the action plan over the coming months and any slippage/ 

delays could result in intervention. 

Performance in completing planning decisions within statutory timescales has improved in quarter 

four of 2018/19 following the additional staffing resources which have been applied. This will 

continue to be a focus for attention in 2019/20 to ensure statutory timescales for decisions are 

complied with.

Paul Satoor,

Corporate Director for 

Business ManagementP
age 167



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 40

Issue Action proposed during 2019/20 Lead Officer

Following a very serious 

tragic incident in 

November 2016 involving 

a section of tree falling on 

to a vehicle on the 

highway from Arrowe 

Park, which resulted in the 

injury to the driver and her 

unborn child who sadly 

died shortly after birth, a 

full review of the council’s 

systems and processes for 

the inspection and 

maintenance of trees on 

its land and highways has 

been carried out. 

(Corporate Risk D) (SGI 

Criteria 3,4)

This has been a significant review both in time and resource and continues today . The review 

highlighted that there were different systems in place dependent upon whether a tree was located on the 

highway, in a park/ open space, on another property owned by the council including leased land and 

buildings and school sites

From this position the committed £1.125 million in order to carry out full tree inspection and maintenance 

programme across its estate commencing with those sites of the highest risk adjacent to the highway. 

Further to this, additional expertise has been recruited and external professional support has been used 

to carry out surveys and maintenance to all trees on highways and in parks/open spaces. The priority 

sites are now complete and there is an ongoing programme for the remaining works. The council has 

also contracted The Environmental Partnership (TEP) to produce a tree risk management strategy. This 

sets out a framework and process for the management and maintenance of trees on all council land. 

There is further work to be completed in putting this risk management strategy and processes into place 

and in respect of such activity as leased sites and schools where responsibilities are extended as part of 

leasing arrangements or through the type of school and the relevant Governing Body responsibilities. 

This is currently being implemented.

David Armstrong, 

Corporate Director 

Delivery Services 

(Assistant Chief 

Executive)

P
age 168



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Narrative Report 41

CERTIFICATION

To the best of our knowledge, the governance arrangements, as outlined above have been effectively operating during the year with the
exception of those areas identified as requiring improvement. We propose over the coming year to take steps to address the above matters to
further enhance our governance arrangements. We are satisfied that these steps will address the need for improvements that were identified
during the review of effectiveness and will monitor their implementation and operation as part of our annual review.

Signed:

Paul Satoor, Chief Executive (from 15 July 2019)

Date: 31 July 2019

Signed:

Councillor Pat Hackett, Leader of the Council

Date: 31 July 2019

P
age 169



2

Core 

Financial 

Statements 

P
age 170



Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Core Financial Statements 43

This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather

than the amount to be funded from taxation. Authorities raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance with regulations; this may be different

from the accounting cost. The taxation position is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

The figures for 2017/18 have been restated and re-presented to be in line with the Directorate format adopted by the Council for monitoring

financial performance during 2018/19. (See note 49).

Expenditure Income Net Expenditure Income Net

£'000 £'000 £'000 Note £'000 £'000 £'000

146,229 52,387 93,842 Adult Care & Health 139,656 56,987 82,669

132,435 100,671 31,764 Business Managment 140,026 114,688 25,338

323,704 243,044 80,660 Childrens Services 298,498 225,963 72,535

107,530 30,665 76,865 Delivery Services 104,312 35,592 68,720

8,346 3,974 4,372 Economic & Housing Growth 6,136 3,782 2,354

27,146 31,116 (3,970) Strategy & Partnerships 32,847 32,873 (26)

745,390 461,857 283,533 Cost of Services 721,475 469,885 251,590

46,806 - 46,806 Other Operating Expenditure 11 64,840 - 64,840

25,645 2,402 23,243 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 12 25,394 2,586 22,808

- 303,735 (303,735) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure 13 - 283,349 (283,349)

817,841 767,994 49,847 (Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services 811,709 755,820 55,889

(42,728) (Surplus)/Deficit on Revaluation of Property, Plant and Equipment (9,319)

2,042 (Surplus)/Deficit on Revaluation of Available for Sale Financial Assets 35

47,956 Remeasurement of the Net Defined Benefit Liability/(Asset) (61,113)

7,270 Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (70,397)

57,117 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure (Surplus)/Deficit (14,508)

2018/19 2017/18 Restated

P
age 171



Movement in Reserves Statement 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Core Financial Statements 44

This Statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Council, analysed into ‘useable reserves’ (i.e. those that can
be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other reserves. The Surplus or (Deficit) on the Provision of Services line shows the true
economic cost of providing the Council’s services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
These are different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for council tax setting purposes. The Net
Increase/Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before any discretionary transfers to, or
from, Earmarked Reserves undertaken by the Council.

Note General 

Fund 

Balance

Earmarked 

General Fund 

Reserves

Total 

General 

Fund

Capital 

Receipts 

Reserve

Capital 

Grants 

Unapplied

Total Useable 

Reserves

Total 

Unusable 

Reserves

Total 

Council 

Reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance as at 31 March 2018 24,856 54,862 79,718 1,672 14,388 95,778 (129,985) (34,207)

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Surplus/(Deficit) (49,847) - (49,847) - - (49,847) (7,270) (57,117)

Adjustments between Accounting Basis & Funding Basis under Regulations 8 40,347 - 40,347 (749) 1,863 41,461 (41,461) -

Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves (9,500) - (9,500) (749) 1,863 (8,386) (48,731) (57,117)

Transfers to/(from) Earmarked Reserves 10 (4,688) 4,688 - - - - - -

Increase/Decrease in Year (14,188) 4,688 (9,500) (749) 1,863 (8,386) (48,731) (57,117)

Balance as at 31 March 2019 10,668 59,552 70,220 923 16,251 87,394 (178,717) (91,325)

Balance as at 31 March 2017 25,723 55,064 80,787 5,558 14,919 101,264 (149,978) (48,714)

Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Surplus/(Deficit) (55,889) - (55,889) - - (55,889) 70,397 14,508

Adjustments between accounting basis & funding basis under regulations 8 54,820 - 54,820 (3,886) (531) 50,403 (50,403) -

Net Increase/Decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves (1,069) - (1,069) (3,886) (531) (5,486) 19,994 14,508

Transfers to/(from) Earmarked Reserves 10 202 (202) - - - - - -

Increase/Decrease in Year (867) (202) (1,069) (3,886) (531) (5,486) 19,994 14,508

Balance as at 31 March 2018 24,856 54,862 79,718 1,672 14,388 95,778 (129,985) (34,207)

P
age 172



Balance Sheet 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Core Financial Statements 45

This shows the value of the
assets and liabilities recognised
by the Council at the Balance
Sheet date.

The net assets of the Council
(assets less liabilities) are
matched by the reserves held by
the Council. Reserves are
reported in two categories -
useable and Unusable reserves.
useable reserves are those
reserves that the Council may use
to provide services, subject to the
need to maintain a prudent level
of reserves and any statutory
limitations on their use. Unusable
reserves are those that the
Council is not able to use to
provide services. This category of
reserves includes reserves that
hold unrealised gains and losses
where amounts would only
become available to provide
services if the assets were sold;
and reserves that hold timing
differences shown in the
Movement in Reserves Statement
line ‘Adjustments between
accounting basis and funding
basis under regulations’.

31st March 2019 Notes 31st March 2018
£'000 £'000

644,487 Property, Plant & Equipment 14 607,652

14,308 Heritage Assets 15 14,308

27,356 Investment Property 16 21,546

548 Intangible Assets 17 932

1,550 Long Term Investments 18 1,250

35,255 Long Term Debtors 41 38,028

723,504 Long Term Assets 683,716

10,988 Short Term Investments 18 26,465

- Assets held for sale 21 11,051

134 Inventories 112

57,725 Short Term Debtors 19 63,913

26,730 Cash and Cash Equivalents 20 24,737

95,577 Current Assets 126,278

94,233 Short Term Borrowing 18 95,297
57,110 Short Term Creditors 22 62,616

- Short Term Deferred Credits 5

12,377 Provisions 23 12,381

163,720 Current Liabilities 170,299

(Table continues on the following page)

P
age 173



Balance Sheet (continued)

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Core Financial Statements 46

(Table continued from previous page)

The accounts (subject to audit) were issued on the 31 May 2019

Shaer Halewood 

Director of Finance and Investment (S151)

31 May 2019

31st March 2019 Notes 31st March 2018

£'000 £'000

2,376 Provisions 23 2,275

164,542 Long Term Borrowing 18 171,503

578,937 Other Long Term Liabilities 42 499,750

830 Capital Grants received in advance 36 373

746,685 Long Term Liabilities 673,901

(91,324) Net Assets/(Liabilities) (34,206)

87,393 Useable Reserves 24 95,779

(178,717) Unusable Reserves 25 (129,985)

(91,324) Total Reserves (34,206)

P
age 174



Cash Flow Statement

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Core Financial Statements 47

The Cash Flow Statement
shows the changes in Cash
and Cash Equivalents of the
Council during the reporting
period.

The statement shows how the
Council generates and uses
cash and cash equivalents by
classifying cash flows as
operating, investing and
financing activities. The
amount of net cash flows
arising from operating activities
is a key indicator of the extent
to which the operations of the
Council are funded by way of
taxation and grant income or
by raising income from the
recipients of services provided
by the Council. Investing
activities represent the extent
to which cash outflows have
been made for resources
which are intended to
contribute to the Council’s
future service delivery. Cash
flows arising from financing
activities are useful in
predicting claims on future
cash flows by providers of
capital (i.e. borrowing) to the
Council.

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 Note £'000

49,847 Net (Surplus) / Deficit on the Provision of Services 55,889

(63,321) Adjust Net (Surplus) / Deficit on the Provision of Services for Non Cash Movements 26 (57,830)

23,074 Adjust for items in the Net (Surplus) / Deficit on the Provision of Services that are 

Investing or Financing Activities

26 20,035

9,600 Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities 18,094

(27,082) Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities 27 4,481

15,489 Net Cash Flow from Financing Activities 28 (23,361)

(1,993) Net (Increase)/Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (786)

(24,737) Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the Reporting Period (23,951)

(26,730) Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the Reporting Period (24,737)

P
age 175



3

Notes to the 

Core 

Financial 

Statements 

P
age 176



Note 1 Accounting Policies 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 49

GENERAL PRINCIPLES

The Statement of Accounts summarises the
Council’s transactions for the 2018/19
financial year and its position at the year-
end of 31 March 2019. The Council is
required to produce an Annual Statement of
Accounts by the Accounts and Audit
Regulations 2015 which require the
accounts to be prepared in accordance with
proper accounting practices. These
practices, under section 21 of the Local
Government Act 2003, primarily comprise
the Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19
(the Code) supported by International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
statutory guidance issued under section 12
of the 2003 Act.

The accounting convention adopted is
principally historical cost, modified for the
valuation of certain categories of property,
plant and equipment and financial
instruments. The accounts are also
prepared on a going concern basis. The
Code of Practice specifies the principles
and practices of accounting required to
prepare a Statement of Accounts which
provides a true and fair view of the financial
position and transactions of the Council and
is based on approved international
accounting standards, except where these

might conflict with specific statutory
accounting requirements.

In accordance with the Code, the Council
has adopted a number of principles to be
followed in selecting accounting policies to
be used and the corresponding disclosures
needed to help users to understand those
selected policies and how they have been
implemented. In doing so, the Council tries
to ensure that the policies selected are the
most suitable to its particular circumstances
for the purpose of providing a true and fair
view of the financial position and
transactions of the Council. Policies are
reviewed regularly to ensure their
appropriateness and are changed as
necessary to maintain this position. In such
cases a full disclosure will be provided. As
permitted under the Code, the concept of
materiality has been used when
determining appropriate disclosures to be
made in the financial statements.
Information is not material if omitting or
misstating it would not influence the
decisions of an informed user of the
statements.

The concepts that the Council has regard to
in selecting and applying these policies are:

Accounting policies can be defined as the
principles, bases, conventions, rules and
practices applied that specify how the
transactions and other events are to be
reflected in the financial statements through
recognising, selecting measurement bases
for, and presenting assets, liabilities, gains,
losses and changes in reserves.

Qualitative 

characteristics of 

financial 

information:

Revenue 

accounting 

concepts:

• Understandability

• Relevance

• Reliability

• Comparability

• Accruals

• Going concern

• Primacy of 

legislative 

requirements

P
age 177



Note 1 Accounting Policies 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 50

Changes to Accounting Policies

There are no new accounting policies
adopted in 2018/19. The existing
accounting policies have been updated to
reflect the changes required by the Code
the most significant being the adoption of
two new accounting standards IFRS 9
(Financial Instruments) and IFRS 15
(Revenue from Contracts with Customers):

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9 replaced IAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. It made changes to previous
guidance on the classification and
measurement of financial assets and
introduced an ‘expected credit loss’ model
for impairment of financial assets. The
Authority’s trade receivables and
investments in financial assets classed as
held to maturity (unless classed as fair
value through profit and loss) have been
assessed for impairment by applying the
expected credit loss model. The
reclassification changes have not had a
material impact upon the financial
statements because the majority of the
financial assets have retained the same
measurement bases. With respect to trade
receivables, the Authority already makes a
provision for doubtful debts on its service
assets.

The standard also contains new
requirements on the application of hedge
accounting (which will have no impact on
the Authority as local authorities are not
permitted to use hedge accounting).

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

This standard introduced new methodology
for determining when income from providing
goods and services is to be recognised in
the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement and replaced IAS
18 Revenue and IAS 11 Construction
Contracts. The standard introduced the
concept of contracting assets and liabilities
to account for timing differences between
the obligation to deliver goods or services
with the unconditional right to receive
payment by way of a five step model
framework for revenue recognition. As the
Authority has relatively predictable income
streams the impact has been minimal.

P
age 178



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 51

Income and Expenditure Recognition

Income and expenditure are recognised in
the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure
Statement in the financial year in which
goods and services are provided or received.
The amounts included are based on actual
invoices raised or received and, where actual
amounts are not known, estimates are
included based on an assessment of the
value of goods and services rendered or
received in the financial year. Any estimates
are calculated using the best available
information.

Where income and expenditure has been
recognised but cash has not been received or
paid, a debtor or creditor for the relevant
amount is recorded in the Balance Sheet. If
debts are not likely to be settled, the balance
of the debtor is written down and a charge
made to revenue for income that might not be
collected.

Income from Council Tax and National Non-
Domestic Rates is recognised within the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement as the amount due to the Council
for the financial year, including its share of the
Collection Fund balances for these items at
the end of the financial year. This value is
subsequently amended through the
Movement in Reserves Statement and the
Collection Fund Adjustment Account to reflect
the amount to be credited to the General
Fund for the Council’s Council Tax
Requirement and income from National Non-
Domestic Rates.

Interest receivable on investments and
payable on borrowings is accounted for as
Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure, within the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Account, based on
the effective interest rate for the relevant
financial instrument rather than the cash
flows set out by contract.

Capital Receipts

Sales of assets give rise to capital receipts if
the receipt exceeds £10,000. These are
recorded on an accrual basis and, if required,
are divided into a reserved part (based on
applicable statutory requirements) and a
useable part (the balance).

Useable receipts are initially credited to Other
Operating Expenditure within the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement, offset by an equivalent movement
in reserves to transfer the income to the
Capital Receipts Unapplied Reserve.
Reserved receipts are credited to the Capital
Adjustment Account to reduce the Council’s
Capital Financing Requirement. Receipts
under £10,000 in value remain as credits
within the General Fund.

The Secretary of State has determined that,
under provisions included in the Local
Government Act 2003, the Council is required
to pay over to the Department for
Communities and Local Government (DCLG)
a proportion of receipts derived from the
disposal of housing land.

Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC)
Energy Efficiency Scheme

The Council is required to participate in the
Carbon Reduction Commitment (CRC)
Energy Efficiency Scheme. This scheme is
currently in the fourth year of its second
phase, which ends on 31 March 2019. The
Scheme effectively leverages a 'carbon tax'
for each tonne of carbon dioxide emitted, and
the Council retrospectively purchases carbon
dioxide allowances, at a fixed price, to cover
its actual carbon dioxide emissions.

The Council’s CRC liability is measured as
the best estimate of expenditure required to
meet this obligation, on the basis of the
current market price for the number of
allowances required to meet the expected
liability at the reporting date. The cost to the
Council is recognised in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement,
apportioned to services on the basis of their
energy consumption.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash includes all balances, including
overdrafts and all deposit accounts, held by
the Council with financial institutions, and
which are accessible without notice.

Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value. They are held for the purpose of
meeting short-term cash commitments rather
than for investment or other purposes.

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 179



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 52

Contingent Assets and Liabilities

Contingent assets and liabilities are not
recognised in the Balance Sheet but are
disclosed by way of notes to the accounts.
The notes explain the nature of the asset or
liability and an estimate of the potential
financial impact. Contingent assets and
liabilities will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future
events, not wholly within the control of the
Council.

Debt Redemption through the Minimum
Revenue Provision (MRP)

The Council is required to make provision for
the repayment of an element of the
accumulated General Fund capital
expenditure, financed by borrowing, through
a revenue charge, in accordance with the
Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)
requirements.

Under regulations issued by the Ministry of
Housing, Communities and Local
Government (MHCLG) the Council has
approved an MRP Statement. Detailed rules
place a single duty to charge an amount of
MRP which the Council considers ‘prudent’.

The Council approved the following MRP
policy for the 2018/19 financial year:

(a) For capital expenditure incurred before
1st April 2008, and for supported capital
expenditure incurred on or after that date,
MRP will be determined by charging the
expenditure based on the expected useful

life of the relevant assets using an annuity
method, (Option 3 in England and Wales).
The annuity rate used in determining the
charge is 2%, equal to the Bank of England’s
Monetary Policy Committee’s rate of inflation
target.

(b) For unsupported capital expenditure
incurred after 31st March 2008, MRP will be
determined by charging the expenditure over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset
or as the principal repayment on an annuity
with an annual interest rate equal to the
average relevant PWLB rate for the year of
expenditure, starting in the year after the
expenditure has been incurred.

(c) For assets acquired by finance leases or
the Private Finance Initiative and for the
transferred debt from Merseyside County
Council, MRP will be determined as being
equal to the element of the rent or charge
that goes to write down the balance sheet
liability.

Ex-Merseyside County Council debt is
managed in a separate fund. Interest is
charged to constituent authorities at the
average rate for the fund. Principal
repayments are made on the basis of equal
instalments over 36 years commencing 1
April 1988.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Benefits payable during employment

Short-term employee benefits (other than
termination benefits) are those that are due

to be settled within 12 months of the financial
year end. They include benefits such as
salaries and paid annual leave and are
recognised as an expense for services in the
year in which employees render service to
the Council. An accrual is made for the cost
of outstanding annual leave that staff have
earned but not taken before the year end.
The accrual is charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement to ensure that annual leave
benefits are charged to revenue in the
financial year in which the annual leave
absence occurs.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are dealt with separately
from other employee benefits because the
event which gives rise to an obligation is the
termination rather than employee service.
Termination benefits are payable as a result
of either:

• the Council’s decision to terminate an
employee’s employment before the normal
retirement date, or

• an employee’s decision to accept
voluntary redundancy in exchange for
those benefits. Termination benefits are
often lump-sum payments.

The liability for termination benefits is
charged on an accrual basis to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement when either the Council can no

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 180



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 53

longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or
when the Council recognises restructuring
costs which involve the payment of
termination benefits, whichever is earlier.

Post-employment benefits

Employees of the Council are members of
three separate pension schemes which
provide members with defined benefits
(retirement lump sums and pensions) related
to pay and service. The schemes are as
follows: -

• The Teachers’ Pension Scheme, which is a
defined benefit scheme administered by
Capita on behalf of the Department for
Education. The arrangements for this
scheme mean that liabilities for these
benefits cannot be identified by the
Council. The scheme is therefore
accounted for as a defined contribution
scheme and therefore no liability for future
payments of benefits is recognised in the
Balance Sheet. The Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement is
charged with the employer's contributions
payable to the Teachers’ Pensions Scheme
in the year. The pension cost charged to
the accounts is the contribution rate set on
the basis of a notional fund.

• The NHS Pension Scheme, which is an
unfunded defined benefit scheme that
covers NHS employers, general practices
and other bodies allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State for
England and Wales. This scheme covers
staff transferred to the employment of the

Council following the transfer of public
health services on 1 April 2013. It is not
possible for the Council to identify its share
of the underlying scheme liabilities. The
scheme is therefore accounted for as a
defined contribution scheme, and therefore
no liability for future payments of benefits is
recognised in the Balance Sheet.

• The Local Government Pension Scheme
administered by the Merseyside Pension
Fund for all other employees. From 1
October 1987 the Council has
administered this Fund on behalf of all
scheduled and admitted bodies. This
operates as a defined benefit scheme and
the liabilities of the Merseyside Pension
Fund attributable to the Council are
included in the Balance Sheet on an
actuarial basis using the projected unit
credit method. This method is based on an
assessment of the future payments that will
be made to members in relation to future
retirement benefits earned to date - using
assumptions about mortality rates,
employee turnover. and projected earnings
for current members.

Further information on the specific accounting
policies for the Local Government Pension
Scheme is included in the Merseyside
Pension Fund Accounts section of this
document.

Post-employment benefits are accounted for
in accordance with International Accounting
Standard 19 (IAS19) on Employee Benefits.
Retirement benefits are therefore accounted

for at the point that a commitment arises,
even if the actual payment will be many years
in the future. This reflects the Council’s long-
term commitment to increase contributions to
make up any shortfall in attributable net
assets in the Local Government Pension
Scheme.

The assets of the Merseyside Pension Fund
attributable to the Council are included in the
Balance Sheet at their fair value, as
determined by: -

• Quoted securities - market value, based on
the price quoted to sellers in the market
(the bid price);

• Unquoted securities - professional
estimate;

• Unitised securities – the average of the
price quoted to sellers (the bid price) and
the price offered to buyers in the market
(the offer price); and

• Property - market value.

The change in the net pension liability is
analysed into seven components: -

(i) Current service cost - the increase in
liabilities as a result of years of service
earned in the financial year, allocated in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement to the services for which the
employees worked.

(ii) Past service gains - the increase
in liabilities arising from current

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 181



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 54

year decisions where the effect relates to
years of service earned in earlier years, which
is debited to Non-Distributed Costs within the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.

(iii) Net interest on the net defined benefit
liability – i.e. the net interest expense for the
Council – the change during the period in the
net defined benefit liability that arises from the
passage of time charged to the Financing and
Investment Income line of the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement. This is
calculated by applying the discount rate used
to measure the defined benefit obligation at
the beginning of the period taking into
account any changes in the net defined
benefit liability during the period as a result of
contributions and benefit payments.

(iv) Administration costs, which are charged
to the Other Operating Expenditure line within
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.

Gains/losses on curtailments - the results of
actions to relieve the Council of liabilities or
events that reduce the expected future
service or accrual of benefits of employees,
debited or credited to Non-Distributed Costs
within the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement.

Contributions paid to Merseyside Pension
Fund – employer’s contributions paid by the
Council to the Pension Fund.

Re-measurement - comprising items charged
as Other Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure:

● The return on plan assets charged to the
Pensions Reserve, excluding amounts in net
interest on the net defined benefit liability; and

● Actuarial gains and losses – changes in the
net pension liability that arises because
events have not coincided with assumptions
made at the last actuarial valuation or
because the actuaries have updated their
assumptions.

Statutory provisions require the General Fund
balance to be charged with the amount
payable by the Council to the Pension Fund
or pensioner in the year, not the amount
calculated according to the relevant
accounting standards. In the Movement in
Reserves Statement appropriations are
required to and from the Pensions Reserve,
to remove the notional debits and credits for
retirement benefits and replace them with
debits for the cash paid to the Pension Fund
and pensioners and any such amounts
payable but unpaid at the year-end. The
negative balance on the Pensions Reserve
thereby measures the beneficial impact to the
General Fund of being required to account for
retirement benefits on the basis of cash flows
rather than as benefits are earned by
employees.

The Council also has restricted powers to
make discretionary awards of retirement
benefits in the event of early retirement. Any
liabilities estimated to arise as a result of an
award to any member of staff (including
teachers) are either accrued in the year of the
decision to make the award or reimbursed to
the Pension Fund over a five-year period.

Events after the Balance Sheet date

Consideration is given to any material events
occurring after the Balance Sheet date, but
prior to the Statement of Accounts being
authorised for issue.

If a material event provides further evidence
of conditions that existed at the Balance
Sheet date, the Statement of Accounts is
adjusted to reflect its impact.

If a material event provides evidence of an
event that did not arise until after the Balance
Sheet date, no adjustment is made. However,
where an event would have a material effect
on the Statement of Accounts then disclosure
is made in the notes to the accounts of the
nature of the event and either its estimated
financial effect or a statement that such an
estimate cannot be made reliably.

Fair Value

A number of non-financial assets such as
Investment Properties and financial
instruments are valued at Fair Value.

Fair Value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability. A
fair value assessment assumes that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the
liability occurs either:

• In the principal market for the asset or
liability, or

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 182



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 55

• In the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability.

The Council uses appropriate valuation
techniques for each circumstance. This
takes account of three levels of categories
from inputs to valuations for fair value
assets:

Level 1 – Quoted prices.

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices
included within level 1 that are observable
for the asset or the liability, either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3 – Unobservable inputs for the assets
or liability.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Recognition and Measurement

A financial instrument is any contract that
gives rise to a financial asset of an entity
and a financial liability or equity instrument
in another. The term “financial instrument”
covers both financial assets and liabilities
and includes, amongst others, trade
receivables and payables, borrowings,
financial guarantees, bank deposits and
loans receivable.

Initial Recognition

Financial instruments are recognised on the
Balance Sheet when, and only when, the
Council become a party to the contractual

provisions of the instrument, i.e. when the
purchasers become committed to the
purchase or, in the case of the loan, the
cash changes hands. Sales and disposals
of financial assets are recognised in the
same way.

Trade receivables and payables are, in
contrast, only recognised when the goods
and services have actually been delivered or
received.

Initial Measurement

Financial assets and liabilities are measured
initially at fair value less transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or
liability.

Financial Assets

The financial assets of the Council are
classified based on a classification and
measurement approach that reflects the
business model for holding the financial
assets and their cashflow characteristics.
There are three main classes of financial
assets measured at:

• amortised cost

• fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
and

• fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVOCI)

The Council’s business model is to hold
investments to collect contractual cash

flows. Financial assets are therefore
classified as amortised cost, except for
those whose contractual payments are not
solely payment of principal and interest (i.e.
where the cash flows do not take the form of
a basic debt instrument)

Financial Assets Measured at Amortised
Cost

Financial assets measured at amortised
cost are recognised on the Balance Sheet
when the Council becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of a financial
instrument and are initially measured at fair
value. They are subsequently measured at
their amortised cost. Annual credits to the
Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES)
for interest receivable are based on the
carrying amount of the asset multiplied by
the effective rate of interest the instrument.
The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash
flows over the life of the instrument to the
amount at which it was originally
recognised. For most of the financial assets
held by the Council, this means that the
amount presented in the Balance Sheet is
the outstanding principal receivable (plus
accrued interest) and interest credited to the
CIES is the amount receivable for the year
in the loan agreement.

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 183



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 56

Any gains and losses that arise on de-
recognition of assets are credited/debited to
the financing and investment income and
expenditure line in the comprehensive
income and expenditure statement surplus
or deficit on the provision of services.

Expected Credit Loss Model

The Council recognises expected credit
losses on all of its financial assets held at
amortised cost, either on a 12 month or
lifetime basis. The expected credit loss
model also applies to lease receivables and
contract assets. Only lifetime losses are
recognised for trade receivables (debtors)
held by the Council.

Impairment losses are calculated to reflect
the expectation that the future cash flows
might not take place because the borrower
could default on their obligations. Credit risk
plays a crucial part in assessing losses.
Where risk has increased significantly since
an instrument was initially recognised,
losses are assessed on a lifetime basis.
Where risk has not increased significantly or
remains low, losses are assessed on the
basis of 12-month expected losses.

The most significant arrears that require
impairment relate to Council Tax and Non
Domestic Rates within the Collection Fund
accounts. Although these are statutory
debts rather than financial instruments, the
assessment of impairment allowance for
doubtful debts takes into account the same

type of information. In the current economic
climate there is some uncertainty regarding
future collection rates.

Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value
through Profit of Loss

Financial assets that are measured at FVPL
are recognised on the Balance Sheet when
the Council becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of a financial
instrument and are initially measured and
carried at fair value.

Fair value gains and losses are recognised
as they arrive in the Surplus or Deficit on the
Provision of Services.

The fair value measurements of the financial
assets are based on the following
techniques:

• instruments with quoted market prices –
the market price

• other instruments with fixed and
determinable payments – discounted cash
flow analysis.

The inputs to the measurement techniques
are categorised in accordance with the
following three levels:

Level 1 inputs – quoted prices (unadjusted) 
in active markets for identical assets that the 
Council can access at the measurement 
date. 

Level 2 inputs – inputs other than quoted

prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset, either directly or
indirectly.

Level 3 inputs – unobservable inputs for
the asset.

Where fair value of an equity instrument
cannot be measured reliably and the best
estimate of fair value is cost, it is carried at
cost (less any impairment losses).

Any gains and losses that arise on the
derecognition of the asset are credited or
debited to the Financing and Investment
Income and Expenditure line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 184



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 57

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised on the
Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a
party to the contractual provisions of a
financial instrument. Liabilities are initially
measured at fair value and carried at their
amortised cost. Interest payable is included
within Financing and Investment Income
and Expenditure within the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement, based
on the carrying amount of the liability
multiplied by the effective rate of interest for
the instrument.

Instruments entered into before 1 April
2006

The Council has entered into a number of
financial guarantees that are not required to
be accounted for as financial instruments.
These guarantees are reflected in the
Statement of Accounts if either a provision
or a contingent liability note is required.

Disclosure of the nature and risk arising
from Financial Instruments

The Council activities expose it to a variety
of financial risks such as:

• Credit risk – the risk that other parties
might fail to pay amounts due;

• Liquidity risk – insufficient funds available
to meet commitments;

• Market risk – financial loss as a result of
changes in interest rates.

In order to minimise these risks, the Council
complies with the CIPFA Prudential Code,
the CIPFA Treasury Management in Public
Services Code of Practice and Investment
Guidance issued to meet the requirements
of the Local Government Act 2003.

Government Grants and Other
Contributions

Government grants and other contributions
are accounted for on an accruals basis and
recognised in the accounting statements
when the conditions for their receipt have
been complied with and there is reasonable
assurance that the grant or contribution will
be received. This also applies to grants
received in respect of Revenue Expenditure
Funded from Capital under Statute
(REFCUS).

Specific revenue grants and contributions
are recognised in the accounts, matched to
the expenditure to which they relate. In the
event that the revenue grant is not utilised to
match expenditure, the unused grant is
transferred into earmarked reserves for
future use. In the event that conditions
attached to a revenue grant are not met
then the balance of the revenue grant that
will require repayment to the funding body is
treated as a liability in the Balance Sheet,
within Short Term Creditors.

General revenue grants are provided to
finance the general activities of the Council.
Grants are treated as income within the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

Statement in the year receivable, within
Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income and
Expenditure.

Grants related to the funding of capital
expenditure are treated as income within the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement, also within Taxation and Non-
specific Grant Income and Expenditure,
when the conditions regarding their use are
met. A corresponding amount is transferred,
as shown in the Movement in Reserves
Statement, from the General Fund Balance
to the Capital Adjustment Account in
Unusable Reserves if the grant has been
used to finance capital expenditure in the
year or to the Capital Grants Unapplied
Account until it is used. Capital grants with
conditions attached are also held as receipts
in advance in the Capital Grants Unapplied
Account until such time as the conditions
are met and the grant applied to finance
capital expenditure. Where a capital grant
has been received but the conditions
regarding its use are not met, it is
transferred to Capital Grants Received in
Advance until such time as the grant
conditions are met. At this point, it is then
recognised as a capital grant within the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement as Taxation and Non-specific
Grant Income.

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 185



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 58

Group Accounts

Group Accounts are covered by International
Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS)10 -
Consolidated Financial Statements, IFRS 11
– Joint Arrangements, IFRS 12 - Disclosure
of Interests in Other Entities, International
Accounting Standard (IAS) 27 - Separate
Financial Statements and IAS 28 -
Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures. An assessment of the criteria for
the completion of Group Accounts has been
undertaken and the conclusion reached that
there was no requirement to produce such
accounts. The Council has a number of
interests in other entities that fall within the
group boundary of the Council on the grounds
of control and significant influence in line with
the Code. However, as the Council’s interests
in total are not material, when reviewing both
quantitative and qualitative information, group
accounts have not been produced. In order
to ensure compliance with the Code further
details are covered in Note 37 Related Party
Transactions and Note 48 Involvement with
Companies. Only the Council’s share of Joint
Operations has been included in the
Statement of Accounts.

Heritage Assets

Heritage assets are assets which have
historic, artistic, scientific, geophysical or
environmental qualities. This group of assets
are held and maintained principally because
of their contribution to knowledge and culture.

These assets are recognised in the Balance

Sheet when their value exceeds the
capitalisation threshold of £10,000. Their
value at the time of recognition is, wherever
possible, at either valuation or cost. If this has
not been possible, particularly in respect of
the art collection assets and civic regalia,
where the distinctive and rare nature of these
assets can make valuations complicated (and
in some cases unobtainable), the assets are
not included as a value on the Balance Sheet
but are detailed in notes to the Statement of
Accounts.

Depreciation is not charged on heritage
assets. The Council considers that because
the various categories of heritage assets
have indeterminate lives and / or high
residual values it is not considered
appropriate to charge depreciation.

Intangible Assets

Assets which do not have physical substance
(e.g. software licences) are treated as
Intangible Assets. These assets are
capitalised on the Balance Sheet where they
are separately identifiable and controlled by
the Council (e.g. software licences) and are
expected to bring benefits to the Council for
more than one financial year. Intangible
assets are only capitalised if their value
exceeds the capital threshold of £10,000.

A purchased intangible asset is capitalised at
cost. Internally developed intangible assets
are only capitalised if there is a readily
ascertainable market. Intangible assets are
reviewed for impairment at the end of the first

full financial year following operation. The
balance is amortised to the relevant service
revenue line in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement over the
economic life of the investment, to reflect the
pattern of consumption of benefits. Any
impairment loss recognised is similarly
treated in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement. Any gain or loss on
the disposal of an intangible asset is shown
within the Other Operating Expenditure line in
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.

When expenditure on intangible assets
qualifies under statutory definition as capital
expenditure, amortisation, impairment losses
and gains, and losses on disposal are not
permitted to have an impact on the General
Fund balance. Gains and losses are therefore
reversed out of the General Fund balance in
the Movement in Reserves Statement and
posted to the Capital Adjustment Account and
the Capital Receipts Reserve.

Investment Properties

The Council classifies investment properties
as property which is held exclusively for
revenue generation or for the capital gain that
the asset is expected to generate. These
assets are not used directly to deliver Council
services. . Any property that is used to
facilitate the delivery of services, as well as
earn rentals

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 186



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 59

or, for capital appreciation, does not meet the
definition of an investment property, and is
accounted for as Property, Plant and
Equipment (PPE).

Investment property is measured initially at
cost. After initial recognition, investment
property is measured at fair value. A gain or
loss arising from a change in the fair value of
investment property is recognised in
Financing and Investment Income and
Expenditure within the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement for the
period in which it arises. The fair value of
investment property reflects the market
conditions at the Balance Sheet date and, as
held at fair value, is not depreciated.

Rentals received in relation to investment
properties are recognised in Financing and
Investment Income and Expenditure within
the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement and result in an increase to the
General Fund balance. Gains and losses on
the revaluation and disposal of investment
properties are not permitted by statute to
affect the General Fund balance. Any such
gains and losses are therefore reversed out
through the Movement in Reserves
Statement to the Capital Adjustment Account
and (for sale proceeds over £10,000) to the
Capital Receipts Reserve.

Joint Operations

Joint operations are activities undertaken by
the Council in conjunction with other parties

that involve the use of the assets or
resources rather than the establishment of a
separate entity. The Council recognises on
its Balance Sheet its share of the assets and
liabilities generated by the operation, and the
Cost of Services within the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement includes
its share of the expenditure incurred and of
income earned from the activity.

Leasing

Leases are classified as either finance
leases or operating leases based on the
extent to which risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of a leased asset lie with the
lessor or the lessee. Whether a lease is a
finance lease, or an operating lease depends
on the substance of the transaction rather
than the form of any legal agreement.
Leases are classified as finance leases
where the terms of the lease transfer the
majority of the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of the Property, Plant or
Equipment from the lessor to the lessee. All
other leases are classified as operating
leases. Land and building elements of a
lease are considered separately for the
purpose of lease classification.

Finance Leases

The Council, as lessor, recognises assets
held under finance lease as receivable at an
amount equal to the net investment in the
lease. The lease payment receivable is
treated as repayment of principal and finance

income. The finance income is calculated so
as to produce a constant periodic rate of
return on the net investment.

Arrangements containing a lease

An arrangement comprising a transaction
that does not take the legal form of a lease
but conveys a right to use an asset (e.g. an
item of Property, Plant and Equipment) in
return for a payment or a series of payments,
may be accounted for as though the
arrangement is, or contains, a lease.

Determining whether an arrangement is or
contains a lease is based on the substance
of the arrangement and requires an
assessment of whether: -

a) Fulfilment of the arrangement is
dependent on the use of a specific asset or
assets; or

b) The arrangement conveys a right to use
the asset.

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 187



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 60

Overheads and Support Service Costs

The cost of overheads and support services
are charged to each theme and portfolio (as
set out in the Wirral plan) in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement in accordance with the Council’s
arrangements for accountability and financial
performance.

Prior Year Adjustments

Prior year adjustments may arise as a result
of changes in accounting policies. These are
only made when required by proper
accounting practices or the change provides
more reliable or relevant information about
the effect of transactions, other events and
conditions on the Council’s financial position
or financial performance. Material
adjustments from changes in accounting
policies or the correction of fundamental
errors are accounted for by restating the
comparative figures for the preceding period
in the Statement of Accounts and supporting
notes.

Private Finance Initiatives (PFI) and
Similar Contracts

For a PFI or similar contract the Council will
recognise the asset and liability on the
Balance Sheet, and account for it as if it was
a finance lease, if: -

• This involves an operator constructing,
acquiring or enhancing and then operating
and managing an asset in order to provide

or enable the Council to provide services
to the public; and

• The Council controls or regulates the
services provided through use of the asset
and has a significant residual interest in
the asset.

The remaining service element of the
contract payment will be charged to revenue
as incurred.

The Wirral Schools’ PFI Scheme Project
Agreement was originally signed in March
2001 and involved the rebuilding and/or
refurbishment of one primary and eight
secondary schools in Wirral. A Deed of
Amendment was entered into on 9
September 2004 to extend the contract until
July 2031.

The first phase of the Project (Construction
Works) was completed on the final schools in
August 2006 and the Council now receive
support services in accordance with a
detailed set of Output Specifications. These
include building and services maintenance,
grounds maintenance, catering, cleaning,
caretaking, security, utilities and
telecommunications.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(PPE) 

Recognition

Property, Plant and Equipment assets are
physical assets, held for use in the provision

of services, for rental to others or for
administrative purposes, and which are
expected to be used for more than one year.

PPE includes expenditure on such things as
the acquisition of land and buildings, the
acquisition of vehicles, plant and equipment
and the construction and enhancement of
roads, buildings and other structures.

Expenditure on the acquisition, creation or
enhancement of PPE is capitalised on an
accruals basis in the accounts - if it yields
benefit to the Council, and the services it
provides, for more than one year; the cost
exceeds the minimum threshold for
capitalisation of £10,000 and the cost can be
measured reliably.

Expenditure that maintains but does not
enhance the benefit that an asset can provide
– such as repairs and maintenance - is
charged as an expense to revenue when it is
incurred.

The Council does not capitalise borrowing
costs against capital projects, which are
incurred when borrowing takes place to
finance capital spending on assets under
construction. Such costs are charged as an
expense to revenue within the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement under Financing and Investment
Income and Expenditure.

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 188



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 61

The Council maintains a detailed asset
register of all assets that it owns and
recognises under finance leases and Public
Finance Initiative (PFI) contracts.

Measurement

Property, plant and equipment (PPE) is
valued on the basis recommended by CIPFA
and in accordance with the Statements of
Asset Valuation Principles and Guidance
Notes issued by The Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors (RICS). Under the Code
of Practice on Local Authority Accounting
valuations now need to be made with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying
amount of assets does not differ materially
from their fair value. Items within a class of
property, plant and equipment are to be
revalued simultaneously to avoid selective
revaluations and ensure that the reporting
amounts in the financial statements are not a
mixture of costs and values at different dates.
Classes of assets may be revalued on a
rolling basis provided that the revaluation of
the class of assets is completed within a short
period and that their values are kept up to
date. Valuations shall be carried out at
intervals of no more than five years.

PPE is classified according to the Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting and
are included in the Balance Sheet using the
following measurement techniques: -

• Land and buildings are included at current
value. Specialist properties were valued
using the Depreciated Replacement Cost
method. Operational properties, where

business is assumed to continue, were
valued using the Existing Use Value
method.

• Infrastructure assets, community assets,
vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment are
included in the Balance Sheet at historic
cost net of depreciation, where
appropriate.

• Surplus assets, which are not essential to
the operation of the Council or its services,
are included at fair value.

• Assets under construction are held at cost.

Increases in asset valuations are matched by
an increase in the Revaluation Reserve to
recognise unrealised gains.

Reductions in asset valuations are
recognised in the Consolidated Income &
Expenditure Statement, unless previous
revaluation gains on the asset, held in the
Revaluation reserve, are sufficient to offset all
or some of the reduction in value.

Where valuation gains or losses are
recognised in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement, equivalent
amounts are transferred into the Capital
Adjustment Account.

Revaluation gains are depreciated with an
amount equal to the difference between
current value depreciation charged on assets
and the depreciation that would have been
chargeable based on their historical cost. This
amount is transferred each year from the
Revaluation Reserve to the Capital

Adjustment Account. The Revaluation
Reserve contains revaluation gains
recognised since 1 April 2007 only, the date
when it came into existence. Gains arising
before that date have been consolidated in
the Capital Adjustment Account.

Assets are recognised into components for
depreciation purposes when the component
has a significant cost compared to the total
cost of the item (greater than 10% of the
asset value) and a different useful life to the
remainder of the asset. Only assets with a
value of over £2 million are componentised.
Where enhancement expenditure replaces an
existing component, it becomes necessary to
de-recognise the carrying value of the
component replaced or restored and replace
it with the value of the new component in the
carrying amount, even where parts of an
asset were not previously recognised as
separate components.

Impairment

The value of each category of assets is
reviewed at the end of each financial year to
assess whether there is any evidence of an
impairment loss. This would arise, for
example, from a significant decline in the
asset’s market value, evidence of
obsolescence or physical damage, a change
in the regulatory environment within which the
Council operates or a commitment to
undertake a significant re-organisation.

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 189



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 62

Impairment losses are recognised:

By a reduction in the Revaluation Reserve,
up to the level of historical revaluations for
that particular asset; or

Within the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement for all impairments
that are not covered by historical
revaluations within the Revaluation Reserve.

Where an impairment loss is subsequently
reversed, the reversal is included in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement, up to the amount of the original
loss, adjusted for depreciation, that would
have been charged if the loss had not been
recognised.

To avoid impairment becoming a charge
against Council Tax the value of all such
impairments is reversed out within the
Movement in Reserves Statement and
charged to the Capital Adjustment Account.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided for on all Property,
Plant and Equipment (PPE) assets with a
determinable finite life, by allocating the
value of the asset in the Balance Sheet over
the periods expected to benefit from their
use. An exception is made for assets without
a determinable finite useful life (i.e. freehold
land and certain Community Assets) and
assets that are not yet available for use (i.e.
assets under construction).

Depreciation is calculated on the following
bases:

Buildings – straight line allocation (i.e.
apportioned equally over the remaining life of
the property or its components, as estimated
by an authorised valuer); and

Vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment and
Infrastructure assets – straight line allocation
over the estimated useful life of each class of
assets in the Balance Sheet, as advised by a
suitably qualified officer.

Infrastructure – straight line allocation over
the estimated useful life of the asset.

Revaluation gains are also depreciated, with
an amount equal to the difference between
current value depreciation charged on assets
and the depreciation that would have been
chargeable based on their historical cost
being transferred each year from the
Revaluation Reserve to the Capital
Adjustment Account.

Derecognition of Assets/Disposals

An asset is derecognised by disposal or
when no future economic benefit or service
potential is expected from its use.

When an asset is derecognised, the value of
the asset in the Balance Sheet is written off
to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or
loss on disposal. Receipts from disposals are
credited to Other Operating Expenditure

within the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement as part of the gain or
loss on disposal (i.e. netted off against the
carrying value of the asset at the time of
disposal). Any revaluation gains in the
Revaluation Reserve are transferred to the
Capital Adjustment Account.

Assets are not revalued immediately prior to
disposal unless legislation requires or allows
the Council to do so.

Amounts in excess of £10,000 are classified
as capital receipts. Such receipts from
disposals are accounted for on an accruals
basis and credited to the Capital Receipts
Reserve. A proportion of receipts relating to
housing disposals are paid over to Central
Government as a ‘housing pooled capital
receipt’. This is charged to Net Operating
Cost within the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement and the same
amount is appropriated from the useable
Capital Receipts Reserve and credited to
Movement in Reserves Statement.

Charges to Revenue for Property, Plant
and Equipment

All General Fund service revenue accounts,
including support services are charged with
the following amounts to record the real cost
of all assets used in the provision of services:

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 190



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 63

• Depreciation attributable to the assets
used by the relevant service;

• Impairment/revaluation losses attributable
to the clear consumption of economic
benefits on non-current assets used by the
service, but only when there is no
associated balance on an existing
Revaluation Reserve;

• Amortisation of intangible assets
attributable to the service.

The financing of capital expenditure from
revenue is disclosed separately as an
appropriation in the Movement in Reserves
Statement.

Provisions

The Council sets aside provisions for specific
future expenses that are likely or certain to
be incurred but the amount and timing of
which cannot yet be determined accurately.
Provisions are only made where there is a
present obligation based on a past event, it is
probable that a transfer of economic benefit
will occur, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the obligation.

Provisions are charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement in the year in which the Council
becomes aware of the obligation. When
payments for expenditure are incurred to
which the provision relates, they are charged
directly to the provision. Provisions are

reviewed at the Balance Sheet date and
adjusted as necessary to reflect the current
best estimate.

The principal provisions relate to rates
appeals, severance pay and insurance
claims.

Repurchase of Borrowing

Gains and losses on the repurchase or early
settlement of borrowing are recognised
within the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement in the period during
which the repurchase or early settlement is
made.

Where repurchase has taken place as part of
a restructuring of borrowing with substantially
the same overall economic effect when
viewed as a whole, the premiums or
discounts can respectively be deducted from
or added to the amortised cost of the new or
modified loan. The associated charge to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement is spread over the life of the loan
by an adjustment to the effective interest
rate. If the repurchase has been determined
as being substantially different, the premiums
or discounts are immediately fully written-off
to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement.

For premiums and discounts that have been
charged to the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement, Government
regulations allow for the impact on the

General Fund balances to be spread over
future years with an offset through a transfer
to the Financial Instrument Adjustment
Account (part of Other Reserves).

Balances held in the Financial Instrument
Adjustment Account will be released to
revenue in accordance with Government
regulations.

Reserves

The Council sets aside specific amounts as
reserves for future policy purposes or to
cover contingencies. Reserves are
categorised as either “useable” or “Unusable”
and may include earmarked reserves - set
aside for specific policy purposes - and
balances that represent resources set aside
for purposes such as general contingencies
and cash flow

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 191



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 64

management. Reserves are created by appropriating amounts through
the Movement in Reserves Statement. When expenditure to be
financed from a reserve is incurred, it is charged to the appropriate
service in that year in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement. The reserve is then appropriated back to the Movement in
Reserves Statement so that there is no net charge against Council Tax
for the expenditure.

useable reserves are those the Council may use to fund either revenue
or capital expenditure. Unusable reserves are kept managing the
accounting treatment of non-current assets, financial instruments,
retirement and employee benefits and do not represent useable
resources for the Council.

An estimation technique applies to the Insurance Fund Liability
Reserve which is similar to that referred to in the section on provisions.

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute
(REFCUS)

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital Under Statute (REFCUS) is
expenditure of a capital nature that does not result in the creation of a
non-current asset on the Balance Sheet. These are generally grants
and expenditure on property not owned by the Council which have
been charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement. These items are normally written-off as expenditure in the
year of payment. If financed from existing capital resources or
borrowing, a transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account from the
Movement in Reserves Statement is used to offset the amounts
charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement so
that there is no impact on the level of Council Tax.

Schools

The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United
Kingdom 2018/19 states the way that schools are recognised within the
Council’s accounts. Where the balance of control for Local Authority
maintained schools lies with the Council – i.e. those categories of

school identified in the School Standards and Framework Act 1998, as
amended, then the assets, liabilities, reserves and cash flows of those
schools are recognised in the Council’s financial statements, rather
than within Group Accounts. Non-current assets are recognised in the
Balance Sheet where the Council directly owns the assets or where the
school own the assets or have had rights to use the assets transferred
to them.

The numbers and types of schools recognised within the financial
statements on this basis are as follows;

Value Added Tax (VAT)

Income and expenditure exclude any amounts related to VAT, as VAT
collected is payable to HM Revenue and Customs and VAT paid is
recoverable from them. VAT is included in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement only if it is irrecoverable.

Type of 

School 

Nursery Primary Secondary Special Total 

Community 3 51 2 11 67

Voluntary 

Aided

- 23 - - 23

Voluntary 

Controlled 

- 4 - - 4

Foundation - - 3 - 3

Total 3 78 5 11 97

Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued) 

P
age 192



Note 2 Accounting Standards Issued but Not Yet Adopted 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 65

For 2018/19 there are amendments to the
following Accounting Standards which will
become effective from 1 April 2019.

Accounting changes that are introduced
by the 2019/20 code are:

• Amendments to IAS 40 Investment
Property: Transfers of Investment
Property

• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards
2014-2016 Cycle;

• IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration;

• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments;

• Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments: Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation.

These changes are not expected to have a
material impact on the
Council’s statements.

P
age 193



Note 3 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 66

In applying the accounting policies laid out
in Note 1, the Council has had to make
certain critical judgements about complex
transactions or those involving uncertainty
about future events. In the accounts these
are as follows:

• There is a high degree of uncertainty
about future levels of funding for local
government and the impact on the
economy of implementation of Brexit
However, the Council has determined
that these uncertainties are not yet
sufficient to provide an indication that
assets of the Council might be impaired
as a result of a need to close facilities
and reduce levels of service provision.

• In order to deliver Education Services to
Wirral residents, the Council provides
funding through the Dedicated School
Grant to schools. The Council has made
a judgement, based on information
provided by the Roman Catholic Church
and the Church of England that it does
not exercise a balance of control over the
majority of Voluntary Aided, Voluntary
Controlled or Foundation Schools of
these schools, which therefore fall
outside the revised accounting
requirements of IFRS10 (Consolidated

Financial Statements) and IFRS12
(Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities).
The Council does however include within
its balance sheet the value of the land
and buildings for Foundation Schools
where control through ownership
remains. School assets are recognised
as a disposal from the Council’s balance
sheet on the date on which a school
converts to academy status, not on the
date of any related announcement, nor is
any impairment recognised by the
Council prior to conversion

• The Council has taken the decision to
provide for additional pension fund
liabilities of £16.7m in 18/19, following
the recent ruling on the McCloud and
Sargeant court case. The Court of
Appeal ruled that there was age
discrimination in the Firefighter unfunded
pension schemes and the Judicial
pension arrangements regarding
transitional protections granted to older
members when reformed schemes were
introduced in 2015. This ruling – on
which the Government’s request for an
appeal has now been denied – is
expected to have implications for other
public sector schemes, including the
Local Government Pension Scheme
operated for Wirral Council by the

Merseyside Pension Fund. The
provision of £16.7m is based on revised
actuarial calculations which also indicate
an increase in future pension costs of c
£2m per annum.

P
age 194



Note 4 Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major 
Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 67

The Statement of Accounts
contains estimated figures
that are based on
assumptions made by the
Council about the future or
that are otherwise uncertain.
Estimates are made taking
into account historical
experience, current trends
and other relevant factors.
However, because balances
cannot be determined with
certainty, actual results could
be materially different from
the assumptions and
estimates.

The items in the Council’s
Balance Sheet at 31 March
2019 for which there is
significant risks of material
adjustment in the forthcoming
financial year are shown the
table:

Item Uncertainties Effect if actual results differ from 

assumptions 

Pensions Liability Estimation of the net liability to pay

pensions depends on a number of

complex judgements relating to the

discount rate used, the rate at which

salaries are projected to increase,

changes in retirement ages, mortality

rates and expected returns on pension

fund assets. A firm of consulting

actuaries is engaged to provide the

Council with expert advice about the

assumptions to be applied.

The effects on the net pensions

liability of changes in individual

assumptions can be measured. For

instance, a 0.5% increase in the

discount rate assumption would result

in a decrease in the pension liability

of £141.1 million.

During 2018/19, the Council's

actuaries advised that the net

pensions liability had increased by

£82.3 million as a result of updating of

the assumptions.

Property, Plant and 

Equipment

Land and buildings are revalued using as

a guide a 5–year rolling programme,

ensuring that the current value of the

assets is reflected in the Balance Sheet.

Guidance states that assets should be

revalued with sufficient regularity to

ensure that their carrying value does not

differ materially from fair value at the

year-end. Any uncertainty could surround

the potential difference between current

value and fair value as assets with a high

value may not have been revalued with

sufficient regularity.

If the carrying value of the land and

buildings is under-stated by 1% then

the carrying value within the Balance

Sheet would change by +/- £4.8

million and would be matched by a

corresponding change to either the

Revaluation Reserve, and/or the

Comprehensive Income and

Expenditure Statement as a charge

for, or reversal of impairment.

P
age 195



Note 7 Events after the Balance Sheet Date

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 68

Note 5 Material Items of Income & Expense

Note 6 Exceptional Items

Significant items of income and expenditure in 2018/19 include: 

• An additional increase in pension liabilities of £16.7m, reflecting the outcome of a recent court ruling.  (See Note 3).

• The sale of the Acre Lane Professional Excellence Centre, Eastham.  (See Note 21).

There were no exceptional items in 2018/19.

Relevant events after the balance sheet date have been considered up to 31 July 2019. This is the date the accounts were authorised for 

issue by the Director of Finance and Investment. 

P
age 196



Note 8 Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis 
Under Regulations     

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 69

This note details the adjustments that are made to the total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure recognised by the Council in the year, in
accordance with proper accounting practice, to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the Council to
meet future capital and revenue expenditure.

2018/19 General Capital Capital Movement

Fund Receipts Grants in Useable

Balance Reserve Unapplied Reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

Pension Cost transferred to/(from) the Pensions Reserve 22,410 - - (22,410)

Financial Instruments (transferred to the Financial Instruments Adjustments Account) (664) - - 664

Council tax and National Non-Domestic Rates (transfers to or from the Collection Fund) (2,429) - - 2,429

Holiday Pay transferred to the Accumulated Absences reserve (246) - - 246

Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in relation to 

Capital Expenditure (these items are charged to the Capital Adjustment Account)

52,894 165 - (53,059)

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources 71,965 165 - (72,130)

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Transfer of Non-Current Asset Sale Proceeds from Revenue to the Capital Receipts Reserve (13,424) 13,424 - -

Payments to the Government Housing Receipts Pool (funded by a transfer from the Capital 

Receipts Reserve)

(1) 1 - -

Statutory Provision for the Repayment of Debt (transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account) (8,196) - - 8,196

Capital Expenditure financed from Revenue Balances (transfer to the Capital Adjustment 

Account)

(11) - - 11

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources (21,632) 13,425 - 8,207

Adjustments to Capital Resources

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to Finance Capital Expenditure - (14,339) - 14,339

Application of Capital Grants to Finance Capital Expenditure (9,986) - 1,863 8,123

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources (9,986) (14,339) 1,863 22,462

Total Adjustments 40,347 (749) 1,863 (41,461)

P
age 197



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 70

Note 8 Adjustments Between Accounting Basis and Funding Basis Under Regulations (continued)     

2017/18 General Capital Capital Movement

Fund Receipts Grants in Useable

Balance Reserve Unapplied Reserves

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Adjustments to the Revenue Resources

Pension Cost transferred to/(from) the Pensions Reserve 5,932 - - (5,932)

Financial Instruments (transferred to the Financial Instruments Adjustments Account) (49) - - 49

Council tax and National Non-Domestic Rates (transfers to or from the Collection Fund) 5,784 - - (5,784)

Holiday Pay transferred to the Accumulated Absences reserve (1,576) - - 1,576

Reversal of entries included in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services in relation 

to Capital Expenditure (these items are charged to the Capital Adjustment Account)

67,632 204 - (67,836)

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources 77,723 204 - (77,927)

Adjustments between Revenue and Capital Resources

Transfer of Non-Current Asset Sale Proceeds from Revenue to the Capital Receipts Reserve (6,331) 6,331 - -

Payments to the Government Housing Receipts Pool (funded by a transfer from the Capital 

Receipts Reserve)

2 (2) - -

Statutory Provision for the Repayment of Debt (transfer to the Capital Adjustment Account) (7,307) - - 7,307

Capital Expenditure financed from Revenue Balances (transfer to the Capital Adjustment 

Account)

(189) - - 189

Total Adjustments to Revenue Resources (13,825) 6,329 - 7,496

Adjustments to Capital Resources

Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance capital expenditure - (10,419) - 10,419

Application of capital grants to finance capital expenditure (9,078) - (531) 9,609

Total Adjustments to Capital Resources (9,078) (10,419) (531) 20,028

Total Adjustments 54,820 (3,886) (531) (50,403)

P
age 198



Note 9 Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 71

This analysis shows how annual expenditure is used and funded from annual resources (government grants, rents, council tax and business
rates) by the Council in comparison with those economic resources consumed or earned by the Council in accordance with generally
accepted accounting practices. The Funding Analysis also shows how this expenditure is allocated for decision making purposes between the
Council’s Functions. Income and expenditure accounted for under generally accepted accounting practices is presented more fully in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES). The 2017-18 figures have been restated to reflect the Directorate structure
reported on during 2018-19.

2017/18 Restated

Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund

Adjustments 

between 

Funding and 

Accounting 

Basis

Net 

Expenditure in 

the CIES

Expenditure 

Chargeable to 

the General 

Fund

Adjustments 

between 

Funding and 

Accounting 

Basis

Net 

Expenditure 

in the CIES

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

91,917 1,925 93,842 Adult Care & Health 82,000 669 82,669

26,191 5,573 31,764 Business Managment 27,172 (1,834) 25,338

59,801 20,687 80,488 Childrens Services 57,983 14,552 72,535

57,548 19,317 76,865 Delivery Services 50,975 17,745 68,720

3,489 883 4,372 Economic & Housing Growth 2,272 82 2,354

(4,435) 465 (3,970) Strategy & Partnerships 148 (174) (26)

234,511 48,850 283,361 Cost Service 220,550 31,040 251,590

38,161 8,645 46,806 Other Operating Expenditure 37,541 27,299 64,840

21,580 1,663 23,243 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 18,422 4,386 22,808

(284,753) (18,982) (303,735) Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure (275,445) (7,904) (283,349)

9,499 40,176 49,675 (Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services 1,068 54,821 55,889

79,719 Opening General Fund & Earmarked Reserves 80,787

(9,499) Less Deficit of Services (1,068)

70,220 Closing General Fund & Earmarked Reserves 79,718

2018/19

P
age 199



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 72

ADJUSTMENTS TO THE GENERAL FUND

The following table details adjustments to the General Fund to add expenditure or income not chargeable to taxation or rents. It also removes items
which are only chargeable under Statute.

Note 9 Expenditure and Funding Analysis (continued)

For notes i) to iii) see next page

Adjustments 

for Capital 

Purposes

Net change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments

Total 

Adjustments

Adjustments 

for Capital 

Purposes

Net change for 

the Pensions 

Adjustments

Total 

Adjustments

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

579 1,346 1,925 Adult Care & Health 818 (149) 669

3,716 1,857 5,573 Business Managment 1,449 (3,282) (1,833)

17,659 3,028 20,687 Childrens Services 16,158 (1,607) 14,551

14,298 5,019 19,317 Delivery Services 18,260 (515) 17,745

308 575 883 Economic & Housing Growth 132 (50) 82

- 465 465 Strategy & Partnerships - (174) (174)

36,560 12,290 48,850 Cost Service 36,817 (5,777) 31,040

8,107 538 8,645 Other Operating Expenditure (i) 26,777 522 27,299

(9,889) 11,552 1,663 Financing and investment income and expenditure (ii) (7,642) 12,028 4,386

(18,982) - (18,982) Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure (iii) (7,904) - (7,904)

15,796 24,380 40,176 General Fund Balance (Surplus)/Deficit 48,048 6,773 54,821

2017/18 Restated2018/19

P
age 200



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 73

Adjustments for Capital Funding and
Expenditure Purposes:

Adjustments to General Fund Balances to
meet the requirements of generally
accepted accounting practices, this column
adds in depreciation and impairment and
revaluation gains and losses in the services
line and for:

i. Other operating expenditure – adjusts
for capital disposals with a transfer of
income on disposal of assets and the
amounts written off for those assets

ii. Financing and investment income and
expenditure - the statutory charges for
capital financing i.e. Minimum Revenue
Provision and other revenue
contributions are deducted from
financing and investment income and
expenditure as these are not
chargeable under generally accepted
accounting practices

iii. Taxation and Non Specific Grant
Income and Expenditure – Capital
grants are adjusted for income not
chargeable under generally accepted
accounting practices. Revenue grants
are adjusted from those receivable in
the year to those receivable without

conditions or for which conditions were
satisfied throughout the year. The
Taxation and Non Specific Grant
Income and Expenditure line is credited
with capital grants receivable in the
year without conditions or for which
conditions were satisfied in the year

Net change for the removal of pension
contributions and the addition of pension
(IAS 19) related expenditure and income:

• For services this represents the removal
of the employer pension contributions
made by the Council as permitted by
statute and the replacement with current
service costs and past service costs

• For Other Operating Expenditure this is
the cost of the Pensions Administration
as part of the IAS 19 adjustment

• For Financing and investment income
and expenditure - the net interest on the
defined benefit liability is charged to the
CIES.

Note 9 Expenditure and Funding Analysis (continued)

P
age 201



Note 10 Transfers to/(from) Earmarked General Fund Reserves 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 74

The Council keeps a number of reserves in the Balance Sheet that have been set up to earmark funding for future spending plans. These are

held for costs which are likely to be incurred but their timing is not certain and they cannot be met from annual budgets. A review of reserves is

carried out as part of the budget setting process. The following table discloses each earmarked reserve where the balance is in excess of £0.25

million on either 31 March 2018 or 31 March 2019. Overall movement in the reserves is £4.7 million (made up of £14.0 million additions to

reserve and £9.3 million contributions from reserve).

Earmarked General Fund Reserves Movement Movement

2017/18 2018/19

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Business Rates Equalisation 6,292 4,035 10,327 (1,652) 8,675

Schools Balances 10,501 (274) 10,227 (1,337) 8,890

Insurance Fund 9,869 (2,319) 7,550 1,007 8,557

Public Health Outcomes 1,727 (146) 1,581 665 2,247

Backdated Long Term Care - 350 350 1,883 2,233

Waste Development Fund 4,574 (1,246) 3,328 (1,158) 2,170

Housing Benefit 4,718 (2,240) 2,478 (324) 2,154

Financial Instrument Equalisation Reserve - - - 2,128 2,128

Financial Resilience - 3,314 3,314 (671) 2,643

Collection Fund - - - 2,000 2,000

Transformation Fund 2,878 (2,878) - 1,753 1,753

Dedicated Schools Grant 1,072 420 1,492 (77) 1,415

Local Development Framework 192 (14) 178 900 1,078

Economic Market Risk - - - 1,000 1,000

Parks Tree Maintenance - 1,128 1,128 (252) 876

Champs Innovation Fund 513 (257) 257 549 806

Intensive Family Intervention Project 375 58 433 234 667

Schools Harmonisation 655 - 655 - 655

Balance as at 

31 March 

2017

Balance as 

at 31 March 

2018

Balance as at 

31 March 2019

P
age 202



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 75

(Table continued from previous page)

Note 10 Transfers to/(from) Earmarked General Fund Reserves (continued) 

Earmarked General Fund Reserves Movement Movement

2017/18 2018/19

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Selective Licensing 538 - 538 - 538

H & S Flood Prevention 550 (14) 535 (15) 520

S106 - David Wilson Homes - 244 244 254 498

Wirral Ways to Work 740 (348) 391 76 467

Community Safety Initiatives 283 79 363 44 407

Schools Capital Schemes 559 (126) 433 (69) 364

Section 106 - Bloor Homes 389 (50) 339 - 339

Enterprise Zone Investment 177 203 380 (52) 328

Human Resources Reserve 487 (232) 255 42 297

Commercial Management - - - 291 291

Regeneration and Inward Investment - - - 285 285

One Stop Shop/Libraries IT Networks 1,232 (1,000) 232 - 232

Community Assets Transfer 653 (191) 462 (239) 223

General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) - 276 276 (55) 221

Support & Assistance to Public in Need 770 (268) 503 (300) 202

Discretionary Housing Payments 424 (211) 213 (24) 189

IT Development 673 (545) 128 - 128

Better Care Fund - 988 988 (988) -

Stay, Work, Learn Wise 655 (16) 640 (640) -

Public Health 15-16 Allocations - 488 488 (488) -

Wirral Ways to Work/Reachout Project - 347 347 (347) -

Major Infrastructure Project Development 447 (137) 310 (310) -
Europa Centre - Rent Free Top Ups - 267 267 (267) -

Home Improvements 224 (224) - - -

Other Reserves 2,899 335 3,234 842 4,076

Total General Fund 55,065 (202) 54,863 4,688 59,552

Balance as at 

31 March 

2019

Balance as at 

31 March 2017

Balance as at 

31 March 2018

P
age 203



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 76

THE PURPOSES OF THE INDIVIDUAL EARMARKED RESERVES 

Business Rates Equalisation

This reserve is held to meet fluctuations in the income received from
business rates. The full impact of the Liverpool City Region Pilot is still
emerging and the effects of the operation of the national 75% Business
Rate Retention is unclear. To smooth any variation in income the
reserve aims to mitigate against changes in the amount of business
rates received.

Schools Balances

These are earmarked for use purely by the schools. The balance
consists of:

Insurance Fund

This is required to cover possible liability insurance claims. The overall
estimate of the amount required to cover these is based on an actuarial
investigation which seeks to estimate the ultimate claims arising in
respect of each risk period, adjusted to allow for any subsequent
deterioration in the Council’s claims experience. The basis for
calculation of the provision is claims not yet reported but anticipated.

Public Health Outcomes

This reserve was set up to meet future commitments in relation to
Public Health in accordance with the terms of the Public Health Grant
provided by the Department of Health.

Backdated Long Term Care

Funding to resource the payment schedule for residential & nursing
care.

Waste Development Fund

This reserve has been set up from a contribution from Merseyside
Waste and Recycling Authority to support the delivery of the Joint
Recycling and Waste Management Strategy.

Note 10 Transfers to/(from) Earmarked General Fund Reserves (continued) 

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

Schools in Surplus 10,832 11,364

Schools in Deficit (1,942) (1,137)

Net Schools balance 8,890 10,227

No of schools 

with in hand 

balances in 

hand

No of schools 

with 

overdrawn 

balances

Nursery 2 1

Primary 69 9

Secondary 2 3

Special 9 2

Total 82 15

P
age 204



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 77

Housing Benefit

The reserve is held to meet a potential claw-
back of subsidy relating to the previous
Housing Benefit Supporting People
arrangement. Sums have also been set aside
for the further development of integrating
supporting IT systems.

Financial Instrument Equalisation Reserve

Reassessment of borrowings that are shown
on the balance sheet due to the adoption of
IFRS 9. This reserve has been set up to hold
the impact of the assessment and will be
annually over the remaining life of loan.

Financial Resilience

The Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy
shows that there are further future financial
pressures. It is prudent to retain a reserve that
is specifically designed so that future spending
reductions can be implemented in a planned
and efficient fashion. This reserve will serve
this purpose and is to facilitate budget strategy
management. It includes amounts to be used
to support the 2019/20 budget.

Collection Fund

This reserve is held to meet fluctuations in the
income received from Council Tax. To smooth
any variation in income due to changes in the
collection rate, the reserve aims to mitigate
against changes in the amount of Council Tax
income.

Transformation Fund

This reserve is to fund transformation projects
in 2019/20. As at April 2019/20, planned
expenditure includes Children’s
Transformation, Digital Transformation, Wirral
Growth Company, Leisure and Culture.

Dedicated Schools Grant

Department for Education regulations require
that any unspent Dedicated Schools Grant
(DSG) balances are either redistributed to
schools or carried forward to future years. The
Schools Forum have agreed that any balances
arising following the final DSG announcement
in June (or at the year-end) are carried forward
until the end of the funding period. After this
time, balances are to be redistributed.

Local Development Framework

Reserve to smooth the funding of annual 
expenditure on the review and preparation of 
the local plan. This is held to help deal with 
costs associated with the Wirral Local Plan, 
consultation, specific studies, planning policies 
and planning related activities.

Economic Market Risk

The Council, to advance its regeneration
objectives, is working in collaboration with a
number of partners to further a range of
property developments. These can have
income profiles that take time to establish.

This reserve is to act as a contingency against
these situations.

Parks Tree Maintenance

This reserve is to fund an extended Borough
wide programme of tree maintenance works.

Champs Innovation Fund

This is collective funding from the 9 Local
Authorities for the Champs-Public Health team
whom Wirral host. The objective is to pool
funding for collective Public Health
investments.

Intensive Family Intervention Project

Funding was allocated from the Department
for Communities and Local Government for the
Intensive Families Intervention Programme
which is a 3 year programme.

Schools Harmonisation

To fund the potential costs associated with
implementing Phase 2 of the Local Pay
Review which relates to those employees
within schools.

Selective Licensing

This reserve was set up to fund the costs of
the implementation of the Selective Licensing
scheme.

Note 10 Transfers to/(from) Earmarked General Fund Reserves (continued) 

P
age 205



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 78

H&S Flood Prevention

This funding was provided to cater for Local
Authorities’ new responsibilities and burdens
under the Flood and Water Management Act.
This reserve is also earmarked as the
partnership contribution to the West Kirby
Flood Alleviation Scheme.

S106 – David Wilson Homes

The reserve contains Section 106 monies 
which are ringfenced as part of Planning 
condition/ approval.

Wirral Ways to Work

This reserve was set up to hold match funding
for the ESF funded Wirral Ways to Work
project. Wirral Ways to Work is a multi-strand
project to support adults and young people
into employment that is anticipated to operate
until June 2020.

Community Safety Initiatives

This reserve was set up to hold funds relating
to Community Safety Partnership (CSP). Any
underspends relating to CSP at the end of the
year are transferred to this reserve to be
utilised in future years as this grant relates to
the Partnership and is not the Authority’s
money.

Schools Capital Schemes

This is for the delivery and completion of
capital schemes within schools.

Section 106 Bloor Homes

Monies set aside for Section 106 planning
agreement relating to land at Bridle Road
Eastham.

Enterprise Zone Investment

The enterprise zone allows us to retain
business rates growth within this area. This
reserve has been set up to fund future
projects within the enterprise zone.

Human Resources (HR) Reserve

This reserve will be utilised to fund HR System
development fixed term posts related to HR in
2019/20

Commercial Management

This reserve has been set up at the end of
2018/19 to temporarily fund the establishment
within Commercial Management until external
sources of income are sought to fund the
staffing structure permanently in 2020/21.

Regeneration and Inward Investment

Reserve to support business and regeneration
activities including support to a number of
development projects that the Council is
assisting. These contribute to a wider
economic growth vision, as set out in the
Wirral Growth Plan. The Plan was approved
by the Council and outlines a range of key
strategic projects and action plans to unlock
economic growth, increase employment and
prosperity in the area.

One Stop Shop / Libraries IT Networks

This reserve was set up to develop the
Information Technology systems within the
One Stop Shops and libraries as part of the
provision of a more integrated service.

Community Asset Transfer

The Community Fund grant has been
allocated by Magenta Living and this is the
balance of the grant to implement the
Community Asset Transfer programme

General Data Protection Regulation
(GDPR)

This reserve is to cover additional costs
associated with new General Data Protection
Regulation which came into force in May
2018.

Support and Assistance to the Public in
Need

The reserve provides Local Welfare
Assistance to Wirral residents in cases of
disaster or emergency, where financial support
is needed to meet one-off costs.

Note 10 Transfers to/(from) Earmarked General Fund Reserves (continued) 

P
age 206



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 79

Discretionary Housing Payments

The reserve is held to supplement the
Governments annual allocation of
Discretionary Housing Payment
Grant. Discretionary Housing Payment is a
payment made at the discretion of the
Council to help towards housing costs.

IT Development

This reserve was set up to fund the
expansion and development of IT services
in the implementation of the programme
agreed as part of the IT Strategy.

Better Care Fund

A number of schemes have been
committed from the 2017/18 Better Care
Fund, which have experienced delays in
implementation. The underspend caused
by this was put into a reserve and at the
end of 2017/18 and was fully utilised to fund
these schemes in 2018/19.

Stay, Work, Learn Wise

This reserve was provided to fund the
possible future repayment of the Stay,
Work, Learn Wise grant awarded to the
Council.

Public Health 2015/16 Allocations

The reserve included 2015/16 funding from
the national ring fenced Public Health grant
that was to meet targeted future public
health needs as per the department’s 5
year financial plan.

Wirral Ways to Work/Reachout Project

This reserve was set up to hold match
funding for the ESF funded Wirral Ways to
Work project. Wirral Ways to Work is a
multi-strand project to support adults and
young people into employment.

Major Infrastructure Project
Development

This reserve was set up to fund the
research and development of major
development projects in line with Corporate
and Regeneration priorities.

Europa Centre – Rent Free Top Ups

In 2017/18 the Council acquired Europa
Centre and it was agreed that the total
amount payable by the Council would be
reduced for charges relating to
Dilapidations and Rent Free Top Ups.
These amounts are held in this reserve.

Home Improvements

This reserve is used for payments made
back to the Council against charges for
Housing Renovation loans.

Other Reserves

This line adds together smaller individual
reserves, each with a value of less than
£0.25 million.

Note 10 Transfers to/(from) Earmarked General Fund Reserves (continued) 

P
age 207



Note 11 Other Operating Expenditure 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 80

Included within gains and losses on the

disposal of non current assets in

2018/19 are two primary schools

(Portland Primary and Woodslee

Primary) which became part of the Co-

op Academy Trust, with Town Lane

Infants also transferring to Concordia

Academy Trust. The net loss on

transfer was £8.7 million.

In 2017/18 four primary schools

became academies, in addition to the

transfer of one secondary school to its

governors. This generated a loss on

transfer of £23.5 million.

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

38,161 Levies 37,541

(1) Payments to the Government Housing Capital Receipts Pool 2

8,108 Gains/losses on the disposal of non current assets 26,775

538 Other 522

46,806 Total 64,840P
age 208



Note 12 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 81

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 Note £'000

13,113 Interest payable and similar charges 26 12,625

11,552 Pensions - net interest cost 12,028

(611) Interest receivable and similar income 26 (686)

(887) Income and expenditure in relation to investment properties and 

changes in their fair value

(1,197)

76 Gains and losses on trading accounts 30 38

23,243 Total 22,808

P
age 209



Note 13 Taxation and Non Specific Grant Income 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 82

2018/19 Notes 2017/18

£'000 £'000

137,601 Council Tax Income 129,342

127,618 Non domestic rates income (including Top-Up Grant) 117,684

21,963 Non-ringfenced government grants - Revenue Grants 36 22,635

16,553 Capital Grants and Contributions 13,688

303,735 Total Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Expenditure 283,349P
age 210



Note 14 Property, Plant and Equipment 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 83

MOVEMENT ON BALANCES 2018/19

In 2018/19 the loss on the disposal of non-current assets is partly due to the change in ownership status of a number of schools. Two schools
became part of the Co-op Academy Trust and one other became part of the Concordia Trust.

2018/19

Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles, Plant & 

Equipment 

Infrastructure 

Assets

Community 

Assets

Surplus 

Assets

Assets Under 

construction

Total Property, 

Plant & 

Equipment

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000

COST OR VALUATION

Balance as at 1 April 2018 447,514 35,222 173,879 27,145 10,983 2,572 697,315

Additions 8,308 5,101 7,563 163 204 696 22,035

Revaluation increases/decreases to Revaluation Reserve 36,846 - - - (53) - 36,793

Revaluation increases/decreases to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 

Services

1,347 - - (164) (27) - 1,156

Derecognition - Disposals (9,186) - - - (50) - (9,236)

Reclassifications & Transfers (410) - (345) 299 111 - (345)

Balance as at 31 March 2019 484,419 40,323 181,097 27,443 11,168 3,268 747,718

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT

Balance as at 1 April 2018 (14,341) (22,317) (52,893) - (111) - (89,662)

Depreciation Charge (13,155) (2,845) (5,465) - (1) - (21,466)

Depreciation written out on Revaluation  Reserve 5,935 - - - - - 5,935

Depreciation written out on Revaluation taken to Surplus or Deficit on the 

Provision of Services

1,592 - - - - - 1,592

Derecognition - Disposals 322 - - - 46 - 368

Balance as at 31 March 2019 (19,647) (25,162) (58,358) - (66) - (103,233)

NET BOOK VALUE

Balance as at 31 March 2018 433,173 12,905 120,986 27,145 10,872 2,572 607,652

Balance as at 31 March 2019 464,772 15,161 122,739 27,443 11,102 3,268 644,487

P
age 211



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 84

MOVEMENT ON BALANCES 2017/18

Note 14 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

In 2017/18 the increase in loss on the disposal of non-current assets is due to the change in ownership status of a number of schools. On 1 June

2017 four schools became part of the Oak Trees Multi Academy Trust. In addition the ownership of Ridgway High school transferred to the

school governors.

2017/18

Land & 

Buildings

Vehicles, 

Plant & 

Equipment 

Infrastructure 

Assets

Community 

Assets

Surplus 

Assets

Assets Under 

construction

Total PP&E

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

COST OR VALUATION

Balance as at 1 April 2017 475,009 31,461 167,273 27,037 10,309 8,173 719,262

Additions 8,175 3,761 6,606 108 124 402 19,176

Revaluation increases/decreases to Revaluation Reserve (432) - - - 285 - (147)

Revaluation increases/decreases to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 

Services

(6,234) - - - (644) (190) (7,068)

Derecognition - Disposals (28,003) - - - (92) (5,813) (33,908)

Reclassifications & Transfers (1,001) - - - 1,001 - -

Balance as at 31 March 2018 447,514 35,222 173,879 27,145 10,983 2,572 697,315

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION & IMPAIRMENT

Balance as at 1 April 2017 (13,877) (19,884) (47,730) - (177) - (81,668)

Depreciation Charge (12,588) (2,433) (5,163) - (1) - (20,185)

Depreciation written out on Revaluation  Reserve 7,697 - - - 36 - 7,733

Depreciation written out on Revaluation taken to Surplus or Deficit on the 

Provision of Services

3,287 - - - - - 3,287

Derecognition - Disposals 1,168 - - - 3 - 1,171

Other movements in depreciation and impairment (28) - - - 28 - -

Balance as at 31 March 2018 (14,341) (22,317) (52,893) - (111) - (89,662)

NET BOOK VALUE

Balance as at 31 March 2017 461,132 11,577 119,543 27,037 10,132 8,173 637,594

Balance as at 31 March 2018 433,173 12,905 120,986 27,145 10,872 2,572 607,652

P
age 212



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 85

Depreciation

The following useful lives and depreciation
rates have been used in the calculation of
depreciation:

Revaluations

The Code of Practice on Local Authority
Accounting requires the Council to revalue
its assets sufficiently regularly to ensure
that their carrying value does not differ
materially from fair value at the year end.

In 2018/19, the Council based its
revaluations on a rolling programme that
ensures that all Property, Plant and
Equipment required to be measured at fair
value is revalued at least every five years.
However, they must be revalued more
regularly where a five-yearly valuation is
insufficient to keep pace with material
changes in fair value To achieve this, a
number of significant high value assets
groups e.g. Leisure Centres and schools
have been revalued irrespective of when
the last valuation was undertaken.

Class of Asset Useful Life (Years)

Land and Buildings 1-60

Vehicles, plant, 

furniture and 

equipment 

3-40

Infrastructure 10-120

Surplus assets Up to 30

Carrying Value measured against fair value

All valuations were carried out internally. Valuations of land and buildings were carried out
in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional
standards of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors.

Note 14 Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Land and 

Buildings 

Surplus 

Assets 

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Carried at historical cost 3,163 110 3,273

Valued at fair value as at:

31/03/2019 405,542 11,058 416,600

31/03/2018 49,482 - 49,482

31/03/2017 14,739 - 14,739

31/03/2016 3,995 - 3,995

31/03/2015 7,498 - 7,498

Total Cost or Valuation 484,419 11,168 495,587

P
age 213



Note 15 Heritage Assets 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 86

Reconciliation of the carrying value of Heritage Assets held by the Council

Decorative Art & Other 

Collections

Buildings Civic 

Regalia

Transport Fine Art Total Assets

Cost or Valuation £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance as at 1 April 2017 3,130 757 441 507 7,740 12,575

Revaluations - - - (17) 1,750 1,733

Balance as at 31 March 2018 3,130 757 441 490 9,490 14,308

Decorative Art & Other 

Collections

Buildings Civic 

Regalia

Transport Fine Art Total Assets

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance as at 1 April 2018 3,130 757 441 490 9,490 14,308

Revaluations - - - - - -

Balance as at 31 March 2019 3,130 757 441 490 9,490 14,308

P
age 214



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 87

Fine Art, Decorative Art and Other
Collections

These collections are housed at the
Williamson Art Gallery and the more
important collections consist of:

Fine Art

British Watercolours – by a series of
bequests and purchases, notably between
1920 and 1935, the Gallery has a significant
collection of 18th and 19th century
watercolour paintings and drawings by British
artists;

The Liverpool School, Philip Wilson Steer,
works by leading local artists. There are over
5,000 items in the Fine Art collection, the
most important of which are by Albert Joseph
Moore (£2,000,000) and one attributed to Jan
Breughel (£200,000).

Valuations are based on the latest insurance
estimates (November 2018).

Decorative art and other collections

There are a number of collections of this type
held by the Council. The most important ones
are:

• The Knowles Boney collection of some 300
pieces of porcelain produced in Liverpool
between 1750 and 1800;

• The collection of Della Robbia pottery
produced in Birkenhead between 1894 and
1906.

There is also a good collection of 18th and

19th century British ceramics and drawings,
photographs and fabric samples illustrating
the work of Arthur H. Lee and Sons.

There are also collections of glass,
metalwork, jewellery, furniture, maritime
models, ethnography, artefacts, geology and
others.

Acquisition policy

Acquisitions will meet the requirements of the
Accreditation Standard. It will take into
account limitations on collections imposed by
such factors as staffing, storage and care of
collection arrangements.

The expansion of collections is achieved by
donation, bequest and purchase using grant
aid from the Williamson and Priory Friends,
The Art Fund and the Museums Association
Purchase Funds administered by the Victoria
and Albert Museum and Science Museum.

Disposal procedure

A decision will be taken after full
consideration of the reasons for disposal.
This includes curatorial and financial reasons
as well as the public benefit, the implication
for the Museum’s collections and collections
held by museums and other organisations
collecting the same material. External expert
advice will be obtained and the views of
stakeholders such as donors, researchers,
local and source communities served by the
Museum will also be sought. There have
been no disposals in 2018/19.

Conservation and storage

Access to professional conservation advice is
by liaison with the National Museums
Liverpool and freelance conservators.
Environmental monitoring and control is
maintained in display and storage areas.
Improvements to the heating and humidifier
equipment is undertaken as necessary based
on curatorial staff and conservation advice.

A programme of lighting monitoring and
control consistent with the preservation and
maintenance of collections is maintained.
Materials used will be consistent with good
conservation practice. A record of all
conservation work undertaken will be
maintained.

Exhibition and public services

The exhibition policy includes specific
periodic displays of all items in the collection.
Exhibitions in non-gallery venues are also
encouraged provided suitable conditions are
available. Adequate interpretative facilities
are ensured for permanent and temporary
displays. Members of the public will be given
controlled access to any stored item and
related information where circumstances
permit. The advice of conservation and
curatorial staff will determine the feasibility of
loan applications.

Note 15 Heritage Assets (continued)

P
age 215



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 88

The latest comprehensive valuation was
undertaken during the 2017/18 financial
year. The present Collection Management
Plan suggests valuations to be reconsidered
every ten years, but consideration may be
given to individual items in the interim.

Acquisitions are initially recognised at cost
(where that cost is greater than £5,000) and
donations are recognised at valuation.

Transport

The collection of some 30 assets (excluding
those on loan) is housed within the Wirral
Transport Museum and primarily consists of
a number of buses, the oldest being a Guy
Arab double decker built in 1943 and a
collection of motor cycles, the oldest a 1938
Norton H. Valuations are based on insurance
quotes obtained during 2018/19.

Civic Regalia

The collection of civic regalia includes 28
items connected with civic functions
undertaken as part of the mayoral role and
civic events. It consists of mayoral badges,
chains, borough maces etc. with the oldest
item dated 1877. It also includes 18 items of
memorabilia commemorating events and
associations that are of local interest. The
most recent valuation was undertaken in
April 2012 by Mr. J. Phillips of St. George
Valuations and is based on the likely cost of
replacing the item valued with as near a
comparable item as is available for purchase
second hand. Revaluations are to be

undertaken at a minimum of every ten years.

Buildings

There are two buildings included in the
valuation of heritage assets. These are
Leasowe Lighthouse, which is the oldest
brick built lighthouse in the country and
Bidston Hill Windmill, which was operational
until 1875. Valuations have been undertaken
by the Council’s own valuers and are based
on their fair value. Valuations were
undertaken between January 2008 and
March 2018.

Heritage Assets not reported in the
Balance Sheet

Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSIs)
or Biological Importance (SBIs)

There are 12 SSIs based on nature
conservation legislation and 27 Council
owned SBIs (non-statutory sites). A number
of these form part of an overall Community
Asset but because of their specific nature
any attempt to separately identify specific
costs associated with the SSI or SBI would
produce unreliable information, therefore
they are not separately identified under the
category of heritage assets.

War memorials and other monuments

There are 146 such assets that the Council
owns ranging from those commemorating
historic events to historic personages.

Because of the lack of comparable market
values, the Council considers that the cost of
obtaining external valuations outweighs the
benefit to the reader of the accounts in
obtaining such information. Consequently,
these assets are not included in the Balance
Sheet.

Archaeological sites

In the case of the 2 sites that are considered
to be of an archaeological interest the
Council does not consider that reliable cost
or valuation information can be obtained
because of the diverse nature of the assets
and the lack of comparable market values.
Consequently, any such assets are not
included in the Balance Sheet.

Note 15 Heritage Assets (continued) 

P
age 216



Note 16 Investment Properties 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 89

Investment properties are held by
the Council for the purposes of
income generation or capital gain.

There are no restrictions on the
Council’s ability to realise the value
inherent in its investment property or
on the Council’s right to the
remittance of income and the
proceeds of disposal. The Council
has no contractual obligations to
purchase, construct or develop
investment property or repairs,
maintenance or enhancement.

In 2018/19 the Council acquired
Birkenhead Vue Cinema forming
part of the Strategic Acquisition
Programme that supports the key
economic goals of the Council.

The table opposite summarises the
movement in the fair value of
investment properties over the year:

2018/19 Investment Properties 2017/18

£'000 £'000

21,546 Balance at start of the Year 12,605

7,235 Additions 8,950

(1,629) Disposals (282)

204 Net Gains/Losses from Fair Value Adjustments 273

27,356 Balance at 31 March 21,546

P
age 217



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 90

Fair Value Hierarchy for Investment
Properties

Details of the Authority’s Investment
Properties and information about the Fair
Value Hierarchy at 31st March 2019 are
shown in the table:

Transfers between levels of the Fair 

Value Hierarchy

There were no transfers from Level 2 to 

Levels 1 or 3 throughout the year.

Note 16 Investment Properties (continued) 

Valuation Techniques used to determine Level 2 Fair Values for Investment Properties

Property Type Valuation Technique

Development Site - Based on the potential for residential or commercial development

- Value by area (typically by acre) for similar sites in similar locations

General Income Buildings (including

halls, cafes and recreational

buildings generating rental income)

- Based on current income stream

- Where possible the valuation is based on the potential to achieve a market rent, determined

by potential price for similar buildings (usually by square foot)

General Income Site (land which 

generates income e.g. ground 

leases/advertising hoardings)

- Lease or licence determines the income stream and potential for rent review

- Where rent is reviewed, the rent is set at the market price for comparable sites

Industrial Land and Buildings

(Council’s industrial portfolio of

managed workspace)

- Let on short term tenancies with regular rent review patterns

- Market rent based upon directly comparable properties based on the area

Highest and best use of investment properties

In estimating the fair value of the Authority’s investment properties, the highest and best use of the properties is their current use.

Recurring Fair Value 

measurements using:

Other significant 

observable 

inputs

Fair Values 

at 31 March 

2019

Other significant 

observable 

inputs

Fair Values at 

31 March 

2018

(Level 2) (Level 2)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Development Sites 2,060 2,060 2,810 2,810

General Income Buildings 16,425 16,425 9,563 9,563

General Income Sites 4,433 4,433 5,034 5,034

Industrial Land & Buildings 4,438 4,438 4,139 4,139

Total 27,356 27,356 21,546 21,546

2018/19 2017/18

P
age 218



Note 17 Intangible Assets 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 91

The Council accounts for its software
as intangible assets, to the extent that
the software is not an integral part of a
particular IT system and accounted for
as part of the hardware item of
Property, Plant and Equipment. The
intangible assets relate to purchased
licences.

All software is given a finite useful life,
based on assessments of the period
that the software is expected to be of
use to the Council. The major item of
software relates to the Oracle financial
system and has been assigned a 10
year life.

The carrying amount of intangible
assets is amortised on a straight-line
basis. The amortisation charged to
revenue in 2018/19 was £0.384 million
(2017/18 £0.383million).

The movement on Intangible Asset
balances during the year is shown in
the table opposite:

2018/19 Intangible Assets 2017/18

£'000 £'000

932 Balance at 1st April 1,315

(384) Amortisation for the Year (383)

548 Balance at 31st March  932

P
age 219



Note 18 Financial Instruments 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 92

(a) Financial Instruments - Classifications 

A financial instrument is a contract that gives
rise to a financial asset of one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument of
another entity. Non-exchange transactions,
such as those relating to taxes and
government grants, do not give rise to
financial instruments.

Financial Liabilities 

A financial liability is an obligation to transfer
economic benefits controlled by the Council
and can be represented by a contractual
obligation to deliver cash or financial assets
or an obligation to exchange financial assets
and liabilities with another entity that is
potentially unfavourable to the Council.

The Council’s financial liabilities held during
the year are measured at amortised cost and
comprised:

• long-term loans from the Public Works
Loan Board and commercial lenders,

• short-term loans from other local
authorities,

• Private Finance Initiative contracts and

• trade payables for goods and services
received.

Financial Assets  

A financial asset is a right to future economic
benefits controlled by the Council that is

represented by cash, equity instruments or a
contractual right to receive cash or other
financial assets or a right to exchange
financial assets and liabilities with another
entity that is potentially favourable to the
Council. The financial assets held by the
Council during the year are accounted for
under the following three classifications:

1. Amortised cost (where cash flows are
solely payments of principal and interest and
the Council’s business model is to collect
those cash flow) comprising:

• cash in hand,

• bank current and deposit accounts 
with Lloyds bank and 
Handelsbanken,

• fixed term deposits

• loans to small companies,

• lease receivables, and

• trade receivables for goods and 
services provided.

2. Fair value through other comprehensive
income (where cash flows are solely
payments of principal and interest and the
Council’s business model is to both collect
those cash flows and sell the instrument; and
equity investments that the Council has
elected into this category) comprising:

• pooled bond, equity and property 
funds managed by Columbia 
Threadneedle & CCLA fund 
managers held as strategic 
investments

3. Fair value through profit and loss (all other
financial assets) comprising:

• money market funds managed by 
external fund managers,

• pooled bond, equity and property 
funds managed by Payden and 
Royal London Asset Management 
fund managers

Financial assets held at amortised cost are
shown net of a loss allowance reflecting the
statistical likelihood that the borrower or
debtor will be unable to meet their
contractual commitments to the Council.

P
age 220



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 93

(b) Financial Instruments Balances

The financial assets and liabilities disclosed in the Balance Sheet are analysed across the following categories:

Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued) 

* Investments and cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2018 have been restated for the impact of IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, as 

summarised in the table below: 

Restated* Restated* Restated*

31 March 2019 31 March 2018 31 March 2019 31 March 2018 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

               £'000               £'000               £'000                £'000                £'000               £'000

Financial Assets

1,550 1,238 Investments 10,988 26,413 12,538 27,651

- - Cash & Cash Equivalents 29,105 22,666 29,105 22,666

1,550 1,238 Total Financial Assets 40,093 49,079 41,643 50,317

Financial Liabilities

164,542 171,503 Borrowings 94,233 95,297 258,775 266,800

39,556 42,418 PFI Liability 2,862 2,947 42,418 45,365

- - Finance Lease Liability - - - -

204,098 213,921 Total Financial Liabilities 97,095 98,244 301,193 312,165

Long Term Short Term Total

IAS 39

31 March 

2018

Reclassification Impairment IFRS 9

1 April 2018

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial Assets

Investments

Loans & Receivables (Amortised Cost) 21,716 (48) 21,668

Available for Sale (Fair Value - Other Comprehensive Income) 5,983 (4,998) 985

Fair Value - Profit & Loss 4,998 4,998

Total Investments 27,699 - (48) 27,651

Cash & Cash Equivalents

Available for Sale (Fair Value - Other Comprehensive Income) 22,666 (22,666) -

Fair Value - Profit & Loss 22,666 22,666

Total Cash & Cash Equivalents 22,666 - - 22,666

Total Financial Liabilities 50,365 - (48) 50,317

Financial Liabilities

Borrowing (Amortised Cost) 266,800 266,800

Other Long-Term Liabilities 45,365 45,365

Total Financial Liabilities 312,165 - - 312,165

Both Money Market Funds and Pooled Funds used

to be classified as ‘Available for Sale’ under IAS

39. Under IFRS 9, Money Market Funds and non-

elected pooled funds are now classed as ‘Fair

Value – Profit & Loss’ within Investments and Cash
& Cash Equivalents respectively.

P
age 221



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 94

The table below reflects the composition of investments recorded on the Balance Sheet:

:

Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued) 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

                 £'000                 £'000                 £'000                 £'000

Amortised Cost

1,550 1,250 Principal 4,000 20,400

39 14 Accrued Interest 15 52

(44) (26) Loss Allowance (2) (22)

Fair Value through Other Comprehensive 

Income (FVOCI)

- - Principal 2,000 1,000

- - Accrued Interest 12 -

- - Equity Investments elected FVOCI (91) (15)

Fair Value  - Profit & Loss

- - Fair Value 4,994 4,998

1,545 1,238 Total Investments 10,928 26,413

Amortised Cost

- - Principal 8,278 -

- - Accrued Interest 10 -

- - Loss Allowance (3) -

Fair Value  - Profit & Loss

- - Fair Value 20,836 22,666

- - Total Cash & Cash Equivalents 29,121 22,666

1,545 1,238 Total Financial Assets 40,049 49,079

Long Term Short Term 

P
age 222



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 95

The table below reflects the composition of borrowing recorded on the Balance Sheet:

Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued) 

31 March 2019 31 March 2018 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

               £'000                £'000                £'000                £'000

Borrowings

170,981 174,059 Nominal Amount 91,953 93,003

- - Accrued Interest 2,280 2,293

(6,440) (2,557) Effective Interest Rate Adjustments - -

164,541 171,502 Total Amortised Cost 94,233 95,296

Long Term Short Term

Equity instruments elected to fair value through other comprehensive income

The Council has elected to account for the following investments in equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income because 

they are long-term strategic holdings and changes in their fair value are not considered to be part of the Council’s annual financial performance.

31 March 2019 31 March 2018 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

               £'000                £'000                £'000                £'000

979 985 Columbia Threadneedle Strategic Bond Fund 30 13

942 - Churches, Charities and Local Authorities (CCLA) 

Property Fund

30 -

1,921 985 Total 60 13

DividendsFair Value

P
age 223



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 96

Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued) 

(C ) Gains and Losses on Financial Instruments

The gains and losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in relation to financial instruments consist of the 

following items:

Financial 

Liabilities 

Total

Liabilities 

Measured at 

amortised cost

Amortised 

Cost

Elected Fair Value 

through Other 

Comprehensive Income 

(OCI)

Fair Value 

through P&L

2018/19

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Interest expense (13,344) - - - (13,344)

Impairment losses - - - - -

Interest payable and similar charges (13,344) - - - (13,344)

Interest Income - 167 61 152 380

Gains on derecognition - - - - -

Total Interest and Investment Income - 167 61 152 380

Loss on revaluation - - (77) (4) (81)

Deficit arising on revaluation of 

financial assets

- - (77) (4) (81)

Net gain/ (loss) for the year (13,344) 167 (16) 148 (13,045)

Financial Assets

P
age 224



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 97

(D) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

For each class of financial assets and
financial liability, the Council is required to
disclose the fair value of that class of assets
and liabilities in such a way that a
comparison with the carrying amount is
possible. For most assets, including money
market funds and other pooled funds, the fair
value is taken from the market price.

Financial instruments classified at amortised
cost are carried in the Balance Sheet at
amortised cost. Their fair values have been
estimated by calculating the net present
value of the remaining contractual cash flows
at 31st March 2019, using the following
methods and assumptions:

• Loans borrowed by the Council have been
valued by discounting the contractual cash
flows over the whole life of the instrument at
the appropriate market rate for local Council
loans.

• The value of “Lender’s Option Borrower’s
Option” (LOBO) loans have been increased
by the value of the embedded options.
Lenders’ options to propose an increase to
the interest rate on the loan have been
valued according to a proprietary model for
Bermudan cancellable swaps. Borrower’s
contingent options to accept the increased
rate or repay the loan have been valued at
zero, on the assumption that lenders will only
exercise their options when market rates
have risen above the contractual loan rate.

• The fair values of other long-term loans and
investments have been discounted at the
market rates for similar instruments with
similar remaining terms to maturity on 31st
March.

• The fair values of financial guarantees have
been estimated based on the likelihood of
the guarantees being called and the likely
payments to be made.

• The fair values of finance lease assets and
liabilities and of PFI scheme liabilities have
been calculated by discounting the
contractual cash flows (excluding service
charge elements) at the appropriate AA-rated
corporate bond yield.

• No early repayment or impairment is
recognised for any financial instrument.

• The fair value of short-term instruments,
including trade payables and receivables, is
assumed to approximate to the carrying
amount given the low and stable interest rate
environment

Fair values are shown in the table below,
split by their level in the fair value hierarchy:

Level 1 – fair value is only derived from
quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities e.g. bond prices.

Level 2 – fair value is calculated from inputs
other than quoted prices that are observable
for the asset or liability, e.g. interest rates or
yields for similar instruments.

Level 3 – fair value is determined using
unobservable inputs. E.g. non-market data
such as cash flow forecasts or estimated
creditworthiness.

Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued) 

P
age 225



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 98

* The fair value of short term financial instruments including trade payables and receivables are assumed to approximate to the carrying amount.

The fair value of financial instruments held at amortised cost is higher than their balance sheet carrying amount because:

• the Authority’s portfolio of loans include transactions where the interest rate payable is higher than the current rates

available for similar loans as at the balance sheet date.

• the interest rate on similar investments is now lower than that obtained when the investment was originally made.

Note 18 Financial Instruments (continued) 

Carrying Amount 

as at 31 March 

2019

Fair Value as 

at 31 March 

2019

Carrying Amount as 

at 31 March 

2018

Fair Value as at 

31 March 

2018

             £'000              £'000              £'000              £'000

Financial Liabilities held at amortised cost:

PWLB Loans 21,460 25,138 22,560 26,413

LOBO Loans 102,143 197,649 112,113 209,377

Other Loans 45,133 85,260 45,140 87,661

Lease Payables & PFI 42,418 47,073 45,365 49,194

Total 211,154 355,120 225,178 372,645

Others for which fair value is not disclosed * 124,591 121,363

Total Liabilities 335,745 346,541

Financial Assets held at fair value:

Money Market Funds 20,836 20,836 22,650 22,650

Externally Managed Funds 6,915 6,915 5,983 5,983

Total 27,751 27,751 28,633 28,633

Others for which fair value is not disclosed * 25,655 39,190

Total Financial Assets 53,406 67,823

Financial Assets:

Loans and Receivables 13,843 13,843 21,732 21,732

Trade Receivables 11,812 11,812 17,458 17,458

Total Financial Assets 25,655 25,655 39,190 39,190

P
age 226



Note 19 Debtors

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 99

Gross Debtors Impairment Net Debtors Debtors Gross Debtors Impairment Net Debtors

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

45,780 (19,594) 26,186 Trade Receivables 51,033 (18,899) 32,134

5,667 5,667 Prepayments 4,304 4,304

23,392 (14,849) 8,543 Local Taxation 20,745 (13,335) 7,410

17,329 17,329 Other Receivable amounts 20,065 20,065

92,168 (34,443) 57,725 Total 96,147 (32,234) 63,913

2018/19 2017/18 (Restated)

P
age 227



Note 20 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 100

Cash comprises cash on hand and
demand deposits. Balances classified
as ‘Cash Equivalents’ fit the definitions
of being short term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible
to known amounts of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

The net balance of Cash and Cash
Equivalents at the Balance Sheet date
is shown in the table opposite.

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 Cash & Cash Equivalents £'000
29,105 Call Accounts 22,650
(2,375) Cash at Bank/(Overdraft) 2,087

26,730 Total 24,737

P
age 228



Note 21 Assets Held for Sale 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 101

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Balance outstanding at 1 April 11,051 11,078

Assets newly classified as Held for Sale - 21

Net Revaluations - (23)

Disposals (11,051) (25)

Balance outstanding at 30 March - 11,051

CurrentThe reduction in Assets Held for

Sale during 2018/19 reflects the

sale of the Acre Lane Professional

Excellence Centre, Eastham.

This site has been sold for housing

development as part of the Wirral

Plan.

P
age 229



Note 22 Creditors 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 102

2018/19 Creditors 2017/18

£'000 £'000

45,720 Trade Payables 40,293

11,390 Other Payables 22,322
57,110 Total 62,615

P
age 230



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 103

Provisions

The provisions figures shown in the Balance Sheet comprises:

Note 23 Provisions 

Balance as at 

1 April 2018

Increase in 

provision during 

year

Utilised 

during year

Balance as at 31 

March 2019

Provisions £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Short Term

Severance Pay 173 2,260 (173) 2,260

Insurance Fund 1,000 - (150) 850

NNDR Appeals 10,504 106 (2,180) 8,431

Carbon Reduction Commitment 346 - - 346

Land Charges 248 - - 248

Birkenhead Market TUPE - 100 - 100

Financial Instrument - 48 - 48

Other 110 31 (47) 94

Total Short Term Provisions 12,381 2,545 (2,550) 12,377

Long Term

Insurance Fund 2,275 102 - 2,376

Total Long Term Provisions 2,274 102 - 2,376

P
age 231



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 104

Severance Pay

The Council has identified funding that will
be required for staff reductions in financial
year 2018/19 that will cost £2.260 million
and has therefore made provision for this
liability.

Insurance Fund

This is required to cover possible liability
insurance claims. The overall estimate of
the amount required to cover these is
based on an actuarial investigation, which
seeks to estimate the ultimate claims
arising in respect of each risk period. The
basis for calculating the provision is claims
actually reported as outstanding. The timing
of future payments depends almost entirely
upon when claims are settled, but are likely
to run over a number of years.

NNDR Appeals

Following the introduction of the Business
Rates Retention Scheme from 1 April 2013,
billing authorities are required to make an
estimate of the impact of successful
appeals covering not only 2018/19 but also
any backdated amount relating to earlier
years. This will include decisions made in
future years regarding appeals which may
affect the 2018/19 and earlier financial
years’ business rates charges. The
provision calculation is based upon data

supplied by the Valuation Office at 31
March 2019 regarding outstanding and
settled appeals.

Carbon Reduction Commitment

To fund carbon reduction payments to the
Government which are paid in arrears but
which need to be reflected in the correct
financial year. Payments relating to 2017/18
have been met from this provision in
2018/19.

Land Charges

For claims for searches carried out in
previous years and is to cover any Council
liability for claims for income incorrectly
charged in respect of searches.

Other Provisions

All other provisions are individually
insignificant in being below £0.25 million.

Note 23 Provisions (continued) 

P
age 232



Note 24 Useable Reserves 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 105

The balances on the General Fund and Earmarked General Fund Reserves are available for funding both capital and revenue expenditure. The
amounts relating to balances held by schools are accounted for as Earmarked Reserves and are not included in the General Fund Balance. The
Capital Receipts Reserve and Capital Grants Unapplied are held for capital purposes only.

Useable Reserve Balance as 

at 1 April 

2018

Movement Balance as at 

31 March 

2019

Purpose of Reserve 

£'000 £'000 £'000

General Fund Balance 24,856 (14,188) 10,668 Resources available to meet future unexpected 

revenue and capital costs

Earmarked General Fund Reserves 54,862 4,690 59,552 See Note 10 for further details. This includes 

schools balances

Capital Receipts Reserve 1,672 (749) 923 Contains the proceeds of fixed assets sales that 

are available to meet the future capital investment

Capital Grants Unapplied 14,388 1,863 16,251 Government grants and contributions received in 

year for projects

Total 95,778 (8,384) 87,394

P
age 233



Note 25 Unusable Reserves 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 106

Unusable Reserves 31/03/2018

Movement 

in year 31/03/2019

£'000 £'000 £'000

Revaluation Reserve 220,912 23,414 244,326

Available for Sale Financial Instruments Reserve (19) 19 -

Capital Adjustment Account 135,165 (3,047) 132,118

Financial Instrument Reserves (3,423) 637 (2,786)

Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve (England and Wales) 2,660 (2,061) 599

Pensions Reserve (480,226) (70,367) (550,593)

Collection Fund Adjustment Account (1,588) 2,429 841

Accumulated Absences Account (3,465) 245 (3,220)

Total Unusable Reserves (129,985) (48,732) (178,717)

Further information on each of the above reserves is included on the pages that follow as part of Note 25.

P
age 234



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 107

Revaluation Reserve

The Revaluation Reserve contains the gains
made by the Council arising from increases
in the value of its Property, Plant and
Equipment. The balance is reduced when
assets with accumulated gains are:

• Revalued downwards or impaired and the
gains are lost;

• Used in the provision of services and the
gains are consumed through
depreciation; or

• Disposed of and the gains are realised.

The Reserve contains only revaluation gains
accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date
that the Reserve was created. Accumulated
gains arising before that date are
consolidated into the balance on the Capital
Adjustment Account.

Revaluation Reserve Adjustments

When an asset is revalued downwards
(impaired) and there has been a previous
upward revaluation which has created a
revaluation reserve, the impairment is
charged to the revaluation reserve until it is
depleted; thereafter it is charged to service
revenue accounts.

When an asset that has been revalued is
depreciated, the associated revaluation
reserve is written off at the same rate. In this
situation the revaluation reserve is debited
and the capital adjustment account is
credited. If an asset is deemed to have a
residual value, depreciation stops when the
residual value has been reached. Writing off
of the revaluation reserve stops at the same
time.

31/03/2019 31/03/2018

£'000 £'000

220,912 Balance at 1 April 228,563

49,248 Upward Revaluation of Assets 15,784

(6,520) Downward Revaluation of Assets and Impairment Losses not charged to the Surplus or 

Deficit on the Provision of Services

(6,465)

42,728 Surplus or Deficit on Revaluation of Non-Current Assets not posted to the 

Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services

9,319

(4,485) Difference between Fair Value Depreciation and Historical Cost Depreciation (3,888)

(14,829) Revaluation Balances on Assets scrapped or disposed of (13,082)

(19,314) Amount written off to the Capital Adjustment Account (16,970)

244,326 Balance at 31 March 220,912

Note 25 Unusable Reserves (continued) 

P
age 235



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 108

Capital Adjustment Account

The Capital Adjustment Account absorbs
the timing differences arising from the
different accounting arrangements for the
consumption of non-current assets and
for their financing under statutory
provisions. The Account is charged with
costs of acquisition, construction or
enhancement of assets. Depreciation,
impairment losses and amortisations of
assets are charged to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement with
postings from the Revaluation Reserve to
convert fair values to an historical cost
basis.

The Account contains accumulated gains
and losses on Investment Properties and
gains recognised on donated assets that
have yet to be consumed by the Council.

The Account also contains revaluation
gains accumulated on Property, Plant and
Equipment before 1 April 2007, the date
that the Revaluation Reserve was created
to hold such gains.

Note 25 Unusable Reserves (continued) 

31/03/2019 31/03/2018

£'000 £'000

135,165 Balance at 1 April 158,492

Reversal of Items relating to Capital Expenditure debited or credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement:

(19,102) Charges for Depreciation, Revaluation Losses and Impairment of Non-Current Assets (24,372)

4,485 Historic Cost Adjustment on Revaluation Lossess on Property, Plant and Equiptment 3,888

(19,015) Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute (15,099)

(21,548) Amounts of Non Current Assets written off on Disposal or Sale as part of the Gain/Loss 

on disposal to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

(33,044)

(55,180) (68,627)

Capital Financing applied in the Year:

14,339 Use of the Capital Receipts Reserve to finance New Capital Expenditure 10,419

14,717 Capital Grants and Contributions credited to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Statement that have been applied to Capital Financing

14,235

8,196 Statutory Provision for the financing of Capital Investment charged against the General 

Fund

7,307

11 Capital Expenditure charged against the General Fund 189

37,263 32,150

14,829 Balance in Revaluation Reserve written off on disposal of Assets 13,081

204 Movements in the Market Value of Investment Properties debited or credited to the 

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

273

(163) Public Sector Housing Loans (204)

132,118 Balance at 31 March 135,165

P
age 236



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 109

Deferred Capital Receipts

Deferred capital receipts relate to the principal element of loans provided by the Council, which are repaid over a number of years. The capital
receipt is only recognised as and when the principal sum is repaid. At 31 March 2019 the reserve had a balance of £0.599 million (2017/18
£2.660 million).

Pensions Reserve

The Pensions Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for accounting for post-employment benefits and for
funding benefits in accordance with statutory provisions. The Council accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and
Expenditure Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the liabilities recognised to reflect inflation,
changing assumptions and investment returns on any resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements require benefits
earned to be financed as the Council makes employer’s contributions to pension funds or eventually pays any pensions for which it is directly
responsible. The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits earned by past and current
employees – including the impact of a recent court ruling on pensions as outlined in Note 3 - and the resources the Council has set aside to meet
them. The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the benefits come to be paid.

Due to an agreement to prepay a three year sum in relation to the historic pension deficit, starting in 17/18 (see note 44 for details) the Pensions
Reserve total shown below does not match the Pensions Liability in note 42. This is because the liability was reduced by the whole sum of the
prepayment in the first year and the reserve will be reduced as it is applied to the General Fund.

31/03/2019 31/03/2018

£'000 £'000

(480,226) Balance at 1 April (535,408)

(47,956) Remeasurements of the Net Defined Benefit Liability/(Asset) 61,113

(56,735) Reversal of Items relating to Retirement Benefits debited or credited to the Surplus or 

Deficit on the Provision of Services in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

Statement 

(39,417)

34,324 Employers Pensions Contributions and Direct Payments to Pensioners payable in the 

Year

33,486

(550,593) Balance at 31 March (480,226)

Note 25 Unusable Reserves (continued) 

P
age 237



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 110

OTHER RESERVES

Financial Instrument Reserves:

Financial Instruments Adjustment Account

The Financial Instrument Adjustment
Account absorbs the timing differences
arising from the different arrangements for
accounting for income and expenses
relating to certain financial instruments and
for bearing losses or benefitting from gains
per statutory provisions. The balance in the
Financial Instrument Adjustment Account at
the end of the year represents the amount
that should have been charged to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement in accordance with proper
accounting practices under the Code of
Practice, but which Statutory Provisions
allow or require to be deferred over future
years. At 31 March 2019 the account had a
balance of £2.689 million (2017/18 £3.423
million)

Financial Instrument Revaluation Reserve 
& Pooled Fund Adjustment Account

The Financial Instrument Revaluation
Reserve & Pooled Fund Adjustment
Accounts contain gains or losses made by
the Council arising from movements in the
value of its investments that have quoted
market prices or otherwise do not have
fixed or determinable payments. At 31
March 2019, these reserves had a total
debit balance of £0.097 million (2017/18
nil).

Collection Fund Adjustment Account

The Collection Fund Adjustment Account
manages the differences arising from the
recognition of Council Tax and National
Non-domestic Rates income in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement as it falls due from tax payers
compared with the statutory arrangements
for paying across amounts to the General
Fund from the Collection Fund. At 31 March
2019, the account had a balance of £841
million Credit (2017/18 £1.588 million
Debit), representing the Council’s share of
the overall Collection Fund balance.

Accumulated Absences Account

The Accumulating Compensated Absences
Adjustment Account absorbs the
differences that would otherwise arise on
the General Fund Balance from accruing
for compensated absences earned but not
taken in the year e.g. annual leave
entitlement carried forward at 31 March.
Statutory arrangements require that the
impact on the General Fund Balance is
neutralised by transfers to or from the
Account. The account had a credit/debit
balance of £3.220 million at 31 March 2019
(2017/18 balance £3.465 million credit).

Note 25 Unusable Reserves (continued) 

P
age 238



Note 26 Cash Flow Statement – Operating Activities 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 111

The cash flows for operating activities include the following items:

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

The Net (Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services includes:

13,113 Interest paid 12,625

(611) Interest received (686)

Adjustment to Net (Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services for Non-Cash Movements:

(21,466) Depreciation (20,185)

2,952 Net Impairments and Revaluations  (3,531)

(384) Amortisation of Intangible Assets (383)

(6,188) Increase/(Decrease) in Debtors 14,325

5,506 (Increase)/Decrease in Creditors (6,180)

22 Increase/(Decrease) in Stock/WIP 8

(22,410) Movement in Pension Liability (5,932)

(21,548) Non-Cash Items relating to the Disposal of Fixed Assets (33,044)

195 Other Non-Cash Items charged to the Net Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services (2,908)

(63,321) (57,830)

Adjustment for Items in the Net (Surplus)/Deficit on the Provision of Services that are 

Investing and Financing Activities

16,580 Grants applied to the Financing of Capital Expenditure 13,704

6,494 Proceeds from the Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Property and Intangible 

Assets

6,331

23,074 20,035

P
age 239



Note 27 Cash Flow Statement – Investing Activities 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 112

The cash flows for investing activities include the following items:

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

29,270 Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Property and Intangible Assets 28,126

(15,177) Purchase of Short Term & Long Term Investments 511

149 Other Payments for Investing Activities 103

(6,494) Proceeds from the Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment, Investment Property and Intangible 

Assets

(6,331)

(15,477) Proceeds from Short Term & Long Term Investments 361

(19,353) Other Receipts from Investing Activities (18,289)

(27,082) Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities 4,481

P
age 240



Note 28 Cash Flow Statement – Financing Activities 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 113

The cash flows for financing activities include the following items:

2018/19 2017/18

£000 £000

(3,700) Cash Receipts from Short and Long Term Borrowing (57,371)

2,947 Cash Payments for the Reduction of the Outstanding Liability relating to a Finance Lease and On-

Balance Sheet PFI Contracts

2,620

6,988 Repayment of Short and Long Term Borrowing 2,711

9,254 Other Payments for Financing Activities 28,679

15,489 Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities (23,361)

P
age 241



Note 29 Expenditure and Income Analysed by Nature 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 114

The Authority’s expenditure and
income is analysed as follows:

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

275,018 Employees 254,489

431,279 Other Service Expenses 410,902

40,611 Depreciation, Amortisement & Impairment 57,347

24,665 Interest Payments 24,653

38,161 Precepts & Levies 37,541

(1) Payments to Housing Capital Receipts Pool 2

8,108 Loss/(Gain) on Disposal of Assets 26,775

817,841 Total Expenditure 811,709

(128,054) Fees, Charges and Other Service Income (119,612)

(1,422) Interest and Investment Income (1,845)

(265,219) Income from Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates (247,026)

(373,299) Government Grants and Contributions (387,337)

(767,994) Total Income (755,820)

49,847 (Surplus)/ Deficit on the Provision of Services 55,889

P
age 242



Note 30 Trading Account 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 115

The Council has currently one trading unit for Building Cleaning where the service manager is required to operate
in a commercial environment and balance the budget by generating income from other parts of the Council or
other organisations.

Details are shown in the table:

2018/19 2017/18

Expenditure Income  Net 

Expenditure/ 

(Income)

Expenditure Income  Net 

Expenditure/ 

(Income)

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

730 (654) 76 Building Cleaning 613 (575) 38

730 (654) 76 Total 613 (575) 38

P
age 243



Note 31 Pooled Budgets 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 116

Wirral Council has a pooled budget
arrangement in partnership with Wirral
NHS Clinical Commissioning Group,
under Section 75 of the Health Act
2006, for the commissioning and
delivery of various integrated Care &
Health functions. This pooled budget is
hosted by Wirral Council and
commenced on 1st April 2015; it
includes, but is not limited to, services
funded by the Better Care Fund.

The pool incentivises the NHS and local
government to work more closely
together around people, placing their
well-being as the focus of care and
health services.

Locally, the primary aims of the pooled
fund are:

• Supporting independence in the
community by placed-based activity

• Reducing non-elective admissions
and reducing residential admissions
by providing the right care and
support within the community

• Facilitating earlier hospital discharge

The pooled budget is governed by
Wirral Health & Care Commissioning
(WHCC).

The increase in funding provided to the
pooled budget during 18/19 reflects
additional services brought into the
revenue pool - including complex care
packages and mental health services.

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Revenue

Funding provided to the Pooled Budget:

79,862 Wirral Council 18,913

48,136 Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group 25,369

127,998 Total 44,282

Expenditure met from the Pooled Budget:

79,492 Wirral Council 36,650

48,731 Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group 6,781

128,223 Total 43,431

(225) Net Surplus/(Deficit) arising on the Pooled Budget during the Year 851

(113) Cost of the Council's Share of the Surplus/(Deficit) on the Pooled Budget for 

the Year

426

P
age 244



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 117

Capital Pooled Budgets

Note 31 Pooled Budgets (continued)  

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Capital (Disabled Facilities Grant)

Funding provided to the pooled budget:

3,858 Wirral Council 3,592

- Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group -

3,858 Total 3,592

Expenditure met from the pooled budget:

3,858 Wirral Council 1,662

- Wirral Clinical Commissioning Group -

3,858 Total 1,662

- Net Surplus/(Deficit) arising on the Pooled Budget during the Year 1,930

- Cost of the Council's Share of the Surplus/(Deficit) on the Pooled Budget for 

the Year

1,930

P
age 245



Note 32 Members Allowances  

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 118

During the year Members’ allowances,
including Employer's costs totalled
£792,000 (2017/18 £790,000) as set
out in the table:

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

12 Mayor/Deputy Allowance 12

776 Allowances 773

4 Expenses 5

792 Total 790

P
age 246



Note 33 Officers’ Remuneration 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 119

The remuneration paid to the Council’s senior employees is as follows:

a) - Left organisation 13/12/18

b) - Covered Director of Economic & Housing Growth post in addition to Director for Business Management from 13/12/18

2018/19 Employment Period Notes Salaries

Expenses 

Allowances

Compensation for 

Loss of Office

Pension 

Contribution Total

        £         £         £         £         £

Chief Executive (Eric Robinson) 01/04/18-31/03/19 175,874 176 - 25,665 201,715

Director for Strategy and Partnerships 01/04/18-31/03/19 109,700 - 56,376 15,855 181,931

Director for Delivery (Asst CEX) 01/04/18-31/03/19 116,779 - - 17,050 133,828

Director for Health and Wellbeing 01/04/18-31/03/19 82,708 407 - 11,930 95,046

Director of Finance and Investment 01/04/18-31/03/19 108,296 32 - 15,698 124,026

Director for Care and Health 01/04/18-31/03/19 116,779 - - 17,050 133,828

Director for Children 01/04/18-31/03/19 143,750 - - 20,988 164,738

Director of Economic & Housing Growth 25/06/18-13/12/18 a) 85,140 - - 7,877 93,016

Director for Business Management 01/04/18-31/03/19 b) 126,162 - - 18,403 144,565

Director for Governance and Assurance 01/04/18-31/03/19 108,155 - - 15,744 123,899

Total 1,173,343 616 56,376 166,258 1,396,593

P
age 247



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 120

e) Left post 03/12/17

f) Left organisation 03/09/17

g) Director of Governance and Assurance covered by interim from 04/09/17-31/03/18

Note 33 Officers’ Remuneration (continued) 

a) Left organisation 31/07/17

b) Left post 31/07/17

c) Left organisation 31/12/17

d) Left organisation 22/05/17

2017/18

Employment 

Period Notes Salaries

Expenses 

Allowances

Compensation for 

Loss of Office

Pension 

Contribution Total

        £         £         £         £         £

Chief Executive (Eric Robinson) 01/04/17-31/03/18 175,905 150 - 23,907 199,962

Director for Strategy and Partnerships 01/04/2017-31/07/17 a) 41,517 - - 120,509 162,026

Director for Strategy and Partnerships 01/08/17-31/03/18 69,071 - - 9,877 78,948

Managing Director for Delivery 01/04/17-31/03/18 118,753 34 93,413 357,223 569,423

Director of Transformation 01/04/17-31/03/18 121,370 - - 16,501 137,871

Director for Health and Wellbeing 01/04/17-31/07/18 b) 30,951 - - 4,426 35,377

Director for Health and Wellbeing 01/08/17-31/03/18 72,751 - - 6,373 79,125

Acting Section 151 Officer 01/04/17-31/12/17 c) 99,947 - - 8,579 108,526

Director of Finance and Investment 11/12/17-31/03/18 30,558 - - 4,156 34,714

Director for Care and Health 01/04/17-31/03/18 113,532 1,073 - 15,416 130,021

Director for Children 01/04/17-22/05/17 d) 59,045 - - 2,231 61,276

Director for Children 23/05/17-03/12/17 e) 54,330 24 - 7,389 61,743

Director for Children 04/12/17-31/03/18 43,927 - - 5,974 49,901

Director for Business Services (Ast CEX) 01/04/17-31/03/18 113,406 38 - 15,416 128,861

Assistant Director Governance and Assurance 01/04/17-03/09/17 f) & g) 39,675 36 - - 39,711

Total 1,184,737 1,355 93,413 597,978 1,877,482

P
age 248



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 121

The following table shows remuneration over
£50,000 to employees in bands of £5,000,
including senior officers shown in the previous
tables. Remuneration does, however, include
severance and pension strain costs where the
Council has made decisions to release staff
from the employment of the Council through
redundancy and early retirement. The numbers
of employees by band are therefore inflated by
these one-off costs and do not represent
ongoing staff numbers being paid salaries within
the remuneration bands shown.

The costs of providing additional retirement
benefits are calculated by the Pension Fund and
recharged to the Council, who reimburse the
Fund over 5 years.

Note 33 Officers’ Remuneration (continued) 

Remuneration Band 2018/19 2017/18

Number of 

Employees 

Number of 

Employees 

£50,001 to £55,000 67 65

£55,001 to £60,000 44 48

£60,001 to £65,000 46 46

£65,001 to £70,000 28 20

£70,001 to£ 75,000 9 14

£75,001 to £80,000 16 7

£80,001 to £85,000 9 7

£85,001 to £90,000 6 4

£90,001 to £95,000 5 1

£95,001 to £100,000 1 2

£100,001 to £105,000 1 1

£105,001 to £110,000 2 1

£110,001 to £115,000 2 2
£115,001 to £120,000 2 -

£120,001 to £125,000 - 1

£125,001 to £130,000 1 -

£130,001 to £135,000 1 -

£140,001 to £145,000 1 -

£165,001 to £170,000 1 -

£175,001 to £180,000 1 1

£215,000 to £219,999 - 1

Total 243 221

P
age 249



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 122

The numbers of exit packages with total cost per band of compulsory and other redundancies are set out in the table:

Note 33 Officers’ Remuneration (continued) 

Exit package cost band 

(including special payments)

2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18

£0-£20,000 - 1 86 62 86 63 742 385

£20,001 - £40,000 - - 26 21 26 21 768 568

£40,001 - £60,000 - - 5 - 5 - 247 -

£60,001 - £100,000 - - 2 2 2 2 147 164

Total - 1 119 85 119 86 1,904 1,117

Number of compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 

departures agreed

Total number of exit 

packages by cost band

Total cost of exit packages in 

each band

P
age 250



Note 34 External Audit Costs

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 123

In 2018/19 the following fees were paid
relating to external audit and inspection:

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

123 Fees payable to Grant Thornton with regard to 

external audit services carried out by the appointed 

auditor for the year

160

29 Fees payable to Grant Thornton for the certification of 

grant claims and returns for the year

24

13 Fees payable in respect of other services provided 

during the year

8

165 Total 192P
age 251



Note 35 Dedicated Schools Grant 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 124

The Council’s expenditure on schools is
funded primarily by grant monies
provided by the Education and Skills
Funding Agency, the Dedicated Schools
Grant (DSG). DSG is ringfenced and
can only be applied to meet expenditure
properly included in the Schools
Budget, as defined in the School
Finance and Early Years (England)
Regulations 2018. The Schools Budget
includes elements for a range of
educational services provided on an
Authority-wide basis and for the
Individual Schools Budget, which is
divided into a budget share for each
maintained school.

Details of the deployment of DSG
receivable for 2018/19 are shown in the
table:

2018/19 Central 

Expenditure

Individual 

Schools 

Budget 

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Final DSG for 2018/19 before Academies recoupment
257,851

Academy figure recouped for 2018/19
(89,347)

Total DSG after academy recoupment for 2018/19 168,504

Plus: Brought forward from 2017/18 2,286

Less: Carry forward to 2019/20 (agreed in advance) (794)

Agreed initial budgeted distribution in 2018/19 28,689 141,307 169,996

In year adjustments 48 - 48

Final budget distribution for 2018/19 28,737 141,307 170,044

Less: Actual central expenditure 
(28,514) - (28,514)

Less: Actual ISB deployed to schools 
- (141,307) (141,307)

Plus: Local Authority contribution for 2018/19 1,192 - 1,192

To carry forward to 2019/20 agreed in advance - - 794

Carry forward to 2019/20 1,415 - 2,209

P
age 252



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 125

Comparative figures for
2017/18 are as follows:

Note 35 Dedicated Schools Grant (continued) 

2017/18 Central 

Expenditure

Individual 

Schools 

Budget 

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000

Final DSG for 2017/18 before Academies recoupment 245,917

Academy figure recouped for 2017/18 (79,825)

Total DSG after academy recoupment for 2017/18 166,092

Plus: Brought forward from 2016/17 1,903

Less: Carry forward to 2018/19 (agreed in advance) (794)

Agreed initial budgeted distribution in 2017/18 26,098 141,103 167,201

In year adjustments - 187 187

Final budget distribution for 2017/18 26,098 141,290 167,388

Less: Actual central expenditure (25,227) (25,227)

Less: Actual ISB deployed to schools (141,290) (141,290)

Plus: Local Authority contribution for 2017/18 621 - 621

To carry forward to 2018/19 agreed in advance - - 794

Carry forward to 2018/19 1,492 - 2,286

P
age 253



Note 36 Grant Income 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 126

The Council credited the following
grants and contributions and
donations to the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure
Statement in 2018/19.

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Revenue Grants:

5,471 School Private Finance Initiative 5,471

- Education Services Grant 918

9,586 Grant to compensate Authorities for changes to the business rates 8,764

1,230 Levy Account Surplus Grant -

1,520 New Homes Bonus Grant 2,444

1,125 Adult Social Care Support Grant 1,808

1,571 Independent Living Fund Grant 1,622

441 Other Revenue Grants (less than £250k) 572

543 Local Council Tax Support Admin Grant 569

253 Local Reform & Community Voices 250

223 SEND Implementation 217

21,963 Total Revenue Grants 22,635

Capital Grants:

6,195 Local Transport Grant 4,645

- DFT Challenge 752

2,638 School Condition 2,535

949 Sustainable Transport Enhance Programme 735

4,058 Disabled Facilities Grants 3,898

- Basic Needs Grant 620

1,058 Formula Capital 281

900 Civilised Streets -

340 Land Drainage / Flood Protection -

442 Other Capital Grants (less than £250k) 238

16,580 Total Capital Grants 13,704

38,543 Total credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income 36,339

Credited to Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income

P
age 254



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 127

Grant Income Credited to Services

Note 36 Grant Income (continued)  

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

168,616 Dedicated Schools Grant 166,256

104,656 Housing Benefits 119,287

29,079 Public Health Grant 29,898

13,056 Pupil Premium 13,179

5,143 Improved Better Care Fund Grant 8,307

3,188 16-19 Further Education YPLA 3,446

1,239 Housing Benefits Admin. Grant 1,399

3,228 Universal Infant Free School Meals (UIFSM) 3,440

857 Discretionary Housing Payments 872

1,606 PE & Sports Grant 1,302

526 Adult Safeguarded Learning 839

552 Youth Justice Board 552

2,398 Wirral Ways to Work 2,221

612 Teachers Pay Grant -

334,756 Total 350,998

Credited to Services

P
age 255



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 128

The Council has received a number of grants
and contributions that have yet to be
recognised as income as they have conditions
attached to them. These will require the
monies to be returned to the giver, if not spent
in accordance with the conditions. The
balances at the year-end totalled £0.830
million. Revenue grants with conditions totalling
less than £1 million are included in short term
creditors.

Note 36 Grant Income (continued)  

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

290 Cluster of Empty Homes 303

67 Mulberry Properties 67

473 Basic Needs -

- Other 3

830 Total 373

Grants Received in Advance

P
age 256



Note 37 Related Party Transactions

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 129

The Council is required to disclose material
transactions with related parties – bodies or
individuals that have the potential to control
or influence the Council or to be controlled or
influenced by the Council. Disclosure of
these transactions allows readers to assess
the extent to which the Council might have
been constrained in its ability to operate
independently or might have secured the
ability to limit another party’s ability to bargain
freely with the Council.

Central Government

Central government has effective control over
the general operations of the Council – it is
responsible for providing the statutory
framework, within which the Council
operates, provides the majority of its funding
in the form of grants and prescribes the
terms of many of the transactions that the
Authority has with other parties (e.g. council
tax bills, housing benefits). Grants received
from government departments are set out in
the analysis in Note 35.

Members

Members of the Council have direct control
over the Council’s financial and operating
policies. The total of members’ allowances
paid in 2018/19 is shown in Note 32. During
2018/19, works and services to the value of
£22.2 million were commissioned from
companies in which Members had an
interest, including payments to Wirral
Evolutions (£6.64 million in 2018/19, £5.67
million in 2017/18), Edsential (£4.33 million in
2018/19, £4.6 million in 2017/18), Merseyside
Pension Fund (£3.85 million in 2018/19, £4.7

million in 2017/18), Cheshire & Wirral
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (£4 million
in 2018/19) and to various other
organisations (£3.3 million in 2018/19). In all
instances, the payments were made with
proper consideration of declarations of
interest. The relevant members did not take
part in any discussion or decision relating to
the payments. Details of all these
transactions are recorded in the Register of
Members’ Interest, open to public inspection
at the Town Hall during office hours.

Officers

During 2018/19, the Assistant Chief
Executive declared interests as a director of
two companies significantly influenced by the
Council - Edsential CIC and the Wirral
Growth Company. The acting officer hadn’t
taken part in any discussion or decision
relating to the awarding of contracts or
making payments to the companies that they
have declared an interest in.

Entities Controlled or Significantly
Influenced by the Authority

The Council has significant influence over
Wirral Evolutions Limited through its
ownership of 100% of the shares in the
company. The Council purchased adult
social care services to the value of £6.64
million from the company in 2018/19 (£5.63
million in 2017/18) and has provided payroll
services for Wirral Evolutions. Wirral
Evolutions has a net pension deficit of £4.7
million as at 31st March 2019 (£3.5 million as
at 31st March 2018)

The Council has significant influence over
Edsential Community Interest Company
through its ownership of 50% of the shares in
the company and having a senior officer on
the Board. The Council purchased Catering
and Educational services to the value of £4.3
million from the company in 2018/19 (£4.6
million in 2017/18) and provided payroll
services to Edsential CIC. The Council also
guarantees the Merseyside Pension Fund
element of Edsential’s pension liability, which
equates to £3 million (£2.5 million in
2017/18).

The Council acts as guarantor for a number
of staff who work in various external bodies
that have been admitted to the Merseyside
Pension Fund. On cessation of the body’s
participation in the fund, any shortfalls are
initially claimed from the admitted body. If
they cannot be recovered from that source,
the pension fund would look at the guarantee
arrangements and draw down from bonds
that are in place and, if still insufficient, from
the guarantor. The Council acts as guarantor
for a number of bodies. The estimated
unrecorded liability is not material at 31
March 2019 and has not be been reflected in
the 2018/19 Accounts.

P
age 257



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 130

Other Public Bodies 

The Council has member representation on
committees of the following organisations to
which the Council pays a levy or precept.

The Authority has a pooled budget
arrangement with Wirral Community NHS
Trust for the provision of integrated
community equipment services. Further
details are contained in note 30.

The Council acts as the administering
Council to Merseyside Pension Fund and
charged the Fund £3.58 million (2017/18
£3.3 million) for administration and
investment management costs.

£'000 £'000

Merseyside Police Authority 2 15,155 16,418

Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service 4 6,788 7,757

Merseyside Recycling and Waste Authority 2 15,373 16,100

Merseyside Port Health 6 68 33

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 4 21,898 21,786

Number of 

Representatives

Precept/

Levy 

2017/18

Precept/

Levy 

2018/19

Note 37 Related Party Transactions (continued)

P
age 258



Note 38 Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 131

Capital Expenditure and Capital Financing 2018/19

Note £'000

Opening Capital  Financing Requirement 339,086

Property, Plant and Equipment 22,035

Investment Properties 7,235

Other 149

Expenditure re flexible use of capital receipts 13,863

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 5,221

Total 48,503

Sources of finance

Capital receipts (14,339)

Government grants and other contributions (14,786)

Sums set aside from revenue:

Revenue Contributions (11)

Minimum Revenue Provision (12,665)

Total (41,801)

Closing Capital Finance Requirement 345,788

Explanation of movements in year

Increase in underlying need to borrowing (supported by government financial assistance) 6,702

P
age 259



Note 39 Leases

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 132

Council as Lessor

The Council has leased out the
following properties on finance leases
with the remaining terms shown in the
table. . During the year the Council
acquired Birkenhead Market which
explains most of the movement
between March 2018 and March 2019
in the tables below.

The Council has gross investments in
the leases, made up of the minimum
lease payments expected to be
received over the remaining terms and
the residual value anticipated for the
properties when the leases come to an
end. The minimum lease payments
comprise settlement of the long-term
debtors for the interest in the properties
acquired by the lessees and finance
income that will be earned by the
Council in future years whilst the debtor
remains outstanding. The gross
investment is made up of the amounts
shown in the table.

Property Lessor Remaining 

Term 

Wirral Country Park Caravan Site (Touring) The Caravan Club Ltd 10 years

Wirral Country Park Caravan Site (Static) The Caravan Club Ltd 30 years

New Brighton Marine Point Promenade Wirral Limited 243 years 

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Finance Lease Debtor (Net Present Value of Minimum Lease Payments):

4 - Current 4

595 - Non-Current 2,656

10,681 Unearned Finance Income 25,256

11,280 Gross investment in the lease 27,916

P
age 260



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 133

The gross investment in the lease
and the minimum lease payments
will be received over the following
periods:

Note 39 Leases (continued)

2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

No later than 1 year 136 287 80 129

Later than 1 year and no later than  5 years 546 1,146 270 430

Later than 5 years 10,598 26,484 805 1,216

Total 11,280 27,917 1,155 1,775

Investment in the 

Lease

Lease Payments

P
age 261



Note 40 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and Similar Contracts 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 134

The Wirral Schools’ PFI Scheme Project
Agreement was originally signed in March
2001 and involved the rebuilding and/or
refurbishment of one primary and eight
secondary schools in Wirral. A Deed of
Amendment was entered into on 9
September 2004 to extend the contract until
July 2031.

The first phase of the Project (Construction
Works) was completed on the final schools
in August 2006 and the Council now receive
support services in accordance with a
detailed set of Output Specifications.
These include building and services
maintenance, grounds maintenance,
catering, cleaning, caretaking, security,
utilities and telecommunications.

The specifications for Support Services are
not prescriptive and it is up to our PFI
Partner, Wirral Schools’ Services Ltd
(WSSL) to devise a programme of service
delivery which achieves the Council's
Output Specifications. The success of this
is measured by way of a payment
mechanism and deductions system.

It is only in pre-agreed circumstances that
WSSL is excused from performance.
These situations are known as Relief
Events and they include the declaration of
any emergency by the Council, failure by
any utility company, loss or damage to a

road servicing a school or any strike
affecting the relevant industry.

Other than under these clearly defined
circumstances, risk on the above services
is transferred to WSSL. There are
examples of “Shared Risk” such as that on
Utility Consumption, “Limited Risk” such as
that on the maintenance of loose furniture,
fittings and equipment and “No Risk” to
WSSL whereby the costs of damage
caused by an Act of Vandalism under
specific conditions, rest with the Council.

The price for the provision of the services
(i.e. the provision of the School
accommodation and the Support Services)
is essentially a fixed price for the duration
of the term.

There are several provisos to this e.g.
annual indexation in accordance with the
Retail Prices Index and Value for Money
Testing. The latter is carried out at five year
intervals and basically involves a
comparison between the current price paid
for a particular service (such as cleaning or
catering) with equivalent prevailing market
costs. If the market average is higher or
lower than the current cost by a certain
amount, then any excess outside of that
range leads to a price adjustment.

The Project Agreement will come to an end
on its agreed expiry date of 31 July 2031.

Thirty months prior to the Expiry Date, a
Handback Survey will be carried out. This
will detail each asset and component of
each school and will report on the residual
life of those assets. On the Expiry Date,
the facilities will be handed back to the
Council, at nil consideration, in a condition
which complies with specific standards / life
expectancies for individual components
within each school.

The Council only has the right to terminate
the contract if it compensates the
contractor. Guidelines are clearly set out
for rules governing Compensation on
Termination, as classified under events of
Project Co. Default or Council Default.

Bebington High and South Wirral High have
adopted Foundation status. University
Academy Birkenhead, Weatherhead High,
Hilbre High, Wirral Grammar School,
Kingsway Academy and Prenton High have
adopted Academy status. The assets
relating to the Academies are no longer
reflected in the Balance Sheet.

The contract was originally treated as an
operating lease but with the introduction of
IFRIC 12 ‘Service Concession
Arrangements’, it has now been accounted
for as a finance lease. The value of assets
held under the Schools PFI scheme is
shown on the following page.

P
age 262



Valuation information for PFI assets recognised in the Balance Sheet:

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 135

Note 40 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and Similar Contracts (continued)  

Leasowe 

Primary

South Wirral 

High

Bebington 

High

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Movement in 2018/19

Valuation

Expenditure - 32 - 32

Revaluations (98) 2,172 - 2,074

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2018 (23) (377) (385) (785)

Depreciation 2018/19 - (127) (340) (467)

Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2019 (23) (504) (725) (1,252)

Net Book Value

At 31 March 2019 2,697 12,550 11,745 26,992

At 31 March 2018 2,795 10,473 12,085 25,353

Comparative Movement in 2017/18

Valuation 1 April 2017 2,749 10,750 12,540 26,039

Expenditure 10 - - 10

Revaluations 59 100 (70) 89

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2017 (27) (291) (301) (619)

Depreciation 2017/18 4 (86) (84) (166)

Accumulated depreciation at 21 March 2018 (23) (377) (385) (785)

P
age 263



Payments

Estimated future payments remaining to be made under PFI contracts are as follows:

The unitary payment in 2018/19 is £12.163 million (2017/18 £11.73 million), allocated as follows:

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 136

Note 40 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and Similar Contracts (continued)  

2018/19

Payment for 

Services

Lease Liability Interest Life-cycle 

Costs

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Payable within one year 4,570 2,862 3,952 1,074 12,458

Payable within two to five years 19,802 11,567 16,358 5,891 53,618

Payable within six to ten years 28,747 18,615 24,567 4,972 76,901

Payable within eleven to fifteen years 15,331 9,374 11,899 1,101 37,705

Payable within sixteen to twenty years - - - - -

Total 68,450 42,418 56,776 13,038 180,682

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

4,450 Service costs 4,279

3,994 Interest and Similar Charges 3,731

2,947 Lease Liability 2,624

772 Life Cycle Costs 1,094

12,163 Total 11,728

P
age 264



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 137

The value of the outstanding lease liability
which reflects both the short and long term
is shown in the table.

In calculating the future unitary payments
to the end of the contract from 2016-17
onward the most up to date information
available has been used. This gives a
more accurate estimate of the total
outstanding liability. The annual unitary
payment is increased by the Retail Price
Index less 10%. RPI is based on the most
up to date information as opposed to the
estimates in the operator's financial model.

Note 40 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) and Similar Contracts (continued)  

2018/19 Current Year 2017/18

£'000 £'000

45,365 Balance outstanding at start of year 47,985

(2,947) Payments during the year (2,624)

- Other Movements 4

42,418 Balance outstanding at year-end 45,365

P
age 265



Note 41 Long Term Debtors 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 138

Long Term Debtors

MCC 

Debt

Regeneration 

Loans

Council 

Mortgages Leases

Capital 

Receipts Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance at 1 April 2017 35,746 4,199 8 2,660 - 42,613

Advances - 93 - - - 93

Repaid (4,468) (203) (3) (4) - (4,678)

Balance at 31 March 2018 31,278 4,089 5 2,656 - 38,028

Balance at 1 April 2018 31,278 4,089 5 2,656 - 38,028

Advances - 149 - - 3,465 3,614

Reclassified - 345 - - - 345

Repaid (4,469) (200) (5) (2,058) - (6,732)

Balance at 31 March 2019 26,809 4,383 - 598 3,465 35,255

P
age 266



Note 42 Other Long Term Liabilities 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 139

The 2018/19 increase in Other Long
Term Liabilities is mainly due to a
increase in the Pension Liability, and
the requirement to fund this deficit in
future years. The increased liability is
the Actuary’s revised assessment of the
value of the assets and liabilities of the
Merseyside pension scheme. More
details are shown in note 44.

PFI Long 

Term 

Liability

Other 

lease 

liability

Pensions 

liability 

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Balance 1 April 2017 45,361 - 535,408 580,769

Repayments (2,943) - - (2,943)

Deficit Funding - - (78,076) (78,076)

Balance 31 March 2018 42,418 - 457,332 499,750

Balance 1 April 2018 42,418 - 457,332 499,750

Repayments (2,862) - - (2,862)

Deficit Funding - - 82,049 82,049

Balance 31 March 2019 39,556 - 539,381 578,937

P
age 267



Note 43 Pension Schemes Accounted for as Defined 
Contribution Schemes

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 140

Teachers

Teachers employed by the Authority are
members of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme,
administered by Capita Teachers' Pensions
on behalf of the Department for Education
(DfE). The Scheme provides teachers with
specified benefits upon their retirement, and
the Authority contributes towards the costs
by making contributions based on a
percentage of members’ pensionable
salaries.

The Scheme is a multi-employer defined
benefit scheme. The Scheme is unfunded
and the Department for Education uses a
notional fund as the basis for calculating the
employers’ contribution rate paid by local
authorities. Valuations of the notional fund
are undertaken every four years.

The Scheme has 3,700 participating
employers and consequently the Authority is
not able to identify its share of the
underlying financial position and
performance of the Scheme with sufficient
reliability for accounting purposes. For the
purposes of this Statement of Accounts, it is
therefore accounted for on the same basis
as a defined contribution scheme. As a
proportion of the total contributions into the
Teachers' Pension Scheme during the year
ending 31 March 2019, the Authority's own
contributions are negligible.

In 2018/19, the Council paid £9.74m
(2017/18: £9.826m) to Teachers’ Pensions
in respect of teachers’ retirement benefits.
There were no contributions remaining
payable at the year-end. The contributions
due to be paid in the next financial year are
estimated to be £9.44m.

The Authority is responsible for the costs of
any additional benefits awarded upon early
retirement outside of the terms of the
teachers’ scheme. These costs are
accounted for on a defined benefit basis and
detailed in Note 44.The Authority is not
liable to the Scheme for any other entities'
obligations under the plan.

Public Health

When Public Health staff transferred from
Wirral primary care trust (PCT) in April 2013
on the abolition of the PCTs nationally, they
retained access to the NHS Pension
Scheme. The Scheme provides specified
benefits upon retirement towards which the
Council makes contributions based on a
percentage of members' salaries. The
Scheme is administered by the NHS
Business Services Authority on behalf of the
Department of Health in England and Wales

The Scheme is a multi-employer defined
benefit scheme. The Scheme is unfunded
and the Department of Health uses a
notional fund as the basis for setting

employer contribution rates. Valuations of
the fund are undertaken every four years.

The Scheme has over 1.3m active members
employed in a wide variety of organisations.
A small number of staff (41) transferred from
the Wirral PCT and consequently the
Council is unable to identify its share of the
underlying financial position and
performance of the Scheme with sufficient
reliability for accounting purposes. For the
purposes of this Statement of Accounts, it is
therefore accounted for on the same basis
as a defined contribution scheme. As a
proportion of the total contributions into the
NHS Pension Scheme during the year
ending 31 March 2018, the Authority's own
contributions are negligible.

In 2018/19 the Authority paid £0.181m
(2017/18: £0.164m) to the NHS Pension
Scheme in respect of the retirement benefits
of public health staff. There were no
contributions remaining payable at the year-
end. Contributions due to be paid in the next
financial year are estimated to be £0.260m.

The Authority is not liable to the Scheme for
any other entities' obligations under the
plan.

P
age 268



Note 44 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 141

Participation in Pension Schemes

As part of the terms and conditions of
employment of its officers, the Authority
makes contributions towards the cost of
post-employment benefits within the Local
Government Pension Scheme. Although
these benefits will not actually be payable
until employees retire, the Authority has a
commitment to make the payments (for
those benefits) and to disclose them at the
time that employees earn their future
entitlement.

The Council participates in the following
post-employment schemes:

The Local Government Pension Scheme
(LGPS)

The Local Government Pension Scheme,
administered locally by Wirral Borough
Council - this is a funded defined benefit
final salary scheme, meaning that the
Authority and employees pay contributions
into a fund, calculated at a level intended to
balance the pension’s liabilities with
investment assets.

Arrangements for the award of
discretionary post-retirement benefits upon
early retirement - this is an unfunded
defined benefit arrangement, under which
liabilities are recognised when awards are

made. However there are no investment
assets built up to meet these liabilities, and
cash has to be generated to meet actual
pension payments as they eventually fall
due.

The Merseyside Pension Fund is a multi-
employer scheme operated under the
regulatory framework for the Local
Government Pension Scheme and the
governance of the scheme is the
responsibility of the Fund Pensions
Committee, which comprises Councillors
and representatives from other employers.
Policy is determined in accordance with the
Public Service Pensions Act 2013.

The principal risks to the Council of the
scheme are the longevity assumptions,
statutory changes to the scheme, structural
changes to the scheme (i.e. large-scale
withdrawals from the scheme), changes to
inflation, bond yields and the performance
of the equity investments held by the
scheme.

Discretionary Post-retirement Benefits

Discretionary post-retirement benefits on
early retirement are an unfunded defined
benefit arrangement, under which liabilities
are recognised when awards are made.
There are no plan assets built up to meet
these pension liabilities.

Unfunded Teachers’ Scheme

The Council is responsible for the costs of
any additional benefits awarded upon early
retirement outside of the terms of the
teachers’ scheme referred to in Note 43.
These costs are accounted for on a defined
benefit basis and the Council is not liable to
the Scheme for any other entities'
obligations under the plan.

P
age 269



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 142

Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits

The Authority recognises the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of service when they are earned by employees, rather than when the
benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, the charge the Authority is required to make against council tax is based on the cash payable in
the year, so the real cost of post-employment/retirement benefits is reversed out of the General Fund via the Movement on Reserves Statement.
The transactions shown in the table below have been made in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and the General Fund
balance via the Movement in Reserves Statement during the year:

Note 44 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

2018/19 * 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Cost of services:

Current Service Cost 34,028 35,449 - - - -

(Gain)/Loss from Settlements (2,291) (9,038) - - - -

Past Service Cost 12,908 456 - - - -

Other Operating Expenditure

Administration Cost 538 522 - - - -

Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure:

Net Interest Expense 9,840 10,259 1,013 1,038 699 731

Total Post-employment Benefits Charged to the Surplus of Deficit on the Provision of Services 55,023 37,648 1,013 1,038 699 731

Other Post-employment Benefits Charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement

Remeasurement of the Net Defined Benefit Liability Comprising:

   Return on Plan Assets (Excluding the Amount Included in the Net Interest Expense) (35,223) (69) - - - -

   Actuarial Gains and Losses Arising on Changes in Demographic Assumptions - - - - - -

   Actuarial Gains and Losses Arising on Changes in Financial Assumptions 80,931 (59,637) 1,338 (924) 910 (483)

Total remeasurement of the net Defined Benefit Liability 45,708 (59,706) 1,338 (924) 910 (483)

Total Post Employment Benefits Charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 100,731 (22,058) 2,351 114 1,609 248

Movement in Reserves Statement

Reversal of Net Charges made to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services for Post-employment Benefits in 

Accordance with the Code

(55,023) (37,648) (1,013) (1,038) (699) (731)

Actual Amount Charged Against the General Fund Balance for Pensions in the Year:

Employers' Contributions Payable to Scheme 17,454 51,072 - - - -

Retirement Benefits Payable to Pensioners - - 2,630 2,640 2,558 2,668

Local Government 

Pension Scheme

Discretionary Benefits Unfunded Teachers 

Scheme

* The 18/19 costs of the Local Government Pension Scheme include £16.7m resulting from the McCloud and Sargeant court case (see note 3).
£11.1m of this relates to past service costs and £5.6m reflects the associated remeasurement of assets and liabilities included in the Return on Plan
Assets line of the above table.

P
age 270



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 143

Pension Assets and Liabilities
recognised in the Balance Sheet

The amount included in the Balance Sheet
arising from the Authority's obligation in
respect of its defined benefit plans is as
set out in the table below.

Note 44 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Present Value of Liabilities 1,635,141 1,510,562 40,013 40,292 27,212 28,161 1,702,366 1,579,015

Fair value of Assets 1,162,985 1,121,683 - - - - 1,162,985 1,121,683

Net liability arising from Defined Benefit Obligation (472,156) (388,879) (40,013) (40,292) (27,212) (28,161) (539,381) (457,332)

Unfunded Teachers 

Scheme

TotalLocal Government 

Pension Scheme

Discretionary Benefits

The liability below differs to the pension
reserve in note 25. This is due to a
prepayment agreement referred to in the
Impact on the Authority’s Cashflows
section of this note. This is because the
liability was reduced by the whole sum of
the three year prepayment in the first year
and the reserve is reduced as it is applied
to the General Fund each year.

P
age 271



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 144

Reconciliation of the Movements in the Fair Value of Scheme (Plan) Assets:

Note 44 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Opening Balance at 1 April 1,121,683 1,094,377 - - - -

Interest on Plan Assets 28,869 27,602 - - - -

Remeasurements: 34,371 (15,999) - - - -

Employers Contributions 17,454 51,072 2,630 2,640 2,558 2,668

Contributions by scheme participants 6,760 6,572 - - - -

Benefits paid (45,614) (41,419) (2,630) (2,640) (2,558) (2,668)

Administration Costs (538) (522) - - - -

Closing value of scheme assets 1,162,985 1,121,683 - - - -

Local Government Pension 

Scheme Discretionary Benefits Unfunded Teachers Scheme

P
age 272



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 145

Reconciliation of Present Value of the Scheme Liabilities (Defined Benefit Obligation):

Note 44 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18 2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Opening balance at 1 April 1,510,562 1,556,386 40,292 42,818 28,161 30,581

Current Service Cost 34,028 35,449 - - - -

Interest Cost 38,709 37,861 1,013 1,038 699 731

Contributions from Scheme Participants 6,760 6,572 - - - -

Remeasurements (Liabilities) 80,931 (59,637) 1,338 (924) 910 (483)

Past service cost 11,093 142 - - - -

Curtailments 1,815 314 - - - -

Liabilities assumed on entity combinations - - - - - -

Benefits paid (45,614) (41,419) (2,630) (2,640) (2,558) (2,668)

Settlements (3,143) (25,106) - - - -

Balance as at 31 March 1,635,141 1,510,562 40,013 40,292 27,212 28,161

Local Government Pension 

Scheme Discretionary Benefits Unfunded Teachers Scheme

P
age 273



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 146

Local Government Pension 
Scheme Assets Comprised:

Note 44 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

2018/19 2018/19 2017/18 2017/18

£'000 % £'000 %

Equities:

178,527 UK Quoted 236,337

30,713 UK Unquoted -

242,879 Global Quoted 355,013

118,986 Global Unquoted -

571,105 49.1% 591,350 52.7%

Bonds:

142,293 UK Corporate (including UK Index-Linked) 139,537

42,158 UK Government 40,268

184,451 15.9% 179,805 16.0%

Property:

70,991 UK Direct Property 65,170

23,492 UK Managed Property (Quoted and Unquoted) 19,068

16,547 Global Managed Properties 15,704

111,030 9.5% 99,942 8.9%

Private equity

36,941 UK Quoted & Unquoted 37,015

41,235 Global 35,109

78,176 6.7% 72,124 6.4%

Hedge Funds

5,769 UK Hedge Funds 5,721

29,404 Global Hedge Funds 29,388

35,173 3.0% 35,109 3.1%

Infrastructure

44,912 UK Infrastructure 27,706

28,365 Global Infrastructure 22,097

73,277 6.3% 49,803 4.4%

Opportunities

46,394 UK Opportunities 43,522

29,491 Global Opportunities 20,079

75,885 6.5% 63,601 5.7%

33,888 2.9% Cash Instruments 29,949 2.7%

1,162,985 100.0% Total assets 1,121,683 100.0%

P
age 274



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 147

Basis for Estimating Assets and Liabilities

The expected return on scheme assets is determined by

considering the expected returns available on the assets

underlying the current investment policy. Expected yields

on fixed interest investments are based on gross

redemption yields as at the Balance Sheet date.

Expected returns on equity investments reflect long-term

real rates of return experienced in the respective

markets.

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis

using the projected unit method, an estimate of the

pensions that will be payable in the future years

dependent on assumptions about mortality rates, salary

levels, etc. The Local Government Pension Scheme

liabilities have been assessed by Mercers, an

independent firm of actuaries, estimates for the

Merseyside Pension Fund being based on the latest full

valuation of the scheme as at 1 April 2016.

The significant assumptions used by the actuary are set

out in the table.

Note 44 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

Local Government Pension Scheme

2018/19 2017/18

6.5% Equity investments 6.5%

2.2% Government Bonds 2.2%

2.9% Other Bonds 2.9%

5.9% Property 5.9%

0.5% Cash/Liquidity 0.5%

Variable Other Variable

Mortality assumptions:

Longevity at 65 current pensioners:

22.2 Men 22.0

25.0 Women 24.8

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners:

25.2 Men 25.0

27.9 Women 27.8

Financial assumptions:

2.2% Rate of CPI inflation 2.1%

3.7% Rate of increase in salaries 3.6%

2.3% Rate of increase in pensions 2.2%

2.4% Rate for discounting scheme liabilities 2.6%

Long-term expected rate of return on Scheme Assets:

P
age 275



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 148

Note 44 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The estimation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions set out in the table on the previous page.

The sensitivity analysis below is based on reasonably possible changes to the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period and
assumes for each change that the assumption analysed changes while all the other assumptions remain constant.

The longevity assumptions, for example, assume that life expectancy increases or decreases for men and women. In practice this is unlikely to
occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be interrelated.

The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the accounting policies for the scheme, i.e. on an actuarial basis using the projected
unit credit method. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis opposite did not change from those used
in the previous period.

Increase in 

assumption

Decrease in 

assumption

Increase in 

assumption

Decrease in 

assumption

£000 £000 £000 £000

Longevity (increase or decrease in one year) (33,752) 33,752 (1,126) 1,126

Rate of inflation (increase or decrease by 1%) (28,907) 28,907 (232) 232

Rate of increase in salaries (increase or decrease by 1%) (4,223) 4,223 - -

Rate of increase in pensions (increase or decrease by 1%) - - - -

Rate for discounting liabilities (increase or decrease by 1%) 28,417 (28,417) 230 (230)

Unfunded Teachers SchemeDefined Benefit

In 18/19 the impact of the McCloud and Sargeant court ruling (see note 3) resulted in additional pension costs of £16.7m, which remain very

sensitive to the assumptions applied. For example, if future real pay growth assumptions were changed from 1.5% above CPI to zero, the

additional costs could be as low as zero. If future real pay growth of 0.75% p.a. above CPI was anticipated this could result in additional past

service liabilities of c £5.5m at 31 March 2019 and additional projected service costs for the year commencing 1 April 2019 of £1m pa.

P
age 276



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 149

Asset and Liability Matching Strategy

The Pensions Committee of the Merseyside
Pension Fund has agreed to an asset and
liability matching strategy (ALM) that
matches, to the extent possible, the types of
assets invested to the liabilities in the defined
benefit obligation. The fund has matched
assets to the pensions’ obligations by
investing in long-term fixed interest securities
and index linked gilt edged investment with
maturities that match the benefits payments
as they fall due. This is balanced with a need
to maintain the liquidity of the fund to ensure
that it is able to make current payments. As is
required by the pensions and (where
relevant) investment regulations the suitability
of various types of investment have been
considered, as has the need to diversify
investments to reduce the risk of being
invested in too narrow a range. A large
proportion of the assets relate to equities
(49% of scheme assets) and bonds (16%).

These percentages are materially the same
as the comparative year. The scheme also
invests in properties as a part of the
diversification of the scheme’s investments

There is a limited use of derivatives to
manage bond risk for the shorter-term
instruments. The ALM strategy is monitored
annually or more frequently if necessary.

Impact on the Authority's Cashflows

The objectives of the scheme are to keep
employers’ contributions at as constant a rate

as possible. The Fund has agreed a strategy
with the scheme’s actuary to achieve a
funding level of 100% over the next 22 years.
Funding levels are monitored on an annual
basis. The next triennial valuation is due to be
completed on 31 March 2019.

The scheme will need to take account of the
national changes to the scheme under the
Public Pensions Services Act 2013. Under
the Act, the Local Government Pension
Scheme in England and Wales and the other
main existing public service schemes may not
provide benefits in relation to service after 31
March 2014 (or service after 31 March 2015
for other main existing public service pension
schemes in England and Wales). The Act
provides for scheme regulations to be made
within a common framework, to establish new
career average revalued earnings schemes to
pay pensions and other benefits to certain
public servants.

As part of the funding strategy agreed with
Merseyside Pension Fund, the Council pays
an annual sum in respect of recovery of the
historic pension deficit. In April 2017 the
Council agreed to pay upfront the total
amount due for the three year period
2017/18-2019/20. This secured a significant
discount on paying the money in instalments
over the three years. The total amount paid
was £35.068m of which £12.174m is
chargeable to the General Fund in 2017/18,
£11.683m chargeable in 2018/19 and £11.211
chargeable in 2019/20, in accordance with
statutory provisions.

The Council anticipates to pay £19.4m
expected contributions to the scheme in
2019/20. Expected contributions to the
Discretionary Benefits scheme in 2019/20 are
£2.6m. The weighted average duration of the
defined benefit obligation for scheme
members is 17 years for 2018/19 (17 years
2017/18).

Qualitative Disclosures required under
IAS19

Under the revised IAS19, the Council is
required to disclose additional information in
relation to the Merseyside Pension Fund. This
information has been provided by Mercers,
the firm of actuaries responsible for valuing
the Fund.

Retirement Benefit Obligations

At 31 March 2019 the Council’s principal
pension arrangement for its employees was
the Merseyside Pension Fund, which is part
of the Local Government Pension Scheme
(LGPS). The LGPS is a funded defined
benefit pension arrangement for local
authorities and related employers, and is
governed by statute (principally now the Local
Government Pension Scheme Regulations
2013).

Note 44 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

P
age 277



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 150

The Merseyside Pension Fund is a multi-
employer arrangement, under which each
employer is responsible for the pension
costs, liabilities and funding risks relating to
its own employees and former employees.
Each employer’s contributions to the Fund
are calculated in accordance with the LGPS
Regulations, which require an actuarial
valuation to be carried out every three
years. The latest actuarial valuation of the
Fund was carried out at 31 March 2016, and
at that date showed a funding level of 85%
(assets of £6.85bn against accrued liabilities
of £8.081bn). The weighted average
duration of the liabilities of the Fund as a
whole is 19 years, measured on the IAS19
actuarial assumptions. The duration of the
liabilities for the individual employers which
participate in the scheme can be
significantly different from this, reflecting the
profile of its employees and former
employees.

In addition, the Council also participates in
some other defined benefit pension
arrangements, also governed under statute,
but these other schemes are unfunded.
These other arrangements relate to:

Teachers: The Authority’s costs in relation
to this arrangement are set by central
government as a percentage of contributing
members’ pay. The related funding risks are
borne by central government. The Council
is, however, responsible for paying some
additional pensions to retired teachers
which were awarded at the point of

retirement.

Health workers: The Authority’s costs in
relation to this scheme are set by central
government as a percentage of contributing
members’ pay. The related funding risks are
borne by central government.

Governance and Risk Management

The liability associated with the Authority’s
pension arrangements is material to the
Council, as is the cash funding required.

Nature of Fund

The Fund targets a pension paid throughout
life. The amount of pension depends on how
long employees are active members of the
scheme and their salary when they leave
the scheme (a “final salary” scheme) for
service up to 31 March 2014 and on
revalued average salary (a “career average”
scheme) for service from 1 April 2014
onwards.

Governance

Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council is the
Administering Authority of the Fund. The
overall responsibility for the management of
the Fund rests with the Pensions
Committee. The committee comprises
Councillors and representatives from other
employers.

The Pensions Committee reviews the
Fund’s investments, administration,

strategies and policies at regular intervals,
with the help of its various professional
advisers, to ensure that they remain
appropriate. The more detailed
consideration of investment strategy and
asset allocation of the Fund’s portfolios is
considered by an Investment Monitoring
Working Party, which includes
representatives from the Pensions
Committee and external advisors.

Funding the Liabilities

Regulations governing the Fund require
actuarial valuations to be carried out every
three years. Contributions for each
employer are set having regard to their
individual circumstances. The Regulations
require the contributions to be set with a
view to targeting the Fund’s solvency, and
the detailed provisions are set out in the
Fund’s Funding Strategy Statement. The
most recent valuation was carried out as at
31 March 2016, which showed a shortfall of
assets against liabilities of £1.231bn as at
that date, equivalent to a funding level of
85%. The fund’s employers are paying
additional contributions over a period of up
to 22 years in order to meet the shortfall.

The weighted average duration of the
Authority’s defined benefit obligation is 17
years, measured on the actuarial
assumptions used for IAS19 purposes.

Note 44 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

P
age 278



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 151

Risks and Investment Strategy

The Fund’s objective is to achieve a funding
level position of 100% whilst minimising the
level and volatility of employer contributions.
Investment strategy is decided with clear
reference to this objective.

The Fund is cognisant of the risk that the
shorter term returns may vary significantly
from one period to another and between the
benchmark and actual returns.
Diversification of assets is seen as key to
managing this risk and the risk/return
characteristics of each asset and their
relative correlations are reflected in the
make-up of the strategic benchmark.

A mix of short term assets such as bonds
and cash is maintained to cover short term
liabilities while equities, private equity and
direct property are held to benefit from the
potential rewards arising from volatility and
illiquidity risks. The Fund recognises that
risk is inherent in investment activity and
seeks to manage these risks.

Market Price / Interest rate / Currency
risk

Market risk is the risk of loss from
fluctuations in equity and commodity prices,
interest and foreign exchange rates and
credit spreads. The Fund is aware that its
key risk is market risk i.e. the
unpredictability of market performance in
the future. The Fund manages investment
risks through having a broad diversification

of types of investment and investment
managers and has comprehensive
monitoring procedures for investment
managers.

Credit Risk

Credit risk represents the risk that the
counterparty to a transaction or a financial
instrument will fail to discharge an obligation
and cause the Fund to incur financial loss.
The Fund does not hold any fixed interest
securities directly and the managers of the
pooled fixed income vehicles are
responsible for managing credit risk. The
short term cash deposits and other
investment balances are diversified with
investment grade financial institutions. The
Fund has a treasury management policy
that is compliant with current best practice.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk represents the risk that the
Fund will not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due. The Fund’s key
priority is to pay pensions in the long term
and in the short term and the asset
allocation is the key strategy in ensuring
this. To ensure liquidity for payment of
pensions the Fund has a cash allocation,
and further amounts which could be realised
in under 7 days’ notice. The Fund has no
borrowing or borrowing facilities. The
management of the Fund also prepares
periodic cash flow forecasts to understand
and manage the timing of the Fund’s cash
flows.

Other Risks

Actions taken by the government, or
changes to European legislation, could
result in stronger local funding standards,
which could materially affect the Authority’s
cash flow.

There is a risk that changes in the
assumptions (e.g. life expectancy, price
inflation, discount rate) could increase the
defined benefit obligation and/or the
liabilities for actuarial valuation purposes.
Other assumptions used to value the
defined benefit obligation are also uncertain,
although their effect is less material. The
sensitivity analysis above indicates the
change in the defined benefit obligation for
changes in the key assumptions.

The methods used to carry out the
sensitivity analyses presented above for the
material assumptions are the same as those
the Council has used previously. The
calculations alter the relevant assumption by
the amount specified, whilst assuming that
all other variables remain the same. This
approach is not necessarily realistic, since
some assumptions are related: for example,
if the scenario is to show the effect if
inflation is higher than expected, it might be
reasonable to expect that nominal yields on
corporate bonds will increase also.
However, it enables the reader to isolate
one effect from another.

Note 44 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

P
age 279



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 152

Amendments, Curtailments and 
Settlements

The provisions of the Fund were amended
with effect from 1 April 2014. As explained
above for service up to 31 March 2014
benefits were based on salaries when
members leave the scheme, whereas for
service after that date benefits are based on
career average salary. Further details of the
changes are available from the Authority.

Curtailments shown in the accounting figures
relate to the cost of providing retirement
benefits for members who retire early, to the
extent that provision has not already been
made for the relevant defined benefit
obligations.

Settlements shown in the accounting figures
relate to the admission of new employers into
the Fund, and who take on part of the
Authority’s assets and liabilities as a result of
employing members who have accrued
benefits with the Authority.

Schemes for Teachers and Health 
Workers

Nature of Funds

The Funds target a pension paid throughout
life. The amount of pension depends on how
long employees are active members of the
scheme and their salary when they leave the
scheme (a “final salary” scheme) for service
up to 31 March 2015 and on revalued
average salary (a “career average” scheme)

for service from 1 April 2015 onwards.

Governance

These arrangements are managed centrally
by government departments/agencies, and
there is no material involvement for the
Authority.

Funding the Liabilities

Contributions to the arrangements are set by
the government, having taken advice from
the government actuary. Again, the Council
has no material involvement in this process.
The exception to this is the additional
pensions to retired teachers which were
awarded at the point of retirement, and for
which the Council is responsible. The
weighted average duration of these particular
liabilities is 8 years, measured on the
actuarial assumptions used for IAS19
purposes.

Investment Risks

There are no investment risks in relation to
these arrangements, given their unfunded
nature. The greatest single risk is that the
government could change the funding
standards relating to them, which could
increase the Authority’s contributions to
them.

Other Risks

There is a risk that changes in the
assumptions (e.g. life expectancy, price
inflation, discount rate) could increase the

defined benefit obligation. Other assumptions
used to value the defined benefit obligation
are also uncertain, although their effect is
less material. The sensitivity analysis above
indicates the change in the defined benefit
obligation for changes in the key
assumptions.

The methods used to carry out the sensitivity
analyses presented above for the material
assumptions are the same as those the
Council has used previously. The calculations
alter the relevant assumption by the amount
specified, whilst assuming that all other
variables remain the same. This approach is
not necessarily realistic, since some
assumptions are related: for example, if the
scenario is to show the effect if inflation is
higher than expected, it might be reasonable
to expect that nominal yields on corporate
bonds will increase also. However, it enables
the reader to isolate one effect from another.

Note 44 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes (continued)

P
age 280



Note 45 Trust Funds 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 153

The Council acts as a trustee for a number
of trust funds. These do not represent
assets of the Council and have not been
included in the Balance Sheet.

The E.F. Callister trust promotes youth
development. The Stitt and Russell trusts
exist to promote educational achievement.

2018/19 Income Expenditure Assets Liabilities

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

EF Callister - - 373 -

Stitt Scholarship - - 38 -

Criminal Injuries - - 6 -

Other 1 - 80 -

Total 1 - 497 -

P
age 281



Note 46 Contingent Assets and Liabilities 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 154

National Non-Domestic Rates Appeals

The Council has made a provision for
National Non-Domestic Rates appeals
based upon its best estimate of the actual
liability in known appeals at 31 March 2019.
However, as appeals can be backdated for
several years it is possible that additional
costs could be incurred by the Council if
any subsequent appeals are successful.

P
age 282



Note 47 Nature and Extent of Risks Arising From Financial 
Instruments 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 155

The Council has adopted CIPFA’s Code of
Practice on Treasury Management and
complies with The Prudential Code of
Capital Finance for Local Authorities.

As part of the Treasury Management Code,
the Council approves a Treasury
Management Strategy before the
commencement of each financial year. The
Strategy sets out the parameters for the
management of risks associated with
Financial Instruments. The Council also
produces Treasury Management Practices
specifying the practical arrangements to be
followed to manage these risks.

The Treasury Management Strategy
includes an Investment Strategy in
compliance with the Ministry for Housing,
Communities and Local Government
Investment Guidance for Local Authorities.
This Guidance emphasises that priority is to
be given to security and liquidity, rather
than yield. The Council’s Treasury Strategy,
together with its Treasury Management
Practices are based on seeking the highest
rate of return consistent with the proper
levels of security and liquidity.

The main risks covered are:

• Credit Risk: The possibility that one party
to a financial instrument will fail to meet
their contractual obligations, causing a

loss to the other party;

• Liquidity Risk: The possibility that a party
will be unable to raise funds to meet the
commitments associated with Financial
Instruments;

• Market Risk: The possibility that the
value of an instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in interest rates,
market prices etc.

Credit Risk

The Council manages credit risk by
ensuring that treasury investments are only
placed with organisations of high credit
quality as set out in the Treasury
Management Strategy. These include
commercial entities with a minimum long-
term credit rating of A-, the UK government,
other local authorities, and organisations
without credit ratings upon which the
Council has received independent
investment advice. Recognising that credit
ratings are imperfect predictors of default,
the Council has regard to other measures
including credit default swap and equity
prices when selecting commercial entities
for investment.

A limit is placed on the amount of money
that can be invested with a single
counterparty (other than the UK

government). The Council also sets a total
group investment limit for institutions that
are part of the same banking group. No
more than 75% in total can be invested for
a period longer than one year.

P
age 283



Note 47 Nature and Extent of Risks Arising From Financial Instruments (continued) 

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 156

*Credit rating is the lowest common denominator equivalent derived from the rating allocated by the Agencies Fitch, Standard & 

Poors and Moody's

The table opposite summarises the 

credit risk exposures of the Council’s 

investment portfolio as at 31 March 

2019 by the counterparty’s country of 

origin and its credit rating. The table 

confirms that all investments were 

made in line with the Council’s 

approved credit rating criteria at the 

time of placing the investment:

Credit Rating * Cash 

Equivalent 

Short Term 

Investment 

Long Term 

Investment 

Balance 

Invested as 

at 31 March 

2019

Balance 

Invested as 

at 31 March 

2018

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

AAA 13,828 7,000 - 20,828 22,650

AA- 3,277 4,000 - 7,277 6,000

A+ 5,000 - - 5,000 -

A - - - - 6,000

Unrated Building Societies - - - - 3,000

Other Local Authorities - - - - 5,000

Unrated Subsidiaries +Corporate - - 1,550 1,550 1,650

Total 22,105 11,000 1,550 34,655 44,300

Credit risk not applicable * 7,000 - - 7,000 6,000

Total Investments 29,105 11,000 1,550 41,655 50,300

Maturity of Investment 

P
age 284



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 157

Liquidity Risk

The Council has access to borrowing facilities from the Public Works
Loan Board. There is no perceived risk that the Council will be unable
to raise finance to meet its commitments. The Council also has to
manage the risk that it will be exposed to replenishing a significant
proportion of its borrowing at a time of unfavourable interest rates by
aiming to have an even spread of maturities in each year.

The maturity analysis of the nominal value of the Council’s debt at 31 
March 2019 was as follows:

* Included in the table above (on the Uncertain date line) are £102.1m
(2018: £112.1m) of “Lender’s option, borrower’s option” (LOBO) loans,
valued at amortised cost (see Note 18), with a principal value of
£107.5m (2018: £113.5m). These are loans where the lender has the
option to propose an increase in the rate payable; the Council will then
have the option to accept the new rate or repay the loan without
penalty. Due to current low interest rates, in the unlikely event that the
lender exercises its option, the Council is likely to repay these loans.
The maturity date is therefore uncertain. The Effective Interest Rate on
these loans ranges from 4.68% to 9.18%.

Trade Receivables

Trade receivables are also subject to non-payment and are reviewed
for impairment. By adjusting for impairment the credit risk is
recognised in the accounts:

Market Risk

Interest Rate Risk:

The Council is exposed to risk in terms of its exposure to interest rate
movements on its borrowings and investments. Movements in interest
rates have a complex impact on the Authority. For instance, a rise in
interest rates would have the following effects:

• borrowings at variable rates – the interest expense will rise

• borrowings at fixed rates – the fair value of the liabilities will fall

• investments at variable rates – the interest income will rise

• investments at fixed rates – the fair value of the assets will fall

Note 47 Nature and Extent of Risks Arising From Financial Instruments (continued) 

2018/19 Trade Receivables 2017/18

£'000 £'000

45,780 Gross Receivables 51,033

(19,594) Impairment (18,899)

26,186 Net Trade Receivables 32,134

£'000 % £'000 %

Maturity of Borrowing (years): *

Not over 1  year 94,233 36.4% 95,295 35.7%

Over 1 year but not over 2 3,615 1.4% 2,682 1.0%

Over 2 years but not over 5 5,650 2.2% 8,482 3.2%

Over 5 years but not over 10 6,716 2.6% 5,645 2.1%

Over 10 years but not over 20 2,406 0.9% - 0.0%

Over 20 years but not over 40 16,239 6.3% 15,765 5.9%

Over 40 years 26,464 10.2% 27,096 10.2%

Uncertain date 103,451 40.0% 111,833 41.9%

Total Borrowing 258,774 100.0% 266,798 100.0%

31 March 2019 31 March 2018

P
age 285



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 158

Investments measured at amortised cost
and loans borrowed are not carried at fair
value, so changes in their fair value will
have no impact on the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement.
However, changes in interest payable and
receivable on variable rate borrowings and
investments will be posted to the Surplus or
Deficit on the Provision of Services.
Movements in the fair value of fixed rate
investments measured at fair value will be
reflected in Other Comprehensive Income
or the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of
Services as appropriate.

If all interest rates had been 1% higher (with
all other variables held constant) the
financial effect would be (shown in the
table):

The approximate impact of a 1% fall in
interest rates would be as above but with
the movements being reversed.

The Council has £107.5m (2018: £113.5m)
of “Lender’s option, borrower’s option”
(LOBO) loans with maturity dates between
2021 and 2065 where the lender has the
option to propose an increase in the rate
payable; the Council will then have the
option to accept the new rate or repay the
loan without penalty. In the current low
interest rate environment, the likelihood of
the lender increasing the rate is low;
however, the likelihood will increase in later
years should market interest rates rise.

Note 47 Nature and Extent of Risks Arising From Financial Instruments (continued) 

31/03/2019 31/03/2018

£'000 £'000

633 Increase in interest payable on variable rate borrowings 463

(291) Increase in interest receivable on variable rate investments (419)

51 Decrease in Fair Value of Investments held at Fair Value reported 

in Profit and Loss (FVPL)

43

393 Impact on Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 87

27 Decrease in Fair Value of Investments reported at Fair Value in 

Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI)

32

420 Impact on Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 119

3 Decrease in Fair Value of Loans and Investments at Amortised 

Cost*

37

(45,959) Decrease in Fair Value of Fixed Rate Borrowing (48,261)

*No impact on Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

Market Risk: Price risk:

The market prices of the Council’s fixed rate bond investments and its units in pooled bond

funds are governed by prevailing interest rates and the price risk associated with these

instruments is managed alongside interest rate risk.

The Council’s investment in a pooled property fund is subject to the risk of falling commercial

property prices. This risk is limited by the Council’s maximum exposure to property investments

of £10m per fund. A 5% fall in commercial property prices at 31st March 2019 would result in a

£0.05m (2018: No such investment) charge to Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

which is then transferred to the Pooled Investment Funds Adjustment Account.

Market Risk: Foreign exchange risk

The Council has no financial assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency. It, therefore,

has no exposure to loss arising as a result of adverse movements in exchange rates.

P
age 286



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 159

Transition to IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments

The Council adopted the IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments accounting standard with effect
from 1st April 2018. The main changes
include the reclassification and
remeasurement of financial assets and the
earlier recognition of the impairment of
financial assets and the remeasurement of
modified loan liabilities.

The Council has made use of the
transitional provisions in IFRS 9 to not
restate the prior year’s financial statements,
and the effect of the remeasurement is
instead shown as an additional line in the
Movement in Reserves Statement.

Note 47 Nature and Extent of Risks Arising From Financial Instruments (continued) 

P
age 287



Note 48 Involvement with Companies

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 160

Involvement with Companies

The Council has relationships with a
number of entities over which it has varying
degrees of control and influence.

These are classified according to whether
they are subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures.

Evolutions Limited is an associate of the
Council, with Edsential Limited and the
Wirral Growth Company Limited Liability
Partnership being classified as joint
ventures.

An entity is an associate when the Council
is an investor and has the power to
exercise significant influence over the
entity’s operating and financial policies. It is
presumed that significant influence exists
when the Council holds more than 20% (but
less than 50%) of the voting rights of an
entity.

An entity is a joint venture when the Council
has established a contractual arrangement
with a third party to undertake an activity
that is subject to joint control, where the
strategic, financial and operating decisions
relating to the activity require the
unanimous consent of all parties, and
where the Council has rights to share the
net assets of the arrangement.

P
age 288



Note 49 Restatement of 2017/18 Cost of Services

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements 161

Reclassification of 2017/18 Cost of
Services in the Comprehensive Income
and Expenditure Statement

During 2018/19, the Council restructured
into six Directorates. To enable comparison
between 2017/18 and 2018/19, all 2017/18
expenditure and income by cost of service
has been restated in the Comprehensive
Income and Expenditure Statement - as
shown within the Core Financial Statements
section of these accounts.

The table below shows how this information
was originally presented in the 2017/18
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement and the table opposite shows
how this maps to the Directorate structure
applied in 2018/19:

Wirral Plan Theme and Portfolio Expenditure Income Net

£'000 £'000 £'000

People

Adult Care and Health 160,967 87,944 73,023

Children & Families 61,641 4,233 57,408

Children & Families - Schools 230,144 210,023 20,121

People Total 452,752 302,200 150,552

Environment

Environment 48,516 23,933 24,583

Housiing & Community Safety 154,882 127,899 26,983

Localism & Engagement 1,731 112 1,619

Environment Total 205,129 151,944 53,185

Business

Finance & Income Generation 32,788 5,642 27,146

Highways & Transport 22,259 7,643 14,616

Leadership 4,601 2,058 2,543

Transformation 3,946 398 3,548

Business Total 63,594 15,741 47,853

Cost of Service 721,475 469,885 251,590

2017/18

Directorate Theme Portfolio Expenditure Income Net

£'000 £'000 £'000

Adult Care & Health 139,656 56,987 82,669

People 139,656 56,987 82,669

Adult Care & Health 137,243 56,920 80,322

Childrens & Families 2,413 66 2,347

Business Managment 140,027 114,688 25,338

Business 20,964 2,776 18,188

Finance and Income Generation 17,088 2,414 14,674

Highways and Transport (43) (1) (42)

Leadership (28) (35) 7

Transformation 3,946 398 3,549

Environment 132,320 124,935 7,384

Environment (596) (77) (519)

Housing and Community Safety 132,946 125,043 7,904

Localism and Engagement (30) (30) -

People (13,257) (13,023) (235)

Adult Care & Health (1,407) - (1,407)

Childrens & Families (165) (165) -

Childrens & Families - Schools (11,684) (12,857) 1,173

Childrens Services 298,498 225,963 72,535

Business 1 - 1

Finance and Income Generation 1 - 1

People 298,498 225,963 72,534

Childrens & Families 57,207 3,322 53,885

Childrens & Families - Schools 241,291 222,641 18,650

Delivery Services 104,312 35,592 68,720

Business 37,522 10,862 26,660

Finance and Income Generation 15,419 3,228 12,191

Highways and Transport 22,103 7,634 14,469

Environment 66,253 24,491 41,762

Environment 46,053 22,284 23,769

Housing and Community Safety 20,200 2,207 17,993

People 538 239 298

Childrens & Families - Schools 538 239 298

Economic & Housing Growth 6,136 3,782 2,354

Business 3,423 2,076 1,347

Highways and Transport 199 10 189

Leadership 3,224 2,066 1,159

Environment 2,712 1,706 1,007

Environment 2,712 1,706 1,007

Strategy & Partnerships 32,847 32,873 (26)

Business 1,684 27 1,657

Finance and Income Generation 280 - 280

Leadership 1,404 27 1,377

Environment 3,844 812 3,032

Environment 347 20 327

Housing and Community Safety 1,736 650 1,086

Localism and Engagement 1,761 143 1,619

People 27,319 32,034 (4,715)

Adult Care & Health 25,132 31,023 (5,891)

Childrens & Families 2,187 1,011 1,177

Total 721,476 469,885 251,590

2017/18

P
age 289



4

Additional  

Financial 

Statements 

P
age 290



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 163

     £'000      £'000      £'000     £'000

Council Tax

Income

164,881 Council Tax due for the Year (Note 2) 153,761

164,881 Total Income 153,761

Expenditure

Precepts (Note 2):

136,464 Wirral Council 127,430

16,419 Police & Crime Commissioner for Merseyside 15,155

7,063 159,946 Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service 6,788 149,373

3,590 Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts (Note 4) 2,148

Apportionment of previous year surplus / (deficit) (Note 5):

1,450 Wirral Council 3,924

170 Police & Crime Commissioner for Merseyside 480

80 1,700 Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service 215 4,619

165,236 Total Expenditure 156,140

355 Council Tax - Net Expenditure / (Income) in the year 2,379

National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) - Business Rates

Income

72,448 National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR) due for the year (Note 3) 66,689

72,448 Total Income 66,689

Expenditure

333 Cost of Collection 334

1,219 Transitional Arrangements 1,907

Payments to Major Precepting Authorities (Note 3):

70,711 Wirral Council 67,892

714 71,425 Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service 686 68,578

760 Provision for Bad and Doubtful Debts (Note 4) 842

(2,094) Provision for Appeals (Note 4) (1,892)

Apportionment of previous year surplus / (deficit) (Note 5):

(10) Central Government 737

(1,945) Wirral Council 722

(20) (1,975) Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service 15 1,474

69,668 Total Expenditure 71,243

(2,780) NNDR - Net Expenditure / (income) in the year 4,554

(2,425) Total Net Expenditure / (Income) in the Collection Fund for the year 6,933

2018/19 2017/18

Collection Fund and Income and Expenditure Account

P
age 291



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 164

In accordance with proper accounting
practice, the Collection Fund balance has
been allocated in 2018/19 to individual
preceptors, which includes Wirral Council
(see Note 6).

Collection Fund and Income and Expenditure Account (continued) 

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Council Tax

Opening balance at 1 April (1,725) (4,104)

Movement in Year 355 2,379

Closing balance at 31 March (1,370) (1,725)

NNDR (Business Rates)

Opening balance at 1 April 3,101 (1,453)

Movement in Year (2,780) 4,554

Closing balance at 31 March 321 3,101

Overall Collection Fund balance 31 March (1,049) 1,376

P
age 292



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 165

1. GENERAL

The Collection Fund is an agent’s
statement that reflects the statutory
obligation for billing authorities to maintain a
separate Collection Fund. The statement
shows the transactions of the billing
Authority in relation to the collection from
taxpayers and distribution to local
government bodies and Central
Government of Council Tax and National
Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR).

Collection Fund surpluses and deficits
declared by the billing Authority relating to
Council Tax are apportioned to the relevant
precepting bodies in the following financial
year. The precepting bodies for Council Tax
for Wirral are the Police & Crime
Commissioner for Merseyside, and
Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service.

A national 50% Business Rates Retention
Scheme was introduced by the
Government on 1 April 2013. The Council
along with fellow Liverpool City Region
authorities agreed from 1st April 2017 to
participate in a 100% Business Rates
Retention Scheme. The result of this pilot
scheme being that business rates income is
collected and apportioned only between
Wirral Council (99%) and Merseyside Fire
and Rescue Service (1%), with no
apportionment to Central Government.

Government believes the 100% scheme will
give Councils more incentive to grow the
economy in their Boroughs. The pilot is to
be without detriment to the resources that
would have been available to individual
Liverpool City Region authorities under the
previous local government finance regime,
over the four year Settlement period.
However financial risk is increased due to
the volatile nature of the NNDR tax base
and non-collection. Under the no detriment
clause there is the possibility that
authorities in a ‘surplus’ position versus the
previous 50% scheme methodology would
have to release some of the surplus if
another Authority in the pilot scheme was in
a detriment position.

As with Council Tax, Collection Fund
surpluses and deficits declared by the
billing Authority in relation to NNDR are
apportioned to the relevant precepting
bodies in the subsequent financial year.

The National Code of Practice followed by
Local Authorities in England stipulates that
a Collection Fund Income and Expenditure
Account is included in the Council’s
accounts. The Collection Fund Balance
Sheet meanwhile is incorporated into the
Council’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Notes to the Collection Fund and Income and Expenditure Account

P
age 293



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 166

2. INCOME FROM COUNCIL TAX

The Council set a Council Tax in 2018/19 for each band of dwelling as shown below:

The Council Tax was set by estimating the number of properties in each band after allowing for discounts and a 3.25% provision for non-
collection. The tax in each band is set in relation to Band D, the maximum being Band H which is twice Band D, and the minimum being Band
A which is 2/3 of Band D.

The 3.25% provision for non-collection remains unchanged from 2017/18. The properties making up the estimated tax base are shown below.
A number of adjustments are made to reflect the estimated reductions, reliefs and exemptions that apply to properties in each band. This gives
the number of effective properties in each band, which is converted to the Band D equivalent using the ratios given:

Band

No. of 

Properties 

Band D 

Equivalent

Less 

Discounts

Effective 

Properties

Band

Ratio

Band D 

Equivalent

A 60,161 25,267.2 34,893.8 6/9 23,262.5

B 32,323 7,388.5 24,934.5 7/9 19,393.5

C 27,326 4,114.9 23,211.0 8/9 20,632.1

D 13,347 1,468.4 11,878.6 1 11,878.6

E 8,165 701.0 7,464.0 11/9 9,122.7

F 4,278 325.0 3,953.0 13/9 5,709.9

G 3,120 201.8 2,918.2 15/9 4,863.6

H 262 38.0 224.0 18/9 448.0

148,982 39,504.8 109,477.2 95,310.9

44.0

95,354.9

96.75%

92,255.9

Add Band A Disabled Relief Band D Equivalent

Total

Estimated Collection Rate

Adjusted Council Tax Base

Band £ Band £ Band £ Band £

A 1,155.82 B 1,348.45 C 1,541.09 D 1,733.72

E 2,118.98 F 2,504.26 G 2,889.54 H 3,467.44

Notes to the Collection Fund and Income and Expenditure Account (continued) 

P
age 294



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 167

2. INCOME FROM COUNCIL TAX (CONTINUED)

The Adjusted Council Tax Base is used to calculate the amount of Council
Tax to be raised by a Band D equivalent to raise the value of the precepts
to be paid by the Collection Fund. The calculation is as follows:

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Precepts

Wirral Council 136,464 127,430

Police & Crime Commissioner for Merseyside 16,419 15,155

Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service 7,063 6,788

Total Precepts 159,946 149,373

Council Tax Base 92,255.90 91,309.50

Band D Equivalent £1,733.72 £1,635.90
  (Precepts divided by Council Tax Base)

Notes to the Collection Fund and Income and Expenditure Account (continued) 

Council Tax levels increased in 2018/19 in comparison to 2017/18 as a result 

of increases in the levels of the precept demand of all precepting authorities, 

as shown above.

P
age 295



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 168

3. INCOME FROM NATIONAL NON DOMEESTIC RATES

The Council collects NNDR for its area. This is based on local
estimated rateable values (provided by the Valuation Office Agency)
multiplied by a standardised business rate set nationally by Central
Government.

As stated in note 1, the 100% Business Rates Retention Pilot
Scheme commenced on 1 April 2017 and as a result 1% is paid to
Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service, with the remaining 99% being
retained by Wirral Council. This replaced the previous 50% scheme
where Wirral Council received 49%, Merseyside Fire and Rescue
Service 1% and Central Government 50%.

The estimated rateable value is split between general and small
businesses. For 2018/19, the initial bills raised were based on a total
rateable value of £190,438,812 (2017/18 £190,142,512). Of this
figure £128,217,796 related to general business rates, which are
charged at 49.3p in the £ (2017/18 47.9p). The total value of small
business rates was £62,210,016, charged at 48.0p in the £ (2017/18
46.6p). This gave an opening charge for 2018/19 of £93.078 million
(2017/18 £90.789 million).

The effects registered within 2018/19 with an overall increase in the
amount of NNDR income illustrated below. NNDR income due for
the year in the Collection Fund statement as follows:

The total rateable value of all hereditaments within the Council area
as at 31 March 2019 was £191,308,071 (2017/18 £190,141,397).

The locally retained business rates are paid into the Council’s
General Fund. As a result of participating in the 100% Business
Rates Retention scheme, the calculated shares of receipts for
2018/19 are as follows, with no payment due to Central
Government:

The Collection Fund paid the following precepts during the year:

NNDR Income Due 2018/19 2017/18

        £'000         £'000

Opening charge 93,078 90,789

Adjustments (3,893) (7,813)

Small Business Rate Relief (9,813) (9,260)

Mandatory Relief (5,794) (5,657)

Discretionary Relief (1,130) (1,370)

NNDR Income Due: 72,448 66,689

Shares of receipts 2018/19 2017/18

£'000       £'000

Wirral Council 71,507 64,843

Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service 722 655

Total 72,229 65,498

Precepts 2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Wirral Council 70,710 67,892

Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service 714 686

Wirral Council (1,945) 722

Central Government (10) 737

Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service (19) 15

Total 69,450 70,052

Notes to the Collection Fund and Income and Expenditure Account (continued) 

P
age 296



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 169

4. PROVISION FOR BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS

Appeals

A significant amount of appeals against the rateable value set by the
Valuation Office Agency are outstanding nationally. Successful
appeals will reduce income receivable and can be backdated over a
number of years.

Following the introduction of the Business Rates Retention Scheme
billing authorities are required to make an estimate of the impact of
successful appeals covering not only the current year, but also the
backdated amounts relating to earlier years. 2013/14 was the first
year the Collection Fund provided a provision against such appeals.
The provision for appeals is being closely monitored to ensure it is
sufficient, whilst not excessive. £10.611m was in the provision at the
end of 2017/18, which has been reduced by £2.094m to £8.517m in
2018/19 to reflect current potential business rates reductions and
appeals settled within the year. The provision is split between the
Collection Fund preceptors based on their precept shares.

Bad and Doubtful Debts

Council Tax

A provision for Council Tax bad debts is made each year for
uncollectable amounts. The Council assumed a general collection
rate of 96.75% for 2018/19. The bad debts provision is assessed
annually and amounts set aside adjusted on an age profile of
outstanding debt and other factors.

In 2018/19 an additional £1.794 million has been placed in the
provision versus the required provision at 31st March 2018. During
2018/19 £1.796 million of the provision was used to fund the write
off of bad debts, the provision then required a contribution of £3.590
million from the Collection Fund to set aside the required provision
at the end of 2018/19 of £13.812 million. The provision reflects
increased billing arising from previously agreed decisions regarding
the charging for empty properties, and potential future liabilities for
non-payment as a result of the introduction of the localised Council
Tax Support Scheme, and changes to discounts and exemptions.

The cost of bad and doubtful debts is split between the Collection
Fund preceptors based upon their precept shares.NNDR Appeals Provision 2018/19 2017/18

     £'000      £'000

Balance at 1 April 10,611 12,504

Settled appeals (399) (1,247)

Movement in Provision (1,695) (646)

Balance at 31 March 8,517 10,611

Council Tax Bad Debt Provision 2018/19 2017/18

    £'000     £'000

Balance at 1 April 12,018 14,267

Write-offs (1,796) (4,397)

Movement in Provision 3,590 2,148

Balance at 31 March 13,812 12,018

Notes to the Collection Fund and Income and Expenditure Account (continued) 

P
age 297



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 170

4. PROVISIONS FOR BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS 
(CONTINUED)

NNDR

The Collection Fund also provides for bad debts on NNDR arrears
which is assessed annually and amounts set aside adjusted on an
age profile of outstanding debt. In 2018/19 £0.761 million of the
provision was used to fund the write off of bad debts, the provision
then required a contribution of £0.760 million from the Collection
Fund to set aside the required provision a the end of 2018/19 of
£3.113 million (a reduction of £0.01million versus 2017/18) to reflect
potential future liabilities for non-payment. The cost of bad and
doubtful debts is split between the Collection Fund preceptors based
upon their precept shares.

National Non-Domestic Rates Bad Debt 

Provision

2018/19 2017/18

    £'000     £'000

Balance at 1 April 3,114 3,233

Write-offs (761) (961)

Movement in Provision 760 842

Balance at 31 March 3,113 3,114

Notes to the Collection Fund and Income and Expenditure Account (continued) 

P
age 298



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 171

5. CONTRIBUTION FROM/TO THE 
COLLECTION FUND 

Council Tax

A year-end surplus or deficit on the Council
Tax element of the Collection Fund is only
physically distributed to or recovered from
billing and precepting authorities where an
estimated surplus/deficit has already been
notified to those authorities.

During 2018/19 there was a reduction in the
Council Tax element of the Collection Fund
balance of £0.355 million. At 31 March
2019, there was a Council Tax surplus of
£1.370 million (2017/18 £1.725 million)
which has been allocated amongst the
precepting authorities on the basis of the
2018/19 precept proportions.

In accordance with the changes in
accounting practice any outstanding
amounts at year end are distributed to
preceptors on an accrued basis. Wirral’s
Balance Sheet reflects the share of any
amounts owing or owed to it. An agency
arrangement is reflected in Wirral Council’s
accounts with a single debtor or creditor
representing amounts owed or owing to the
Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service and the
Police & Crime Commissioner for
Merseyside.

NNDR

The billing Authority is also required to
notify the Secretary of State and their
precepting authorities of their NNDR
income for the following financial year and
an estimate of the surplus or deficit by 31
January, which is done by completing and
returning the NNDR1 form.

During 2018/19 there was an increase in
the NNDR element of the Collection Fund
balance of £2.425 million. As at 31 March
2019 there was an NNDR deficit of £0.321
million (2017/18 £3.101 million deficit),
which has been allocated amongst the
precepting authorities based on the relevant
percentages set out in the Non-Domestic
Rating (Rates Retention) Regulations 2013.

Notes to the Collection Fund and Income and Expenditure Account (continued) 

P
age 299



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 172

6. ALLOCATION OF YEAR END BALANCES

The year-end balance on the Collection Fund is in respect of Council Tax and NNDR and is shared in proportion to the precepts on the
Collection Fund. The Council Tax surplus is allocated on two bases - the balance that was reported in January 2019 (for 2018/19 the
estimated position was a £0.590 million surplus) is apportioned using the 2018/19 precept shares, whereas the additional surplus resulting
from the final position as at 31 March 2019, is apportioned using the 2019/20 precept shares. The National Non-Domestic Rates deficit is
allocated based on the relevant percentages set out in the Non-Domestic Rating (Rates Retention) Regulations 2013.

The share of any Collection Fund surplus or deficit is reflected within the precepting organisation’s 2018/19 accounts. Wirral Council’s element
is included within the Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income line within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Payable to / (Received from): Council Tax NNDR Total Allocation

31 March 2019 31 March 2019 31 March 2019

        £'000          £'000         £'000

Wirral Council 1,159 (318) 841

Police & Crime Commissioner 147 - 147

Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service 64 (3) 61

Total 1,370 (321) 1,049

Notes to the Collection Fund and Income and Expenditure Account (continued) 

P
age 300



5

Merseyside 

Pension 

Fund 

Accounts

P
age 301



Merseyside Pension 

Fund Accounts

2018/19

P
age 302



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 175

MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

2018/19 FUND ACCOUNT - For the year ended 31 March 2019 Note 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Dealing with members, employers and others directly involved in the fund:

210,577 Contributions Receivable 7 407,068

11,797 Transfers In 8 12,174

222,374 419,242

(340,698) Benefits Payable 9 (314,556)

(19,035) Payments to and on account of Leavers 10 (14,804)

(359,733) (329,360)

(137,359) Net additions/(withdrawals) from dealing with members 89,882

(44,434) Management Expenses 11 (40,027)

(181,793) Net additions/(withdrawals) including Fund Management Expenses 49,855

Return on Investments:

220,626 Investment Income 197,008

284,842 Profit and Losses on Disposal of Investments and Change in Market Value of 

Investments 

141,671

(4,378) Taxes on Income (3,578)

501,090 Net Return on Investments 335,101

319,297 Net Increase/(Decrease) in the Fund during the year 384,956

8,563,441 Net Assets of the Fund at the start of the year 8,178,485

8,882,738 Net Assets of the Fund at the end of the year 8,563,441

P
age 303



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 176

MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND ACCOUNTS

2018/19 NET ASSETS STATEMENT - For the year ended 31 March 2019 Note 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Investment Assets 13

2,795,439 Equities 2,768,408

665,610 Bonds -

4,695,505 Pooled Investment Vehicles 5,074,479

- Derivative Contracts 218

521,750 Direct Property 519,750

86,098 Short Term Cash Deposits 53,226

104,196 Other Investment Balances 99,613

8,868,598 8,515,694

(8,445) Investment Liabilities 18 (13,736)

8,860,153 Total Net Investment Assets 8,501,958

4,146 Long Term Assets 19 5,013

35,413 Current Assets 20 79,909

(16,974) Current Liabilities 20 (23,439)

8,882,738 Net Assets of the Fund as at 31 March 8,563,441

P
age 304



Notes to the Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 177

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE FUND

Merseyside Pension Fund (MPF/the Fund) is
part of the Local Government Pension
Scheme (LGPS) and Wirral Council is the
administering Authority. Wirral Council is the
reporting entity for this pension fund.

The overall responsibility for the management
of the Fund rests with the Pensions
Committee, which for 2018/19 included 10
Councillors from Wirral Council, the
Administering Authority, and one Councillor
from each of the 4 other Merseyside Borough
Councils. Representatives of trade unions
also attend. The more detailed consideration
of investment strategy and asset allocation of
the Fund’s portfolios is considered by the
Investment Monitoring Working Party, which
includes two external advisers and a
consultant. The more detailed consideration of
governance and risk issues is considered by
the Governance and Risk Working Party.

In 2015/16 a local Pensions Board was
introduced in accordance with the Public
Service Pensions legislation and regulations.
The Board's aim is to assist the Administrating
Authority with ensuring compliance and the
effective governance and administration of the
Fund.

The following description of the Fund is a
summary only. For more detail, reference
should be made to Merseyside Pension Fund
Annual Report 2018/19 and the underlying
statutory powers underpinning the Scheme,
namely the Public Service Pensions Act 2013
and the Local Government Pension Scheme
(LGPS) Regulations.

a) General

The scheme is governed by the Public
Services Pensions Act 2013. The Fund is
administered in accordance with the following
secondary legislation:

• The Local Government Pension Scheme
Regulations 2013 (as amended)

• The Local Government Pension Scheme
(Transitional Provisions, Savings and
Amendment) Regulations 2014 (as
amended)

• The Local Government Pension Scheme
(Management and Investment of Funds)
Regulations 2016.

The Fund is a contributory defined benefit
pension scheme administrated by Wirral
Council to provide pensions and other
benefits for pensionable employees of the
Merseyside Local Authorities and a range of
other scheduled and admitted bodies.
Teachers, Police Officers and Fire Fighters
are not included as they come within other
national pension schemes.

b) Membership

Membership of the LGPS is voluntary and
employees are free to choose whether to join
the Scheme, remain in the Scheme or make
their own personal arrangements outside the
Scheme.

Organisations participating in Merseyside
Pension Fund include:

• Scheduled bodies, which are Local
Authorities and similar bodies whose staff

are automatically entitled to be members of
the Fund.

• Admitted bodies, which are organisations
that participate in the Fund under an
admission agreement between the Fund
and the relevant organisation.

There are 208 employer organisations within
Merseyside Pension Fund including Wirral
Council itself, the Fund also has 138,570
members as detailed below:

c) Funding

Benefits are funded by employee and
employer contributions and investment
earnings. Contributions are made by active
members of the Fund in accordance with the
LGPS and are matched by employers'
contributions which are set based on triennial
actuarial funding valuations.

31 March 

2019

31 March 

2018

208 Number of Employers with Active Members 194

46,726 Number of Employees in Scheme 49,151

45,038 Number of Pensioners 43,495

6,547 Number of Dependants 6,665

40,259 Number of Deferred Pensioners 38,176

138,570 Total Number of Members in the Scheme 137,487

P
age 305



Notes to the Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 178

1. DESCRIPTION OF THE FUND  
(continued)

d) Benefits

Prior to 1 April 2014, pension benefits under
the LGPS were based on final pensionable
pay and length of pensionable service,
summarised in the table below.

From 1 April 2014, the scheme became a
career average scheme, whereby members
accrue benefits based on their pensionable
pay in that year at an accrual rate of 1/49th.

Accrued pension is uprated annually in line
with the Consumer Price Index.

There are a range of other benefits provided
under the scheme, for more details please
refer to the Fund's website. Merseyside
Pension Fund Website

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Statement of Accounts summarises the
Fund's transactions for the 2018/19 financial
year and its position at year end as at 31
March 2019. The accounts have been
prepared in accordance with the Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the
United Kingdom 2018/19 which is based upon
International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS), as amended for the UK public sector.

The accounts summarise the transactions of
the Fund and report on the net assets
available to pay pension benefits. The
accounts do not take account of obligations to
pay pensions and benefits which fall due after
the end of the financial year. The actuarial
present value of promised retirement benefits,
valued on an International Accounting
Standard (IAS) 19 basis, are shown within the
statement by the Actuary, which is published
as an addendum to the accounts.

The accounts have been prepared on a going
concern basis.

3a. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements have been prepared
on an accruals basis, unless otherwise stated.

Contributions and Benefits

Contributions are accounted for on an accruals
basis. Contributions are made by active
members of the Fund in accordance with
LGPS Regulations and employers
contributions are based on triennial actuarial
valuations.

Employer deficit funding contributions are
accounted for on the due dates on which they
are payable under the schedule of
contributions set by the scheme actuary or on
receipt if earlier than the due date.

Employers' pension strain contributions are
accounted for in the period in which the liability
arises. Any amount due in year but unpaid will
be classed as a current financial asset.
Amounts not due until future years are classed
as long-term financial assets.

Benefits payable represent the benefits paid
during the financial year and include an
estimated accrual for lump-sum benefits
outstanding as at the year end. Benefits
payable includes interest on late payment.
Any amounts due but unpaid are disclosed in
the net assets statement as current liabilities.

Service pre 1 April 

2008

Service post 31 

March 2008

Pension Each year worked is 

worth 1/80 x final 

pensionable salary.

Each year worked 

is worth 1/60 x 

final pensionable 

salary.

Lump 

sum

Automatic lump sum 

of 3 x salary.  In 

addition, part of the 

annual pension can 

be exchanged for a 

one-off tax free cash 

payment.  A lump 

sum of £12 is paid 

for each £1 of 

pension given up.

No automatic 

lump sum.  Part of 

the annual 

pension can be 

exchanged for a 

one-off tax free 

cash payment.  A 

lump sum of £12 

is paid for each 

£1 of pension 

given up.

P
age 306

https://mpfmembers.org.uk/


Notes to the Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 179

3a. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Estimates for post year end outstanding items
have been used for payments of retirement
grants and death grants:

• Retirement grants due for payment, but not
paid by 31 March: using actual figures as
far as possible, and assuming maximum
commutation to be taken where the
knowledge of the individual member's
choice is still outstanding.

• Death grants due for payment, but not paid
by 31 March: for example awaiting Probate.

Transfers to and from Other Schemes

Transfer values represent the amounts
received and paid during the year for
members who have either joined or left the
Fund during the financial year and are
calculated in accordance with the Local
Government Pension Scheme Regulations.

Individual transfers in/out are accounted for
when received/paid, which is normally when
the member liability is accepted or
discharged.

Bulk (group) transfers are accounted for on
an accruals basis in accordance with the
terms of the transfer agreement.

Management Expenses

The Fund discloses its management
expenses analysed into three categories,
administration costs, investment management
costs and oversight and governance costs in
accordance with CIPFA “Accounting for Local
Government and Management Costs”.

Administration Costs

All administration expenses are accounted for

on an accruals basis. All staff costs of the
pensions administration team are charged
direct to the Fund. Associated management
and other overheads are apportioned to the
Fund in accordance with Council Policy.

Investment Management Costs

All investment expenses are accounted for on
an accrual basis.

Fees of the external Investment Managers
and Custodian are agreed in the respective
mandates governing their appointments.
Broadly, these are based on the market
values of the investments under their
management and therefore increase or
reduce as the value of these investments
change.

Costs in respect of the internal investment
team are classified as investment expenses.

Estimates for post year end outstanding items
have been used for external Investment
Management fees using the Fund's valuations
as at 31 March.

In accordance with CIPFA “Accounting for
Local Government Management Costs”
guidance, transaction costs and property
related expenses are shown under
investment expenses.

For certain unquoted investments including
Private Equity, Hedge Funds, Opportunities
and Infrastructure the Fund do not charge
costs for these to the Fund Account because
the Fund Manager costs are not charged
directly to the Fund. They are instead
deducted from the value of the Fund's holding
in that investment or from investment income
paid to the Fund. If the Fund has been
charged directly for fund manager costs they
are shown as external investment
management fees.

Oversight and Governance Costs

All oversight and governance expenses are
accounted for on an accruals basis. All staff
costs associated with oversight and
governance are charged direct to the Fund.
Associated management and other
overheads are apportioned to the Fund in
accordance with Council Policy.

The cost of obtaining investment advice from
external consultants is included in governance
and oversight expenses.

Investment Income

Income from Equities is accounted for when
the related investment is quoted ex dividend.
Income from Bonds, Pooled Investment
Vehicles and interest on Short Term Deposits
has been accounted for on an accruals basis.
Distributions from Private Equity are treated
as return of capital until the book value is nil
then treated as income on an accruals basis.

Rental income from properties is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. Rent is accounted for in the period it
relates to and is shown gross of related
expenses. The Fund accrues rent up to 24
March each year. Rent received on the
Quarter Day, 25 March, is accounted for in full
in the following year.

Changes in the net market value of
investments (including investment properties)
are recognised as income and comprise all
realised and unrealised profits/losses during
the year.

P
age 307



Notes to the Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 180

3a. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Taxation

The Fund is a registered Public Service
Scheme under Section 1 (1) of Schedule 36 of
the Finance Act 2004 and as such is exempt
from UK income tax on interest received and
from capital gains tax on the proceeds of
investments sold. Income from overseas
investments suffers withholding tax in the
country of origin, unless exemption is
permitted. Irrecoverable tax is accounted for
as a Fund expense as it arises.

Valuation of Investments

Financial assets are included in the Net Asset
Statement on a fair value basis as at the
reporting date. The values of investments as
shown in the Net Asset Statement are
determined as follows:

• Listed securities are valued at quoted bid
market prices on the final day of the
accounting period. The bid price is the price
which the Fund would have obtained should
the securities have been sold at that date.

• For unlisted investments wherever possible
valuations are obtained via the Independent
Administrator. Valuations that are obtained
direct from the Manager are verified against
the latest available audited accounts
adjusted for any cash flows up to the
reporting date.

• Hedge Funds and Infrastructure are
recorded at fair value based on net asset
values provided by Fund Administrators or
using latest financial statements published
by respective Fund Managers adjusted for
any cash flows.

• Private Equity valuations are in accordance
with the guidelines and conventions of the
British Venture Capital
Association/International Private Equity
guidelines or equivalent.

• Indirect Property is valued at net asset
value or capital fair value basis provided by
the Fund Manager. For listed Funds the net
asset value per unit is obtained through
data vendors.

• The freehold and leasehold interests in the
properties held within the Fund were
independently valued as at 31 March 2019
by Savills (UK) Limited, acting in the
capacity of External Valuers as defined in
the RICS Red Book (but not for the
avoidance of doubt as an External Valuer of
the Fund as defined by the Alternative
Investment Fund Managers Regulations
2013). The valuations accord with the
requirements of IFRS 13, SSAP 19 and the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors
(RICS) Valuation – Global Standards 2017
incorporating the IVSC International
Valuation Standards issued June 2017 and
effective from 1 July 2017 (the “RICS Red
Book”).

• Pooled Investment Vehicles are valued at
closing bid price if both bid and offer prices
are published; or if single priced, at the
closing single price. In the case of Pooled
Investment Vehicles that are Accumulation
Funds, change in market value also
includes income which is reinvested by the
Manager of the vehicle in the underlying
investment, net of applicable withholding
tax.

Translation of Foreign Currencies

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated into sterling at rates ruling at the
year end. Foreign income received during the
year is translated at the rate ruling at the date
of receipt. All resulting exchange adjustments
are included in the revenue account.

Derivatives

The Fund uses derivative financial assets to
manage exposure to specific risks arising from
its investment activities.

Derivative contract assets are fair valued at
bid prices and liabilities are fair valued at offer
prices. Changes in the fair value of derivative
contracts are included in change in market
value.

The value of future contracts is determined
using exchange prices at the reporting date.
Amounts due from or owed to the broker are
the amounts outstanding in respect of the
initial margin and variation margin.

The value of exchange traded options is
determined using the exchange price for
closing out the option at the reporting date.

The future value of forward currency contracts
is based on market forward exchange rates at
the year-end date and determined as the gain
or loss that would arise if the outstanding
contract were matched at the year end with an
equal and opposite contract.

P
age 308



Notes to the Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 181

3a. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Short Term Deposits

Short-term deposits only cover cash balances
held by the Fund. Cash held by Investment
Managers awaiting investment is shown under
"Other Investment Balances".

Financial Liabilities

The Fund recognises financial liabilities at fair
value as at the reporting date. A financial
liability is recognised in the Net Assets
Statement on the date the Fund becomes
party to the liability. From this date any gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of the liability are recognised by the Fund.

Additional Voluntary Contributions

The Committee holds assets invested
separately from the main Fund. In accordance
with regulation 4 (1) (b) of the Pensions
Schemes (Management and Investment of
Funds) Regulations 2016, these assets are
excluded from the Pension Fund accounts.

The Scheme providers are Equitable Life,
Standard Life and Prudential. Individual
members participating in this arrangement
each receive an annual statement confirming
the amounts held on their account and the
movements in the year.

3b. CHANGES TO ACCOUNTING POLICY 
AND PRESENTATION

The following accounting standards have been
issued and are applicable to 2018/19:

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments - this has
introduced changes to the classification and
measurement of financial assets, financial
assets reported as "loans and receivables" in
2017/18 are reclassified as "assets as
amortised cost". Impairment is recognised on
an expected loss basis rather than when
objective evidence of impairment has been
identified.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers - the core principal is for revenue
to be recognised in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the fund expects to be
entitled for transferring promised goods and
services to the service recipient/customer.
This accounting standard has minimal impact
on the fund.

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Fund has not applied any critical
judgements.

5. ESTIMATION

Unquoted Investments

The Fund has significant unquoted
investments within Private Equity,
Infrastructure, Property and other Alternative
investments. These are valued within the
financial statements using valuations from the
Managers of the respective assets. There are
clear accounting standards for these
valuations and the Fund has in place
procedures for ensuring that valuations
applied by Managers comply with these
standards and any other relevant best

practice. The value of unquoted assets as at
31 March 2019 was £4,221 million (£4,603
million at 31 March 2018).

Private Equity investments are valued at fair
value in accordance with British Venture
Capital Association guidelines. These
investments are not publicly listed and as such
there is a degree of estimation involved in the
valuation.

Hedge Funds are valued at the sum of the fair
values provided by the Administrators of the
underlying Funds plus adjustments that the
Hedge Fund Directors or Independent
Administrators judge necessary. These
investments are not publicly listed and as such
there is a degree of estimation involved in the
valuation.

Direct property and pooled property funds use
valuation techniques to determine the carrying
amount. Where possible these valuations are
based on observable data, but where this is
not possible management uses the best
available data.

6. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

There have been no events since 31 March 
2019, and up to the date when these accounts 
were authorised that require any adjustments 
to these accounts. 

P
age 309



Note 7 Contributions Receivable

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 182

Contributions are made by active members of the Fund in accordance

with the LGPS and range from 5.5% to 12.5% of pensionable pay for

the financial year ending 31 March 2019. Employee contributions are

matched by employers' contributions which are based on triennial

actuarial valuations. The 2018/19 contributions above were calculated

at the valuation dated 31 March 2016. The 2016 actuarial valuation

calculated the average primary employer contribution rate of 15.4%

(2013 13.3%).

"Pension Strain" represents the cost to employers when their

employees retire early to compensate the Fund for the reduction in

contribution income and the early payment of benefits. Payments to

the Fund for such costs are made over agreed periods. An accrual has

been made for agreed future payments to the Fund.

"Deficit Funding" includes payments by employers for past service

deficit and additional payments by employers to reduce a deficit.

During 2018/19 the fund has received additional and upfront

payments, totalling £2.2 million, (in 2017/18, a number of employers

opted to pay their three years deficit as a lump sum payment in year 1

totalling £141.2 million).

The Fund does reserve the right to levy interest charges on late

receipt of contributions from employers. In 2018/19 no such charges

were levied.

2018/19 Contributions Receivable 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Employers

127,865    Normal 119,408

9,274    Pension Strain 10,426

18,016    Deficit Funding 223,096

155,155 Total Employers 352,930

Employees

55,422    Normal 54,138

210,577 407,068

Relating to:

24,581 Administering Authority 57,357

160,776 Statutory Bodies 319,948

25,220 Admission Bodies 29,763

210,577 407,068

P
age 310



Note 8 Transfers In

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 183

Note 9 Benefits Payable

Note 10 Payments to and on account of 
Leavers

2018/19 Benefits payable 2017/18

£'000 £'000

265,886 Pensions 252,874

66,173 Lump Sum Retiring Allowances 56,141

8,639 Lump Sum Death Benefits 5,541

340,698 314,556

Relating to:

46,919 Administering Authority 43,387

240,601 Statutory Bodies 222,117

53,178 Admission Bodies 49,052

340,698 314,556

2018/19 Transfers In 2017/18

£'000 £'000

11,797 Individual transfers 12,174

11,797 12,174

2018/19 Payments to and on account of Leavers 2017/18

£'000 £'000

538 Refunds to Members Leaving Service 447

8 Payment for Members Joining State Scheme 37

- Income for Members from State Scheme (1)

- Group Transfers to Other Schemes -

18,489 Individual Transfers to Other Schemes 14,321

19,035 14,804

There were no group transfers to the Fund during 2018/19.

There were no group transfers to the Fund during 2018/19.

P
age 311



Note 11 Management Expenses

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 184

Note 11a Administration Costs

Note 11b Investment Management Costs

2018/19 Management Expenses 2017/18

£'000 £'000

2,778 Administration Costs 2,587

39,708 Investment Management Costs 35,922

2,269 Oversight and Governance Costs 1,727

(321) Other Income (209)

44,434 40,027

2018/19 Administration Costs 2017/18

£'000 £'000

1,867 Employee Costs 1,665

616 IT Costs 611

255 General Costs 276

40 Other Costs 35

2,778 2,587

2018/19 Investment Management Costs 2017/18

£'000 £'000

27,652 External Investment Management Fees 22,707

544 External Investment Management Performance Fees 1,546

799 External Services 565

713 Internal Investment Management Fees 614

6,334 Property Related Expenses 6,377

3,666 Transaction Costs 4,113

39,708 35,922

P
age 312



Note 11c Oversight & Governance Costs

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 185

Note 12 Investment Income

Actuarial fees included within External Services opposite (note 11c)

are shown gross of any fees that have been recharged to

employers. Included within Other Income for 2018/19 is £259,917

relating to recharged Actuarial fees (2017/18 £195,994).

External Audit fees for 2018/19 also include £2,180 relating to

additional services in respect of IAS19 assurances for admitted

body auditors, which are recharged to those admitted bodies.

Rental income is shown gross of any property related expenses,

with related expenses shown under investment expenses (note

11b).

Investment income figures are shown gross of tax. Included in

these figures is recoverable taxation of £6.3 million (2017/18 £4.8

million).

The Fund is seeking to recover tax withheld by UK and overseas

tax regimes under the EU principle of free movement of capital

within its borders, repayments received in 2018/19 £20,981

(2017/18 £nil).

Note 12a Property Income

No contingent rents have been recognised as income during the

period.

2018/19 Investment Income 2017/18

£'000 £'000

99,895 Dividends from Equities 84,247

69 Income from Bonds -

54,612 Income from Pooled Investment Vehicles 52,333

30,512 Rents from Properties 26,754

712 Interest on Short Term Cash Deposits 267

33,877 Income from Private Equity 32,422

949 Other 985

220,626 197,008

(4,378) Irrecoverable Withholding Tax (3,578)

216,248 193,430

2018/19 Property Income 2017/18

£'000 £'000

30,512 Rental Income 26,754

(6,334) Direct Operating Expenses (6,377)

24,178 Net Rent from properties 20,377

2018/19 Oversight & Governance Costs 2017/18

£'000 £'000

520 Employee Costs 475

1,179 External Services 767

49 Internal Audit 34

31 External Audit 39

490 Other Costs 412

2,269 1,727

P
age 313



Note 12b Property Operating Leases

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 186

The Fund's property portfolio comprises a variety of units which are leased to organisations with the objective of generating appropriate

investment returns.

These leases are all categorised as operating leases due to the relatively short length of the agreements i.e. relative to the overall life of the

asset and proportion of the assets overall value. The leases do not meet the assessment criteria for finance leases, and the risks and

rewards of ownership of the leased assets are retained by the Fund and reflected in the Net Assets Statement.

The properties comprise a mix of office, retail and industrial buildings. These leases vary in length from short term to over 25 years.

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases in future years are:

With regards to the properties owned and leased by the Fund, all are leased to the tenants under contracts that have been assessed as

operating leases and which may include periodic rent reviews etc. The minimum lease payments receivable do not include rents that are

contingent on events taking place after the lease entered into, such as adjustments following rent reviews.

2018/19 Age Profile of Lease Income 2017/18

£'000 £'000

5,195 No later than one year 1,302

11,208 Between one and five years 8,114

11,635 Later than five years 17,540

28,038 Total 26,956

P
age 314



Note 13 Investments

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 187

Direct transaction costs are shown

under investment management costs

in note 11b in accordance with CIPFA

guidance. Indirect costs are incurred

through the bid-offer spread on

investments in pooled vehicles. The

amount of indirect costs is not

provided directly to the Fund.

*Note: The change in market value of

investments during the year

comprises all realised and unrealised

appreciation and depreciation.

2018/19 Market Value 

at 31 March 

2018

Purchases at 

Cost & 

Derivative 

Payments

Sale 

Proceeds & 

Derivative 

Receipts

Change in 

Market 

Value *

Market Value 

at 31 March 

2019

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Equities 2,768,408 1,635,758 (1,634,730) 26,003 2,795,439

Bonds - 689,963 - (24,353) 665,610

Pooled Investment Vehicles 5,074,479 1,077,179 (1,740,461) 284,308 4,695,505

Derivative Contracts 218 613,961 (614,344) 165 -

Direct Property 519,750 3,636 - (1,636) 521,750

8,362,855 4,020,497 (3,989,535) 284,487 8,678,304

Short term cash deposits 53,226 86,098

Other investment balances 99,613 355 104,196

8,515,694 284,842 8,868,598

2017/18 Market Value 

at 31 March 

2017

Purchases at 

Cost & 

Derivative 

Payments

Sale 

Proceeds & 

Derivative 

Receipts

Change in 

Market 

Value *

Market Value 

at 31 March 

2018

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Equities 2,728,658 1,272,950 (1,225,858) (7,342) 2,768,408

Bonds - - - - - 

Pooled Investment Vehicles 4,804,297 550,657 (414,391) 133,916 5,074,479

Derivative Contracts 224 979,418 (982,541) 3,117 218

Direct Property 431,150 71,899 - 16,701 519,750

7,964,329 2,874,924 (2,622,790) 146,392 8,362,855

Short term cash deposits 75,222 53,226

Other investment balances 117,550 (4,721) 99,613

8,157,101 141,671 8,515,694

P
age 315



Note 13a Analysis of Investments

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 188

As at 31 March 2019 there were no restrictions on the realisability of

investment property or of the remittance of income or proceeds of

disposal and the Fund is not under any contractual obligations to

purchase, construct or develop any of these properties.

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Equities (segregated holdings)

1,150,144 UK Quoted 1,261,630

1,645,295 Overseas Quoted 1,506,778

2,795,439 2,768,408

Bonds - UK Public Sector Quoted

665,610 -

Pooled Investment Vehicles

UK Managed Funds:

53,948   Property 43,961

138,487   Equities 130,528

286,359   Private Equity 311,657

41,772   Hedge Funds 44,079

354,726   Corporate Bonds 343,277

353,669   Infrastructure 252,983

343,556   Opportunities 324,309

Overseas Managed Funds:

494,233   Equities   486,772

279,333   Private Equity 251,754

221,975   Hedge Funds 226,624

192,604   Infrastructure 175,233

209,989   Opportunities 136,854

UK Unit Trusts:

116,426   Property 107,949

Overseas Unit Trusts:

124,120   Property 96,448

1,484,308 Other Unitised Funds 2,142,051

4,695,505 5,074,479

Derivative Contracts

- 218

2018/19 2017/18

£'000 £'000

UK Properties

387,820 Freehold 394,100

133,930 Leasehold 125,650

521,750 519,750

519,750 Balance at 1 April 431,150

3,636 Additions 71,899

- Disposals -

- Net gain/(loss) on fair value -

(1,636) Other changes in fair value 16,701

521,750 Balance at 31 March 519,750

Short term cash deposits - Sterling

86,098 53,226

Other investment balances

7,439 Outstanding Trades 9,486

22,275 17,566

74,482 Cash Deposits 72,561

104,196 99,613

8,868,598 Total Investments 8,515,694

Outstanding Dividends Entitlements and 

P
age 316



Note 13b Analysis of Derivatives

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 189

Forward currency contracts

The Fund's forward currency contracts are exchange traded and are used by a number of our external Investment Managers to hedge
exposures to foreign currency back into sterling.

Settlement Date Currency bought Currency sold Asset Liability

'000 '000 £'000 £'000

Up to one month GBP 20,080 EUR 23,389 - (91)

- (91)

Net Forward Currency Contracts at 31 March 2019 (91)

Prior Year Comparative

Open Forward Currency Contracts at 31 March 2018 218 -

Net Forward Currency Contracts at 31 March 2018 218

P
age 317



Note 13c Summary of Managers’ Portfolio Values at 31 March 2019

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 190

£million     % £million     %

Externally Managed

260 2.9 JP Morgan (European equities) 252 3.0

353 4.0 Nomura (Japan) 461 5.4

355 4.0 Schroders (fixed income) 343 4.0

382 4.3 Legal & General (fixed income) 369 4.3

337 3.8 Unigestion (European equities and pooled Emerging Markets) 319 3.8

188 2.1 M&G (global emerging markets) 183 2.1

249 2.8 TT International (UK equities) 249 2.9

272 3.1 Blackrock (UK equities) 252 3.0

158 1.8 Blackrock (Pacific Rim) 152 1.8

91 1.0 Blackrock (QIF) 87 1.0

281 3.2 Newton (UK equities) 263 3.1

187 2.1 Amundi (global emerging markets) 186 2.2

177 2.0 Maple-Brown Abbot (Pacific Rim equities) 166 1.9

1,104 12.3 State Street Global Advisor (Passive Manager) 1,773 20.9

666 7.5 State Street Global Advisor (Bonds Manager) - -

1 - Blackrock Transition Manager 195 2.3

5,061 56.9 Total Externally Managed 5,250 61.7

Internally Managed

450 5.1 UK equities 401 4.7

247 2.8 European equities 246 2.9

522 5.9 Property (direct) 520 6.1

316 3.6 Property (indirect) 270 3.2

566 6.4 Private equity 563 6.6

264 3.0 Hedge funds 271 3.2

546 6.2 Infrastructure 428 5.0

580 6.5 Opportunities 486 5.7

201 2.3 Global Equities Internal Factor - -

116 1.3 Short term deposits & other investments 80 0.9

3,808 43.1 Total Internally Managed 3,265 38.3

8,869 100.0 Total 8,515 100.0

2018/19 2017/18

P
age 318



Note 13d Stock Lending

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 191

As at 31 March 2019, £275.1 million of stock was on loan to market makers, which was covered by cash and non-cash collateral, totaling

£301.2 million. Collateral is marked to market, and adjusted daily. Income from Stock Lending amounted to £926,260 and is included within

"Other" Investment Income. As the Fund retains its economic interest in stock on loan, their value remains within the Fund valuation. As the

Fund has an obligation to return collateral to the borrowers, collateral is excluded from the Fund valuation. The Fund used its Custodian as

agent lender, lending only to an agreed list of approved borrowers. An indemnity is in place which gives the Fund further protection against

losses.

As at 31 March 2019 no single investment represented

more than 5% of the net assets of the Fund, the table

opposite also shows the position as at 31 March 2018:

Note 13c Summary of Managers’ Portfolio Values at 31 March 2019 
(continued)

£million     % £million     %

- - SSGA Pooled UK Index Linked Gilts 682 8.0

396 4.5 SSGA USA Equity Tracker 613 7.2

2018/19 2017/18

P
age 319



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 192

Note 14 Fair Value – Basis of Valuation

The basis of the valuation of each class of investment asset is set out in the table below.

There has been no change in the valuation techniques used during the year.

All assets have been valued using fair value techniques which represent the highest and best price available at the reporting date.

Table continued on next page

Description of asset Valuation 

hierarchy

Basis of valuation Observable and 

unobservable inputs

Key sensitivities affecting 

the valuations provided

Market quoted investments Level 1 Published bid market price ruling on the final 

day of the accounting period

Not required Not required

Quoted bonds Level 1 Fixed interest securities are valued at a 

market value based on current yields

Not required Not required

Derivatives - futures and options Level 1 Published exchange prices at year end Not required Not required

Exchange traded pooled 

investments

Level 1 Closing bid value on published exchanges Not required Not required

Unquoted bonds Level 2 Average of broker prices Evaluated price feeds Not required

Derivatives - forward currency 

contracts

Level 2 Market forward exchange rates at the year 

end

Not required Not required

Pooled investments - overseas unit 

trusts and property funds

Level 2 Closed bid price where bid and offer prices 

are published - closing single price where 

single price is published. Valuation for 

property funds are provided by fund 

managers and where available closing bid 

prices are used. 

NAV - based pricing set on a 

forward pricing basis

Not required

P
age 320



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 193

Note 14 Fair Value – Basis of Valuation (continued)

Table continued from previous page

Description of asset Valuation 

hierarchy

Basis of valuation Observable and 

unobservable inputs

Key sensitivities affecting 

the valuations provided

Direct property Level 3 Valued at fair value at the year-end using 

independent external Valuers in accordance 

with FRS 13, SSAP 19 and the Royal 

Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 

Valuation - Global Standards (the "RICS Red 

Book”).

Existing lease terms and rentals, 

independent market research, 

nature of tenancies, covenant 

strength of existing tenants, 

assumed vacancy levels, 

estimated rental growth, 

discount rate.

Significant changes in rental 

growth, vacancy levels or the 

discount rate could affect 

valuations as could more 

general changes to market 

prices

Unquoted equity Level 3 Comparable valuation of similar companies 

in accordance with International Private 

Equity and Venture Capital Valuation 

Guidelines or equivalent

EBITDA multiple, revenue 

multiple, discount for lack of 

marketability, control premium

Material events occurring 

between the date of the 

financial statements provided 

and MPF's own reporting date, 

changes to expected 

cashflows, differences 

between audited and 

unaudited accounts.

Pooled investments - hedge funds 

and infrastructure

Level 3 The funds are valued in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRS). The valuation basis, determined by 

the relevant Fund Manager, may be any of 

quoted market prices, broker or dealer 

quotations, transaction price, third party 

transaction price, industry multiples and 

public comparables, transitions in similar 

techniques, third party independent 

appraisals or pricing models.

NAV - based pricing set on a 

forward pricing basis

Material events occurring 

between the date of the 

financial statements provided 

and MPF's own reporting date, 

changes to expected 

cashflows, differences 

between audited and 

unaudited accounts.

P
age 321



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 194

Note 14 Fair Value – Basis of Valuation (continued)

Sensitivity of assets valued at level 3

The table below sets out the assets classified as level 3 assets. The Fund has determined that the valuation methods described above are likely

to be accurate to within the following ranges (as provided by the Fund's investment consultants), and has set out below the consequent potential

impact on the closing value of investments held at 31 March 2019. There are various factors that affect the complexity of valuation and the

realisable value of assets and certain asset specific issues may lead to realisable valuations falling outside the stated range.

Assets valuations have been classified into three levels, according to the quality and reliability of information used to determine fair values.

For the purposes of disclosing levels of fair value hierarchy, the Fund has adopted the classification guidelines recommended in “Practical

Guidance on Investment Disclosures (PRAG/Investment Association 2016)”.

Level 1

Assets at level 1 are those where the fair values are derived from unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Products classified as level 1 comprise quoted equities, quoted fixed securities, quoted index linked securities and unit trusts.

Listed investments are shown at bid prices. The bid value of the investment is based on the market quotation of the relevant stock exchange.

Note 14a Fair Value Hierarchy

Level 3 Assets Value at 31 

March 2019

Potential 

variance

Value on 

increase

Value on 

decrease

£'000 % £'000 £'000

Property 846,330 10.0 930,963 761,697

Unquoted UK equity 109,288 15.0 125,681 92,895

Unquoted overseas equity 84,709 15.0 97,415 72,003

Hedge funds 223,678 10.0 246,046 201,310

Infrastructure 530,218 15.0 609,751 450,685

Private equity 656,899 15.0 755,434 558,364

Total 2,451,122

P
age 322



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 195

Note 14a Fair Value Hierarchy (continued)

Level 2

Assets at level 2 are those where quoted market prices are not available; for example, where an instrument is traded in a market that is not

considered to be active, or where valuation techniques are used to determine fair value and where these techniques use inputs that are based

significantly on observable market data.

Level 3

Assets at level 3 are those where at least one input that could have a significant effect on the instrument's valuation is not based on observable

market data.

Such investments would include unquoted equity investments and Hedge Fund of Funds, which are valued using various valuation techniques that

require significant judgement in determining appropriate assumptions.

The values of the investment in Private Equity are based on valuations provided by the general partners to the Private Equity funds in which

Merseyside Pension Fund has invested.

These valuations are prepared in accordance with the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines, which follow the

valuation principles of IFRS. Valuations are usually undertaken annually at the end of December. Cash flow adjustments are used to roll forward

the valuations to 31 March as appropriate.

The values of the investment in Hedge Funds are based on the net asset value provided by the Fund Manager. Assurances over the valuation are

gained from the independent audit of the value.

The following table provides an analysis of the financial assets of the pension fund grouped into Levels 1 to 3, based on the level at which the fair

value is observable.

P
age 323



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 196

Note 14a Fair Value Hierarchy (continued)

• The financial assets at fair value through profit and loss values at 31 March 2018 have been restated, £63.6 million has moved from level 2 to 

level 3.

A reconciliation of fair value measurements in Level 3 is set out below:

* The information for 2017/18 has been restated

Values at 31 March 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit and Loss 4,457,295 1,769,887 1,929,372 8,156,554

Non-Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit and Loss - - 521,750 521,750

Financial Liabilities at Fair Value through Profit and Loss - (91) - (91)

Net Investment Assets 4,457,295 1,769,796 2,451,122 8,678,213

Values at 31 March 2018 * Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial assets

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit and Loss 3,760,289 2,411,082 1,671,734 7,843,105

Non-Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit and Loss - - 519,750 519,750

Net Investment Assets 3,760,289 2,411,082 2,191,484 8,362,855

2018/19 2017/18 *

£'000 £'000

2,191,484 Opening balance 1,884,029

372,555 Acquisitions 357,280

(232,512) Disposal proceeds (179,809)

- Transfer into Level 3 66,145

Total gain/(losses) included in the fund account:

(7,717) On assets sold 2,487

127,312 On assets held at year end 61,352

2,451,122 Closing balance 2,191,484

P
age 324



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 197

Note 15 Financial Instruments
Note 15a Classification of Financial Instruments

Accounting policies describe how

different asset classes of financial

instruments are measured, and how

income and expenses, including fair

value gains and losses, are

recognised. The following table

analyses the carrying amounts of

financial assets and liabilities by

category and net asset statement

heading.

To allow reconciliation to the Net Asset

Statement and for ease to the reader

all long term & current assets and

current liabilities have been included in

the above note, although not all are

classified as financial instruments, the

amounts that are not financial

instruments are considered

immaterial.

Financial Assets & Liabilities at 31 March 2019 Assets at 

amortised 

cost

Liabilities at 

amortised cost

Fair value through 

profit and loss

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial Assets

Equities - - 2,795,439 2,795,439

Bonds - - 665,610 665,610

Pooled Investment Vehicles - - 4,695,505 4,695,505

Derivatives - - - -

Cash Deposits 86,098 - - 86,098

Other Investment Balances 104,196 - - 104,196

Long Term and Current Assets 39,559 - - 39,559

Total Financial Assets 229,853 - 8,156,554 8,386,407

Financial Liabilities

Derivatives - - (91) (91)

Other Investment Balances - (8,354) - (8,354)

Current Liabilities - (16,974) - (16,974)

Total Financial Liabilities - (25,328) (91) (25,419)

Total Net Assets 229,853 (25,328) 8,156,463 8,360,988

Financial Assets & Liabilities at 31 March 2018 Assets at 

amortised 

Liabilities at 

amortised cost

Fair value through 

profit and loss

Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Financial Assets

Equities - - 2,768,408 2,768,408

Bonds - - - -

Pooled Investment Vehicles - - 5,074,479 5,074,479

Derivatives - - 218 218

Cash Deposits 53,226 - - 53,226

Other Investment Balances 99,613 - - 99,613

Long Term and Current Assets 84,922 - - 84,922

Total Financial Assets 237,761 - 7,843,105 8,080,866

Financial Liabilities

Other Investment Balances - (13,736) - (13,736)

Current Liabilities - (23,439) - (23,439)

Total Financial Liabilities - (37,175) - (37,175)

Total Net Assets 237,761 (37,175) 7,843,105 8,043,691

P
age 325



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 198

Note 15b Net Gains & Losses on Financial Instruments

Note 15c Fair Value of Financial Instruments

There is no material difference between the carrying value and fair value of financial instruments. The majority of financial instruments are held at

fair value and for those which aren't their amortised cost is considered to be equivalent to an approximation of fair value.

2018/19 Net Gains and Losses on Financial Instruments 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Financial Assets

286,123 Fair Value through Profit and Loss 129,691

286,123 Total Financial Assets 129,691

- Financial Liabilities -

- Total Financial Liabilities -

286,123 Net gains and losses on Financial Instruments 129,691

P
age 326



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 199

Note 16 Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments

Risk and risk management

The Fund’s objective is to achieve a funding level position of 100% whilst minimising the level and volatility of employer contributions. Investment

strategy is decided with clear reference to this objective.

Over the long term, the Fund’s objective is to set policies that will seek to ensure that investment returns achieved will at least match the assumptions

underlying the actuarial valuation and therefore be appropriate to the liabilities of the Fund.

Having regard to its liability profile, the Fund has determined that adopting a bespoke benchmark should best enable it to implement an effective

investment strategy. This strategic benchmark is reviewed every three years, at a minimum, at the time of the actuarial valuation but will be reviewed

as required particularly if there have been significant changes in the underlying liability profile or the investment environment.

The Fund has carefully considered the expected returns from the various permitted asset classes and has concluded that in the longer term the return

on equities will be greater than from other conventional assets. Consequently, the benchmark is biased towards equities and skewed towards active

management, particularly in less developed markets.

The Fund is also cognisant of the risk that the shorter term returns may vary significantly from one period to another and between the benchmark and

actual returns. Diversification of assets is seen as key to managing this risk and the risk/return characteristics of each asset and their relative

correlations are reflected in the make up of the strategic benchmark.

The Fund believes that, over the long term, a willingness to take on volatility and illiquidity is likely to be rewarded with outperformance. The Fund

considers that its strong employer covenant, maturity profile and cash flows enable it to adopt a long term investment perspective. A mix of short term

assets such as bonds and cash is maintained to cover short term liabilities while equities (both passive and active), private equity and direct property

are held to benefit from the potential rewards arising from volatility and illiquidity risks. The Fund recognises that risk is inherent in investment activity

and seeks to manage the level of risk that it takes in an appropriate manner. The Fund manages investment risks through the following measures:

• Broad diversification of types of investment and Investment Managers.

• Explicit mandates governing the activity of Investment Managers.

• The use of a specific benchmark, related to liabilities of the Fund for investment asset allocation.

• The appointment of Independent Investment Advisors to the Investment Monitoring Working Party.

• Comprehensive monitoring procedures for Investment Managers including internal officers and scrutiny by elected Members

P
age 327



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 200

Note 16a Market Risk

The Fund is aware that its key risk

is market risk i.e. the

unpredictability of market

performance in the future. The

general practice to quantify these

risks is to measure the volatility of

historical performance. The tables

opposite show the Fund's

exposure to asset classes and

their reasonable predicted

variance (as provided by the

Fund's investment consultants)

and the resulting potential changes

in net assets available to pay

pensions. The figures provided

are a forward looking assumption

of future volatility based on

analysis of previous performance

and probability.

Value at 31 March 

2019

Potential 

Variance

Value on 

increase

Value on 

decrease

£million % £million £million

UK Equities (all equities including pooled vehicles) 1,496 19.0 1,780 1,211

US Equities 569 21.0 689 450

Canadian Equities 9 24.0 11 7

European Equities 841 22.5 1,030 652

Japanese Equities 379 20.5 456 301

Emerging Markets Equities inc Pac Rim 876 28.0 1,121 630

Global Equities (all equities including pooled vehicles) 428 19.5 512 345

UK Fixed Income Pooled Vehicles 735 11.0 816 655

UK Bonds 666 9.0 726 606

Pooled Property 294 12.5 331 258

Private Equity 566 27.5 721 410

Hedge Funds 264 9.5 289 239

Infrastructure 546 18.5 647 445

Other Alternative Assets 488 14.1 557 419

Short Term Deposits & Other Investment Balances 204 - 204 204

Total 8,361

Value at 31 March 

2018

Potential 

Variance

Value on 

increase

Value on 

decrease

£million % £million £million

UK Equities (all equities including pooled vehicles) 1,801 19.0 2,143 1,459

US Equities 652 21.0 789 515

European Equities 777 22.5 952 603

Japanese Equities 461 20.5 556 367

Emerging Markets Equities inc Pac Rim 819 28.0 1,049 590

UK Fixed Income Pooled Vehicles 712 11.0 790 634

UK Index Linked Pooled Vehicles 682 9.0 743 620

Pooled Property 248 12.5 279 217

Private Equity 563 27.5 718 408

Hedge Funds 271 9.5 296 245

Infrastructure 428 18.5 507 349

Other Alternative Assets 429 14.0 489 369

Short Term Deposits & Other Investment Balances 201 - 201 201

Total 8,044

P
age 328



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 201

Note 16b Credit Risk
The Fund does not hold any Fixed Interest Securities directly and the Managers of the Fixed Income Vehicles are responsible for managing credit

risk, section 16a of this note covers the market risks of these holdings.

The Fund's arrangements for derivatives, securities lending and impaired items are dealt with in other notes to the accounts.

The short term cash deposits and other investment balances are diversified with investment grade financial institutions. The Fund has a treasury

management policy that is compliant with current best practice.

The Fund's cash holding under its treasury management arrangements as at 31 March 2019 was £86.1 million (31 March 2018 £53.2 million).

This was held on instant access accounts with the following institutions:

The Fund's key priority is to pay pensions in the long term and in the short term and the asset allocation is the key strategy in ensuring this. The

earlier sections have dealt with the longer term risks associated with market volatility.

The Fund has a cash balance at 31 March of £86.1 million. The Fund has £6,249 million in assets which could be realised in under 7 days’ notice,

£822 million in assets which could be realised in under 90 days’ notice and £1,290 million in assets which could not be realised within a 90 day

period.

The Fund has no borrowing or borrowing facilities.

The management of the Fund also prepares periodic cash flow forecasts to understand and manage the timing of the Fund's cash flows. Whilst

the Fund has a net withdrawal for 2018/19 in its dealing with members of £137 million and management expenses of £44 million, this is offset by

investment income of £221 million.

Note 16c Liquidity Risk

2018/19 Rating (S & P) 2017/18

£'000 £'000

22,717 Lloyds Bank Long A Short A-1 33,226

15,000 Invesco AAAm 10,000

- Santander Long A Short A-1 10,000

20,000 Svenska Handelsbanken Long AA- Short A-1+ -

28,381 Northern Trust AAAm -

86,098 Total 53,226

P
age 329



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 202

Note 16d Outlook for Real Investment Returns

Note 17 Funding Arrangements

The expectation of future real investment returns can affect the Fund’s liabilities as they may impact on the discount rate used by the actuary to

discount the liabilities; the Fund’s actuary has calculated that the Fund has sensitivity to this discount rate of 20% per 1% change in real investment

returns. The Fund considers both the liabilities and assets together and assesses the funding ratio and the implications for investment strategy on a

quarterly basis at the IMWP.

In line with The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013, the Fund's actuary undertakes a funding valuation every three years for

the purpose of setting employer contribution rates for the forthcoming triennial period. The last such valuation took place as at 31 March 2016.

The next valuation will take place as at 31 March 2019.

The most recent Triennial Valuation by the actuary was as at 31 March 2016, when the funding level was 85% of projected actuarial liabilities

(2013 76%). The funding objective is to achieve and then maintain assets equal to the funding target. The funding target is the present value of

100% of projected accrued liabilities, including allowance for projected final pay. The FSS specifies a maximum period for achieving full funding of

19 years.

The funding method adopted is the projected unit method, which implicitly allows for new entrants replacing leavers.

The key elements of the funding policy are to:

• Manage employers' liabilities effectively and ensure that sufficient resources are available to meet all liabilities as they fall due

• Enable employer contribution rates to be kept at a reasonable and affordable cost to the taxpayers, scheduled, designating and admitted

bodies, while achieving and maintaining fund solvency and long term cost efficiency, which should be assessed in light of the profile of

the Fund now and in the future due to sector changes

• Maximise the returns from investments within reasonable risk parameters taking into account the above aims.

P
age 330



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 203

Note 17 Funding Arrangements (continued)

Note 18 Investment Liabilities

Note 19 Long Term Assets

Summary of Key Whole Fund Assumptions used for calculating Funding Target 31 March 2016

Long Term Yields % p.a.

Market Implied RPI Inflation 3.20

Solvency Funding Target Financial Assumptions

Investment Return 4.20

CPI Price Inflation 2.20

Salary Increases 3.70

Pension Increases 2.20

Future Service Accrual Financial Assumptions

Investment Return/Discount Rate 4.95

CPI Price Inflation 2.20

Salary Increases 3.70

CARE 2.20

2018/19 Investment Liabilities 2017/18

£'000 £'000

91 Derivative Contracts -

8,354 Amounts due to Stockbrokers 13,736

8,445 Total 13,736

2018/19 Long Term Assets 2017/18

£'000 £'000

4,146 Assets due in more than one year 5,013

4,146 Total 5,013

Assets due in more than one year include future payments of

pension strain and reimbursement of lifetime tax allowances.

P
age 331



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 204

"Sundries" mainly covers general debtors,

property arrears due, agents' balances and

recoverable taxation.

"Provision for Credit Losses" relates to general

debtors and property rental income and is

based on an assessment of all individual debts

as at 31 March 2019.

The main components of "Miscellaneous

Liabilities" are the outstanding charges for

Investment Management fees, payable

quarterly in arrears, Custodian and Actuarial

fees, plus income tax due, pre-paid rent and

Administering Authority re-imbursement.

Note 20 Current Assets & Liabilities

Commitments for investments amounted to £1,064 million as at 31st March 2019. (2017/18 £534.86 million). These commitments relate to Private

Equity £494.08 million, Infrastructure £276.54 million, Opportunities £72.46 million, Indirect Property £221.13 million. As some of these funds are

denominated in foreign currencies, the commitment in sterling is subject to change due to currency fluctuations.

Note 21 Contractual Commitments

2018/19 Current Assets & Liabilities 2017/18

£'000 £'000

Assets

17,270 Contributions due 17,431

417 Amounts due from external managers 41,296

344 Accrued and outstanding investment income 1,152

14,192 Sundries 14,889

(157) Provision for credit losses (118)

3,347 Cash at bank 5,259

35,413 Current Assets 79,909

Liabilities

165 Amounts due to external managers 966

2,177 Retirement grants due 3,467

494 Provisions 432

14,138 Miscellaneous 18,574

16,974 Current Liabilities 23,439

18,439 Net Current Assets 56,470

P
age 332



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 205

Note 22 Contingent Assets
When determining the appropriate Fund policy for employers the different participating characteristics as either a contractor or community body

or whether a guarantor of sufficient financial standing agrees to support the pension obligations is taken into consideration when setting the

fiduciary strategy.

It is the policy to actively seek mechanisms to strengthen employer covenants by engaging "contingent assets" in the form of bonds/indemnity

insurance, local authority guarantors, parent company guarantors or charge on assets to mitigate the risk of employers exiting the Fund leaving

unrecoverable debt.

These financial undertakings are drawn in favour of Wirral Council, as the Administrating Authority of Merseyside Pension Fund and payment will

only be triggered in the event of employer default.

Note 23 Related Party Transactions

There are three groups of related parties: transactions between Wirral Council, as Administering Authority, and the Fund, between employers

within the Fund and the Fund, and between Members and Senior Officers and the Fund.

Management expenses include charges by Wirral Council in providing services in its role as Administering Authority to the Fund, which amount to

£3.7 million. (2017/18 £3.3 million). Such charges principally relate to staffing required to maintain the pension service. Central, Finance and IT

costs are apportioned to the Fund on the basis of time spent on Fund work by Wirral Council. There was a debtor of £10.3 million (2017/18 £9.1

million) and a creditor of £341,033 as at 31 March 2019 (2017/18 £254,502).

Employers are related parties in so far as they pay contributions to the Fund in accordance with the appropriate Local Government Pension

Scheme Regulations (LGPS). Contributions for the year are shown in note 7 and in respect of March 2019 payroll are included within the debtors

figure in note 20.

A specific declaration has been received from Pension Committee Members, Pension Board Members and principal officers regarding

membership of, and transactions with, such persons or their related parties. A number of Members act as Councillors or Board members of

particular scheme employers, listed below, who maintain a conventional employer relationship with the Fund:

Liverpool City Council, Knowsley Council, Sefton Council and St Helens Borough Council, Wirral Council, Knowsley Youth Mutual, Whiston Town

Council, Rainhill Parish Council, One Vision Housing, CDS Housing, Greater Hornby Homes and Wirral Partnership Homes (also known as

Magenta Living). The value of the transactions with each of these related parties, namely the routine monthly payments to the Fund of

employers' and employees' contributions, is determined by the LGPS Regulations, and as such no related party transactions have been declared.

P
age 333



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 206

Note 23 Related Party Transactions (continued)

Peter Wallach, Director of Pensions acts in an un-remunerated board advisory capacity on 5 investment bodies in which the Fund has an interest,

Eclipse (£14.5 million), Standard Life (£14.7 million), F&C (£20.4 million), GLIL (£111.1 million) and NPEP.

Linda Desforges, Senior Portfolio Manager acts in an un-remunerated board advisory capacity on 5 investment bodies in which the Fund has an

interest, Standard Life (£14.7 million), BBH Capital (£13.5 million), TEO Plc (£15.3 million), GCM Grosvenor Co-Investment Fund (£8.9 million) and

F&C (£20.4 million).

Susannah Friar, Property Manager acts in an un-remunerated board advisory capacity on eleven investment bodies in which the Fund has an

interest, Partners Group Real Estate Asia Pacific 2011 (£5.3 million), Bridges Property Alternatives IV (£2.1 million), Century Bridge China Real

Estate Fund II (£3.5 million), Phoenix Asia Secured Debt Fund (£6.1 million) Alma Property Partners (£9.4 million), Barwood Property (£12.5 million),

Chenavari Real Estate III (£3.0 million), Newcore Strategic Situations IV (£5.0 million), Hearthstone Residential Fund I (£5.5 million), European

Student Housing Fund II (£3.2 million) and Locust Point Private Credit Fund (£4.0 million).

Adil Manzoor Portfolio Manager, acts in an un-remunerated board advisory capacity on 5 investment bodies in which the Fund has an interest,

Standard Life Infrastructure Fund I (£8.8 million), Blackrock GRP Fund I (£19.3 million) and AMP GIF II (£12.1 million), Industrial Strategies Fund –

Waybill UK Ltd (£21.5 million) and Impax New Energy Investors III LP (£1.1 million).

Each member of the Pension Fund Committee and Pension Board Members formally considers conflicts of interest at each meeting.

Key management  personnel

The Fund's senior management during 2018/19 was comprised of 6 individuals: the Director of Pensions, the Head of Pensions Administration,

Senior Portfolio Managers (x3) and Head of Finance & Risk, the remuneration paid to the senior management during 2018/19 was £402,649

(2017/18 £421,487). In addition, employer contributions of £58,063 (2017/18 £56,995) was also met from the Fund and charged to the Fund

Account. The post of Senior Investment Manager was deleted during the year 2017/18.

P
age 334



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 207

Note 24 Additional Voluntary Contribution Investments

2018/19 Additional Voluntary Contribution (AVC) Investments 2017/18

£'000 £'000

The aggregate amount of AVC investments is as follows :

1,985 Equitable Life 2,015

5,286 Standard Life 5,988

8,739 Prudential 7,930

16,010 15,933

Changes during the year were as follows:

3,394 Contributions 3,432

3,685 Repayments 2,441

368 Change in market values 383

P
age 335



Scheme Employers with Active Members as at 31 March 2019

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 208

Scheduled Bodies

Academy of St Francis of Assisi

Bellerive FCJ Catholic College

Billinge Chapel End Parish Council

Birkdale High School (Academy)

Birkenhead High School Academy

Birkenhead Sixth Form College (Academy)

Bishop Martin CE Primary

Blacklow Brow School (Academy)

Blue Coat School (Academy)

Carmel College

Calday Grange Grammar School (Academy)

Bishop Martin CE Primary

Chesterfield High School (Academy)

Chief Constable

Childwall Sports and Science Academy 

Christ Church Moreton Primary (Academy)

Church Drive Primary

Church Town Primary (Academy)

Co-op Academy Portland

Co-op Academy Woodslee

Cronton C of E Primary (Academy)

Cronton Parish Council

Croxteth Community Primary School 
(Academy)

De la Salle Academy 

Deyes High School (Academy)

Eccleston Parish Council

Edsential SLE

Egremont Primary School (Academy)

Emslie Morgan Academy

Everton Free School (Academy)

Finch Woods Academy

Formby High School (Academy)

Garston C of E Primary School (Academy)

Great Meols Primary School (Academy)

Greenbank High School (Academy)

Halewood Academy Centre for Learning 

Halewood C of E Primary (Academy)

Halewood Town Council

Halsnead Primary School (Academy)

Harmonize (Academy)

Hawthornes Free School

Heygreen Community Primary (Academy)

Hilbre High School (Academy)

Hillside High School (Academy)

Holy Trinity CE Primary (Academy)

Hope Academy

Hugh Baird College

Huyton with Roby CE Primary (Academy)

Kings Leadership Academy (Liverpool)

Kirkby High School

Knowsley Lane Primary School (Academy)

Knowsley M.B.C.

Knowsley Town Council

LDST – Liverpool Diocesan Schools Trust 
(Academy)

Litherland High School (Academy)

Litherland Moss Primary (Academy)

Liverpool City Council

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority 
(LCRCA)

Liverpool College (Academy)

Liverpool John Moores University

Liverpool Life Science UTC (Academy)

Liverpool Street Scene Services Ltd

Lord Derby Academy

Maghull High School (Academy)

Maghull Town Council

Merseyside Fire & Rescue Authority

Merseyside Passenger Transport Executive 
(MPTE)

Merseyside Recycling and Waste Authority

New Park Primary (Academy)

North Liverpool Academy 

Nutgrove Methodist Aided Primary

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
for Merseyside (OPCCM)

Oldershaw Academy

P
age 336



Scheme Employers with Active Members as at 31 March 2019 (continued)

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 209

Scheduled Bodies (continued)

Our Lady of Pity RC Primary School 
(Academy)

Parish CE Primary (Academy)

Park View Academy

Poulton Lancelyn Primary School (Academy)

Prenton High School for Girls (Academy)

Prescot Town Council

Rainford High School (Academy)

Rainford Parish Council

Rainhill Parish Council

Rainhill High School (Academy)

Rainhill St Anns CE Primary School 
(Academy)

Range High School (Academy)

Roscoe Primary (Academy)

School Improvement Liverpool Ltd

Sefton M.B.C.

Shared Education Services Ltd

Shoreside Primary School

Southport College

St Andrew’s CE Primary (Academy)

St. Anselms College (Academy)

St. Edwards College (Academy)

St. Francis Xavier's College (Academy)

St. Helens College

St. Helens M.B.C.

St James’ Primary School (Academy)

St John Plessington Catholic College

St Joseph’s Primary (Academy)

St Margaret Church of England Academy

St Mary & St Thomas CE Primary School 
(Academy)

St Marys Catholic College

St Michael's C of E High School (Academy)

St Silas C of E Primary School (Academy)

St Thomas C of E Primary (Academy)

Stanley High School (Academy)

Stanton Road Primary School

Studio @ Deyes Academy

Sylvester Primary Academy

The ACC Liverpool Group Ltd

The Academy of St Nicholas

The Beacon C E Primary School (Academy)

The Belvedere Academy

The Birkenhead Park School

The City of Liverpool College

The Prescot School (Academy)

The Studio (Academy)

The Sutton Academy

Town Lane Infant School (Academy)

Townfield Primary School (Academy)

Upton Hall School (Academy) 

Weatherhead High School (Academy)

West Derby School (Academy)

West Kirby Grammar School (Academy)

Whiston Town Council

Whiston Willis Primary (Academy)

Willow Tree Primary

Wirral Council

Wirral Evolutions

Wirral Grammar School for Boys (Academy)

Wirral Grammar School for Girls (Academy)

Wirral Metropolitan College

Woodchurch High School (Academy)

Yew Tree Primary Academy

P
age 337



Scheme Employers with Active Members as at 31 March 2019 (continued)

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 210

Admission Bodies

Absolutely Catering (Longmoor)

Absolutely Catering (St Oswald’s)

Addaction (Sefton)

Age Concern – Liverpool

Agilisys Limited

Agilisys Ltd (Sefton)

Arriva North West

Association of Police Authorities

Balfour Beatty PFI SEN School

Balfour Beatty Workplace

Berrybridge Housing Ltd

Birkenhead School (2002)

Bouygues E & S FM UK Ltd

Care Quality Commission

Castlerock Recruitment Group Ltd

Caterlink Ltd

Catholic Children's Society

CDS Housing

Change Grow Live

Citizens Advice Liverpool

Cobalt Housing Ltd

Commutual

Compass Contract Services (UK)

Compass (Scolarest) Liverpool Schools

Compass (Scolarest) Wirral Schools

CWP (NHS)

Friends of Birkenhead Council Kennels

Fun 4 Kidz

Geraud Markets Liverpool Ltd

Glendale (Liverpool Parks Services) Ltd

Glenvale Transport Ltd/Stagecoach

Graysons Education

Greater Hornby Homes

Greater Merseyside Connexions

Hochtief Liverpool Schools

Hochtief Wirral Schools

Interserve (Facilities Management) Ltd

Kingswood Colomendy Ltd.

Knowsley Youth Mutual

L&T FM (Chroda)

Lee Valley Housing Association Ltd

Liverpool Hope University

Liverpool Vision Limited

Local Government Association

Mellors Catering – Birkdale

Mellors Catering – St Anns

Mellors Catering – St Mary & St Thomas

Mellors Catering - St Paul & St Timothy

Merseyside Lieutenancy

North Huyton Communities Future

One Vision Housing Ltd

Orian Solutions

Partners Credit Union

Port Sunlight Village Trust

Sefton New Directions Ltd.

Shap Ltd

Siemens Mobility Ltd

South Liverpool Housing Ltd

Southern Electric Co Ltd

Tarmac Trading Ltd

Taylor Shaw (Great Meols)

Taylor Shaw (Hugh Baird)

Taylor Shaw (Raeburn)

Taylor Shaw (Range)

Taylor Shaw (St Andrews)

Torus 62 Ltd

Veolia ES Merseyside & Halton

Volair Ltd

WCFT (NHS)

Welsh Local Government Association

WIRED

Wirral Autistic Society (Autism Together)

Wirral Partnership Homes (Magenta)

P
age 338



Statement by the Consulting Actuary

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 211

MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND

ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 - STATEMENT BY THE CONSULTING ACTUARY

This statement has been provided to meet the requirements under Regulation 57(1)(d) of The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations

2013.

An actuarial valuation of the Merseyside Pension Fund was carried out as at 31 March 2016 to determine the contribution rates with effect from

1 April 2017 to 31 March 2020.

On the basis of the assumptions adopted, the Fund’s assets of £6,850 million represented 85% of the Fund’s past service liabilities of £8,081

million (the “Funding Target”) at the valuation date. The deficit at the valuation was therefore £1,231 million.

 

P
age 339



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 212

MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND

ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 - STATEMENT BY THE CONSULTING ACTUARY

The valuation also showed that a Primary contribution rate of 15.4% of pensionable pay per annum was required from employers. The Primary

rate is calculated as being sufficient, together with contributions paid by members, to meet all liabilities arising in respect of service after the

valuation date.

The funding objective as set out in the Funding Strategy Statement (FSS) is to achieve and then maintain a solvency funding level of 100% of

liabilities (the solvency funding target). In line with the FSS, where a shortfall exists at the effective date of the valuation a deficit recovery plan

will be put in place which requires additional contributions to correct the shortfall (or contribution reductions to refund any surplus).

The FSS sets out the process for determining the recovery plan in respect of each employer. At this actuarial valuation the average deficit

recovery period is 19 years, and the total initial recovery payment (the “Secondary rate”) for 2019/20 is approximately £52.8 million (this allows

for some employers to phase in any increases or to make a prepayment in April 2017). For all employers, the Secondary rate will increase at

3.7% per annum, except where phasing has been applied. With the agreement of the Administering Authority employers may also opt to pay

some of their deficit contributions early (after suitably agreed reductions), with either all three years being paid in April 2017 or payment being

made in the April of the year in question.

Further details regarding the results of the valuation are contained in the formal report on the actuarial valuation dated 31 March 2017.

In practice, each individual employer’s position is assessed separately and the contributions required are set out in the report. In addition to the

certified contribution rates, payments to cover additional liabilities arising from early retirements (other than ill-health retirements) will be made to

the Fund by the employers.

The funding plan adopted in assessing the contributions for each individual employer is in accordance with the Funding Strategy Statement

(FSS). Any different approaches adopted, e.g. with regard to the implementation of contribution increases and deficit recovery periods, are as

determined through the FSS consultation process.

Statement by the Consulting Actuary (continued)

P
age 340



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 213

MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND

ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 - STATEMENT BY THE CONSULTING ACTUARY

The valuation was carried out using the projected unit actuarial method and the main actuarial assumptions used for assessing the Funding

Target and the Primary rate of contribution were as follows:

• allowance was also made for short-term public sector pay restraint over a 4 year period.

The assets were assessed at market value.

The next triennial actuarial valuation of the Fund is due as at 31 March 2019. Based on the results of this valuation, the contribution rates

payable by the individual employers will be revised with effect from 1 April 2020.

Actuarial Present Value of Promised Retirement Benefits for the Purposes of IAS 26

IAS 26 requires the present value of the Fund’s promised retirement benefits to be disclosed, and for this purpose the actuarial assumptions and

methodology used should be based on IAS 19 rather than the assumptions and methodology used for funding purposes.

Statement by the Consulting Actuary (continued)

 

For past service 
liabilities (Funding 
Target) 

For future service liabilities 
(Primary rate of 
contribution) 

Rate of return on investments (discount rate) 4.2% per annum 4.95% per annum 

Rate of pay increases (long term)* 3.7% per annum 3.7% per annum 

Rate of increases in pensions  
in payment (in excess of  
Guaranteed Minimum Pension) 

2.2% per annum 2.2% per annum 

 

P
age 341



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 214

MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND

ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 - STATEMENT BY THE CONSULTING ACTUARY

To assess the value of the benefits on this basis, we have used the following financial assumptions as at 31 March 2019 (the 31 March 2018

assumptions are included for comparison):

• includes a corresponding allowance to that made in the latest formal actuarial valuation for short-term public sector pay restraint.

The demographic assumptions are the same as those used for funding purposes. Full details of these assumptions are set out in the formal report

on the actuarial valuation dated March 2017.

During the year, corporate bond yields decreased slightly, resulting in a lower discount rate being used for IAS 26 purposes at the year-end than at

the beginning of the year (2.4% p.a. versus 2.6% p.a.). The expected long-term rate of CPI inflation increased during the year, from 2.1% p.a. to

2.2%. Both of these factors served to increase the liabilities over the year.

The value of the Fund’s promised retirement benefits for the purposes of IAS 26 as at 31 March 2018 was estimated as £11,285 million. Interest

over the year increased the liabilities by c£293 million, and allowing for net benefits accrued/paid over the period decreased the liabilities by c£18

million (after allowing for any increase in liabilities arising as a result of early retirements/augmentations). We have also included an amount of £78

million by way of an estimate of the effect of the McCloud judgement (see note below for further details). There was an increase in liabilities of

£627 million due to “actuarial gains” (i.e. the effect of the changes in the actuarial assumptions used, referred to above).

The net effect of all the above is that the estimated total value of the Fund’s promised retirement benefits as at 31 March 2019 is therefore £12,265

million.

Statement by the Consulting Actuary (continued)

 31 March 2018 31 March 2019 

Rate of return on investments (discount rate) 2.6% per annum 2.4% per annum 

Rate of CPI Inflation / CARE Benefit 

revaluation 

2.1% per annum 2.2% per annum 

Rate of pay increases* 3.6% per annum 3.7% per annum 

Rate of increases in pensions  

in payment (in excess of  

GMP) / Deferred revaluation 

2.2% per annum 2.3% per annum 

 

P
age 342



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 215

MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND

ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 - STATEMENT BY THE CONSULTING ACTUARY

The McCloud Case

In December 2018 the Court of Appeal ruled against the Government in the two linked cases of Sargeant and McCloud (which for the purposes of

the LGPS has generally been shortened to “McCloud”), relating to the Firefighter unfunded pension schemes and the Judicial pension

arrangements. In essence, the Court held that the transitional protections, which were afforded to older members when the reformed schemes

were introduced in 2015, constituted unlawful age discrimination. The Government attempted to appeal the cases, but it was announced on 27

June 2019 that the appeal had been refused by the Supreme Court. Remedial action in the form of increases in benefits for some members of

the Firefighter and Judicial arrangements will almost certainly be required. There may well also be knock-on effects for the other public service

schemes, and the LGPS might therefore also be required to take some action. At this stage it is uncertain whether remedial action will be

required, nor is it clear what the extent of any potential remedial action might be.

We have carried out some costings of the potential effect of McCloud as at 31 March 2019, based on the individual member data as supplied to

us for the 2016 actuarial valuation, and this results in an additional liability of £78 million using the IAS26 assumptions outlined above. The

approach to the calculations is as instructed by the administering authority after consideration of the categories of members potentially affected,

but in very broad terms calculates the cost of applying a "final salary underpin" (on a member by member basis) to those active members who

joined the Fund after 1 April 2012 and who would not otherwise have benefited from the underpin.

Statement by the Consulting Actuary (continued)

P
age 343



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Additional Financial Statements 216

MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND

ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 - STATEMENT BY THE CONSULTING ACTUARY

GMP Equalisation

UK and European law requires pension schemes to provide equal benefits to men and women in respect of service after 17 May 1990 (the date

of the “Barber” judgment) and this includes providing equal benefits accrued from that date to reflect the differences in GMPs. Previously, there

was no consensus or legislative guidance as to how this might be achieved in practice for ongoing schemes, but the 26 October 2018 Lloyds

Bank court judgement has now provided further clarity in this area. However, in response to this judgement HM Treasury stated that “public sector

schemes already have a method to equalise guaranteed minimum pension benefits, which is why we will not have to change our method as a

result of this judgment", clearly implying that the Government (who have the overall power to determine benefits provision) believe the judgement

itself will not affect the benefits. Therefore, the natural conclusion for the main public service pension schemes including the Local Government

Pension Scheme is that it is not appropriate for any provision to be included for the effect of the Lloyds Bank judgment, at least at the present

time, and so we have not made any allowance for any additional liabilities within the above figures at this stage. However, in due course there

may be a further cost to the LGPS in connection with equalisation/indexation, when the Government confirms the overall approach which it

wishes to adopt in this area following its consultation.

Paul Middleman

Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries

Mercer Limited

July 2019

Statement by the Consulting Actuary (continued)

Clive Lewis

Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries

Mercer Limited

July 2019

P
age 344



6

Glossary

P
age 345



5 Glossary

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Glossary 218

Accruals

Income is recognised when it is earned
rather than when it is received. Expenditure
is recognised when goods or services are
received rather than when the payment is
made.

Actuarial Gains and Losses

Actuaries assess financial and non-financial
information provided to project levels of
future pension Fund requirements.
Changes in actuarial deficits or surpluses
arise because:

• Events have not coincided with the
actuarial assumptions made at the last
valuation

• The actuarial assumptions have changed.

Balances

The balances are to provide funding for
unanticipated expenditure and / or
expenditure that is of an unforeseen nature.
The level is determined having regard to
the strategic, operational and financial risks
and uncertainties faced by the Council.

Budget

The Budget is a statement of the spending
plans for the financial year.

Capital Expenditure

Expenditure on the acquisition of an asset
or expenditure, which adds to, and not
merely maintains, the value of an existing
fixed asset.

Capital Receipts

Income received from the disposal of land
and other capital assets, and from the
repayment of grants and loans to the
Council.

Chartered Institute of Public Finance
and Accountancy (CIPFA)

This Institute is the leading professional
accountancy body for public services and
produces the Code of Practice that must be
followed in preparing the Council’s financial
statements.

Collection Fund

A Fund administered by the Council to
record all income collected from local
taxpayers and business ratepayers and
show how this is passed on to other public
authorities.

Community Assets

These are fixed assets which the Council
intends to hold in perpetuity which have no

determinable finite useful life and may have
restrictions on their disposal eg parks.

Council Tax

This is the main source of taxation for the
Council. It is levied on households within
the area and the proceeds are paid into the
Collection Fund for distribution to
precepting authorities and for use by the
Council’s General Fund.

Creditors

Amounts owed by the Council for works
undertaken, goods received or services
provided for which payment had not been
made at the date of the Balance Sheet

Current Service Costs (Pensions)

For a defined benefit scheme, the value of
the pension benefits earned by active
employees in the period, net of
contributions paid by employees in respect
of those benefits. The increase in the
present value of a defined benefit pension
scheme’s liabilities expected to arise from
employee service in the current period i.e.
the ultimate pension benefits earned by
employees in the current year.

P
age 346



5 Glossary (continued)

Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Glossary 219

Curtailment (Pensions)

For a defined benefit scheme, an event that
reduces the expect years of future service
of present employees or reduces the
number of employees the accrual of defined
benefits for some or all of their future
service.

Debtors

Amounts owed to the Council that had not
been received at the date of the Balance
Sheet.

Defined Benefit Scheme

A pension, or other retirement benefit
scheme, where the scheme’s rules define
the benefits payable independently of the
contributions paid into the scheme. The
benefits paid from the scheme are not
directly related to the investments within the
scheme. The scheme may be funded or
unfunded.

Defined Contributions Scheme

A pension or other retirement benefit
scheme into which an employer pays
regular contributions, as an amount or as a
% of pay, and has no legal or constructive
obligation to pay further contributions if the
scheme does not have sufficient assets to
pay all employee benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior
periods.

Depreciation

A charge that represents the extent to
which an asset has been worn-out or used
or otherwise reduced the useful economic
life of a fixed asset during the year.

Expected Rate of Return on Pensions
Assets

For the Pension Fund the average rate of
return, including both income and changes
in fair value net of scheme expenses,
expected over the remaining life of the
asset.

Expenditure

Amounts paid by the Council for works
undertaken, goods received or services
provided, which is deemed to have been
spent when the works, goods or services
have been received.

FVOCI

Fair value other comprehensive income.

General Fund

The main revenue fund of the Council and
includes the net costs of all services
financed by local taxpayers and
Government grants. It is the day to day
spending on services.

Government Grants

Specific assistance by Government and

similar bodies in the form of cash. For
specific grants to a particular service there
is expected to be compliance with certain
conditions relating to the activities of the
Council but many grants are “general” and
used to help pay for the net cost of Council
services generally.

Heritage Assets

These are tangible assets with historical,
artistic, scientific, technological,
geophysical or environmental qualities that
are held and maintained for the contribution
to knowledge and culture. This includes
Civic Regalia, works of art and historic
buildings.

Impairment

A reduction in the value of a fixed asset
below the amount brought forward in the
Balance Sheet. Reductions include items
such as a significant decline in a fixed
asset’s market value.

Income

Amounts due to the Council for goods
supplied or services provided with the
income deemed to have been earned once
the goods or services have been supplied.

P
age 347



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Glossary 220

Infrastructure Assets

These are assets which generally cannot be
sold and from which benefit can be obtained
only from the continued use of the asset eg
highways and bridges.

Intangible Assets

These are assets which do not have physical
substance but are identifiable and controlled
by the Council and include items such as
software and licenses.

International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRS)

The Standards dictate specific accounting
treatments. They must be applied to all
financial statements in order to provide a true
and fair view of the financial position, and a
standardised method of comparison with
others.

Investment Properties

Properties held solely to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation, and not used to provide
services or for administrative purposes.

Leases

Leasing costs are the rental for the use of an
asset for a specified period of time. There are
two different types of lease. Finance leases
transfer substantially the risks and rewards of
ownership of a fixed asset to the lessee.
Operating leases are where the balance of
risks and rewards remains with the lessor who
retains the asset eg computer equipment.

Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)

The Council’s medium term financial plan.

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP)

This is the minimum amount that the Council
is required to charge to the revenue account
each year to provide for the repayment of
debt.

National Non-Domestic Rates (NNDR also
known as Business Rates)

A levy on business property based on national
rate in the £ applied to the rateable value of
the premises. The Government determines
the national rate and the Rates are collected
by the Council and accounted for within the
collection fund. The Council draws down from
this an amount specified at the start of the
year.

Net Book Value

The amount at which assets are included in
the Balance Sheet i.e. their historical cost or
current value less the cumulative amount
provided for depreciation

Net Expenditure

Gross expenditure less specific service
income but before the deduction of non-ring
fenced government grants and local taxation.

OCI

Other comprehensive income.

Precept

The amount the Council is required to raise
from Council Tax on behalf of other authorities
namely the Merseyside Recycling & Waste
Authority and the Liverpool Combined
Authority. It is collected and distributed on
behalf of precepting authorities by the Council.
These transactions are accounted for within
the Collection Fund.

Prior Year Adjustments

These are material adjustments applicable to
prior years arising from changes in accounting
policies or from the correction of fundamental
errors. They do not include normal recurring
corrections or adjustments of accounting
estimates made in prior years.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Assets that yield benefits to the Council and
the services provided for a period of more
than one year e.g. buildings, land and
vehicles.

Provisions

Amounts set aside to meet liabilities or losses
which it is anticipated will be incurred but
where the amount and / or timing of such
costs is uncertain.

5 Glossary (continued)

P
age 348



Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ Glossary 221

Public Works Loans Board (PWLB)

A Central Government body which is the main
provider of loans to local authorities to fund
capital expenditure.

Reserves

These are amounts held to meet specific,

known or predicted future expenditure.

Revenue Expenditure

This is spending on the day-to-day running

costs of providing services and is primarily

employee costs, general running expenses

and capital financing costs.

Revenue Expenditure Funded from Capital

under Statute (REFCUS)

This represents items of capital expenditure

where no asset exists and the cost is allowed

by statute to be charged as revenue

expenditure to the Consolidated Income &

Expenditure Statement.

Scheme Liabilities

These are the liabilities of the Pension Fund

for outgoings in the future and reflect the

benefits that the employer is committed to

provide for service up to a set date.

Unfunded Defined Benefit Scheme

An employer managed retirement plan that

uses the employer's current income to fund

pension payments as they become necessary.

This is in contrast to a funded pension

scheme where an employer sets aside funds

systematically and in advance to cover any

pension plan expenses such as payment to

retirees and their beneficiaries.

Unsupported (Prudential) Borrowing

This is borrowing for which no support is given

by Central Government. The Council is

permitted to undertake unsupported borrowing

but has to ensure that the borrowing costs are

affordable and be met from the revenue

budget.

Useful Life

This is the period over which the Council will

derive benefit from the use of an asset.

5 Glossary (continued)

P
age 349



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Wirral Council

Business Management

Shaer Halewood 
Director of Finance and 
Investment 
Business Management
PO Box 290
Brighton Street
Wallasey
CH27 9FQ

Grant Thornton UK LLP www.wirral.gov.uk
Royal Liver Building
Liverpool Date:23 September 2019
L3 1PS

Dear Sirs

Wirral Council

Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019

This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial 
statements of Wirral Council for the year ended 31 March 2019, for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion as to whether the Council financial statements are presented 
fairly, in all material respects in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
in the United Kingdom 2018/19 and applicable law. 

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries 
as we considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves: 

Financial Statements 

i. We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the Council’s 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19 ("the Code"); in particular the 
financial statements are fairly presented in accordance therewith. 

ii. We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the 
Council and these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in 
the financial statements.

iii. The Council has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-
compliance. There has been no non-compliance with requirements of any 

APPENDIX 4

Page 351

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/


regulatory authorities that could have a material effect on the financial 
statements in the event of noncompliance. 

iv. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and 
maintenance of internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

v. Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting estimates, including 
those measured at fair value, are reasonable. 

vi. Except as disclosed in the financial statements:

a. There are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent;
b. None of the assets of the Council has been assigned, pledged or 

mortgaged; and 
c. There are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or 

non-recurring items requiring separate disclosure. 

vii. We confirm that we are satisfied that the actuarial assumptions underlying the 
valuation of pension scheme assets and liabilities for IAS19 Employee Benefits 
disclosures are consistent with our knowledge.  We confirm that all settlements 
and curtailments have been identified and properly accounted for.  We also 
confirm that all significant post-employment benefits have been identified and 
properly accounted for. 

viii. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately 
accounted for and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Code. 

ix. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the Code require adjustment 
or disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed. 

x. The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including 
omissions. 

xi. Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed 
in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting 
Standards. 

xii. We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or 
classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements. 

xiii. We believe that the Council’s financial statements should be prepared on a 
going concern basis on the grounds that current and future sources of funding 
or support will be more than adequate for the Council’s needs. We believe that 
no further disclosures relating to the Council's ability to continue as a going 
concern need to be made in the financial statements. 

Information Provided 

xiv. We have provided you with: 

Page 352



a. Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the 
preparation of the Council financial statements such as records, 
documentation and other matters; 

b. Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose 
of your audit; and 

c. Unrestricted access to persons within the Council from whom you 
determined it necessary to obtain audit evidence. 

xv. We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which 
management is aware.

xvi. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are 
reflected in the financial statements. 

xvii. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the 
financial statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud. 

xviii. We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud 
that we are aware of and that affects the Council and involves: 

a. Management; 
b. Employees who have significant roles in internal control; or 
c. Others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial 

statements. 

xix. We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or 
suspected fraud, affecting the financial statements communicated by 
employees, former employees, analysts, regulators or others. 

xx. We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected 
noncompliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered 
when preparing financial statements. 

xxi. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Council's related parties and all 
the related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware. 

xxii. We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims 
whose effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements. 

Annual Governance Statement 

xxiii. We are satisfied that the Annual Governance Statement (AGS) fairly reflects 
the Council's risk assurance and governance framework and we confirm that 
we are not aware of any significant risks that are not disclosed within the AGS.

Narrative Report 

xxiv. The disclosures within the Narrative Report fairly reflect our understanding of 
the Council's financial and operating performance over the period covered by 
the Council financial statements.

Approval 

Page 353



The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Council’s Audit and Risk 
Management Committee at its meeting on 23 September 2019. 

Yours faithfully

Daniel Kirwan Cllr Jeff Green 
Assistant Director: Finance & Investment Chair of Audit & Risk Management 

Committee 

23 September 2019 23 September 2019

Page 354



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 

The Audit Findings
for Merseyside Pension Fund

September 2019

Year ended 31 March 2019

P
age 355



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 2

Contents

Section Page

1. Headlines 3

2. Financial statements 4

3. Independence and ethics 11

Appendices

A. Audit adjustments

B. Audit Opinion

The contents of this report relate only to those matters which came to our attention during the conduct of our normal audit procedures which are designed for the purpose of expressing 
our opinion on the financial statements. Our audit is not designed to test all internal controls or identify all areas of control weakness. However, where, as part of our testing, we identify 
control weaknesses, we will report these to you. In consequence, our work cannot be relied upon to disclose all defalcations or other irregularities, or to include all possible improvements 
in internal control that a more extensive special examination might identify. This report has been prepared solely for your benefit and should not be quoted in whole or in part without our 
prior written consent. We do not accept any responsibility for any loss occasioned to any third party acting, or refraining from acting on the basis of the content of this report, as this report 
was not prepared for, nor intended for, any other purpose.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales: No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members is 
available from our registered office.  Grant Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant 
Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its member firms are not agents 
of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions.

Your key Grant Thornton 
team members are:

Grant Patterson

Key Audit Partner

T:  0121 232 5296

E: Grant.B.Patterson@uk.gt.com

Stuart Basnett

Engagement Manager

T: 0151 224 7232

E: Stuart.H.Basnett@uk.gt.com

Chris Blakemore

In Charge Auditor

T: 0161 214 6397

E: Chris.Blakemore@uk.gt.com

P
age 356



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 3

Headlines
This table summarises the key findings and other matters arising from the statutory audit of Merseyside Pension Fund (‘the Pension Fund’) and the preparation of the Pension Fund's
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 for those charged with governance.

Financial
Statements

Under International Standards of Audit (UK) (ISAs) and the National
Audit Office (NAO) Code of Audit Practice ('the Code'), we are
required to report whether, in our opinion, the Pension Fund's
financial statements:

• give  a true and fair view of the financial position of the Pension 
Fund and its income and expenditure for the year; and

• have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting 
and prepared in accordance with the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014.

Our audit work was undertaken on site during June and July. We reported our draft Audit 
Findings Report to the Pensions Committee, as a sub-group to those charged with 
governance, on 14 July 2019. This report updates that report to the current position. Our 
findings are summarised on pages 4 to 10. Subject to the completion of audit work we 
have not identified any adjustments to the financial statements that have resulted in a 
adjustment to the Pension Fund’s reported financial position. Audit adjustments identified 
are detailed in Appendix A. 

As at this time our work is substantially complete and there are no matters of which we 
are aware that would require modification of our audit opinion or material changes to the 
financial statements, subject to the following outstanding matters:

- Obtaining and reviewing the signed management representation letter; and,

- updating our post balance sheet events review, to the date of signing the opinion.

Our anticipated audit report opinion will be unqualified.

Acknowledgements
We would like to take this opportunity to record our appreciation for the assistance provided by the finance team and other staff during our audit.

P
age 357



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 4

Summary
Overview of the scope of our audit

This Audit Findings Report presents the observations arising from the audit that are 
significant to the responsibility of those charged with governance to oversee the financial 
reporting process, as required by International Standard on Auditing (UK) 260 and the 
Code of Audit Practice (‘the Code’). Its contents have been discussed with management

As auditor we are responsible for performing the audit, in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) and the Code, which is directed towards forming and 
expressing an opinion on the financial statements that have been prepared by 
management with the oversight of those charged with governance. The audit of the 
financial statements does not relieve management or those charged with governance of 
their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements.

Audit approach

Our audit approach was based on a thorough understanding of the Pension Fund's 
business and is risk based, and in particular included:

• An evaluation of the Pension Fund's internal controls environment, including its IT 
systems and controls; 

• Controls testing of the Pension Fund’s benefits payable system; and

• Substantive testing on significant transactions and material account balances, including 
the procedures outlined in this report in relation to the key audit risks

We have not had to alter or change our audit plan, as communicated to the Pension 
Committee in March 2019 but as part of our work on disclosures we have discussed the 
potential impact upon the Fund of the McCloud judgement.

Conclusion

We have substantially completed our audit of your financial statements and subject to the 
completion of audit work we have not identified any adjustments to the financial statements 
that have resulted in an adjustment to the Pension Fund’s reported financial position. We 
anticipate issuing an unqualified audit opinion following the Wirral Council Audit and Risk 
Management Committee meeting on 23 September 2019.

Financial statements 

Materiality calculations remain the same as reported in our audit plan. We detail in the 
table below our determination of materiality for Merseyside Pension Fund.

Our approach to materiality

The concept of materiality is fundamental to the preparation of the financial statements and 
the audit process and applies not only to the monetary misstatements but also to disclosure 
requirements and adherence to acceptable accounting practice and applicable law. 

Pension Fund Amount (£) Qualitative factors considered 

Materiality for the financial statements £85.00m Considered to be the level above which users of the accounts would wish to be 
aware of misstatements, in the context of overall expenditure – calculated as 1.0% 
of prior year (2017-18) net assets.

Performance materiality £63.75m Assessed to be 75% of financial statement materiality.

Trivial matters £4.25m ISA 260 (UK) defines ‘clearly trivial’ as matters that are clearly inconsequential, 
whether taken individually or in aggregate and whether judged by any quantitative 
or qualitative criteria. 

P
age 358



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 5

Significant findings – audit risks 
Risks identified in our Audit Plan Commentary

 Improper revenue recognition
Under ISA 240 (UK) there is a presumed 
risk that revenue may be misstated due to 
the improper recognition of revenue. 

This presumption can be rebutted if the 
auditor concludes that there is no risk of 
material misstatement due to fraud 
relating to revenue recognition.

Auditor commentary

Having considered the risk factors set out in ISA240 and the nature of the revenue streams at the Pension Fund, we have 
determined that the risk of fraud arising from revenue recognition can be rebutted, because:

• there is little incentive to manipulate revenue recognition

• opportunities to manipulate revenue recognition are very limited

• The culture and ethical frameworks of local authorities, including Wirral Council as the administering authority, mean that all forms 
of fraud are seen as unacceptable

Therefore we do not consider this to be a significant risk for Merseyside Pension Fund. 

Our audit work has not identified any matters that would indicate the rebuttal was incorrect. 

 Management override of controls

Under ISA (UK) 240 there is a non-
rebuttable presumed risk that the risk of 
management over-ride of controls is 
present in all entities. 

We identified management override of 
controls as a risk requiring special audit 
consideration.

Auditor commentary

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

 review of accounting estimates, judgements and decisions made by management

 testing of journal entries

 review of unusual significant transactions.

Our audit work has not identified any evidence of management over-ride of controls. In particular, the findings of our review of journal 
controls and testing of journal entries has not identified any significant issues.

 The valuation of Level 3 investments is 
incorrect
Under ISA 315 significant risks often 
relate to significant non-routine 
transactions and judgemental matters.  
Level 3 investments by their very nature 
require a significant degree of judgement 
to reach an appropriate valuation at year 
end.

We identified the valuation of level 3 
investments as a risk requiring special 
audit consideration.

Auditor commentary

We have undertaken the following work in relation to this risk:

• gained an understanding of the Fund’s process for valuing level 3 investments and evaluate the design of the associated controls

• reviewed the nature and basis of estimated values and consider what assurance management has over the year end valuations 
provided for  these types of investments.

• consideration of the competence, expertise and objectivity of any management experts used.

• for a sample of investments, tested the valuation by obtaining and reviewing the audited accounts, (where available) at the latest 
date for individual investments and agreeing these to the fund manager reports at that date. Reconcile those values to the values 
at 31 March 2019 with reference to known movements in the intervening period.

Our work has not identified any significant issues in respect of this risk. 

Financial Statements 

P
age 359



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 6

Significant findings – key judgements and estimates
Financial statements

Summary of management’s policy Audit Comments Assessment

Level 3 
investments

The Pension Fund has investments in direct 
property, unquoted investments and pooled 
investments that in total are valued on the balance 
sheet as at 31 March 2019 at £2.451bn. These  
investments are not traded on an open 
exchange/market and the valuation of the investment 
is highly subjective due to a lack of observable 
inputs. In order to determine the value, management 
engage the services of a property valuer for direct 
property and rely on the valuations provided by the 
general partners to the private equity funds which 
the Fund invests in. The value of the investments 
has increased by £260m in 2018/19, largely due to 
acquisitions and improvements in market conditions. 

Management determine the value of Level 3 Investments through placing reliance 
on the expertise property valuer and the investment managers. As such we have 
sought confirmations of year end valuations from all main mandate managers and 
send a letter to the valuer to understand his skills, competence and independence 
from the Fund in valuing the property. We have also tested a sample of level 3 
investments to audited accounts to determine if the values estimated are 
reasonable. We have found no issues with this testing and are satisfied that the 
estimate is appropriately disclosed in the accounts.



Level 2 
investment

The Pension Fund have investments in unquoted 
bonds and pooled investments that in total are 
valued on the balance sheet as at 31 March 2019 at 
£2.435bn. The  investments are not traded on an 
open exchange/market and the valuation of the 
investment is subjective. In order to determine the 
value, management rely on the information which 
they are given from the various fund managers. The 
value of the investment has increased by £24m in 
2018/19.

Management determine the value of Level 2 Investments through placing reliance 
on the expertise of the various fund managers. As such we have sought 
confirmations of year end valuations from all main mandate managers and also 
tested a sample of unit values used to value level 2 investments to externally quoted 
information sources, or where not quoted, to unit values provided by the investment 
manager’s own independent custodian. We have found no issues with this testing 
and are satisfied that the estimate is appropriately disclosed in the accounts.



Assessment
 We disagree with the estimation process or judgements that underpin the estimate and consider the estimate to be potentially materially misstated
 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider optimistic
 We consider the estimate is unlikely to be materially misstated however management’s estimation process contains assumptions we consider cautious  
 We consider management’s process and key assumptions to be reasonable

P
age 360



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 7

Significant findings - other issues
Financial statements

Issue Commentary Auditor view

Potential impact of the McCloud 
judgement

The Court of Appeal has ruled that there was 
age discrimination in the judges and 
firefighters pension schemes where 
transitional protections were given to scheme 
members.

The Government applied to the Supreme 
Court for permission to appeal this ruling, but 
this permission to appeal was unsuccessful. 
The case will now be remitted back to 
employment tribunal for remedy. 

The legal ruling around age discrimination 
(McCloud - Court of Appeal) has implications 
not just for pension funds, but also for other 
public sector pension schemes where they 
have implemented transitional arrangements 
on changing benefits i.e. the 2012 underpin 
for the LGPS.

Discussion is ongoing in the sector regarding the potential 
impact of the ruling on the financial statements of Local 
Government bodies.

The Fund has requested a updated statement from the 
actuary which accounts for the impact of the McCloud ruling 
and this will be included in the updated final set of accounts. 

The updated actuary statement includes an amount of 
£78m for the estimated impact on increased liabilities due to 
the McCloud ruling.

Since the fund adopts Option C in relation to disclosing the actuarial 
present value of retirement benefits, this issue forms part of our 
assessment of the ‘Other Information’ issued alongside the accounts, as 
opposed to being covered by our audit opinion on the accounts.

The potential impact of the McCloud judgment has been reflected within 
the wording of the updated actuary’s statement and is such that a reader 
of the accounts will understand the position and not be mislead.  

The 2019 Triennial Valuation of the actuarial present value of promised 
retirement benefits is expected to include the impact of the McCloud 
judgment. This should be available following the conclusion of the 2019 
actuarial funding valuation and be available for the 2019/20 financial 
statements.

P
age 361



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 8

Other matters discussed with management - Going concern

Financial statements

Our responsibility
As auditors, we are required to “obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence about the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern assumption in the preparation and 
presentation of the financial statements and to conclude whether there is a material uncertainty about the entity's ability to continue as a going concern” (ISA (UK) 570). 

Going concern commentary

Management's assessment process

Officers have a reasonable expectation that the services 
provided by the Fund will continue for the foreseeable 
future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Auditor commentary 

• We are satisfied that management’s assessment that the going concern basis is appropriate for the 2018/19 
financial statements.

Work performed 

We have assessed the judgment made by management as 
well as the forecasted financial information which they have 
provided us which supports the assessment that the Fund 
will continue as a going concern for at least 12 months 
from the date of our audit opinion.

Auditor commentary

• The Net Assets of the Fund at 31/3/19 were £8.6bn.  This is approximately 25-30 times the annual benefit payments 
due.

• The Fund has £4.4bn of Level 1 assets.  These assets are liquid and can be accessed quickly for cashflow purposes 
if required.

• The Local Government Pension Scheme is a statutory scheme and there are no events or conditions that would 
indicate the winding up of the scheme.

• No issues have been identified from the work performed

Concluding comments Auditor commentary

We are satisfied that management’s assessment that the going concern basis is appropriate for the 2018/19 financial 
statements and that we have nothing to report on in relation to going concern.

P
age 362



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 9

Other communication requirements
Financial Statements

We set out below details of other matters which we, as auditors, are required by auditing standards and the Code to communicate to those charged with governance.

Issue Commentary

 Matters in relation to fraud  We have previously discussed the risk of fraud with the Pensions Committee.  We have not been made aware of any other incidents in 
the period and no other issues have been identified during the course of our audit procedures.

 Matters in relation to related 
parties

• We are not aware of any related parties or related party transactions which have not been disclosed.

 Matters in relation to laws and 
regulations

 You have not made us aware of any significant incidences of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations and we have not 
identified any incidences from our audit work. 

 Written representations  A letter of representation has been requested from the Pension Fund which is included in the Pensions Committee papers. We are in 
discussions with management over requesting specific representations over the M&G valuation due to the likelihood that we will not 
receive the ISAE 3402 controls report before we sign the opinion on the accounts.

 Confirmation requests from 
third parties 

 We requested direct confirmations from the custodian and all main mandate fund managers, plus a sample of managers for alternative 
investments for investment balances. For one of the Fund’s Investment Managers, State Street, it is noted that the gap assurance
letter only covers the period to 31/12/18 and not up to the MPF year end of 31/3/19. This is consistent with State Street’s policy of not 
providing gap assurance letters beyond 3 months. However, through our assurance procedures we are satisfied that we have 
appropriate assurance over the valuation of the investments in the accounts as at 31 March 2019.

 Disclosures  Our review found no material omissions in the financial statements.

 Audit evidence and 
explanations/significant 
difficulties

• All information and explanations requested from management was provided.

 Matters on which we report by 
exception

 We are required to give a separate opinion for the Pension Fund Annual Report on whether the financial statements included therein 
are consistent with the audited financial statements. We propose to issue our ‘consistency’ opinion on the Pension Funds Annual 
Report along with our opinion on the accounts. 

P
age 363



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 10

Independence and ethics  
We confirm that there are no significant facts or matters that impact on our independence as auditors that we are required or wish to draw to your attention. We have complied with the 
Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard and confirm that we, as a firm, and each covered person, are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial 
statements 

We confirm that we have implemented policies and procedures to meet the requirements of the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard and we as a firm, and each covered 
person, confirm that we are independent and are able to express an objective opinion on the financial statements.

Further, we have complied with the requirements of the National Audit Office’s Auditor Guidance Note 01 issued in December 2017 which sets out supplementary guidance on ethical 
requirements for auditors of local public bodies.

Details of fees charged are detailed are below.

Independence and ethics

Audit and Non-audit related services
For the purposes of our audit we have made enquiries of all Grant Thornton UK LLP teams providing services to the Pension Fund. The following non-audit services were identified:

Fees £ Threats identified Safeguards

Audit related

IAS19 procedures for 
other bodies admitted to 
the pension fund

£7,500 (£750 
per letter – 10 

letters 
produced to 

date)

Self-Interest (because 
this is a recurring fee)

The level of this recurring fee taken on its own is not considered a significant threat to independence as the fee  
for this work is relatively small in comparison to the total fee for the audit of £28,399 and in particular relative to 
Grant Thornton UK LLP’s turnover overall. Further, it is a fixed fee and there is no contingent element to it. 
These factors all mitigate the perceived self-interest threat to an acceptable level.

The Fund has accrued for a fee of £2,180 for IAS 19 work. The amount to be recharged is to be confirmed but 
we are satisfied that the amount disclosed in the accounts would only differ from that which would be recharged 
by an insignificant amount .

Non-audit related

None

These services are consistent with the Fund’s policy on the allotment of non-audit work to your auditors. None of the services provided are subject to contingent fees

Audit Fees Proposed fee Final fee

Pension Fund Audit £28,399 £30,399

Total audit fees (excluding VAT) £28,399 £30,399*

*The additional fee charged relates to extra procedures undertaken to gain assurance over the impact on the accounts in relation to the McCloud Judgment

P
age 364



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 11

Audit Adjustments

We are required to report all non trivial misstatements to those charged with governance, whether or not the accounts have been adjusted by management. 

Impact of adjusted misstatements
All adjusted misstatements are set out in detail below along with the impact on the key statements and the reported net expenditure for the year ending 31 March 2019.  

Detail Pension Fund Account £‘000 Net Asset Statement £’ 000
Impact on total net assets 
£’000

1 None identified.

Overall impact

Disclosure omission Detail Adjusted?

Fair Value Classification of Bond 
incorrect

Per note 14a of the accounts £665m of UK Public Sector Quoted Bonds have been incorrectly classified as 
Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. This investment has fully observable inputs and so should be recorded as 
Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy.



Misclassification and disclosure changes
The table below provides details of misclassification and disclosure changes identified during the audit which have been made in the final set of financial statements. 

Appendix A

P
age 365



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 12

Audit Adjustments

Impact of unadjusted misstatements
The table below provides details of adjustments identified during the 2018/19 audit which have not been made within the final set of financial statements. The Wirral Council Audit & Risk 
Management Committee is required to approve management's proposed treatment of all items recorded within the table below:  

Detail
Pension Fund Account 
£‘000

Net Asset Statement £’ 
000

Impact on total net 
assets £’000

Reason for not 
adjusting

1 None identified.

Overall impact

Impact of prior year unadjusted misstatements
The table below provides details of adjustments identified during the prior year audit which had not been made within the final set of 2017/18 financial statements. 

Detail
Pension Fund Account 
£‘000

Net Asset Statement £’ 
000

Impact on total net 
assets £’000

Reason for not 
adjusting

None 

Appendix A

P
age 366



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 13

Audit opinion 

We anticipate we will provide the Pension Fund with an unmodified audit report 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Wirral 
Council on the pension fund financial statements of 
Merseyside Pension Fund

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Merseyside Pension Fund (the ‘pension fund’) 
administered by Wirral Council (the ‘Authority’) for the year ended 31 March 2019 which 
comprise the Fund Account, the Net Assets Statement and Notes to the Merseyside Pension 
Fund Accounts, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and the CIPFA/LASAAC 
code of practice on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19.

In our opinion, the financial statements:

 give a true and fair view of the financial transactions of the pension fund during the year 
ended 31 March 2019 and of the amount and disposition at that date of the fund’s 
assets and liabilities, other than liabilities to pay promised retirement benefits after the 
end of the fund year;

 have been prepared properly in accordance with the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice 
on local authority accounting in the United Kingdom 2018/19; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs 
(UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We 
are independent of the Authority in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the pension fund’s financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) 
require us to report to you where:

 the Director of Finance and Investment (S151)’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the pension fund’s financial statements is not 
appropriate; or

 the Director of Finance and Investment (S151) has not disclosed in the pension fund’s 
financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt 
about the Authority’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting 
for the pension fund for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the 
pension fund’s financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information

The Director of Finance and Investment (S151) is responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in the Authority’s Statement of Accounts 
2018/19, other than the pension fund’s financial statements, our auditor’s report thereon and 
our auditor’s report on the Authority’s financial statements. Our opinion on the pension fund’s 
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the pension fund’s financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the pension fund’s financial statements or our knowledge of the pension fund 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the pension fund’s financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Appendix B

P
age 367



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 14

Opinion on other matter required by the Code of Audit Practice published by the National 
Audit Office on behalf of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the Code of Audit 
Practice)

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit of the pension fund’s 
financial statements and our knowledge of the pension fund the other information published 
together with the pension fund’s financial statements in the Authority’s Statement of Accounts 
2018/19, for the financial year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with 
the pension fund’s financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if:

 we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

 we make a written recommendation to the Authority under section 24 of the Local Audit 
and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or

 we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary 
to law under Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 in the course of, 
or at the conclusion of the audit; or; 

 we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 
2014 in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit; or 

 we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014, in the course of, or at the conclusion of the audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matters.

Responsibilities of the Authority, the Director of Finance and Investment (S151) and 
Those Charged with Governance for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities for the Statement of Accounts, the 
Authority is required to make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs 
and to secure that one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs.  
In this Authority, that officer is the Director of Finance and Investment (S151). The Director of 
Finance and Investment (S151) is responsible for the preparation of the Statement of 
Accounts, which includes the pension fund’s financial statements, in accordance with proper 
practices as set out in the CIPFA/LASAAC code of practice on local authority accounting in the 
United Kingdom 2018/19, for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the Director of Finance and Investment (S151) determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the pension fund’s financial statements, the Director of Finance and Investment 
(S151) is responsible for assessing the pension fund’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless there is an intention by government that the services provided by the 
pension fund will no longer be provided. 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is Those Charged with Governance. Those 
charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Authority’s financial reporting 
process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the pension fund’s financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on 
the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 
5 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and as set out in paragraph 43 of the 
Statement of Responsibilities of Auditors and Audited Bodies published by Public Sector Audit 
Appointments Limited. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the 
Authority’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the Authority's members as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

[Signature]

Grant Patterson, Key Audit Partner
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor

Birmingham

 [Date]

Appendix B

Audit opinion 

P
age 368



© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP  |  Audit Findings Report for Merseyside Pension Fund  |  2018/19 

© 2019 Grant Thornton UK LLP. All rights reserved.

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member 
firms, as the context requires.

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a 
separate legal entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. 

grantthornton.co.uk

P
age 369



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 6

EXTRACT

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 16 JULY 2019 MINUTE 18

STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS/LETTER OF REPRESENTATION

Members gave consideration to a report of the Director of Finance & Investment (S151) that 
presented Members with the audited statement of accounts of Merseyside Pension Fund for 
2018/19 and responded to the Audit Findings Report from Grant Thornton.

Donna Smith, Head of Finance & Risk, informed the Committee that subject to outstanding 
work, Grant Thornton had indicated there would be an unqualified opinion and there were no 
adjustments affecting the Fund’s reported financial position for the year ended 31 March 2019 
of net assets of £8.9bn and no recommendations.

It was reported that the one misclassification identified by Grant Thornton within the fair value 
hierarchy disclosure note had been agreed and amended.

During the audit period the Fund had obtained a revised actuarial statement on the value of 
retirement benefits that reflected the McCloud position.

A Letter of Representation had been prepared on behalf of the Committee that gave 
assurances to the Auditor on various aspects relating to the Pension Fund and was included 
as an appendix to the report.

Resolved – That;

1 having considered the amendments to the accounts, the Audit Findings Report and 
the Letter of Representation the audited Statement of Accounts for 2018/19 be 
approved.

2 the recommendations be referred to the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

Page 371



This page is intentionally left blank



Business Management
Shaer Halewood
Director of Finance and Investment
PO Box 290,
Brighton Street,
Wallasey,
Wirral,
CH27 9FQ. 

to Grant Thornton UK LLP
Liver Buildings
Liverpool
L3 1PS

dat
e

23 September 2019

my ref

Dear Sirs

Merseyside Pension Fund
Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2019
This representation letter is provided in connection with the audit of the financial statements of 
Merseyside Pension Fund (‘the Fund) for the year ended 31 March 2019 for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion as to whether the Fund financial statements are presented fairly, other 
than liabilities to pay pensions and benefits after the end of the Fund year, in all material 
respects in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2018/19 and applicable law. 

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief having made such inquiries as we 
considered necessary for the purpose of appropriately informing ourselves:

Financial Statements
i. We have fulfilled our responsibilities for the preparation of the Fund’s financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 
2018/19 ("the Code"); in particular the financial statements are fairly presented in 
accordance therewith.

ii. We have complied with the requirements of all statutory directions affecting the Fund 
and these matters have been appropriately reflected and disclosed in the financial 
statements.

iii. The Fund has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance. There has 
been no non-compliance with requirements of any regulatory authorities that could 
have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance.

iv. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of 
internal control to prevent and detect fraud.

v. We acknowledge our responsibilities for making the accounting estimates included in 
the financial statements.  Significant assumptions used by us in making accounting 
estimates, including those measured at fair value, are reasonable. Where it was 
necessary to choose between estimation techniques that comply with the Code, we 
selected the estimation technique considered to be the most appropriate to the Fund's 
particular circumstances for the purpose of giving a true and fair view.  Those estimates 
reflect our judgement based on our knowledge and experience about past and current 
events and are also based on our assumptions about conditions we expect to exist and 
courses of action we expect to take.

APPENDIX 7

Page 373



vi. We are satisfied that the material judgements used in the preparation of the financial 
statements are soundly based, in accordance with the Code and adequately disclosed 
in the financial statements. There are no other material judgements that need to be 
disclosed.

vii. Except as disclosed in the financial statements:
a. there are no unrecorded liabilities, actual or contingent
b. none of the assets of the Council has been assigned, pledged or mortgaged
c. there are no material prior year charges or credits, nor exceptional or non-

recurring items requiring separate disclosure.
viii. Related party relationships and transactions have been appropriately accounted for 

and disclosed in accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the Code.

ix. All events subsequent to the date of the financial statements and for which International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the Code require adjustment or disclosure have 
been adjusted or disclosed.

x. We have considered the adjusted misstatements, and misclassification and disclosures 
changes schedules included in your Audit Findings Report. The financial statements 
have been amended for these misstatements, misclassifications and disclosure 
changes and are free of material misstatements, including omissions.

xi. The financial statements are free of material misstatements, including omissions.
xii. Actual or possible litigation and claims have been accounted for and disclosed in 

accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards.
xiii. We have no plans or intentions that may materially alter the carrying value or 

classification of assets and liabilities reflected in the financial statements.
xiv. We believe that the Fund’s financial statements should be prepared on a going concern 

basis on the grounds that current and future sources of funding or support will be more 
than adequate for the Fund’s needs. We believe that no further disclosures relating to 
the Fund's ability to continue as a going concern need to be made in the financial 
statements.

Information Provided
xv. We have provided you with:

a. access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the 
preparation of the Fund financial statements such as records, documentation 
and other matters;

b. additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of your 
audit; and

c. unrestricted access to persons within the Fund from whom you determined it 
necessary to obtain audit evidence.

xvi. We have communicated to you all deficiencies in internal control of which management 
is aware.

xvii. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the 
financial statements.

xviii. We have disclosed to you the results of our assessment of the risk that the financial 
statements may be materially misstated as a result of fraud.

xix. We have disclosed to you all information in relation to fraud or suspected fraud that we 
are aware of and that affects the Fund and involves:

a. management;

Page 374



b. employees who have significant roles in internal control; or
c. others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial statements.

xx. We have disclosed to you all information in relation to allegations of fraud, or suspected 
fraud, affecting the financial statements communicated by employees, former 
employees, analysts, regulators or others.

xxi. We have disclosed to you all known instances of non-compliance or suspected non-
compliance with laws and regulations whose effects should be considered when 
preparing financial statements.

xxii. There have been no communications with The Pensions Regulator or other regulatory 
bodies during the year or subsequently concerning matters of non-compliance with any 
legal duty. 

xxiii.  We are not aware of any reports having been made to The Pensions Regulator by any 
of our advisors. 

xxiv. We have disclosed to you the identity of the Fund's related parties and all the related 
party relationships and transactions of which we are aware.

xxv. We have disclosed to you all known actual or possible litigation and claims whose 
effects should be considered when preparing the financial statements.

xxvi. At this point, we have not received the M&G ISAE 3402 Type II service auditor controls 
report, however based on our governance arrangements during the year we do not 
have any concerns that the valuation of the related investments are materially 
misstated.

Approval
The approval of this letter of representation was minuted by the Pensions Committee at its 
meeting on 16 July 2019 and by the Audit and Risk Management Committee at its meeting 
on the 23 September 2019.

Yours faithfully

Name Shaer Halewood ……………………………

Position Director of Finance & Investment (S151).

Date 23 September 2019.

Name……………………………

Position Chair of Audit & Risk Committee .

Date 23 September 2019.

Signed on behalf of Wirral Council as administering body of Merseyside Pension Fund.

Page 375



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 8 
Chronological post publication changes to the Wirral Council Statement of Accounts 2018/19

Section Note Reason
- Reportwhilst' typo amended to … 'Report, whilst emphasising 2018/19..' - and sentence made into a new paragraph
- and' removed from 2nd para, first sentences, to state - 'Wirral Growth Company, working in partnership with..'
- Space removed from before 'The Council' in the 3rd para
- Capital removed to show outcomes not Outcomes below the Strategy and Partnerships heading
- Public Health added to the final sentence of the Strategy & Partnerships section
- Business Mgt section:  Transformation, Transaction Centre, Law and Assets removed following changes that happened in May 2018.  Customer Services 

added.
- Delivery Services section:  Assets added
- Transformation of Children's social care para:  'the use of the flexible use of' amended to 'flexible use of'
- £000 changed to £'000
- Typo amended - Childrens corrected to Children's
- 18/19 PPE value changed in the graphic to £686.7m from £684.7m to align with Balance sheet
- 18/19 Long term investments in the graphic rounded up to £1.6m from £1.5m to agree to Balance sheet
- 18/19 Net liability position in the graphic changed from £74.4m to £74.6m to agree to the Balance sheet
- Net liability position corrected from £74.10m to £74.6m to align to balance sheet
- 17/18 Investments comparative changed from £27.8m to £27.7m to align to the balance sheet
- 18/19 LT investments changed from £1.6m to £1.5m to align to the balance sheet
- 18/19 creditors changed from £54.3m to £57.1m
- Format of text aligned with remainder of the document
- Decrease of £78.1m amended to £65.4m
- Typo on 17/18 unuseable reserves amended to show £130m not £30m to agree to the balance sheet
- Business rates equalisation amended to £8.7m from £8.9m in 18/19.
- Insurance fund amended to £8.6m and £7.6m (from £8.5m and £7.5m) in 18/19 and 17/18 respectively.
- Line space added below net assets, adjusting the presentation of the remainder of the page
- Lean amended to lean
- First para:  'financial business partnering' no longer with capitals and Transformation changed to 'transforming services'.  'developed' also changed to 

'improved'.
- Reference to the SOA being produced have been removed as BAU.  Remaining text has been respaced as a result
- Typo amended - Government changed to Governance

Balance sheet - Shading removed from sub-total lines
Cash flow statement - Rounding correction - resulting in £52.224m rather than £52.225m for the net surplus/deficit on non cash movements to align with note 26.  Removal of 

reference to note 25 on the net cash flows from operating activities line.
Notes pages - Page footers amended throughout to remove double dots from 'Wirral Council Statement of Accounts ∙ ∙ Notes to the Core Financial Statements'

1 Typo amended - 12month changed to 12 month
1 Typo amended - Space removed in front of Impairment in second para of Expected credit loss section.
1 Typo amended - Space removed from infront of 'Fair value gains..' and 'Where Fair Value..' in the Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value through Profit of 

Loss  section
1 Typo amended - Iniative corrected to Initiative
1 Text box size increased to avoid 'fair value' being stranded at the top of the second column
1 Text moved from page 59 to page 58 to avoid an incomplete sentence on page 58:  'recognised where capital spending does not result in a corresponding 

increase in the carrying value of an asset'.

Accounting policies

Narrative report

P
age 377



Section Note Reason
Material items of income/expense 5 Cross-referenced to Note 21, with the comment - 'There were no significant items of income and expenditure in 2018/19 other than the sale of the Acre 

Lane Professional Excellence Centre, Eastham.  (See note 21)'.
8 Wording changed to show that £17.785m is the net MRP change in the year:  'The amount of £17.785m is made up of the annual provision for MRP of 

£8.58m, offset by a £26.36m adjustment resulting from the change in the CFR'.  
8 Line spacing made consistent throughout table
8 Line spacing made consistent throughout table

Expenditure and Funding Analysis 9 Headings for each year changed to Arial 12
10 School Harmonisation changed to Schools Harmonisation for consistency with description
10 Schools Capital Programme changed to Schools Capital Schemes in the table to align to the narrative
10 HR Reserve expanded to Human Resources Reserve
10 Typo amended - Reachour changed to Reachout in Wirral Ways to Work/Reachout Project Underspend.  Also aligned in narrative heading and the word 

Underspend has been removed from the title in the table for consistency.
10 GDPR changed to full name and abbreviation added to narrative on page 75
10 Other Reserve changed to Other Reserves - to align to the narrative
10 Schools balances:   'of: -' changed to 'of:'
10 Wording changed to remove the words 'ongoing issue':  'The reserve is held to meet a potential claw-back of subsidy relating to the previous Housing 

Benefit Supporting People arrangement'.  
10 Transformation Fund:  'has been set up to fund' amended to 'is to fund'
10 Parks Tree Maintenance: Removal of 'one-off' and wording simplified to:  'This reserve is to fund an extended Borough wide programme of tree 

maintenance works.' 
10 One Stop Shop / Libraries IT Network changed to One Stop Shop / Libraries IT Networks for consistency with the table on page 72
10 Insurance fund - 'primarily' removed from first sentence
10 H&S Flood Prevention - for the LA's changed to 'for Local Authorities’ 
10 Commercial Management - in 2020/21 added to final sentence
10 One Stop Shop:  Removal of 'During 2017/18 £1 million of this reserve was released to General Fund Balances, as there were no future commitments 

against it' as this relates to last year.
10 GDPR:  Wording simplified to remove 17/18 explanations:  'This reserve is to cover additional costs associated with new General Data Protection Regulation 

which came into force in May 2018'.  
10 Wirral Ways to Work:  Wording removed due to zero balance on reserve remaining: 'that is anticipated to operate until June 2020'
10 Europa Centre:  Typo amended:  Tops changed to Top Ups 
10 Stay, Work, Learn Wise:  'has been provided' changed to 'was provided' as zero balance now
10 Narratives on each reserve re-ordered to align with how they appear in the tables on pages 71 & 72

Other Operating Expenditure 11 Narrative amended to simplify: 'Included within gains and losses on the disposal of non current assets in 2018/19 are two primary schools which became
part of the Co-op Academy Trust, with a further primary school transferring to Concordia Academy Trust. The net loss on transfer was £8.7 million. In
2017/18 four primary schools became academies, in addition to the transfer of one secondary school to its governors. This generated a loss on transfer of
£23.5 million.

Financing and Investment Income 12 Note references to Note 26 added
Taxation and Non specific grant income 13 Note references updated (pending query on how these link to note 36)

14 In 2017/18 four primary schools became academies, in addition to the transfer of one secondary school to its governors. This generated a loss on transfer
of £23.5 million.

14 Font changed to Arial Unbold on Class of Asset table and Carrying Value table reduced in size
16 Table size reduced
16 Blank columns removed from table (ie Level 1 and 3 columns)
18 Short Term heading made bold and OCI expanded
18 EIR changed to Effective Interest Rate Adjustments
18 CCLA Property Fund expanded to:  Churches, Charities and Local Authorities (CCLA) Property Fund
18c Table contents all right aligned for consistency and blank FV through OCI column hidden.  (OCI also expanded rather than abbreviation)
18d Comments removed from table to remove 'triangles' and footnote amended to 'to approximate to..'

Debtors 19 Debtors revised into new classifications

Earmarked General Fund Reserves

PPE

Investment Properties

Financial instruments note

Accounting Basis and Funding Basis 
adjustments

P
age 378



Section Note Reason
21 Narrative added to explain the major disposal in year: 'The reduction in Assets Held for Sale during 2018/19 reflects the sale of the Acre Lane Professional 

Excellence Centre, Eastham.  This site has been sold for housing development as part of the Wirral Plan'.  Also cross-referenced from Note 5.

21 Blank columns hidden and Non Current columns relabelled as Current.
Creditors 22 Creditors revised into new classifications

23 Page 100 removed as bad debt provision is offset against debtors.
23 Missing Long term provision lines of the table for the Insurance Fund now imported from the toolkit, with final column made bold
23 Severance pay:  17/18 amended to 18/19.  Insurance Fund:  'primarily' removed from first line

Useable Reserves 24 'unexpected' now added to comment on General Fund
25 18/19 column made bold
25 To explain the £17.8m adjustment the following narrative has been included:  'The Statutory Provision for the financing of Capital Investment charged 

against the General Fund reflects the outcome of an independent review to advise the Council on how to profile its Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) for 
the repayment of its underlying debt liability.  The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) was restated for 31 March 2004, which indicated that deferred 
charges and long term debtors had been excluded from the original calculation.  The amount of £17.785m is made up of the annual provision for MRP of 
£8.58m, offset by a £26.36m adjustment resulting from the change in the CFR.  (See Notes 8 and 10).'

Expenditure and Income analysed by 
Nature

29 authority amended to Authority and table re-sized

Trading Account 30 Narrative changed from 'their' budget to 'the' budget
Pooled budgets 31 Typo amended - Extra space removed from 'Cost  of' in both tables, fonts aligned to Arial 12 and Surplus/(Deficit) added to total lines. 
Members allowances 32 £'000 added to narrative, referencing table
Officers' Remuneration 33 Line spacing in table aligned
External audit costs 34 Table text left aligned and lines re-sized
Dedicated Schools Grant 35 Bold removed from value on first line of table and headings amended from £000 to £'000
Grant Income 36 Verdana font amended to Arial size 12 on Civilised Streets and Land Drainage lines of table.  Tables also re-sized
Related party transactions note 37 Typo amended - Edsentials' corrected to Edsential's
Capital Expenditure & Capital Financing 38 Reference to Note 10 added for MRP reprofiling line
Leases 39 First table reformatted, with remaining term column right aligned and font changed to Arial 12

40 Expenditure line hidden - as zero - and lines re-sized to standardise spacing
40 Table spacing resized to standardise spacing.  Payments heading made bold and Unitary payments table re-sized to match the Payments table and fonts 

amended to Arial throughout
Other Long Term Liabilities 42 Typo amended to show 2nd part of the table is for 18/19.  Advances line also hidden as zero in both years.

44 Table amended to remove zero values against headings and to align line spacing.  'Other' line removed due to zero values.  Reversal of net charges line 
description expanded to show full text.

44 Heading colour changed to black from red
44 Font amended to Arial 12 throughout table
44 Line spacing gap between Men and Women reduced in table
47 17/18 comparatives added to credit rating table, with 2019 added as the year on the 18/19 total column.  Maturity of Investments heading centred across 

columns and credit rating note below table aligned with the table above.#
47 Subtotal line unshaded.  Market risk notes text changed to blocked format and aligned with table above
47 Inconsistent formula flag removed.  FVLP and FVOCI expanded

Glossary - Typo amended - Usupported changed to Unsupported
Front cover - Date amended from 31 May to 31 July
Contents page - New page added for Notes index

Unusable Reserves

PFI

Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

Risks re Financial instruments

Assets held for sale

Provisions note

P
age 379



Section Note Reason
- Spacing of text amended to fit better on the page.
- Bullets added to improve spacing on page.
- Replacement of: 'Following the Ofsted announced in September 2016 of an inadequate rating for Children’s Services progress has continued to take place

during the year on implementing the improvement plan. Improvements are taking place and will continue through the coming year with approaches such
as early intervention being key to the future shape of Children’s Services' with: 'Children's services has recently been re-inspected by Ofsted. The outcome
has been positive and the service is no longer judged to be inadequate'.  

- Wording added to reference Academy conversions: 'During 2018/19, the following schools converted to Academies: Town Lane Infants, Portland Primary,
Woodslee Primary, St Joseph's (Birkenhead) Catholic Primary, Christchurch CE Primary (Moreton) and Church Drive Primary'.

- Council Tax charge increasing to £1,733.7 - amended to £1,733.70.
- Pension liability increased by £16.7m.  Note amended to reflect McCloud: 'The 2018/19 Pension Liability is £539.4 million (2017/18 £457.3 million).  This 

includes additional pension costs of £16.7m in 2018/19, reflecting the expected  implications of a recent court ruling on age discrimination (see note 3)'.  
Narrative updated to show net liability increasing from £74.6m to £91.3m due to the £16.7m pension adjustment.  Councils changed to Council's.  Graphic 
updated with latest balance sheet information and descriptions made clearer on what's included in each total.

- investments' added after short term.
- decrease' amended to 'increase' in the Pensions liability.  Wording changed from:  'This change has primarily resulted from an improvement in financial 

assumptions related to a return on assets and a reduction in inflation factors and the discount rate' to: 'This change has primarily resulted from a change in 
actuarial assumptions on the Consumer Price Index (CPI) and pay inflation'.

- Pension liability increased from £522.7m to £539.4m - due to £16.7m McCloud adjustment - with the increase in pension liability increased from £65.4m to 
£82.1m.  Narrative amended to:  'This change has primarily resulted from a change in actuarial assumptions on the Consumer Price Index (CPI) and pay 
inflation, but also includes £16.7m in relation to the recent court ruling on age discrimination (see note 3).   Space inserted between 1st and 2nd paras.

- Debt reprofiling reserve removed from list following reversal of MRP adjustments
- Governments changed to Government's
- Note amended to make reference to the new Merseyside Pension Fund accounts section of the report - as requested by audit: Further information can be

found within the Merseyside Pension Fund section of the Statement of Accounts, and also in the Merseyside Pension Fund Report and Accounts 2018/19.
Paragraph format changed to block text.
Note amended to separate MPF from the Collection Fund:  Additional Financial Statements are included for –
The Collection Fund (and notes), which covers Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates collected and the amounts paid to precepting authorities and to
Government. The Merseyside Pension Fund Accounts, covering the financial position of the Merseyside Pension Fund, administered by Wirral Council, are
also included in Section 5.
Replacement of: 'Aligned to this the Council will in 2020 assume full responsibility for the raising and collection of income generated locally and used to 
fund the services accessed by Wirral residents.' with: 'As part of a current pilot scheme, the Council has full responsibility for the raising and collection of 
income generated locally and used to fund the services accessed by Wirral residents.  Going forward the expectation is that this will continue'. 

Statement of Responsibilities Date amended from 31 May to 31 July
AGS - Front sheet added to align with published AGS statement
Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 
Statement

- Pensions adjustment totalling £16.7m (£11.1m in cost of service, £5.6m in remeasurement of net defined benefit liability and £59k in financing and
investment income (re building cleaning contracts share of £16.7m) and available for sale reserve adjustment (£3k). Footnote added to point to new note
49 on 17/18 restatement: * Expenditure and income by cost of service in 2017/18 has been restated to align with the Directorate structure applied in
2018/19.  See note 49 for further details

Movement in Reserves Statement - Adjustments for MRP reversal, pensions adjustment and available for sale reserve.  New column added for Total General Fund balance
Balance sheet - Other long term liabilities increased by £16.7m, Useable reserves reduced by £26m and Unuseable reserves increased by £9.3m (net impact of £26m MRP 

reversal and increase in pensions liability of £16.7m)
Cash flow statement - Movement of £11.1m between net surplus/deficit on provision of services and non-cash movements re pension adjustment flowing through cost of services.  

Rounding diff of £1k to Balance sheet now amended

Narrative Report

P
age 380



Section Note Reason
1 Bracket added to IFRS 15 reference - before Financial Instruments
1 Changes to Accounting Policies

There are no new accounting policies adopted in 2018/19. The existing accounting policies have been updated to reflect the changes required by the Code 
the most significant being the adoption of two new accounting standards IFRS 9 (Financial Instruments) and IFRS 15 (Revenue from Contracts with 
Customers).  

1 Additional wording added to explain the implications of IFRS 9 and 15 - resulting in an additional page: IFRS 9 replaced IAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. It made changes to previous guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and introduced an
‘expected credit loss’ model for impairment of financial assets. The Authority’s trade receivables and investments in financial assets classed as held to
maturity (unless classed as fair value through profit and loss) have been assessed for impairment by applying the expected credit loss model. The
reclassification changes have not had a material impact upon the financial statements because the majority of the financial assets have retained the same
measurement bases. With respect to trade receivables, the Authority already makes a provision for doubtful debts on its service assets. IFRS 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers. This standard introduced new methodology for determining when income from providing goods and services is to be
recognised in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and replaced IAS 18 Revenue and IAS 11 Construction Contracts. The standard
introduced the concept of contracting assets and liabilities to account for timing differences between the obligation to deliver goods or services with the
unconditional right to receive payment by way of a five step model framework for revenue recognition. As the Authority has relatively predictable income
streams the impact has been minimal. 

1 Useable receipts now shown with a capital.
1 Note added to refer to collection fund impairment:  Although Council Tax and Non Domestic Rates within the Collection Fund accounts are statutory debts 

rather than financial instruments, the assessment of impairment allowance for doubtful debts takes into account the same type of information. In the current 
economic climate there is some uncertainty regarding future collection rates.
Reference to note 48 now added (in addition to Note 37):  In order to ensure compliance with the Code further details are covered in Note 37 Related Party 
Transactions and Note 48 Involvement with Companies.

1 Accounting policy on Assets Held for Sale removed:  The Council classifies assets as assets held for sale if the carrying amount is to be recovered through 
a sale rather than through continued use. The criteria for such a classification also include the asset being available for immediate sale in its present 
condition, the sale must be highly probable, there must be a management plan to sell the asset and it is being actively marketed.  The sale also has to be 
expected to be completed within one year from the date of classification, although there are exceptions.  Assets classified as held for sale are valued at the 
lower of carrying value, immediately prior to classification, and fair value less costs to sell, where known. If assets no longer meet the criteria to be classified 
as held for sale, they are reclassified as non-current assets, usually as Property, Plant and Equipment. The value of an asset treated in this way is the 
lower of:  The carrying amount before it was classified as held for sale: adjusted for depreciation, amortisation or revaluations that would have been 
recognised had it not been classified as held for sale, or its recoverable amount at the date of the decision not to sell was reached.

1 Additional information added on PFI:  The Wirral Schools’ PFI Scheme Project Agreement was originally signed in March 2001 and involved the rebuilding 
and/or refurbishment of one primary and eight secondary schools in Wirral.  A Deed of Amendment was entered into on 9 September 2004 to extend the 
contract until July 2031.  The first phase of the Project (Construction Works) was completed on the final schools in August 2006 and the Council now 
receive support services in accordance with a detailed set of Output Specifications.  These include building and services maintenance, grounds 
maintenance, catering, cleaning, caretaking, security, utilities and telecommunications. Bullet points also added to existing note.

1 Change from:  Land and buildings, vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment are included at fair value' to:  Land and buildings are included at current value. 
Specialist properties were valued using the Depreciated Replacement Cost method. Operational properties, where business is assumed to continue, were 
valued using the Existing Use Value method.

1 Change from: Infrastructure assets and community assets are included in the Balance Sheet at historic cost net of depreciation, where appropriate; to:  
Infrastructure assets, community assets, vehicles, plant, furniture and equipment are included in the Balance Sheet at historic cost net of depreciation, 
where appropriate.

1 Colon replaced with a full stop at the end of the sentence:  Assets under construction are held at cost.
1 Sentence amended to remove bad debt reference and include severance pay:  The principal provisions relate to bad debts, rates appeals, severance pay 

and insurance claims.  Sentence removed:  The bad debt provision is deducted from debtors in the Balance Sheet, rather than being shown in provisions. 
As part of compliance with International Financial Reporting Standard 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosure”, amounts shown as due from debtors are 
individually or collectively (for debts that are not significant) reviewed for impairment annually and the level of the bad debt provision is adjusted 
accordingly. Debts due to the Council that become uncollectable are charged to the provision when the debt is approved for write-off. Debts which are 
found to have been raised in error, rather than being uncollectable, are charged back directly to services that raised the initial charges.

Accounting Policies 

P
age 381



Section Note Reason
Critical Judgements in applying 
accounting policies

3 Narrative removed:  The Council has made judgements about the likelihood of pending liabilities and whether a provision is required or a contingent liability 
noted.  A provision will be made where a future event is uncertain but there is a legal or constructive obligation.  For the 3 year period 2017/18 – 2019/20 
the Council has agreed with the Merseyside Pension Fund that the pension deficit contribution payable to the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
can be paid as a single up-front payment. In 2017/18 the Council paid £35.068 million. Agreed as part of the Triennial review of the fund this arrangement 
has made a budget saving. In line with the Council’s accounting policies and relevant regulations the amount relating to 2018/19 (£11million) has been 
accounted for in year, the amounts relating to 2018/19 (£11.683million) and 2019/20 (£11.211 million) has been offset against the pension liability in the 
balance sheet. The pension reserve will be brought into line with the pension liability in 2019/20 as the up-front payment arrangements are accounted for. 
For further details see note 44 Defined Benefit Pension Schemes.  Investment properties have been assessed using the identifiable criteria under the 
international accounting standards and are being held for rental income or for capital appreciation. Properties have been assessed using this criteria, which 
is subject to interpretation to determine if there is an operational reason for holding the property such as regeneration.

Material items of income and expense 5 Note amended to include reference to McCloud:  Significant items of income and expenditure in 2018/19 include: An additional increase in pension liabilities 
of £16.7m, reflecting the outcome of a recent court ruling.  (See Note 3).  The sale of the Acre Lane Professional Excellence Centre, Eastham.  (See Note 
21).  An additional increase in pension costs of £16.7m, reflecting the outcome of a recent court ruling.  (See Note 3).

Events after the balance sheet date 7 Date amended from 31 May to 31 July
Adjustments between Accounting Basis 
and Funding Basis under Regulations

8 Revised 18/19 table, reflecting pensions adjustment and MRP reversal & removal of:  * An independent review has been undertaken to advise the Council 
on how to profile its Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) for the repayment of its underlying debt liability.  The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) was 
restated for 31 March 2004, which indicated that deferred charges and long term debtors had been excluded from the original calculation.  The amount of 
£17.785m is made up of the annual provision for MRP of £8.58m, offset by a £26.36m adjustment resulting from the change in the CFR.  (See Note 10)

Expenditure & Funding Analysis 9 Updated for MRP reversal and pensions adjustment and £3k available for sale reserve adj.  Rounding of £1k corrected in 17/18 total
10 Removal of Debt reprofiling reserve following MRP reversal and removal of the footnote:  * An independent review has been undertaken to advise the 

Council on how to profile its Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) for the repayment of its underlying debt liability.  The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 
was restated for 31 March 2004, which indicated that deferred charges and long term debtors had been excluded from the original calculation.  This has 
resulted in reassessment of the past provision for MRP of £26.36m, which, offset by the 2018/19 drawdown of £0.379 million, has resulted in a net 
movement on the Debt Reprofiling Reserve of £25.98m.  (See Note 8) Overall movement in the reserves narrative amended from £30.7 million to £4.7m 
(made up of £31.3m million additions to reserve and £26.6 million contributions from reserve).

10 Removal of: Debt Reprofiling.  The Council takes a prudential approach the management of the repayment of long-term borrowing debt. The aim is to 
minimise the financial commitment to the revenue budget, over the long term, of the cost of meeting the capital financing requirement of the capital 
programme. This reserve has been created in 2018/19 following a debt payment review that examined past capital financing requirements and reprofiled 
the requirements for the funding of the consequences of this past borrowing. Consequently, this reserve holds the funding that has resulted  from the 
assessment and the re-profiling debt payments over the long term.  These annual revenue payments will be funded  from an annual release of a specific 
amount from this reserve. 10 'and PMO Development' removed.

10 Rounding amended to align with MIRS and Note 25
Other Operating Expenditure 11 Replacement of: '..two primary schools which became part of the Co-op Academy Trust, with a further primary school transferring to Concordia Academy

Trust' with: '.. two primary schools (Portland Primary and Woodslee Primary) which became part of the Co-op Academy Trust, with Town Lane Infants also
transferring to Concordia Academy Trust'.

12 Note reference added to Note 30 on gains and losses on trading accounts line
12 Gains and losses on trading accounts increased by £59k for building cleaning's share of the £16.7m pension increase

Heritage Assets 15 Re Environmental monitoring, wording changed to 'is' instead of 'will be'.  
16 Comparatives now added to the table on fair values
16 Statement amended from:  'There were no transfers between levels 1 and 2 throughout the year' to 'There were no transfers from Level 2 to Levels 1 or 3 

throughout the year'.
18 Net gain/(loss) line made bold in the table
18 Restatement to IFRS 9 table now included with narrative.
24 General fund balance reduced by £3k (available for sale reserve correction).  Earmarked reserves down by £25.98m due to reversal of MRP
24 Rounding of values to match to MIRS

Earmarked General Fund Reserves

Financing & Investment Income

Investment Properties

Financial instruments

Useable reserves

P
age 382



Section Note Reason
25 Capital adjustment reserve increase of £25.98m re MRP reversal and Pensions reserve increase of £16.7m.  Footnote added to table:  'Further information 

on each of the above reserves is included on the pages that follow as part of Note 25'. 
25 Financial Instruments Adjustment Account amended to Financial Instrument Reserves (to enable this to be explained in the narrative as 3 separate reserves
25 Note added to explain the pension prepayment and the difference to Note 42:  Due to an agreement to prepay a three year sum in relation to the historic 

pension deficit, starting in 17/18 (see note 44 for details) the Pensions Reserve total shown below does not match the Pensions Liability in note 42. This is 
because the liability was reduced by the whole sum of the prepayment in the first year and the reserve will be reduced as it is applied to the general fund.

25 Removal of MRP reference:  The Statutory Provision for the financing of Capital Investment charged against the General Fund reflects the outcome of an 
independent review to advise the Council on how to profile its Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) for the repayment of its underlying debt liability.  The 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) was restated for 31 March 2004, which indicated that deferred charges and long term debtors had been excluded 
from the original calculation.  The amount of £17.785m is made up of the annual provision for MRP of £8.58m, offset by a £26.36m adjustment resulting 
from the change in the CFR.  (See Notes 8 and 10).

25 Deferred capital receipts:  £0.598m increased to £0.599 million to align with main table.Note added to reference the McCloud case and refer back to Note 3: 
– including the impact of a recent court ruling on pensions as outlined in Note 3 

25 Accumulated absences note amended to £3.220 million to correct rounding of £1k.
25 Collection fund reserve note amended to:  At 31 March 2019, the account had a balance of £841 million Credit (2017/18 £1.588 million Debit), representing 

the Council’s share of the overall Collection Fund balance.  Financial instruments reserve note amended to show the 18/19 balance on the FI adj account 
as ££2.689m and 17/18 amended to nil on the FI revaluation reserve/pooled fund.

Cash flow statement 26 Cost of service pension adjustment of £11.1m in operating cash flows and £3k reduction in other non cash items (for available for sale reserves adjustment)
31 £59k increase in loss - due to share of pensions adj of £16.7m
31 Additional wording added to explain the funding increase:  The pooled budget is governed by Wirral Health & Care Commissioning (WHCC). The increase 

in funding provided to the Pooled Budget during 18/19 reflects additional services brought into the revenue pool - including complex care packages and 
mental health services.  'entered into' removed from 1st line of note.

33 Eric Robinson's name added to 18/19 table
33 £60k-£80k and £80k to £100k bands combined - as only one individual in each band.  (Agreed with S Halewood)
33 Renumeration typo in headings amended to Remuneration

External Audit Costs 34 £17k added for CFO insight costs
Grant income 36 Pupil premium increased to £13,056k from £10,788k
Capex & capital financing 38 MRP reprofiling removed - £26,360k - and MRP line reduced by £379k for the in year drawdown

40 Additional wording added:  Bebington High and South Wirral High have adopted Foundation status.  University Academy Birkenhead, Weatherhead High, 
Hilbre High, Wirral Grammar School, Kingsway Academy and Prenton High have adopted Academy status.  The assets relating to the Academies are no 
longer reflected in the Balance Sheet.

40 2 additional schools added into PFI note.
44 Note amended to say 'The Council participates in the following post-employment schemes:' rather than 2 schemes.Note added on the Unfunded Teachers 

Scheme - linking back to Note 43:  Unfunded Teachers’ Scheme.  The Council is responsible for the costs of any additional benefits awarded upon early 
retirement outside of the terms of the teachers’ scheme referred to in Note 43. These costs are accounted for on a defined benefit basis and the Council is 
not liable to the Scheme for any other entities' obligations under the plan.

44 Gain/(loss) on settlements increased by the cost of service pension adj of £11.1m.
Return on plan assets increased by £5.6m for the remainder of the £16.7m pension adjustment

44 LGP liability increased by £16.7m
44 Note added to explain the pension prepayment:  The liability below differs to the pension reserve in note 25. This is due to a prepayment agreement 

referred to in the Impact on the Authority’s Cashflows section of this note. This is because the liability was reduced by the whole sum of the prepayment in 
the first year and the reserve will be reduced as it is applied to the general fund.

44 Remeasurements reduced by £5.610k due to £16.7m pensions adjustment
44 Past service costs increased by £11093k - being remainder of £16.7m pension adj
44 LGPS assets reduced by £5.61m as part of £16.7m pension adj
44 Sensitivities updated for revised actuarial report

Unusable reserves

Pooled budgets

Officers Remuneration

PFI

Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

P
age 383



Section Note Reason
47 Bad debt provision reference changed to impairment and table values aligned with note 19.  Narrative changed from:  Trade receivables are also subject to 

non-payment, a bad debt provision is calculated for these based on the historic experience of levels of default. By including these provisions within the 
accounts the credit risk is recognised in the accounts'.  Changed to:  Trade receivables are also subject to non-payment and are reviewed for impairment.  
By adjusting for impairment the credit risk is recognised in the accounts.

47 Trade receivables table aligned with Debtors note, including reference to impairment
47 Maturity of borrowings table amended to include Over 10 but not over 20 line and shift cells down.  (Cells previously aligned with the heading).  Asterix also 

added to link to note below on LOBO loans.
47 LOBO loan footnote amended to link back to Note 18: * Included in the table above (on the Uncertain date line) are £102.1m (2018: £112.1m) of “Lender’s

option, borrower’s option” (LOBO) loans, valued at amortised cost (see Note 18), with a principal value of £107.5m (2018: £113.5m). These are loans
where the lender has the option to propose an increase in the rate payable; the Council will then have the option to accept the new rate or repay the loan
without penalty. Due to current low interest rates, in the unlikely event that the lender exercises its option, the Council is likely to repay these loans. The
maturity date is therefore uncertain.  The Effective Interest Rate on these loans ranges from 4.68% to 9.18%.  Note re-ordered to fit better on page.

Involvement with Companies 48 New note added to cover relationships with other entities:  Involvement with Companies.  The Council has relationships with a number of entities over which 
it has varying degrees of control and influence.  These are classified according to whether they are subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.  Evolutions 
Limited is an associate of the Council, with Edsential Limited and the Wirral Growth Company Limited Liability Partnership being classified as joint ventures.  
 An entity is an associate when the Council is an investor and has the power to exercise significant influence over the entity’s operating and financial 
policies. It is presumed that significant influence exists when the Council holds more than 20% (but less than 50%) of the voting rights of an entity. An 
entity is a joint venture when the Council has established a contractual arrangement with a third party to undertake an activity that is subject to joint control, 
where the strategic, financial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of all parties, and where the Council has rights 
to share the net assets of the arrangement. 

Restatement of 2017/18 cost of services 49 New note added to show how cost of services in the 17/18 accounts have been remapped in 18/19.
Pension accounts Presentational changes made as advised by Pensions team (Donna Smith)
Glossary Section number changed to 6

- Removal of duplicated wording:  'In managing borrowing levels the aims are to reduce..
- Amounts for Useable reserves changed to £87.4m from £113.4million at 31 March 2019 and Earmarked Reserves amended to £59.6m from £85.5 million - 

reflecting the MRP adjustment of £26m.
Statement of responsibilities - Wording amended to reflect the change in ARMC date:  The accounts remain subject to formal external audit and may be amended as part of that process. 

The Statement of Accounts are to be considered by the Audit and Risk Management Committee on 22 September and will be published following approval 
by the Committee.

Audit report - Wording updated to reflect the date changes on ARMC timings:  These statements are presented prior to the start of the audit of the accounts. The 
auditor’s report on the 2018/19 Statement of Accounts will be included in the final Statement of Accounts to be published following the Audit & Risk 
Management Committee meeting on 22 September 2019, once formally approved by the Committee. 

AGS - Paul Satoor's signature updated to replace Eric's and date changed to 31 July.
Accounting policies 1 Sentence removed: Impairment can also be recognised where capital spending does not result in a corresponding increase in the carrying value of an

asset.
Earmarked General Fund Reserves 10 Overall movement in the reserves narrative amended from £30.7 million to £4.7m (made up of £31.3m million additions to reserve and £26.6 million 

contributions from reserve).
Cash & Cash Equivalents 20 Bank overdraft changed to Cash at bank/(Overdraft) as 17/18 was in credit

44 Table updated to switch descriptions of Past Service Cost and (Gain)/Loss from Settlements with the to align to the right values.  Formula in the Total post 
employment benefits line changed to add to the correct values.

44 New footnote added re McCloud impact and * added to 18/19 LGPS column heading: * The 18/19 costs of the Local Government Pension Scheme include 
£16.7m resulting from the McCloud and Sargeant court case (see note 3).  £11.1m of this relates to past service costs and £5.6m reflects the associated 
remeasurement of assets and liabilities included in the Return on Plan Assets line of the above table.

44 Wording changed from '..is as follows:' to 'as set out in the table below'. Final sentence amended from: This is because the liability was reduced by the
whole sum of the prepayment in the first year and the reserve will be reduced as it is applied to the general fund. To: This is because the liability was
reduced by the whole sum of the three year prepayment in the first year and the reserve is reduced as it is applied to the general fund each year.

44 Additional sensitivity comment added on McCloud: In 18/19 the impact of the McCloud and Sargeant court ruling (see note 3) resulted in additional
pension costs of £16.7m, which remain very sensitive to the assumptions applied. For example, if future real pay growth assumptions were changed from
1.5% above CPI to zero, the additional costs could be as low as zero. If future real pay growth of 0.75% p.a. above CPI was anticipated this could result in
additional past service liabilities of c £5.5m at 31 March 2019 and additional projected service costs for the year commencing 1 April 2019 of £1m pa.

Narrative Report

Pensions

Risks arising from Financial Instruments

P
age 384



Section Note Reason
Involvement with Companies & 
Restatement of 17/18 cost of services

48-49 Format of note headings aligned with other notes (unbold).

Narrative report - Link to Ofsted report added:  The full  report is available to view on the Ofsted website: https://files.api.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50096454
Narrative report - 'is referred to below in' removed, with 'below' added to the end of the sentence.
Statement of Responsibilities - Date amended to 23 September 2019 - to reflect the agreed Audit Committee date
Audit report - presented prior to completion' of the audit, has now replaced prior to the start of the audit.  Date of the Audit Committee amended to 23 September 2019

Earmarked reserves 10 Values amended to align with the table: Overall movement in the reserves is £4.7 million (made up of £14.0 million additions to reserve and £9.3 million 
contributions from reserve).

26 Proceeds from sale of property adjustment reduced by £6.93m - representing the Acre Lane debtor
27 Proceeds from sale of property reduced by £6.93m - representing the Acre Lane debtor
- Revisions reflecting the above adjustments for the Acre Lane debtor of £6.93m. 

External Audit Costs 34 £4.2k Teachers Pension fund audit moved to fees payable for grant claims and returns line, rather than being shown in other services
Pension schemes 43 The figures for 2017/18 were £9.826m' has been removed with 17/18 values added in brackets next to 18/19 numbers.  'The figure for 2017/18 was 

£0.164m' has been removed with 17/18 values added in brackets next to 18/19 numbers.  Stranded 'were' removed from first sentence under Public Health.  
 Full stops added to the end of sentences where they were missing.

44 (LGPS) added after Local Government Pension Scheme
44 'below' added to refer to table (first para)
44 General Fund' amended to capital first letters - and amended throughout the document for consistency.
44 Font amended to Arial from Calibri and paragraph spacing added
44 Heading on Defined Benefit columns now centred
44 Final para of Impact on the Authority's cashflows amended to refer to 19/20 not 18/19 - re anticipated contributions.
44 Accrued liabilities amended from £8.81bn to £8.081bn.  Teachers and Health workers headings changed to italics.
44 Stranded 'Other Risks' heading moved to next column

Risks from financial instruments 47 £'000 added to final column in table.  'the' added before Council's in the narrative.
General Council, Councillor and Authority changed to start with Capitals throughout main accounts
Expenditure & Income Analysed by Nature 29 Gain on disposal amended to 'Loss/(Gain) on Disposal'. 
AGS £1,125 million amended to £1.125 million
Grant Income 36 Levy account surplus grant of £1.23m now split out from business rates line.
Defined Benefit Pension Schemes 44 2018/19 Global Unquoted Investments in pension scheme assets table amended from £30,713k to £118,986k.  (Link had been made to UK Unquoted toolkit 

value in error, duplicating the value of £30,713k in the table.  No change required to totals).
MPF accounts 'tEST' removed from table heading. (No change required to accounts presented to Pension Committee as this was an error in the consolidated version

only, when the links to supporting Excel table were being tested)
Front cover 'Subject to Audit' removed.

Cash flow

Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

P
age 385



T
his page is intentionally left blank



MINUTE EXTRACT

CABINET

2 SEPTEMBER 2019

26 REVENUE AND CAPITAL COMBINED MONITORING 2019-20 QUARTER 1 

In the absence of Councillor Janette Williamson, the Leader of the Council introduced 
a report which provided a summary of the projected year-end revenue position as at 
Quarter 1, Month 3 (June 2019). The year-end forecast recorded as part of June’s 
financial monitoring activity represented an adverse variance to budget of £4.327m. 
Plans were, in some cases, in place to mitigate the overspend whereas in other areas 
these were still being developed. 

There were a number of areas with particular pressures, including Children’s Services 
and the Look After Children budget; delivery services where sport and recreation 
income and the implementation of savings was causing budget challenges; highways 
and streetscene where there were challenges with car parking charges income and 
waste collection income. At the end of 2019/20 73% of programmed savings were or 
were expected to be achieved, 8% were partly achieved or required further work to be 
achieved and 6% were at risk of not being delivered, relating to Children’s Services 
and Business Support and the Floral and Golf projects.

Due to the Council’s financial position, an adverse budget variance was not viable and 
Corporate Directors would be supported to ensure that a balanced budget would be 
achieved by year-end. The report also provided an update on the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) and budget gap pressures. The anticipated budget gap for 
2020/21 was £40m with £16m of savings for 2020/21 reducing the initial assessment 
of pressures which totalled £56m.

The report also provided progress on the Capital Programme 2019/20 at the end of 
June 2019. It recommended that Cabinet agreed the 2019/20 Capital Programme of 
£88.7 million which took account of re-profiling, additional funding requirements for 
Eastham Youth Hub and the Eureka project and grant variations identified since 
February. 

On a motion by Councillor Anita Leech, seconded by Councillor Tony Jones, it was – 
 
Resolved – That, 

Revenue 

(1) the Year-end forecast position at Quarter 1 of £4.327 million Adverse, be 
noted;

 
(2) the level of achievement of savings proposed for 2019-20, be noted;

Page 387

Agenda Item 9b



(3) the revisions to the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2020-2025, 
be noted;

Capital 

(4) the expenditure at Quarter 1 of £2.9 million, be noted;
 
(5) Cabinet recommends to Council the approval of additional funding for the 

schemes referred to in paragraph 3.7 of the report, i.e. Eureka Project, 
Seacombe (£200,000) and Eastham Youth Hub (£442,000);

 
(6) Cabinet recommends to Council the approval of the revised Capital 

Programme of £88.7 million (Table 2 of the report) for 2019-20.

Reasons for decision: Regular monitoring and reporting of the Revenue Budgets, 
savings achievements, MTFS position and Capital Programme enable decisions to be 
taken faster which may produce revenue benefits and will improve financial control in 
Wirral Council. 

Page 388



CABINET 
Monday, 2 September 2019

REVENUE AND CAPITAL MONITORING 2019/20 QUARTER 1

Councillor Janette Williamson, Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources

“We continue to deal with huge financial pressures, resulting from a combination of austerity 
policies and continually increasing demand for and cost of services. We do everything we 
can to protect our front-line services from the worst of these cuts. We make commercial 
investments and decisions to make money to replace the funds which have been taken away 
from us, and we continually develop new ways to deliver services with less money.

We will continue to act responsibly with public money and get the best possible value for 
Wirral residents. This does not get any easier, as the cuts continue to bite and put almost 
unprecedented pressure on our finances and the services we provide. We will deliver a 
balanced budget for this year – despite the issues we face – and, later in the year, we will 
consult with local people on a new five-year financial strategy which will aim to stabilise our 
long-term financial position.”

REPORT SUMMARY

This Statement provides a summary of the projected year-end revenue position as at Quarter 
1, Month 3 (June 2019). 

The year-end forecast recorded as part of June’s financial monitoring activity represents an 
adverse variance to budget of £4.327m. Plans are, in some cases, in place to mitigate the 
overspend whereas in other areas these are still being developed.  Due to the Council’s 
financial position, an adverse budget variance is not viable and Corporate Directors will be 
supported to ensure that a balanced budget will be achieved by year-end.  

The report also provides an update on the progress of the Capital Programme 2019/20 at the 
end of June 2019. It recommends that Cabinet agree the 2019/20 Capital Programme of 
£88.3 million which takes account of re-profiling, additional funding requirements and grant 
variations identified since February. Expenditure to date is £2.9 million.

This matter is a key decision which affects all Wards within the Borough.
 

Page 389



RECOMMENDATIONS

Revenue

1 To note the Year end forecast position at Quarter 1 of £4.327 million Adverse.

2 To note the level of achievement of savings proposed for 2019-20.

3 To note the revisions to Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2020-2025. 

Capital

4 To note the expenditure at Quarter 1 of £2.9 million.

5 That Cabinet recommend to Council the approval of additional funding for the 
schemes referred to in paragraph 3.7.

6 That Cabinet recommend to Council the approval of the revised Capital Programme of 
£88.7 million (Table 2) for 2019-20.

 

Page 390



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 Regular monitoring and reporting of the Revenue Budgets, savings achievements, 
MTFS position and Capital Programme enable decisions to be taken faster which may 
produce revenue benefits and will improve financial control in Wirral Council.

 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 No other options have been considered.

2.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 REVENUE

3.1.1 This Statement provides a summary of the projected year-end revenue position as at 
Quarter 1, Month 3 (June 2019). 

3.1.2 The year-end forecast recorded as part of June’s financial monitoring activity 
represents an adverse variance to budget of £4.327m. Plans are, in some cases, in 
place to mitigate the overspend whereas in other areas these are still being 
developed.  Due to the Council’s financial position, an adverse budget variance is not 
viable and Corporate Directors will be supported to ensure that a balanced budget will 
be achieved by year-end.  

Table 1 2019/20 Budget and Forecast
Full Year

Budget Forecast Adv/Fav
Objective Analysis £m £m £m % £m

Adult Care & Health 87.790 87.790  (0.000) 0% Adverse  (0.000)
Children 86.581 89.155  (2.575) -3% Adverse  (2.605)
Business Management  (11.963)  (11.766)  (0.198) 2% Adverse  (1.064)
Economic Housing Growth 20.048 19.969 0.079 0% Favourable 0.156
Delivery 66.752 68.385  (1.634) -2% Adverse  (0.896)
Directorate Deficit 249.207 253.534  (4.327) -2% Adverse  (4.410)

Support / Admin Building Overhead 36.002 36.002 0.000 0% 0.000

Total Deficit 285.209 289.535  (4.327) -2% Adverse  (4.410)

Prior Period Forecast 
VarianceVariance                      

*An adverse variance is one where the forecast position is worse than the planned 
position, conversely, a favourable variance is where the forecast position is better than 
the planned position.

3.2 DIRECTORATE SUMMARY

3.2.1 Adult Care and Health: Forecast - Balanced Position

The balanced position presented for Adult Care & Health is contingent upon the full 
delivery of the department’s in-year efficiency plan.  

Page 391



Demand for services is the key driver of risk in Adult Care and Health: Increased 
demand for adult social care services is seen predominantly in the care at home 
sector, where the volume of home care and supported living services provided in the 
last twelve months has increased by 9.8% and 10.0% respectively.

In comparison, demand for traditional residential and nursing home services has only 
risen by 0.5% during the same period.

Failure to achieve some or all of this will result in a net budget deficit at year-end; the 
maximum risk exposure is £5.0m.

The efficiency plan comprises two elements:
 
 Firstly, the department is building on the success of last year’s £2m Learning 

Disabilities Transformation Programme in order to drive a further £2m of 
savings in 2019/20.

 Secondly, work is ongoing with the Council’s NHS partners (Wirral Community 
Trust and Cheshire & Wirral Partnership) in order to manage demand for social 
care by maximising service user’s independence and wellbeing.  Savings 
targets have been agreed with each provider and are being monitored through 
a robust contract management process.

Further detail regarding performance is held in the savings summary.

The ringfenced Public Health grant continues to be forecast to balance to budget.

3.2.2 Children: Forecast - £2.575m Adverse Variance Position

The £2.711m forecast adverse position is largely due to the Looked After Children 
(LAC) Placement and additional service pressures described below.  Some of these 
pressures are forecast to be mitigated by employee vacancy savings:

Children’s Social Care - Full Year Forecast: £2.347m Adverse

Looked After Children (LAC) placement expenditure – Full Year Forecast: £2.495m 
Adverse. 

 Although there was not a significant increase in the number of LAC, there are 
pressures on expenditure which are driven by increases in complexity of need 
and market rates which are supplier driven. The average rate for residential 
placements for this period is £3,091 per week (£3,073 per week last month), an 
increase of 17% from the base rate used for budget setting. Following Ofsted 
inspections, detailed plans, which include the review of the future for the LAC 
placements, are underway. 

 The neighbouring authorities are experiencing a similar trend of increased rates, 
also an increase in LAC numbers. Wirral is performing favourably compared 
with the other authorities in both aspects.

Page 392



Modernisation & Support - Full Year Forecast: £0.048m Adverse
 £0.048m pressure from the contact contract (supervised visits) with Active8 is 

included in this area’s forecast. The increased pressure is due to the extension 
of this contract and the delay in operating the service in-house, which will be at 
a reduced cost.  This has been mitigated by the surplus from employee costs.

Early Help & Prevention - Full Year Forecast: £0.315m Favourable
 £0.3m pressure from the Complex Investigation Team, £0.17m loss of income 

from the cessation of non-statutory service and £0.14m additional pressure from 
the Emergency Duty Team (EDT) Service have been mitigated by part year 
vacancies and staff not at top of grade, as well as the Pause programme 
(£0.45m) being on hold. There is an additional burden of the new cost sharing 
arrangement with Adult Social Care (£0.106m).

 Troubled Families income is forecast to achieve the target. However, it remains 
challenging considering the increased income target by £0.6m in addition to 
addressing the reduction in guaranteed Government grant income on 
Attachment Fees by £0.48m.

Schools: Full Year Forecast: Balanced position 

 Schools are forecasting a balanced position, but further detailed work is 
ongoing to identify likely spend on Special Education Needs (SEN), with a more 
representative forecast expected for Quarter 2. Current demand on SEN 
services is outweighing the grant funding available and the budget includes a 
contribution from the ringfenced Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) reserve of 
£2.3m, leaving no funding in reserve for future years. An independent review of 
SEN provision is in progress with outcomes expected by the end of the Autumn 
term. 

 Individual school budgets are also under increasing pressure due to increasing 
pay and pension costs amongst other pressures, and there is currently no 
indication of any additional funding in future years (subject to the Central 
Government spending review). There was £8.9m remaining in the school 
balances reserve at the end of 2018-19, but a number of schools are having 
difficulty setting a balanced budget for 2019-20, with a likelihood that the 
reserve will reduce further. 

 A more detailed report identifying the key pressures and risks relating to 
schools funding will be produced for Cabinet later in the year. 

         
Safer Wirral Hub - Full Year Forecast: £0.140m Adverse
 The key driver of the variance is within community safety, with regard to staffing 

related expenditure (£0.060m), and an under-achieved income target 
(£0.220m), due to a loss of major clients – Magenta Housing and Academy 
Schools.   Restructure is currently ongoing to address this position.

 Other areas of Safer Wirral Hub are offsetting the overall position with no 
expectation of reduced service provision.

Page 393



3.2.3 Business Management: Forecast - £0.198m Adverse Position

Legal & Governance - Full Year Forecast: £0.265m Adverse
 The key driver is within the Coroner’s service. Deficit position is due to an 

increase in accommodation costs and an increase in demand for the service. 
Currently the risk is not mitigated, but analysis is being undertaken with 
Liverpool City Council, as this is a shared service, with the aim of reducing the 
expenditure. 

3.2.4 Economic Housing and Growth: Forecast - £0.079m Favourable Position

Corporate Director - Full Year Forecast: £0.132m Favourable

 The majority of the forecast favourable position is driven by savings of £0.073m 
in employee costs due to the delay in senior recruitment and £0.024m of 
improvements to income due to increased demand in planning.

 Income of £5.45m was originally anticipated n 2019-20 from development within 
the Wirral Growth company.   However, as the partnership with Muse has 
matured, the partnership agreement has been refocussed to ensure any 
development is designed in consultation with residents, members and partners 
to ensure the maximum financial and economic benefits can be realised for the 
Council.  This may result in additional income to be received, but this will be 
received in future years.

The income will be offset by a reduction in associated expenditure of £1m, 
expenditure that can be capitalised of £0.6m and a transfer from the Economic 
Growth reserve, which was established to cover such delays in regeneration 
developments.

 
 Delivery of the Local Plan remains a key priority, with regular meetings with the 

Queen’s Council (external legal advisors) to ensure robust evidence is in 
place.  Available reserves have been set aside to cover the local plan costs, 
with an estimated cost of delivery £2m over three years.

3.2.5 Delivery: Forecast - £1.634m Adverse Position

Community Services - Full Year Forecast: £1.046m Adverse
 There remain ongoing income pressures (£0.3m) within Sport & Recreation 

which the service is working to mitigate. Commercial officers have been 
appointed to the Service to improve demand for memberships and explore 
new income streams aimed at reducing this adverse pressure.

 The expectation of the 2019-20 budget was for the approved budget savings, 
relating to the transfer of operations at the Floral and two golf courses, to be 
fully achieved. However, continuing delays in the implementation of both 
projects will mean the £0.66m saving target is unlikely to be realised in 2019-
20 and has yet to be found. 

Page 394



Highways & Streetscene - Full Year Forecast: £0.985m Adverse
 Car parking income is expected to fall short of the budgeted target by 

approximately £0.3m. This is due less car parking income available from Asda 
supermarket customers. 

 The termination of the Council’s Litter Enforcement contract highlighted a net 
budget shortfall of £0.5m within the Waste & Environment Service Area.  
Officers are reviewing alternative options to bridge this budget shortfall.

 There has been a slower than anticipated take up of the Garden Waste 
Subscription service. If this trend were to continue it could cause a budget 
problem of approximately £0.2m. Work is ongoing to attract new subscribers 
through promotional activity and advertising, aimed at reducing this variance. 

Housing - Full Year Forecast: £0.392m Favourable
   The favourable budget forecast within Housing is predicated on the current 

cost of Supported Housing contracts based on current occupancy rates. 

3.3 ACHIEVEMENT OF 2019-20 SAVINGS

3.3.1 In March, Council approved £45m of savings to balance the 2019-20 budget. As at 
Q1, 73% are achieved or expected to be achieved. 8% are partly achieved or require 
further work to ensure the full saving can be achieved by the end of the year.  6% are 
at risk of not being delivered. These are:

 Children -Business Support Saving. This was originally planned to be delivered 
through a back-office review, and the restructure.  The element 
required through the restructure has not materialised and the saving 
is now being re-analysed as part of back-office review.

 Floral     - Submissions from preferred providers of an expert operator model 
for the Floral were extended to 31st July 2019, with a 
recommendation passed to the Portfolio Holder to enable 
negotiations. The saving was predicated on a full year saving of 
Revenue costs (£0.55m), which will not fully materialise in this 
financial year.

 Golf      - A preferred provider, as an expert operator for the golf courses, has 
been identified. Following an O&S Committee the saving is yet to 
be realised.  The delay in the project will impact the level of revenue 
savings which can be achieved in 19-20. The £0.11m shown was 
predicted on a full year saving.

3.4 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2020 -2025

3.4.1 Each quarter the revisions to the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) will be 
reported to Cabinet.  The MTFS is a dynamic document which changes as a result of 
many factors e.g. changes to market growth, revisions to savings plans, changes to 
legislation, delays or accelerations to ongoing projects etc. Each year in order to reset 
the MTFS to ensure it is robust, all the current savings plans and pressures are 

Page 395



removed to assess the extent of the budget gap for the following year.  This is to 
enable a true representation of the financial position.

3.4.2 For 2020-21 the current pressures total £56m.  These include the expected final cut of 
the government grant and an expected cut to the Public Health Grant, demand and 
increased case complexity pressures from social care, the loss of income from the 
termination of the Kingdom contract, contractual inflation and an anticipated increase 
in the pensions costs.  These pressures have been reviewed and revised to ensure 
they represent an accurate picture.  The savings to offset these pressures in 2020-21 
total £16m.  These include innovative and preventative activities to offset demand, 
increased income and staffing changes.  Therefore, the anticipated budget gap for 
2020-21 is £40m.

3.4.3 At present there is uncertainty over whether any funding will be available from the 
Government for 2020-21 as the outcome of the funding formula review has not yet 
been announced.  This makes it very difficult to plan over the longer term.  It is 
anticipated that the result of this and an announcement on funding will be available in 
December 2019.  This may result in the current budget gap being less than expected 
of £40m.  However due to the late notification of this, work is currently underway to 
identify proposals to meet the £40m gap from 2020-21. In the event of the 
Government providing additional support via funding, it is anticipated that this will only 
delay the requirement for the £40m by 12 months to 2021-22.  Therefore, planning is 
underway to mitigate this gap in advance.

3.5 CAPITAL PROGRAMME

PROPOSED CAPITAL PROGRAMME FOR 2019/20

3.5.1 The Programme for 2019-20 is a dynamic programme and as a result is always 
subject to change. It now reflects the following changes since the programme was 
originally approved in February. These are then detailed in Tables 2 and 3.

£m
Programme agreed by Cabinet on 18 February 2019 90.083
Re-profiling (7.079)
Additional grant funding 7.434
Additional requirement 0.642
Reduced requirements (2.346)
Revised 2019-20 Programme 88.734

Table 2: Capital Programme 2019/20 at 30 June 2019
Capital Strategy

(as agreed at 
Council)

Proposed 
Programme

Q1 Actual Spend

£m £m £m
Adult Care & 
Health

6.747 7.258 0.056

Business 
Management

9.951 10.508 0.009

Children Services 6.255 8.847 0.601

Page 396



Delivery Services 39.418 42.869 2.093
Economic & 
Housing Growth

27.712 19.252 0.132

Total 
Expenditure

90,083 88,734 2,891

NB: Capital Programme expenditure is seasonal, actual spend to date is not the only 
indicator of over / underperformance of the capital programme. Analysis work is 
currently underway to enhance phased forecasting information.

Table 3: Significant Variations to the 2019-20 Programme identified since March 
2019
Scheme £m
Adult Care & Health
Extra Care Housing - re-profiling

Business Management
Sustainable Transport Enhancement Programme
Windows 10 Rollout 

Children Services
Schools modernisation, remodelling and basic needs – 
grant variation and re-profiling

Delivery Services
Transport for Growth grant variation and re-profiling
LED street lighting replacement – reduced requirement 
and re-profiling 
Street lighting column upgrade/replacement - re-profiling 
Aids to navigation – re-profiling
Key Route Network
Landican chapels - re-profiling
West Kirby Sailing Centre – re-profiling
Aids, adaptations and DFGs - grant variation and re-
profiling
Clearance
Home improvements
Parks machinery – subject to further review/report
Parks vehicles – subject to further review/report

 Highway maintenance - reprofiling
 Tower Road National Productivity Investment – re - 
profiling
 Dock Bridge and other bridges – re-profiling
 Beach cleaning equipment – re-profiling

Economic & Housing Growth
Wirral Waters Investment Fund – re-profiling
Eureka – additional funding requirement
Community Bank - re-profiling

Other minor variations

0.440

0.374
 (0.250)

2.169

2.661
(1.666)

(1.115)
(0.720)

0.259
0.200
0.209
4.006

(0.200)
(220)

(1.323)
(0.552)

0.193
0.188
0.178
0.171

(4.200)
0.200

(4.250)

1.457

Page 397



Total             (1.791)

3.5.2 Current progress on the more significant schemes is provided in the following 
sections.

3.6 DIRECTORATE UPDATES

Adult and Social Care

3.6.1 Extra Care Housing: The Council is to pay Alpha Living 75% of the allocated grant of 
£0.44m in order for 78 units of extra care to be developed at Woodpecker Close. Site 
works have now commenced and completion is expected to be in August 2020. 75% 
of the grant of £0.105m is also due to be paid to Magenta for the 21 extra care 
apartments at Barncroft.  25% of the grants are held back based on completion 
criteria.

Business Management

3.6.2 The largest scheme within this area is the Enterprise Resource Planning project. This 
scheme, relating to core IT financial systems, is currently in the Discovery stage with 
the intention to shortly move into the Design phase. The proposed Invitation to Tender 
is scheduled to go out in the Autumn.

Children’s Services

3.6.3 West Kirby Primary School: The project consists of a new main entrance with 
improved security, reception and office, minor internal re-configuration and infill of an 
unused arear to form a new classroom in a non-traditional design. The scheme has a 
committed value of over £0.3m of which £0.137m has been spent this year.

3.6.4 New Brighton Sports Barn: This is a stand-alone sports barn development to provide 
the school and community with the facility to carry out sports curriculum and improve 
pupil lifestyle and well-being. The project has been tendered to the amount of £0.4m; 
of which £0.12m has been spent this year.

Delivery Services

3.6.5 The demolition of Seacombe Community Centre has been completed at a cost of 
£0.13m.

3.6.6 Transport for Growth - the major work to date has focused on Twickenham Drive, 
Leasowe and Liscard Village town centre (£0.048m) and various footway and 
cycleway improvements (£0.057m).

3..6.7 Aids, adaptations and Disabled Facility Grants (DFGs) - spend is influenced by several 
factors including referrals received and the extent/value of the adaptations required. A 
new home adaptation pilot commenced August 2018 and the stair lift contract is 
facilitating faster installation of lifts and hoists. To date £0.523m has been spent.

Page 398



3.6.8 Leasowe 3G pitches - work is expected to commence on 29th July with a 22 week 
build. 

3.6.9 Fitness equipment upgrade - £0.28m has been spent already, with the remaining 
£0.06m allocated and on order for delivery in August.

3.6.10 Wirral Tennis Centre facility upgrade – utilising a framework agreement to award the 
contract which will be supported by asset management and procurement. This will be 
a trial of a partnership approach with the private sector.

3.6.11 Key Route Network – relates to schemes that ensure that key roads and routes 
operate efficiently. Two schemes are currently being progressed on which £0.483m 
has been spent – Wirral Waters safety upgrade and the A41 corridor improvements.

Economic and Housing Growth

3.6.12 Within the Programme is an allocation of £10m for investment in properties. Closely 
linked to progressing Wirral Growth Company, it is intended to fund potential 
acquisitions. 

3.6.13 Wirral Waters Investment Fund – commitments total £1.8m for this year. £0.3m which 
must be spent by March on the “Green Civilised Streets” project and a contribution of 
£1.5m towards the Marine Energy Automotive Park.

3.6.14 Housing Infrastructure Fund – potential areas to be progressed are:

 Woodside Master Plan - £0.15m
 Urban Brownfield Sites Assessments Study - £0.17m
 Birkenhead Regeneration Framework and Delivery Action Plans (focused on 

housing delivery) - £0.2m;
 There will be further costs associated with the delivery of the Legacy Housing 

scheme (Wirral Waters One) and with the Urban Splash / Belong housing 
schemes.  The scale of the costs is currently being assessed.

3.7 APPROVAL FOR ADDITIONAL FUNDING

3.7.1 Eureka (£0.2m)
£0.2m financial assistance is required to support the development and delivery of 
Eureka! Mersey, a major new science and discovery centre to be located at Seacombe 
Ferry Terminal and due to open in 2022. Detailed pre-development work has identified 
a need to increase the budget, in recognition of several factors: increased costs 
associated with the Spaceport and Ferry Terminal buildings; aspirations to realise in 
full the ideas emerging from the co-creation process; and the need to reconfigure and 
redevelop external spaces. This has resulted in a funding shortfall compared with the 
level of investment the Combined Authority was originally considering. Subsequent 
discussion has resulted in a proposed way forward in that Eureka! will take an 
additional responsibility to raise £0.6m, with the Combined Authority and Wirral 
Council seeking to increase their contribution by £0.4m and £0.2m respectively.

Page 399



By closing the funding gap of the project, this grant will support Eureka! to secure the 
remaining funding from trust, foundations, individuals and a public campaign and 
therefore deliver the project outputs and benefits. The proposed level of Combined 
Authority investment is £6.442m, with final approval expected in September 2019. 
Eureka! Mersey will attract 187,000 visitors p.a., create 161 jobs, add viability to the 
Mersey Ferries operations and support off-site visitor spend of £5.42m p.a.

3.7.2 Eastham Youth Hub (£0.442m)
Work has been ongoing for a number of years on a scheme to relocate Eastham 
Youth Club to a new facility co-located with Anselmians’ Rugby Club. The project 
meets both Youth and Community aspirations following consultation and has the 
potential to offer excellent agile workspace in the south of the Borough.

The scheme has strong Transformation links as well as working to provide community 
independent sporting provision in a new way.

A Delegated Cabinet Report was produced in March 2017 and the anticipated cost of 
the scheme was £0.376 million based on estimated design and build costs. The 
project was delayed with the original contractor unable to undertake the scheme. The 
Rugby Club have since engaged another contractor with individual construction 
packages being tendered. Whilst this would not have been the Council’s preferred 
procurement route for a construction project of this type, it is one which is regularly 
employed in the private sector. An internal assessment has been undertaken to 
ascertain the reasonableness of the revised estimates and confirmation has been 
obtained that the Youth/Community Hub elements within the cost summary seem to be 
fair and reasonable when compared to national benchmarking costs. The new cost is 
£0.442m.

 
FINANCING OF THE CAPITAL PROGRAMME

3.8 Table 4 summarises the financing sources.

Table 4: Revised Capital Programme Financing
Capital Programme Financing Capital 

Strategy
Q1 Revised 
Programme

£m £m
Borrowing 53.443 48.670
Grants/loans 30.640 37.822
Capital Receipts 0 0.442
Business Rates (Wirral Waters - ring-fenced) 6.000 1.800
Total Financing 90.083 88.734

3.9 Any re-profiling that reduces borrowing will produce one-off revenue savings. A 
permanent saving only occurs if schemes cease, otherwise the full budget will be 
required in 2020-21 when the re-profiled expenditure is incurred. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 This is the Quarter 1 budget monitoring report that provides information on the 
forecast outturn and progress against the capital Programme. The Council has robust 

Page 400



methods for reporting and forecasting budgets in place and alongside formal Quarterly 
reporting to Cabinet, the financial position is reported monthly at each Directorate 
Management Team and corporately at the Strategic Leadership Team (SLT). In the 
event of any early warning highlighting pressures and potential overspends, the SLT 
take collective responsibility to identify solutions to resolve these to ensure a balanced 
budget can be reported at the end of the year.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The entire report concerns the duty of the Council to avoid a budget shortfall. The 
Chief Finance Officer has a personal duty under the Local Government Finance Act 
1988 Section 114A to make a report to the executive if it appears to them that the 
expenditure of the authority incurred (including expenditure it proposes to incur) in a 
financial year is likely to exceed the resources available to it to meet that expenditure.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 There are no implications arising directly from this report.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 The possible failure to deliver the Revenue Budget is being mitigated by:
(I) Senior Leadership / Directorate Teams regularly reviewing the financial 
position.
(I) Availability of General Fund Balances.

7.2 The possibility of failure to deliver the Capital Programme will be mitigated by the 
monthly review by a senior group of officers, charged with improving performance.

7.3 The generation of capital receipts may be influenced by factors outside the Authority’s 
control e.g. ecological issues. Lambert, Smith, Hampton are providing external support 
to maximise the Council’s income and advise on strategy.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 No consultation has been carried out in relation to this report.

 
9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 This report is essentially a monitoring report on financial performance

REPORT AUTHOR:   Vikki Gregorich
  Budget Project Manager (Interim)
Telephone    0151 666 3104
Mail             vikkigregorich@wirral.gov.uk

Page 401

mailto:vikkigregorich@wirral.gov.uk


 
APPENDICES

None

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Budget Council 4th March 2019

Page 402



MINUTE EXTRACT

CABINET

Monday, 30 September 2019

30 WIRRAL COUNCIL PLAN 2025 

The Leader of the Council introduced a report by the Chief Executive. The Wirral 
Council Plan 2025 was appended to the report for consideration and it was 
recommended that it be referred to the Council for consideration at its meeting 
scheduled for 14 October 2019.  

The Cabinet noted that the Council Plan was:

 a high-level summary of the outcomes that the Council wanted to achieve by 
2025;

 the key activity and priorities that the Council would deliver this year 2019/20; 
and

 the start of the Council’s process for further engagement and consultation with 
staff, residents and partners on what we need to do collectively to achieve our 
ambitions for the Borough.

The Cabinet also noted that the Council Plan was a key organisational policy 
document and was, therefore, vital for the Council’s development in the coming years. 
Therefore, no other options were considered at the meeting.

Councillor Pat Hackett reported that this was the final draft of the Plan and final 
comments were requested so that any amendments could be made before it was 
presented to the Council for adoption.  It was a five-year Plan with clear deliverables 
for this year 2019/20. Adopting the Plan would enable the Council to begin to shape 
the future partnership plan and the views of partners and stakeholders would be 
sought over the coming months.

Councillor Hackett also reported that the Plan set out the Council’s ambitions for its 
residents in the year ahead and beyond.  Those issues that residents contacted 
Members about on a regular basis were the matters the Council was determined to 
tackle in order to improve the quality of life for Wirral Council’s constituents. Issues 
including good working streetlights, ensuring repairs were carried out, safer streets, 
ensuring that they were kept clean and the roads kept in great condition, waste bins 
emptied on a regular basis, fly tipping tackled were just some of the things residents 
expected to happen and quite rightly demanded.  

This Plan would ensure that residents were able to hold the Council to account over 
the next year and beyond. The Plan was grounded in reality.  It was based on what 

Page 403

Agenda Item 9c



residents had told Members and it was based on a realistic and achievable goal to 
improve the quality of life in the Borough.

Within the Plan there where a number of key outcomes e.g. 

 a prosperous and inclusive economy where local people can get good jobs and 
achieve their aspirations;  

 a cleaner greener Borough that celebrates, protects and is an improved 
environment and urgently tackles the environment emergency;

 a brighter future for young people and families regardless of their background 
or where they live;

 safe vibrant communities where people want to live and raise their families; and
 services which help people live happy healthy independent lives with public 

services there to support them when they need them.

Councillor Hackett informed that he had recently attended the Council Leadership 
Conference where he had stressed the importance of putting residents at the heart of 
everything the Council did and going the extra mile to help solve issues no matter how 
big or how small. Some Council staff were fantastic and did go to great lengths to help 
people every day This needed to be the norm right across the Council.  The Plan had 
a route map and there was determination to achieve this. Changing the culture and 
the way the Council delivered services was at the centre of the Plan and Councillor 
Hackett asked everyone to get behind it to ensure the Council delivered great services 
for its residents.

Councillor Chris Jones reported that she had been involved from the start with the 
Wirral 20/20 Pledges and the Council had increased its partnership working over that 
time. Previous to that everyone was working in their own little silos.  As a Cabinet 
Member she had three pledges and she had spent hours working on them and the 
difference in the way the Council now worked with its health partners and private 
providers had made a massive difference.  Councillor Jones informed that she would 
like to see exactly what had been achieved at the end of the 20/20 Plan. It had formed 
a new basis for the new Plan.  She was glad to see that the public consultation would 
commence shortly because telling Members what they wanted the Council to do and 
the Council doing it was really important.

Councillor Janette Williamson thanked the officers for all of the hard work they had 
done on the Plan.  She was pleased to see an inclusive community based local 
economy strategy was going to underpin the Council’s Local Plan and the Council’s 
Community Bank initiative tied in very much with that strategy. The Council had 
recognised that mainstream economics had let people in the Borough down in the 
past. The Council was now proactive in promoting more community wealth and this 
was included in the Plan.

Councillor Anita Leech agreed with Councillor Jones that the 20/20 Plan had provided 
the Council with a good base on which to work in partnership. Members had been told 
by local people that they felt as though their voices had not been heard and they still 
had issues with roads, streetlights etc. She considered that the Plan was a real step 
change to listen to the people.

Page 404



RESOLVED:

That the Wirral Council Plan be referred to the Council for consideration at its 
ordinary meeting scheduled for 14 October 2019. 

Page 405



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET

30 SEPTEMBER 2019

WIRRAL COUNCIL PLAN 2025

Councillor Pat Hackett said

This report presents the Wirral Council Plan for 2025. In it we set out our stall and 
commit to what we will deliver over the next five years. These are the things you 
have told us matter to you. 

Within this Plan you will see exactly what we will focus on for Wirral residents in the 
coming years, how we will do it and what we will achieve. Our ambition is for: 

 A prosperous, inclusive economy where local people can get good jobs and 
achieve their aspirations 

 A cleaner, greener borough which celebrates, protects and improves our 
environment and urgently tackles the environmental emergency

 Brighter futures for our young people and families – regardless of their 
background or where they live

 Safe, vibrant communities where people want to live and raise their families
 Services which help people live happy, healthy, independent and active lives, 

with public services there to support them when they need it

I am pleased we have been able to work together to develop this Plan for Wirral, and 
I am sure if we continue to work collectively, focussing on what unites us rather than 
divides, then we can achieve everything we want to for local people. There should 
and will be no limit to our ambition for Wirral. 

I encourage our residents, staff, businesses, and partners to read this report.

REPORT SUMMARY 

This report provides Cabinet with the Wirral Council Plan for 2025 for consideration 
and referral to Full Council on 14th October 2019. The Council Plan is:

 A high-level summary of the outcomes that we want to achieve by 2025;
 The key activity and priorities that our organisation will deliver this year 

2019/20;
 The start of our process for further engagement and consultation with staff, 

residents and partners on what we need to do collectively to achieve our 
ambitions for the Borough.

Page 407



RECOMMENDATION/S 

Cabinet is requested to

Consider the contents of the Wirral Council Plan set out in Appendix 1 to this report 
and refer to Full Council on 14th October 2019. 

Page 408



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON(S) FOR RECOMMENDATION

1.1 The Council Plan is a key policy document of the Council and articulates the 
ambition and key deliverables for the organisation. The Plan:

 is based on what people have told us is important to them. It reflects the new 
Leadership and Cabinet priorities as well as the Corporate organisational 
deliverables that we must get right this year;

 will be used to help staff understand their role in helping to deliver our 
corporate priorities;

 sets out our stall and commits us to some specific goals for the next year 
upon which local people can hold us to account;

 is an internal Council Plan but will be used as the basis for wider engagement 
and consultation with residents and partners to agree a joint Wirral Plan. It 
shows the Council’s role as Leaders of the Place.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
 
2.1 As outlined, the Council Plan is a key organisational policy document and is 

therefore vital for the Council’s development in the coming years. Therefore, no 
other options were considered.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 In recent years we have been working to deliver the Wirral 2020 Vision. The 
2020 Plan was about bringing public services together, integrating our efforts 
and scarce resources to help deliver a bigger impact for local people. We have 
made excellent progress against all the Pledges which were set back in 2015. 
But we know there is more to do. We are now making the transition into our 
next plan for the Borough. This new Wirral Council Plan 2025 sets out the 
Council’s ambition based on five key outcomes that we want to achieve by 
2025:

 A prosperous, inclusive economy where local people can get good jobs 
and achieve their aspirations 

 A cleaner, greener borough which defends and improves our environment
 Brighter futures for our young people and families – regardless of their 

background or where they live
 Safe, pleasant and clean communities where people want to live and raise 

their families
 Services which help people live happy, healthy, independent and active 

lifestyles, with public services there to support them when they need it

3.2 Deliverables and measures 
For each of the five outcomes, the Plan includes some key actions that we will 
deliver. It also sets out how we will show whether we are achieving them, in an 
open and honest way, so that we can be held to account.

Page 409



3.3 Delivery Plan for 2019/20
The Plan includes some Corporate commitments to be delivered this year, 
including: 
 Ensure the Council is financially sustainable, performs well, is efficient and 

provides value for money
 Deliver a stronger focus on the customer: providing Members, residents 

and other stakeholders with a better service
 Deliver Wirral’s Local Plan
 Bring children’s services out of intervention
 Support inclusive economic growth, increase community wealth through 

Wirral Growth Company, increased social housing and social value
 Increase Wirral’s role and profile in the Liverpool City Region; in strategic 

partnerships; and within the wider local government sector
 Lead local Brexit planning and preparedness

3.4 Principles and Values
The Plan also sets out the organisation principles and values that we are 
committed to as public servants. This will help ensure that staff and members 
know what their role is and how they are helping to deliver our organisational 
priorities.

4.0 FINANCIAL AND RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS

4.1 The Council Plan is designed to inform the budget setting process for the next 
five years which is the lifetime of the plan.

5.0 LEGAL

5.1 Legal implications relating to the actions set out in the Council Plan will be 
addressed by directorates as appropriate.

6.0 RELEVANT RISKS

6.1 The Corporate Risk Register will be refreshed in line with the new Council Plan 
to ensure that any risks to delivery are understood and mitigating actions are 
put in place as appropriate.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

The Wirral Plan 2025 aims to reduce inequalities and improve the quality of life 
for all our residents.

REPORT AUTHOR: Paul Satoor, Chief Executive

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Wirral Council Plan 2025

Page 410



Page 1 of 24

 

WIRRAL COUNCIL PLAN
2025

Page 411



Page 2 of 24

FOREWORD

We are going to make Wirral a place we can all be proud of. 

We care about this borough; we are ambitious for its future and we know that when we 
work together there is nothing we can’t achieve. 

Wirral’s public services – what we call the Wirral Partnership – have a simple, shared duty:  
we are responsible for improving the quality of life every resident gets to enjoy. 

We do this by delivering better outcomes for local people; by keeping the streets clean 
and improving the environment, making sure communities have good quality affordable 
housing, are safe and roads are kept in good condition. We protect the vulnerable, help 
people recover and stay healthy, and we create the conditions to help the economy grow 
so residents get more opportunities to secure good, well-paid jobs. 

Wirral Council touches almost every aspect of every residents’ life. That is a huge 
responsibility. We’re expected to do our job, do it well, and help people live better, 
happier and safer lives. We’re committed to reducing inequalities across the Borough. 

We will deliver on those expectations. Our residents deserve nothing less. 

This document is the Wirral Council Plan for 2025. In it we set out our stall and commit 
to what we will deliver over the next five years. These are the things you have told us 
matter to you. 

Within this document you will see exactly what we will focus on for Wirral residents in 
the coming years, how we will do it and what we will achieve. Our ambition is for: 

 A prosperous, inclusive economy where local people can get good jobs and 
achieve their aspirations 

 A sustainable borough that’s not only environmentally friendly but one which 
plays its part in urgently responding to the environment and climate crisis 

 Brighter futures for our young people and families – regardless of their 
background or where they live

 Safe, vibrant communities where people want to live and raise their families
 Services which help people live happy, healthy, independent and active lives, with 

public services there to support them when they need it

The Plan also includes some things that we commit to do this year and that local people 
can hold us to account for. We promise to:  

 Ensure the Council is financially sustainable, performs well, is efficient and 
provides value for money

 Deliver a stronger focus on the customer: providing Councillors, residents, 
businesses and other stakeholders with a better service

 Continue to radically improve children’s services 

Page 412



Page 3 of 24

 Deliver Wirral’s Local Plan, based on brownfield first and within the timeframe 
set out to Government; shape vibrant Neighbourhoods

 Support inclusive economic growth and increase community wealth and 
increased social housing and social value

 Set out our actions in response to the environment and climate emergency
 Increase Wirral’s role and profile in the Liverpool City Region; in strategic 

partnerships; and within the wider local government sector
 Lead local Brexit planning and preparedness

Decisions will never be taken behind closed doors. We will never take any decision 
without first actively seeking out, and taking account of, the views of the people that 
decision affects. Public services in Wirral will be accountable, and they will equally be 
inclusive, open and transparent. 

The results in the 2018 Local Elections significantly changed the political make-up of 
Wirral Council. Every political party represented in the Council Chamber knows that if we 
are to deliver on our promises then we must work together, regardless of party, on behalf 
of the people who elected us. 

I am pleased we have been able to work together to develop this Plan for Wirral, and I 
am sure if we continue to work collectively, alongside local people, focussing on what 
unites us rather than divides, then we can achieve everything we want to for local people. 
There should and will be no limit to our ambition for Wirral. 

I encourage every resident to read this report. 

Cllr Pat Hackett
Leader of Wirral Council

Page 413



Page 4 of 24

VISION FOR WIRRAL 

We will secure the best possible future for our residents. This future is defined by the 
community prosperity we create and supported by our excellent people and services. 

Wirral in 2025

Wirral is a stunning place. It’s a place we can all be proud of, where people want to live, 
work and visit. It is creative, and confident – using its unique location on the banks of the 
River Mersey to be both quaint seaside town and vibrant entrepreneurial centre.  We’re 
at the forefront of the sustainable growth transition.

It’s got everything you’d expect of a picturesque peninsula: miles of beautiful coastline, 
vast green open spaces, and a charming array of cultural and leisure opportunities. That’s 
why we are welcoming record numbers of visitors every year, and why our economy is 
growing and creating opportunities and prosperity for residents and businesses. 

Residents are part of a community; from the moment they are born. First-rate education 
and training are on our doorstep, so everyone who lives here can dream and achieve big 
for their futures. People here live happy and healthy lives. Services are designed based 
on what people need – who provides them or how they’re delivered is less important 
than the impact they make. 

Communities here are vibrant, close-knit, and have a real voice. We play our part in the 
world. Public services work in partnership with the people they are here to serve. In 
return, people care for each other and look out for their neighbours – especially those 
who are elderly or who need an extra helping hand. No-one goes lonely in Wirral. 

It’s a place which has got something for everyone. It’s a place we are all proud of. 

Page 414



Page 5 of 24

OUR PURPOSE

Public servants in Wirral are ambitious, accountable, customer-focussed and professional. 
We are committed to making Wirral a better place and enabling a better quality of life for 
every resident. 

To work for Wirral Council, you have to be an excellent public servant. We are here to 
serve our residents, to meet their needs, to protect them and to help them raise and 
achieve their aspirations.

This is the principle our organisation is built upon.

We have unrelenting focus on our residents. What they expect, what they need, and what 
they want underpins every decision we make. We do everything within our power, with 
the resources at our disposal, to make Wirral a better place for its residents. 

How We Work

Wirral Council staff work to a clear set of values. Regardless of what department or 
service people work in, we are ‘one council’, and we have high standards. The Council 
workforce is supported, developed and invested in, and in return they commit to meeting 
a specific customer service standard which governs how we go about our work.

Our values define how we work with each other, how we work with members and 
residents, and how we go about our daily business to give Wirral residents the best 
possible service.

The values have been developed with staff from across the council, who all show 
immense pride in what they do. Staff told us what matters to them, what motivates them 
and what inspires them to make Wirral a better place.  

We put the customer first. Always.

We are here to make Wirral a better place for its residents. 

We are the only democratic organisation in the borough. It is our job to support 
Members, and to deliver outcomes. Our Members set policy, then we deliver. 

A better quality of life for every Wirral resident is the ultimate goal of every Wirral Council 
employee. 

We are relentless in our pursuit of this goal.

Our Value What It Means

Page 415



Page 6 of 24

Our Value What It Means

Be Customer 
Focussed

Our residents are our customer. Make them feel like that. 
Treat residents as if they’re paying your wages. Because they 
are. 
Your colleagues are customers. Help them be the best they 
can be.
Help Elected Members do their jobs. They are the leaders in 
their communities.

Be Accountable

You’re a leader. Take personal responsibility. 
Solve problems. If something isn’t working, fix it.
When you say you are going to do something, do it. 
Never walk away. Never say ‘it’s not my job’. Never give up

Be Ambitious
Aim high, always. Don’t settle for second best.
Don’t make excuses. If you can do something better, do it.
Come up with ideas. The old way isn’t always the best way.

Be Professional

Treat everyone with respect. Colleagues, residents and 
Members deserve the same great service.
If someone asks a question, answer it – quickly and clearly.
If you’re talking to a resident, you’re talking to your boss. Act 
like it.

Page 416



Page 7 of 24

BY 2020

This is the final year of the Wirral Plan for 2020. The Wirral Plan was about bringing public 
services together, integrating our efforts and scarce resources to help deliver a bigger 
impact for local people. We have made excellent progress against all the Pledges which 
were set back in 2015. 

 70% children reaching ‘good’ level of development
 4045 jobs created
 250,000 visitors to Imagine Wirral events
 74% highest-ever employment rate
 1252 empty properties back in use
 32 national awards for parks

Now, we’ve got to finish the job. 

There are 6 months left until the end of this Wirral Plan, and the transition into our next 
plan for the borough. We must make those six months count. Between now and April 
2020 we have many major projects to deliver. 

Page 417



Page 8 of 24

WIRRAL COUNCIL DELIVERY PLAN FOR 2019/20

WHAT WE’LL DO BY WHEN
Start the replacement programme for streetlights October 2019
Agree our new 5-Year Plan for Wirral October 2019
Propose our new Financial Strategy for Wirral December 2019
Launch Consultation on our Local Plan December 2019
Agree the Business Plan for Wirral Growth Company January 2020
Accelerate visible Wirral Waters delivery Ongoing 2019/20
Launch our Climate Emergency Action Plan; Cool Wirral 
and Tree Strategies

Autumn 2019

Break ground on Wirral Waters residential schemes Underway
Tackle homelessness and launch our new strategy for 
social and affordable homes

2019

Take the regeneration of New Ferry to the next step Underway
Prioritise regeneration of our Town Centres & High 
Streets

Underway

Develop plans for our new Community Bank and drive 
forward Community Wealth Building

Ongoing 2019/20

Drive forward the continued growth and regeneration 
of New Brighton as a vibrant tourism destination

Ongoing 2019/20

Finalise work to understand the needs of the creative 
enterprise sector and use this evidence to develop an 
action plan focused on enabling sector growth;

Launch Wirral’s Borough of Culture legacy plan and 
2020 events programme;

Deliver a Destination Marketing work programme and 
campaign strategy focused on increasing visitor 
numbers

March 2020

January 2020

December 2020

Drive forward our new Children’s Vision Ongoing 2019/20
Continue to drive improved outcomes for Wirral’s 
residents through joined up arrangements with the 
NHS that deliver the Right Care in the Right Place at 
the Right Time

Ongoing 2019/20

Launch our consultation with Wirral residents and 
stakeholder groups

Autumn 2019

Take forward our plans for accessible and popular 
community and leisure services, supporting our 
residents in their health and wellbeing goals  

Ongoing 2019/20

Page 418



Page 9 of 24

OUR PRIORITIES FOR 2025

Our priorities are clear: they are developed based on what people have told us in 
conversations, consultations, surveys and community events. 

This Wirral Council Plan is a set of goals and objectives, which every everyone involved in 
Wirral Council owns and will strive to achieve over these next five years.

They are a commitment to local people, a specific and clear set of priorities we will 
achieve together. The rest of this document describes those priorities – what we will 
achieve, and how we will do it.

These priorities are summarised overleaf in our ‘Plan on a Page’. 

Page 419



Page 10 of 24

Page 420



Page 11 of 24

Working for AN INCLUSIVE ECONOMY

OUTCOME: 
Wirral Residents have access to great jobs and good quality affordable and 
social housing

  

We want to create ambitious and prosperous communities. Our plans for sustainable economic 
growth are about creating community wealth. They’re about encouraging inclusive and 
sustainable growth, where the benefits are felt by every resident without damaging the 
environment on which we all rely. They’re about creating opportunities for local people, and 
inspiring ambition. Prosperous communities are happier, healthier and better places to live. 

People want the chance to get a good job, and live in a nice home on a clean, safe street. A 
successful local economy – built on these inclusive principles – helps deliver that. Attracting 
investment into our borough helps creates good jobs for our residents. It helps people improve 
their skills, improve their prospects and raise the aspirations of their whole family. It’s about 
helping everyone in the borough to become better off and live more comfortably. 

The work we do helps support local employers to succeed, to win more business and grow – to 
attract more inward investment, creating more jobs and opportunities for local people. We will 
help make sure our residents have the skills and education they need to secure their best possible 
futures and to make the Wirral economy fit for an environmentally sustainable future. We work 
side-by-side with the independent traders who keep our high-streets alive, helping them adapt 
to modern trends. 

We make sure people have a choice of attractive and safe and sustainable homes – within their 
price range, suited to their needs, and built in the right places to protect the unique character and 
special charm of our borough. We will continue to work to ensure more and more people discover 
Wirral. We will help it become a thriving tourist destination, so that it supports thousands of local 
jobs and puts money directly into hundreds of local businesses.

Page 421



Page 12 of 24

What we’ll do How we’ll measure success
Focus on transformational & inclusive growth
Create jobs and support businesses
Attract ethical investment 

Set up a Community Bank
Create Community Wealth & Social Value 

Encourage quality, affordable, sustainable 
homes 
Bring empty properties back into use
Improve private sector properties 

Maximise the potential of Wirral’s creative 
enterprise sector as a driver for economic 
regeneration and community wealth building

Deliver an ambitious, high quality and 
inclusive culture events programme which 
impacts positively on civic pride and 
outcomes for residents as well as attracts 
visitors

Promote Wirral regionally, nationally and 
internationally as a world-class visitor 
destination which is rich in assets and 
experiences

Encourage environmentally friendly growth, 
sustainable energy and the circular economy

 Total investments secured in Wirral 
developments  

 Gross Value Added per head of 
population

 Number of jobs created and/or 
safeguarded

 Number of apprenticeship starts
 Increase the employment rate in 

Wirral
 Major planning decisions made 

within agreed timeframes

 Number of Council Contracts with 
social value commitments

 Increase in Council spending on local 
supply chains

 Increased visitor numbers 
 Increase the value of visitor economy

Page 422



Page 13 of 24

Working for A SUSTAINABLE BOROUGH 

OUTCOME: WIRRAL RESIDENTS LIVE SUSTAINABILY

  

The latest global scientific evidence makes clear that the way with live our lives is not sustainable.  
The impacts our lifestyles have on the earth’s life support systems and climate about climate 
change present a deeply worrying picture

We need to act fast to turn things around.  We need a shift away from the use of fossil fuels for 
heat, power and transport to clean alternatives.  We need to use resources and find ways of living 
that replenish and renew rather than consume and damage the environment upon which we 
ultimately rely.  The challenge presents a massive opportunity to improve our environment, 
improve our health and create new jobs in a clean and sustainable economy.  In short, working 
for a sustainable borough will make Wirral a better place. 
    
The transition towards sustainability has already begun but we need to accelerate the changes 
required.   We must eliminate all climate damaging pollution locally by 2041 at the latest .to meet 
our fair share of the global burden.   Transformation on an extraordinary scale is needed to do 
this. Locally we must cut the main climate damaging pollutant, CO2, by three and a half times 
more each year than we have managed to do so far.  We also need to adapt and develop resilience 
to damage that has already been done.  We need to extend tree cover and protect habitats and 
soils. The old, the young and those with existing health problems are most vulnerable to more 
hostile environmental conditions.  Acting to stop the situation deteriorating really matters to our 
families and our communities now.

We have traditionally focused on keeping Wirral clean and tidy and protecting our cherished local 
environment.  Working for a sustainable borough means going far beyond these concerns.  We 
have a role to lead the way.

Page 423



Page 14 of 24

What we’ll do How will we measure success?
Urgently tackle the environment emergency 

Protect biodiversity

Improve street cleanliness

Take forward our ‘Cool Wirral’ approach 

Support active travel networks that work for 
all

 Increased recycling
 Reduce the overall collected general 

waste (non-recycling) per household 
 Increase energy efficiency in Council 

owned buildings
 Increase in the number of trees 

planted and wildflower verges in 
Wirral

 Increase the number of people 
cycling

 Public satisfaction in transport
 Increase in Local Environment 

Quality
 Increase in electric charging points 

for cars in Wirral
 Increase in homes with energy 

efficient adaptions in Wirral

Page 424



Page 15 of 24

Working for BRIGHTER FUTURES

OUTCOME: WIRRAL FAMILIES HAVE A PROMISING FUTURE, WHATEVER 
THEIR START IN LIFE

  

There is no limit to our ambition for families in Wirral. We put the support in place so people can 
increase – and achieve – their aspirations. Children are the forefront of every decision we make. 
They are right at the top of our list of priorities, and they will stay there. 

A family’s history should not and will not impact on the ambition of the child. We are focussed on 
breaking the cycle of poor outcomes and low ambition, raising the aspirations of every child in 
Wirral – regardless of where they live or their background. Our job is to encourage, and inspire, 
and we are relentless in pursuit of that goal. We will enable families to bring up children in safe, 
happy and secure environments. 

Wirral will become a great place to grow up, and a great place to work. For children, particularly 
those experiencing poverty, living in care, or leaving care, we go the extra mile. They are given 
every possible helping hand to lead a successful, fulfilling life. Teams are supported, well-led, and 
are provided with the tools to do their jobs well. 

Our Children’s, Young People and Family Partnership Board drives forward our ambitious Vision 
for Children. Early intervention is a culture, which permeates through every public service in the 
borough. Keeping children safe is everyone’s responsibility – whether you work in a leisure centre, 
a library, a fire station or a social work team – and we take it seriously. We identify and tackle 
issues before they develop. 

Our work will make sure Wirral is a great place to grow up and succeed. 

Page 425



Page 16 of 24

What we’ll do How will we measure success?
Invest in our children and young people and 
their future by making sure they access a 
good education and are given the skills and 
opportunities to find employment and follow 
their chosen careers

Ensure that the children in our care are 
better off as a result of being in care

Enable families to access the support they 
need when they need it most and as early as 
possible

Help all children with special education needs 
or disabilities and their families to be and feel 
included 

 Increase in the percentage of 
children making expected progress 
educationally 

 A closing gap in educational 
achievement between disadvantaged 
children and their peers

 Increase in children ready for school
 Decrease children leaving care NEET 

rate
 Increase in adoption rates for Wirral 

children in care
 Decrease in rate of looked after 

children in Wirral
 Children in Need rate per 10,000 0-

17 population
 Increase success of the early 

intervention Team Around the Family 
programme

Page 426



Page 17 of 24

Working for ACTIVE & HEALTHY LIVES

OUTCOME: WIRRAL RESIDENTS LIVE IN A GREAT PLACE, ARE HEALTHIER 
AND HAPPIER FOR LONGER

  

In Wirral we want all our residents to have a good quality of life. Good health and wellbeing is key 
to this and achieving that is more than about health services. A good start in life, education, 
decent work and housing, the environment in which we live and strong and supportive 
relationships all play a part.

We’re proud of our reputation that people tell their story once, to one healthcare professional, 
and they will design a personalised care package to meet those needs. Our system is easier to 
access, it is better value, and it provides better care. 

Wirral is a place where older people are treated with dignity and respect, supported by our Ageing 
Well and Dementia Friendly approaches. Wirral is a place and where having a disability is never a 
barrier to leading a full and fulfilling life. We are an accessible borough, which welcomes diversity 
and champions inclusion and social cohesion. 

We promote active lifestyles. We’re proud of our reputation as the leisure peninsula, and our 
residents benefit from first-class opportunities for leisure, sports and exercise – through our 
fitness centres or in our world-class parks, beaches and open spaces. Where people need extra 
help to stay healthy, we commission outstanding services to help people live more healthily. 

Vulnerable people are supported, protected and inspired. We embrace new technologies to help 
people to live independently, and we engage with communities who do invaluable work to keep 
their neighbours safe and happy. 

Page 427



Page 18 of 24

What we’ll do How will we measure success?
Improve wellbeing, reduce loneliness and 
social isolation through increased 
neighbourhood and voluntary support

Improve people’s experience through making 
safeguarding more personal

Help people live independently through 
investment in digital assisted technology

Support many more people to stay healthy 
and safe at home, preventing hospital 
admission

Work with partners to promote healthy 
active lives
Support more people with disabilities to live 
independent lives

Continue to address health focusing on our 
priorities to give children the best start in 
lives, having a secure job and living in a home 
and environment that supports health and 
connects people

Work with partners to promote wellbeing 
and improve positive mental health

Continue to deliver programmes of work to 
prevent ill health focusing on key local 
challenges such as obesity, alcohol, drugs and 
smoking

Develop Wirral as a place in which healthy 
choices are easy choices

 Older people feeling safe and well in 
their area (during the day and after 
dark)

 % safeguarding contacts completed 
within 24h

 % safeguarding investigations 
completed within 28 days

 Fewer people admitted to hospital or 
long term care by supporting people 
at home

 Number of home adaptations 
completed

 Proportion of residents over 50 living 
in housing that meets their needs 

 Adults with a learning disability who 
are living in stable and appropriate 
accommodation

 Employment rate for disabled people 
age 16-64

 Reduced levels of childhood and 
adult obesity

 Reduction in smoking rates 
 Reduction in hospital admission rates 

for alcohol abuse 
 Successful completion of drug and 

alcohol treatment programmes

 Increase number national quality 
awards for Wirral parks and beaches

 Increase levels public satisfaction 
with walking and cycling facilities

 Utilisation of outdoor space for 
exercise and health reasons

 Number of people using the Council’s 
leisure centres

Page 428



Page 19 of 24

Working for SAFE & PLEASANT COMMUNITIES

OUTCOME: WIRRAL RESIDENTS FEEL SAFE INSIDE AND OUTSIDE THEIR 
HOME

  

For many thousands of our residents, the thing which is most important to them is what they see 
when they open their front door. They want to see clean streets, parks and beaches which are 
well-maintained and attractive. They want to live in a place which is free of anti-social behaviour 
and crime, and to be able to take an active role in making their community a better place to live. 

Our job is to help make this happen. The everyday services people want the most – street 
cleaning, tackling dog-fouling, road maintenance, streetlights, grass-cutting – will be delivered to 
the best possible standard. Almost as importantly, we will be responsive: if a resident asks us 
something, we will answer – quickly, clearly and with empathy. 

We’ll also tackle the growing problem of rough sleeping and homelessness. In Wirral, people will 
never have to spend a second night outside. We will redouble our efforts in working with these 
vulnerable people and we will keep them safe. We will ensure people have a good standard of 
housing. 

Getting better at communication is a theme which will run throughout our new approach to doing 
business. Decisions made which affect people should be made in partnership with those people. 
Public servants do not always know best, we must be brave enough to ask for and listen to the 
alternative view. This new culture of collaboration and consultation will underpin everything we 
do. 

Page 429



Page 20 of 24

What we’ll do How will we measure success?
Tackle homelessness and rough sleeping 
including using the Housing First approach

Work with partner agencies to reduce crime 
and tackle anti-social behaviour

Replace streetlights in the borough 

Protect our most vulnerable

 Reduce homelessness 
 Reduce number of people sleeping 

rough
 Decrease in anti-social behaviour
 Reduction in the number of crimes 

reported to the police
 Reduction in the number of violent 

crimes reported to the police
 Reduce first time entrants into the 

Youth Justice System
 Reduce the incidents of repeat 

domestic abuse reporting
 Replace streetlights in Wirral with 

LED lights by 2021

Page 430



Page 21 of 24

WORKING FOR YOU: DELIVERING EXCELLENT SERVICES

      

People want to live in nice houses, on safe and clean streets. They want their children go to 
great schools and have things to do with the friends. They want their roads to be in good 
condition, with transport, which is safe, quick and convenient. They want all services to be 
available, where and when they’re needed. 

Often, these services we provide, commission or deliver with our partners provide a lifeline to 
the most vulnerable residents in the borough. Because these services are so important, we must 
never rest on our laurels, and never settle for anything less than outstanding. 

Our services should be focussed, entirely, on what the customer needs. They should be 
responsive, easy to access, and deliver what people need. Nothing else is acceptable. 

Organisational boundaries do not matter, all that matters is the outcome and meeting the needs 
of our residents. This customer focus – of being completely focussed on what local people want 
and need – is what sets Wirral apart and makes this such a great place to live. 

This is how we will deliver everything we have promised. 

Page 431



Page 22 of 24

What we’ll do How will we measure success?
Involve you, ask your opinion and act upon 
your feedback

Live our organisational values 

Ensure our staff and elected members have 
the necessary knowledge and skills to deliver 
excellent services 

Working in a joined up way with our partners 

Work with our communities to shape 
Neighbourhoods 

Work with residents and not get in the way

Ensuring council services are accessible to all 

Making the best use of technology 

Being transparent about our decisions and 
spending 

Promote and advertise the many examples of 
excellent services and our successes

 Resident satisfaction survey 

 Number of complaints 

 Deliver the People Strategy

 Deliver the Digital Strategy

 Deliver the Local Plan based on 
brownfield first and Place Shaping

 Build our Wirral Partnership and 
agree a new 5 year Place Plan

Page 432



Page 23 of 24

HOW WE’LL DO IT

WE’LL BE FINANCIALLY SUSTAINABLE

We want Wirral to be self-sustaining, investing in making the place better through the 
money we have made ourselves. We cannot be reliant on Government support or 
additional grants in order to deliver on our objectives. 

We will develop a new, ambitious, 5-year financial strategy to make sure we have the 
resources we need to deliver our promises to local people. This strategy will focus on 
investing public money where it will deliver most impact. 

WE’LL BE OPEN AND INCLUSIVE

Decisions affecting local people should be made by local people. This principle will 
underpin every policy, project and new initiative we deliver this year. 

We will take steps to increase the opportunities for local people to get involved in 
decision-making. We will encourage, enable and empower Wirral residents to take an 
active role in the decisions made in the Town Hall. 

WE’LL INVEST IN OUR PEOPLE

Our workforce is our most valuable asset. To deliver on what we have promised we need 
talented, dedicated and skilled employees – which Wirral is blessed with in abundance. 
We will support these public servants to be the best they can be. 

We will also expect a lot in return for this support. Residents and Members will be treated 
with the respect they deserve. Our staff will pride themselves on delivering the very best 
customer service. 

WE’LL CREATE A PARTNERSHIP WITH LOCAL PEOPLE

We will be more collaborative, and we will work in a new way with local people. Where 
they can get involved more, we will encourage and empower them – not stand in their 
way. 

We will help local communities to help themselves, and we will celebrate and champion 
those engaged, vibrant neighbourhood and community organisations who have taken it 
upon themselves to make their local area a better place to live. 

Page 433



Page 24 of 24

OUR PROMISE TO RESIDENTS

The ambitions described in this report are our promise to Wirral residents. These are the 
things we will deliver to make this borough a better, more prosperous place for everyone 
who lives here. 

They are about creating jobs, improving services and making public money work harder 
for public benefit. They’re about making sure Wirral residents can continue to live in a 
place which they are proud of, with modern public service there to support them. 

In 2025, when this Wirral Plan is complete and we reflect on our progress, I am keen to 
be held accountable for delivering the priorities set out in this document. 

Now it is time to deliver on our promises. 

Cllr Pat Hackett
Leader of Wirral Council

Page 434



MINUTE EXTRACT

CABINET 

Monday, 30 September 2019

31 PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – CREATIVE COMMUNITIES 

The Cabinet Member for Adult Care, Health and Wellbeing introduced the Public 
Health Annual Report (PHAR) 2019, an independent annual report of the Director of 
Public Health and a statutory requirement.

It was reported that engaging with cultural activities was good for everyone; it helped 
people to recover from illness, both physical and mental and protected against it; 
preventing illness and keeping people well no matter how young or old they were. 

The 2019 Report, Creative Communities, explored the role of culture as a means of 
improving health and wellbeing, presented local examples of those benefits and called 
for everyone in Wirral to be part of a Borough of Culture legacy that left people happier 
and healthier. 

The Cabinet noted that the PHAR was an important vehicle to identify key issues, flag 
up problems, report progress and inform local inter agency action. The purpose of the 
PHAR was to draw attention to local issues of importance which had an impact on 
population health. Since the Council took back responsibility for Public Health in 2013 
it had published five reports on:

 Social isolation 
 Healthy schools and children 
 Domestic violence 
 The roles of the Council and NHS in promoting health and wellbeing 
 Problem gambling

The Cabinet was informed that these reports had led to action in the reduction of 
people smoking in the Borough to levels below the national average; increased 
support for people who were feeling socially isolated plus significant activity across a 
range of partners to highlight and reduce the damage caused to local communities 
from alcohol abuse and gambling. 

The 2019 Report sought to influence the developing narrative around social 
prescribing and how we engaged and worked with local people to support them to live 
healthier lives. 

This matter was not a key decision but did affect all the Wards within the Borough.

Councillor Chris Jones thanked the Interim Director for Health and Wellbeing and her 
staff for the hard work they had put into the report.  She informed that the Council 
wanted to see a legacy from the Borough of Culture which would impact on health and 
wellbeing going forward.  The case studies in the report had showed the impact the 

Page 435

Agenda Item 9d



cultural activities had.  The Borough of Culture had been fantastic and had brought a 
number of people together.

Councillor Jones informed that one thousand residents participated in the sofa session 
talking about culture and creativity and their own health and wellbeing.  The report 
would hopefully inspire and energise individuals and encourage increased 
collaboration between different disciplines and organisations.  The third sector had 
had a fantastic impact on this work.
Councillor Chris Spriggs emphasised the importance of the health and wellbeing 
aspects of the work that had been done.  Arts and creativity had provided a positive 
impact on individuals and on communities for a whole range of reasons. People were 
much more knowledgeable now and there were many ways creativity was used to help 
people with their mental health and with social isolation connecting better and 
celebrating community pride.   Councillor Spriggs reported that economically the 
quality jobs of the future were going to be in the creative and digital sector.

Councillor Spriggs also reported on the first ever Wirral Food and Drink Festival that 
had been held in Birkenhead Park in September 2019.  Over 30,000 people had 
attended this Festival and the feedback from it had been incredible.  People had come 
together, out in the fresh air to enjoy the food and drink and to listen to music.

RESOLVED:

That the recommendations of the Public Health Annual Report 2019 be endorsed 
and its publication be supported. 

Page 436



CABINET
30 SEPTEMBER 2019

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – CREATIVE COMMUNITIES

Councillor Chris Jones, Cabinet Member for Adult Care, Health and Wellbeing, said:

“We want all of our residents to have a good quality of life however, we know some of our 
communities face multiple challenges.

It is our responsibility to lead the way and develop key relationships that will allow us, 
together with our partners, to work closely with local people to support them to take control 
over their health and wellbeing, and build environments in which healthy choices are the easy 
choices.

As an authority we must continue to demonstrate our commitment to encouraging healthier 
lives. One way of doing this is the production of a Public Health Annual Report. This year’s 
report focusses on the role of culture as a means of improving health and wellbeing, and was 
fully based on work with residents and partners within our communities.

This report sets out our initial plans and recommendations for ways in which the influence of 
creativity and culture can be embedded into health messages and interventions, so as to 
have a positive impact on both the physical and mental health of residents of all ages.”

REPORT SUMMARY

The Public Health Annual Report (PHAR) 2019 is the independent annual report of the 
Director of Public Health and is a statutory requirement. 

The 2019 Report, Creative Communities, explores the role of culture as a means of 
improving health and wellbeing, presents local examples of these benefits and calls for 
everyone in Wirral to be part of a Borough of Culture legacy that leaves us happier and 
healthier.

The Public Health Annual Report is an important vehicle to identify key issues, flag up 
problems, report progress and inform local inter agency action. The purpose of the PHAR is 
to draw attention to local issues of importance which have an impact on population health. 
Since the Council took back responsibility for Public Health in 2013 we have published five 
reports on:
 Social isolation
 Healthy schools and children
 Domestic violence
 The roles of the Council and NHS in promoting health and wellbeing 

Page 437



 Problem gambling

These reports have led to action in the reduction of people smoking in the borough to levels 
below the national average; increased support for people who were feeling socially isolated 
plus significant activity across a range of partners to highlight and reduce the damage caused 
to our communities from alcohol abuse and gambling. 

The 2019 Report seeks to influence the developing narrative around social prescribing and 
how we engage and work with local people to support them to live healthier lives.

This matter affects all Wards within the Borough; it is not a key decision.

RECOMMENDATION/S

Cabinet is requested to endorse the recommendations of the Public Health Annual Report 
2019 and support its publication. 

Page 438



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 The 2019 Public Health Annual Report focuses on the role of cultural activities to 
improve health and wellbeing.

1.2 Engaging with cultural activities is good for everyone; it helps people to recover from 
illness, both physical and mental and protects against it; preventing illness and 
keeping us well no matter how young or old we are. 

 
2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The publication of the Public Health Annual Report is a legal requirement, no other 
options have been considered. 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 Wirral’s year as Borough of Culture has provided some unforgettable and spectacular 
arts and sporting events for locals and visitors to experience. It has brought 
communities together and provided opportunities for people of all ages to experience 
arts and culture in lots of different ways. 

3.2 According to National Alliance for Arts, Health and Wellbeing, “over recent years, there 
has been a growing understanding of the impact that taking part in the arts can have 
on health and wellbeing. By supplementing medicine and care, the arts can improve 
the health of people who experience mental and/or physical health problems. 
Engaging in the arts can promote prevention of disease and build wellbeing” 1 

3.3 This year’s Public Health Annual Report looks at what is known about what works to 
improve health through arts and cultural activities; the experiences of local people 
interacting with culture and its impact upon them and makes recommendations about 
how we can all use  cultural activities to improve our health and wellbeing.

3.4 A review of the evidence2 about what works to improve health through culture, 
identified a positive impact on both physical and mental health across the life course 
and identified those activities which are beneficial. The findings from this review 
informed the development of the PHAR recommendations.

3.5 Across Wirral there are lots of great examples of arts and cultural activities which are 
having a positive impact on the health and wellbeing of local people. In the report we 
showcase this work which is engaging with residents of all ages.

3.6 The Public Health Annual Report is aimed at lay audiences, a key feature of the report 
must be its accessibility to the public which offers an opportunity for the Director of 
Public Health to focus on the key impact messages they want to convey. This year we 

1 All-Party Parliamentary Group on Arts, Health and Wellbeing. Inquiry Report. Creative Health: The Arts for Health and Wellbeing. July 
2017
Singing in
2 Wirral Intelligence Service (2019) The impact of art and culture on health and wellbeing – a literature review. May 2019. 

Page 439



focused on using the PHAR as a way of engaging people to discuss their health and 
wellbeing actively employing arts and culture, not only as the topic for the report, but 
as a vehicle to engage local people in the development of the report. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 There are no legal implications arising from this report. The Public Health Annual 
Report is a statutory duty on Directors of Public Health.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 This report has been financed from within existing resource and the main inputs have 
been staff time of officers in Public Health, Culture, Communications and Graphics 
teams.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 To mitigate the potential lack of engagement with the report it has been co-produced 
with partners, through two workshops, and with residents through an extensive arts 
project (see 8.0 Engagement/Consultation).

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 To inform the PHAR we spent time listening to the stories and experiences of 
residents. An immersive community arts project, known as ‘The Sofa Sessions’, 
travelled across the borough inviting residents to rest, relax and discuss how their life 
has been influenced by culture and creativity whilst also taking part in cultural 
activities. Over 1000 people interacted with the travelling arts project during August 
2019, supported by Involve North West and local artists. Each ‘Sofa Session’ was 
attended by Community Connectors from Involve North West who were available to 
assist any residents looking for support; providing information about local services 
available to them in Wirral. The work, a large-scale tapestry, produced by residents 
through ‘The Sofa Sessions’ will be displayed in various places across Wirral including 
the Williamson Art Gallery and Birkenhead Central Library.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 An equality impact assessment has been undertaken on the report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Julie Webster
     Acting Director for Health and Wellbeing
     telephone: (0151 666 5142)
     email: juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk

Page 440

mailto:juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk


APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Creative Communities 2019 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health

BACKGROUND PAPERS

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 441



This page is intentionally left blank



Creative Communities
Culture for Health and 
Wellbeing in Wirral 
2019 Annual Report of the Director of Public Health 

Page 443



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        1

Foreword            2 

Introduction            3

The Impact of Culture           5 

Culture in Action           6

• The Open Door Centre          7

• The Williamson Art Gallery and Museum        9 

• Age UK Wirral         11

• Borough of Culture’s Animated Square      13

• The Sofa Sessions         15

Recommendations         17

    Contents

Page 444



Our year as the Liverpool City Region Borough of 
Culture provides a great opportunity for Wirral 
residents to engage with cultural activities and 
experience something new. It is a chance to 
maximise the health and wellbeing benefits of 
culture for individuals and communities through 
creative discovery and the exploring the world 
around us. I am proud and privileged therefore 
to share this year’s Director of Public Health 
Annual Report. It provides a strong evidence base 
for culture as a means to improving health and 
wellbeing, presents local examples of these benefits 
and calls for everyone in Wirral to be part of a 
Borough of Culture legacy that leaves us happier 
and healthier.

Regardless of the many individual ways in which we 
experience culture, it helps us to connect better 
to each other, enjoy and cope with life’s everyday 
challenges. There is strong evidence that arts and 
culture help to keep us well, recover from illness 
and support longer, better lives. Our case studies 
show how such initiatives improve health and 
wellbeing outcomes and are cost effective. This 
provides fresh thinking for health and care systems. 
However the benefits of investment in cultural 
activities for health and wellbeing are still not widely 
recognised. 

This report has three key recommendations which 
aim to optimise the amazing work happening 
across Wirral and identify new opportunities to 
improve health and wellbeing through cultural 
activities.

In producing this report, I’m grateful to local people 
who have shared their experiences and for the 
energy and commitment of all those who have 
supported its development; in particular more 
than 1,000 residents who participated in the Sofa 
Sessions, interacting with culture and creativity, 
to talk about health and wellbeing.  I hope that 
this report inspires and energises individuals and 
encourages increased collaboration between 
different disciplines and organisations. 
Wirral’s year of culture has been an amazing 
journey, showing off the creative and natural assets 
of our beautiful borough. By working together, we 
can create wonderful memories and a long lasting, 
positive impact on health and wellbeing.

Julie Webster
Acting Director for Health and Wellbeing

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        2

    Foreword

Page 445



Wirral’s year as Borough of Culture has 
provided some unforgettable and spectacular 
arts and sporting events for locals and visitors 
to experience. In 2019, culture has brought 
communities together and provided opportunities 
for people of all ages to experience arts and 
creativity in lots of different ways. Happiness and 
pride are the words that people have used to 
describe their experience at these events – events 
that have provided a chance people to share and 
celebrate together. These feelings are important 
indicators of our wellbeing, contributing to good 
health and reducing isolation. 

Engaging with cultural activities – regardless of 
how we do it – is good for everyone. It helps 
people to recover from illness, both physical and 
mental, and protects against it; preventing ill 
health and keeping us well no matter how young 
or old we are.

 

We must do things differently to ensure that 
health and care services are resilient now and in 
the future. This means focusing on keeping people 
well. Cultural experiences can provide ways to 
wellbeing where other interventions don’t quite 
reach. They can enrich our lives as individuals, 
helping us to better understand our place in the 
world. The case studies in this report are prime 
examples of how culture and creativity, often in 
conjunction with clinical methods of support, could 
be the logical next step in the journey toward a 
more well Wirral.

The Wirral Culture Strategy, which underpins 
the Wirral Plan 2015 – 2020, contains four 
priorities, one of which is focused on promoting 
the educational, social and wellbeing benefits 
of arts and culture, while also recognising the 
social impact within our communities. Whilst the 
role of cultural activities on health is increasingly 
understood, globally, we have yet to fully maximise 
these opportunities in health and care. This 

report looks at the current knowledge 
of ‘what works’ to improve health 

through arts and cultural activities, 
the experiences of local people 
interacting with culture and its 

impact upon them and finally makes 
recommendations about how we can all utilise 
cultural activities to improve health and wellbeing.

“The creative impulse 
is fundamental to the 
experience of being 
human” 1

1. Creative Health: The Arts for Health and Wellbeing,   
 2017. All-Party Parliamentary Group on Arts, Health  
 and Wellbeing. Inquiry Report

  Introduction

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        3

“The purpose of 
art is washing the 
dust of daily life 

off our souls” 

Pablo Picasso

Page 446

http://www.artshealthandwellbeing.org.uk/appg-inquiry/Publications/Creative_Health_Inquiry_Report_2017.pdf
http://www.artshealthandwellbeing.org.uk/appg-inquiry/Publications/Creative_Health_Inquiry_Report_2017.pdf
http://www.artshealthandwellbeing.org.uk/appg-inquiry/Publications/Creative_Health_Inquiry_Report_2017.pdf


“The effect in sickness of beautiful 
objects, of variety of objects, and 
especially of brilliance of colours is 
hardly at all appreciated. People say 
the effect is on the mind. It is no such 
thing. The effect is on the body, too. 
Little as we know about the way in 
which we are offered by form, colour, 
by light, we do know this, that they 
have a physical effect. Variety of form 
and brilliance of colour in the objects 
presented to patients are actual 
means of recovery.”

Florence Nightingale, Notes on Nursing, 1859

Page 447



Globally, there is increasing understanding and 
recognition of the impact that culture can have 
on the health and wellbeing of individuals and in 
turn, their communities.  

“More and more people now appreciate 
that arts and culture can play a valuable 
part in helping tackle some of the most 
challenging social and health conditions. Active 
participation in the visual and performing arts, 
music and dance can help people facing a lonely 
old age, depression or mental illness; it can help 
maintain levels of independence and curiosity 
and, let’s not forget, it can bring great joy and 
so improve the quality of life for those engaged”  
Lord Richards of Nailsworth, 2016

As part of the development of this report a review 
of the impact that culture can have on health and 
wellbeing found that:

1. Evidence for the positive impact of arts and 
cultural activities on health at every stage of life has 
grown considerably in recent years. The evidence 
base is now extensive and not only identifies those 
activities which are beneficial, but often indicates 
the scale of these health improvements.

2. Overall, there appears to be both more - and 
slightly higher quality - evidence for the positive 
impacts of participative singing, music, dance and 
literature (reading and story-telling) on health and 
wellbeing.

3. Although a large body of literature focuses on 
mental health (primarily anxiety and depression), 
positive impacts have also been noted on a range 
of physical conditions and social factors such as 
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) , 
cystic fibrosis, blood pressure and Coronary Heart 
Disease (CHD), dementia, falls, hospital admissions 
and length of stay, GP consultations, medication 
levels, child development, anti-social behaviour, 
attainment at school and in preventing and 
postponing frailty.

4. The challenge inherent in many arts and cultural 
interventions is that they do not easily lend 
themselves to showing quantifiable improvements 
(especially in people approaching the end of life for 
example). Absence of (quantifiable) evidence, is not 
however evidence of absence.

5. Future arts and cultural activities organised 
locally here in Wirral should aim to add to the 
growing evidence base for this type of intervention 
by conducting robust evaluation. Evaluation should 
include quantifiable improvements alongside more 
qualitative information in order to better inform 
commissioners.

1.  Wirral Intelligence Service (2019)  
 The impact of art and culture on health and  
 wellbeing – a literature review. May 2019. 

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        5

“Wonder is  
the beginning  

of wisdom”

The Impact of Culture

Socrates

Page 448



Culture in Action

“When I look back, I am so impressed with the 
life-giving power of literature. If I were a young 
person today, trying to gain a sense of myself in 
the world, I would do that again by reading, just 
as I did when I was young.” Maya Angelou

Here we showcase some of the rich and varied  
work that local people, involved in arts and  
cultural activities, are doing across Wirral.

Page 449



The Open Door Centre is a Birkenhead based 
charity providing creative and therapeutic 
opportunities to young people accessing mental 
health support. Through music and technology, 
training and volunteering, the centre helps 
young people confront their stress, anxiety and 
depression, supporting them to develop effective 
ways to deal with these feelings. 

Having a team of volunteer mentors has been 
an integral part of the service delivery. It has also 
helped the charity promote the ideas of valued 
lived experience, compassion, informality and 
empathy to support people to overcome emotional 
challenges. 

Promoting good mental health is at the heart of 
what the charity does but it also sees its role to 
upskill and provide opportunities for local people 
to gain experience whilst improving their career 
and academic prospects. It is often difficult for 
people to gain practical experience in mental health 
roles and that is something the charity wanted to 
change. It was apparent that so many fantastic 
individuals were drawn to the sector for all the 
right reasons such as personal lived experience 
and wanting to help others. The charity is pleased 
it can offer training and practical opportunities 
to these individuals, but it also means that as an 
organisation with currently 35 volunteer mentors, 
they can adequately support a large number of 
people in a timely and cost-effective way – and with 
impressive outcomes. Members who work with  the 
charity like the fact that they are supported by a 
mentor through an 8-week Cognitive Behavioural 

Therapy (CBT) and mindfulness-based intervention, 
called Bazaar. The majority of mentors are young 
adults (early 20’s), dress casually and if you walked 
into the centre, you would not necessarily know 
who the mentor or member is. This helps break 
down the barriers and formalities that drive a lot of 
the stigma young people feel about mental health 
care. It is also common for a member to complete 
support with the charity and further down the line 
find themselves completing training and becoming 
mentors themselves. 

The Open Door Centre

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        7

Volunteer mentors

Page 450



“I am forever grateful for the 
sessions I took part in at 
the Open Door Centre. The 
staff are so attentive and 
compassionate and really 
reassured me when I first 
arrived, which was very difficult 
for me. From then on I knew I 
was in safe hands and found 
the distraction techniques, 
mindfulness, Thought Bully 
and thought tracking really 
useful and these are tools that 
I intend to use for life.”

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        8

The centre’s ‘Bazaar – A Marketplace for the Mind’ 
programme delivers one-to-one cognitive behavioural 
therapy sessions inside cosy therapy spaces (or, sheds). 

With nine in total, the spaces are used by members 
working alongside a mentor during this 8 week course to 
improve their mental health.

Page 451



The Williamson Art Gallery, based in Oxton, 
provides space to display masterpieces, ceramics, 
and sculptures. Housing the largest public 
collection of Della Robbia pottery in the UK and 
home to some internationally important paintings, 
exhibitions at the Williamson Art Gallery & Museum 
are always free. They also welcome educational, 
party and group visits. Pamela Sullivan is a 
freelance artist working at the Williamson 
Art Gallery and Museum. Teaching adult art 
classes in drawing, painting and printmaking, 
she works with vulnerable young people and 
families from a range of diverse backgrounds. 
Outside of the gallery setting she works in 
the wider Wirral community. Her work involves 
the re use and up cycling of found materials 
including plastics, paper and cardboard. With local 
communities in Wirral she has created large scale 
cardboard trees and ‘city scapes’ for projects at 
the New Ferry Butterfly Park as well as 80ft trees at 
the Bombed Out Church in Liverpool for the 2012 
Biennial Arts Festival. 

Being part of these projects, whether through 
simply creating a drawing or painting, has proven 
vitally important for the health and wellbeing 
of those communities involved. The Williamson 
provides a local hub where people from different 
backgrounds including those who feel isolated or 
excluded, can come together to participate in and 
enjoy the arts. Pamela’s work as an artist in this 
space helps to deliver wellbeing outcomes ranging 
from alleviating anxiety to developing confidence 
and resilience.

The Williamson Art  
Gallery & Museum

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        9

Pamela Sullivan  
and the Cityscape 
exhibition

Bidston Observatory  
Time and Tide exhibition

Page 452



“Attending the art class at the 
Williamson Art Gallery was a life saver 
for me and helped me through a very 
difficult time. I had no self confidence 

to start with so went with a friend. 
The benefits have been two fold, 
my confidence has grown and 
my self esteem has returned 

all of this as well as acquiring 
new skills and having a safe place 

to experiment with painting and 
drawing. The course has got me 
through cancer and the long draining 
illness that finally took my mum last 
year. The art class allowed me to 
escape into my imagination, having 
two hours just for me was a life saver.”

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        10

Wirral Eco Schools Plastics Project

Cardboard Trees exhibition

Page 453



Combining the promotion of health with celebrating 
arts, culture and heritage is at the heart of many 
of Age UK Wirral’s projects.  The Great Wirral 
Conversations have brought together people from 
different generations in events that have explored 
topics as diverse as motherhood, (through bringing 
together ‘experienced’ ladies with new mothers), 
and life in the forces, (by linking Wirral’s veterans 
with local secondary school history students). 

Health promotion projects such as Joining Forces, 
a Ministry of Defence funded initiative supporting 
local older veterans, and the Men’s Project at 
Maritime Park, supporting health promotion and 
tackling the social isolation of former seafarers, 
have used Wirral’s rich military and maritime 
heritage, and the range of stunning resources 
that the Borough has to offer. Utilising some of 
Wirral’s finest assets, including Lady Lever and 
Williamson Art Galleries, as a catalyst for bringing 
people together Age UK Wirral have fostered new 
friendships, diverse connections and created 
shared memories.

Celebration of arts, culture and heritage is also 
core to the organisation’s cognitive stimulation 
therapy work with people living with dementia. 
Members of Devonshire Days have been involved 
in a collaborative arts project that culminated in 
their work being displayed at a local art gallery, 
which was a massive boost to the confidence of 
all involved. Reminder Finders, the organisation’s 
group for people in the earlier stages of dementia, 
uses physical and online resources to stimulate 
reminiscence sessions by recalling changes in art, 
sport, music and local history over the generations.

Extending access to art and sport in its many 
forms is a powerful medium for tackling isolation 
and loneliness locally. The organisation’s Health 
& Activity Department facilitates more than 60 
different classes and activities a week, ranging from 
walking and cycling groups taking advantage of 
Wirral’s rich outdoor spaces through to building-
based classes including anything from Yoga, 
Zumba, creative writing through to playing the 
ukulele! A recent project saw one of the groups 
redecorate and restore the organisation’s very own 
Superlambanana, which now has pride of place 
in the courtyard at Age UK Wirral’s Care Home for 
people with dementia.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        11

Age UK Wirral

“Celebration of arts, culture 
and heritage is core to the 

organisation’s cognitive 
stimulation therapy work.”

Page 454



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        12

Age UK Wirral’s very own Superlambanana

Age UK photography exhibition

The Great Wirral Conversations: 
Bringing together intergenerational 
groups

Page 455



In March 2019, Birkenhead Town Hall came alive 
for Animated Square, the first spectacular event of 
Wirral’s year as Borough of Culture. The Grade II 
listed building was transformed into the canvas for 
a large-scale projected light show.

Focus in the build-up to the light show was on 
some inspiring musical performances by four 
Wirral-based choir groups. The groups included 
school children from the local area, as well as adults 
of all ages, backgrounds and abilities. 

Curated on a non-audition basis, groups were 
accessible to anyone who had an interest in being 
part of the event. One of the groups, RiverSign, 
was a signing choir made up of adults across 
Merseyside who sign songs whilst performing and 
cater to audience members who are deaf, or hard 
of hearing. 

RiverSign being part of the event promoted 
inclusivity in music, irrespective of barriers to 
performing such as disabilities, deafness, being 
hard of hearing and learning difficulties. Rehearsal 
and performance spaces reflected this, offering 
adequate provision for those with mobility 
restrictions to enable them to take part with ease.

The legacy from the choir performances lies in the 
memories and career pathways of local children, 
as well as increased engagement and collaboration 
across local choirs, with RiverSign in particular 
reflecting their enjoyment of being part of a ‘live’ 
performance. They were able to work with other 
community groups during rehearsals and are 
looking to develop these relationships further to 
help raise their profile in the local area.

Borough of Culture  
Animated Square

The Wilfred Owen Choir and The Luminelles 
were made up of 44 students between the ages 
of 11-18. The performance was an empowering 
and educational opportunity to take part in a 
heritage-focused cultural event which told the 
story and celebrated the history of where they live. 

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        13Page 456



Above: Illuminated in 3D onto the building 
itself, the display was inspired by the history 
of Birkenhead, attracting thousands for the 
second consecutive year.

Below: Members of Riversign performing at 
Animated Square.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        14

“A member of our choir 
said someone approached 
her after the performance 
in tears to say the whole 
performance was so 
emotional. It doesn’t get 
better than that.”  
Pete Martin,  
Director RiverSign Choir

Page 457



To inform this report we also spent time listening 
to the stories and experiences of local residents. 
Throughout August 2019 an immersive community 
arts project, known as ‘The Sofa Sessions’, travelled 
across the borough inviting residents to rest, relax 
and discuss how their life has been influenced by 
culture whilst also taking part in various creative 
activities.

Inspired by the Boroughof Culture’s Radio Local 
events in Liscard, which delivered innovative 
engagement with the local community through 
culture, more than 1000 people interacted with the 
travelling arts piece, supported by Involve North 
West and local artists, leaving their mark on it at  
events across Wirral including:

•   Ilchester Family Fun Day in North Birkenhead 

•   Wirral Evolutions’ Health & Wellbeing Art Project  
 in Eastham

•   Bee Wirral’s Annual Family Fun Day in    
 Birkenhead

•   Beechwood Festival Day (Beechwood Estate) 

•   Mencap’s One Wirral Festival in Birkenhead Park 

•   Carrbridge Centre, Woodchurch

•   Summer Park Event, The Walled Garden in   
 Central Park, Wallasey

•   Building Bridges Family Fun Day, Birkenhead

•   Summer Activities session at West Kirby Library

•   Drop-in art event at The Barn, Pye Road in   
 Heswall 

 Family Drop-In at Williamson Art Gallery, Oxton

Each ‘Sofa Session’ was attended by Community 
Connectors from Involve North West who were 
available to assist any residents looking for support; 
providing information about local services available 
to them in Wirral.
The work, which also included a large-scale tapestry 
known as ‘The Wellbeing Tree’, produced by local 
residents through ‘The Sofa Sessions’ will be 
displayed in various places across Wirral including 
the Williamson Art Gallery and Birkenhead Central 
Library.

The Sofa Sessions

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        15

The Wellbeing Tree tapestry; 
The Sofa designed by Pam Sullivan;
Members from Wirral Evolutions’ day 
centre in Eastham taking part in  
the Sofa Sessions

Page 458



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        16

“Reading and sewing  
makes me happy.”

“When I’m drawing I don’t think 
about the negative things in life.”

Artist Pam Sullivan with The 
Wellbeing Tree tapestry

Youngsters getting creative 
at the Sofa Sessions

Sessions offered people 
the chance to rest, 
relax and discuss how 
their lives had been 
influenced by culture 

Page 459



We have a unique opportunity to use Wirral’s year as Borough of Culture as a 
springboard for developing a deeper and shared understanding of how public 
engagement in arts and culture can contribute to physical and mental health, 
emotional wellbeing, community resilience, health maintenance and improvement.

This report demonstrates the contribution that arts and culture can make to a 
healthy and health-creating borough. The following recommendations, which have 
been developed in collaboration with networks of local people, focus on ensuring 
that we fully capitalise on the huge opportunity presented by Borough of Culture to 
make a lasting impact on the health and wellbeing of local people through culture 
and the arts.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        17

Recommendations

Page 460



1 

1 

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        18

Seek out opportunities in our 
lives and communities for arts 
and culture – to help to keep 
us well and live longer, better 
lives.

Building on existing networks, bring together 
stakeholders from the arts and health and care 
sectors to support the delivery of health and 
wellbeing through arts and culture. For partners 
this should focus on disseminating good practice, 
co-ordinating funding opportunities and informing 
policy and commissioning. 

Improve awareness of the benefits that arts and 
culture can bring to health and wellbeing through 
the workforce, with current patients and with 
other local people.

Promote a Wirral wide focus on ‘wellness’, working 
with people before they become sick or develop 
illness in the first place by developing a positive 
relationship with arts and culture.

Encourage residents to reimagine new kinds 
of connected communities in order to develop 
their own strengths and abilities so they can live 
independent and fulfilling lives.

The Sofa Sessions (above) took inspiration 
from Radio Local, a one-off live hyperlocal 
radio station that was built around 
Wirral’s people and places as part of 
Borough of Culture.

Page 461



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        19

 

Ensure that the legacy of 
Wirral’s Borough of Culture 
year contributes to the 
development of a healthy and 
health-creating borough. 

2

The review of the Wirral Culture Strategy provides 
an opportunity to recognise the success achieved 
over the last five years whilst looking at new ways 
to improve outcomes. The recommendations 
contained within this report should inform the 
development of the refreshed Wirral Culture 
Strategy.

Explore the development of a local cultural 
legacy programme to mobilise action in local 
communities and advocate for health through arts 
and culture.

Incorporate arts and culture into the Healthy 
Wirral Plan, seeking opportunities to leverage 
change.

Building on methodologies which have been 
developed to evaluate the Borough of Culture, 
foster a common approach to research into  
the potential of culture to tackle some of the  
deep-rooted and complex challenges in Wirral.

Following the successful Borough of Culture 
volunteering programme, support volunteers 
who want to progress to further volunteering 
or employment. This will ensure that their 
enthusiasm, skills and expertise can be used to 
encourage volunteering activity and build capacity 
in the borough’s voluntary, community and faith 
sector.

The Witching Hour performances, live in 
Birkenhead Park with arts company Periplum. 
Birkenhead Town Hall’s Animated Square 
illuminations.

Page 462



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        20

 

Secure a commitment from 
health partners to work with 
arts and cultural organisations 
to ensure that culture for 
health and wellbeing becomes 
integral to organisational, and 
commissioning strategies.

3 

Healthy Wirral partners should seize any 
opportunity to spread messages that encourage 
public engagement in the creative arts as a route 
to achieving health and wellbeing goals.

Health and care partners review the evidence as 
to the efficacy of the arts and culture in benefiting 
health and integrate this into local plans, 
pathway redesign and asset development where 
appropriate.

Commissioners should give consideration as 
to how the Public Services (Social Value) Act 
can secure cultural benefits, e.g. public art or 
community cultural investment funds.

Cultural participation forms a vital part of 
social prescribing. Wirral Health and Care 
Commissioners should ensure that arts and 
culture is part of the developing social prescribing 
offer.

Establish a network of partners to support the 
delivery of the recommendations included within 
this report. 

Community Connectors from 
Involve Northwest
 

Page 463



Give us your feedback

Let me know what you think of this report.

Email:  
juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk

Write:  
Julie Webster 
Wirral Council
Marriss House
Hamilton Street
Wirral
CH41 5AL

For more information: 
Wirral Intelligence Service 
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/public-health-annual-reports/

Special thanks go to the following people who supported the production of this report:

Pam Sullivan, Michelle Daverin, Justine Molyneux, the Community Connector Team at 
Involve North West, Jamie Anderson, Gail Mooney, Kate Menear, Alison Bailey-Smith, Clare 
McColgon, Kathy Warren, Lee Pennington, Greg Edwards, Jane Morgan, Lucy Barrow,  
Nikki Boardman and all those who participated in the two stakeholder workshops.

Thanks also go to the PHAR editorial team:  
Nikki Jones, Tessa Woodhouse, Sarah Kinsella, Rachel Howey and Rachael Musgrave.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019        21Page 464

mailto:juliewebster@wirral.gov.uk
https://www.wirralintelligenceservice.org/jsna/public-health-annual-reports/


Page 465



This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTE EXTRACT

CABINET 

Monday, 30 September 2019

33 APPROVAL OF REVISED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME FOR WIRRAL – 
JULY 2019 

The Cabinet Member for The Local Plan introduced a report by the Strategic 
Leadership Team that recommended that the Council approve revisions to the future 
timetable for the preparation of the Wirral Local Plan, as set out in the revised Local 
Development Scheme appended to the report which would replace the Local 
Development Scheme adopted by the Council on 6 March 2018. 

The approval of the Local Development Scheme was a Key Decision requiring the 
approval of the Council. 

The Cabinet was informed that it had become necessary to review the Local 
Development Scheme because of changes to the timetable for the Local Plan; the 
expanded scope of the Local Plan, which would now be produced as a single 
document, containing both strategic and non-strategic policies; and changes to 
legislation governing the review of Local Plans. The Cabinet on 17 December 2018 
had resolved that a revised Local Development Scheme be submitted for approval by 
the Council once the amended future timetable had been determined (Minute 47 
refers). 

The revised timetable for the preparation of the Wirral Local Plan, set out within the 
revised Local Development Scheme, would contribute towards the delivery of a wide 
range of Wirral Plan pledges related to People, Business and the Environment and the 
Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.

There were no alternative options available for the Cabinet to consider as the national 
regulations required the publication of an up-to-date Local Development Scheme, as 
soon as possible after the information became available.

Councillor Anita Leech reported that the Council was now pressing ahead with the 
Local Plan and Members had received updates and briefing sessions as matters had 
progressed. The report set out the time frame which was extremely tight but in line 
with the Secretary of State’s letter to the Council in January 2019.

Councillor Pat Hackett congratulated Councillor Leech and the officers on the hard 
work that had gone in to the production of the Local Plan, one of the Council’s big 
priorities. He informed that the Council was on course to meet the deadline laid down.

RESOLVED:

That Council be recommended to:

Page 467

Agenda Item 9e



(1) approve the adoption of the revised Local Development Scheme attached 
to the report; and 

(2) subject to the approval of (1) above, agree that the revised Local 
Development Scheme comes into effect on the day following the date that 
the Council resolution is passed. 

Page 468



CABINET
 30 SEPTEMBER 2019

APPROVAL OF REVISED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME FOR 
WIRRAL – JULY 2019

Councillor Anita Leech, Cabinet Member for Wirral’s Local Plan, said: 

“The Local Development Scheme sets out the Council’s programme for producing key 
planning documents which underpin Wirral’s Local Plan. Together they set out our vision for 
the borough over the next 15 years. 

The Council is currently pressing ahead with preparing the Local Plan which will play a key 
role in meeting the authority’s pledges relating to people, business and the environment: it 
presents an opportunity for regeneration in the borough, tackling inequality and in doing so 
improving the health and lifestyle of the residents of the borough and boosting employment 
opportunities.
 
Updating the Local Development Scheme in the way set out in this report will enable us to 
achieve this.”

REPORT SUMMARY

This report recommends that Council, at its meeting on the 14th October 2019, is 
recommended to approve revisions to the future timetable for the preparation of the Wirral 
Local Plan, as set out in the revised Local Development Scheme attached to this report 
which will replace the Local Development Scheme adopted by the Council on 6 March 2018.
The approval of the Local Development Scheme is a Key Decision requiring the approval of 
Full Council.
It has become necessary to review the Local Development Scheme because of changes to 
the timetable for the Local Plan; the expanded scope of the Local Plan, which will now be 
produced as a single document, containing both strategic and non-strategic policies; and 
changes to legislation governing the review of Local Plans. Cabinet on 17 December 2018 
resolved that a revised Local Development Scheme be submitted for approval by Council 
once the amended future timetable had been determined (Minute 47 refers).
The revised timetable for the preparation of the Wirral Local Plan, set out within the revised 
Local Development Scheme, will contribute towards the delivery of a wide range of Wirral 
Plan pledges related to People, Business and Environment and the Council’s Medium Term 
Financial Strategy.

Page 469



RECOMMENDATION/S

That Cabinet recommends that Council, at its meeting on the 14th October 2019, be 
recommended to approve the adoption of the revised Local Development Scheme 
attached to this report and resolves that the revised Scheme will come into effect on 
the day following the date that the Council resolution is passed.

Page 470



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To enable the Council to meet the statutory requirements of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 
(England) Regulations 2012 (SI 2012, No. 767).

 
2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 There are no alternative options, as national regulations require the publication of an 
up-to-date Local Development Scheme, as soon as possible after the information 
becomes available.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 The Wirral Local Plan (previously the Core Strategy Local Plan) is a Development 
Plan Document that is intended to set the long-term vision, objectives, strategic and 
non-strategic policies for the Borough over the next 15 years and to provide the 
framework for future Development Plan Documents, neighbourhood planning 
documents, supplementary planning documents and development management 
decisions.

3.2 The timetable for the preparation of the Wirral Local Plan has been revised following a 
review of Development Options, legal advice and in response to the Secretary of 
State’s letter to the Council in January 2019.

3.3 The Wirral Local Plan (which was previously being prepared as Core Strategy) went 
through several stages of public consultation from 2006 onwards culminating in the 
publication of a Proposed Submission Draft Core Strategy in December 2012. The 
revocation of the Regional Spatial Strategy, in May 2013, required the Council to re-
assess the Borough’s housing needs, complicated by results for Wirral from the 2011 
Census, which made previous population and household projections unreliable.

3.4 A revised Strategic Housing Market Assessment (May 2016) was published for public 
consultation in August 2016, alongside the latest update to the Strategic Housing Land 
Availability Assessment, for April 2016 (Cabinet, 18 July 2016, Minute 31 refers). The 
results of consultation were reported to Cabinet in February 2017 and a wider review 
of development options approved (Minute 96 refers).

3.5 The Council’s Cabinet considered a further report on 23 July 2018 setting out the 
results of the Development Options review and approved public consultation on the 
findings (Minute 17 refers). Although comments were received and recorded as soon 
as the Cabinet Report was published in July 2018, formal consultation took place 
between 3 September and 26 October 2018.  

3.6 The consultation drew 3,221 responses from 2,989 individual respondents and an 
update report was considered by the Cabinet on 17 December 2018. Members 
resolved that a revised Local Development Scheme be submitted for approval by the 
Council once an amended future timetable has been determined (Minute 47 refers). A 

Page 471



report setting out the background and results of the consultation along with three 
volumes of consultation responses was published on the Council’s web site at the end 
of February 2019 and can be viewed at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-
building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6

  
3.7 The revised Local Development Scheme sets out the amended timetable for the 

remaining stages of the production of the Wirral Local Plan. The Council’s original 
intention was to re-publish the Local Plan as a proposed submission draft under 
Regulation 19 of the Local Plan Regulations. Advice from the Council’s legal advisors 
and from consultants undertaking the sustainability appraisal of the Local Plan is that 
including an additional stage of public consultation under Regulation 18 is required to 
take account of changes in national planning policy; and to ensure that all the revised 
spatial options and reasonable alternatives and the Council’s revised preferred option, 
are documented and made available for public comment before any final proposals 
are prepared. 

3.8 The timetable prior to the submission of the Wirral Local Plan to public examination is 
also influenced by the completion of key evidence base documents related to the 
review of development options, including housing requirements, land supply and 
development viability, and assessments of Agricultural Land and Economy, Minerals, 
Landscape Character, Recreation and Open Space, Retail and Town Centres, 
Employment and Brownfield Land Options, Transport Modelling and the Green Belt.

3.9 Additionally, the Council has prepared and submitted a Local Plan Action Plan to the 
Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government in response to his 
letter of 28 January 2019. The Action Plan commits the Council to submitting the Local 
Plan to the Secretary of State by November 2020. The Action Plan, covering letter and 
detailed delivery timetable can be viewed at:  https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-
building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan

3.10 Subject to the examination timetable and the need for any further post-examination 
modifications, the Wirral Local Plan is therefore currently expected to be adopted by 
December 2021.

3.11 It is therefore recommended that Council is recommended to formally approve the 
revisions to the future timetable for the preparation of the Wirral Local Plan, set out in 
the revised Local Development Scheme attached to this report, in addition to the 
information that has been continuously updated on the Council’s website.

Neighbourhood Planning

3.12 The Council has now designated five local neighbourhood planning areas, at 
Devonshire Park; Hoylake; Leasowe; Birkenhead and Tranmere; and for Birkenhead 
North, to allow Neighbourhood Forums to prepare their own planning proposals for 
their respective designated areas. Neighbourhood Development Plans have been 
‘made’ (adopted) for Devonshire Park (December 2015) and Hoylake (December 
2016).  The Neighbourhood Forums for Hoylake and Devonshire Park were re-
designated in October 2018 for a further period of five years. The Council were notified 
that the Birkenhead and Tranmere Neighbourhood Forum was formally dissolved in 
June 2018. 

Page 472

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan


3.13 The Wirral Local Plan will set the strategic framework for the preparation of any future 
neighbourhood planning proposals for these and any other communities that may 
apply for designation to prepare neighbourhood planning proposals for their areas.

Duty to Co-operate

3.14 The Council adopted a Statement of Co-operation on Local Planning, with City Region 
Partners, on 17 October 2016 (Council, Minute 64 refers). The 2019 NPPF now 
requires strategic policy-making authorities to prepare and maintain one or more 
statement of common ground, documenting the cross-boundary matters being 
addressed and the progress made in co-operating to address them. A Liverpool City 
Region Statement of Common Ground has been jointly prepared during 2018, for 
approval by the individual districts. The Council will need to prepare a separate 
Statement of Common Ground to address co-operation with Cheshire West and 
Chester Council and other relevant stakeholders as part of the ongoing preparation of 
the Wirral Local Plan.

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 There are no financial implications arising from the publication of the revised Local 
Development Scheme.

4.2 The continued preparation of the Wirral Local Plan will be funded from existing 
resources for Economic and Housing Growth.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the Council to 
prepare and maintain a Statutory Local Development Scheme, to set out the timetable 
for the preparation of development plan documents such as Local Plans. 

5.2 The revised Local Development Scheme for Wirral must be approved by a resolution 
of Full Council, specifying the date from which the Scheme is to have effect and the 
Council must make the Scheme and any more up-to-date information on the timetable 
available to the public, as soon as it becomes available 

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 The Council’s Local Plan will be prepared using existing IT and staff resources in the 
Economic and Housing Growth Directorate and the Council’s Transformation Office.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

7.1 Unless additional land for development can be identified in the emerging Local Plan, 
the absence of an appropriate land supply could lead to the loss of appeals against 
the refusal of planning permission, with costs awarded against the Council, unless any 
adverse impacts of approving the development would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against national policy as a whole (NPPF, 
paragraph 11 refers). 

Page 473



7.2 The Local Development Scheme will be used by Government to assess the Council’s 
progress in the preparation of an up-to-date Local Plan.

7.3 The Council’s existing Local Development Scheme, which dates from March 2015, is 
now out-of-date.

7.4 The Secretary of State has the power to direct amendments to the Local Development 
Scheme, as well as powers over its content and review.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

8.1 National planning guidance states that the Local Development Scheme must be made 
available publicly and kept up-to-date so that local communities and interested parties 
can keep track of progress. Local planning authorities should publish their Local 
Development Scheme on their website. A continuously up-dated record of progress is 
available on the Council’s website at: https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-
building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 The Core Strategy has been subject to ongoing Equality Impact Assessment.  Results 
of previous Equality Impact Assessments prepared at each stage in the preparation of 
the Core Strategy can be viewed at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-
building/local-plans-and-planningpolicy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-0

9.2 The adoption of a revised Local Development Scheme, which only sets out the 
timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan, will not have any additional equalities 
implications

REPORT AUTHOR: Andrew Fraser
Forward Planning Manager
telephone:  (0151) 691 8218
email:   andrewfraser@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 Draft Local Development Scheme (July 2019)

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (Sections 15, 17, 35 and 36 refer)
Localism Act 2011 (Sections 111 and 113 refer)
Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 (Sections 11 and 12 refer) 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)(England) Regulations 2012 (Regulation 34)
National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance (MHCLG)
Local Development Scheme for Wirral (Wirral Council, March 2015)

Page 474

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planningpolicy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-0
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planningpolicy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-0
mailto:andrewfraser@wirral.gov.uk
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2004/5/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2011/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/20/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/contents/made
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
http://planningguidance.communities.gov.uk/
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme


SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Delegated – Local Development Scheme

Council – Local Development Scheme

Cabinet - Core Strategy Local Plan - Report of Further 

Consultation on Housing Need and Land Supply

Environment Overview and Scrutiny – Wirral Local Plan - 

Letter from Secretary of State

Delegated – Local Development Scheme review

Environment Overview and Scrutiny – Wirral Local Plan – 

Report of Progress since 2014

Council – Local Development Scheme adoption

Cabinet – Core Strategy Local Plan – Review of 

Development Options

Cabinet  - Wirral Local Plan – update report

17 December 2014

6 July 2015 (Minute 23)

27 February 2017 (Minute 96)

7 December 2017 (Minute 

40) 

21 December 2017

31 January 2018 (Minute 46)

19 March 2018 (Minute 132)

23 July 2018 (Minute 17)

17 December 2018 (Minute 

47)

Page 475



This page is intentionally left blank



WIRRAL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

PLANNING AND COMPULSORY PURCHASE ACT 2004 (SECTION 15)

LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME FOR WIRRAL

REVISED JULY 2019 

BROUGHT INTO EFFECT BY RESOLUTION OF THE COUNCIL ON XXX  2019

P
age 477



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

2

[blank for copying]

P
age 478



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

3

CONTENTS

1 Introduction 5

2 Background 5

3 The Planning Policy Framework for Wirral 5

4 The Development Plan for Wirral 6

5 Wirral's Future Planning Policy Framework 7

6 The Wirral Local Plan 8

7 Supplementary Planning Documents 13

8 Neighbourhood Planning Documents 13

9 Duty to Co-operate 14

10 Resources 14

11 Risk Assessment 14

12 Monitoring & Review 14

13 Useful Contacts 15

14 Background Documents 15

P
age 479



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

4

[blank for copying]

P
age 480



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

5

1 INTRODUCTION

.. The Local Development Scheme for Wirral is a statutory document setting out the programme for the preparation of Local 
Development Documents produced in accordance with Section 15 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

1.2 The Council’s Local Plan will form part of the statutory Development Plan for the area and will play a major role in the 
determination of individual planning applications and in other decisions taken by the Council and by others under the Town 
and Country Planning Acts.

2 BACKGROUND 

2.1 The first Local Development Scheme for Wirral was approved by the Secretary of State on 31 March 2005 and came into 
effect on 20 May 2005.  Subsequent reviews took place in July 2006, July 2007, January 2010, February 2012, December 
2014 and December 2017.

2.2 This current document replaces the Local Development Scheme adopted by the Council on 6 March 2018.  It has become 
necessary to review the Local Development Scheme because of changes to the timetable for the Local Plan; the expanded 
scope of the Local Plan, which will now be a produced as a single document containing both strategic and non-strategic 
policies, changes to legislation governing the review of Local Plans; and other changes to national policy and guidance. The 
Council's Cabinet on 17 December 2018 resolved that a revised Local Development Scheme should be submitted for 
approval by the Council once an amended future timetable had been determined (Minute 47 refers).  

2.3 Local Development Schemes no longer need to be approved by the Secretary of State before they can come into effect but 
the Secretary of State has powers to direct amendments to the scheme.

3 THE PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK FOR WIRRAL

3.1 The planning policy framework for Wirral is made up of a number of Development Plan Documents and Neighbourhood 
Planning Documents that have been prepared in accordance with subject to a statutory process which together form the 
Statutory Development Plan for Wirral, and a number of other Local Development Documents such as Supplementary 
Planning Documents. 

P
age 481



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

6

4 THE DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR WIRRAL

4.1 The statutory Development Plan for the Metropolitan Borough of Wirral currently comprises the ‘saved’ policies in the Unitary 
Development Plan for Wirral, adopted by the Council in February 2000; and the Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and 
Halton, adopted in July 2013; together with Neighbourhood Development Plans for Devonshire Park and Hoylake.

Unitary Development Plan for Wirral (February 2000)

4.2 The Unitary Development Plan (UDP) is an ‘old-style’ development plan that will be replaced by the new Wirral Local Plan 
and other documents contained within the Local Plan Framework for Wirral.

4.3 A list of the policies and proposals that are no longer in force, following the adoption of the Joint Waste Local Plan, can be 
viewed on the Council’s website at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-
plans/unitary-development-plan/written

4.4 The remaining policies of the Unitary Development Plan, including the Written Statement and Proposals Map, can be viewed 
on the Council’s website at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-
plans/unitary-development-plan 

Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and Halton (July 2013)

4.5 The Joint Waste Local Plan was adopted by each of the six partner councils to come into effect from 18 July 2013.  The 
Joint Waste Local Plan was resolved to be adopted by Wirral Council on 15 July 2013 (Minute 17 refers).

4.6 The Joint Waste Local Plan can be viewed on the Council’s website at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-
plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside

Made Neighbourhood Development Plans

4.7 The Neighbourhood Development Plan for Devonshire Park was made (adopted) in December 2015 and the Neighbourhood 
Development Plan for Hoylake was made in December 2016.  The Neighbourhood Development Plans can be viewed on the 
Council web site at https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning

P
age 482

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

7

Other Planning Documents

4.8 There are a number of additional documents which sit alongside the Development Plan.  These documents currently include:

 a series of Supplementary Planning Guidance Notes and Supplementary Planning Documents to support the delivery of 
existing adopted Development Plan policies;

 a Statement of Community Involvement;
 the Local Development Scheme; and 
 a series of Annual Monitoring Reports.

5 WIRRAL’S FUTURE PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK

5.1 In future, the Development Plan for Wirral will comprise the following documents:

 The Wirral Local Plan and Policies Map;
 The Joint Waste Local Plan for Merseyside and Halton;
 The Spatial Development Strategy for the Liverpool City Region (to be produced by the Liverpool City Region Combined 

Authority); and
 Neighbourhood Planning documents, including Neighbourhood Development Plans, which may be prepared by the local 

community;
5.2 Other planning documents will include: 

 Supplementary Planning Documents and other technical guidance to support the delivery of the Local Plan;
 a Community Infrastructure Levy charging schedule;
 The Local Development scheme;
 The Statement of Community Involvement; and
 Annual Monitoring Reports

5.3 The Joint Waste Local Plan, Neighbourhood Development Plans and the Proposals Map will have status alongside the 
Unitary Development Plan, as part of the statutory Development Plan for Wirral, until the Unitary Development Plan is fully 
replaced by the Wirral Local Plan and Policies Map.

P
age 483



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

8

5.4 A list of the Local Development Documents that have already been adopted is provided at Appendix 1.

5.5 This review of the Local Development Scheme provides for the completion of the Wirral Local Plan, which will set out the 
strategic policies for the area, with which Neighbourhood Plans will need to be in general conformity.   

6 THE WIRRAL LOCAL PLAN

6.1 The Wirral Local Plan (previously the Core Strategy Local Plan) is a Development Plan Document that is intended to set the 
long-term vision, objectives, strategic and non-strategic policies for the Borough over the 15 year period 2020 to 2035 and to 
provide the framework for future Development Plan Documents, Neighbourhood Planning Documents and Supplementary 
Planning Documents.

6.2 Previous Local Development Schemes proposed a two-stage process of Local Plan preparation, initially focused on the 
completion of the Core Strategy Local Plan (containing mainly strategic policies, which would only partially replace the 
Unitary Development Plan) which would be followed by the second stage preparation of a site-specific Land Allocations and 
a Heritage Local Plan.

6.3 The Council now intends to progress the Core Strategy as a single Wirral Local Plan, which will replace the Unitary 
Development Plan in its entirety.  The Wirral Local Plan will also now include detailed site-specific policies including site 
allocations and development management policies, and a Policies Map to replace the Unitary Development Plan Proposals 
Map.

6.4 The stages undertaken to prepare the previous Core Strategy, which will also be used, where relevant, to inform the content 
of the Wirral Local Plan are set out in Appendix 2 and summarised below.  

6.5 Public consultation on Issues, Vision and Objectives took place in February 2009; on Spatial Options in January 2010; on 
Preferred Options in November 2010; on Settlement Area Policies in January 2012; and on a Proposed Submission Draft 
Core Strategy (under Regulation 19 of the Local Plan Regulations) in December 2012.  

6.6 An initial series of proposed modifications to the Proposed Submission Draft Core Strategy were published for public 
comment in July 2013 and a series of further proposed modifications, to policies for Gypsies and Travellers and to policies 
for Town Centres, were published in December 2014. 

P
age 484



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

9

6.7 Reports of consultation are available for each stage of the process undertaken so far and can be viewed on the Council’s 
website at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan

6.8 The revocation of the Regional Spatial Strategy, in May 2013, required the Council to re-assess the Borough’s housing 
needs, complicated by results for Wirral from the 2011 Census, which made previous population and household projections 
unreliable.

6.9 A revised Strategic Housing Market Assessment (May 2016) was published for public consultation in August 2016, alongside 
the latest update to the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA), for April 2016 (Cabinet, 18 July 2016, 
Minute 31 refers).  The results of consultation were reported to Cabinet in February 2017 and a wider review of development 
options approved (Minute 96 refers).  The Council consulted on an updated SHLAA methodology in July 2017 and on the 
proposed Green Belt review methodology in October 2017. 

6.10 The results of the review of Development Options were approved for public consultation on the 23rd July 2018 (Cabinet 
Minute 17 refers). Although comments were received and recorded as soon as the Cabinet Report was published in July 
2018, formal consultation took place between 3 September and 26 October 2018 on the following documents:
 Cabinet Report 27 February 2017;
 Cabinet Report 23 July 2018;
 Playing Pitch Strategy Update November 2017;
 Employment Land and Premises Study Update December 2017;
 Proposed Employment Allocations;
 Proposed Housing Allocations;
 Proposed Mixed-Use Allocations;
 Initial Review of the Green Belt Revised Methodology;
 Initial Green Belt Review Background Report;
 Summary of Initial Green Belt Assessment;
 Proposed Green Belt Sites for Further Investigation; and
 Proposed Green Belt Boundary Corrections

6.11 The consultation drew 3,221 responses from 2,989 individual respondents. A report setting out the background and results of 
the consultation along with three volumes of consultation responses was published on the Council’s web site at the end of 

P
age 485

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

10

February 2019 and can be viewed at http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-
plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6  An update report was considered by the Council's Cabinet on 17 December 2018.  Members 
resolved that a revised Local Development Scheme be submitted for approval by the Council once the amended future 
timetable has been determined (Minute 47 refers).  

Future Local Plan Timetable

6.12 The table below sets out the amended timetable for the production of the Wirral Local Plan.  The Council’s original intention 
was to re-publish the Local Plan as a revised proposed submission draft under Regulation 19 of the Local Plan Regulations. 
Advice from the Council’s legal advisors and from consultants undertaking the sustainability appraisal of the Local Plan is that 
an additional stage of public consultation under Regulation 18 is required to take account of changes in national planning 
policy; and to ensure that all the revised spatial options and reasonable alternatives and the Council’s revised preferred 
option, are documented and made available for public comment before any final proposals are prepared. 

6.13 The timetable prior to the submission of the Wirral Local Plan to public examination is also influenced by the completion of key 
evidence base documents related to the review of development options, including housing requirements, land supply and 
development viability, and assessments of Agricultural Land and Economy, Minerals, Landscape Character, Recreation and 
Open Space, Retail and Town Centres, Employment and Brownfield Land Options, Transport Modelling and the Green Belt.

6.14 Additionally, the Council has prepared and submitted a Local Plan Action Plan to the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government in response to his letter of 28 January 2019.  The Action Plan commits the Council to 
submitting the Local Plan to the Secretary of State by November 2020.  The Action Plan, covering letter and detailed delivery 
timetable can be viewed at:  https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-
strategy-local-plan

6.15 The timetable for the preparation of the Local Plan is set out below. 

P
age 486

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan-6
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/core-strategy-local-plan


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

11

Wirral Local Plan Timetable

Plan Preparation Stage Purpose of the stage Dates (Note that all timings are subject to 
the programming of Cabinet and Council 
meetings)

Evidence gathering and draft plan preparation Formulate vision and objectives for the Local Plan, 
evidence gathering, identify development requirements, 
identify potential spatial options,  identify relevant 
economic, social and environmental objectives to inform 
the sustainability appraisal

During 2019

Public Consultation on draft local plan
(Regulation 18 of the Local Plan Regulations 
2012) and continued work on evidence 
gathering

This document brings together all the strategic evidence 
and sets out the housing and employment requirements 
for the Borough over the plan period and set out the 
Council’s preferred options for distributing this 
development including preferred sites.

January – February 2020

Council approval of publication of the Local 
Plan This is the full Local Plan that the Council wishes to submit 

to the Secretary of State for Examination.  It will include 
both strategic and non-strategic policies. All the evidence 
will be in place at the time of publication. It is the version 
that the Council considers “sound” in terms of the legal 
requirements placed on plan preparation and to be justified 
and deliverable. Following the Council’s approval of the 
Publication version of the Local Plan the policies and 
proposals in the Local plan will have significant weight in 
the decision-taking process.

June 2020 (Cabinet)

July 2020 (Council)

Publication of the Local Plan: (Regulation 19) This will be the formal period for representations to the 
draft plan for a minimum period of 6 weeks, and will give 
communities, stakeholders and other interested persons 
the final opportunity to make comments on the plan 
relating to the “soundness” and legal compliance of the 
Local Plan.  The Council will not review these comments 
other than to identify key issues and potential modifications 
to the Local Plan.  The representations will be passed 
directly to the Inspector undertaking the Local Plan 

July – September 2020

P
age 487



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

12

Examination.
Submission (Regulation 22) This is an administrative stage and relates to the formal 

submission of the documents (including all formal 
representations received during the Publication Deposit 
period, statutory assessments, and evidence base 
documents) to the Secretary of State for independent 
examination by a Planning Inspector. 

November 2020

Local Plan Examination The formal examination of the Local Plan will start when 
the plan is submitted. Hearings will be held into specific 
aspects of the plan during the examination, and “objectors” 
will have the right to be involved in that process. The 
Planning Inspector will assess the Local Plan to determine 
whether it has been prepared in line with the duty to 
cooperate, other legal requirements, and whether it is 
“sound” in line with the requirement of planning legislation. 
At this stage the Council can request that the Inspector 
makes recommendations which would address the issues 
identified during the Examination in order to ensure that 
the plan is “sound”, including proposed modifications to the 
Local Plan, which may require additional public 
consultation.  The Inspector’s conclusions will be set out in 
a report issued to the Council.

During 2021

Local Plan Adoption The Council will receive the inspector’s Report and 
consider the recommendations, before it formally adopts 
the Local Plan.

December 2021 (Council)

6.16 The timetable following the submission of the Local Plan (Regulation 22) should be regarded as indicative only and will be  
for the Planning Inspector (appointed to undertake the public examination of the soundness and legal compliance of the 
proposals) to determine. The length of the examination and reporting will depend on the number of representations received 
and the resources available at the Planning Inspectorate at the time. Therefore, the examination and reporting times shown 
may need to be revised at a later date. The appointed Planning Inspector will decide how the examination will run once the 

P
age 488



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

13

documents and final representations have been submitted.  There may also be a requirement to prepare and consult on main 
modifications to the Local Plan.

6.17 The estimated date for the adoption of the Wirral Local Plan, following submission to public examination in November 2020, is 
now December 2021.

6.18 A continuously up-dated record of progress is available on the Council’s website at https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-
building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme

7 SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING DOCUMENTS

7.1 The Local Development Scheme is no longer required to set out the timetable for the preparation of Supplementary Planning 
Documents.

7.2 The Council consulted on the proposed content of new documents for housing; employment; town centres; and 
telecommunications, to be brought forward alongside the Core Strategy Local Plan, in July 2013.

7.3 The latest progress on the preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents can be viewed on the Council’s website at 
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents.

8 NEIGHBOURHOOD PLANNING DOCUMENTS

8.1 Neighbourhood Planning documents are prepared by the local community and adopted by the Council, to provide further 
detail on planning proposals within local areas.

8.2 The Council has now designated five local neighbourhood planning areas, at Devonshire Park; Hoylake; Leasowe; 
Birkenhead and Tranmere; and for Birkenhead North, to allow Neighbourhood Forums to prepare their own planning 
proposals for their respective designated areas.  Neighbourhood Development Plans have been ‘made’ (adopted) for 
Devonshire Park (December 2015) and Hoylake (December 2016).  The Neighbourhood Forums for Hoylake and Devonshire 
Park were re-designated in October 2018 for a further period of five years. The Council were notified that the Birkenhead and 
Tranmere Neighbourhood Forum was formally dissolved in June 2018.

P
age 489

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

14

8.3 Progress on the preparation of neighbourhood planning documents can be viewed on the Council’s website at 
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning.

9 DUTY TO CO-OPERATE

9.1 The Council adopted a Statement of Co-operation on Local Planning, with City Region Partners, on 17 October 2016 (Council, 
Minute 64 refers). The National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) sets out a duty for public bodies to cooperate on 
strategic matters that cross administrative boundaries. Strategic planning matters are defined as (paragraph 20 refers):

 Housing, employment, retail, leisure and other commercial development,
 the provision of infrastructure, minerals and energy,
 community facilities, and
 conserving and enhancing the historic, built and natural environment and planning measures to climate change mitigation 

and adaptation

9.2 Following participation in a national pilot project a Liverpool City Region Statement of Common Ground has been jointly 
prepared during 2019, for approval by the individual districts.  The Council will also need to prepare a separate Statement of 
Common Ground to address co-operation with Cheshire West and Chester Council and other relevant stakeholders.

10 RESOURCES

10.1 Future land use planning policy documents are prepared by the Forward Planning Team in the Council’s Economic Growth 
and Housing Directorate, which reports to the Council’s Cabinet Member for the Local Plan.

11 RISK ASSESSMENT

11.1 The principal risks to the delivery of the timetable set out in this Local Development Scheme are set out in Appendix 3 and 
will be kept under constant review.

11.2 The risk register will be regularly updated on the Council’s web site at https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-
plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme.

P
age 490

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/local-development-scheme


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

15

12 MONITORING & REVIEW

12.1 Progress on Local Plan preparation is reviewed annually in the Council’s statutory Monitoring Reports.  Previous Monitoring 
Reports can be viewed on the Council’s website at https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-
policy/development-monitoring.

12.2 Changes to the Local Plan Regulations now require that local plans must by reviewed every 5 years from the date of 
adoption, by undertaking an assessment to determine whether the policies need updating.  Local planning authorities have 
to decide either:

 that their policies do not need updating and publish their reasons for this decision; and/ or
 that one or more policies do need updating, and update their Local Development Scheme to set out the timetable for this 

revision. 

12.3   The preparation of the Wirral Local Plan and the Local Development Scheme provides for the review and replacement of the 
policies and proposals currently set out in the ‘saved policies’ of the Wirral Unitary Development Plan adopted February 
2000.

13 USEFUL CONTACTS

13.1 The Forward Planning Team can be contacted:

by post at:
Wirral Council, Economic and Housing Growth, PO Box 290, Brighton Street, Wallasey CH27 9FQ
by telephone at: 0151 691 8110
or at forwardplanning@wirral.gov.uk

14 BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

14.1 The following documents provide additional information on local development document processes and requirements:
 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (HMSO 2004, Chapter 5) (as amended)

P
age 491

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/development-monitoring
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/development-monitoring
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/development-monitoring
mailto:forwardplanning@wirral.gov.uk


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

16

 Localism Act 2011 (HMSO 2011, Chapter 20) (as amended)

 Housing and Planning Act 2016 (HMSO, Chapter 22)

 Neighbourhood Planning Act 2017 (HMSO, Chapter 20)

 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (HMSO SI 2012 No.767) (as amended)

 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (HMSO, SI 2004 No 1633)

 The Conservation (Natural Habitats &c) Regulations 1994 (HMSO, 1994 No 2716) (as amended)

 The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) (HMSO SI 2010 No.490)
The National Planning Policy Framework (February 2019) and associated practice guidance (as continuously updated) can be viewed 
at https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance

P
age 492

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

17

Appendix 1 – Adopted Local Development Documents

1. Local Plans

Unitary Development Plan for Wirral – Adopted February 2000

Written Statement - http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-
plan/written

Proposals Map - http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-
plan/forward

Joint Merseyside and Halton Waste Local Plan – Adopted July 2013

Written Statement - http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-
plan-merseyside

Maps and Plans - http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-
merseyside

2. Neighbourhood Development Plans

Devonshire Park Neighbourhood Plan - Made December 2015
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/devonshire-park

Hoylake Neighbourhood Plan – Made December 2016
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/hoylake

3. Statement of Community Involvement

Statement of Community Involvement - Adopted March 2014
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/community-involvement-local-planning/statement

P
age 493

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/written
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/forward
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/forward
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/unitary-development-plan/forward
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/local-plans/joint-waste-local-plan-merseyside
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/devonshire-park
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/devonshire-park
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/hoylake
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/neighbourhood-planning/hoylake
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/community-involvement-local-planning/statement
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/community-involvement-local-planning/statement


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

18

4. Supplementary Planning Documents

SPD1 – Designing for Development by Mobile Phone Operators – Adopted October 2006
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/designing

SPD2 – Designing for Self-Contained Flat Development and Conversions – Adopted October 2006
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/designing-0

SPD3 – Hot Food Takeaways, Restaurants, Cafes and Drinking Establishments – Adopted October 2006
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/hot-food

SPD4 – Parking Standards - Adopted June 2007
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parkingP

age 494

http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/designing
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/designing
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/designing-0
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/designing-0
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/hot-food
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/hot-food
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parking
http://www.wirral.gov.uk/planning-and-building/local-plans-and-planning-policy/supplementary-planning-documents/parking


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

19

Appendix 2 – Core Strategy Timetable
Document Name: 
Core Strategy Local Plan

Status:
Development Plan Document

Purpose:
To provide the long-term vision, objectives and spatial strategy for the Borough and the framework for future Development Plan Documents
Coverage:
Borough wide

Time Period:
15 years 

Chain of Conformity:
National Planning Policy Framework

Post Adoption Monitoring & Review:
Annual Monitoring Report
5 Yearly Assessment

Departmental Responsibility:
Economic and Housing Growth (Forward Planning) 
forwardplanning@wirral.gov.uk

Contact:
Andrew Fraser, Forward Planning Manager 0151 691 8218

Key Milestones
Preparation (Regulation 18):
Commencement: July 2005
SA Scoping: July 2006
Initial Consultation: September 2007
Issues Vision and Objectives: February 2009

Spatial Options: (Regulation 18) January 2010

Preferred Options: (Regulation 18) November 2010
Settlement Areas:
(Regulation 18)

January 2012

Publication (Regulation 19)
Proposed Submission Draft: December 2012
Initial Modifications: July 2013
Further Modifications: December 2014
Completion of SHMA update May 2016
Further consultation on housing 
need and land supply

August 2016

Development Options Review

Key Stakeholders (Regulation 2 bodies):

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority
Sefton Borough Council
Liverpool City Council
Cheshire West and Chester Council
Flintshire County Council
Other Liverpool City Region Authorities
Liverpool City Region Local Enterprise Partnership
Liverpool City Region Local Nature Partnership
Merseyside Environmental Advisory Service
Homes and Communities Agency
Highways Agency
Merseytravel
Environment Agency
Natural England
Natural Resources Wales
Marine Management Organisation
Historic England
Merseyside Police and Crime Commissioner

P
age 495

mailto:forwardplanning@wirral.gov.uk


Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

20

Consultation on updated SHLAA 
methodology

July 2017

Consultation on proposed Green 
Belt review Methodology

October 2017

Consultation on Results of the 
Development Options Review

September 2018

North West Ambulance Service
Merseyside Fire & Rescue Service
HM Coastguard and RNLI
Office of Rail Regulation and Network Rail
Civil Aviation Authority
Health and Safety Executive
National Health Service Organisations
Conservation Area Advisory Committees
Local Amenity Societies and Friends Groups
Wirral Community Networks
Wirral Wildlife
Developers and Landowners
Utilities and Infrastructure Providers
Local Business Organisations
Neighbourhood Forums
Other General Consultation Bodies

Publication of consultation 
responses

February 2019

P
age 496



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

21

Appendix 3 – Risk Assessment

Risk Description Control Measures

Political Risk of political approval being withheld and/or change 
of leadership and/or direction and/or political priorities

Consultation and involvement of Members in the Local Plan 
preparation process in order to provide ownership, leadership 
and commitment to future implementation.  A Local Plan 
Member Advisory Group consisting of the Group Leaders, 
Cabinet members for the Local Plan and Housing and Planning 
and the Chair of Planning Committee has been established to 
support the Local Plan process. The Environment Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee receive a progress report at each of their 
meetings on Local plan progress.

Procedural Changes in national policy leads to amended 
requirements

Seek to future-proof requirements wherever possible.  Any 
changes are regularly monitored, assessed and responded to 
ensuring that the Local Plan meets the statutory requirements.

Financial  -constrained Council 
budgets, increases in Planning 
Inspectorate fees

Risk of inadequate financial provision hindering 
progress and scope of work required

The Local Plan is a corporate priority and budgetary provision 
has been made available to ensure that a robust Local Plan is 
delivered. Budgets are reviewed with the Director of Finance 
regularly and reviewed at each Local Plan Programme Board 
meeting. 

Staff turnover and recruitment 
difficulties

Staff turnover is difficult to predict. Risk of loss of key 
staff to other employment would severely affect our 
ability to progress the Local Plan work programme in a 
timely manner

Take prompt action to fill vacancies with staff with the 
appropriate skills. Specialist support has been secured to 
support the Local Plan team and this is regularly monitored. 

Staff absence (e.g. long term 
sickness/maternity leave) 

Reduced capacity causing slippage in programme Consider interim arrangements such as temporary 
appointments, use of agency staff or secondment, subject to 
resources

The adequacy of staffing levels will be evaluated through the 
ongoing monitoring of the preparation of the Local Plan

P
age 497



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

22

Risk Description Control Measures

Lack of in-house skills for 
specialised areas of policy 
work/background studies

Slow progress causing a slippage in programme

Evidence base challenged or undermined

Quality compromised

Obtain training for areas where expertise is lacking

Review staffing requirements as part of annual service reviews

Expand partnership working, where possible

Specialist support has been brought in to support the Team.

Appointed consultants fail to 
deliver against requirements set 
out in brief, either in terms of 
quality or timetable

Slow progress causing a slippage in programme

Evidence base challenged or undermined

Quality compromised

Check their capacity and ability to deliver before appointment

Maintain ongoing monitoring of performance

Pressure on staff time due to 
competing work streams

Diverts team from Local Plan work causing slippage in 
programme

The Local Plan is recognised as a corporate priority

Team dedicated to the Local Plan

Legal Risk of non-compliance with legal procedures and 
requirements and/or judicial review leading to adopted 
Local Plan being quashed and additional workloads

Changes in plan-making requirements/procedures can 
also result in delays

Ensure relevant legislation/ regulations are checked and 
complied with at each stage

It is not possible to easily plan for further changes to the 
planning system.  The Council will endeavor to deal with new 
requirements with minimum disruption to the timetable as part of 
ongoing monitoring

QC appointed in November 2018.

Programme Officer identified for Local Plan examination.

Third Parties Risk of comments and representations from third 
parties causing delay (including lengthening of 

Consultation and involvement of relevant stakeholders

P
age 498



Effective from XX 2019

Local Development Scheme for Wirral
July 2019

23

Risk Description Control Measures

examination) and/or additional expense from 
unexpected volumes and/or unforeseen issues arising, 
with need for additional evidence and/or consultation

Ensure timetable is realistic but has some flexibility built in and 
monitor progress against LDS

Consider the need for additional resources as part of ongoing 
monitoring

Joint working with other internal 
departments and/or external 
authorities causes delay

Key milestones in programme not met

Duty to Co-operate not met

Ensure timescales for Local Plan realistically reflect partner 
authorities ability to contribute to joint working

Ensure commitment to milestone dates and resource allocation 
is obtained from relevant parties in advance

Capacity of the Planning 
Inspectorate

Examination and/or Inspectors Report is delayed

Key milestones in programme not met

Close liaison with the Planning Inspectorate to ensure early 
warning of any problems

The Council has sought to minimise the volume of issues to be 
resolved at examination, through ensuring a robust evidence 
base and wide pre–submission public consultation. 

Soundness – Local Plan found 
unsound by Planning 
Inspectorate

Inspectors modifications required  

Local Plan cannot be adopted without significant 
additional work, possibly including repeated stages of 
preparation and consultation

Ensure Local Plan is legally compliant, founded on a robust 
evidence base, accompanied by appropriate assessments and 
appraisals and well-audited community and stakeholder 
engagement. Timetable allows for possible consultation on main 
modifications, if required.

Use of self-assessment toolkit (published by national advisor 
PAS)

Maintain awareness of best practice

P
age 499



T
his page is intentionally left blank



MINUTE EXTRACT

STANDARDS AND CONSTITUTIONAL OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

26 SEPTEMBER 2019

12 CONSTITUTIONAL ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE OPERATION OF THE 
NORTHERN LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME INVESTMENT POOL 

A Report by the Director of Governance and Assurance introduced by the Director of 
the Merseyside Pension Fund sought the Committee’s approval to the constitutional 
arrangements that the Pension Committee, at its meeting on 16 July 2019, had 
recommended to the Council in order to implement the requirements imposed on 
administering authorities for local government pension schemes by the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 
2016 (the Investment Regulations) to establish, in accordance with the guidance of 
the Secretary of State arrangements with other LGPS Pension Funds to pool 
investments in order to oversee greater efficiency and economise on the costs of 
investment management.

The Committee noted that Tameside and Bradford Councils were the administering 
authorities for the local government pension schemes in Greater Manchester and 
West Yorkshire respectively.

The Committee also noted that the Pensions Committee had proposed that the 
Council, in its capacity as administering authority for the LGPS in Merseyside should 
enter into pooling arrangements with Tameside and Bradford Councils and to that end 
set up a Joint Governance Committee composed of elected representatives of all three 
authorities to oversee the implementation of the pooling of investments by the three 
LGPS schemes.

No other options were being considered since the reasons for the recommendations 
were adequate, and had the support of the Council’s Pensions Committee and 
Tameside and Bradford Councils.

Appended to the report were:

 Minute No. 27 Extract of the meeting of the Pensions Committee held on 16 
July 2019; 

 the report of the Director of Pensions to the Pensions Committee on 16 July 
2019; and

 the draft Northern LGPS Operating Agreement.

The Pensions Director was in attendance at the meeting and answered Members 
questions on the following matters raised.

 The option for a pooling company was not a statutory or regulatory requirement.  
An exemption could be obtained under Section 9 of the Financial Services and 

Page 501

Agenda Item 9f



Markets Act.  It could be demonstrated to the Government that the three local 
authorities were operating on a joint venture basis. Operating as a joint venture 
was the lower cost option and advice had been taken on this. The Pool was not 
seeking to incur unnecessary costs.

 Compulsory exit and voluntary exit procedures.
 Indemnity and protection of Members against any personal sanctions whilst 

carrying out functions as a Councillor were covered by the Public Health Act 
1875 and by the Council’s insurance.

 There was no uncertainty over the assets of the Merseyside Pensions Fund.  
The agreement had been structured in such a way that the assets of the 
Merseyside Pension Fund would be returned to the Fund in the fullness of time.

 Pooling partners and ethical investors. 
 The Joint Investment Policy that was in place.

RESOLVED:

That this Committee recommends to the Council:

(1) the proposed principles of governance contained in the draft Operating 
Agreement approved by the Pensions Committee at its meeting on 16 July 
2019 and in particular the establishment of a Joint Committee with Tameside 
and Bradford Councils to oversee the required arrangements for the pooling 
of investments by all three Pension Funds;

(2) the Chair and Vice Chair of the Pensions Committee (or as otherwise 
determined by Pensions Committee) be the Council’s elected 
representatives on the Joint Committee; and

(3) the Director of Pensions in consultation with the Director: Governance and 
Assurance be given delegated authority to negotiate and agree with 
Tameside and Bradford Councils the details of the final draft of the 
Operating Agreement within the parameters of the principles of governance 
approved by the Pensions Committee and the Standards and Constitutional 
Oversight Committee.

Page 502



EXTRACT

PENSIONS COMMITTEE 16 JUL 2019

MIN 27 POOL OPERATING AGREEMENT

The Director of Pensions introduced a report that provided Members with a progress 
report on the implementation of governance arrangements in relation to Merseyside 
Pension Fund’s participation in the Northern LGPS pool (NLGPS). 

A copy of the Operating Agreement for the Northern LGPS, which had been taken to 
Council on 15 July for approval, was attached at Appendix A to the report.  The 
Operating Agreement had been the subject of a report to Pensions Committee on 29 
October 2018.

The report informed that in the July Budget 2015, the Chancellor had announced the 
Government’s intention to work with Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) (the 
Scheme) administering authorities to ensure that they pooled investments to 
significantly reduce costs while maintaining overall investment performance.  The 
Government had subsequently issued the criteria which set out how administering 
authorities could deliver against the Government’s expectations of pooling assets.  
The report addressed the second of those criteria - Strong governance and decision 
making.  Pooling has been a standing item on the Pensions Committee agenda since 
that time.

It was reported that in response to the Government’s pooling requirements, eight 
pension pools had been established across England & Wales encapsulating the 88 
local government pension funds - and a range of pooling structures had been put in 
place.  Merseyside Pension Fund had formed the Northern LGPS pool with two other 
local government pension funds; Greater Manchester and West Yorkshire Pension 
Funds, all large, cost effective Metropolitan funds. The individual funds would retain 
their current role of setting asset allocation and investment policy and would delegate 
the implementation of that policy to the Northern LGPS.

Members were informed that a Joint Governance Committee would be formed which 
would have responsibility for ensuring that the appropriate structure and resources 
were in place to implement the policy required by each fund, those resources to be 
provided by the three Funds.  The principal activities of the Joint Governance 
Committee were set out in Schedule 2 of the appendix to the report.

The Director of Pensions advised that a meeting had been held in March 2018 with 
the advisors to all three funds and the NLGPS shadow Joint Governance Committee 
to consider options for developing the pool. The unanimously supported conclusion 
had been to design a simple, low cost pool that will continue delivering the 
performance the funds expect.

The Northern LGPS Operating Agreement was attached to the report as Appendix A, 
and set out how the Northern LGPS will operate, with the three partners having equal 
voting rights, being responsible for costs on an equal basis (except investment 

Page 503



management costs which will be attributed in proportion to the assets being managed). 
The Agreement also appointed Tameside Borough Council (the administering 
authority for Greater Manchester Pension Fund) as the host council. The key items of 
note were those contained in the first three schedules to the agreement, which 
determined the:-

• Matters reserved to the Pooling Partners
• Joint Governance Committee Terms of Reference
• Joint Governance Committee Procedure

Following agreement by Pensions Committee on 29 October 2018, the Director of 
Pensions and the Borough Solicitor had been reviewing the Operating Agreement and 
liaising with pool partners and advisors with a view to ensuring a mutually acceptable 
agreement that provides Wirral, as administering authority, with the ability to discharge 
its responsibilities. 

Recommended – That Committee approves and recommends to the Standards 
and Constitutional Oversight Committee and full Council the proposed 
principles of governance contained in the draft Operating Agreement and 
delegates to the Director of Pensions and the Director: Governance and 
Assurance the authority to negotiate and agree with Tameside and Bradford 
Councils the final draft of the Operating Agreement in consultation with the 
Chair.

Page 504



WIRRAL COUNCIL
PENSIONS COMMITTEE

16 JULY 2019

SUBJECT: NORTHERN LGPS OPERATING 
AGREEMENT

WARD/S AFFECTED: NONE

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR  OF PENSIONS

KEY DECISION?  NO

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY
1.1 This report provides Members with a progress report on the implementation of 

governance arrangements in relation to Merseyside Pension Fund’s participation 
in the Northern LGPS pool (NLGPS). 

1.2   A copy of the Operating Agreement for the Northern LGPS, which was taken to 
Council on 15 July for approval, is attached at Appendix A.  The Operating 
Agreement was the subject of a report to Pensions Committee on 29 October 
2018.

2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES
2.1 In the July Budget 2015, the Chancellor announced the Government’s intention to 

work with Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) (the Scheme) administering 
authorities to ensure that they pooled investments to significantly reduce costs 
while maintaining overall investment performance.  The Government subsequently 
issued the following criteria which set out how administering authorities could 
deliver against the Government’s expectations of pooling assets.  This report 
addresses the second of those criteria - Strong governance and decision 
making.  

Pooling has been a standing item on the Pensions Committee agenda since that 
time.

 
Pooling Criteria

l. Asset pool(s) that achieve the benefits of scale:  The 89 administering 
authorities in England and Wales should collaborate to establish, and invest 
through asset pools, each with at least £25bn of Scheme assets. The proposals 
should describe these pools, explain how each administering authority’s assets will 
be allocated among the pools, describe the scale benefits that these arrangements 

Page 505



are expected to deliver and explain how those benefits will be realised, measured 
and reported. 

ll. Strong governance and decision making: The proposed governance structure 
for the pools should: 

I. At the local level, provide authorities with assurance that their investments 
are being managed appropriately by the pool, in line with their stated 
investment strategy and in the long-term interests of their members; 

II. At the pool level, ensure that risk is adequately assessed and managed, 
investment implementation decisions are made with a long-term view, and 
a culture of continuous improvement is adopted. 

Authorities should also revisit their internal processes to ensure efficient and 
effective decision making and risk management, while maintaining appropriate 
democratic accountability. Authorities should explain: 

• The governance structure for their pool(s), including the accountability 
between the pool(s) and elected councillors, and how external scrutiny will be 
used. 

• The mechanisms by which the authority can hold the pool(s) to account and 
secure assurance that their investment strategy is being implemented 
effectively and their investments are being well managed. 

• Decision making procedures at all stages of investment, and the rationale 
underpinning this. 

• The shared objectives for the pool(s), and any policies that are to be agreed 
between participants. 

• The resources allocated to the running of the pool(s), including the 
governance budget, the number of staff needed and the skills and expertise 
required. 

• How any environmental, social and corporate governance policies will be 
handled by the pool(s). 

• How the authorities will act as responsible, long term investors through the 
pool(s), including how the pool(s) will determine and enact stewardship 
responsibilities. 

• How the net performance of each asset class will be reported publically by 
the pool, to encourage the sharing of data and best practice. 

• The extent to which benchmarking is used by the authority to assess their 
own governance and performance and that of the pool(s), for example by 
undertaking the Scheme Advisory Board’s key performance indicator 
assessment. 

lll. Reduced costs and excellent value for money: In addition to the fees paid for 
investment, there are further hidden costs that are difficult to ascertain and so are 
rarely reported in most pension fund accounts. To identify savings, authorities are 
expected to take the lead in this area and report the costs they incur more 
transparently. Proposals should explain how the pool(s) will deliver substantial 

Page 506



savings in investment fees, both in the near term and over the next 15 years, while 
at least maintaining overall investment performance. 

Active fund management should only be used where it can be shown to deliver 
value for money, and authorities should report how fees and net performance in 
each listed asset class compare to a passive index. In addition authorities should 
consider setting targets for active managers which are focused on achieving risk-
adjusted returns over an appropriate long term time period, rather than solely 
focusing on short term performance comparisons. 

lV. An improved capacity to invest in infrastructure: Only a very small proportion 
of Local Government Pension Scheme assets are currently invested in 
infrastructure; pooling of assets may facilitate greater investment in this area. 
Proposals should explain how infrastructure will feature in authorities’ investment 
strategies and how the pooling arrangements can improve the capacity and 
capability to invest in this asset class. 

2.2 Pooling of investments has resulted in some fundamental changes to the oversight 
and management of LGPS assets.  Importantly, administering authorities retain 
responsibility for most aspects of pensions including matters such as: investment 
strategy, pension liabilities, asset allocation and responsible investment policy.   
However, manager selection has been explicitly made a Pool decision.  Practically 
speaking, this makes little difference to current arrangements at MPF where fund 
officers have significant involvement in the management of the fund’s assets 
including the selection of managers.  Officers will continue to manage this area but 
collaboratively with officers of the pool partner funds.

2.3 In response to the Government’s pooling requirements, eight pension pools have 
been established across England & Wales encapsulating the 88 local government 
pension funds - and a range of pooling structures have been put in place.  
Merseyside Pension Fund has formed the Northern LGPS pool with two other local 
government pension funds; Greater Manchester and West Yorkshire Pension 
Funds, all large, cost effective Metropolitan funds. The individual funds will retain 
their current role of setting asset allocation and investment policy, and will delegate 
the implementation of that policy to the Northern LGPS.   

2.4 A Joint Governance Committee will be formed which will have responsibility for 
ensuring the appropriate structure and resources are in place to implement the 
policy required by each fund, those resources to be provided by the three Funds. 
The principal activities of the Joint Governance Committee are set out in Schedule 
2 of the appendix.

2.5 The Joint Governance Committee will consist of two Members appointed by each 
Fund plus a total of three trade union representatives and will not have any direct 
involvement in the appointment of managers or selection of investments. As 
required in the Guidance, these matters will be fully delegated to professional 
officers.  

Page 507



2.6 The long-term vision for the pool is to provide access to:
 a range of internal and externally managed listed assets at low cost
 collective investment in alternatives, while building skill to enable cost 

reduction by increasing direct access
 working arrangements with other pools where greater size may add value.

2.7 The investment philosophy is to maintain simple arrangements, with a relatively low 
number of managers, low manager and portfolio turnover, an increasing proportion 
of assets managed internally within the pool, with individual funds retaining the 
ability to select asset class, territory, and active or passive management.

2.8 A meeting was held in March 2018 with the advisors to all three funds and the 
NLGPS shadow Joint Governance Committee to consider options for developing 
the pool. The unanimously supported conclusion was to design a simple, low cost 
pool that will continue delivering the performance the funds expect.

2.9 The Northern LGPS Operating Agreement is attached to this report as Appendix A, 
and sets out how the Northern LGPS will operate, with the three partners having 
equal voting rights, being responsible for costs on an equal basis (except 
investment management costs which will be attributed in proportion to the assets 
being managed). The Agreement also appoints Tameside Borough Council (the 
administering authority for Greater Manchester Pension Fund) as the host council. 
The key items to note are those contained in the first three schedules to the 
agreement, which determine the:-

 Matters reserved to the Pooling Partners
 Joint Governance Committee Terms of Reference
 Joint Governance Committee Procedure

2.10 An earlier iteration of this Operating Agreement has been approved at Council 
meetings of both the partner funds’ administering authorities. 

2.11 Since approval by Bradford Council and Tameside Council, the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government has issued further Pooling 
Guidance.  This was the subject of an informal consultation which closed in March 
2019.  The Pool’s response to this consultation is available at:   
https://northernlgps.org/assets/pdf/2019-03-19_statguidanceresponse.pdf
There has been no formal response to the consultation.  The Minister has 
announced, subsequently, that the Guidance will be reissued for a formal 
consultation.  However, the timetable for this to happen is unclear and it is 
important that an oversight body is formally constituted by NLGPS in order to 
comply with the extant 2015 guidance.

2.12 The recently issued draft Pooling guidance contained a number of changes, setting 
out the requirements on administering authorities in relation to the pooling of LGPS 
assets, building on previous Ministerial communications and guidance on 
investment strategies, and taking account of the current state of progress on 
pooling.  If the Guidance was to be issued as drafted, the most significant 
implication for the Northern LGPS would be the requirement, as set out in section 
3, to establish a pool company for the majority of assets which ‘must be a company 

Page 508

https://northernlgps.org/assets/pdf/2019-03-19_statguidanceresponse.pdf


regulated by the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) with appropriate FCA 
permissions for regulated activities’.  Was this to be the case, the governance 
arrangements proposed for approval would remain essentially intact although the 
Joint Committee’s oversight would be in relation to the pool company rather than 
the Officer Working Group - as detailed in Schedule 4.

2.13 Following agreement by Pensions Committee on 29 October 2018, the Director of 
Pensions and the Borough Solicitor have been reviewing the Operating Agreement 
and liaising with pool partners and advisors with a view to ensuring a mutually 
acceptable agreement that provides Wirral, as administering authority, with the 
ability to discharge its responsibilities. 

2.14 The pooling reports have also been extensively reviewed by the Local Pension 
Board which has commended the approach adopted by the Northern LGPS. 

3.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
3.1 Pooling will result in fundamental changes to oversight and management of LGPS 

assets. It is essential that appropriate governance arrangements are put in place 
to ensure that Pensions Committee can exercise its responsibilities in accordance 
with the Council’s constitution.  

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
4.1 No other options have been considered.

5.0 CONSULTATION 
5.1 The Pooling consultation has been discussed with the Merseyside Directors of 

Finance and stakeholders have been kept informed of the pooling consultation 
and its implications.

6.0 OUTSTANDING PREVIOUSLY APPROVED ACTIONS 
6.1  There are no previously approved actions outstanding.

7.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS
7.1 There are none arising from this report.

8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS 
8.1 There are none arising directly from this report.  The anticipated financial costs 

of establishing pooling arrangements and the projected savings over the long-
term are set out in the Fund’s pooling submission of 15 July 2016.

9.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
9.1 There is a requirement to establish a Joint Governance Committee with 

Tameside and Bradford Councils in order to oversee the implementation of the 
pooling arrangements by the officers of the 3 Councils;

Page 509



9.2 The Committee will need to re-consider the  pooling arrangements in the light of 
future guidance from MHCLG;

9.3 The details of the Operating Agreement have yet to be finalised with Tameside 
and Bradford Councils but no major differences have been identified.

10.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS
10.1 Has the potential impact of your proposal(s) been reviewed with regard to 

equality?

(b) No because there is no relevance to equality.

11.0 CARBON REDUCTION AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 
11.1 There are no carbon usage implications, nor any other relevant environmental 

issues arising from this report.

12.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
12.1 There are none arising from this report.

13.0 RECOMMENDATION/S
Subject to the decision of the full Council at its meeting on 15/7/19, it is 
recommended that;

13.1 The Committee approves and commends to the Full Council the proposed 
principles of governance contained in the draft Operating Agreement and 
delegates to the Director of Pensions and the Director: Governance and 
Assurance the authority to negotiate and agree with Tameside and Bradford  
Councils the final draft of the Operating Agreement in consultation with the 
Chair.

13.2    That Members note the in principle approval of the Operating Agreement by 
Council and consider whether any amendments are required before it is 
formally adopted in the Constitution.

14.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
14.1 Guidance issued by MHCLG requires that a Pool oversight body is established by 

administering authorities.  Pooling will result in fundamental changes to oversight 
and management of LGPS assets. 

REPORT AUTHOR: PETER WALLACH
Director of Pensions
telephone (0151) 2421309
email peterwallach@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS/REFERENCE MATERIAL

Page 510



BRIEFING NOTES HISTORY

Briefing Note Date

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
An update report is brought to each Pensions 
Committee

Page 511



This page is intentionally left blank



014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

Dated 2019

Northern LGPS Joint Governance 
Committee Agreement

between

Tameside Metropolitan 

Borough Council

City of Bradford Metropolitan 

Borough Council

Wirral Metropolitan Borough 

Council

(1)

(2)

(3)

Page 513



014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

CONTENTS

1 INTERPRETATION.............................................................................................................5

2 COMMENCEMENT AND TERM.........................................................................................8

3 FORMATION OF THE JOINT GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE ............................................8

4 SHARED OBJECTIVES......................................................................................................8

5 HOST COUNCIL .................................................................................................................9

6 INDEMNITIES...................................................................................................................10

7 COMMITMENT OF THE POOLING PARTNERS AND COSTS........................................10

8 ACCOUNTS......................................................................................................................11

9 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY ...........................................................................................11

10 REPORTS.........................................................................................................................11

11 INSURANCE.....................................................................................................................11

12 DUTIES AND POWERS....................................................................................................11

13 DELEGATION...................................................................................................................12

14 OBLIGATIONS ON POOLING PARTNERS......................................................................13

15 POLICIES AND PROCEDURES.......................................................................................13

16 VOLUNTARY EXIT ...........................................................................................................13

17 COMPULSORY EXIT........................................................................................................14

18 FURTHER PROVISIONS RELATING TO A VE AUTHORITY OR A CE AUTHORITY.....15

19 NEW POOLING PARTNER ..............................................................................................15

20 CONFIDENTIALITY ..........................................................................................................16

21 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ........................................................................................17

22 DATA PROTECTION ........................................................................................................18

Page 514



014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

23 DISSOLUTION..................................................................................................................18

24 NO PARTNERSHIP ..........................................................................................................18

25 ENTIRE AGREEMENT .....................................................................................................19

26 NOTICES ..........................................................................................................................19

27 CONTRACTS (THIRD PARTY RIGHTS)..........................................................................19

28 SEVERANCE....................................................................................................................20

29 AMENDMENTS ................................................................................................................20

30 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION.........................................................................20

31 ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION.........................................................................20

SCHEDULE 1 MATTERS RESERVED TO THE POOLING PARTNERS IN THEIR RESPECTIVE 
CAPACITIES.....................................................................................................................23

SCHEDULE 2 JOINT GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE.........................24

SCHEDULE 3 JOINT GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE PROCEDURE............................................26

SCHEDULE 4 OFFICER WORKING GROUP TERM SOF REFERENCE....................................31

SCHEDULE 5 DEED OF ADHERENCE........................................................................................33

Page 515



4 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

THIS Agreement  is made on 2019

BY

(1) TAMESIDE METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL of Guardsman Tony Downes House, 5 
Manchester Road, Droylsden, Manchester M43 6SF ("Tameside");

(2) CITY OF BRADFORD METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL of Aldermanbury House, 4 
Godwin street, Bradford, BD1 2ST  ("Bradford"); and 

(3) WIRRAL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL of Castle Chambers, 43 Castle Street, 
Liverpool L2 9SH ("Wirral")

(together referred to as the "Pooling Partners" and individually as a "Pooling Partner")

BACKGROUND

(A) The Pooling Partners are all councils responsible for the administration of local 

government pensions within their areas as set out in the Local Government Act 1972 

and the Superannuation Act 1972.

(B) The Pooling Partners are each required by Regulation 7(1) of the Investment Regulations 

to have formulated an investment strategy in accordance with Statutory Guidance issued 

by the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government as issued 

from time to time. 

(C) Regulation 7(2)(d) of the Investment Regulations requires in particular that each LGPS 

administering authority sets outs its "approach to pooling investments, including the use 

of collective investment vehicles and shared services" in its investment strategy 

statement.

(D) Having regard to their obligations under the Investment Regulations, the Pooling Partners 

have therefore agreed to establish and participate in a formal joint committee, known as 

the "Northern LGPS Joint Governance Committee", pursuant to section 101 and section 

102 of the Local Government Act 1972. They have also collaborated in:

(i) the joint procurement of Northern Trust as the Pool Custodian;

(ii) the creation of Northern LGPS Private Equity Limited Partnership; and

(iii) investing alongside each other in GLIL Infrastructure LLP.

(E) The Pooling Partners intend that the terms of this Agreement shall govern the Northern 

LGPS Joint Governance Committee by creating arrangements for asset pooling and the 

sharing of services among the Pooling Partners in order to achieve improved net 

investment returns.

Page 516



5 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

(F) The Agreement gives the Pooling Partners equal rights and status except whether 

otherwise stated.

(G) Neither the execution of this Agreement nor the carrying on of activities under it is 

intended by the Pooling Partners to constitute the carrying on of any "regulated activity" 

under section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA"). In 

particular, the Northern LGPS Joint Governance Committee shall not constitute the 

establishment or operation of a Collective Investment Scheme under s235 of FSMA.

AGREED TERMS

1 INTERPRETATION

1.1 The following definitions and rules of interpretation apply in this Agreement.

Business Day means a day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or a public holiday in 

England when banks in London are open for business.

Chief Executive means the person appointed by a Pooling Partner from time to time 

under section 4 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

CIPFA Guidance means the guidance published in March 2019 by the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy entitled "Preparing the Annual Report: 

Guidance for Local Government Pension Funds".

Commencement Date means [              ] 2019.

Financial Year means in the case of the first Financial Year, the period from the 

Commencement Date to (and including) the following 31 March. For subsequent 

Financial Years the period between 1 April and 31 March (inclusive) and for the last 

Financial Year any lesser period necessary.

Fund means the fund maintained by each Pooling Partner in respect of the LGPS.

Host Council means the Pooling Partner appointed in accordance with clause 6 and 

whose duties are described within that clause.

Investment Regulations means the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management 

and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2016 (SI 2016/946).

Joint Governance Committee means the joint committee formed by this Agreement.

LGPS means the Local Government Pension Scheme established pursuant to regulations 

made by the Secretary of State in exercise of powers under section 7 and 12 of the 

Superannuation Act 1972 and the provisions of the PSPA 2013.

Page 517



6 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

Member in this Agreement means a member of the Joint Governance Committee 

appointed in accordance with clause 3.3.

Monitoring Officer means the person designated by each Pooling Partner for the 

purposes of section 5 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.

Northern LGPS means the collaboration by the Pooling Partners in respect of their pooling 

of investments and use of collective investment vehicles and shared services, including, 

without limitation, those collaborations mentioned in Recital D to this Agreement.

Officer Working Group means the group of officers whose terms of reference are set out 

in Schedule 4.

Pension Board means a local pension board or a joint local pension board within the 

meaning given to each phrase by regulation 106 of the Local Government Pension 

Scheme Regulations 2013 (SI 2013/2356) and section 5 of the PSPA 2013.

Pooling Contribution means as defined in clause 7.1.

Pool Custodian means the FCA regulated entity appointed to act as 'master record 

keeper' for all assets of the LGPS funds administered by the Pooling Partners and to 

provide additional services to the Pooling Partners as set out in the relevant contracts.

Pooling Partners means the parties to this Agreement and any other administering 

authorities within the LGPS who become parties to this Agreement after the 

Commencement Date.  Unless the context otherwise specifies references to an action or 

decision to be taken by a Pooling Partner shall be construed by reference to its pensions 

committee or equivalent body, and shall not refer to the Members of the Joint Governance 

Committee representing it under this Agreement.

PSPA 2013 means the Public Service Pensions Act 2013.

S151 officer means the person appointed by each Pooling Partner for the purposes of 

section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.

Secretary of State means the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

or such replacement department which has responsibility for the LGPS.

Shared Objectives has the meaning given by clause 4.

Statutory Guidance means the "Local Government Pension Scheme: Investment 

Reform Criteria and Guidance" ("November 2015 Guidance") and the "Local 

Government Pension Scheme: Guidance on Preparing and Maintaining an Investment 

Strategy Statement", issued in September 2016 but as amended in July 2017 ("July 2017 

Page 518



7 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

Guidance"), both as amended from time to time.

Terms of Reference means the governing framework concerning the functions and 

operations of the Joint Governance Committee as set out in Schedule 3.

1.2 Clause, schedule and paragraph headings shall not affect the interpretation of this 

agreement.

1.3 A person includes a natural person, corporate or unincorporated body (whether or not 

having a separate legal personality).

1.4 The schedules form part of this agreement and shall have effect as if set out in full in the 

body of this agreement. Any reference to this agreement includes the schedules.

1.5 A reference to a company shall include any company, corporation or other body 

corporate, wherever and however incorporated or established.

1.6 Unless the context otherwise requires, words in the singular include the plural and in the 

plural include the singular.

1.7 Unless the context  otherwise  requires,  a  reference  to  one  gender  shall  include  a 

reference to the other genders.

1.8 A reference to a statute or statutory provision is a reference to it as amended, extended 

or re-enacted from time to time and includes any subordinate legislation made from time 

to time under it.

1.9 A reference to writing or written includes faxes and email.

1.10 Documents in agreed form are documents in the form agreed by the parties and initialed 

by them or on their behalf for identification.

1.11 References to clauses and schedules are to the clauses and schedules of this 

Agreement; references to paragraphs are to paragraphs of the relevant schedule.

1.12 Any words following the terms include, including, in particular or for example or any 

similar expression shall be construed as illustrative and shall not limit the sense of the 

words, description, definition, phrase or term preceding them.

1.13 Any obligation in this agreement on a person not to do something includes an obligation 

not to agree or allow that thing to be done.

1.14 Any reference to the title of an officer or any of the Pooling Partners shall include any 

person holding such office from time to time by the same or any title substituted 

thereafter or such other officer of the relevant Pooling Partner as that Pooling Partner 

may from time to time appoint to carry out the duties of the officer referred to.

Page 519



8 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

2 COMMENCEMENT AND TERM

2.1 This Agreement shall commence on the Commencement Date and shall continue until 

the earlier of the following:

(a) all of the Pooling Partners agree in writing to its termination; or

(b) there  is  only  one  remaining  Constituent  Authority  who  has  not  exited  this 

Agreement in accordance with clauses 19 or 20.

3 FORMATION OF THE JOINT GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

3.1 The Pooling Partners by this Agreement hereby form the Joint Governance Committee 

pursuant to section 101(5) and 102(1) of the Local Government Act 1972 for the purposes 

of overseeing and reporting on the performance of the Northern LGPS. The Joint 

Governance Committee shall not be responsible for formulating or revising the investment 

strategy described by regulation 7 of the Investment Regulations in respect of each or 

any of the Pooling Partners.

3.2 Meetings of the Joint Governance Committee are subject to the provisions of the Local 

Government Act 1972 including the provisions on access to information and meetings 

held in public.

3.3 Unless agreed otherwise, the membership of the Joint Governance Committee shall 

be as set out in Schedule 3.

3.4 The Joint Governance Committee shall undertake its role and act in accordance with the 

Terms of Reference set out in Schedule 2 and shall seek and have regard to the advice of 

officers and any professional advisors appointed in carrying out its functions under this 

Agreement.

3.5 Every meeting shall be governed by the procedure and requirements set out in Schedule 

3.

3.6 A programme of training will be provided to Members having regard to CIPFA Guidance 

and the training provided to Members in their roles on their respective Pooling Partner 

pension committees. Any failure to undertake the required training shall be a matter for 

consideration by the Joint Governance Committee.

4 SHARED OBJECTIVES

4.1 The Shared Objectives of the Joint Governance Committee are to:

(a) improve the risk-adjusted net investment returns of the Funds of the Pooling 

Partners;

Page 520



9 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

(b) enhance stakeholder engagement activities;

(c) facilitate increased investment in UK infrastructure;

(d) assist the Pooling Partners in ensuring continued compliance with the Investment 

Regulations and Statutory Guidance.

4.2 The Shared Objectives will be reviewed by the Joint Governance Committee and the 

Pooling Partners annually. Where any revisions are agreed by the Joint Governance 

Committee the revised Shared Objectives shall be sent to all Pooling Partners for their 

approval.

5 HOST COUNCIL

5.1 The Pooling Partners have agreed, with effect from the Commencement Date, that 

Tameside will be the Host Council for the Northern LGPS acting on behalf of itself and 

the Pooling Partners and Tameside agrees to act in that capacity subject to the terms of 

this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the role of Host Council, unless otherwise 

agreed by the Joint Governance Committee, includes:

(a) being the point of contact for the Northern LGPS;

(b) providing such administrative resources and facilities that may be necessary for 

the Northern LGPS, preparing an annual budget for the operation of the Joint 

Governance Committee, holding all Pooling Contributions and paying expenses 

and costs of the Joint Governance Committee (as agreed with the other Pooling 

Partners in advance of expenditure being incurred);

(c) providing such governance and administrative services that may be necessary 

for the purpose of supporting the Northern LGPS including arranging and 

clerking of meetings;

(d) providing training for Members to support their role on the Joint Governance 

Committee in line with the training programme and in accordance with clause 3.6;

(e) entering into contracts for supplies and services as required for the purposes 

of the Northern LGPS.

5.2 Save and except where otherwise required by law, all staff employed by the Host Council 

who are engaged in providing services under this Agreement shall be employed on the 

Host Council's relevant terms and conditions of employment and related staff policies 

including salary structures.

5.3 A replacement Host Council may be appointed by a majority decision of the Pooling 

Partners provided that the replacement Host Council agrees.

Page 521



10 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

5.4 If the Host Council withdraws from the Northern LGPS pursuant to clause 16 

(Voluntary Exit) or clause 17 (Compulsory Exit) then a replacement Host Council will be 

appointed by unanimous decision of the  remaining Pooling Partners. The 

withdrawing Host Council will not have the right to vote in regard to any such 

appointment.

6 INDEMNITIES

6.1 The Host Council shall be indemnified by the other Pooling Partners from and against 

all liabilities, costs, expenses, damages and losses (including but not limited to any direct, 

indirect or consequential loss, loss of profit, loss of reputation and all interest, penalties 

and legal costs (calculated on a full indemnity basis) and all other reasonable costs and 

expenses) arising from the performance of its functions authorised pursuant to clause 

5, save in the case of its willful default or fraud but shall bear its proportionate share of all 

such liabilities as a Pooling Partner.

6.2 Any Pooling Partner who is in material breach of any of the provisions of this Agreement 

(having failed to remedy such breach after having received notice thereof) shall indemnify 

the other Pooling Partners from and against all liabilities, costs, expenses, damages and 

losses, (including but not limited to any direct, indirect or consequential loss, loss of profit, 

loss of reputation and all interest, penalties and legal costs (calculated on a full indemnity 

basis) and all other reasonable costs and expenses) resulting from that breach, without 

prejudice to any other right or remedy of the other Pooling Partners howsoever arising.

7 COMMITMENT OF THE POOLING PARTNERS AND COSTS

7.1 Subject to clause 7.2, the Pooling Partners agree to pay an equal share of all costs 

("Pooling Contributions") of services procured by the Host Council on behalf of the Joint 

Governance Committee in relation to the  governance, procurement and administration 

requirements of the Northern LGPS.

7.2 Unless otherwise agreed, the Pooling Partners shall meet the costs of ad hoc projects 

to which they are a party rateably, so that if a Pooling Partner is not a party to a project 

it shall bear none of the costs incurred.

7.3 The Pooling Partners agree to pay the Pooling Contributions to the Host Council on 

such dates, and at such frequency, as is agreed or otherwise annually as demanded.

7.4 Any charges incurred in respect of investment management (whether internal or 

external), investment advice or custodian services provided to the Pooling Partners 

individually shall be attributed to each Pooling Partner by reference to the assets under 

management of that Pooling Partner or such other contractual arrangement in place 

Page 522



11 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

between the Pooling Partner and the relevant third party. 

8 ACCOUNTS

8.1 The Host Council shall keep proper books of account and shall be responsible for 

ensuring that full and proper entries of all receipts and payments are promptly 

recorded in them. The books of account shall be kept at the premises of the Host 

Council and be made available for inspection by all of the Pooling Partners (who may 

also take copies). The Host Council shall make available on reasonable request such 

information as is required by any Pooling Partner to prepare its own accounts or 

respond to any internal or external audit.

9 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

9.1 The Pooling Parties agree that any intellectual property developed by any Pooling Partner 

for the purposes of the Northern LGPS shall be the collective property of the Pooling 

Partners.

10 REPORTS

10.1 As periodically requested by the Joint Governance Committee, the Host Council shall 

procure that the Pool Custodian will provide to the Joint Governance Committee 

consolidated reports of the assets of the Funds administered by the Pooling Partners.

10.2 To ensure that the Pooling Partners are kept up-to-date with the performance of the 

Northern LGPS, the Joint Governance Committee shall provide all reports and minutes 

of its meetings to the Pooling Partners’ pensions committees or equivalent.

11 INSURANCE

11.1 Where the operation of the Northern LGPS is not covered by any existing insurance of the 

Pooling Partners and the Joint Governance Committee so requests, the Host Council 

shall effect and at all times keep in force (for the benefit of the Members of the Joint 

Governance Committee) such policies of insurance for such amounts as it shall decide. 

Such policies shall be maintained at the expense of the Pooling Partners and shall be an 

administration cost of the Northern LGPS for the purposes of clause 7.1.

12 DUTIES AND POWERS

12.1 Each Pooling Partner shall at all times:

(a) use its reasonable skills and endeavours to promote the Northern LGPS for the 

benefit of the Pooling Partners, and conduct itself in a proper and responsible 

manner;

Page 523



12 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

(b) devote such time and attention as the Pooling Partners may decide in writing 

to be necessary and appropriate to the Northern LGPS;

(c) comply with all legislation,  regulations,  professional  standards  and  other 

provisions as may govern the  conduct  of  the  Northern LGPS,  or  be determined 

by the Pooling Partners as standards to be voluntarily applied to the Northern 

LGPS;

(d) show the utmost good faith to the other Pooling Partners in all transactions 

relating to the Northern LGPS and give them a true account of, and full 

information about, all things affecting the Northern LGPS;

(e) inform the other Pooling Partners without delay on becoming party to any legal 

proceedings in connection with the Northern LGPS;

(f) not do or fail to do anything which shall bring any of the other Pooling Partners, 

or itself, into disrepute;

(g) obtain all necessary consents sufficient to carry on its duties to the Northern 

LGPS.

12.2 No action which would otherwise be a breach of this clause shall constitute a breach 

where the Pooling Partner was required to carry out that action in compliance with a 

statutory duty or order of any court, tribunal or ombudsman.

13 DELEGATION

13.1 Each Pooling Partner hereby confirms that, prior to the commencement of the Northern 

LGPS it has put in place (and shall keep in place for the term of this Agreement) such 

authorisations as are required within its internal governance arrangements to:

(a) delegate the making of the decisions set out in this Agreement to the Joint 

Governance Committee; and

(b) delegate any other matter which is required to comply with the obligations of the 

Northern LGPS, including delegations to its own officers.

13.2 The Pooling Partners shall review and where necessary amend their delegations 

throughout the duration of the Northern LGPS to ensure that they can comply with the 

provisions of this Agreement.

13.3 The Host Council may appoint contractors or agents to undertake tasks, advise on or 

support the implementation of its functions on behalf of the Joint Governance Committee.

13.4 For the avoidance of doubt, strategic asset allocation will be set by each of the Pooling 

Partners, but the selection of individual investments and investment managers shall only 

Page 524



13 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

carried out by appropriately qualified and experienced officers employed by the Pooling 

Partners, operating under the legal framework of specialist investment vehicles where 

appropriate or as more fully set out in Schedule 4.

14 OBLIGATIONS ON POOLING PARTNERS

14.1 Without prejudice to the terms of this Agreement, each of the Pooling Partners 

commits to the implementation of the Northern LGPS within the appropriate legal 

framework and to use their reasonable endeavours to ensure the success of the Northern 

LGPS.

15 POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

15.1 The Host Council shall prepare any necessary policies and procedures which the Joint 

Governance Committee decides are appropriate, in accordance with applicable law and 

regulation, competent authority, and CIPFA Guidance, and having had regard to 

applicable guidance specific to local government management of funds or accounting 

and auditing requirements. 

16 VOLUNTARY EXIT

16.1 Any Pooling Partner (the "VE Authority") may exit from the Northern LGPS by giving 

not less than 12 (twelve) months' written notice to the Host Council of its intention to 

exit the Northern LGPS and the date of expiry of that notice is the 31 March which next 

falls after or is coincident with the end of the 12 (twelve) month notice period provided 

that the Pooling Partners may agree with the VE Authority that a different notice period 

applies (the "Exit Date").

16.2 A VE Authority may exit the Northern LGPS and be released from its obligations under 

this Agreement (other than clause 18) provided that:

(a) it has satisfied all of its obligations up to the Exit Date;

(b) it has satisfied its share of the costs and expenses up to the Exit Date, as well as 

any necessary costs and expenses to facilitate the exit whether or not incurred 

after the Exit Date;

(c) it redeems or transitions (subject to liquidity constraints and meeting relevant 

contractual requirements) its investments from the investment arrangements put 

in place under the Northern LGPS as agreed appropriate by the Joint 

Governance Committee;

(d) its representatives on the Joint Governance Committee resign on or before the 

Exit Date.

16.3 With effect from the date of the notice given by the VE Authority pursuant to clause 16.1 

Page 525



14 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

the Members nominated by the VE Authority for the purposes of clause 3.3 shall cease 

to have any voting rights for the purposes of the Joint Governance Committee and the 

VE Authority shall cease to be a Pooling Partner.

16.4 For the avoidance of doubt, the VE Authority shall remain liable to make the Pooling 

Contributions that become due prior to the Exit Date.

17 COMPULSORY EXIT

17.1 The Pooling Partners (other than the CE Authority) may by majority decision 

compulsorily require any Pooling Partner (the "CE Authority") to leave the Northern 

LGPS, by the Host Council (or in the case of the Host Council being the CE Authority, 

any other Pooling Partner), giving the CE Authority written notice if the CE Authority:

(a) commits any serious breach or persistent breaches of this Agreement;

(b) fails to pay any money owing by it to the Host Council within 28 (twenty-eight) 

days of a written request for payment from the Host Council;

(c) fails to account for, or pay over or refund any money received and belonging to 

the Pooling Partners within 28 (twenty-eight) days after being so required by 

notice from the Host Council;

(d) wilfully neglects, refuses or omits to perform its duties, obligations and 

responsibilities under this Agreement; or

(e) is guilty of conduct which, in the reasonable opinion of the other Pooling 

Partners, is likely to have a serious adverse effect on the Northern LGPS;

provided that in each case the CE Authority is first given 28 days following receipt of the 

written notice to remedy the breach or issue described in paragraphs (a) to (e) and the 

CE Authority has failed to remedy such breach or issue or to take reasonable steps to do 

so.

17.2 The effective date of the CE Authority being required to leave the Northern LGPS is the 

31 March which next falls after or is coincident with the period of 12 (twelve) months 

after the notice given in clause 17.1 above provided that the other Pooling Partners 

may notify the CE  Authority that a different notice period applies (the "Compulsory Exit 
Date").

17.3 The CE Authority shall exit the Northern LGPS from the Compulsory Exit Date and must 

have, prior to the Compulsory Exit Date:

(a) satisfied all of its obligations up to the Compulsory Exit Date;

(b) satisfied its share of the costs and expenses up to the Compulsory Exit Date, 

as well as any necessary costs and expenses to facilitate the exit whether or not 

Page 526



15 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

incurred after the Compulsory Exit Date;

(c) redeemed or transitioned (subject to liquidity constraints and meeting relevant 

contractual requirements) its investments from the Northern LGPS investment 

arrangements as agreed to be appropriate by the Joint Governance Committee;

(d) ensured that its representatives on the Joint Governance Committee have 

resigned on or before the Compulsory Exit Date.

17.4 With effect from the date of the notice given by the Host Council to the CE Authority 

pursuant to clause 17.1 the Member (and any nominated deputy for the purposes of 

clause 3.4) nominated by the CE Authority for the purposes of clause 3.3 shall cease to 

have any voting rights for the purposes of the Joint Governance Committee and shall 

cease to be a Pooling Partner.

17.5 For the avoidance of doubt, the CE Authority shall remain liable to make the Pooling 

Contributions that become due prior to the Compulsory Exit Date and liable to the 

continuing liability provisions of clauses 6 and 18.1.

18 FURTHER PROVISIONS RELATING TO A VE AUTHORITY OR A CE AUTHORITY

Continuing liability

18.1 Where any Pooling Partner exits from this Agreement in accordance with clause 16 or 17 

it shall remain liable to the extent it would have been were it still party to this Agreement 

for any acts, omissions, costs and expenses arising from acts taken or decisions made 

during the period in which that Pooling Partner was a party to this Agreement.

19 NEW POOLING PARTNER

19.1 The Pooling Partners shall consider applications from other administering authorities of 

funds within the LGPS to join the Northern LGPS (a "New Member Application").

19.2 A New Member Application will be considered on the merits of its business case and the 

conditions which the Pooling Partners consider appropriate from time to time.

19.3 A New Member Application will only be approved by the Pooling Partners at their absolute 

discretion and, subject to regulation 8 of the Investment Regulations, there shall be no 

obligation under the terms of this Agreement for a New Member Application to be 

accepted.

19.4 Any Pooling Partner who enters into this Agreement after the Commencement Date shall 

only have liability for any acts, omissions, costs and expenses arising from acts taken or 

decisions made from the date of its admission to the Northern LGPS.

Page 527



16 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

19.5 If a New Member Application is approved, the parties shall entered into a deed of 

admission to the Northern LGPS in the form set out in Schedule 5.

20 CONFIDENTIALITY

20.1 For the purposes of this Agreement, Confidential Information means, any information 

which has been certified as exempt information in accordance with Section 100A(1) of 

the Local Government Act 1972 and all confidential information (however recorded or 

preserved) disclosed by a Pooling Partner or its representatives or advisers to another 

Pooling Partner and its representatives or advisers (except where by law the information 

cannot be retained as confidential) concerning:

(a) any information  relating  to  the  prospective  business,  technical  processes, 

computer software or intellectual property rights of a Pooling Partner;

(b) all documents, papers and property that may have been made or prepared by, or 

at the request of, any Pooling Partner and which are marked as being exempt 

information or confidential and which come into any Pooling Partner's 

possession or under its control in the course of the Northern LGPS; and

(c) compilations of two or more items of such information and all information that has 

been, or may be, derived or obtained from any such information which, at any 

time, comes into any Pooling Partner's possession or under its control in the 

course of activities connected with the Northern LGPS and which the Joint 

Governance Committee regards or could reasonably be expected to regard as 

confidential, whether or not such information is, in itself, confidential, marked as 

"confidential" or reduced to tangible form.

20.2 Save as provided otherwise in this Agreement either expressly or by implication, each 

Pooling Partner undertakes that it shall not, at any time, disclose to any person any 

Confidential Information of the other Pooling Partners and shall use its reasonable 

endeavours to keep all Confidential Information of the other Pooling Partners 

confidential (whether it is marked as such or not) except as permitted by clause 20.3.

20.3 Each Pooling Partner may disclose the other Pooling Partner's Confidential Information 

in the following circumstances:

(a) to its representatives or advisers who need to know such information for the 

purposes of carrying out the Pooling Partner's obligations under or in 

connection with this Agreement. Each Pooling Partner shall ensure that its 

representatives or advisers to whom it discloses the other Pooling Partner's 

Confidential Information comply with this clause; 

(b) as may be required by law, a court of competent jurisdiction or any governmental 

or regulatory authority including an ombudsman having the force of law;

Page 528



17 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

(c) which Pooling Partner can demonstrate is already generally available and in the 

public domain otherwise than as a result of a breach of this clause; or

(d) any disclosure to enable a determination to be made under clause 31 (Dispute 

Resolution).

21 FREEDOM OF INFORMATION

21.1 Each Pooling Partner acknowledges that the other Pooling Partners and the Joint 

Governance Committee are subject to the requirements of the Freedom of Information 

Act 2000 ("FoIA") and each Pooling Partner shall where reasonable assist and co-

operate with the other Pooling Partners (at their own expense) to enable the other 

Pooling Partners to comply with these information disclosure obligations.

21.2 Where a Pooling Partner receives a request for information under the FoIA in relation  

to information which it is holding on behalf of any of the other Pooling Partners in 

relation to the Northern LGPS, it shall:

(a) transfer the request for information to the other Pooling Partners as soon as 

practicable after receipt and in any event within 2 (two) Business Days of 

receiving a request for information;

(b) provide the other Pooling Partners with a copy of all information in its 

possession or power in the form that the other Pooling Partner(s) reasonably 

require(s) within 10 (ten) Business Days (or such longer period as the Pooling 

Partner(s) may specify) of the Pooling Partner(s) requesting that information; and

(c) provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the other Pooling 

Partner(s) to enable the Pooling Partner to respond to a request for 

information within the time for compliance set out in the FoIA.

21.3 Where a Pooling Partner receives a request for information under the FoIA which relates 

to this Agreement or the Northern LGPS it shall:

(a) advise the person making the request that the information is held by another 

public authority (being the Joint Governance Committee) and that the request has 

been passed to that public authority to respond;

(b) transfer the request for information to the Host Council on behalf of the Joint 

Governance Committee as soon as practicable after receipt and in any event 

within 2 (two) Business Days of receiving a request for information;

(c) provide the Host Council with a copy of all information in its possession or power 

Page 529



18 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

in the form that the Host Council reasonably requires within 10 (ten) Business 

Days (or such longer period as the Host Council may specify) of the Pooling 

Partner being requested to provide that information; and

(d) provide all necessary assistance as reasonably requested by the Host Council to 

enable the Host Council to respond to a request for information on behalf of the 

Joint Governance Committee within the time for compliance set out in the FoIA.

21.4 The Pooling Partners or the Host Council shall be responsible for determining in their 

absolute discretion whether any information requested under the FoIA:

(a) is exempt from disclosure under the FoIA; or

(b) is to be disclosed in response to a request for information.

21.5 Each Pooling Partner acknowledges that the other Pooling Partners and the Joint 

Governance Committee may be obliged under the FoIA to disclose information:

(a) without consulting with the other Pooling Partners where it has not been 

practicable to achieve such consultation; or

(b) following consultation with the other Pooling Partners and having taken their 

views into account.

22 DATA PROTECTION

22.1 The Pooling Partners shall comply with the Data Protection Act 2018 and the General 

Data Protection Regulation (EU 2016/679) to the extent that such legislation applies to 

this Agreement.

23 DISSOLUTION

23.1 No  Pooling Partner  shall  be  capable  of  dissolving  the  Joint Governance 

Committee unilaterally by means of a notice.

23.2 The Northern LGPS and this Agreement shall be terminated upon the unanimous 

agreement of all of the Pooling Partners.

23.3 Each  Pooling Partner  shall  act  in  good  faith  in  the  wind  up  of  the  Joint 

Governance Committee following  the  unanimous decision  to  dissolve it as soon  as  

reasonably practicable  thereafter,  and  all  costs  and  expenses  shall  be  borne  

equally  by  the Pooling Partners.

24 NO PARTNERSHIP

24.1 Nothing in this Agreement shall constitute the carrying on of a partnership between any 

of the Pooling Partners.

Page 530



19 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

25 ENTIRE AGREEMENT

25.1 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties and supersedes 

and extinguishes all previous agreements, promises, assurances, warranties, 

representations and understandings between them, whether written or oral, relating to its 

subject matter.

25.2 Each Pooling Partner acknowledges that, in entering into this Agreement it has not relied  

on,  and  shall  have  no  remedies  in  respect  of,  any  statement,  representation, 

assurance or warranty (whether made innocently or negligently) that is not set out in this 

agreement.

25.3 Each Pooling Partner agrees that it shall have no claim for innocent or negligent 

misrepresentation (or negligent misstatement) based on any statement in this agreement.

25.4 Nothing in this clause shall limit or exclude any liability for fraud.

26 NOTICES

26.1 Any notice, demand or communication in connection with this Agreement will be in writing 

and may be delivered by hand, post, facsimile or email addressed in writing in accordance 

with this clause at an address to which notices, invoices and other documents may be 

sent. The notice, demand or communication will be deemed to have been duly served:

(a) if delivered by hand during business hours, at the time of delivery;

(b) if delivered by post, 48 hours after being posted (excluding Saturdays, Sundays 

and public holidays);

(c) if delivered by facsimile during business hours, at the time of transmission, 

provided that a confirming copy is sent by first class post to the other party within 

24 hours after transmission; or

(d) if delivered by email or other electronic form of communication during business 

hours, at the time of transmission provided that a confirming copy is sent by first 

class post to the other party within 24 hours after transmission.

26.2 Where notice is served by hand, facsimile or email outside business hours, it will be 

deemed to have been served on the next business day.

27 CONTRACTS (THIRD PARTY RIGHTS)

27.1 A person who is not a party to this Agreement may not enforce any of its terms, conditions 

or provisions and the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 shall not apply to this 

Agreement.

Page 531



20 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

28 SEVERANCE

28.1 If any provision or part-provision of this Agreement is or becomes invalid, illegal or 

unenforceable, it shall be modified to the minimum extent necessary to make it valid, legal 

and enforceable. If such modification is not possible, the relevant provision or part- 

provision shall be deemed deleted. Any modification to or deletion of a provision or part- 

provision under this clause shall not affect the validity and enforceability of the rest of this 

Agreement.

28.2 If one Pooling Partner gives notice to the other Pooling Partners of the possibility 

that any provision or part-provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or 

unenforceable, the Pooling Partners shall negotiate in good faith to amend such 

provision so that, as amended, it is legal, valid and enforceable, and, to the greatest 

extent possible, achieves the intended result of the original provision.

29 AMENDMENTS

29.1 No amendment to this Agreement shall be binding unless it is in writing and signed by a 

duly authorised representative of each of the Pooling Partners and expressed to be for the 

purpose of such amendment.

30 GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION

30.1 This agreement and any dispute or claim (including non-contractual disputes or claims) 

arising out of or in connection with it or its subject matter or formation shall be governed 

by and construed in accordance with the law of England and Wales.

30.2 Each party irrevocably agrees that the courts of England and Wales have exclusive 

jurisdiction to settle any dispute or claim (including non-contractual disputes or claims) 

arising out of or in connection with this agreement, its subject matter or formation.

31 ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION

31.1 The Pooling Partners agree:

(a) to pursue a positive approach towards dispute resolution with an objective of 

reaching a consensus without formal dispute resolution and/or legal proceedings 

and of maintaining a strong working relationship between the Pooling 

Partners;

(b) that any  dispute  between the  Pooling Partners in  relation to matters covered 

by this Agreement will be referred to in the first instance to the Chief Executives 

of the Pooling Partners who may, at their sole discretion, delegate the dispute 

to the appropriate senior officer within 10 Business Days of written notice of the 

Page 532



21 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

dispute;

(c) that if the Chief Executives or their delegates are not able to resolve the dispute 

within 5 Business Days of meeting then the Host Council may refer the matter 

to a mediation facilitated by the Local Government Association or to a suitably 

qualified and independent person, as recommended by the respective Chief 

Executives and as agreed by the Pooling Partners;

(d) that where any dispute is agreed to be of a legal or technical nature the parties 

to the dispute may (but not must) jointly take the opinion of an appropriate expert 

including opinion of senior legal counsel where appropriate. Such expert opinion 

must be instructed within 10 days of referral to Chief Executives under sub-

clause (b) following which the opinion should be delivered within a further 10 

days unless the nature and/or details of the dispute or opinion dictate that an 

alternative timeframe needs to be followed;

(e) that, if after exhausting other methods of dispute resolution, one of the Pooling 

Partners commences legal proceedings then this will be subject to the exclusive 

jurisdiction of the Courts of England and Wales.

All costs are borne equally between the Pooling Partners which are party to the dispute unless 

agreed otherwise by the Joint Governance Committee or ordered by the Courts.

This Agreement has been executed as a deed and is delivered and takes effect on the date stated 
at the beginning of it.

Page 533



22 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

IN WITNESS of which this document has been executed and, on the date set out above, delivered 

as a deed.

EXECUTED as a deed, and 
delivered when dated, by affixing 
the common seal of TAMESIDE 
METROPOLITAN BOROUGH 
COUNCIL, in the presence of:

Authorised Signatory:

EXECUTED as a deed, and 
delivered when dated, by affixing 
the common seal of CITY OF 
BRADFORD METROPOLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL, in the 
presence of:

EXECUTED as a deed, and 
delivered when dated, by affixing 
the common seal of WIRRAL 
METROPOLITAN BOROUGH 
COUNCIL, in the presence of:

Authorised Signatory:

Authorised Signatory:

Page 534



23 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

Schedule 1

Matters Reserved to the Pooling Partners in their respective capacities

1 Appointment, termination or replacement of the Pool Custodian following the making of a 

recommendation by the Joint Governance Committee.

2 Formulation, approval or revisions of each respective Pooling Partner's investment strategy 

for the purposes of regulation 7 of the Investment Regulations.

3 Admission of a new administering authority within the LGPS to the Northern LGPS as a 

Pooling Partner (pursuant to clause 19).

4 Amendments of this Agreement (pursuant to clause 29).

5 Termination of this Agreement (pursuant to clause 23).

6 Approval of the initial Shared Objectives and any subsequent amendment (pursuant to 

clause 29).

7 Determination of the timing of the transition of any part of the Pooling Partner's Funds into 

a new investment arrangement recommended by the Officer Working Group.

8 Setting of policy on how social, environmental and corporate governance considerations 

are taken into account in the selection, non-selection, retention and realisation of 

investments.

Page 535



24 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

Schedule 2

Joint Governance Committee Terms of Reference

SCOPE

1 Subject to the terms of the Agreement, the Joint Governance Committee shall undertake 

those matters which are not Matters Reserved to the Pooling Partners as set out in 

Schedule 1.

PURPOSE

2 The primary purposes of the Joint Committee are to:

2.1 exercise oversight over the investment performance of the Pooling Partners' Funds; 

2.2 deliver the Shared Objectives; 

2.3 agree on any recommended changes to the Shared Objectives from time to time to refer to 

the Pooling Partners; and

2.4 report to the Pooling Partners quarterly (and at any other time when the Joint Governance 

Committee considers it to be necessary) on the matters within their remit below.

REMIT

3 Monitoring and benchmarking performance against key performance indicators and costs 

and reporting back to the Pooling Partners. 

4 Making recommendations on the appointment, replacement or termination of the Pool 

Custodian to the Pooling Partners.

5 Oversight of responsible investment activities (including ethical, social and governance 

matters and voting rights) of the Pooling Partners and making recommendations to the 

Pooling Partners as to any changes.

6 Engagement with the Pooling Partners to help drive efficiencies in investment management, 

research or administration.

7 Nominating representatives to national structures as appropriate (for example any LGPS 

cross-pool forum or national infrastructure board).

8 Overseeing staffing requirements of the Northern LGPS investment vehicles.

9 Delegation of tasks to the Officer Working Group, including the selection of external 

investment managers, preparation of reports and draft documents and the responding to 

Government or other consultations].

10 Oversight of Northern LGPS investment vehicles and reviewing opportunities for 

collaborative working with other investors (including other LGPS pools).

Page 536



25 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

11 Appointing  and  replacing  service  providers and advisers  to  the  Joint  Governance 

Committee.

12 Liaison with Pension Boards as appropriate in line with CIPFA Guidance, and Statutory 

Guidance.

13 Reporting on the performance of the Northern LGPS, its costs and other activities, but not 

limited to the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government, the Scheme 

Advisory Board and the general public.

14 Applying any processes or policies, for example in relation to conflicts on interest that are 

assigned to the Joint Governance Committee under this Agreement by the Pooling Partners.

15 Monitoring the implementation and effectiveness of the Northern LGPS policies and 

procedures and initiating reviews of these with the Host Council where required.

16 Seeking advice from officers and professional advisers where necessary.

17 Overseeing any shared costs of the Joint Governance Committee.

Page 537



26 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

Schedule 3

Joint Governance Committee Procedure

1 MEMBERSHIP

1.1 The membership of the Joint Governance Committee shall consist of the chair and 

deputy-chair of each of the Pooling Partners' pension committees or such alternative 

persons nominated by the Pooling Partners.

1.2 In addition up to three trade union representatives may be appointed after being 

nominated by the Trades Union Council and subject to the agreement of the Pooling 

Partners.  The trade union representative members shall have the appropriate technical 

skills to represent scheme members' interests in investment matters and will be 

selected to represent the interests of members from their respective geographical 

regions.

1.3 The Joint Governance Committee shall not include any non-voting or co-opted members.

2 MEETINGS

2.1 Meetings shall ordinarily be held  four times per municipal year.

The anticipated schedule of meetings and the locations in which they will be held will be 

agreed in advance.

2.2 A meeting may be held at such time and place as the Chair of the Joint Governance 

Committee thinks fit.

2.3 A meeting of the Joint Governance Committee may be called by a proper officer of the 

Host Council on the request of the Chair. Members must declare any conflict of interest 

in respect of any business being conducted at the meeting which would likely to be 

regarded to prejudice the exercise of a person's function as a participant in the meeting.

2.4 The Chair is responsible for the running of meetings. The Chair shall invite Members 

expressing a desire to speak in turn. All discussion and debate shall be held through the 

Chair and the Chair may draw a discussion to a vote at any time when he/she considers 

that every Member has been given a fair opportunity to speak.

2.5 Members may participate in meetings via telephone subject to the agreement of The 

Chair.

2.6 Minutes will be kept of all meetings. The Chair will sign the minutes of the proceedings at 

the next suitable meeting.

2.7 Notice of meetings

Page 538



27 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

(a) A notice of meeting specifying the place, date and time of the meeting and 

containing a statement of the matters to be discussed at the meeting, shall be 

served on all of the Members of the Joint Governance Committee by the 

appropriate governance officer of the Host Council;

(b) Subject to clause 2.7(c), notice of each meeting, copies of the agenda and any 

reports to be presented at the meeting, shall be given to all Pooling Partners by 

the Host Council no later than 7 clear days before the date of the meeting. The 

Pooling Partners shall ensure that a minimum of five clear days' notice of all 

meetings is given in accordance with their normal procedures for notification of 

Council meetings and all papers made available at all of the Pooling Partners 

head offices for inspection for those five days unless certified as exempt or 

confidential in which case agendas and any non-certified items are made 

available only.

(c) If a meeting is required to be held with less than 5 days' notice, the Chair must 

agree it is required urgently, and may in exceptional circumstances approve the 

shortened notice period and allow as much notice as possible to be given. Notice 

should be given in the same manner, and the documents should be made 

available to all of the Pooling Partners for as many days as practicable before the 

meeting.

2.8 Exclusion of the public and press

(a) Where any item to be discussed forms exempt information the Chair shall move 

that the public and press are excluded from the meeting for the duration of the 

discussion and voting on that item. Motions to exclude the press and public do 

not require to be seconded and shall be determined by simple majority vote of 

the Members present.

(b) Where the press and public are excluded under clause 2.8(a) above the Chair 

may invite any person to remain in the meeting where he/she considers it to be 

necessary or appropriate to do so and any officers of the Pooling Partners 

present shall be presumed to be invited to remain unless the Chair specifies 

otherwise.

(c) Any person may be excluded from a meeting or required to leave a meeting 

where in the opinion of the Chair he/she is causing a disturbance to the running 

of the meeting and has not desisted from so doing following a request; or where 

any person is so disruptive that his/her conduct if allowed to remain would 

prevent the meeting from proceeding in a fair and acceptable manner.

2.9 The Joint Governance Committee may, through the Chair, invite any person to speak at 

a meeting.

Page 539



28 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

2.10 Officers presenting reports to the Joint Governance Committee may be asked 

questions following such presentation.

2.11 Section 151 Officers and Monitoring Officers (and in their absence their deputies) of any 

Pooling Partner are entitled to attend all meetings including any part of any meeting which 

is closed to the public and press.

3 QUORUM

3.1 The quorum shall be three Members including at least one Member from each of the 

Pooling Partners.

3.2 Where a quorum is not present within 15 minutes of the start of the meeting and the Chair 

has not been notified that one or more Members have been delayed but will be attending, 

the meeting shall not be held and the Host Council will be ask to schedule and give notice 

of a replacement meeting.

3.3 Where, during any meeting there is no quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn 

immediately. If the Chair has been unable to ascertain within 15 minutes that the quorum 

can be restored the remaining business will be considered at another time and date fixed 

by the Chair.

4 CHAIR AND VICE CHAIR(S)

4.1 The Chair shall be an elected  Member of one of the Pooling Partners and shall be 

appointed by unanimous vote for a term of 12 calendar months.

4.2 Two Deputy Chairs shall be appointed by unanimous vote for a term of 12 calendar 

months. The Deputy Chairs shall be representatives of different Pooling Partners to each 

other and to that of the Chair. 

4.3 In the absence of the Chair, either or both Deputy Chairs (by agreement) shall be entitled 

to exercise all of the functions of the Chair.

4.4 The decision of the Chair of the meeting on all points of procedure and order and the 
Chair's interpretation of any rule in this schedule shall be final and no debate may ensue 
thereon. The Chair shall be entitled to take the advice of a governance officer in 
interpreting any rule or objection on procedure.

4.5 The Chair may be assisted during meetings by a governance officer on procedural 

matters and such administrative officers as the Chair considers appropriate. Such 

governance and secretarial officers shall be entitled to remain in the meeting where the 

public and press are excluded.

5 AGENDA

Page 540



29 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

5.1 An agenda shall be produced in advance for each meeting by the Host Council following 

consultation with the Chair.

5.2 The agenda for each meeting shall contain as the first substantive item the approval of 

the minutes of the previous meeting. The Chair will move that the minutes of the previous 

meeting be signed as a correct record. Any matters arising from minutes of the previous 

meeting shall be regarded as items on the agenda of the current meeting but only if they 

have been specified as items of business in the notice summoning the meeting.

5.3 The Pooling Partners may ask the Chair to include any matter on the agenda which 

they consider should be discussed by the Joint Governance Committee.

5.4 The decision on whether to allow discussion on any other matter not on the agenda of a 

meeting at that meeting shall be made by the Chair.

6 MOTIONS

6.1 Any Member may propose a motion. All motions must be seconded. Motions which are 

opposed shall be put to a vote in accordance with the voting provisions of this schedule.

6.2 A Member may raise a point of order at any time. The Chair will hear them immediately.

A point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of the provisions of this Schedule, 

or the law or other competent authority. The Member must indicate the provision or law 

or regulation and the way in which he/she considers it has been broken. The ruling of the 

Chair on the matter will be final. The Chair may take advice on the point of order from the 

appropriate officer.

7 VOTING

7.1 The Chair shall seek consensus wherever possible however where a vote is required the 

provisions of this section shall apply.

7.2 Each Member present will have one vote and voting will be by means of a show of hands.

In the event of a tied vote, the Chair shall have a second or casting vote.

7.3 All decisions will be determined by simple majority.

7.4 In the event that a vote is taken, the voting positions and any abstentions of members will 

be recorded in the minutes.

8 SUB-COMMITTEES AND WORKING GROUPS

8.1 The Joint Governance Committee shall form such sub-committees and working groups 

as it considers expedient to performing its function. The Joint Governance Committee 

shall at the time of forming sub-committees or working groups set out the remit of the 

sub-committees or  working groups, what the sub-committees or working groups are 

Page 541



30 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

required to deliver and the timescale for that delivery.

8.2 Sub-committees and working groups shall be entitled to request the input and support of 

officers in the same manner as the Joint Governance Committee.

8.3 Each sub-committee and working group shall appoint a chair for that sub-committee or 

working group, who is to be one of the members of the sub-committee or working group.

8.4 Working groups may invite any person who is not a member to join the group in order to 

assist in carrying out its function.

8.5 The Chairs of sub-committees and working groups shall report to Joint Governance 

Committee at each meeting of that committee on the progress of the matters within their 

remit.

8.6 Sub-committees and working groups may be disbanded at any time on the vote of the 

Joint Governance Committee.

8.7 The provisions of paragraphs 5 to 7 (Agenda, Motions and Voting) of this Schedule 

shall apply to any sub-committee and working group meetings.

9 REMUNERATION

9.1 The Host Authority and/or Pooling Partners shall arrange for the appointment of an 

independent remuneration panel to advise them on appropriate levels of special 

responsibility allowances to be payable to their Councillor Members of the Joint 

Governance Committee in respect of duties and responsibilities undertaken as Members 

of the Joint Governance Committee. A commensurate allowance will be payable to all 

non-elected Members of the Joint Governance Commitee in the interests of fairness and 

consistency.

Page 542



31 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

Schedule 4

Officer Working Group Terms of Reference

MEMBERSHIP

The Officer Working Group shall consist of the Directors of each of the Pooling Partners’ Funds (or 

their nominated representatives) supported by such officers of the Pooling Partners as may be 

required from time to time. Such nominated officers (and any substitutes or alternates designated by 

the Pooling Partners) must have the appropriate technical skills to advise the Joint Governance 

Committee on those matters within its own Terms of Reference as set out in Schedule 2. The role of 

the Officer Working Group is to provide a central resource for advice, assistance, guidance and 

support for the Joint Governance Committee.  The Officer Working Group shall operate on the 

understanding that any recommendations made to the Joint Governance Committee shall be made 

on a unanimous basis.

REMIT

The Officer Working Group will have specific responsibility for the following tasks:

INVESTMENT MANAGER AND EXTERNAL INVESTMENT RELATIONS

1 Due diligence on, procurement, and selection of external investment management 

arrangements by the Pooling Partners and reporting outcomes to the Joint Governance 

Committee.

2. Informing the Joint Governance Committee of any amendments to the terms of agreements 

with external managers including (without limitation) by reference to investment objectives, 

restrictions, fee levels, reporting and  key personnel changes,  delegations of functions to 

a third party or associates.

3 Researching coinvestment opportunities for and formulation of proposals to the Joint 

Governance Committee.

4 Recommending the resolution of any conflicts of interest issues in relation to external 

managers (eg in relation to investor committees in limited partnerships where the Pooling 

Partners may be invested).

5 Identifying areas for improvement and cost reductions by external managers or the Pool 

Custodian.

6 Keeping investment structures under review and making recommendations to the Pooling 

Partners from time to time.

Page 543



32 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

REPORTING

7 Determining  documentation and presenting information required from external managers 

for the meetings of the Joint Governance Committee.

8 Considering the requirements for measuring and reporting on cost savings, benchmarking 

and preparing Northern LGPS reports for the Joint Governance Committee on the same to 

the Minister for Housing, Communities and Local Government and the LGPS Scheme 

Advisory Board.

9 Monitoring the performance of external investment managers, the Pool Custodian, keeping 

third party performance under constant review and reporting to the Joint Governance 

Committee.

JOINT GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE OPERATIONAL SUPPORT

10 Making recommendations on an annual strategic business plan for the Northern LGPS to 

the Pooling Partners.

11 Determining the budget necessary to implement the strategic business plans and liaising 

with each Pooling Partner's  Section 151 Officer prior to making a final recommendation of 

the budget to the Joint Governance Committee.

12 Reviewing significant commercial, legal and media issues affecting the provision of 

services to the Northern LGPS.

13 Reviewing policy or process issues and recommending appropriate changes to the Joint 
Governance Committee.

14 Recommending and implementing a training plan for the Joint Governance Committee, 

Pooling Partners' Pension Committee members, Section 151 and Monitoring Officers and 

Pension Boards.

15 Recommending a communication strategy in relation to the Northern LGPS, including the 

drafting  and reviewing of external communications including press releases.

16. Reviewing and approving a Data Protection Policy and any GDPR requirements.

Page 544



33 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

Schedule 5

Deed of Adherence

This Agreement is made on 20[••]

(1) TAMESIDE METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL of Guardsman
Tony Downes House, 5 Manchester Road, Droylsden, Manchester M43 6SF 
("Tameside");

(2) CITY OF BRADFORD METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL of Aldermanbury House, 4 
Godwin street, Bradford, BD1 2ST  ("Bradford"); and 

(3) WIRRAL METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL of Castle Chambers, 43 Castle Street, 
Liverpool L2 9SH ("Wirral")

(TOGETHER the "Existing Pooling Partners")

(4) [NAME OF NEW LOCAL AUTHORITY] of [ADDRESS] (the "New Pooling Partner"). 

BACKGROUND

This Agreement is supplemental to a Joint Governance Committee agreement dated [DATE] and 

entered into by the Existing Pooling Partners (the "Agreement").

The New Pooling Partner wishes to be admitted as a new Pooling Partner pursuant to the Agreement.

OPERATIVE PROVISIONS

1 The definitions contained in the Agreement will have the same meanings in this Deed save 

where the context otherwise requires.

2 The New Pooling Partner confirms that it has been given and read a copy of the Agreement 

and covenants with each of the Existing Pooling Partners to perform and to be bound with 

effect from the date of this Deed by all the terms of the Agreement as if the New Pooling 

Partner was a party to the Agreement as a Pooling Partner.   By executing this Deed all 

parties confirm that it is the intention that the New Pooling Partner shall be bound by and 

entitled to the benefit of the provisions of the Agreement as if it was a party to the Agreement 

and named in the Agreement as a Pooling Partner.

3 This Deed may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when executed 

will be an original but together will constitute one and the same agreement.

4 This Deed will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of England and 

Wales.

5 This document is executed as a deed and delivered on the date stated at the beginning of 

Page 545



34 014-4254-4114/12/EUROPE

this Deed.

IN WITNESS of which this document has been executed and, on the date set out above, delivered 

as a deed.

EXECUTED as a deed, and 
delivered when dated, by affixing 
the common seal of TAMESIDE 
METROPOLITAN BOROUGH 
COUNCIL, in the presence of:

Authorised Signatory:

EXECUTED as a deed, and 
delivered when dated, by affixing 
the common seal of CITY OF 
BRADFORD METROPOLITAN 
BOROUGH COUNCIL, in the 
presence of:

EXECUTED as a deed, and 
delivered when dated, by affixing 
the common seal of WIRRAL 
METROPOLITAN BOROUGH 
COUNCIL, in the presence of:

Authorised Signatory:

EXECUTED as a deed, and 
delivered when dated, by affixing 
the common seal of [NAME OF 
NEW POOLING PARTNER], in the 
presence of:

Authorised Signatory:

Authorised Signatory:

Page 546



MINUTE EXTRACT

STANDARDS AND CONSTITUTIONAL OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

Thursday, 26 September 2019

13 REVIEW OF SCRUTINY ARRANGEMENTS 

Councillor Dave Mitchell, the Chair of the Business Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
was in attendance at the meeting and introduced his comprehensive report on the 
review of the Council’s overview and scrutiny committee arrangements that had been 
undertaken in consultation with the Committee Chairs and Group representatives.  
Members had considered the number of committees and their respective terms of 
reference and the report set out suggested steps on how to improve the arrangement.

The Committee was informed that the Scrutiny Review Panel had been established 
and an all non-executive Members’ Workshop had been held. The report detailed the 
outcomes of the review of the scrutiny arrangements of the Business Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee. The findings and recommendations reflected the views of all the 
Members who had been involved.

The Review Panel had commissioned the Scrutiny Team to carry out a research 
exercise to explore governance including scrutiny arrangements at authorities with 
statistical similarities to Wirral and the experiences of Councils in the UK where 
committee systems had been introduced. A briefing pack had been approved by 
Chairs and Party Spokespersons of all four Overview and Scrutiny Committees and 
circulated to all non-executive Members in preparation for the workshop. It included 
statutory guidance on overview and scrutiny in local government published in May 
2019.  This was a best practice guide and it was noted that Wirral already fulfils several 
of these areas of focus.  It was also worth noting that areas that needed work were 
around organisational culture which required a long term commitment to change.  

The Scrutiny Review Workshop for all non-executive Members was held on 17 July 
2019 to review current scrutiny arrangements in Wirral and to discuss future options 
for scrutiny and Members from all Political Groups were in attendance, eleven in all, 
as well as key members of the Strategic Leadership Team.  The Statutory Scrutiny 
Officer facilitated the session in order to ensure the strategic objections were clear, to 
provide an overview of the current arrangements and to ensure that key points were 
considered as part of the workshop.

At the Workshop Members were asked to consider what had been working well and 
what key principles of overview and scrutiny were important.  The discussion produced 
two lists of positive areas of scrutiny and areas for improvement. Members then asked 
questions about developing a fit for purpose overview model for Wirral and two models 
had been presented and were detailed in the report.

Page 547

Agenda Item 9g



As a result of the Members’ Workshop several crucial findings had been gathered and 
there was agreement for the retention of the following key principles in any new model 
of governance to ensure decision-making was efficient, effective and legitimate:

 Openness and Transparency
 Ensuring Effective Oversight
 Holding Partners to account.
 Use of Task and Finish and Scrutiny Review Groups – Pre-decision Scrutiny.
 Effective Assignment of Members with appropriate knowledge and skills and 

across political groups to relevant Committees and sub-Committees.
 Continued Engagement with Stakeholders.

Councillor Mitchell reported that it was important to note that two separate reviews had 
been directed by the Council; the Review of Scrutiny outlined in the report and the 
Governance Review that was also reporting at this Committee. Both were related to 
the Council’s governance arrangements and, therefore, it was noted that the two 
reviews had implications for each other. The primary objective of the Governance 
Review Working Group was to explore different governance options that could be 
implemented by Wirral Council.  They were the current system, an executive model, a 
committee system or a potential hybrid of both.  Some governance models did not 
require scrutiny.  It had not been possible to propose an exact scrutiny model because 
the Scrutiny Review Working Group had not been aware of the outcomes of the 
Governance Review until the report had been published.

Councillor Mitchell informed that the Council currently had four Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees and three Members sat on the Overview and Scrutiny Committee of the 
Merseyside City Region Combined Authority.

Appended to the report were:

 Appendix 1 – The Review of Scrutiny Arrangements Report
 Appendix 2 – The Review Briefing pack including Scoping Document
 Appendix 3 – The Presentation to the Members’ Workshop

Members then commented on the report and asked a number of questions.  Issues 
raised included:

 The monitoring of partner organisations should be built into any new form of 
governance arrangements.

 In the past not all the recommendations made to the Cabinet by Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees had been approved.

 Task and Finish Groups and the need for Call-in would need to be considered 
before any new governance structure was agreed.

 Culture was an issue and needed to be changed within the Council.
 Good scrutiny provided an invaluable service.
 A suggestion that when the Minute of this item of business was published, a 

document covering what the Committee discussed here including the summary 
and findings that Councillor Mitchell had outlined be included in a paper for 
Members to use as a reference document.

Page 548



 It was essential that attention be given to Merseyside City Region Combined 
Authority scrutiny in any new governance arrangements.

RESOLVED: That

(1) the Business Overview and Scrutiny Committee be thanked for its very 
detailed report;

(2) the Council be recommended to approve the recommendations of the 
review of its scrutiny arrangements as follows:

(a) the findings of this review of scrutiny arrangements be taken into 
account as part any new governance model, with the six key principles 
of effective scrutiny formally included within the new model of 
decision-making;

(b) the effectiveness of the Overview & Scrutiny arrangements of the new 
governance model at Wirral be reviewed after 12 months to ensure the 
good practice currently in operation is continued; and

(c) the new governance model should ensure full consideration of Wirral’s 
involvement in the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Overview 
& Scrutiny function.

Page 549



This page is intentionally left blank



Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee
Thursday, 26th September 2019

REPORT TITLE: Review of Scrutiny Arrangements

REPORT OF: Chair of Business Overview and Scrutiny 
Commitee

REPORT SUMMARY

The Annual Meeting of Council on the 14th May 2019 agreed the following resolution:

(b) Business Overview & Scrutiny Committee conduct a review of the Council’s 
overview and scrutiny committee arrangements, in consultation with the Committee 
Chairs and group representatives, to consider the number of committees and their 
respective terms of reference to report back on suggested steps to improve the 
arrangement in sufficient time for them to be received and considered by the 
Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee at its meeting in September.”

The Chair of the Business Overview and Scrutiny Committee established a Scrutiny 
Review Panel and hosted an all Member workshop This report provides the 
outcomes of the review of scrutiny arrangements undertaken by the Business 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee.

RECOMMENDATION/S

That the Committee is recommended:

1. To recommend to full Council that:

a. the recommendations of this review of scrutiny arrangements are 
approved and included in any new governance model.

Page 551



SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

1.1 To fulfil the Council resolution to review current scrutiny arrangements and 
enable the feedback and recommendations of the Business Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee Review Group to be considered as part of the wider 
governance review undertaken by the Standards and Constitutional Oversight 
Committee.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 The review of scrutiny arrangements was carried with the engagement of 
Members. The review findings and recommendations reflect the views of all 
Members involved.

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION

3.1 In order to fulfil the Council resolution, the Chair and Party Spokespersons of 
the Business Overview & Scrutiny (O&S) Committee formed a Review Panel 
to consider the scope and approach of the review and to ensure that all non-
executive Members were able to comment on current and future scrutiny 
arrangements. This scope was agreed at a meeting of the Chair and Party 
Spokesperson held on 12th June 2019.

3.2 The Review Panel commissioned the Scrutiny Team to carry out a research 
exercise to explore governance including scrutiny arrangements at authorities 
with statistical similarities to Wirral and the experiences of Councils in the UK 
where committee systems had been introduced. The briefing pack was 
approved by Chairs and Party Spokespersons of all four O&S Committees 
and circulated to all non-executive Members in preparation for the workshop. 
The Scrutiny Review Workshop for all non-executive members was held to 
review current scrutiny arrangements in Wirral and discuss future options for 
scrutiny.

3.3 Two separate reviews were directed by Council; the Review of Scrutiny 
outlined in this report and the Governance Review, also reported at this 
Standards and Constitutional Committee. As both are related to Council 
governance arrangements the two reviews have implications for each other. 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

4.1    There are direct costs associated with making a change from one governance 
system to another. The Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) have reported that 
the Government has estimated that the costs of moving from one system to 
another can range from £70,000 to £250,000.

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

Page 552



5.1    Local authorities in England operating executive arrangements are required by 
sections 9F to 9FI of the Local Government Act 2000 as amended by the 
Localism Act 2011 to establish overview and scrutiny committees.

5.2 The legislation recognises that authorities are democratically elected bodies 
who are best placed to determine which overview and scrutiny arrangements 
best suit their own individual needs, and so gives authorities a great degree of 
flexibility to decide which arrangements to adopt.

5.3 Councils who adopt the committee system are not required to have overview 
and scrutiny but may do so if they wish.

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS

6.1 There are significant implications for the Council in changing its decision-
making structure to a new form of governance. Across the Council, the 
change to potentially different ways of working and briefing with Members will 
require greater and different input from officers. The extent of these resource 
implications in the longer term will vary dependent on the number, frequency 
and timing of meetings.

6.2 It is likely that a change in governance will impact directly on key enabling 
services such as the Scrutiny Team and Democratic Services. Key factors 
such as retention of a separate overview and scrutiny system or not and the 
number and frequency of meetings will have a direct bearing on this and so 
costs cannot be estimated at this time.

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS  

7.1     A change in the form of governance arrangements will represent a key and 
integral element of the overall organisational vision of the Council and how it 
interacts with other stakeholders. That process of change will raise a number 
of associated risks to be identified and managed as part of the development 
process and implementation.

7.2 The current model of Overview and Scrutiny includes key elements such as 
monitoring the performance of partner organisations in Wirral and regional 
oversight through the Liverpool City Region Overview & Scrutiny that provide 
value to both Council operations and outcomes for Wirral residents. There is a 
risk that these could be reduced if not considered in the full governance 
review.

7.3     A risk is that a change to the form of governance arrangements fails to bring 
with it the desired change in culture. 

Page 553



8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION

Further to approval of the scoping document and briefing papers by the chair 
and party spokespersons of the Business Overview & Scrutiny Committee an 
all member engagement session was held at a workshop on 17th July 2019.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

9.1 There are no identified equality impact implications directly associated 
with the proposals set out in this report.

REPORT AUTHOR: Nancy Clarkson
Head of Intelligence; Statutory Scrutiny Officer
(0151) 691 8258
nancyclarkson@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

Appendix 1 – Review of Scrutiny Arrangements Report

Appendix 2 – Review Briefing Pack including Scoping Document

Appendix 3 – Presentation to the Member workshop

BACKGROUND PAPERS

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Council 14th May 2019

Page 554

mailto:nancyclarkson@wirral.gov.uk


1

Review of Scrutiny Arrangements

Report of the Business Overview & Scrutiny Committee

September 2019

Page 555



2

Contents
1.0 INTRODUCTION .......................................................................................................................................3

2.0 CURRENT ARRANGEMENTS AT WIRRAL ..................................................................................................3

2.1 Statutory Guidance on Overview & Scrutiny in Local Government .....................................................4

2.1.1 Scrutiny Recommendations .........................................................................................................6

2.2 Governance Review and Scrutiny ........................................................................................................7

3.0 MEMBER WORKSHOP .............................................................................................................................8

4.0 SUMMARY AND FINDINGS ....................................................................................................................12

4.1 Recommendations ................................................................................................................................13

Page 556



3

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

At the meeting of Council on 14th May 2019, the following resolution was agreed within agenda item 13 
‘Appointment, Constitution and Chairs of Committees 2019/20’:  
 
“That this is subject to the Council charging the: 
 
(a) Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee to conduct a review of the governance 
arrangements of the Council, with the objective to produce, in September 2019, an interim report on 
options and preferred outline for further consideration; and 
  
(b) Business Overview & Scrutiny Committee conduct a review of the Council’s overview and scrutiny 
committee arrangements, in consultation with the Committee Chairs and group representatives, to 
consider the number of committees and their respective terms of reference to report back on suggested 
steps to improve the arrangement in sufficient time for them to be received and considered by the 
Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee at its meeting in September.” 

In order to fulfil the above Council resolution, the Chair and Party Spokespersons of the Business 
Overview & Scrutiny (O&S) Committee formed a Review Panel to consider the review scope and 
approach in order to ensure that all non-executive Members were able to comment on current and 
future scrutiny arrangements. This scope was agreed at a meeting of the Chair and Party Spokesperson 
held on 12th June 2019, with the review carried out between June and September 2019. 

The key focus of the review was a workshop held for all non-executive members to review current 
scrutiny arrangements in Wirral and discuss preferred models. In advance of this, an extensive research 
exercise was undertaken by the Scrutiny Team in order to explore governance arrangements at 
authorities with statistical similarities to Wirral, as well as the experiences of Councils in the UK where 
committee systems had been introduced. This information was compiled in a briefing pack, which was 
presented to the Chairs and Party Spokespersons of all four O&S Committees at a pre-workshop 
meeting, and subsequently circulated to all non-executive Members. 

The scoping document and briefing pack are included as an appendix to this report.

2.0 CURRENT ARRANGEMENTS AT WIRRAL

Wirral currently operates an executive model of governance, which allows for the Leader of the Council 
to have ultimate autonomy over who can make an executive decision, and how that decision is made. 
Within the executive model, there is a statutory requirement for scrutiny arrangements to be in place, 
although each local authority has the freedom to decide the arrangements that are most suitable. 

There are currently four Overview and Scrutiny Committees in Wirral:
 Adult Care and Health
 Children and Families
 Environment
 Business

Page 557



4

These committees were established to align with the three key themes of the Wirral Plan 2020; 
Environment, Business and People. In 2017, the People O&S Committee was restructured, with the 
Adult Care and Health & Children and Families O&S Committees established in order to ensure 
enhanced oversight to these key areas.

All four Overview & Scrutiny Committees are able to oversee the formation of Standing Panels and Task 
and Finish Groups in order to scrutinise key topics in more detail. The Adult Care and Health O&S 
Committee has formally established a Health & Care Performance Working Group which further 
examines, evaluates and monitors the performance of health and social care providers in Wirral and 
reports back to the main Committee.

In addition, three Wirral Members sit on the Overview & Scrutiny Committee of the Liverpool City 
Region Combined Authority (LCRCA), with regular meetings held throughout the year. LCRCA Overview 
& Scrutiny Committee activity is reported back to the Business O&S Committee at Wirral to ensure 
oversight and input into the combined authority work programme.

2.1 Statutory Guidance on Overview & Scrutiny in Local Government 

In May 2019, the Ministry for Housing Communities and Local Government published a statutory 
document on Overview & Scrutiny in local government. Authorities with a scrutiny arrangement have an 
obligation to hold the guidance in regard when exercising their scrutiny function, although it is nationally 
recognised that each authority is best placed to determine its own scrutiny arrangements.

The guidance seeks to ensure local authorities and combined authorities are aware of the purpose of 
overview and scrutiny, what effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it effectively and the benefits it 
can bring. It is encouraging to see that Wirral’s scrutiny function already fulfils several of the controllable 
areas of focus included in the guidance paper and aligns with best practice in relation to most of the key 
points. The areas that need work, such as organisational culture, are long-term issues that will require 
change over an extended period.

Page 558



5

Resourcing
As referenced in the guidance, ‘effectively resourced scrutiny adds value to the authority, improves 
ability to meet the needs of local people and can help policy formulation.’ The designation of a Statutory 
Scrutiny Officer is required, alongside a team of dedicated scrutiny officers who are structurally 
independent from those areas they scrutinise, in order to ensure impartiality of advice. Wirral currently 
delivers all aspects of best practice regarding resourcing, with a statutory scrutiny officer, scrutiny team 
leader and dedicated team of three independent scrutiny officers in place.

Selecting Committee Members
The paper states that selecting Members for scrutiny committees with the right skills and commitment 
is essential, and effective induction and training should be ensured. Outside expertise in the form of co-
option of individuals and technical advisors can also be useful.

At Wirral, there is no formal selection process in place for Overview & Scrutiny Committees and Groups 
make arrangements within their own parties for Members to be assigned as they see fit. There is a 
corporate Member Development programme in place, with scrutiny-specific training and development 
often arranged by the Scrutiny Team. In 2018/19, this included:

 ‘Delivering Effective Scrutiny’ Induction Training
 Clinical Senate Workshop 
 National Health Scrutiny & Assurance Conference 
 Risk Workshop 
 Chairs Training (facilitated by the Centre for Public Scrutiny) 

In addition to this, Committees also have the freedom to arrange the attendance of co-opted members, 
with the Children & Families O&S Committee membership including diocesan and parent governor 
representation.

Access to Information
Scrutiny Members should be able to access any information that they require and receive it in good 
time, with care taken not to limit or refuse information unless necessary. Often, O&S Committees at 
Wirral make use of closed scrutiny sessions if requested information is financially or commercially 
sensitive although Members are keen that, where possible, information is presented to the Committee 
to keep discussion open and transparent.

Work Planning and Considerations for Work Programmes
The guidance suggests that O&S Committees draw up long-term work programmes, making them 
flexible enough to accommodate any urgent issues that arise during the year. In addition, it is suggested 
that work is prioritised, with emphasis given to subjects that involve risk, finance or partnership 
working, and that partners, stakeholders and executive Members are engaged with. 

Each of Wirral’s O&S Committees hold dedicated work planning sessions at the start of the municipal 
year in order to agree a framework for the work programme. This includes use of a set of principles for 
prioritisation – a clear list of criteria to ensure that the most significant topics are prioritised. Alongside 
this initial planning session, the agenda for each meeting is reviewed throughout the year to allow 
urgent issues to be addressed and the work programme to remain as flexible as possible. 

Page 559



6

There is a focus on pre-decision scrutiny as part of the work planning arrangements at Wirral, with a 
comprehensive change programme detailing the schedule of upcoming projects that include scrutiny 
involvement before decisions are made. In addition to separate O&S Committee agenda setting 
sessions, a quarterly Chair’s Meeting is held for the four scrutiny Chairs to discuss their work 
programmes and ensure there is no duplication of subjects and that cross-committee items are tackled 
in the most efficient way.

Evidence Sessions
The publication advocates the use of evidence sessions in informing the recommendations of O&S 
Committees. These sessions can include workshops or task and finish groups, and should have clear 
objectives to start, and evaluation of evidence presented. In the 2018/19 municipal year, Wirral’s O&S 
Committees completed the following evidence sessions:

 Integrated Mental Health Service Procurement 
 Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) Workshop
 Four Budget Scrutiny Workshops 
 Future Multi-Agency Safeguarding arrangements. 
 Pooled Funding Workshop 
 Quality Accounts 2018/19 Task and Finish
 Wirral Waters Scrutiny Workshop 
 Commercial Strategy Scrutiny Workshop 
 Council Company Governance Workshop
 Universal Credit Scrutiny Workshop
 Wirral Growth Company Scrutiny Workshop
 Modern Slavery Task and Finish
 Continuing Healthcare Task and Finish

In addition, four ‘Reality Check’ visits were held for Members of the Children & Families O&S Committee 
and the Adult Care and Health O&S Committee to visit frontline services to engage with staff, residents 
and gather evidence on the effectiveness of services and partner organisations.

Culture
A crucial area of focus within the guidance was the idea of a strong organisational culture which 
recognises the value of scrutiny. In addition, the paper states that early engagement between the 
Executive and Scrutiny is key, and that Scrutiny Members are supported to have an independent 
mindset and a high profile within the organisation. Organisational culture within Wirral is an area that 
requires change and improvement over a period of time to ensure a collaborative environment. 

2.1.1 Scrutiny Recommendations

Principally, the biggest impact that scrutiny can have is its power to influence policy and decisions made 
by the Council and other organisations delivering public services. This impact at Wirral can be evidenced 
by the number of recommendations made by Overview & Scrutiny Committees that have subsequently 
been accepted by Cabinet.

Page 560



7

Recommendations made to Cabinet/Cabinet Member - 2018/19:

O&S Committee Review Topic Recommendations 
accepted by Cabinet

Environment O&S Dogs Public Space Protection Orders 1

Business O&S Commercial Strategy 4

Business O&S Celtic Manor 1

Adult Care and Health O&S Continuing Healthcare 7

Adult Care and Health O&S Pooled Fund Agreement 6

Total Recommendations Accepted: 19

Recommendations made to Cabinet – Previous Years:

Municipal Year Number of Recommendations accepted by Cabinet

2017/18 3
2016/17 33

2015/16 20

Total Recommendations Accepted: 56

Since 2015/16, just two recommendations made to Cabinet have not been accepted – both 
recommendations were put forward as part of the Resident Parking Review.

2.2 Governance Review and Scrutiny

It is important to note that a review of Council governance arrangements was undertaken by a working 
group of the Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee at the same time that the Business 
Overview & Scrutiny Committee conducted this review of scrutiny arrangements. Both review findings 
will be presented to the Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee in September 2019. 

The primary objective of the governance review working group was to explore different governance 
options that could be implemented at Wirral; the current executive model, the committee system or the 
potential for a hybrid set of arrangements. The Governance Review therefore has implications for the 
Scrutiny Review as some governance models do not require Scrutiny.

Page 561



8

3.0 MEMBER WORKSHOP 

One of the key areas included in the initial scope of the review was that the process be a consultative 
one, with the Chair and Party Spokespersons of the Business O&S Committee keen to include not just 
the other O&S Chairs and Spokespersons, but all O&S Members in any discussion around change. 

A workshop was held on 17th July 2019 in order to include the views of all O&S Members from across 
political parties and to allow open discussion. The workshop was attended by 11 Elected Members, as 
well as the key members of the Strategic Leadership Team. The workshop was introduced by the Chair 
of the Business Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
As part of the workshop, the Statutory Scrutiny Officer facilitated the session in order to ensure the 
objectives of the session were clear and to provide an overview of current arrangements and key points 
to be considered as part of the workshop.

The workshop activities were constituted of two main areas of deliberation:
 to gain an understanding of positive areas of the current scrutiny system that members thought 

should be included into any new arrangements
 to produce a preferred structure of committees that Members agree could work well within a 

new governance model.

 Which elements of Overview & Scrutiny should be included in new Wirral governance 
arrangements?

Members were asked to consider the following points during the session:
• What works well?
• What key principles of O&S are important?
• Organisational culture
• Pre-decision scrutiny
• Budget scrutiny

Page 562



9

• Performance monitoring
• Should O&S be included if a committee/ hybrid model is developed?

Following discussion, a number of key themes were identified by Members – innovative and valuable 
features of the current system that there was a collective desire to take forward into any new 
governance model, along with areas of improvement that Members were keen to address and develop 
to ensure improved decision-making in the future.

Positive Areas of Current Scrutiny

Open Challenge and Debate
Members welcomed the opportunity that scrutiny provides to choose who and what comes before the 
scrutiny committee for detailed review, and how it enables open and transparent debate. They 
appreciated the ability that scrutiny has to bring items of public interest to the fore, and to ‘shine a light’ 
on subjects that require comprehensive examination in a public forum.

Task & Finish
Members expressed interest in ensuring that there is still opportunity for task & finish groups to be 
established as part of any new governance arrangements. Members stated that these groups are 
currently a positive way of deep diving into complex issues to ensure meaningful results.

Cross-Cutting Issues, Sub-Committees and Workshops
Discussion took place around the use of workshops and sub-committees in order to cover cross-cutting 
issues and topics that require further detail, such as the formation of the Health and Care Performance 
Panel. Members expressed a real desire for cross-cutting issues to be adequately monitored within any 
new governance arrangements to ensure that nothing falls between the cracks if not easily identified 
within the remit of a Committee. In addition, the use of workshops or spotlight sessions as a way to 
scrutinise topics that require input from more than one committee was welcomed.

Partnership Working and Involvement of Stakeholders
Scrutiny provides an environment where frank discussion can be held between the authority and its 
partner organisations, stakeholders, staff and residents. In 2018/19, a number of witnesses attended 
O&S meetings – whether they were ordinary committees, specially convened committees or ‘call-ins’ – 
allowing scrutiny to be a forum in which a variety of different voices and opinions were able to be heard.

Budget and Performance Scrutiny
Through O&S, elected Members have the power and ability to request, monitor and probe any area of 
service and budget performance. This oversight stretches beyond Council-delivered services and 
includes monitoring of key partners - ensuring openness and transparency. Within current scrutiny 
arrangements, there are dedicated budget scrutiny sessions covering the remit of all four O&S 
Committees, as well as a Health and Care Performance Working Group which allows Members to carry 
out more detailed examination and evaluation of health and care performance.

Areas for Improvement
Member Engagement and Culture
Councillors questioned whether there was a perception amongst Committee Members that scrutiny 
lacked impact on decision-making, and whether scrutiny members are less engaged as a result of this. 
There was discussion around the fact that there may be a belief amongst some Members that scrutiny 

Page 563



10

‘doesn’t make a difference’, meaning they are then less willing to be fully involved. Some Members felt 
that the executive model meant that there was no parity of esteem between Cabinet and non-executive 
members, however it was noted that since the local elections in May 2019, and the change of Cabinet 
that this was changing ‘for the better’ and there was more engagement. There was agreement among 
Members that they needed to work together more effectively.

Ultimately, the idea that recommendations can be overlooked by Cabinet means that the current 
system allows only a small number of Members to make real decisions – this lack of ownership for the 
majority of the 66 members could be the primary cause of issues with engagement. Discussion also took 
place around the tendency for the same Members to contribute to debate and to put themselves 
forward for working groups etc. (although it was understood that sometimes this can be due to other 
commitments/working patterns). 

Some Members felt that engagement would be improved by a committee system of governance. 
However, others were concerned about the ability to properly scrutinise decisions under a committee 
system and felt a hybrid model would be more efficient. 

Recommendations and ‘Closing the Loop’
Members stated that, historically, there has been no formal mechanism in place to follow up on 
previous recommendations accepted by Cabinet and subsequently implemented. This was stated as 
another possible reason that Members seem to be less engaged with scrutiny. Although, it was noted 
that in recent years, O&S Committees have made strides in requesting follow up reports on scrutiny 
reviews – for example, the Continuing Healthcare scrutiny review was brought back to the March 2019 
meeting of the Adult Care and Health O&S Committee so that Members could be kept apprised of 
progress within the service. 

Quality of Reports and Information 
A small number of Members stated that reports can be lacking in detailed information or are provided 
too late for scrutiny to be able to make any meaningful contribution (this links to a lack of pre-decision 
scrutiny), although it was appreciated that there is a difficult balance to strike in regard to provision of 
information. Some felt that the current system was reliant on officer reports and Members were not 
always confident that they were getting the full picture. Members generally agreed that workshops and 
reality check visits allowed for more frank and open discussion, often from the frontline, which was 
preferred to officer reports. They also found workshops to be useful as an information gathering 
mechanism, meaning they had access to further background information in advance of formal reports to 
Committees. 

Role of the Chair 
Some Members voiced concern that on occasion, O&S Chairs can have their own priorities, and only 
want to look at issues that fit their own agenda. It was widely agreed by Members that good scrutiny is 
very much dependent on the ability of the Chair, and that this can sometimes be inconsistent. 
Opposition Members were pleased with the appointment of opposition Chairs, as they felt more 
included in the O&S Committee meetings as a result of this representation.

Forward Plan/Pre-Decision Scrutiny
Several members were unfamiliar with the corporate ‘Forward Plan’ and found it lacking in detail and 
hard to navigate. Although work programmes are developed by Members themselves and they have the 
power to ask for whatever information they feel necessary, it was the perception of some that there 

Page 564



11

was insufficient pre-decision scrutiny, and that decisions have already been made by the time O&S are 
given opportunity to scrutinise them. 

Member appointment to Committees
Some Members felt that assignment to current O&S Committees was not always based on expertise or 
interest in the subject matter. Although the selection process varies between Groups, some Members 
queried how members would be fairly appointed in the instance of a committee system being 
introduced, with a number in attendance voicing concerns that the incorrect selection of Members 
could be a real hindrance to decision making. 

 What is your preferred approach to develop a fit for purpose O&S model for Wirral?
Members were asked to consider the following:

• What would your ideal model of O&S for Wirral?
• Should the O&S structure be based on existing Directorates, functional areas, portfolios or 

strategic priorities?
• What about scrutiny of partners?
• How can it best provide pre-decision scrutiny?

In order to assist with development of Members’ preferred models, packs were supplied to the group 
which provided an overview of services, alongside current portfolios, directorates, functional areas and 
strategic priorities. In addition, Members were also reminded of the necessity to include Wirral’s 
continued involvement in the Liverpool City Region Combined Authority O&S arrangements as part of 
their considerations.

The following committee models were constructed based on discussions held between Members within 
their workshop groups, as an outline of where O&S may fit in such a model and as a potential basis for 
terms of reference:

Page 565



12

Model 1 

Health and Care
Current Portfolio: Adult Care, 
Health & Wellbeing

Children 
Current Portfolio: Children, Families & 
Education

Environment
Current Portfolio: Community Services
Environment & Climate Change

Services:
Public Health
Adult Social Care
Commissioning & Contracts
Disability & Mental Health
NHS Partners
Statutory Health Scrutiny

Services:
Early Help & Prevention
Specialist Services
Modernisation and Support
Schools Commissioning and support. 

* Some members thought ‘Education’ 
should have its own separate Committee, 
however there was no general consensus. 

Services:
Highways & Traffic
One Stop Shops
Customer Service
Safer Wirral Services 
Street Scene
Statutory Crime & Disorder Scrutiny
Statutory Flooding Scrutiny

Business 
Current Portfolio: 
Regeneration & Growth
The Local Plan
Housing & Planning

Culture and Leisure
Current Portfolio: Culture & Tourism

Administration
Current Portfolio:
Finance & Resources

Services:
Major Planning
Assets & Transport
Regen. & Inward Investment

Services:
Culture & Visitor Economy
Floral, Williamson & Priory
Leisure & Libraries
Parks and Countryside

Services:
Governance & Assurance
Communication and Marketing
ICT Strategy
HR/OD
Wirral Intelligence Service
Income, Debt & Payments
Facilities Management 

Climate Change – Across all Committees

Model 2
Adult Care and Health
Current Portfolio: Adult Care, 
Health & Wellbeing

Children and Families
Current Portfolio: Children, 
Families & Education

Community Services
Current Portfolio: Community Services

Services:
Public Health
Adult Social Care
Commissioning & Contracts
Disability & Mental Health
NHS Partners
Statutory Health Scrutiny

Services:
Early Help & Prevention
Commissioning
Specialist Services
Community Safety -Primarily
C&F Partners

Services:
Highways & Traffic
Parks & Countryside
One Stop Shops
Customer Service
Leisure & Libraries
Statutory Crime & Disorder Scrutiny

Environment and Climate Change
Current Portfolio: Environment & 
Climate Change
Regeneration & Growth
The Local Plan
Housing & Planning

Culture and Tourism
Current Portfolio: Culture & 
Tourism

Business, Audit and Risk
Current Portfolio:
Finance & Resources

 

Services:
Facilities
Major Planning
Assets & Transport
Climate Change
Regen. & Inward Investment
Statutory Flooding Scrutiny

Services:
Culture & Visitor Econ
Floral, Williamson & Priory

Services:
Governance & Assurance
Finance & Investment
ICT Strategy
HR/OD
WIS
Income, Debt & Payments

Communication & Marketing – Across all Committees

Page 566



13

These models are based on the assumption of a committee or hybrid system of governance being 
adopted – with decision making committees aligning with current portfolio areas. There was broad 
agreement by Members that dedicated O&S Committee may not be required, but instead the areas of 
current scrutiny arrangements that work well should be woven into a committee or hybrid system – 
particularly to ensure that key areas of scrutiny (health, crime & disorder and flood risk) are still carried 
out effectively. 

4.0 SUMMARY AND FINDINGS

As a result of the Member workshop, a number of crucial findings were gathered. In discussing the 
potential model of a committee or hybrid system at Wirral, there was agreement that retention of the 
following key principles of effective scrutiny would be required in a new governance model to ensure 
that decision-making is effective, efficient and legitimate:

i) Openness and Transparency – Members should be able to access all necessary information 
required to inform decision making, with open debate and the ability to challenge preserved 
within any new model of governance. 

ii) Ensuring effective oversight - budget and performance scrutiny and monitoring should be 
retained in order to ensure that there is effective oversight of financial matters and delivery of 
programmes of work and improved outcomes for Wirral residents.

iii) Holding partners to account – Wirral currently delivers a number of services with and through 
partner organisations. It is essential that the positive aspects of partnership oversight currently 
in the O&S function are carried over, and that independence of this monitoring is retained.

iv) The use of Task & Finish and Scrutiny Review groups for each decision-making committee was 
welcomed, however, to ensure that these sub-groups are truly effective, they will require a 
focus on improving the organisational culture of the authority, ensuring pre-decision scrutiny 
remains at the forefront of the Council agenda and that all Members are proactive in horizon 
scanning and work planning. 

v) Effective assignment of Members with appropriate knowledge and skills and across political 
groups to relevant Committees and sub-Committees.

vi) Continued engagement with stakeholders through their attendance at Committees as external 
witnesses in order that the views and opinions of residents, staff and partners is taken into 
account as part of the decision-making process. The innovative approach of Reality Check visits 
is also encouraged as an important way of ensuring frontline views are heard.

4.1 Recommendations

The Business O&S Committee Review Group recommend that:

1. The findings of this review of scrutiny arrangements be taken into account as part any new 
governance model, with the six key principles of effective scrutiny formally included within 
the new model of decision-making.

2. The effectiveness of the Overview & Scrutiny arrangements of the new governance model at 
Wirral should be reviewed after 12 months to ensure the good practice currently in 
operation is continued.

Page 567



14

3. The new governance model should ensure full consideration of Wirral’s involvement in the 
Liverpool City Region Combined Authority Overview & Scrutiny function.

Page 568



Review of Scrutiny Arrangements
Date: Wednesday, 17 July 2019
Time: 6.00 p.m.

Venue: Committee Room 2, Wallasey Town Hall

Contact Officer: Nancy Clarkson
Tel: 0151 691 8258
E-mail: nancyclarkson@wirral.gov.uk
Website: www.wirral.gov.uk

1. REVIEW SCOPING DOCUMENT (Pages 1 - 4)

2. STATUTORY GUIDANCE ON OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY IN 
LOCAL AND COMBINED AUTHORITIES (Pages 5 - 36)

3. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY AND COMMITTEE SYSTEM 
ARRANGEMENTS (Pages 37 - 38)

4. CURRENT ARRANGEMENTS - TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY (Pages 39 - 44)

5. PREVIOUS SCRUTINY ARRANGEMENTS IN WIRRAL (Pages 45 - 
50)

6. GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS AT WIRRAL'S STATISTICAL 
NEIGHBOURS (Pages 51 - 56)

7. COMMITTEE SYSTEMS AT OTHER LOCAL AUTHORITIES (Pages 
57 - 60)

Public Document Pack

Page 569



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 570



Page 1 of 3
Wirral Intelligence Service: Scrutiny Review Template

Scrutiny Review Scoping Template

Review Title: Review of Scrutiny Arrangements

Responsible Committee:  Business Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Date: 18/06/2019

1. Contact Information:  
Review Panel Members:
Councillor Dave Mitchell – Chair (Liberal Democrats)
Councillor Jo Bird (Labour) 
Councillor Steve Williams (Conservative)

Key Officers:
David Armstrong (Corporate Director Delivery Services)
Phil McCourt (Director of Governance & Assurance)
Nancy Clarkson (Head of Intelligence and Statutory Scrutiny Officer)
Viki Shaw – (Head of Legal Services) 
Mike Lester (Scrutiny Officer – Business O&S)

Other Contacts:
Carl Gurnell (Team Leader Performance & Scrutiny)
Anna Perret – (Scrutiny Officer)
Alexandra Davidson (Scrutiny Officer)

2. Review Aims:
Review Objectives:

At the Council meeting on 14th May, 2019, the following resolution was agreed: 

“That this is subject to the Council charging the:

(a) Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee to conduct a review of the governance 
arrangements of the Council, with the objective to produce, in September 2019, an interim 
report on options and preferred outline for further consideration; and
 
(b) Business Overview & Scrutiny Committee conducting a review of the Council’s overview 
and scrutiny committee arrangements, in consultation with the Committee Chairs and group 
representatives, to consider the number of committees and their respective terms of reference 
to report back on suggested steps to improve the arrangement in sufficient time for them to be 
received and considered by the Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee at its 
meeting in September.”

Scrutiny Outcome:

To make recommendations to the Council’s Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee 
on the Council’s scrutiny arrangements with a deadline for report submission of Thursday 22nd 
August 2019. 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1

Page 571

http://s03vs-intrcm.core.wcent.wirral.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=684


Page 2 of 3
Wirral Intelligence Service: Scrutiny Review Template

2. Risks and Implications
Potential Risks:

Risks to be further developed with the working group, initial risks identified include:

 Producing a thorough review to enable an informed decision in accordance with time 
scales for reporting in September 19th Committee.

 Reaching clarity and agreement with a large number of participants on the most 
appropriate future approach to Scrutiny.

 Impact of the Governance review on O&S arrangements in Wirral which has implications 
for work of this review (see legal considerations below).

 Potential impact of O&S changes in Wirral on wider LCR Scrutiny.

Other Implications:

Legal Considerations for the Review Panel:
Concurrent to this O&S review the Council is carrying out a Governance review. This review 
will include research into a ‘committee system’ of operation. Such as system has potential 
implications for if Council requires an O&S function. The legal guidance is included here for 
reference.

The requirement for local authorities in England to establish overview and scrutiny committees 
is set out in sections 9F to 9FI of the Local Government Act 2000.

The Localism Act 2011 amended the Local Government Act 2000 to allow councils to revert to 
a non-executive form of governance - the ‘committee system’. Councils who adopt the 
committee system are not required to have overview and scrutiny but may do so if they wish. 

The O&S review panel may wish to consider these implications in the work of their review.

3.  Review Plan

Review Approach: 
Review Panel to approve workshop content and approach.

Single workshop open to all non-executive Members, including Committee Chairs and group 
representatives.

Workshop findings reviewed by Review Panel and report finalised.

Review Duration:
The review duration will be from June to September 2019 with a key focus on a single 
workshop on 17th July 2019.

Scheduled Committee Report Date:
Report to Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee on 19th September 2019., Report 
Deadline: Thursday 22nd August 2019 
Review Panel to sign off report Thursday 15th August 2019 

Scheduled Cabinet Report Date:
N/A

Page 2Page 572

http://s03vs-intrcm.core.wcent.wirral.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=684


Page 3 of 3
Wirral Intelligence Service: Scrutiny Review Template

4. Sources of Evidence:

Key Witnesses:
Philip McCourt (Director of Governance & Assurance)
Vicki Shaw (Head of Legal Services)
David Armstrong (Corporate Director Delivery Services)
Nancy Clarkson (Head of Intelligence and Statutory Scrutiny Officer)
Nicola Butterworth (Assistant Director for Commercial Management & Lead Officer for 
Environment O&S Committee)
Shaer Halewood (Director of Finance & Investment & Lead Officer for Business O&S 
Committee) 
Paul Boyce (Corporate Director for Children Services & Lead Officer for Children & Young 
People O&S Committee) 
Graham Hodkinson (Director for Adult Care & Health & Lead Officer for Adult Care & Health 
O&S Committee) 

Supporting Papers / Documentation:

 Overview and scrutiny: statutory guidance for councils and combined authorities.
 Existing committee terms of reference.
 Review of other local authority scrutiny arrangements (with a focus on CIPFA nearest 

neighbours for comparison purposes).
 Review of other Local Authorities operating under a committee system.
 Previous Scrutiny arrangements in Wirral.
 Possible questionnaire for members to provide feedback on O&S – decision to be made 

post-workshop.

Involvement of service users / public:
N/A

5. Key Communications and timings:

To be further developed and finalised following the workshop.

Cabinet Member:

Business O&S Chair to brief Council Leadership / Cabinet on review findings.

Press Office:

Communications lead to be briefed on review findings as appropriate.

Page 3Page 573

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/800048/Statutory_Guidance_on_Overview_and_Scrutiny_in_Local_and_Combined_Authorities.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 574



 

May 2019 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 

 

 

 

Statutory Guidance on Overview and 
Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2

Page 575



 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2019 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

May 2019 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-5458-6

Page 6Page 576

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


 

3 

Contents 

Ministerial Foreword 4 

About this Guidance 5 

1. Introduction and Context 7 

2. Culture 8 

3. Resourcing 13 

4. Selecting Committee Members 15 

5. Power to Access Information 18 

6. Planning Work 21 

7. Evidence Sessions 25 

Annex 1: Illustrative Scenario – Creating an Executive-Scrutiny Protocol 27 

Annex 2: Illustrative Scenario – Engaging Independent Technical Advisers 28 

Annex 3: Illustrative Scenario – Approaching an External Organisation to Appear 
before a Committee 30 

 

 

Page 7Page 577



 

4 

Ministerial Foreword 

The role that overview and scrutiny can play in holding an authority’s decision-makers to 
account makes it fundamentally important to the successful functioning of local 
democracy. Effective scrutiny helps secure the efficient delivery of public services and 
drives improvements within the authority itself. Conversely, poor scrutiny can be indicative 
of wider governance, leadership and service failure. 
 
It is vital that councils and combined authorities know the purpose of scrutiny, what 
effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it and the benefits it can bring. This guidance 
aims to increase understanding in all four areas. 
 
In writing this guidance, my department has taken close note of the House of Commons 
Select Committee report of December 2017, as well as the written and oral evidence 
supplied to that Committee. We have also consulted individuals and organisations with 
practical involvement in conducting, researching and supporting scrutiny. 
 
It is clear from speaking to these practitioners that local and combined authorities with 
effective overview and scrutiny arrangements in place share certain key traits, the most 
important being a strong organisational culture. Authorities who welcome challenge and 
recognise the value scrutiny can bring reap the benefits. But this depends on strong 
commitment from the top - from senior members as well as senior officials. 
 
Crucially, this guidance recognises that authorities have democratic mandates and are 
ultimately accountable to their electorates, and that authorities themselves are best-placed 
to know which scrutiny arrangements are most appropriate for their own individual 
circumstances. 
 
I would, however, strongly urge all councils to cast a critical eye over their existing 
arrangements and, above all, ensure they embed a culture that allows overview and 
scrutiny to flourish. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
      Rishi Sunak MP 
     Minister for Local Government 

  

Page 8Page 578



 

5 

About this Guidance 

Who the guidance is for 
This document is aimed at local authorities and combined authorities in England to help 
them carry out their overview and scrutiny functions effectively. In particular, it provides 
advice for senior leaders, members of overview and scrutiny committees, and support 
officers. 
 

Aim of the guidance 
This guidance seeks to ensure local authorities and combined authorities are aware of the 
purpose of overview and scrutiny, what effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it 
effectively and the benefits it can bring. 
 
As such, it includes a number of policies and practices authorities should adopt or should 
consider adopting when deciding how to carry out their overview and scrutiny functions. 
 
The guidance recognises that authorities approach scrutiny in different ways and have 
different processes and procedures in place, and that what might work well for one 
authority might not work well in another. 
 
The hypothetical scenarios contained in the annexes to this guidance have been included 
for illustrative purposes, and are intended to provoke thought and discussion rather than 
serve as a ‘best’ way to approach the relevant issues. 
 
While the guidance sets out some of the key legal requirements, it does not seek to 
replicate legislation. 
 

Status of the guidance 
This is statutory guidance from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government. Local authorities and combined authorities must have regard to it when 
exercising their functions. The phrase ‘must have regard’, when used in this context, does 
not mean that the sections of statutory guidance have to be followed in every detail, but 
that they should be followed unless there is a good reason not to in a particular case. 
 
Not every authority is required to appoint a scrutiny committee. This guidance applies to 
those authorities who have such a committee in place, whether they are required to or not. 
 
This guidance has been issued under section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 and 
under paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic Development 
and Construction Act 2009, which requires authorities to have regard to this guidance. In 
addition, authorities may have regard to other material they might choose to consider, 
including that issued by the Centre for Public Scrutiny, when exercising their overview and 
scrutiny functions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9Page 579



 

6 

Terminology 
Unless ‘overview’ is specifically mentioned, the term ‘scrutiny’ refers to both overview and 
scrutiny.1 

 
Where the term ‘authority’ is used, it refers to both local authorities and combined 
authorities. 
 
Where the term ‘scrutiny committee’ is used, it refers to an overview and scrutiny 
committee and any of its sub-committees. As the legislation refers throughout to powers 
conferred on scrutiny committees, that is the wording used in this guidance. However, the 
guidance should be seen as applying equally to work undertaken in informal task and 
finish groups, commissioned by formal committees. 
 
Where the term ‘executive’ is used, it refers to executive members. 
 
For combined authorities, references to the ‘executive’ or ‘cabinet’ should be interpreted as 
relating to the mayor (where applicable) and all the authority members. 
 
For authorities operating committee rather than executive arrangements, references to the 
executive or Cabinet should be interpreted as relating to councillors in leadership 
positions. 
 

Expiry or review date 
This guidance will be kept under review and updated as necessary. 
  

                                            
 
1 A distinction is often drawn between ‘overview’ which focuses on the development of 
policy, and ‘scrutiny’ which looks at decisions that have been made or are about to be 
made to ensure they are fit for purpose. 

Page 10Page 580



 

7 

1. Introduction and Context 

1. Overview and scrutiny committees were introduced in 2000 as part of new 
executive governance arrangements to ensure that members of an authority who 
were not part of the executive could hold the executive to account for the decisions 
and actions that affect their communities. 

 
2. Overview and scrutiny committees have statutory powers2 to scrutinise decisions 

the executive is planning to take, those it plans to implement, and those that have 
already been taken/implemented. Recommendations following scrutiny enable 
improvements to be made to policies and how they are implemented. Overview and 
scrutiny committees can also play a valuable role in developing policy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3. The requirement for local authorities in England to establish overview and scrutiny 
committees is set out in sections 9F to 9FI of the Local Government Act 2000 as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011. 

 
4. The Localism Act 2011 amended the Local Government Act 2000 to allow councils 

to revert to a non-executive form of governance - the ‘committee system’. Councils 
who adopt the committee system are not required to have overview and scrutiny but 
may do so if they wish. The legislation has been strengthened and updated since 
2000, most recently to reflect new governance arrangements with combined 
authorities. Requirements for combined authorities are set out in Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

 
5. Current overview and scrutiny legislation recognises that authorities are 

democratically-elected bodies who are best-placed to determine which overview 
and scrutiny arrangements best suit their own individual needs, and so gives them a 
great degree of flexibility to decide which arrangements to adopt. 

 
6. In producing this guidance, the Government fully recognises both authorities’ 

democratic mandate and that the nature of local government has changed in recent 
years, with, for example, the creation of combined authorities, and councils 
increasingly delivering key services in partnership with other organisations or 
outsourcing them entirely. 

  

                                            
 
2 Section 9F of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 1 of Schedule 5A to the Local 
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

Effective overview and scrutiny should: 

• Provide constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge; 

• Amplify the voices and concerns of the public; 

• Be led by independent people who take responsibility for their 
role; and 

• Drive improvement in public services. 
 

Page 11Page 581



 

8 

2. Culture 

7. The prevailing organisational culture, behaviours and attitudes of an authority will 
largely determine whether its scrutiny function succeeds or fails. 

 
8. While everyone in an authority can play a role in creating an environment conducive 

to effective scrutiny, it is important that this is led and owned by members, given 
their role in setting and maintaining the culture of an authority. 
 

9. Creating a strong organisational culture supports scrutiny work that can add real 
value by, for example, improving policy-making and the efficient delivery of public 
services. In contrast, low levels of support for and engagement with the scrutiny 
function often lead to poor quality and ill-focused work that serves to reinforce the 
perception that it is of little worth or relevance. 

 
10. Members and senior officers should note that the performance of the scrutiny 

function is not just of interest to the authority itself. Its effectiveness, or lack thereof, 
is often considered by external bodies such as regulators and inspectors, and 
highlighted in public reports, including best value inspection reports. Failures in 
scrutiny can therefore help to create a negative public image of the work of an 
authority as a whole. 

 
How to establish a strong organisational culture 

11. Authorities can establish a strong organisational culture by: 
 

a) Recognising scrutiny’s legal and democratic legitimacy – all members and 
officers should recognise and appreciate the importance and legitimacy the 
scrutiny function is afforded by the law. It was created to act as a check and 
balance on the executive and is a statutory requirement for all authorities 
operating executive arrangements and for combined authorities. 
 
Councillors have a unique legitimacy derived from their being democratically 
elected. The insights that they can bring by having this close connection to local 
people are part of what gives scrutiny its value.  
 

b) Identifying a clear role and focus – authorities should take steps to ensure 
scrutiny has a clear role and focus within the organisation, i.e. a niche within 
which it can clearly demonstrate it adds value. Therefore, prioritisation is 
necessary to ensure the scrutiny function concentrates on delivering work that 
is of genuine value and relevance to the work of the wider authority – this is one 
of the most challenging parts of scrutiny, and a critical element to get right if it is 
to be recognised as a strategic function of the authority (see chapter 6). 
 
Authorities should ensure a clear division of responsibilities between the 
scrutiny function and the audit function. While it is appropriate for scrutiny to pay 
due regard to the authority’s financial position, this will need to happen in the 
context of the formal audit role. The authority’s section 151 officer should advise 
scrutiny on how to manage this dynamic. 

Page 12Page 582



 

9 

 
While scrutiny has no role in the investigation or oversight of the authority’s 
whistleblowing arrangements, the findings of independent whistleblowing 
investigations might be of interest to scrutiny committees as they consider their 
wider implications. Members should always follow the authority’s constitution 
and associated Monitoring Officer directions on the matter. Further guidance on 
whistleblowing can be found at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/att
achment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-
and-code-of-practice.pdf. 
 

c) Ensuring early and regular engagement between the executive and 
scrutiny – authorities should ensure early and regular discussion takes place 
between scrutiny and the executive, especially regarding the latter’s future work 
programme. Authorities should, though, be mindful of their distinct roles: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
d) Managing disagreement – effective scrutiny involves looking at issues that can 

be politically contentious. It is therefore inevitable that, at times, an executive 
will disagree with the findings or recommendations of a scrutiny committee. 
 
It is the job of both the executive and scrutiny to work together to reduce the risk 
of this happening, and authorities should take steps to predict, identify and act 
on disagreement. 
 
One way in which this can be done is via an ‘executive-scrutiny protocol’ (see 
annex 1) which can help define the relationship between the two and mitigate 
any differences of opinion before they manifest themselves in unhelpful and 
unproductive ways. The benefit of this approach is that it provides a framework 
for disagreement and debate, and a way to manage it when it happens. Often, 

In particular: 
 

• The executive should not try to exercise control over the work of 
the scrutiny committee. This could be direct, e.g. by purporting to 
‘order’ scrutiny to look at, or not look at, certain issues, or 
indirect, e.g. through the use of the whip or as a tool of political 
patronage, and the committee itself should remember its 
statutory purpose when carrying out its work. All members and 
officers should consider the role the scrutiny committee plays to 
be that of a ‘critical friend’ not a de facto ‘opposition’. Scrutiny 
chairs have a particular role to play in establishing the profile and 
nature of their committee (see chapter 4); and 

 

• The chair of the scrutiny committee should determine the nature 
and extent of an executive member’s participation in a scrutiny 
committee meeting, and in any informal scrutiny task group 
meeting. 

Page 13Page 583

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf


 

10 

the value of such a protocol lies in the dialogue that underpins its preparation. It 
is important that these protocols are reviewed on a regular basis. 
 
Scrutiny committees do have the power to ‘call in’ decisions, i.e. ask the 
executive to reconsider them before they are implemented, but should not view 
it as a substitute for early involvement in the decision-making process or as a 
party-political tool. 
 

e) Providing the necessary support – while the level of resource allocated to 
scrutiny is for each authority to decide for itself, when determining resources an 
authority should consider the purpose of scrutiny as set out in legislation and 
the specific role and remit of the authority’s own scrutiny committee(s), and the 
scrutiny function as a whole. 
 
Support should also be given by members and senior officers to scrutiny 
committees and their support staff to access information held by the authority 
and facilitate discussions with representatives of external bodies (see chapter 
5). 
 

f) Ensuring impartial advice from officers – authorities, particularly senior 
officers, should ensure all officers are free to provide impartial advice to scrutiny 
committees. This is fundamental to effective scrutiny. Of particular importance is 
the role played by ‘statutory officers’ – the monitoring officer, the section 151 
officer and the head of paid service, and where relevant the statutory scrutiny 
officer. These individuals have a particular role in ensuring that timely, relevant 
and high-quality advice is provided to scrutiny.  
 

g) Communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider authority – the 
scrutiny function can often lack support and recognition within an authority 
because there is a lack of awareness among both members and officers about 
the specific role it plays, which individuals are involved and its relevance to the 
authority’s wider work. Authorities should, therefore, take steps to ensure all 
members and officers are made aware of the role the scrutiny committee plays 
in the organisation, its value and the outcomes it can deliver, the powers it has, 
its membership and, if appropriate, the identity of those providing officer 
support. 
 

h) Maintaining the interest of full Council in the work of the scrutiny 
committee – part of communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider 
authority should happen through the formal, public role of full Council – 
particularly given that scrutiny will undertake valuable work to highlight 
challenging issues that an authority will be facing and subjects that will be a 
focus of full Council’s work. Authorities should therefore take steps to ensure full 
Council is informed of the work the scrutiny committee is doing. 
 
One way in which this can be done is by reports and recommendations being 
submitted to full Council rather than solely to the executive. Scrutiny should 
decide when it would be appropriate to submit reports for wider debate in this 
way, taking into account the relevance of reports to full Council business, as 
well as full Council’s capacity to consider and respond in a timely manner. Such 

Page 14Page 584



 

11 

reports would supplement the annual report to full Council on scrutiny’s 
activities and raise awareness of ongoing work. 
 
In order to maintain awareness of scrutiny at the Combined Authority and 
provoke dialogue and discussion of its impact, the business of scrutiny should 
be reported to the Combined Authority board or to the chairs of the relevant 
scrutiny committees of constituent and non-constituent authorities, or both. At 
those chairs’ discretion, particular Combined Authority scrutiny outcomes, and 
what they might mean for each individual area, could be either discussed by 
scrutiny in committee or referred to full Council of the constituent authorities.  
 

i) Communicating scrutiny’s role to the public – authorities should ensure 
scrutiny has a profile in the wider community. Consideration should be given to 
how and when to engage the authority’s communications officers, and any other 
relevant channels, to understand how to get that message across. This will 
usually require engagement early on in the work programming process (see 
chapter 6). 
 

j) Ensuring scrutiny members are supported in having an independent 
mindset – formal committee meetings provide a vital opportunity for scrutiny 
members to question the executive and officers. 
 
Inevitably, some committee members will come from the same political party as 
a member they are scrutinising and might well have a long-standing personal, 
or familial, relationship with them (see paragraph 25). 
 
Scrutiny members should bear in mind, however, that adopting an independent 
mind-set is fundamental to carrying out their work effectively. In practice, this is 
likely to require scrutiny chairs working proactively to identify any potentially 
contentious issues and plan how to manage them. 

 
Directly-elected mayoral systems 

12. A strong organisational culture that supports scrutiny work is particularly important 
in authorities with a directly-elected mayor to ensure there are the checks and 
balances to maintain a robust democratic system. Mayoral systems offer the 
opportunity for greater public accountability and stronger governance, but there 
have also been incidents that highlight the importance of creating and maintaining a 
culture that puts scrutiny at the heart of its operations.  

 
13. Authorities with a directly-elected mayor should ensure that scrutiny committees are 

well-resourced, are able to recruit high-calibre members and that their scrutiny 
functions pay particular attention to issues surrounding: 

• rights of access to documents by the press, public and councillors; 

• transparent and fully recorded decision-making processes, especially 
avoiding decisions by ‘unofficial’ committees or working groups; 

• delegated decisions by the Mayor; 

• whistleblowing protections for both staff and councillors; and 

• powers of Full Council, where applicable, to question and review. 
 

Page 15Page 585



 

12 

14. Authorities with a directly-elected mayor should note that mayors are required by 
law to attend overview and scrutiny committee sessions when asked to do so (see 
paragraph 44). 

  

Page 16Page 586



 

13 

3. Resourcing 

15. The resource an authority allocates to the scrutiny function plays a pivotal role in 
determining how successful that function is and therefore the value it can add to the 
work of the authority. 

 
16. Ultimately it is up to each authority to decide on the resource it provides, but every 

authority should recognise that creating and sustaining an effective scrutiny function 
requires them to allocate resources to it. 

 
17. Authorities should also recognise that support for scrutiny committees, task groups 

and other activities is not solely about budgets and provision of officer time, 
although these are clearly extremely important elements. Effective support is also 
about the ways in which the wider authority engages with those who carry out the 
scrutiny function (both members and officers). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
Statutory scrutiny officers 

18. Combined authorities, upper and single tier authorities are required to designate a 
statutory scrutiny officer,3 someone whose role is to: 

• promote the role of the authority’s scrutiny committee; 

• provide support to the scrutiny committee and its members; and 

• provide support and guidance to members and officers relating to the functions 
of the scrutiny committee. 

 

                                            
 
3 Section 9FB of the Local Government Act 2000; article 9 of the Combined Authorities 
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 
2017 

When deciding on the level of resource to allocate to the scrutiny 
function, the factors an authority should consider include: 

• Scrutiny’s legal powers and responsibilities; 

• The particular role and remit scrutiny will play in the authority; 

• The training requirements of scrutiny members and support 
officers, particularly the support needed to ask effective 
questions of the executive and other key partners, and make 
effective recommendations; 

• The need for ad hoc external support where expertise does not 
exist in the council; 

• Effectively-resourced scrutiny has been shown to add value to 
the work of authorities, improving their ability to meet the needs 
of local people; and 

• Effectively-resourced scrutiny can help policy formulation and so 
minimise the need for call-in of executive decisions. 

 

Page 17Page 587



 

14 

19. Authorities not required by law to appoint such an officer should consider whether 
doing so would be appropriate for their specific local needs. 

 
Officer resource models 

20. Authorities are free to decide for themselves which wider officer support model best 
suits their individual circumstances, though generally they adopt one or a mix of the 
following: 

• Committee – officers are drawn from specific policy or service areas; 

• Integrated – officers are drawn from the corporate centre and also service the 
executive; and 

• Specialist – officers are dedicated to scrutiny. 
 

21. Each model has its merits – the committee model provides service-specific 
expertise; the integrated model facilitates closer and earlier scrutiny involvement in 
policy formation and alignment of corporate work programmes; and the specialist 
model is structurally independent from those areas it scrutinises. 

 
22. Authorities should ensure that, whatever model they employ, officers tasked with 

providing scrutiny support are able to provide impartial advice. This might require 
consideration of the need to build safeguards into the way that support is provided. 
The nature of these safeguards will differ according to the specific role scrutiny 
plays in the organisation. 

  

Page 18Page 588



 

15 

4. Selecting Committee Members 

23. Selecting the right members to serve on scrutiny committees is essential if those 
committees are to function effectively. Where a committee is made up of members 
who have the necessary skills and commitment, it is far more likely to be taken 
seriously by the wider authority. 

 
24. While there are proportionality requirements that must be met,4 the selection of the 

chair and other committee members is for each authority to decide for itself. 
Guidance for combined authorities on this issue has been produced by the Centre 
for Public Scrutiny5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

25. Authorities are reminded that members of the executive cannot be members of a 
scrutiny committee.6 Authorities should take care to ensure that, as a minimum, 
members holding less formal executive positions, e.g. as Cabinet assistants, do not 
sit on scrutinising committees looking at portfolios to which those roles relate. 
Authorities should articulate in their constitutions how conflicts of interest, including 
familial links (see also paragraph 31), between executive and scrutiny 
responsibilities should be managed, including where members stand down from the 
executive and move to a scrutiny role, and vice-versa. 

 
26. Members or substitute members of a combined authority must not be members of 

its overview and scrutiny committee.7 This includes the Mayor in Mayoral Combined 
Authorities. It is advised that Deputy Mayors for Policing and Crime are also not 
members of the combined authority’s overview and scrutiny committee. 

 
Selecting individual committee members 

27. When selecting individual members to serve on scrutiny committees, an authority 
should consider a member’s experience, expertise, interests, ability to act 
impartially, ability to work as part of a group, and capacity to serve. 

 

                                            
 
4 See, for example, regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Committee System) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (S.I. 2012/1020) and article 4 of the Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 (S.I. 
2017/68). 
5 See pages 15-18 of ‘Overview and scrutiny in combined authorities: a plain English 
guide’: https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-

authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf 
6 Section 9FA(3) of the Local Government Act 2000. 
7 2(3) of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction 
Act 2009 

Members invariably have different skill-sets. What an authority must 
consider when forming a committee is that, as a group, it possesses the 
requisite expertise, commitment and ability to act impartially to fulfil its 
functions. 

Page 19Page 589

https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf
https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf


 

16 

28. Authorities should not take into account a member’s perceived level of support for 
or opposition to a particular political party (notwithstanding the wider legal 
requirement for proportionality referred to in paragraph 24). 

 
Selecting a chair 

29. The Chair plays a leadership role on a scrutiny committee as they are largely 
responsible for establishing its profile, influence and ways of working. 

 
30. The attributes authorities should and should not take into account when selecting 

individual committee members (see paragraphs 27 and 28) also apply to the 
selection of the Chair, but the Chair should also possess the ability to lead and build 
a sense of teamwork and consensus among committee members. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

31. Given their pre-eminent role on the scrutiny committee, it is strongly recommended 
that the Chair not preside over scrutiny of their relatives8. Combined authorities 
should note the legal requirements that apply to them where the Chair is an 
independent person9. 

 
32. The method for selecting a Chair is for each authority to decide for itself, however 

every authority should consider taking a vote by secret ballot. Combined Authorities 
should be aware of the legal requirements regarding the party affiliation of their 
scrutiny committee Chair10. 

 
Training for committee members 

33. Authorities should ensure committee members are offered induction when they take 
up their role and ongoing training so they can carry out their responsibilities 
effectively. Authorities should pay attention to the need to ensure committee 
members are aware of their legal powers, and how to prepare for and ask relevant 
questions at scrutiny sessions. 

 
34. When deciding on training requirements for committee members, authorities should 

consider taking advantage of opportunities offered by external providers in the 
sector. 

 
Co-option and technical advice 

35. While members and their support officers will often have significant local insight and 
an understanding of local people and their needs, the provision of outside expertise 
can be invaluable. 

                                            
 
8 A definition of ‘relative’ can be found at section 28(10) of the Localism Act 2011. 
9 See article 5(2) of the Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access 
to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 (S.I. 2017/68). 
10 Article 5(6) of the Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to 
Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 

Chairs should pay special attention to the need to guard the 
committee’s independence. Importantly, however, they should take care 
to avoid the committee being, and being viewed as, a de facto 
opposition to the executive. 

Page 20Page 590



 

17 

 
36. There are two principal ways to procure this: 

• Co-option – formal co-option is provided for in legislation11. Authorities must 
establish a co-option scheme to determine how individuals will be co-opted onto 
committees; and 

• Technical advisers – depending on the subject matter, independent local 
experts might exist who can provide advice and assistance in evaluating 
evidence (see annex 2). 

  

                                            
 
11 Section 9FA(4) Local Government Act 2000 

Page 21Page 591



 

18 

5. Power to Access Information 

37. A scrutiny committee needs access to relevant information the authority holds, and 
to receive it in good time, if it is to do its job effectively. 

 
38. This need is recognised in law, with members of scrutiny committees enjoying 

powers to access information12. In particular, regulations give enhanced powers to a 
scrutiny member to access exempt or confidential information. This is in addition to 
existing rights for councillors to have access to information to perform their duties, 
including common law rights to request information and rights to request information 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004. 

 
39. When considering what information scrutiny needs in order to carry out its work, 

scrutiny members and the executive should consider scrutiny’s role and the legal 
rights that committees and their individual members have, as well as their need to 
receive timely and accurate information to carry out their duties effectively. 

 
40. Scrutiny members should have access to a regularly available source of key 

information about the management of the authority – particularly on performance, 
management and risk. Where this information exists, and scrutiny members are 
given support to understand it, the potential for what officers might consider 
unfocused and unproductive requests is reduced as members will be able to frame 
their requests from a more informed position. 

 
41. Officers should speak to scrutiny members to ensure they understand the reasons 

why information is needed, thereby making the authority better able to provide 
information that is relevant and timely, as well as ensuring that the authority 
complies with legal requirements. 

 
 
 
 
 

42. The law recognises that there might be instances where it is legitimate for an 
authority to withhold information and places a requirement on the executive to 
provide the scrutiny committee with a written statement setting out its reasons for 
that decision13. However, members of the executive and senior officers should take 
particular care to avoid refusing requests, or limiting the information they provide, 
for reasons of party political or reputational expediency. 

                                            
 
12 Regulation 17 - Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10 Combined Authorities (Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 
13 Regulation 17(4) – Local Government (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10(4) Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 

While each request for information should be judged on its individual 
merits, authorities should adopt a default position of sharing the 
information they hold, on request, with scrutiny committee members. 
 

 

Page 22Page 592



 

19 

 
 
 
 
 
 

43. Regulations already stipulate a timeframe for executives to comply with requests 
from a scrutiny member14. When agreeing to such requests, authorities should: 

• consider whether seeking clarification from the information requester could 
help better target the request; and 

• Ensure the information is supplied in a format appropriate to the recipient’s 
needs. 

 

44. Committees should be aware of their legal power to require members of the 
executive and officers to attend before them to answer questions15. It is the duty of 
members and officers to comply with such requests.16 

 
Seeking information from external organisations 

45. Scrutiny members should also consider the need to supplement any authority-held 
information they receive with information and intelligence that might be available 
from other sources, and should note in particular their statutory powers to access 
information from certain external organisations. 

 
46. When asking an external organisation to provide documentation or appear before it, 

and where that organisation is not legally obliged to do either (see annex 3), 
scrutiny committees should consider the following: 

 
a) The need to explain the purpose of scrutiny – the organisation being 

approached might have little or no awareness of the committee’s work, or of an 
authority’s scrutiny function more generally, and so might be reluctant to comply 
with any request; 
 

b) The benefits of an informal approach – individuals from external 
organisations can have fixed perceptions of what an evidence session entails 
and may be unwilling to subject themselves to detailed public scrutiny if they 
believe it could reflect badly on them or their employer. Making an informal 
approach can help reassure an organisation of the aims of the committee, the 
type of information being sought and the manner in which the evidence session 
would be conducted; 
 

                                            
 
14 Regulation 17(2) – Local Government (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10(2) Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 
15 Section 9FA(8) of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 2(6) of Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 
16 Section 9FA(9) of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 2(7) of Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

Before an authority takes a decision not to share information it holds, it 
should give serious consideration to whether that information could be 
shared in closed session. 

Page 23Page 593



 

20 

c) How to encourage compliance with the request – scrutiny committees will 
want to frame their approach on a case by case basis. For contentious issues, 
committees might want to emphasise the opportunity their request gives the 
organisation to ‘set the record straight’ in a public setting; and 
 

d) Who to approach – a committee might instinctively want to ask the Chief 
Executive or Managing Director of an organisation to appear at an evidence 
session, however it could be more beneficial to engage front-line staff when 
seeking operational-level detail rather than senior executives who might only be 
able to talk in more general terms. When making a request to a specific 
individual, the committee should consider the type of information it is seeking, 
the nature of the organisation in question and the authority’s pre-existing 
relationship with it. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Following ‘the Council Pound’ 
Scrutiny committees will often have a keen interest in ‘following the 
council pound’, i.e. scrutinising organisations that receive public funding 
to deliver goods and services. 
 
Authorities should recognise the legitimacy of this interest and, where 
relevant, consider the need to provide assistance to scrutiny members 
and their support staff to obtain information from organisations the 
council has contracted to deliver services. In particular, when agreeing 
contracts with these bodies, authorities should consider whether it 
would be appropriate to include a requirement for them to supply 
information to or appear before scrutiny committees. 
 

Page 24Page 594



 

21 

6. Planning Work 

47. Effective scrutiny should have a defined impact on the ground, with the committee 
making recommendations that will make a tangible difference to the work of the 
authority. To have this kind of impact, scrutiny committees need to plan their work 
programme, i.e. draw up a long-term agenda and consider making it flexible enough 
to accommodate any urgent, short-term issues that might arise during the year. 

 
48. Authorities with multiple scrutiny committees sometimes have a separate work 

programme for each committee. Where this happens, consideration should be given 
to how to co-ordinate the various committees’ work to make best use of the total 
resources available. 

 
Being clear about scrutiny’s role 

49. Scrutiny works best when it has a clear role and function. This provides focus and 
direction. While scrutiny has the power to look at anything which affects ‘the area, 
or the area’s inhabitants’, authorities will often find it difficult to support a scrutiny 
function that carries out generalised oversight across the wide range of issues 
experienced by local people, particularly in the context of partnership working. 
Prioritisation is necessary, which means that there might be things that, despite 
being important, scrutiny will not be able to look at. 

 
50. Different overall roles could include having a focus on risk, the authority’s finances, 

or on the way the authority works with its partners. 
 

51. Applying this focus does not mean that certain subjects are ‘off limits’. It is more 
about looking at topics and deciding whether their relative importance justifies the 
positive impact scrutiny’s further involvement could bring. 

 
52. When thinking about scrutiny’s focus, members should be supported by key senior 

officers. The statutory scrutiny officer, if an authority has one, will need to take a 
leading role in supporting members to clarify the role and function of scrutiny, and 
championing that role once agreed. 

 
Who to speak to 

53. Evidence will need to be gathered to inform the work programming process. This 
will ensure that it looks at the right topics, in the right way and at the right time. 
Gathering evidence requires conversations with: 

• The public – it is likely that formal ‘consultation’ with the public on the scrutiny 
work programme will be ineffective. Asking individual scrutiny members to have 
conversations with individuals and groups in their own local areas can work 
better. Insights gained from the public through individual pieces of scrutiny work 
can be fed back into the work programming process. Listening to and 
participating in conversations in places where local people come together, 
including in online forums, can help authorities engage people on their own 
terms and yield more positive results. 
 

Page 25Page 595



 

22 

Authorities should consider how their communications officers can help scrutiny 
engage with the public, and how wider internal expertise and local knowledge 
from both members and officers might make a contribution. 

 

• The authority’s partners – relationships with other partners should not be limited 
to evidence-gathering to support individual reviews or agenda items. A range of 
partners are likely to have insights that will prove useful: 
o Public sector partners (like the NHS and community safety partners, over 

which scrutiny has specific legal powers); 
o Voluntary sector partners; 
o Contractors and commissioning partners (including partners in joint 

ventures and authority-owned companies); 
o In parished areas, town, community and parish councils; 
o Neighbouring principal councils (both in two-tier and unitary areas); 
o Cross-authority bodies and organisations, such as Local Enterprise 

Partnerships17; and 
o Others with a stake and interest in the local area – large local employers, 

for example. 
 

• The executive – a principal partner in discussions on the work programme 
should be the executive (and senior officers). The executive should not direct 
scrutiny’s work (see chapter 2), but conversations will help scrutiny members 
better understand how their work can be designed to align with the best 
opportunities to influence the authority’s wider work. 

 
Information sources 

54. Scrutiny will need access to relevant information to inform its work programme. The 
type of information will depend on the specific role and function scrutiny plays within 
the authority, but might include: 

• Performance information from across the authority and its partners; 

• Finance and risk information from across the authority and its partners; 

• Corporate complaints information, and aggregated information from political 
groups about the subject matter of members’ surgeries; 

• Business cases and options appraisals (and other planning information) for 
forthcoming major decisions. This information will be of particular use for pre-
decision scrutiny; and 

• Reports and recommendations issued by relevant ombudsmen, especially 
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. 

                                            
 
17 Authorities should ensure they have appropriate arrangements in place to ensure the 
effective democratic scrutiny of Local Enterprise Partnerships’ investment decisions. 

Page 26Page 596



 

23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

55. Scrutiny members should consider keeping this information under regular review. It 
is likely to be easier to do this outside committee, rather than bringing such 
information to committee ’to note’, or to provide an update, as a matter of course. 

 
Shortlisting topics 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

56. Some authorities use scoring systems to evaluate and rank work programme 
proposals. If these are used to provoke discussion and debate, based on evidence, 
about what priorities should be, they can be a useful tool. Others take a looser 
approach. Whichever method is adopted, a committee should be able to justify how 
and why a decision has been taken to include certain issues and not others. 

 
57. Scrutiny members should accept that shortlisting can be difficult; scrutiny 

committees have finite resources and deciding how these are best allocated is 
tough. They should understand that, if work programming is robust and effective, 
there might well be issues that they want to look at that nonetheless are not 
selected. 

 
Carrying out work 

58. Selected topics can be scrutinised in several ways, including: 

 
a) As a single item on a committee agenda – this often presents a limited 

opportunity for effective scrutiny, but may be appropriate for some issues or 
where the committee wants to maintain a formal watching brief over a given 
issue; 
 

b) At a single meeting – which could be a committee meeting or something less 
formal. This can provide an opportunity to have a single public meeting about a 

As committees can meet in closed session, commercial confidentiality 
should not preclude the sharing of information. Authorities should note, 
however, that the default for meetings should be that they are held in 
public (see 2014 guidance on ‘Open and accountable local 
government’: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf). 

Approaches to shortlisting topics should reflect scrutiny’s overall role in 
the authority. This will require the development of bespoke, local 
solutions, however when considering whether an item should be 
included in the work programme, the kind of questions a scrutiny 
committee should consider might include: 

• Do we understand the benefits scrutiny would bring to 
this issue? 

• How could we best carry out work on this subject? 

• What would be the best outcome of this work? 

• How would this work engage with the activity of the 
executive and other decision-makers, including partners? 

 

Page 27Page 597

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf


 

24 

given subject, or to have a meeting at which evidence is taken from a number of 
witnesses; 
 

c) At a task and finish review of two or three meetings – short, sharp scrutiny 
reviews are likely to be most effective even for complex topics. Properly 
focused, they ensure members can swiftly reach conclusions and make 
recommendations, perhaps over the course of a couple of months or less; 
 

d) Via a longer-term task and finish review – the ‘traditional’ task and finish 
model – with perhaps six or seven meetings spread over a number of months – 
is still appropriate when scrutiny needs to dig into a complex topic in significant 
detail. However, the resource implications of such work, and its length, can 
make it unattractive for all but the most complex matters; and 
 

e) By establishing a ‘standing panel’ – this falls short of establishing a whole 
new committee but may reflect a necessity to keep a watching brief over a 
critical local issue, especially where members feel they need to convene 
regularly to carry out that oversight. Again, the resource implications of this 
approach means that it will be rarely used. 

  

Page 28Page 598



 

25 

7. Evidence Sessions 

59. Evidence sessions are a key way in which scrutiny committees inform their work. 
They might happen at formal committee, in less formal ‘task and finish’ groups or at 
standalone sessions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
How to plan 

60. Effective planning does not necessarily involve a large number of pre-meetings, the 
development of complex scopes or the drafting of questioning plans. It is more often 
about setting overall objectives and then considering what type of questions (and 
the way in which they are asked) can best elicit the information the committee is 
seeking. This applies as much to individual agenda items as it does for longer 
evidence sessions – there should always be consideration in advance of what 
scrutiny is trying to get out of a particular evidence session. 

 
 
 
 
 

61. As far as possible there should be consensus among scrutiny members about the 
objective of an evidence session before it starts. It is important to recognise that 
members have different perspectives on certain issues, and so might not share the 
objectives for a session that are ultimately adopted. Where this happens, the Chair 
will need to be aware of this divergence of views and bear it in mind when planning 
the evidence session. 

 
62. Effective planning should mean that at the end of a session it is relatively 

straightforward for the chair to draw together themes and highlight the key findings. 
It is unlikely that the committee will be able to develop and agree recommendations 
immediately, but, unless the session is part of a wider inquiry, enough evidence 
should have been gathered to allow the chair to set a clear direction. 

 
63. After an evidence session, the committee might wish to hold a short ‘wash-up’ 

meeting to review whether their objectives were met and lessons could be learned 
for future sessions. 

 
Developing recommendations 

64. The development and agreement of recommendations is often an iterative process. 
It will usually be appropriate for this to be done only by members, assisted by co-
optees where relevant. When deciding on recommendations, however, members 
should have due regard to advice received from officers, particularly the Monitoring 
Officer. 

Good preparation is a vital part of conducting effective evidence 
sessions. Members should have a clear idea of what the committee 
hopes to get out of each session and appreciate that success will 
depend on their ability to work together on the day. 

Chairs play a vital role in leading discussions on objective-setting and 
ensuring all members are aware of the specific role each will play during 
the evidence session. 
 

Page 29Page 599



 

26 

 
65. The drafting of reports is usually, but not always, carried out by officers, directed by 

members. 
 

66. Authorities draft reports and recommendations in a number of ways, but there are 
normally three stages: 

 
i. the development of a ‘heads of report’ – a document setting out general 

findings that members can then discuss as they consider the overall structure 
and focus of the report and its recommendations; 
 

ii. the development of those findings, which will set out some areas on which 
recommendations might be made; and  
 

iii. the drafting of the full report. 
 

67. Recommendations should be evidence-based and SMART, i.e. specific, 
measurable, achievable, relevant and timed. Where appropriate, committees may 
wish to consider sharing them in draft with interested parties. 

 
68. Committees should bear in mind that often six to eight recommendations are 

sufficient to enable the authority to focus its response, although there may be 
specific circumstances in which more might be appropriate. 

 
 
 
  

Sharing draft recommendations with executive members should not 
provide an opportunity for them to revise or block recommendations 
before they are made. It should, however, provide an opportunity for 
errors to be identified and corrected, and for a more general sense-
check. 

Page 30Page 600



 

27 

Annex 1: Illustrative Scenario – Creating an 
Executive-Scrutiny Protocol 

An executive-scrutiny protocol can deal with the practical expectations of scrutiny 
committee members and the executive, as well as the cultural dynamics. 
 
Workshops with scrutiny members, senior officers and Cabinet can be helpful to inform the 
drafting of a protocol. An external facilitator can help bring an independent perspective.  
 
Councils should consider how to adopt a protocol, e.g. formal agreement at scrutiny 
committee and Cabinet, then formal integration into the Council’s constitution at the next 
Annual General Meeting. 
 
The protocol, as agreed, may contain sections on: 
 

• The way scrutiny will go about developing its work programme (including the ways 
in which senior officers and Cabinet members will be kept informed); 

• The way in which senior officers and Cabinet will keep scrutiny informed of the 
outlines of major decisions as they are developed, to allow for discussion of 
scrutiny’s potential involvement in policy development. This involves the building in 
of safeguards to mitigate risks around the sharing of sensitive information with 
scrutiny members; 

• A strengthening and expansion of existing parts of the code of conduct that relate to 
behaviour in formal meetings, and in informal meetings; 

• Specification of the nature and form of responses that scrutiny can expect when it 
makes recommendations to the executive, when it makes requests to the executive 
for information, and when it makes requests that Cabinet members or senior 
officers attend meetings; and 

• Confirmation of the role of the statutory scrutiny officer, and Monitoring Officer, in 
overseeing compliance with the protocol, and ensuring that it is used to support the 
wider aim of supporting and promoting a culture of scrutiny, with matters relating to 
the protocol’s success being reported to full Council through the scrutiny Annual 
Report. 

  

Page 31Page 601



 

28 

Annex 2: Illustrative Scenario – Engaging 
Independent Technical Advisers 

This example demonstrates how one Council’s executive and scrutiny committee worked 
together to scope a role and then appoint an independent adviser on transforming social 
care commissioning. Their considerations and process may be helpful and applicable in 
other similar scenarios.   
 
Major care contracts were coming to an end and the Council took the opportunity to review 
whether to continue with its existing strategic commissioning framework, or take a different 
approach – potentially insourcing certain elements. 
 
The relevant Director was concerned about the Council’s reliance on a very small number 
of large providers. The Director therefore approached the Scrutiny and Governance 
Manager to talk through the potential role scrutiny could play as the Council considered 
these changes. 
 
The Scrutiny Chair wanted to look at this issue in some depth, but recognised its 
complexity could make it difficult for her committee to engage – she was concerned it 
would not be able to do the issue justice. The Director offered support from his own officer 
team, but the Chair considered this approach to be beset by risks around the 
independence of the process. 
 
She talked to the Director about securing independent advice. He was worried that an 
independent adviser could come with preconceived ideas and would not understand the 
Council’s context and objectives. The Scrutiny Chair was concerned that independent 
advice could end up leading to scrutiny members being passive, relying on an adviser to 
do their thinking for them. They agreed that some form of independent assistance would 
be valuable, but that how it was provided and managed should be carefully thought out. 
 
With the assistance of the Governance and Scrutiny Manager, the Scrutiny Chair 
approached local universities and Further Education institutions to identify an appropriate 
individual. The approach was clear – it set out the precise role expected of the adviser, 
and explained the scrutiny process itself. Because members wanted to focus on the risks 
of market failure, and felt more confident on substantive social care matters, the approach 
was directed at those with a specialism in economics and business administration. The 
Council’s search was proactive – the assistance of the service department was drawn on 
to make direct approaches to particular individuals who could carry out this role. 
 
It was agreed to make a small budget available to act as a ‘per diem’ to support an 
adviser; academics were approached in the first instance as the Council felt able to make 
a case that an educational institution would provide this support for free as part of its 
commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility. 
 
Three individuals were identified from the Council’s proactive search. The Chair and Vice-
Chair of the committee had an informal discussion with each – not so much to establish 
their skills and expertise (which had already been assessed) but to give a sense about 

Page 32Page 602



 

29 

their ‘fit’ with scrutiny’s objectives and their political nous in understanding the environment 
in which they would operate, and to satisfy themselves that they will apply themselves 
even-handedly to the task. The Director sat in on this process but played no part in who 
was ultimately selected. 
 
The independent advice provided by the selected individual gave the Scrutiny Committee 
a more comprehensive understanding of the issue and meant it was able to offer informed 
advice on the merits of putting in place a new strategic commissioning framework. 
  

Page 33Page 603



 

30 

Annex 3: Illustrative Scenario – Approaching 
an External Organisation to Appear before a 
Committee 

This example shows how one council ensured a productive scrutiny meeting, involving a 
private company and the public. Lessons may be drawn and apply to other similar 
scenarios.  
 
Concerns had been expressed by user groups, and the public at large, about the reliability 
of the local bus service. The Scrutiny Chair wanted to question the bus company in a 
public evidence session but knew that she had no power to compel it to attend. Previous 
attempts to engage it had been unsuccessful; the company was not hostile, but said it had 
its own ways of engaging the public. 
 
The Monitoring Officer approached the company’s regional PR manager, but he expressed 
concern that the session would end in a ‘bunfight’. He also explained the company had put 
their improvement plan in the public domain, and felt a big council meeting would 
exacerbate tensions. 
 
Other councillors had strong views about the company – one thought the committee 
should tell the company it would be empty-chaired if it refused to attend. The Scrutiny 
Chair was sympathetic to this, but thought such an approach would not lead to any 
improvements. 
 
The Scrutiny Chair was keen to make progress, but it was difficult to find the right person 
to speak to at the company, so she asked council officers and local transport advocacy 
groups for advice. Speaking to those people also gave her a better sense of what 
scrutiny’s role might be. 
 
When she finally spoke to the company’s network manager, she explained the situation 
and suggested they work together to consider how the meeting could be productive for the 
Council, the company and local people. In particular, this provided her with an opportunity 
to explain scrutiny and its role. The network manager remained sceptical but was 
reassured that they could work together to ensure that the meeting would not be an 
‘ambush’. He agreed in principle to attend and also provide information to support the 
Committee’s work beforehand. 
 
Discussions continued in the four weeks leading up to the Committee meeting. The 
Scrutiny Chair was conscious that while she had to work with the company to ensure that 
the meeting was constructive – and secure their attendance – it could not be a whitewash, 
and other members and the public would demand a hard edge to the discussions. 
 
The scrutiny committee agreed that the meeting would provide a space for the company to 
provide context to the problems local people are experiencing, but that this would be 
preceded by a space on the agenda for the Chair, Vice-chair, and representatives from 
two local transport advocacy groups to set out their concerns. The company were sent in 

Page 34Page 604



 

31 

advance a summary of the general areas on which members were likely to ask questions, 
to ensure that those questions could be addressed at the meeting. 
 
Finally, provision was made for public questions and debate. Those attending the meeting 
were invited to discuss with each other the principal issues they wanted the meeting to 
cover. A short, facilitated discussion in the room led by the Chair highlighted the key 
issues, and the Chair then put those points to the company representatives.  
 
At the end of the meeting, the public asked questions of the bus company representative 
in a 20-minute plenary item. 
 
The meeting was fractious, but the planning carried out to prepare for this – by channelling 
issues through discussion and using the Chair to mediate the questioning – made things 
easier. Some attendees were initially frustrated by this structure, but the company 
representative was more open and less defensive than might otherwise have been the 
case.  
 
The meeting also motivated the company to revise its communications plan to become 
more responsive to this kind of challenge, part of which involved a commitment to feed 
back to the scrutiny committee on the recommendations it made on the night. 
 

Page 35Page 605



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 606



3. OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY AND COMMITTEE SYSTEM ARRANGEMENTS

Overview and scrutiny committees were introduced in 2000 as part of new executive 
governance arrangements to ensure that members of an authority who were not part 
of the executive could hold the executive to account for the decisions and actions 
that affect their communities. 

Overview and scrutiny committees have statutory powers to scrutinise decisions the 
executive is planning to take, those it plans to implement, and those that have 
already been taken/implemented. Recommendations following scrutiny enable 
improvements to be made to policies and how they are implemented. Overview and 
scrutiny committees can also play a valuable role in developing policy. 

Effective overview and scrutiny should: 
• Provide constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge; 
• Amplify the voices and concerns of the public; 
• Be led by independent people who take responsibility for their role; and 
• Drive improvement in public services. 

The requirement for local authorities in England to establish overview and scrutiny 
committees is set out in sections 9F to 9FI of the Local Government Act 2000 as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011. 

The Localism Act 2011 amended the Local Government Act 2000 to allow councils 
to revert to a non-executive form of governance - the ‘committee system’. Councils 
who adopt the committee system are not required to have overview and scrutiny but 
may do so if they wish. 

The statutory guidance on Overview & Scrutiny published by the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities & Local Government in 2019 does not impact on any other legislation 
or guidance but is intended as ‘best practice’ for local authorities – particularly in 
relation to creating a culture where scrutiny can thrive.

Legislation has been strengthened and updated since 2000, most recently to reflect 
new governance arrangements with combined authorities. Requirements for 
combined authorities are set out in Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic 
Development and Construction Act 2009. 

Current overview and scrutiny legislation recognises that authorities are 
democratically-elected bodies who are best-placed to determine which overview and 
scrutiny arrangements best suit their own individual needs, and so gives them a 
great degree of flexibility to decide which arrangements to adopt.

Page 37

Agenda Item 3

Page 607



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 608



4. Current Arrangements - Terms of Reference for Overview & 
Scrutiny Committees at Wirral

The following is an excerpt from the Wirral Council Constitution (June 2019) stating 
the general role and terms of reference for the four overview & scrutiny committees 
currently in operation.

Article 6 – Overview and Scrutiny Committees

6.1 Appointment

The Council will annually constitute and appoint four Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees, comprising of fifteen councillors, to discharge the functions conferred 
by section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000 or regulations under section 32 of 
the Local Government Act 2000. 

6.2 General Role 

Within their terms of reference, Overview and Scrutiny Committees will:
(a) Review and / or scrutinise the decisions made or actions taken in connection with 
the discharge of the Council’s functions; 
(b) Review and scrutinise the performance of other public bodies in the area and 
invite reports from them by requesting them to address the Overview and Scrutiny 
committee about their activities and performance; 
(c) Support joint work planning arrangements in developing an integrated scrutiny 
work programme; 
(d) Make reports and / or recommendations to the Council and / or the Cabinet in 
connection with any policy or the discharge of any functions; 
(e) Exercise the right to call in, for reconsideration decisions made but not yet 
implemented by the Executive function of the Council;
(f) Assist the Council and the Cabinet in the development and monitoring of the 
annual budget;
(g) Review and scrutinise the Council’s transformation governance and processes as 
well as monitoring the outcomes and benefits of the Transformation Programme; 
(h) Review and scrutinise the Council’s partnership arrangements; 
(i) Review and scrutinise the Council’s commissioning activities; 
(j) Review and scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy 
objectives, performance targets and / or particular service areas; and 
(k) Have the authority to establish task & finish groups, standing panels and 
subcommittees as necessary to discharge the functions falling within the remit of the 
committee.

Page 39

Agenda Item 4

Page 609



6.3 Overview and Scrutiny Committees Terms of Reference

The Overview and Scrutiny Committees are aligned to the Wirral Plan themes of 
People, Business and Environment with responsibility for reviewing and / or 
scrutinising decisions made or actions taken in connection with the pledges that 
make up the respective theme of the Wirral Plan.  The Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees are also responsible for scrutinising the strategies, policies, 
partnerships, transformation projects / programmes and supporting functions which 
operate in support of their Wirral Plan theme.  

Adult Care & Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Wirral Plan Pledges
 Older People Live well

 People with disabilities live independently

Scope of the Committee To review and / or scrutinise any strategies and plans, and 
the delivery of these plans, including:

 Ageing well Strategy 
 All Age Disability Strategy 
 Safeguarding Strategy  
 Health and Wellbeing Strategy

To review and / or scrutinise the commissioning, 
management and performance of services for:

 Older People 
 Health and Social Care 
 Mental Health (all age)
 Learning Disabilities (all age) 
 Adult Safeguarding

To perform the Council’s statutory responsibilities to 
undertake health scrutiny.  The Committee will:

 Review and scrutinise any matter relating to the 
planning, provision and operation of health services 
in the Borough, including significant change to 
service provision and those jointly commissioned or 
delivered by the council. 

 Require the provision of information or the 
attendance of an officer of a local NHS body to 
answer questions and provide explanations about 
the planning, provision and operation of health 

Page 40Page 610



services in the Borough. 
 Participate in cross-boundary overview and scrutiny 

of health services with other local authorities; 
including the establishment of joint committees; or 
the delegation of functions to another local 
authority, where appropriate.

 Report to the Secretary of State for Health: 
- Where the committee is concerned that 
consultation on substantial variation or 
development of services has been inadequate.

Cross-Cutting Themes  Wirral residents live healthier lives pledge (link with 
Environment) 

 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority

Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Wirral Plan Pledges
 Children are ready for school
 Young people are ready for work and adulthood 
 Vulnerable children reach their full potential 
 Reduce child and family poverty
 Zero tolerance to domestic violence

Scope of the Committee To review and / or scrutinise any strategies and plans, and 
the delivery of these plans, including:

 Wirral’s Strategy for Children, Young People and 
Families 

 Improving Life Chances Strategy 
 Zero Tolerance to Domestic Abuse Strategy 
 Safeguarding Strategy
 Schools Strategy

To review and / or scrutinise the commissioning, 
management and performance of services for:

 Children’s Care
 Children’s Services 
 Education 
 Children’s Safeguarding

Page 41Page 611



Cross-Cutting Themes  People with disabilities live independently (link with 
Adult Care and Health) 

 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority

Business Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Wirral Plan Pledges
 Greater job opportunities in Wirral
 Workforce skills match business needs 
 Increase inward investment 
 Thriving small businesses
 Vibrant Tourism economy 
 Transport and technology fit for the future 
 Assets and buildings are fit for purpose

Scope of the Committee To review and / or scrutinise any strategies and plans, and 
the delivery of these plans, including:

 Wirral’s Growth Plan 
 Wirral Visitor Economy Plan 
 Wirral’s Transport Strategy
 Wirral’s Digital Strategy 
 Wirral Asset Strategy

To review and / or scrutinise the commissioning, 
management and performance of services for:

 Growth 
 Transport 
 Digital
 Regulatory Services 
 Asset Management
 Customer Services

Cross-Cutting Themes  Good quality Housing that meets the needs of 
residents pledge (Link with Environment)

 Community services are joined up and accessible 
pledge (link with Environment) 

 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority

Page 42Page 612



Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Wirral Plan Pledges
 Leisure and cultural opportunities for all
 Wirral Residents live healthier lives 
 Community services are joined up and accessible 
 Good quality housing that meets the needs of 

residents
 Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are safe 
 Attractive local environment for Wirral residents

Scope of the Committee To review and / or scrutinise any strategies and plans, and 
the delivery of these plans, including:

 Wirral’s Leisure Strategy 
 Wirral’s Culture Strategy 
 Wirral Residents Live Healthier Lives Strategy 
 Neighbourhood Strategy 
 Housing Strategy 
 Ensuring Wirral’s Neighbourhoods are Safe 
 Managing Our Waste Strategy 2015 - 2020 
 Loving Our Environment Strategy

To review and / or scrutinise the commissioning, 
management and performance of services for:

 Leisure 
 Community Services
 Safer Neighbourhoods 
 Housing Services
 Environment

To perform the Council’s statutory responsibilities to 
undertake scrutiny in relation to:

 The review and scrutiny of the flood and coastal 
erosion risk management functions under the Flood 
and Water Management Act 2010. 

 The review and scrutiny of decisions made or 
action taken in connection with the discharge by the 
Responsible Authorities and Co-operating bodies of 
the Wirral Community Safety Partnership of their 
crime and disorder functions.

Page 43Page 613



Cross-Cutting Themes  Vibrant tourism economy pledge (link with 
Business)

 Transport & Technology Infrastructure fit for the 
future (link to Business) 

 Liverpool City Region Combined Authority

Further information regarding statutory responsibilities in relation to health, flood risk 
management and crime & disorder can be found via the following links; 

 Health Scrutiny
 Flood Risk Management
 Crime and Disorder

Page 44Page 614

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2013/218/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/flood-risk-management-information-for-flood-risk-management-authorities-asset-owners-and-local-authorities#guidance-and-information-notes
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents


5. Previous Scrutiny Arrangements in Wirral
This note provides an overview of historical governance arrangements at Wirral 
Council since 2001 - up to and including the present day.

Pre 2001 Committee System 

Wirral operated under a Committee System. This allowed Wirral to decide how its 
functions, i.e. the powers given to it by central government, were delivered. Under a 
Committee System, it is possible for the full council to make all decisions, or delegate 
certain responsibilities to a committee, sub-committee or an officer. There is no limit 
to the number of committees and authorities who are able to discharge their functions 
jointly with other authorities. The legislation does not prescribe how local authorities 
adopting a committee system should structure themselves and allows them choice 
over whether they should have one or more overview and Scrutiny Committees.

 Construction Services
 Economic Regeneration
 Education
 Environment Health & Consumer Protection
 Highways, Transport & Engineering
 Housing
 Leisure
 Pensions
 Planning
 Planning Development Control
 Policy & Resources
 General Purposes & Admin sub
 Personnel Sub
 General Panel 
 Childrens Panel 
 Property Services
 Social Services
 General Panel 
 Adult Community Care Panel 

2001/02 – 2005/06 – Select Committees

Wirral moved from a Committee System to a Select Committee System following The 
Local Govt Act 2001 which required all local authorities with a population of 85,000 or 
more, including Wirral, to change their governance arrangements from a committee 
system to ‘executive arrangements’.  The Act allowed three options for executive 
arrangements: a council leader and cabinet model; a mayor and cabinet model; and a 
mayor and council manager model.  Wirral opted for the leader and cabinet model.

Page 45

Agenda Item 5

Page 615



2001/02 – Select Committees

 Environment & Planning Strategy 
 Social & Health Services 
 Housing & Community Safety 
 Social Inclusion
 Social Health Services 
 transportation & Infrastructure 
 Cultural & Community Services 
 Environment & Planning Strategy 
 Education & Lifelong Learning 
 Finance & Best Value & Construction Services
 Central Services 
 Transportation & Infrastructure 

2002/03 – Select Committees 

 Finance & Corporate Management 
 Environment, Transportation & Planning Strategy
 Social Care & Health
 Education & Cultural
 Housing & Community Safety
 Joint Housing & Community Safety & Social Health Services 

2003/04 – Select Committees

 Finance & Corporate Management
 Economic Regeneration & Planning Strategy 
 Social Care & Health
 Education & Cultural Services
 Environment & Transportation
 Housing & Community Safety 

2004/05 – Select Committees

 Finance & Corporate Management
 Economic Regeneration & Planning Strategy 
 Social Care & Health
 Education & Cultural Services
 Environment & Transportation
 Housing & Community Safety 

Page 46Page 616



2005/06 – Select Committees

 Finance & Corporate Management
 Economic Regeneration & Planning Strategy
 Social Care & Health 
 Education & Cultural Services
 Environment & Transportation 
 Housing & Community Safety 

2006/07 – 2008/09 – O&S Committees 

During this Period, Wirral Council had between 9 and 12 themed Overview & 
Scrutiny Committees.

2006/07 – O&S Committees

 Corporate Services
 Housing & Community Safety 
 Regeneration & Planning Strategy 
 Social Care Health & Inclusion
 Street scene & Transport 
 Children Services & Lifelong Learning 
 Finance & Best Value 
 Community and Customer Engagement 
 Environment 

2007/08 – O&S Committees

 Children Services & Lifelong Learning
 Community & Customer Engagement
 Corporate Services
 Culture Tourism & Leisure
 Environment
 Finance & Best Value
 Cheshire & Wirral joint CC 
 Housing & Community Safety 
 Regeneration Planning & Strategy
 Social Care Health & Inclusion 
 Street Scene & Transport 

2008/09 – O&S Committees

 Regeneration Planning & Strategy
 Finance & Best Value
 Street Scene & Transport 
 Corporate Services

Page 47Page 617



 Culture Tourism & Leisure
 Community & Customer Engagement
 Social Care Health & Inclusion 
 Street Scene & Transport 
 Cheshire & Wirral Joint 
 Children Services & Lifelong Learning
 Environment
 Housing & Community Safety 

2009/10 – 2012/13 – O&S Committees including Scrutiny Programme Board

During this period, Wirral Council established a Scrutiny Programme Board which 
allocated, approved and Co-ordinated the work programme for each of the themed 
O&S Committees. The Board reviewed cross-cutting issues outside of the terms of 
reference of the themed committees as well as considering call-in relating to any 
executive function and allocating to the relevant O&S Committee as appropriate.

2009/10 – O&S Committees with Programme Board

 Social Care Health & Inclusion
 Cheshire & Wirral Joint
 Scrutiny Programme Board
 Sustainable Communities
 Children & Young People
 Economy & Regeneration
 Health & Wellbeing
 Council Excellence

2010/11 – O&S Committees with Programme Board

 Cheshire & Wirral Joint
 Children & Young People
 Scrutiny Programme Board
 Council Excellence
 Economy & Regen
 Sustainable communities
 Health & Wellbeing 

2011/12 – O&S Committees with Programme Board

 Children & Young People
 Economy & Regen
 Sustainable Communities
 Scrutiny Programme Board

Page 48Page 618



 Health & Wellbeing
 Cheshire & Wirral Joint
 Council Excellence

2012/13 - O&S Committees with Programme Board

 Scrutiny Programme Board
 Children & Young people
 Economy & Regen
 Health & Wellbeing
 Sustainable Communities 
 Council Excellence

2013/14 – 2015/16 - Policy & Performance - including Co-ordinating Committee 

From April 2013 as part of a series of changes to the Council’s governance and 
constitution four Policy and Performance Committees were created, with one aligned 
to each of the Council’s three Strategic Directorates and an additional Co-ordinating 
Committee responsible for cross-cutting matters and call-in. These Committees were 
Families & Wellbeing, Regeneration & Environment, Transformation & Resources. 
Policy and Performance Committees were a rebranded Overview & Scrutiny 
Committees and carried out similar functions.

2013/14 - Policy & Performance 

 Families & Wellbeing
 Regeneration & Environment
 Transformation & Resources
 Co-ordinating Committee 

2014/15 – Policy & Performance

 Co-ordinating committee
 Families & Wellbeing
 Transformation & Resources
 Regeneration & Environment

2015/16 – Policy & Performance

 Co-ordinating Committee
 Families & Wellbeing
 Transformation & Resources 
 Regeneration & Environment 
 Children’s Sub Committee

Page 49Page 619



2016/17 – O&S Committees including a Children Sub-Committee

For this year Wirral Council established the three O&S Committees under the themes 
of People, Business & Environment.  A Children sub-committee was also established 
to focus on delivery of the 4 related Wirral Plan Pledges, Children Ready for School, 
Young People Are Ready For Work & Adulthood, Vulnerable Children Reach Their 
Full Potential and Child Poverty. 

2016/17 – O&S Committees including Children Sub Committee

 Environment
 Business
 People 
 Children’s Sub Committee

 2017/18 – 2019/20 – 4 O&S Committees (people committee separated)

Moved to the current system which established separate O&S Committees for Adult 
Care & Health and Children & Young People which replaced the People themed O&S 
Committee and the Children Sub Committee. 

2017/18 – O&S Committees 

 Business 
 Environment 
 Adult Care & Health 
 Children & Families 

2018/19 – O&S Committees 

 Business 
 Environment 
 Adult Care & Health 
 Children & Families

2019/20 – O&S Committees 

 Business 
 Environment 
 Adult Care & Health 
 Children & Families

Page 50Page 620



6. GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS AT WIRRAL’S STATISTICAL 
NEIGHBOURS 

In order to assist with decision making, a comparison table of Local Authorities 
governance arrangements has been compiled. 

The Scrutiny department contacted 12 Local Authorities who are classed as our 
statistical neighbours. Out of the 12 Local Authorities contacted for a phone interview, 8 
responded. For the 4 Local Authorities who did not respond, basic information has been 
taken from their websites. 

All of the Local Authorities questions currently use the strong leader governance model. 
One Local Authority had considered going back to the Committee System, however 
there was not enough appetite among Members. 

All authorities had a minimum of 1 Overview and Scrutiny Committee, however there is 
some variance in names, with a number referred to as Select Committees or Sub 
Committees. This is largely influenced by how O&S has been set up as several Local 
Authorities have O&S Management Boards which approve, monitor and co-ordinate the 
work programmes. 

The volume of committee meetings varies, with notable difference in agendas, some 
receiving update reports and others more targeted Agenda Items.

 Some Local Authorities have no dedicated scrutiny officer, and the work programme is 
managed by Committee Services. Some Local Authorities have noted that capacity 
issues have led to less scrutiny work being completed outside of Committee. One Local 
Authority, Durham have a principal Scrutiny Officers, 3 Overview & Scrutiny Officers 
and a Scrutiny Support officer. Kirklees Council do not have dedicated Scrutiny Officers 
but are supported by officers who have a more generic job description and who offer 
support to other committees and officers including Cabinet and Executive Teams. 

The Comparison Table is included below for information. 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6

Page 621



Local Authority Governance 
arrangements

Number of 
Committees

Meetings per 
Committee 
(municipal 
year) year

Number of 
Councillors

Cabinet 
Member 
Attends 

Committee 
as standard

Other Additional 
information 

Bury Leader and Cabinet 3 6 (4 for the Joint 
Health with 

NHS)

51 (3 per 
Ward)

By invite only Bury has 3 O&S committees

1. Health 
2. Joint O&S with NHS Trust
3. The third committee is just 

referred to as O&S 
Committee

Calderdale Leader and Cabinet 4 10 per 
committee

51(3 per 
Ward)

Yes, but 
considering 
moving to 

invitation only 
following new 

guidance 

Calderdale have 4 O&S 
committees

1.Adult care and health
2. Children and Young People, 
3. Place Strategy & 
Performance
4. They also have a Flooding 
Scrutiny Panel

They also have 3 Scrutiny 
Officers.

P
age 52

P
age 622



Local Authority Governance 
arrangements

Number of 
Committees

Meetings per 
Committee 
(municipal 
year) year

Number of 
Councillors

Cabinet 
Member 
Attends 

Committee 
as standard

1. Other Additional 
information 

Dudley* Leader and Cabinet 5 5 72 (3 per 
Ward)

n/l n/k

Durham Leader and Cabinet 5 5 126 (mix or 3, 
2 and single 

member 
wards) 

10 member. 
(63 Wards)  

By invite only 
Durham have a separate 
Corporate Overview & Scrutiny 
Management Board which 
oversees the 5 O&S- 
Committees
1.Adults wellbeing & Health, 
2. CYP, Economy & Enterprise, 
3.Environment & Sustainability,
4.Safer & Stronger 
Communities.
 
Undertake regular T&F 
reviews. The Scrutiny team 
consists of a Principal scrutiny 
Officer, 3 O&S officers and 
Scrutiny support assistant plus 
The Statutory Scrutiny Office 
(Head of Strategy) and 
Corporate Scrutiny & 
Performance manager. 
The O&S Chairs are appointed 
at annual council – don’t have 
opposition chairs. 

P
age 53

P
age 623



Local Authority Governance 
arrangements

Number of 
Committees

Meetings per 
Committee 
(municipal 
year) year

Number of 
Councillors

Cabinet 
Member 
Attends 
Committee 
as standard

Other Additional 
information 

North Tyneside Leader and Cabinet 8 7 60 (3 per 
ward)

Policy & Development O&S 
then subcommittee;
1. ASC 
2.Health & Wellbeing, 
3.Children Education & Skills.
 4 Culture & Leisure, 
5. Economic Prosperity,
 6. Environment, 
7. Finance, 
8. Housing

Northumberland* Leader and Cabinet 5 12 67 n/k n/k
Redcar & 
Cleveland *

Leader and Cabinet 4 n/k 59 n/k n/k

Rotherham * Leader and Cabinet 1 
management 
O&S and 3 

select 
Committees 
(classed as 

scrutiny)

8 63 (3 per 
ward)

n/k n/k

Sefton Leader and Cabinet 4 & Joint 
Health 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

Cheshire and 
Merseyside. 

5 72 (3 per 
Ward)

They are 
invited and 

added to the 
agenda – 

attendance is 
hit or miss 

though

Sefton have 4 O&S 
Committees

1. Performance & corporate 
2. 1. Children’s services
3. 2. Regen & Environment
4. 3. Health and Social Care

There were 4 full time scrutiny 
officers, there are now 2. They 
do have working groups and 
task and finishes; however, no 
set number and it depends on 
the Committee requirement

P
age 54

P
age 624



Local Authority Governance 
arrangements

Number of 
Committees

Meetings per 
Committee 
(municipal 
year) year

Number of 
Councillors

Cabinet 
Member 
Attends 

Committee 
as standard

Other Additional 
information 

St Helens Leader and cabinet 6 4-5 45 No invitation 
only St Helens have 1 overarching 

scrutiny committees & 5 O&S, 
1. Safer communities
2. Environment 
3. CYP 
4. HDC

They do task and finish work 
but not workshops or spotlight 
sessions.

Torbay Leader and cabinet 1 12 36 
Councillors 

(six 3 
members and 

nine two 
member 
wards)

Invited as a 
standard 
invitation

Torbay are working on new 
scrutiny arrangements. 

Previously, there has been 4/5 
Task & finish per year with 2 
week timescales. There is
1 Governance officer who 

covers everything Inc. Scrutiny.

Wirral Committee System 4 5 66 (3 per 
Ward)

No

 Local authorities marked with a * have not responded to enquires. All information has been taken from their 
websites and public documents. 

P
age 55

P
age 625



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 626



7. Local Authorities in the UK – Changes to Governance 
Arrangements and Implementation of the Committee System Model
This note provides information on five local authorities in the UK that made changes 
to their governance arrangements and moved to a committee model following the 
Localism Act 2011.

London Borough of Sutton
Key Points/Overview

 Committee system adopted in May 2012. Arrangements were reviewed in May 
2013 with no significant amendments to constitution or working practices.

 Sutton’s committees meet 5 times per year, with urgent decisions made through 
the Leader and Chief Executive (although this was not used during the first year 
of the new arrangements)

 Sutton have one Overview & Scrutiny Committee and an Audit and Governance 
Committee.

 Task and Finish groups are still established for key considerations.

Sutton Council were one of the first councils to introduce a committee system. The 
rationale for change came from the majority Liberal Democrat group and, following 
the Localism Act 2011, a cross-party working group was formed to review the 
process. Governance arrangements were reviewed after one year, with no significant 
amendments to working practices as a result.

Sutton has five standing committees: Strategy and Resources Committee; 
Environment and Neighbourhood Committee; Housing, Economy and Business 
Committee; People Committee and the Health and Wellbeing Board – along with a 
Shareholdings Board. Sutton Council have a single scrutiny committee that was 
formally established to undertake the Council’s statutory scrutiny responsibilities of 
health, crime & disorder and flood risk management. Members also participate in 
joint scrutiny arrangements with South West London and Surrey County Council 
Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The scrutiny committee have three 
standard meetings during the municipal year and in 2017 established a Task & 
Finish group to look at the implementation of a new waste collection service.

Reading Borough Council
Key Points/Overview

 Committee system adopted in May 2013.
 Reading is a unitary authority, with a range of standing committees and sub-

committees covering the authority’s functions – but no overview and scrutiny 
committee.

Reading Borough Council adopted the committee system of governance following a 
request by the majority Labour group to involve more backbenchers in the work of 
the Council. The committee system was brought in in May 2013. There was cross-

Page 57

Agenda Item 7

Page 627



party agreement to the changes and no real issues during the implementation 
period.

Reading’s key objective in changing the governance system was that they wanted 
‘no extra meetings and no extra costs’.  Three service committees were set up: Adult 
Social Care, Children’s Services and Education; Housing, Neighbourhoods and 
Leisure; and Strategic Environment, Planning & Transport – each of which meet 4 to 
5 times each municipal year. There is also a Policy Committee – meeting monthly - 
which has oversight of strategy, policy and budget including service performance 
and improvement across all council services. Whilst there is no dedicated scrutiny 
committee, the statutory overview and scrutiny functions of the authority are 
exercised by each committee with regard to services within their remit. Each 
standing committee can also set up and appoint Task & Finish groups to undertake 
more detailed scrutiny reviews. 

Brighton and Hove City Council
Key Points/Overview

 The Council established its committee structure in 2011.
 This system is reviewed each year.
 The only current scrutiny function is a Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

In 2011, Brighton and Hove Council had no party in overall control and there was 
cross-party agreement to return to a committee system following the Localism Act. 
Like other councils choosing to adopt a committee system, Brighton & Hove set out 
principles for change, such as the new system should not cost more or require 
increased numbers of meetings and paperwork. Although initially retaining two 
scrutiny committees, now only one committee operates at the Council and carries 
out the statutory overview and scrutiny function in relation to health. It also has a 
remit to scrutinise social care and education issues relating to both adults and 
children. 

There is a procedure in place for urgent decisions wherein a director can make a 
decision in consultation with the Chair of the committee, and this is reported back to 
the next meeting. This would be unusual however, and it is seen as preferable to 
take a late report to a committee if necessary. 

Norfolk County Council 
Key Points/Overview

 The committee system was set up in 2014. The system was reviewed after 6 
months.

 Five standing committees were established, but no overview & scrutiny 
committee.

 The Council returned to the Cabinet model of governance in May 2019.

Norfolk County Council set up a committee governance steering group in 2014 to 
consider a new committee system.  Although the new governance arrangements 

Page 58Page 628



were not favoured by all political parties, the County Council voted for a proposal to 
move away from the Cabinet model in favour of a form of committee governance 
from May 2014. 

There were five standing committees established; Adult Social Care, Children’s 
Services, Communities and Environment, Development and Transport - and a Policy 
and Resources committee which also monitored performance, budget and risk for all 
Council services. Issues of significance could be referred to full council for decision, 
either because a committee has requested it, the leader of the council and the head 
of paid service (managing director) considers the issue to be of importance. There 
were no overview and scrutiny committees established as part of these 
arrangements but there was an opportunity for each committee to create its own task 
and finish group. 

In May 2019, Norfolk County Council returned to a Cabinet style of governance, and 
currently has one overview & scrutiny committee in operation. This change was 
largely due to the Conservative party regaining a majority and stating that a return to 
a Cabinet system would mean ‘quicker decisions and more accountability’.

Nottinghamshire County Council
Key Points/Overview

 Adopted a committee system of governance in 2012.
 The Council have one scrutiny committee, the Health Scrutiny Committee, 

which focusses on health and care issues.
 The governance system is reviewed regularly to ensure that it is fit for 

purpose.

The change to the previous governance arrangements took place in 2012, with the 
proposal agreed by Full Council in January 2012, and the changes effective from 
May 2012. The rationale for change was a manifesto pledge made by the 
Conservative party to change the governance arrangements of the Council. Initially, 
decision-making committees were set up to mirror the previous Cabinet portfolios, 
with the structure changing over time to suit the Council’s needs. As of 2019, there 
are 23 Committees and Sub-Committees, with an overarching Policy Committee and 
quarterly performance reports submitted by officers to the relevant committee for 
monitoring purposes. The current health scrutiny committee has 11 members and 
meets every 2 to 3 months.

Further reading on the governance changes referenced above;

https://www.lgiu.org.uk/Changing-to-a-committee-system-in-a-new-era.pdf

https://www.cfps.org.uk/Rethinking-Governance.pdf

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-nottinghamshire-16653990

Page 59Page 629

https://www.lgiu.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/Changing-to-a-committee-system-in-a-new-era.pdf
https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Rethinking-Governance.pdf
https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-england-nottinghamshire-16653990


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 630



Review of Overview and 

Scrutiny 

Member Workshop

17 July 2019

P
age 631

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/
http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


Workshop Agenda

Introduction

• Overview and Scrutiny in Wirral

• Council resolution

• Scrutiny and Governance Reviews

• Workshop purpose and required outcomes

Workshop Activity

Part 1 – Which elements of O&S should be included in new 

Wirral governance arrangements

Part 2 – Develop preferred O&S Model for Wirral

Next steps

P
age 632

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/
http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


Purpose of Overview and Scrutiny

• A mechanism of regulation that supports good governance

• Principal power - influence the policies and decisions made by the 
council and other organisations delivering public services

• Scrutinise the operation of the Council and partners including NHS 
bodies, community safety and those related to flooding and coastal 
erosion

• No formal power to compel anyone to make changes

• Legal power to require that information is provided to it and that 
recommendations are responded to within a set time frame

P
age 633

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


Overview and Scrutiny in Wirral

Cabinet Council

Business 

O&S 

Committee

Environment 

O&S 

Committee

Children & 

Families O&S 

Committee

Adult Health & 

Care O&S 

Committee

H&C 

Performance 

Working 

Group

Task and 

Finish Groups

Standing 

Panels

LCR CA O&S 

Committee

P
age 634

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


O&S Oversight in Wirral

• Council services

• Key Partners:

– NHS Health Partners

• Adult Health and Care and Children & Families

• Adult Health and Care Performance Panel

– Flood Risk

• Flood Risk Panel – reports to Environment

– Community Safety

• Community Safety Partnership – reports to Environment 

• LCR Overview and Scrutiny

P
age 635

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


What are the issues with the Current System?

O&S doesn’t look at the right things?

Committee Members shape O&S work programmes!

P
age 636

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


What are the issues with the Current System?

Recommendations made to cabinet - all accepted:

• Dogs PSPO (1) (not implemented)

• Commercial Strategy (4)

• Celtic Manor (1)

• Continuing Health Care Review (7)

• Modern Slavery (5)

• Health and Care Pooled Fund Workshop (6)

Is Scrutiny having an impact?

P
age 637

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


Culture and Scrutiny

Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined 

Authorities 2019

“The prevailing organisational culture, behaviours and attitudes of an authority 

will largely determine whether its scrutiny function succeeds or fails.” 

Establishing a member led strong organisational culture:

• Recognising scrutiny’s legal and democratic legitimacy
• Identifying a clear role and focus
• Ensuring early and regular engagement between the executive and scrutiny 
• Managing disagreement 
• Maintaining the interest of full Council in the work of the scrutiny committee 
• Ensuring scrutiny members are supported in having an independent mindset 

P
age 638

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


Council Resolution

At the Council meeting on 14th May, 2019, the following resolution was agreed:

“That this is subject to the Council charging the:

(a) Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee to conduct a review of 

the governance arrangements of the Council, with the objective to produce, 

in September 2019, an interim report on options and preferred outline for 

further consideration; and 

(b) Business Overview & Scrutiny Committee conducting a review of the 

Council’s overview and scrutiny committee arrangements, in 

consultation with the Committee Chairs and group representatives, to 

consider the number of committees and their respective terms of 

reference to report back on suggested steps to improve the 

arrangement in sufficient time for them to be received and considered 

by the Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee at its 

meeting in September.”

P
age 639

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


The Reviews Underway

Scrutiny 

Review

Governance 

Review

Business O&S Committee 

Chair and Spokes – 4 Cllrs

Reference Group - All Chairs 

and Spokespersons from 4 

Committees – 16 Cllrs

All Member Workshop

Standards and 

Constitutional 

Oversight Committee

Cross Party Working 

Group – 5 Cllrs

Report to Standards and Constitutional Oversight – Sept 2019

P
age 640

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


Executive Model of Governance 

• The Leader says WHO can make an executive decision
– Leader or other individual cabinet member

– Cabinet or committee of cabinet

– Area committee

– An officer

• Council can say HOW that decision is to be made
– The Executive arrangements (Leader & Cabinet); and

• Council can form overview and scrutiny arrangements in a 
way that best suits it

There is a wide range of arrangements within the executive 
form

P
age 641

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


Committee Model of Governance 

• The Council and committees says who and how it 
can make a decision through standing orders
– Council

– Committee or sub-committee

– Area committee

– An officer

• Council can adopt an overview and scrutiny 
function or not

There is a wide range of governance arrangements 
within the committee form

P
age 642

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


Hybrid Model of Governance - Kent 

Executive

The Leader with the Cabinet Members comprises the Executive.

Cabinet Committees

Cabinet Committees are advisory committees of the Cabinet.  Each Cabinet Committee is 

able to consider and make recommendations on the functions of the Council that are the 

responsibility of the Cabinet Member(s) for matters within the Committees remit.  They also 

consider and either endorse or make recommendations on statutory Key and significant 

decisions to be taken by the Cabinet Members either collectively or individually. 

[Membership approx.: 15-19]

Scrutiny

The Scrutiny Committee investigates issues affecting Kent County Council and Kent 

residents and makes recommendations to support the improvement of council services. 

[Membership approx.: 10-16]

Select Committees

The Select Committee work programme is set by the Scrutiny Committee and endorsed by 

the Cabinet. [Membership approx.: 4-9]

P
age 643

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


Scrutiny Review - Progress To Date

• Commence with initial meeting with Business O&S Chair

• Business committee scoping meeting (Chair and spokes) 

• Review Scope document produced (pack)

• Supporting information produced (pack)

• Meeting with all committee Chairs and Spokespersons invited

• Workshop approach planned by Chairs and Spokespersons

P
age 644

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


Workshop Purpose

Scrutiny Review Outcome:

To make recommendations to the Council’s Standards and 

Constitutional Oversight Committee on the Council’s scrutiny 

arrangements to consider the number of committees and 

their respective terms of reference to report back on 

suggested steps to improve the arrangement. 

Report submission deadline: 22nd August

Standards Committee meeting date: 19th September

P
age 645

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


Discussion 1

Which elements of O&S do you want to be taken forward 

in the new model of Corporate Governance?

For example:

• What works well?

• What key principles of O&S are important?

• Organisational culture

• Pre-decision scrutiny

• Budget scrutiny

• Performance monitoring

• Should O&S be included if a committee/ hybrid model is 

developed?

20 minute discussion

P
age 646

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


Discussion 2

What is your preferred approach to develop a fit for purpose 
O&S model for Wirral?

For example: 

• What would your ideal model of O&S be for Wirral?

• Should the O&S structure be based on existing Directorates, functional areas 

or strategic priorities?

• What about scrutiny of partners?

• How can it best provide pre-decision scrutiny?

• What about Call-In?

Packs to assist development of your optimum O&S model 

40 minute activity

P
age 647

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


Next Steps

• Workshop findings collated

• Scrutiny Review report drafted

• Scrutiny Review Working Group discussion

• Findings shared with the Governance Review

• Working group finalise report

• Report to Standards Committee 19 Sept 2019

P
age 648

http://wbcnet.admin.ad.wirral.gov.uk/


MINUTE EXTRACT

STANDARDS AND CONSTITUTIONAL OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE

THURSDAY, 26 SEPTEMBER 2019

14 GOVERNANCE REVIEW 

At the Annual Meeting of the Council the Committee had been charged with carrying 
out a review of the Council’s governance arrangements.  Consequently, Councillor 
Tony Cox introduced a report by the Governance Review Working Group that had 
undertaken this work.  The Working Group had met during the summer and, with the 
assistance of the Local Government Association (LGA), had conducted interviews and 
had hosted an all Member workshop. The findings of the Working Group, and its 
implications, were set out in the report.

The Governance Review Working Group had considered that the recommended move 
to a Streamlined Committee System form of governance best met its objectives for 
governance arrangements of: 

 Accountability – responsibilities and accountability should be clear, within the 
Council and to residents; 

 Credibility – governance should assist good decision making, which involved 
proper and early scrutiny; 

 Transparency – the decision making process should be open and transparent 
to Members and to the public; 

 Collaboration - decision making should be collaborative across parties and 
less combative; 

 Timeliness – decision making should be both quick and effective and, when 
necessary, allow for urgent decision making. 

Members noted that the recommendations, if adopted, set in train a number of pieces 
of work to be completed to allow for the change of form of governance within the 
desired timeframe.

The Committee was informed that varying alternative governance arrangements had 
been considered by the Working Group. This had included a particular emphasis on a 
more inclusive and open version of a Leader and Cabinet form of executive 
arrangements, as well as ‘Hybrid’ and other forms of governance arrangements. 

However, these other governance options had been rejected as it was considered that 
they would not achieve the objectives to the same high degree or as conclusively as 
a Streamlined Committee System. 

The Working Group had considered delaying the implementation date of the change 
of governance arrangements to the Annual Meeting of 2021 to allow for more time to 

Page 649

Agenda Item 9h



draw up a satisfactory working structure.  However, it was satisfied that any 
advantages were more than outweighed by the view that such a delay would be 
counter-productive and that a workable revised Constitution could be produced in the 
given time period. 

Appended to the report was:

 Appendix A – The Presentation slides for the Governance Review Workshop; 
and

 Appendix B – The Governance Review Working Group’s Chair’s Report.

Councillor Cox reported that accountability, credibility and transparency were 
paramount and it was important not just to keep governance arrangements the same 
but about improving them so that the electors could hold Members to account.  Also, 
collaborative working was very important and the current form of governance did not 
actually endear people to work in collaboration. If the Council was to move forward 
with an improved form of governance there was now an opportunity to make a genuine 
change to how the Council was actually run and the oversight that Members had. 

Councillor Cox also reported that it was important that information was made available 
because in the past Members had been told more or less to go and look for 
themselves.  This should not be allowed to happen going forward. It needed to be 
eradicated and a more inclusive way of working found and if this meant a change in 
governance arrangements, then so be it.

The Director of Governance and Assurance informed that Appendix B, written by the 
Chair, was the most important part of the report.  The Director had drafted the covering 
report and had included the practical implications of changing the Council’s 
governance arrangements. 

Members then commented on the report and asked a number of questions.  Issues 
raised included:

 The Working Group had been speedy and had completed a good consensual 
piece of work and there had been no major defence of the Cabinet System. No 
one had said staying with the current system of governance was the right 
option.

 The All Member Workshop had been well attended and although some 
Members did have concerns about change and how that would look, 
overwhelmingly those who had attended had declared that they were in favour 
of change and were not resistant to it.  They had recognised that things moved 
on, times changed and the way the Council was constructed had to change.  
This had all been helpful.

 At the time the original Notice of Motion was debated there had been an 
overwhelming feeling that decision-making in the Council had not been of the 
top quality that it should have been and, in fact, even in the face of fairly strong 
public opposition, that decision-making had not been revisited. The current 
model of governance had been imposed on the Council by central government.  
It was thought that the Strong Leader model with the delegation of decision-
making had led the Council down the wrong path. It was important to review the 

Page 650



Council’s governance arrangements now and the starting point of the Working 
Group had not been to say how we implement a Committee System but had 
been to say how do we reverse the process that has been going on for some 
years. 

 Members wanted meaningful involvement in decision-making that meant 
something to their constituents. They needed to serve the electorate better. The 
Council’s powers currently were not what the public expected it to have and this 
needed to be put right. The public’s perception currently was that decisions 
were made behind closed doors.

 The number of Freedom of Information requests had gone up considerably 
since the Cabinet System was implemented.  Wirral Council had the highest 
number of these submitted to a local authority in the country.

 It would be a mistake to see this chance as a return to the old Committee 
System.  It was not a return to any system that the Council had in place 
previously.  It would be a much more streamlined system. 

 There were still concerns to be addressed and one of these was the speed at 
which the change was taking place.  However, if Members found the time 
constraints were too tight, the Council could decide at its meeting on 14 October 
2019 that it did not want to implement new governance arrangements until May 
2021.  If that decision was made there could not be another vote, in the 
meantime, to reverse that decision.

 Some Members thought the timescale was too rushed to implement a change 
in governance arrangements within six months and informed that the 
representative from the Local Government Association who had attended the 
Members’ Workshop had recommended a timescale of at least 18 months for 
such change to be implemented.

 If the Council agreed the recommendations set out in the report the Director of 
Governance and Assurance had confirmed that it would be possible to have a 
workable Council Constitution in place for May 2020. It would then be 
continually reviewed and evolve as appropriate.

 It was not anticipated that the new arrangements would lead to an increase in 
Members’ Allowances.  Instead it was expected that there would be a reduction 
as there would not be as many Special Responsibility Allowances included in 
the new Scheme of Members’ Allowances.  This should mean a cost saving.

 Cost from an officers’ perspective would: 
(1) include implementing the changes and the Constitution which would be a 

one off. However, there were issues identified with the current Constitution 
which meant it would need to be rewritten anyway if the Council did not 
move to new governance arrangements. Therefore, the cost of a new 
Constitution would be incurred whatever the Council decided to do 
regarding its future governance.

(2) depend on the number of meetings held, were they were held and how 
many Committees were established. Inevitably, other councils that had 
moved to a Committee System had ended up employing one or two more 
Democratic Services Officers.  The change to committees also had taken 
up more of officers’ time. The Committee Structure that was agreed would 
have direct consequences for the actual costs and could result in an 
‘invest to save’ situation.

 The Committee should receive regular updates on the costs involved with the 
Council changing to a new governance arrangement.

Page 651



 It was difficult to see how there could be any more meetings in the Council’s 
Calendar of Meetings as a result of a change in governance than there was 
under the current model, as there were meetings scheduled on most evenings.

 Under the current system of governance decision-making had been quick but 
not necessarily effective.
 

Councillor Gill Wood proposed the following:

That the Committee is recommended:

(1) to recommend to the Council that:

(a) the Council moves from Leader and Executive arrangements to a Committee 
System form of governance arrangements to take effect from the Annual 
Council meeting in 2021; and

(b) this Committee accordingly prepare a draft revised Constitution to propose 
to Council at its earliest opportunity in the new Municipal Year.

(2) to task the Governance Review Working Group to:

(a) consider possible structures for a Committee System of governance;

(b) undertake due consultation but giving preference to a streamlined style of 
arrangements; and

(c) oversee the drafting of revised standing orders, delegations and procedures 
by the Director of Governance and Assurance, with a view to producing an 
operational Constitution for the 2021/2022 Municipal Year in draft form for 
consideration in the new Municipal Year.

The proposal was seconded by Councillor Paul Stuart.

However, some Members believed that progress should be made more quickly than 
proposed here and to do so Councillor Phil Gilchrist moved the following Amendment:

Having considered: 

(a) the materials presented to the Governance Review Working Group; and

(b) the discussions held at the Working Group’s meetings and subsequent Member 
sessions.

This Committee is of the view that Wirral’s residents will now be better served by the 
introduction of a more accountable and transparent way of conducting the Council’s 
business, policy formulation and decision-making.  

It is the opinion of this Committee that the Council should now move to a Committee 
based structure to be designed, finalised and in place for the next Municipal Year.

Page 652



The Committee notes that a range of costs have been put forward that apply to the 
revised arrangements.  It is recognised however, that revisions to the existing 
Constitution have been under discussion for some time and that costs would have 
been incurred in that process.  

The Committee considers that the operational costs of the new system of governance 
should be the subject of regular reports and that in practice these costs should be 
minimised.

The Committee:

(1) recommends to the Council: That

(a) there be a move from Leader and Cabinet Executive arrangements to a 
Committee System form of governance arrangements to take effect from the 
Annual Council Meeting in 2020; and

(b) the Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee accordingly prepare 
a draft revised Constitution to propose to the Council meeting of 16 March 
2020.

(2) the Governance Review Working Group be tasked with:

(a) considering possible structures for a Committee System of governance 
system of governance;

(b) undertaking due consultation but giving preference to a streamlined style of 
arrangements; and

(c) overseeing the drafting of revised standing orders, delegations and 
procedures by the Director of Governance and Assurance, with a view to 
producing an operational Constitution for the 2020/21 Municipal Year in draft 
form for consideration in February 2020. 

This amendment was seconded by Councillor Moira McLaughlin and put to the vote 
and carried (5:0) with 3 abstentions.
The amendment then became the substantive Motion.  It was put to the vote and it 
was

RESOLVED: (5:0) (Three abstentions) 

Having considered: 

(a) the materials presented to the Governance Review Working Group; and

(b) the discussions held at the Working Group’s meetings and subsequent 
Member sessions.

Page 653



This Committee is of the view that Wirral’s residents will now be better served 
by the introduction of a more accountable and transparent way of conducting 
the Council’s business, policy formulation and decision-making.  

It is the opinion of this Committee that the Council should now move to a 
Committee based structure to be designed, finalised and in place for the next 
Municipal Year.

The Committee notes that a range of costs have been put forward that apply to 
the revised arrangements.  It is recognised however, that revisions to the 
existing Constitution have been under discussion for some time and that costs 
would have been incurred in that process.  

The Committee considers that the operational costs of the new system of 
governance should be the subject of regular reports and that in practice these 
costs should be minimised.

The Committee:

(1) recommends to the Council: That

(a) there be a move from Leader and Cabinet Executive arrangements to a 
Committee System form of governance arrangements to take effect 
from the Annual Council Meeting in 2020; and

(b) the Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee accordingly 
prepare a draft revised Constitution to propose to the Council meeting 
of 16 March 2020.

(2) the Governance Review Working Group be tasked with:

(a) considering possible structures for a Committee System of governance 
system of governance;

(b) undertaking due consultation but giving preference to a streamlined 
style of arrangements; and

(c) overseeing the drafting of revised standing orders, delegations and 
procedures by the Director of Governance and Assurance, with a view 
to producing an operational Constitution for the 2020/21 Municipal Year 
in draft form for consideration in February 2020. 

Page 654



STANDARDS AND CONSTITUTIONAL OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
 
26th September 2019 
 

REPORT TITLE: GOVERNANCE REVIEW 

REPORT OF: GOVERNANCE REVIEW WORKING GROUP 

 
 
REPORT SUMMARY 
 
The Annual Meeting of Council charged the Committee ‘to conduct a review of the 
governance arrangements of the Council, with the objective to produce, in September 
2019, an interim report on options and preferred outline for further consideration’. 
 
The Committee established a Governance Review Working Group, which has met 
over the summer and, with the assistance of the Local Government Association (LGA), 
conducted interviews and hosted an all Member workshop. The findings of the 
Working Group, and its implications, are now presented by way of this report. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION/S 
 
That the Committee is recommended: 
 
(1) To recommend to full Council that:  

a) the Council moves from leader and cabinet executive 
arrangements to a committee system form of governance 
arrangements to take effect from Annual Council 2020.; and 

b) the Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee 
accordingly prepare a draft revised Constitution to propose to the 
Council meeting of 16th March 2020. 

 
(2) To task the Governance Review Working Group to: 

a) consider possible structures for a committee system of 
governance;  

b) undertake due consultation but giving preference to a streamlined 
style of arrangements; and 

c) oversee the drafting of revised standing orders, delegations and 
procedures by the Director of Governance and Assurance, with a 
view to producing an operational Constitution for the 2020/21 
municipal year in draft form for consideration in February 2020. 

  

Page 655



  
 

SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 
1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 

 
1.1 The Governance Review Working Group considered that the recommended 

move to a streamlined committee system form of governance best met their 
objectives for governance arrangements of: 

• Accountability – responsibilities and accountability should be clear, within 
the Council and to residents; 

• Credibility – governance should assist good decision making, which 
involved proper and early scrutiny; 

• Transparency – the decision making process should be open and 
transparent to Members and to the public; 

• Collaboration - decision making should be collaborative across parties and 
less combative; 

• Timeliness – decision making should be both quick and effective and, 
when necessary, allow for urgent decision making. 

 
1.2 The recommendation, if adopted, sets in train a number of pieces of work to be 

completed to allow for the change of form of governance within the desired 
timeframe. 
 
 

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 
 
2.1 Varying alternative governance arrangements were considered by the 

Working Group. This included a particular emphasis on a more inclusive 
and open version of a leader and cabinet form of executive arrangements, 
as well as ‘hybrid’ and other forms of governance arrangements.  
 

− These other governance options were rejected as it was felt that they 
would not achieve the objectives to the same high degree or as 
conclusively as a streamlined committee system. 

 
2.2 To delay the implementation date of the change of governance form to the 

Annual Meeting of 2021 was considered so as to allow for more time to 
draw up a satisfactory working structure.  
 

− The Working Group were satisfied, however, that any advantages 
were more than outweighed by the view that such a delay would be 
counter-productive and that a workable revised Constitution could be 
produced in the given time period. 

 
2.3 To make a recommendation to Council to move to a committee system 

form of governance, but as a statement of intent only in October and to 

Page 656



leave the final decision to the Council meeting of March 2020. This would 
be so that: 

o the resulting draft constitutional structures and procedures could be 
presented and assessed by Council; and  

o in addition to consultation on how proposals drawn up for the design 
of the committee system might best engage with the public and 
partners, consultation could also (or instead) take place on the direct 
question of whether to change of governance form from leader and 
cabinet executive to committee system, 

before the final decision is made. This might be achieved by adding the 
phrase “subject to a confirmatory vote at the Council meeting of 16th 
March 2020” to the end of recommendation 1a. above. 
 

− This is not currently included as views of the Working Group and 
Members were felt to be sufficiently informed and clear, so that the 
introduction of a two stage process would most likely prove 
unnecessary and potentially unhelpful.  

 

 

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 
3.1 The Annual meeting of Council on 14th May 2019 resolved to:  

“charge the Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee to 
conduct a review of the governance arrangements of the Council, with the 
objective to produce, in September 2019, an interim report on options and 
preferred outline for further consideration." 
 

3.2 The resulting report to the Committee’s meeting of June 2019 set out the 
headline considerations and advice concerning a change to the form of 
governance arrangements of the Council. This included a summary of the 
various arguments both for and against the forms of governance available to 
the Council.  
 

3.3 Further to the Committee’s decision to establish the Governance Review 
Working Group, the Group has met on several occasions. In addition to their 
meetings, the Working Group were assisted by a series of interviews conducted 
by Mr Andrew Campbell OB of the Local Government Association and by an 
all-Member workshop hosted by the Working Group and facilitated by Mr 
Campbell and officers.  
 

3.4 The workshop was presented with the Group’s initial findings in favouring two 
options, one a more open and inclusive version of the Council’s current 
executive arrangements and the other a streamlined version of a committee 
system. The slides as presented are attached as Appendix A to this report. 
 

3.5 The Governance Review Working Group has considered the outcome of the 
workshop, together with its own findings, and the Chair’s report is attached as 
Appendix B to this report. 

Page 657



 
4.0 NEXT STEPS 

 
4.1 Should the recommendation be accepted by the Committee and Council, there 

then follows a process of formal notification. The legislation provides that, as 
soon as practicable after the Council has passed a resolution to change the 
form of its governance arrangements, it must:- 

 
a. Secure that copies of the document setting out the provisions that are to 

have effect following the resolution are available at its principal office for 
inspection by members of the public.  

 
b. Publish in one or more newspaper circulating in its area, a notice which:- 

(i) states that the authority has resolved to make a change in its 
governance arrangements; 

(ii) states the date which the change is to have effect; 

(iii) describes the main features of the change; 

(iv) states that copies of the document setting out the provisions of the 
arrangements which are to have effect following the resolution are 
available at the authority’s principal office for inspection by members 
of the public; and 

(v) specifies the address of the authority’s principal office. 
 

4.2 The legislation provides that the earliest date by which a change in governance 
form may be implemented is from the following Annual Meeting, in this case for 
the municipal year beginning in May 2020. 
 

4.3 The passing of such a resolution to move to a committee system will require 
early consideration to be given to designing a new Committee structure and to 
then incorporate that structure into a revised Constitution to run from the 
implementation date. It is suggested that the Committee, via the Governance 
Review Working Group, might approach this task in the following sequential 
order:- 
 
(i)      To determine the overall structure of a new Committee system and, in 

particular, how that may operate as an effective but inclusive ‘streamlined’ 
model, separating strategic and executive overview from operational 
decision making and policy development. 

 
(ii)     Subject to the decisions at (i) above, determine what functions should be 

reserved to full Council, how much responsibility should be concentrated 
in the ‘executive’ committee and should the operational committees’ 
structure be based on existing officer directorates, functional areas or 
strategic priorities? 

 
(iii)    Address whether the Council wishes to retain a split in respect of 

regulatory functions? 
 

Page 658



(iv)    Address whether or not the Council wishes to retain dedicated separate 
committees for Human Resources, Planning (for development control), 
Regulatory and General Purposes, Audit & Risk Management (accounts) 
and Standards & Constitutional Oversight   [Nb A separate Licensing Committee will need 

to be retained as this is established through separate legislation other than the 1972 Act.] 
 
(v)    Consider the size of Committees and impact on political balance. 
 
(vi)   Determine whether the Council will retain Overview & Scrutiny 

arrangements, be that a comprehensive function or just for external 
partners and call-in, or not 

 
4.4 It is further suggested that the above issues be considered before moving onto 

other matters, which will include:- 
 
(i) Review of the Officer Scheme of Delegation  
 
(ii) A review of the detailed content of the constitution, including Council 

Standing Orders, Procedure Rules, etc.  This will include a range of 
detailed issues including precise roles and remits of Committees, do we 
wish to retain a reservation system to Council etc. 

 
4.5 Should the Council decide to retain a comprehensive style of scrutiny, or in 

designing the overview and scrutiny function into the remit of committees, 
regard should be had to the overview and scrutiny review undertaken, also the 
subject of an instruction from the full Council meeting of May 2019. It should be 
noted that this is the subject to a separate report on the agenda of this 
Committee’s meeting. 

 
 

5.0 ENGAGEMENT / CONSULTATION 
 

5.1 The current recommendation was subject to an all-Member workshop and 
discussion with and amongst the political groups. It is envisaged that a similar 
process would occur during the next phase of development. 
 

5.2 Whilst there is no a legislative requirement to consult on the proposed changes, 
only that a notice of the change is to be published as described at paragraph 
4.1 above, the Council’s Constitution at Article 15.3(ii) states:  

“Change from a Leader and Cabinet form of Executive to alternative 
arrangements  

- The Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors 
and other interested parties in the area when drawing up proposals.” 

Consideration must therefore be given as to what form and with whom 
consultation will take place on the committee system proposals as they are 
drawn up. 

 
  

Page 659



 
6.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 The ability for the Council to change from one of the permissible forms of 

governance arrangements of a local authority to another is provided for by 
Chapter 4 of the Local Government Act 2000 (as amended by the Localism Act 
2011). Section 9KC of the Act straightforwardly states that a “resolution of a 
local authority” (a simple majority) is required in order for the council to make 
such a change in governance arrangements.   
 

6.2 It should be noted, however, that a local authority may not then pass another 
resolution that makes a change from one to another of the permissible forms of 
governance arrangements ‘before the end of the period of 5 years’ beginning 
with the date the first resolution is passed, unless that change is by way of 
referendum. 
 

6.3 A resolution passed by the Authority to change from one of the permissible 
forms of governance arrangements to another will then be implemented only 
during- 

(a) the first annual meeting of the local authority to be held after the resolution 
to make the change in governance arrangements is passed, or 

(b) a later annual meeting of the local authority specified in that resolution. 
 
 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 

7.1 There are direct costs associated with making the change from one system to 
another. The Centre for Public Scrutiny (CfPS) have reported that the 
Government has estimated that the costs of moving from one system to another 
can range from £70,000 to £250,000. The CfPS believes this estimate is rather 
high, as do the Council’s officers, and consider a more accurate figure to be 
somewhat lower.   
 

7.2 These costs are associated more with the act of making the change, such as 
redrafting the constitution, making changes to rules of procedure and financial 
systems, project delivery and impact on forward work programmes as well as 
training and briefing costs for officers and Members.  
 

7.3 Some of the cost activities will be required to be resourced externally. This will 
be to a greater or lesser extent dependent upon the alternative calls on the time 
and particular skills of the officer cadre and the resulting mix of external 
resources required to either provide direct services to the project or elsewhere 
to backfill opportunity cost or required functions for the Council. The pace of 
change will likewise have a bearing on the eventual costs. For example, a 
procurement exercise for legal support has begun in preparation, but this is 
hoped to be largely formed of proofing and indirect support. 
 

7.4 Members’ Allowances will require a full review and a separate report is being 
prepared on this matter.  

Page 660



 
8.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: STAFFING, ICT AND ASSETS  

 
8.1 There are significant implications for the Council in changing its decision making 

structure to a new form of governance. There will be an initial orientation, 
briefing and training impact that will reduce as the change in governance 
arrangements becomes embedded. 
 

8.2 Project planning resource will be called upon to assist in preparation and for 
delivery of the drafting process and changes. 
 

8.3 Across the Council, the change to potentially different ways of working and 
briefing with Members will require greater and different input from officers. The 
extent of these resource implications in the longer term will vary dependent on 
the number, frequency and timing of meetings (for example, daytime meetings 
are less resource intensive and have a lesser staffing impact than evening 
meetings). 
 

8.4 Democratic Services will directly be affected over the longer term and other 
authorities that have moved to a committee system have reported that an 
increase in staffing is required. Again, such matters as retention of a separate 
overview and scrutiny system or not and the number and frequency of meetings 
will have a direct bearing on this and so costs cannot be estimated at this time. 
 
 

9.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
 

9.1 A change in the form of arrangements will represent a key and integral element 
of the Council’s overall organisational vision and also of how it interacts with 
other stakeholders. That process of change will raise a number of associated 
internal and external risks to be identified and managed as part of the 
development process and implementation. 
 

9.2 A key risk to the objectives of the recommendation is that a change to the form 
of governance arrangements fails to bring with it the desired change in culture.  
 
 

10.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 

10.1 There are no identified equality impact implications directly associated 
with the proposals set out in this report. 

 

11.0  ENVIRONMENT AND CLIMATE IMPLICATIONS 
 
11.1 None. 
 

 
  

Page 661



REPORT AUTHOR:  Philip McCourt  
Director of Governance and Assurance 
Tel: 0151 691 8569 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendix A  Presentation slides to the Member workshop 

Appendix B  Governance Review Working Group Chair’s report 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS / REFERENCE MATERIAL 

 
1) Notes arising from meetings of the Governance Review Working Group 

 
2) Report of Mr A. Campbell OB, LGA Consultant, to the Governance Review 

Working Group 
 

3) Notes arising from the all Member workshop 
 

− A paper produced jointly by the Local Government Association and by the 
Centre for Public Scrutiny, “Rethinking governance - Practical steps for 
councils considering changes to their governance arrangements” can be 
found at: www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Rethinking-Governance.pdf. 

 
 

 
  

Page 662



Slide 1 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

Governance 
Working Group

ALL MEMBER WORKSHOP

4th September 2019

 

Appendix A 

Slide 2 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

Annual meeting of Council on 14th May 2019 

That the Standards and Constitutional Oversight 
Committee is charged:

“to conduct a review of the governance 
arrangements of the Council, with the 

objective to produce, in September 2019, an 
interim report on options and preferred 

outline for further consideration."

 

 

Slide 3 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

Forms of governance available

A. Executive arrangements: directly elected mayor 
and cabinet;

B. Executive arrangements: leader and cabinet;
C. Committee system; or
D. Prescribed arrangements (of which there are none)

• A resolution passed that will change the Council’s form of 
governance from one of these to another takes effect from 
Annual Council 

• Once resolved, a vote to change again cannot be taken for five 
years

• Changing arrangements within the confines of each form of 
governance can be done at any time

 

 

Page 663



Slide 4 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

QUESTIONS to be answered:

1. What outcomes do you want?

2. What’s wrong with the system you have now 
that means that doesn’t happen?

3. Is it the Council’s culture or is it the form of 
governance that led to this? 

4. What are the options?

5. What form of governance do you prefer

6. Depending on choice(s), what do you need to 
think of next?

 

 

Slide 5 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

Timetable

• To date:
• Resolution from Annual Council

• Standards & Constitutional Oversight Committee report & 
debate

• Working Group established & Workshop held

• LGA consultant, Andrew Campbell discussion with individuals

• Workshop today

• Working Group recommendations for: 

• 26th September Standards & CO Committee;

• For 14th October Council meeting & vote

With any changes to be adopted for May 2020 Council

 

 

Slide 6 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

The answers so far

The views of the Working Group to date

 

 

Page 664



Slide 7 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

1. What outcomes do you want?

• Accountability – responsibilities and accountability should 
be clear, within the Council and to residents;

• Credibility – governance should assist good decision 
making, which involved proper and early scrutiny;

• Transparency – the decision making process should be 
more open and transparent  to Members and to the public;

• Collaborative - decision making should be more 
collaborative across parties and less combative;

• Timely – decision making should be both quick and 
effective and, when necessary, allow for urgent decision 
making.

 

 

Slide 8 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

2. What’s wrong with the system you have now 
that means that doesn’t happen?

• The majority of Members feel excluded from decision 
making with no opportunity to influence decisions 
when or before they are made (lack of inclusion);

• Options are closed down in discussion between a 
narrow group of Members and options that might have 
been of interest to Members of the Council from other 
parties are ruled out before sufficient evaluation (lack 
of engagement); and

• Too many important decisions were delegated to 
individual Executive Members to make rather than 
Cabinet (lack of transparency).

 

 

Slide 9 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

3. Is it culture or is it the form of governance? 

• The Working Group recognised that efforts had been made 
since May to respond to the criticisms, including:
• Informal meetings with Group Leaders;
• Policy Advisory Group around a cabinet portfolio holder, particularly 

for the Local Plan;
• Workshop briefings on key topics and projects;
• Greater early engagement and shared horizon scanning; and
• Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny held by opposition

• But feelings were expressed that:
• more could be done;
• things might revert to previous problems under a Cabinet without a 

change of governance form; and also
• the underlying culture might not change for the better under either 

system without further work.

 

 

Page 665



Slide 10 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

4. What are the options?

• The Working Group ruled out:

• a directly elected mayor for Wirral; and 

• prescribed arrangements.

• Looked at variations of executive arrangements and a 
committee system 

• of which there are many,

• including ‘hybrid’ forms

• Looked at the the advantages and disadvantages of 
each and how these might be mitigated in each form.

 

 

Slide 11 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

4(a) What are the options? 
– Leader & Cabinet executive arrangements

• The Leader says WHO can make an executive decision
• Leader or other individual cabinet member
• Cabinet or committee of cabinet
• Area committee
• An officer

• Council can say HOW that decision is to be made
• The Executive arrangements (Leader & Cabinet); and

• Council can form overview and scrutiny arrangements in a 
way that best suits it

There is a wide range of governance arrangements within the 
executive form

 

 

Slide 12 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

Leader & Cabinet executive arrangements
common arguments for and criticisms against 

+ efficient decision making and 
delivery and thus speed of 
reaction to changing 
circumstances or requirements 
in a business like way; 

+ clear lines of responsibility and 
transparency; 

+ clear leadership of the Council; 

+ clear separation between 
decision makers and those 
holding to account; and 

+ easier partnership working. 

‒ power and knowledge 
concentrated in too few 
hands; 

‒ under-utilised and 
disempowered councillors 
beyond Leader and 
Cabinet;

‒ lack of political 
proportionality or 
sufficient cross-party 
decision working; 

‒ lack of transparency and 
decisions taken ‘behind 
closed doors’. 

 

 

Page 666



Slide 13 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

4(b) What are the options?
– Committee System

• The Council and committees says who and how it can make 
a decision, being:

• Council;

• Committee or sub- committee; or

• an officer

• subject to rules about decision-making (proportionality, 
publication and evidence*) from law and standing orders

*e.g., Members’ notices of motions for debate at Council resolve to ‘believe’ and ‘feel’ or ‘recommend’ as now

• Council can adopt an overview and scrutiny function or not

There is also a wide range of governance arrangements within 
the committee form

 

 

Slide 14 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

Committee system
common arguments for and criticisms against 

+ all Members have the 
opportunity to be directly 
involved in decision 
making; 

+ decisions are made 
through politically 
balanced Committees;

+ the resulting greater 
cross-party debate leads 
to better decision making 
and consideration of all 
alternatives; 

+ all decisions are made in 
a public meeting (unless 
exempt).

‒ opaque decision-making with 
early application of the 'whip' 
interfering with accountability,  
considering all options and 
deliberations only after listening to 
all evidence and genuine debate;

‒ no individual responsibility and 
accountability and the role of a 
Leader is less clear; 

‒ Committees lead to silo working 
and poor external engagement;

‒ much higher costs  in officer 
support and administration; and

‒ slow decision making and the 
resulting requirement for officer 
decision making at a higher level. 

 

 

Slide 15 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

Forms of governance: 
Options for governance arrangements within each form

Streamlined 
‘hybrid’ 

committee

Traditional 
committees 
and council 
ratification 

of decisions 

Aligned 
‘hybrid’ 
cabinet

Strong 
‘mayoral’ 
Individual 
decisions

Committee form of governance

Executive of governance

 

 

Page 667



Slide 16 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE OPERATIONAL COMMITTEES REGULATORY ?

Committee member portfolios align 

to officer directorates or clear cross-

cutting outcomes

No single member decisions and 

reflects political balance

Decisions made on recommendation 

wherever possible by the P&R 

‘executive’ style committee

The ‘operational committees’ mirroring officer 

directorates (or clear cross-cutting outcomes) 

to:

(i)   influence and shape service delivery.

(ii) make recommendations to P&R 

Committee but also make decisions in 

limited areas

(iii) scrutiny and review functions (including 

external partnerships, health, etc).

Employment (P&R Sub-

Committee)

Planning

Licensing*

General Purposes

Standards & 

Constitutional

Audit

STRATEGIC DECISION MAKING DECISION DEVELOPMENT AND REVIEW REGULATORY

CABINET OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES REGULATORY

Cabinet portfolios align to officer 

directorates or clear cross-cutting 

outcomes

Limited or no single member 

decisions

Decisions made on recommendation 

wherever possible.

Overview and Scrutiny Committees to mirror 

officer directorates (or Cabinet portfolios) to:

(i)   influence and shape service delivery.

(ii) make recommendations to cabinet

(iii) scrutiny and review (including external 

partnerships, health, etc).

Separate Scrutiny Committee for Call-ins

Employment

Planning (decisions)

Licensing*

General Purposes

Standards & Constitutional

Audit

Example ‘hybrid’ governance arrangements compared

 

 

Slide 17 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

5. What form of governance do you prefer?

• The Working Group has considered the various options, 
advantages/disadvantages and mitigations and 
narrowed the options for further consideration to two

• These are for discussion tonight

• It is hoped that the Standards and Constitutional 
Oversight Committee will opt for one preferred form of 
governance to put to Council on 14th October

• leaving time for development and implementation at 
next May’s annual meeting if a change is agreed

 

 

Slide 18 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

(A) More open Leader and Cabinet arrangements 

Retaining Leader and Cabinet executive arrangements -
but only with new constitutional rules to increase 
engagement and openness of decision making, 
including:

• exchanges cross-party and by ward members 
within meetings;

• improved policy framework by full Council; 

• inclusion of policy development groups and/or 
formal advisory committees; and

• consider no individual Member decisions or, if so, 
make no such decisions made in private.

 

 

Page 668



Slide 19 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

Leader and Cabinet
“The Leader with the Cabinet Members comprises the Executive, meeting in public to 

make decisions…”

Policy Advisory Committees
“Each Committee is able to consider and make recommendations on the functions of the 

Council that are the responsibility of the Cabinet Member(s) for matters within the 
Committees remit.  They also consider and either endorse or make recommendations on 

statutory Key and significant decisions to be taken by the Cabinet Members either 
collectively or individually.” [15-19]

Overview and Scrutiny
“The Scrutiny Committee(s) investigates issues affecting the Council and residents and 

makes recommendations to support the improvement of council services.” [10-16]

Select Committees
“The Scrutiny Committee investigates issues affecting the Council and residents and makes 

recommendations to support the improvement of council services.” [4-9]

Policy Development/Advisory Group
Cross-party Members, chaired by the Cabinet Member and meeting as a working group, to 

be briefed and to develop policy proposals to put to a Policy Advisory Committee or the 
Cabinet that are the responsibility of the Cabinet Member under their portfolio. [5-9]

Example of Open Executive Governance

 

 

Slide 20 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

(B) Streamlined Committee system

Moving to a Committee system - but only if streamlined 
arrangements, reflecting a modern executive style of 
committee, so as:

• to retain accountability and reactiveness to business 
of the Council;

• include a formal Leader of the Council; and

• which may either include the overview and scrutiny 
function

• Within the remit of all committees or
• additionally retain specific committees for 

external bodies and for call-in

 

 

Slide 21 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

Environment, 
Place & 
Growth 

Committee

Policy and 
Resources 

(executive ‘cabinet’) 
Committee

Licensing
&

Gambling 
Acts 

Committee 

COUNCIL

Children, 
Adults & 
Health 

Committee

Delivery, 
Safety and 

Community 
Committee

Corporate 
and  

Business 
Committee

Planning 
(Development 

Control)  
Committee

Audit 
Committees

Regulatory 
Gen Purposes 

Committee

strategic and 
executive

operational, 
partnerships and 

overview & scrutiny
statutoryregulatory

Example of Streamlined Committee Governance

Task & Finish groups

Employment 
Sub-Committee

Procurement 
Sub-Committee

Shareholder   
Sub-Committee ? External scrutiny ? Call-in

Standards &

 

 

Page 669



Slide 22 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

6(a) If retaining executive arrangements, what do 
you need to think of next?

• How should individual executive decisions be made and 
administered

• Pre-decision requirements on reports, consultation access, 
etc?

• In public or private?
• Public access to time and place?
• How should cabinet meetings be run?
• Overview and scrutiny review: should the O&S structure be 

based on existing officer directorates, functional areas or 
strategic priorities to best provide pre-decision scrutiny?

• How should chairs, subject matter, task and finish be 
selected and resourced?

• How should call-in be administered?

 

 

Slide 23 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

6(b) If moving to a committee system, what do 
you need to think of next?

• How do you wish to determine the overall structure of a new 
Committee system? How much delegation should be given from 
P&R/Cabinet committee to the operational and policy  
committees and should their structure be based on existing 
officer directorates, functional areas or strategic priorities?

• Do you wish to retain a split in respect of regulatory functions, eg
planning development control separated from planning policy? 
[Separate statutory Licensing Act Committee required]

• Do you wish to retain dedicated Committees for Employment, 
General Purposes, or Constitutional and Standards? 

• The size of committees and impact on political balance?

• Do you wish to retain any Overview & Scrutiny arrangements: 
none, comprehensive or external & call-in?

• Can we get the changes ready for May?

 

 

Slide 24 

Wirral Council Governance  4th September 2019

DISCUSSION

Cabinet or Committees?
What kind of which?

4th September 2019

 

 

Page 670



Appendix B 

Wirral Governance Review Working Party 2019 

Report to Standards and Constitutional Oversight 
Committee 

 

1. In May of 2019, The Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee were 
tasked with a review of Wirral Council’s governance arrangements. 

2. A working party was to convene at regular intervals to be led by the Chair, Cllr 
Cox, in collaboration with cross party spokes, and the Director of Governance 
and Assurance. 

3. This was to conclude with a recommendation on changes that could be made 
to the current form of governance. It quickly became apparent that the current 
form is viewed by members as an unsatisfactory system. 

4. The most powerful points, that came up again and again, where around the 
areas of transparency, accountability and credibility. Members on all sides of 
the Council believe that decision making is seen as far too opaque and distant 
to local residents, and this had to change. 

5. There is a perception by Members that too many ‘single member decisions’ are 
taken by cabinet members, and indeed by the leader, behind ‘closed doors’. 
This led to a general consensus that too many ‘bad decisions’ are being made 
- be they ill-conceived or rushed - and not enough meaningful scrutiny was 
undertaken. 

6. Scrutiny is seen as a box ticking exercise rather than having any real teeth, or 
genuinely being able to hold the executive to account. All of this led to the 
impression of a lack of transparency. 

7. Members embarked on a fact finding mission into what options were available 
to us. Special thanks is given to Phil McCourt and Vicki Shaw in their support 
of this process. 

8. Various options were explored, and the merits and disadvantages discussed at 
length. It was decided that a directly elected mayoral system would place more 
control in the hands of one individual, to an even greater extent than the current 
‘strong leader model’, and this would not be something the committee would 
pursue. 

9. Numerous variations of cabinet systems and the committee-based systems 
were investigated. It was identified by members, at an early stage, that whilst 
both systems had their merits, we must keep a focus on what we were trying to 
achieve from a variation / change of governance form, namely achieving the 
afore mentioned transparency, accountability and credibility. 

Page 671



10. It was also a common theme that Members didn’t feel that they were being used 
to their full potential. Whilst scrutiny was all well and good, it seemed impotent. 
Members would prefer to be genuinely involved in decision making, on behalf 
of their residents, not just scrutinising decisions. 

11. There is a feeling amongst some Members that circa 55 members were 
effectively ‘surplus to requirement’ with the cabinet being the only councillors 
actually being utilised, and this is something that needed to be addressed. 

12. Another important point that was raised was the politically competitive nature 
of Wirral Borough Council. Wirral is highly contested in many wards, and this 
can make the current form of governance too confrontational at times. 

13. As the working groups progressed, its members scrutinised other systems of 
Governance elsewhere. An example of a ‘hybrid’ executive model from Kent 
County Council was examined. Whilst it was agreed that this was an 
improvement on our ‘strong leader model’, the committee consensus was that 
it did not go far enough in addressing the main issues with our governance 
model. Dilution of the sometimes ‘combative political culture’ and encouraging 
collaborative working was not inbuilt in the system, involvement of all members 
was not maximised, and transparency & accountability could still be improved. 

14. Whilst it exhibited some good governance practice, it was essentially an 
executive with ‘beefed up’ scrutiny system. It was also commented that many 
of the attractive characteristics, innate to this system, could easily be 
implemented by the current administration, should they wish. 

15. Some members expressed their interest in different examples of the committee 
system. One suggested that it is a natural choice for those who favour ‘bottom 
up decision-making and collaborative working rather than top down combative 
politics.’ 

16. One thing that was unanimous was the need for any committee-based option 
to be streamlined. The system would need to provide for the ability for 
emergency decision making, whilst ensuring major decisions were debated fully 
in public at committees. Scrutiny would be ‘in-built’ into the committee format. 
It must also ensure that cross functional departmental working continued / was 
improved. This could be achieved by limiting the number of committees. Some 
members thought around 6 would be the optimal number to be able to cover all 
functional areas. 

17. There was also agreement that there should be an overarching committee 
(sometimes referred to as ‘Policy & Resources Committee’) which would have 
oversight of operational committees and also provide further scrutiny. 

18. Call in would also need to be considered. 

19. The committee were keen to provide all 66 members with as much information 
as possible, and to hear their comments on our progress. To this end the Chair 
called for a ‘all member workshop’. 

Page 672



20. Various opinions where heard. 

21. One member raised the issue of the potential costs involved in any changes to 
the current governance system. One member believed the extra cost would be 
justified if it meant the council behaved in a more transparent and democratic 
manner. Another member commented that the Director of Governance and 
Assurance has stated on various occasions that our current constitution is not 
fit for purpose, and that costs / officer time to rewrite this will be incurred either 
way. 

22. Comments were made around who the ‘port of call’ would be for outside bodies 
or who would be the ‘lead member’ if certain situations arose, as a cabinet 
member is currently. It was explained that it was envisaged that the chair of the 
committee for that business area would be analogous to that role. 

23. Some members were explicit in their wish to see a committee system instated. 
It is reasonable to say that all members, even those not so bold as to suggest 
a change of governance form be enacted, believed further changes to increase 
transparency needed to happen and would be welcome. 

24. Some members were dismissive of the idea of more delegated powers to 
officers, believing it should be the elected members who should bear the 
responsibility of major decision making, as it is they who can be removed from 
office by the public, not officers. 

25. Comments were made that if we change the Governance form, we need to 
ensure we get it right. 

26. Subsequently, a further meeting of the chair and spokes was convened. This 
final workshop led to this report being produced. All the evidence, including that 
accrued at the all member workshop, was again reviewed. 

27. Again, the pros and cons of the options presented were debated. With all 
this in mind, the consensus of the Working Party was to make a proposal 
to the Standards Committee, to be convened September 26th 2019, that a 
vote be held, at that said Committee, on a formal proposal to council that 
Wirral Borough Council formally move to a committee-based system. The 
structure of that system, and the implementation timetable, to be finalised 
at the first possible convenience, and to be led by the Director of 
Governance and Assurance. 

28. Focus is to be given to the operational cost of a new system of governance. 
Particularly, to ensure any overall member responsibility costs do not increase 
beyond the current expenditure. 

 
Cllr Tony Cox 

Chair 
 

Page 673



This page is intentionally left blank



COUNCIL – 14 OCTOBER 2019 

Motions

The following motions have been submitted in accordance with the notice required by Standing 
Order 7(1) and are listed in accordance with Standing Order 7(2). 

(1) DELAYED DOMESTIC VIOLENCE BILL

Proposed by Councillor Janette Williamson
Seconded by Councillor Paul Stuart

Council notes that Wirral has seen 4631 reported incidents of abuse in 2018/19 and is 
particularly alarmed at rising levels of violence towards women and girls.  Council is proud 
that Wirral has a zero tolerance to domestic abuse and of the support it offers victims of such 
abuse.  It currently funds a women’s refuge which offers a place of safety to local women and 
children at risk of the most extreme violence and possible death as well as exempting them 
from Council Tax.  However, it is extremely alarmed that the Domestic Violence Bill was 
delayed after the Prime Minister, Boris Johnson, prorogued Parliament, and welcomes the 
Supreme Court judgement that Boris Johnson’s acts were unlawful.  This Bill statutorily 
defines domestic abuse to include economic control – a devastating form of coercive control.  
The Bill will also boost the powers available to courts to block perpetrators from contacting 
those they abused.  The Bill will help an estimated 1.2 million women and 713,000 men a 
year in England and Wales who are affected by domestic abuse.  Any delay on this Bill will 
impact on our residents on Wirral who are living with domestic abuse on a daily basis.  
Council is hugely concerned that the tone and language of Boris Johnson in his response to 
Paula Sheriff’s comments about Jo Cox which he called “humbug”, were unacceptable on 
both a human and political level, and sought to trivialise violence towards women.  Council 
further condemns the language used by the Attorney General Geoffrey Cox who said “when 
did you stop beating your wife?” during a recent Commons debate. The crass and 
misogynistic language around violence towards women by the Conservative Party shames us 
all as a civilised society. Council requests the Leader to write to Boris Johnson and seek an 
assurance that Wirral victims of domestic abuse will not suffer through further delays to the 
Domestic Violence Bill and that his and his colleagues’ language about violence towards 
women will be measured and befitting of enlightened and intelligent parliamentarians. Council 
invites all elected members to support the valuable work of Wirral Council, Wirral Women and 
Children’s Aid, Involve Northwest, RASA Merseyside, Tomorrow’s Women and the Freedom 
Programme, and sign the campaign by Women’s Aid - 16 Days of Action Against Domestic 
Violence and asks all members to sign their pledge

https://16daysofaction.co.uk/the-campaign/

(2) CHILDREN IN CARE
Proposed by Councillor Ian Lewis
Seconded by Councillor Wendy Clements

Council notes that six in every 10 looked after children are in care due to abuse or neglect, 
causing a lasting impact on their mental health and emotional wellbeing.
 

Page 675

Agenda Item 10

https://16daysofaction.co.uk/the-campaign/


On behalf of these children, Council demands that the care provided be of the highest quality, 
while ensuring every pound spent is used well and for the purpose intended.
 
Council believes that, while many care providers are meeting these obligations, some are not 
and that the inflationary increases imposed by some providers has not been met with a 
commensurate increase in quality.  
 
To resolve this, Council requests Cabinet to consider the creation of some Authority-led 
provision, working with respected non-profit organisations, to ensure Wirral children receive 
quality care at a reasonable cost and to report back to all members on progress.

(3) PRIORITISING SAFETY AROUND SCHOOLS

Proposed by Councillor Stuart Kelly
Seconded by Councillor Chris Carubia

Council notes the current Parking Enforcement Policy adopted by Cabinet 15 March 2012.
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/Parking,%20roads%20and%20travel/parki
ng/Wirral%20Council%20parking%20enforcement%20policy.pdf

Council considers that enhanced priority to safety around schools should be included 
within the Policy.  Council, therefore, requests that the Cabinet Member for Community 
Services reviews the Policy and suggests that she adopts the following suggested 
amendments to prioritise illegal parking enforcement around schools.

Amendment 1
To section 2.9.1 (Parking Enforcement is therefore undertaken to assist in), add additional 
bullet point:
 Allowing pedestrians and cyclists on route to work, school or leisure safe travel 

unimpeded by illegally parked vehicles.

Amendment 2
To section 2.9.3 (outline enforcement regime), amend 9th bullet point. 
Currently reads:
 School Keep Clear markings throughout the Borough will be enforced with a rolling 

programme and in response to specific demands. 
Amend to read:
 School Keep Clear markings, yellow lines and dropped kerbs around schools 

throughout the Borough will be enforced daily during term time.

Amendment 3
To section 2.9.4 (frequency and times of patrols), amend paragraph.
Currently reads:
To ensure an efficient and effective operation the exact frequency and times of patrols are 
left to the Director of Technical Services and his appointed contractor to determine. These 
frequencies and times will be reviewed regularly.
Amend to read:
To ensure an efficient and effective operation the exact location, frequency and times of 
patrols are left to the Director of Technical Services and his appointed contractor to 
determine. Except that safety around schools shall be given daily priority during term time 
and at morning and afternoon peaks. These frequencies and times will be reviewed 
regularly.

Page 676

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/Parking,%20roads%20and%20travel/parking/Wirral%20Council%20parking%20enforcement%20policy.pdf
https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/Parking,%20roads%20and%20travel/parking/Wirral%20Council%20parking%20enforcement%20policy.pdf


Informative - Existing text of Parking Enforcement Policy
2.9   PARKING ENFORCEMENT POLICY  
2.9.1  Parking Enforcement is therefore undertaken to assist in:  
• Delivery of an efficient and accessible transport system for all, 
• Management of parking, traffic levels and congestion through effective parking controls 

to make making Wirral a safer place to live, work in and enjoy. 
• Supporting and improving the effectiveness of measures introduced to prevent or 

reduce accidents. 
• Improving public transport accessibility and reliability,  
• Meeting the needs of disabled people by improving access to and availability of 

dedicated parking space. 
• Reducing unnecessary parking and traffic in residential and other environmentally 

sensitive areas. 
• The economic sustainability of shops and businesses by encouraging a turnover of use 

of parking space, and hence maximising the available use of existing parking space.  
• Ensuring that designated areas are kept clear for specific road users, i.e. loading, blue 

badge holders, goods vehicles, taxis etc. 
• Ensuring that access for emergency vehicles, delivery and service vehicles is 

maintained. 
2.9.2  The procedures and policies contained in this document will be regularly reviewed 
to ensure:  
a) Changes in legislation, statutory and non guidance, national and local policy are 

properly considered. 
b) That the service continues to support corporate and departmental aims and objectives.  
c) That the service continues to support and meets the needs of Wirral businesses, 

residents and partner agencies. 
2.9.3  It is not practical or feasible to enforce all types and areas of restrictions in all parts 
of the Borough, all of the  time. Therefore, an outline enforcement regime as indicated 
below was adopted by the Council in 2008 and remains supportive to the service aims and 
objectives outlined above: 
 • Waiting, parking and loading restrictions on principal or primary routes, will be enforced 

daily. 
• Waiting, parking and loading restrictions within the Birkenhead Controlled Parking 

Zone, will be enforced daily. 
• Waiting, parking and loading restrictions centred around outer Birkenhead, Liscard, 

Heswall and West Kirby shopping centres, will be enforced on a regular basis, no less 
than 3 times per week. 

• Waiting, parking and loading restrictions centred around the secondary shopping 
centres including Bromborough, Bebington, Upton, Hoylake, etc will be enforced on a 
regular basis, no less than once per week.  

• Waiting, parking and loading restrictions in and adjacent to public service and amenity 
facilities, industrial and business areas, will be enforced on a regular basis, and subject 
to demand. 

• Residents parking zones in Liscard and Birkenhead, will be enforced daily 
• Residents parking zones in other areas will be enforced on a regular basis, no less than 

once per week. 
• Residents parking zones in Tranmere will be enforced on all match days 
• School Keep Clear markings throughout the Borough will be enforced with a rolling 

programme and in response to specific demands. 
• Waiting, parking and loading restrictions within other environmentally sensitive areas, 

will be enforced subject to demand. 
• Waiting, parking and loading restrictions in areas of seasonal demand will be enforced 

subject to demand. 

Page 677



• Waiting, parking and loading restrictions in areas not covered in any of the above, will 
be enforced in response to identified problems and requests 

• Temporary or permanent restrictions for special events will be enforced as necessary. 
 2.9.4  To ensure an efficient and effective operation the exact frequency and times of 
patrols are left to the Director of Technical Services and his appointed contractor to 
determine. These frequencies and times will be reviewed regularly.

(4) BOOSTING FUNDS FOR GREEN TRANSPORT
Proposed by Councillor Pat Cleary
Seconded by Councillor Chris Cooke

Council notes that, following the declaration of a Climate Emergency in Wirral, the draft climate 
strategy states that:

 Transformation on an extraordinary scale is needed
 To meet our fair share of the global pollution reduction challenge means cutting CO2 by 

an average of 13.4% each year compared to the present reduction of around 3.8 % per 
year

 The transport sector accounts for 26% of Wirral’s carbon foot print
 We must see a complete shift to fossil fuel free local travel by around 2030

Council is also aware that:

 Wirral has again been excluded from the City Region’s plans for new train stations and 
there is no funding in place to boost the number of train stations in Wirral

 The bus network in Wirral continues to be eroded by the withdrawal of some services 
and reductions in others, leaving more and more residents isolated and increasing car 
dependency

 That the City Region’s Cycling Infrastructure Plan to 2029 falls well short of providing a 
comprehensive network of safe cycling routes in Wirral and, to date, funding has only 
been secured for a single scheme in Wirral (Leasowe to Seacombe)

 That there is no plan in place for comprehensive public transport within the Wirral Waters 
area and the council has still to declare any alternative to the proposed streetcar scheme

Council therefore agrees that there is a huge amount of work to be done and funds to be raised 
if we are to honour our Climate Emergency declaration and also achieve zero-carbon transport 
by 2030.

Council also notes the Workplace Parking Levy introduced by Nottingham City Council in 2012. 
This applies a charge for all employers with 11 or more parking spaces with funds ring fenced 
for transport improvements. To date, this has helped deliver:

 The highest bus and tram use per head in the country outside London.
 Reduced congestion, improvements to local air quality and lower carbon emissions
 Additional funding streams as every £1 generated by the levy has helped deliver an 

additional £2 in funding from external sources. This has helped finance a doubling in the 
local tram network, refurbished train and bus stations and the fully electric Link bus 
network

Page 678



Council therefore requests cabinet to ask relevant officers to prepare a report on a Workplace 
Parking Levy for Wirral using the Nottingham scheme as a model. This to include but not limited 
to:

 The potential direct revenue generation to 2030 for Wirral Borough Council
 An estimate of additional funding from external sources leveraging the funds secured 

from a local levy
 The practical steps required in order to introduce a scheme in the 2020/2021 financial 

year based on a zero charge per parking place with charging to commence from April 
2021.

Sources

https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/information-for-residents/transport-parking-and-
streets/parking-and-permits/workplace-parking-levy

https://bettertransport.org.uk/blog/better-transport/winning-policy-nottinghams-workplace-
parking-levy

https://www.centreforcities.org/reader/funding-financing-inclusive-growth-cities/reviewing-
funding-finance-options-available-city-combined-authorities/1-nottingham-workplace-parking-
levy/

(5) WIRRAL COUNCIL TO COMMIT TO KEEP IT LOCAL CAMPAIGN

Proposed by Councillor Janette Williamson
Seconded by Councillor Tony Jones

Wirral Council believes in the power of community. That’s why we understand the best way to 
tackle the challenges we face as an authority and create transformative local services for our 
residents is to Keep it Local. 
Keeping it Local means, we will work to harness the local potential that exists in our authorities’ 
neighbourhoods and communities, by building strong local partnerships, sharing power and 
maximising local strengths.
In doing so, we can use public resources to invest in the local economy and support community 
capacity, Social Value and the opportunity to keep wealth in Wirral. We will provide services 
which intervene early to reduce long-term costs and drive down pressure on our public 
services.
Council notes that recent years have seen a trend towards outsourcing services at scale, which 
has crowded out local community organisations. Wirral Council aspire to adopt a different way: 
to Keep it Local. 

Wirral Council calls upon Cabinet to join the Keep it Local Network – a coalition of 
forward-thinking councils like ours. To sign up to the network, Cabinet will commit to 
work towards six ‘Keep it Local principles’:

1. Think about the whole system, not individual public service silos. 
2. Co-ordinate services at the neighbourhood level. 
3. Increase local spend through progressive procurement to invest in the local economy. 
4. Focus on early intervention now to save costs tomorrow. 
5. Commit to communities and proactively support local organisations. 
6. Commission services simply and collaboratively so they are ‘local by default’ 

Page 679

https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/information-for-residents/transport-parking-and-streets/parking-and-permits/workplace-parking-levy
https://www.nottinghamcity.gov.uk/information-for-residents/transport-parking-and-streets/parking-and-permits/workplace-parking-levy
https://bettertransport.org.uk/blog/better-transport/winning-policy-nottinghams-workplace-parking-levy
https://bettertransport.org.uk/blog/better-transport/winning-policy-nottinghams-workplace-parking-levy
https://www.centreforcities.org/reader/funding-financing-inclusive-growth-cities/reviewing-funding-finance-options-available-city-combined-authorities/1-nottingham-workplace-parking-levy/
https://www.centreforcities.org/reader/funding-financing-inclusive-growth-cities/reviewing-funding-finance-options-available-city-combined-authorities/1-nottingham-workplace-parking-levy/
https://www.centreforcities.org/reader/funding-financing-inclusive-growth-cities/reviewing-funding-finance-options-available-city-combined-authorities/1-nottingham-workplace-parking-levy/


We call upon Cabinet to convene a discussion with the local community to co-design what it 
means to Keep it Local in the Wirral setting and continue to work with Locality and peer councils 
in the Keep it Local Network to assess and improve our current practice. 
We also call on Cabinet to appoint a ‘Keep it Local Champion’ within the Cabinet and in the 
Senior Management Team to take ownership of this work and work with colleagues in pursuit 
of these aims.

(6) BETTER PROVISION FOR STRAY, ABANDONED AND NEGLECTED 
DOGS

Proposed by Councillor Lesley Rennie
Seconded by Councillor Ian Lewis

Council congratulates the Friends of Birkenhead Kennels for their work, since 2010, to ensure 
that more stray, abandoned and neglected dogs are now cared for and rehomed.  Council 
thanks those residents and businesses who support this important local facility.

Council believes that a previous proposal to close the kennels, relocating services to 
Halewood, has therefore been proved to be misguided and is grateful for those who helped to 
reverse it.

However, Council notes that the current premises, on Corporation Road, are no longer fit for 
purpose.  Due to the acceleration of work at adjacent Wirral Waters, Council believes it is now 
appropriate for the Authority to identify more suitable, alternative premises, offered on the same 
terms as the current premises.

Council therefore requests Cabinet to instruct officers to undertake work, in consultation with 
the Friends of Birkenhead Kennels, to achieve this.

Page 680



(7) APPRAISAL OF PARKING RESTRICTIONS IN WIRRAL

Proposed by Stuart Kelly
Seconded by Allan Brame

1. Council notes that the provision of parking restrictions (e.g. yellow lines) throughout the 
Borough is inconsistent with restrictions present where they may no longer be required and 
no restrictions present on junctions which present a danger to road users.

2. Council notes the Secretary of State's Statutory Guidance to Local Authorities on the Civil 
Enforcement of Parking Contraventions...
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/609788/statutory-guidance-local-authorities-enforcement-parking-
contraventions.pdf

3. Council notes para 6.1 which states:
Enforcement authorities should monitor their parking policies, enforcement regimes and 
associated regulatory framework (including penalty charge levels). They should appraise 
them when reviewing their Local Transport Plans and make recommendations for 
improvements to members.

Council is concerned that there has not been a comprehensive appraisal of parking 
restrictions in Wirral.

4. Council notes the guidance offered in para 6.4 which states:
 The appraisal should take account of: 
 existing and predicted levels of demand for parking; 
 the availability and pricing of on- and off-street parking places; 
 the impact on the local economy and the viability of local shops and high streets; 
 the justification for, and accuracy of, existing traffic orders; 
 the adequacy, accuracy and quality of traffic signing and road markings which restrict or 

permit parking; 
 the level of enforcement necessary for compliance; 
 the levels of penalty charges; 
 the need to resource the operation effectively and ensure that all parking staff are 

appropriately trained; and 
 impact on traffic flow, i.e. traffic or congestion outcomes. 

Council considers it is time that the Council undertakes such an appraisal in line with 
statutory guidance.

5. Council notes that when carrying out an appraisal, the guidance states at para 6.3:

The Secretary of State recommends that enforcement authorities consult locally on their 
parking policies when they appraise them. They should seek the views of people and 
businesses with a range of different parking needs as well as taking into account the views 
of the Police. 

Council considers that local Ward Members should also be consulted as the appraisal 
progresses.

Page 681

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/609788/statutory-guidance-local-authorities-enforcement-parking-contraventions.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/609788/statutory-guidance-local-authorities-enforcement-parking-contraventions.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/609788/statutory-guidance-local-authorities-enforcement-parking-contraventions.pdf


6. Council therefore requests that Cabinet makes arrangements for a Wirral-wide review of its 
parking restrictions in line with statutory guidance.

(8) BOROUGH OF CULTURE ACHIEVEMENTS

Proposed by Councillor Brian Kenny
Seconded by Councillor Jean Stapleton

“Council notes the recent events held in Wirral and their success in bringing many thousands 
of visitors to the Borough, as well as providing unrivalled entertainment for local residents. The 
Wirral Food & Drink Festival was a huge success, attracting vendors from across the region 
and providing a platform for local producers – and seeing many thousands of visitors able to 
enjoy the best of our Borough. In addition, this took place alongside music events over two 
nights, which saw the Royal Liverpool Philharmonic Orchestra and popular Merseyside bands 
the Lightning Seeds, China Crisis and the Christians give memorable performances. This event 
was then followed, just days later, with the OVO Energy Tour of Britain stage five taking place 
in Wirral. The event started and ended in Birkenhead Park – our historic park which was 
showcased to the world by global live TV coverage.  Also, the launch of the “Sir David 
Attenborough” at Cammell Lairds, on 26th September, was a cause for great celebration and 
pride.

These events took place as part of Wirral’s year as the Borough of Culture, which has seen 
events ranging from the return of the Walker Cup golf tournament to the Royal Liverpool Golf 
Club in Hoylake, art exhibitions, Animated Square, the River Festival and many more.
Council congratulates the Cabinet member Christine Spriggs and all those Officers, staff and 
volunteers who have worked tirelessly to ensure the huge success of these events, showing 
this Borough in the best possible light.

Council agrees to congratulate and thank everyone involved, for their vision, hard work and 
commitment.

Finally, Council wishes to thank all residents who have supported and/or participated in any of 
the recent events”.

(9) EVERY CHILD MATTERS

Proposed by Councillor Wendy Clements
Seconded by Councillor Cherry Povall

Council welcomes the increasing numbers of children attending ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ schools 
in the Borough and increasing levels of achievement and attainment at all stages.

Council believes that only a wide range of schools, catering for the needs of all Wirral’s children, 
can ensure that no child is left behind and that all children reach their full potential.

Council is therefore opposed to proposals by the Labour Party to abolish the independent 
Kingsmead School and Birkenhead School, as part of a misguided attempt to play politics with 
1,000 children and their futures.  Such a policy will also harm the children who need the 
greatest support, regardless of their parents’ ability to pay.

Council therefore requests the Leader of the Council to write to both schools to reassure them 
of the Council’s support.

Page 682



(10) DELIVERING A NEW DEAL FOR TRANSPORT

Proposed by Councillor Phil Gilchrist
Seconded by Councillor Dave Mitchell

This Council 
a) welcomes the action of Members who raised the issue of changes and reductions to 

Wirral bus services at the Transport Committee of the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority on 18 July 2019

b) remains frustrated that changes introduced in September 2019, with the removal of 
good connections and direct links, affect access to Arrowe Park Hospital and other 
communities

c) recalls that a Motion put forward by Cllr Stuart Kelly and seconded by Cllr Allan Brame 
in December 2018 called on Metro Mayor Steve Rotheram to exercise powers 
devolved under the Bus Services Act 2017 and move towards a fully franchised bus 
network for LCR and Wirral (minute 90 refers)
http://s03vs-intrcm.core.wcent.wirral.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=46436

Council notes that the Transport Committee of the Liverpool City Region Combined 
Authority considered the Transport Plan on 13 June 2019…
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s37842/09b%20-
%20CA%20Transport%20Plan%20-%20Appendix%20Two.pdf

and that there is, within it, ‘Priority Action 3.2' that is …
" To consider the opportunities set out within the 2015 LCR Devolution Deal and Bus 
Services Act 2017 relating to new forms of ownership and control of local bus services.  
An Outline Business Case will be developed by spring 2020"

Whilst Council understands that Merseytravel is currently evaluating two potential 
alternative models, enhanced partnerships and franchising, it has concerns over the length 
of time to achieve this whilst the Wirral’s residents suffer from gaps in services and 
services that do not meet local needs.

Council observes that in June 2019, the Mayor of Greater Manchester set out to progress 
the franchising model… 
 https://ilovemanchester.com/andy-burnham-announces-our-network-plan-integrated-
modern-accessible-public-transport-system/
though this has brought the predictable reaction from Stagecoach...
https://www.manchestereveningnews.co.uk/news/greater-manchester-news/bus-firms-
legal-action-manchester-16481755

In view of the likely progress in Manchester, this Council considers it essential that 
Merseyside collects information from other areas, learns from their experience and speeds 
up the process of securing bus services that meet local needs, provide services that are 
reliable and efficient and, in this process, cuts carbon emissions to deal with the climate 
emergency.

Accordingly this Council requests that our Metro Mayor ensure that Merseytravel’s 
evaluation is brought forward, concluded speedily and effected as soon as practicable.

Page 683

http://s03vs-intrcm.core.wcent.wirral.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=46436
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s37842/09b%20-%20CA%20Transport%20Plan%20-%20Appendix%20Two.pdf
https://moderngov.merseytravel.gov.uk/documents/s37842/09b%20-%20CA%20Transport%20Plan%20-%20Appendix%20Two.pdf
https://ilovemanchester.com/andy-burnham-announces-our-network-plan-integrated-modern-accessible-public-transport-system/
https://ilovemanchester.com/andy-burnham-announces-our-network-plan-integrated-modern-accessible-public-transport-system/
https://www.manchestereveningnews.co.uk/news/greater-manchester-news/bus-firms-legal-action-manchester-16481755
https://www.manchestereveningnews.co.uk/news/greater-manchester-news/bus-firms-legal-action-manchester-16481755


(11) THE PLACEMENT MARKET IS NOT WORKING FOR CHILDREN OR 
FOR THE PUBLIC PURSE

Proposed Councillor Tom Usher
Seconded Councillor Liz Grey

For the past decade austerity has caused the numbers of children in care to increase 
drastically. This coupled with a national decline in foster carers has seen a steep rise in the 
demand for care placements.

Councils have in the past few years seen eyewatering increases in the cost of these 
placements, in a poorly regulated sector of the economy dominated by private providers. While 
many providers are providing quality placements, the focus for some is profitability. The cost 
of care placements for local authorities in the northwest have in some cases reported a 33% 
increase over three years, whilst the largest care provider boasts a 26% return on its children’s 
services “investments”.

Council welcomes the emerging strategy designed to tackle this issue including:

- Increasing our in-house capacity
- Bolstering our foster carer numbers
- Working with other local authorities to focus on the supply of services available and 

consider commissioning arrangements

Council also asks that the government does its part. Children’s Services has not been allocated 
adequate funding by the government. It is also up to the government to provide central 
oversight and control of a market that is not, at present, working for children or for the public 
purse. Council requests that the leader and lead member write to government to express these 
concerns.

(12) BIOSOLAR ROOFING ON ALL SUITABLE FLAT ROOFS

Proposed by Councillor Andy Corkhill
Seconded by Councillor Allan Brame

Council notes:
1. that a Climate Emergency, with the amendment that it contained practical policy, was 

passed on 15 July 2019;
2. that climate change, as well as being a national and international issue, needs to be 

addressed effectively at local level;
3. that the Council has a goal of reducing its CO2 emissions by 60% by 2025;
4. that the Wirral Biodiversity Action Plan urges the integration of biodiversity conservation 

objectives into all policy formulation, decision making and service delivery.

Council recognises that:
a) BioSolar roofing combines biodiverse green and solar photovoltaic technology, providing 

water attenuation, biodiversity and habitat enhancement, and clean, renewable energy (see 
https://livingroofs.org/introduction-types-green-roof/biosolar-green-roofs-solar-green-roofs/ 
)

b) Green roofs and solar are complementary technologies that will accelerate the biodiversity 
net gain requirement the UK must achieve;

c) BioSolar roofing is an important element of urban design if we are to create buildings that 
are zero-carbon and energy positive and meet biodiversity gain requirements;

Page 684

https://livingroofs.org/introduction-types-green-roof/biosolar-green-roofs-solar-green-roofs/


d) BioSolar roofing will help achieve significant carbon reduction and show that the Council is 
serious about implementing solutions and taking practical steps to respond to the climate 
emergency motion.

Accordingly, Council 
(i) agrees with the principle pf installing bio and solar roofing on all suitable flat roofing owned 

by the Council, and on all new builds with flat roofs and 
(ii)requests Cabinet urgently to investigate practical steps to implement this policy.

(13) SAFER ROADS

Proposed by Councillor Liz Grey
Seconded by Councillor Tom Usher

Council notes that one of the main concerns raised by Wirral residents is that of speeding 
traffic.

Council also acknowledges that, on investigation, it is often the case that traffic is not breaking 
the speed limit of 30mph on most residential roads but is still causing a nuisance and 
preventing people from feeling that they are safe.

Council recognises that roads need to be safe and need to feel safe.

Council agrees that we should seek to calm and reduce traffic along our residential roads in 
order to reduce air pollution, noise pollution and dangerous greenhouse gas emissions and 
also to improve safety and people’s perception of safety, promoting walking and cycling and 
further enabling the model shift from car to active travel that is so important in the current 
environment and climate emergency.

Council therefore asks Cabinet to instruct officers to seek funding and to explore measures to 
calm and reduce traffic speeds on local residential roads, as soon as possible across the 
borough, working with the Police to ensure full effectiveness.

Council should note that it is the intention of the Cabinet portfolio holder for Environment and 
Climate Change to write to the Secretaries of State for Transport and Environment to request 
adequate funding for the implementation of such schemes.

(14) KEEPING ALLEYWAYS CLEAR

Proposed by Councillor Allan Brame
Seconded by Councillor Andy Corkhill

Council notes the Council’s obligation to keep alleyways and entries free from waste build-
up in order to maintain free passage for residents who are expected to present their bins 
for collection at the ends of the alleys.

Council notes that if an alleyway becomes unpassable with a wheelie bin, it is impossible 
for residents to place their bins as required by the Council.

Council notes that Biffa is engaged to keep the alleyways clear of rubbish via a regular 
cleanse.

Page 685



However, Council notes that rubbish is not the only impediment to residents seeking to 
present their bins as required and that overgrown vegetation/weeds, standing water due 
to blocked drains and fly tipping can also serve to make alleyways impassable.

Council therefore requests that the appropriate Cabinet Member puts in place 
arrangements to ensure that overgrown vegetation/weeds, standing water and fly 
tipping are included in the general maintenance of all adopted and unadopted alleyways 
that it has an obligation to keep clear for waste collection purposes.

(15) BLUE FLAG BEACHES 

Proposed by Councillor Liz Grey
Seconded by Councillor Allan Brame

Council acknowledges that Wirral’s coastline deserves the best protection possible.
Council acknowledges that following mistakes in managing our coasts, investigations are still 
ongoing, but lessons are already being learned. 
Council acknowledges that the Blue Flag* award is an internationally recognised sign of the 
very best quality beaches and that neighbouring authorities have achieved Blue Flag status, 
indicating to visitors that their beaches are safe, clean and very well looked after.
Council agrees that WBC set as a target the achievement of blue flag beaches along all of our 
beautiful coastline and takes steps to achieve this as soon as possible, consulting and working 
with stakeholders. This will help us to improve biodiversity and add to our attractiveness as a 
visitor destination.
Council requests Cabinet to work with the scrutiny committee, and United Utilities and Welsh 
Water to ensure that water standards along our coasts are always up to blue flag standards.

*The Blue Flag Programme for beaches and marinas is run by the international, non-
governmental, non-profit organisation FEE (the Foundation for Environmental Education). The 
Blue Flag Programme started in France in 1985. It has been implemented in Europe since 
1987 and in areas outside of Europe since 2001, when South Africa joined. Today, Blue Flag 
has become a truly global Programme, with an ever-increasing number of countries 
participating in it.  
 The Blue Flag Programme promotes sustainable development in freshwater and marine 
areas. It challenges local authorities and beach operators to achieve high standards in the four 
categories of: water quality, environmental management, environmental education and safety. 
Over the years, the Blue Flag has become a highly respected and recognised eco-label working 
to bring together the tourism and environmental sectors at local, regional and national levels.  

Page 686


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 15/07/2019 Council normal
	Minutes


	6a Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chairs' Reports
	6b Cabinet Members reports
	Portfolio report - children, families and education
	Portfolio community services
	Portfolio report - tourism and culture
	Portfolio finance and resource
	Portfolio report - health
	Portfolio report - housing and planning
	LocalPlanPortfolioReport1
	RegenGrowthPortfolioReport1
	Portfolio report Environment Oct 2019

	9a STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 2018/19 FOR WIRRAL COUNCIL AND MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND
	STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS 201819 FOR WIRRAL COUNCIL AND MERSEYSIDE PENSION FUND
	Appendix 1 - Accounts publication notice 31.07.2019
	Appendix 2 -Wirral Council AFR 130919
	Appendix 3 - Wirral Council Statement of Accounts 2018-19
	Appendix 4 - LoR - 23 September v2
	Appendix 5 - 2018.19 Audit Findings Report - MPF
	Appendix 6 - Pensions Committee Minutes Extract
	Appendix 7 - MPF LoR 2018-19
	Appendix 8 - Post Publication SOA Changes

	9b REVENUE AND CAPITAL COMBINED MONITORING 2019-20 QUARTER 1
	REVENUE AND CAPITAL COMBINED MONITORING 201920 QUARTER 1 FINAL VERSION

	9c Wirral Council Plan 2025
	Wirral Council Plan 2025 Cabinet Report
	WIRRAL COUNCIL PLAN 2025

	9d Public Health Annual Report 2019 – Creative Communities
	PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – CREATIVE COMMUNITIES
	Enc. 1 for PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2019 – CREATIVE COMMUNITIES

	9e Approval of Revised Local Development Scheme for Wirral – July 2019
	APPROVAL OF REVISED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME FOR WIRRAL – JULY 2019
	Enc. 1 for APPROVAL OF REVISED LOCAL DEVELOPMENT SCHEME FOR WIRRAL – JULY 2019

	9f NORTHERN LGPS OPERATING AGREEMENT
	EXTRACT Min 27 Pen Cttee 16 Jul 2019 Pool Operating Agreement
	Report
	App 1

	9g Review of Scrutiny Arrangements
	Report_Scrutiny Arrangements
	APP1_20190917155410_004070_0005573_ReviewofScrutinyArrangementsReport
	APP2_20190917155410_004072_0005574_MembersBriefingPack
	Agenda
	1 REVIEW SCOPING DOCUMENT
	2 STATUTORY GUIDANCE ON OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY IN LOCAL AND COMBINED AUTHORITIES
	3 OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY AND COMMITTEE SYSTEM ARRANGEMENTS
	4 CURRENT ARRANGEMENTS - TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
	5 PREVIOUS SCRUTINY ARRANGEMENTS IN WIRRAL
	6 GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS AT WIRRAL'S STATISTICAL NEIGHBOURS
	7 COMMITTEE SYSTEMS AT OTHER LOCAL AUTHORITIES

	APP3_20190917155411_004110_0005575_201907ScrutinyReview

	9h Governance Review
	Standards and Constitutional Oversight Committee governance 190926

	10 NOTICES OF MOTION

